The complexity of psychiatric care, from pregnancy to adolescence: Beyond the endogenousexogenous dichotomy

Edited by

Olivier Putois, Bernard Golse, Veronique Delvenne and Miri Keren

Published in

Frontiers in Psychiatry Frontiers in Psychology Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscienc Frontiers in Pediatrics





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5089-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5089-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

The complexity of psychiatric care, from pregnancy to adolescence: Beyond the endogenous-exogenous dichotomy

Topic editors

Olivier Putois – Université de Strasbourg, France Bernard Golse – Université de Paris, France Veronique Delvenne – Queen Fabiola Children's University Hospital, Belgium Miri Keren – Geha Mental Health Center, Israel

Citation

Putois, O., Golse, B., Delvenne, V., Keren, M., eds. (2024). *The complexity of psychiatric care, from pregnancy to adolescence: Beyond the endogenous-exogenous dichotomy*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5089-2

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

05 Babies in therapy, psychoanalytic interventions for infants and their parents

Christine Anzieu-Premmereur

- 14 The critical periods of cerebral plasticity: A key aspect in a dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience centered on the psychopathology of schizophrenia Jessica Tran The, Pierre J. Magistretti and Francois Ansermet
- 32 Parents' dilemma: A therapeutic decision for children with spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) type 1 Sophie Boursange, Marco Araneda, Caroline Stalens, Isabelle Desguerre, Christine Barnerias, Marie-Christine Nougues, Arnaud Isapof, Susana Quijano-Roy, Nadia Blu Genestine, Laetitia Ouillade, Maripaz Martinez Jalilie, Claudia Castiglioni, Odile Boespflug-Tanguy, Marcela Gargiulo and The SMAPAR Study Group
- 49 The complexity of the dialogue between psychoanalysis, neurosciences, and genetics Yorgos Dimitriadis
- 54 Becoming a mother when suffering from a chronic illness Hélène Riazuelo
- 61 Dimensional model on how familial vulnerability and environmental factors impact transitional age youth psychopathology: The *Transition_psy* study Simone Marchini, Joana Reis, Ella Ben-Shaool, Marie Delhaye, Charles Kornreich, Hélène Nicolis, Hichem Slama, Christophe Leys and Véronique Delvenne
- 75 Transcultural skills for early childhood professionals Rahmeth Radjack, Muriel Bossuroy, Hawa Camara, Fatima Touhami, Anaïs Ogrizek, Juliette Rodriguez, Marion Robin and Marie Rose Moro
- 89 Migrant mothers' experiences of Caesarean section: a transcultural qualitative study Juliette Rodriguez, Marie Rose Moro and Rahmeth Radjack
- 101 A 5 years' experience of a parent-baby day unit: impact on baby's development Audrey Moureau, Louise Cordemans, Caroline Gregoire, Pirmez Benoît and Veronique Delvenne
- 115 The polyfactorial model of autism and the question of causality

Bernard Golse

121 The genesis of perinatal clinical psychology and its contemporary issues

Sylvain Missonnier

3

- 129 Three-level containment model of hospitalized adolescents with borderline pathology: a holistic therapeutic perspective Marion Robin, Laura Bellone, Jean Belbèze, Koucha Kazemian, Rahmeth Radjack and Maurice Corcos
- 143 Joint family consultations for psychiatric inpatients with severe eating disorders transitioning to adulthood: psychoanalytic design of a therapeutic setting Olivier Putois, Myriam Riegert, Nadine Bahi, Joël Pires and Manuella De Luca
- 148 Alcohol and psychoactive substance use in a cohort of children followed by child protection in France Aziz Essadek, Maeva Musso, Adèle Assous, Frédéric Widart, Joris Mathieu, Marion Robin and Gérard Shadili
- 157 Father's perceptions and care involvement for their very preterm infants at French neonatal intensive care units Amélie Stern-Delfils, Isabelle Leray, Laurence Caeymaex, Odile Dicky, Madeleine Akrich, Audrey Reynaud, Charlotte Bouvard, Anne Evrard, Jacques Sizun, Charlotte Tscherning and Pierre Kuhn, Pierre Kuhn and the GREEN Committee (Groupe de Réflexion et d'Evaluation de l'Environnement des Nouveau-nés de la Société Française de Néonatologie)
- 170 Investigating the borders of autism spectrum disorder: lessons from the former diagnosis of pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified Romain Coutelle, Nathalie Coulon, Carmen M. Schröder and Olivier Putois
- 210 Current psychopathology models emphasize very early intersubjectivity-based interventions in children to prevent later mental disorders

Lisa Ouss

216 Psychological and social consequences of deafblindness for siblings: a systematic literature review Marine Arcous, Rémy Potier and Nathalie Dumet

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Olivier Putois, Université de Strasbourg, France

REVIEWED BY Bernard Golse, Université de Paris, France Mazeas Dominique, Université Sorbonne Paris Nord, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Christine Anzieu-Premmereur canzieu@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Perinatal Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 26 September 2022 ACCEPTED 01 November 2022 PUBLISHED 23 November 2022

CITATION

Anzieu-Premmereur C (2022) Babies in therapy, psychoanalytic interventions for infants and their parents. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1054372. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1054372

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Anzieu-Premmereur. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Babies in therapy, psychoanalytic interventions for infants and their parents

Christine Anzieu-Premmereur*

Psychiatry Department, Columbia University, New York City, NY, United States

Babies in therapy: The study "Psychoanalytic interventions for infants and their parents" conducted on infants through the lens of psychoanalysis and clinical work with both parents and infants all contribute to our knowledge of the nature of early relationship disorders. Psychoanalytic theory's concepts of the depressive position, early defense mechanisms, transference, and psychosomatic reactions to depressive emotions are shown to be crucial in clinical cases, giving therapists new tools for intervention and increasing efficiency. Psychoanalysts have researched the long-lasting effects of early disappointments and the sense of being helplessly abandoned; they emphasize that a disruption in the relationship with the caregiver can produce a psychic economy oriented on the avoidance of anxiety, leaving less energy for development. New parents and their sick infants can benefit from early therapies with therapeutic potential and the possibility of preventing future narcissistic pain issues if they are based on psychoanalytic thinking and knowledge of early symptoms.

KEYWORDS

psychoanalysis, depression, primitive anxieties, dyadic therapy, playfulness

Introduction

Clinical work with parents and babies, psychoanalytic observation of infants, and studies of infancy all contribute to our understanding of how early relationship disorders develop. This paper focuses on the infant's inner world and how some classical and modern Freudian concepts can help the analyst working with dyads. These ideas range from the presumption of primary narcissism to the drive theory, which links libido development to the need for self-preservation and the resulting tensions, conflicts, anxieties, and defense mechanisms. The baby's primitive internal development is understood to be a complex unconscious dynamic process.

The profound effect of early disappointments and the feeling of being helplessly abandoned has been studied by many psychoanalysts, who emphasize that a disruption in the relationship with the caregiver can cause a psychic economy oriented on the avoidance of anxiety, leaving less energy for development.

Joint therapies provide both the suffering mother and child with support in dealing with each other's narcissism; depressive meltdowns in toddlers are always attacks on the integrity of the self that can have serious developmental consequences. For this reason, early and rapid intervention is essential when signs of concern are observed in toddlers, but it is still difficult to know the long-term influence of such interventions. Primary breakdowns have far-reaching effects on people's lives, from early childhood disorders, such as developmental delays or attention difficulties, to serious obstacles to accessing the oedipal conflict, damage in adolescence to traumatic recurrences in adulthood. Even if they fully recover after receiving therapy, some people will still have a problem with the motor and behavioral discharge, cutting off the transitional stakes necessary to sustain the preconscious functioning that would allow for a cognitive activity to form. From the first few months of life, there are disturbing behavioral patterns. I will talk about situations in which libidinal movements are not invested and the risks they pose to the development of the subject.

The narcissistic wound the child feels poses a threat of primary depression, whether due to the mother's postpartum depression, difficulties with the child's attachment, or the baby's difficult temperament.

Lack of vitality and depressive reactions in infancy

At the beginning of life, these wounds leave indelible marks: distress, collapse, the feeling of being let down, of falling vertiginously without hope, the feeling of spreading, of liquefying without contact. These feelings of despair, inscribed in the body as much as in the psyche, are sources of narcissistic damage that can sometimes be repaired.

According to the axis of depressed posture, infant depression can be classified into two clinical entities.

The depressive position described by Melanie Klein (1) is a normal process in the infant's development: it is a stage from which the child enters a relationship with an object and considers himself independent and distinct from his mother. If the threat is the loss of this separate object, which is accompanied by feelings of ambivalence and guilt, it is also the first step to creating a stable and permanent internal object, even in its absence.

During the establishment of this depressive position, the pain of the loss may be too acute and trigger the manic defense. Afterward, the problem of loss and separation, with sadness and mourning, is in the foreground. This is a time when we can share with the child an intermediate space where we are two distinct and empathetic individuals. The therapist will act as an impartial third party by allowing the mobility of the fantasmatic representations through plays, interpretations, and comedy, which encourage libido circulation.

Because of the narcissistic nature of this investment, such as the nipple in the mouth is a part of the self, the loss is first experienced as a loss of a partial object, such as the breast or the oral sensory experience of being with the mother, which is felt as catastrophic and irretrievable. Before experiencing depressive effects, infants experience terror, the anguish of annihilation, the suffering of being able to only survive without being lively, and psychosomatic disorganization. The stake is then the constitution of an identity, a continuous, stable, and wellorganized Ego, which can accommodate various perceptions.

As seen in his "Still Face" experiment from 1975, in which he had mothers of typically developing 3-month-olds maintain a rigid and expressionless expression, Tronick was able to observe the baby's expression of helplessness, a depression in the making (2):

The baby looks at his mother and smiles. The mother remains impassive. The baby intensifies his look, stretches his arms, and frowns. Then, the baby turns away for a few seconds and returns toward the still-frozen mother. Faced with the failure of its attempts at interaction, the baby tires, yawns, looks at its mother, and "ends up curling up in an attitude of powerlessness, face turned away, body motionless." This interaction does not last more than 3 min and shows the infant's vulnerability. Mothers interviewed after this experience reported how much they experienced their child's agitation and anxiety with a feeling of sadness, anger, and despair.

I quote Winnicott (3): "A slight defect in holding...gives the child a sense of endless falling."

"The depressive position, classically, opens on the mourning of the omnipotence to have its needs satisfied, on the renunciation of the desire without limits... Partial renunciation, we all know it well! But before being dispossessed of the fantasy of omnipotence, it is still necessary to have experienced it!" As demonstrated by Winnicott, object relations are established in the first few months of life. These ties are founded on the child's awareness of a world outside themselves in which they can take action and engage in reciprocal trade. The mother maintains the illusion that the child has unlimited power over the world. The child's belief in their own agency and cognitive capacity is undermined by this narcissistic involvement in the world as a source of gratification. This belief is essential to developing thought in real life. Therefore, at the start of life, building a strong connection to the real, physical world is essential.

Maternal care's inevitable failures and discontinuities are always felt as narcissistic losses. The child learns that the maternal container has its faults and limits, which are real threats to an infant easily deprived of its state of original distress. Observations of babies with their mothers show how much most of the defects of mutual adjustment can be corrected and how much the dyads know how to reconcile after a misunderstanding. The adjustment between needs and satisfactions, desires and gratifications is never perfect. The mother fails because of too much anticipation or too much delay. She can only be "good enough." Disappointments and unmet expectations, as well as tensions and conflicts stemming from the child's inherent tendency toward individuation, are woven into the fabric of the child's daily life. The maternal excitability barrier is always partial. These recurrences can have a cumulative effect and take on significant traumatic value.

Depressive anxieties are frequent and transient in babies, as observations of infants at home clearly show. They are generally repaired by the quality of the psychic and physical holding. However, unpleasant reactions to smiling, making eye contact, psychosomatic disorders, and withdrawal symptoms might develop if this bonding experience is lacking, whether from the mother or from the child.

In the very first months of life, the child does not suffer from losing an object. The relationship is still too fragile. An infant is in the slow process of differentiating between self and object, and the quality of the object's investment, which is typically still precarious, will be affected.

To establish a solid connection, it is crucial to have frequent sessions. The so-called anaclitic depression prevents children from engaging in sufficient cerebral stimulation. These solemn infants, who never smile and lack any vital tonus, are typically stuck in the infernal repetition of self-calming actions, signaling a transition from autoerotic games to functioning. As Bowlby (4) and Winnicott (3) pointed out, each in their own way, it is not the separation that leads to the baby's depression; it is the loss of hope. An object that has disappeared and been rendered inaccessible during rapid weaning, for example, an interaction with an inanimate mother without vocalizations or looks, or an illness or a surgical operation, can suppress the relationships with the object and leave the body and the psyche destitute. The infant is atonic, withdrawn, slowed down, and rapidly disorganized on the psychosomatic level and can present the pathological defenses described by Selma Fraiberg (5): the avoidance of eye contact, the paralysis of behavior or freezing, and the transformation of effects when, instead of manifesting distress or anxiety, an abused baby manifests a noisy joy and a disorganized excitement, which is called self-aggression.

Between birth and 6 months of age, a baby's "depressive" behaviors are more a response to the collapse of the tonus of life, to the loss of the possibility of investing, than to the loss of an object that is not yet solidly established. As we hold him in our arms, we see a newborn who has lost his skills, isolated from others and himself, with a frozen face, without laughing or smiling, without joyful expression in the eyes; he is rather indifferent, rarely surprised, who turns away and vocalizes very little (6). Illness, pain, and fatigue create these reactions and the loss of relationships between internal objects. At the beginning of life, the body envelope is still fragile, and to maintain the sensations and the experience of being alive through movements, the body's action is essential. The contacts with others help to constitute the physical unity of the body and the being. The feeling of being held, the touch, and the glances all leave physical and emotional imprints. A failure of the object's constitution is a failure of the subjects' constitution. Reestablishing a corporal dialogue is an emergency (7).

It is the economic aspect of the maternal psychic functioning that is communicated to the child in the dance of the preverbal games. The prosody, the rhythm of the enunciation as well as of the carrying, the intensity of the glances as well as the voice are essential signals to which the baby answers with his own register of primitive impulsiveness (8).

We cannot ignore, however, that depression does not exist without hatred; it is an early rage rather than an organized emotion, as Winnicott (3) shows. Let us not forget that Freud classified indifference as a special case of hatred. This intense and early development of negative movements requires an active mobilization of life movements on the part of the entourage. Early therapies are often emergencies.

The impact of intersubjectivity on the psychic development of the child and on the genesis of the sense of self, the first foundation of the Ego, is essential and can provide reference points to the analyst who works with infants. Intervening directly with a baby when the mother allows access to her child is immediately effective. If we think that the emergence of the first representations and the establishment of the processes of symbolization take place in interactive play, we can help a mother give the baby bodily anchoring of the experiences they share and pay attention to the sensations that the baby experiences without always being able to integrate them. The extraordinary appetite of babies for contact with others always facilitates the therapist's work. At the beginning of life, play is gestural. As such, it lays the groundwork for the child's future communication options and is crucial for developing emotional and affective sharing.

Primary depression is always associated with early trauma. When one's own survival is at risk, Childhood sexuality and its auto and hetero erotic investments are no longer appropriate. The risk is the libidinal loss, the loss of the quality of the libido connection, hence a desexualization of the psychic functioning. The loss of pleasure from autoerotic investment and the loss of the joy of a successful action are all possibilities if one's libido declines or if the quality of one's libido connection deteriorates.

The role of the capability for representation

If a nursing infant does not recognize himself in her mother's eyes, they will not be able to share in any joy together and will break the bond that has kept them connected to their mother's pleasure all along. There is a heterogeneity in the depression of infants and older children. In the beginning, the atony of investments dominates the reactions of withdrawal as an ultimate defense of self-preservation. It is in the depression of death that Palacio Espasa (9) observed how the relationships and the binders would disappear when the loss of a representation of the object is experienced as a catastrophe: losing the sense of oneself. A failure in the meeting with the mother is accompanied by a lack of memory trace of her, an absence of representation; hence, the ability to invest in an object is gravely compromised.

Winnicott (3) was the first to draw attention to the depressive suffering of what he called "psychotic depression," which occurs when the loss of an object is accompanied by the loss of a part of the self in a bodily experience: loss of the breast, loss of the mouth, a loss that cannot be elaborated into a psychic experience, leaving the subject destitute and in a state of helplessness.

In psychoanalytic therapies, the goal is to restore the dyadic creative drive through which the infant receives from the mother's skin the senses of smell, taste, warmth, color, security, and maintenance between loving and erotic attachments. A mother with the genius to collect her child's experiences into a cohesive whole will provide the impression of one's own emotional experience. Let's look at the first smiles of babies when they address others: how much the baby seeks to make contact and to seduce.

The feeling of continuity and permanence of the self, what Balint (10) called "fundamental confidence," is a framework that supports narcissism, giving it its qualities of confidence and quietude or distrust and greed. This feeling of internal security depends on the primary relationship to the object, the quality of the pleasure taken in the exchange, and what is appropriate in autoeroticism. Sucking in anticipation of breastfeeding is proof of this confidence in oneself and the environment. Active motions at taking in are essential to feeding and tolerating helplessness and passivity. As soon as the environment lacks that support, powerlessness is felt, and the pleasure of desire disappears. A defensive system is then set up, where the threatened ego immediately solicits aggressiveness in an attempt to safeguard the limits of the ego actively. The therapeutic response is to make a narcissistic alliance that counterbalances the insecurity to make the relationship viable and tolerable: it is necessary to reanimate, to reactivate the movements of life and linkages in the transference, and to restore the ego and its capacity for confidence.

In the danger of de-objectalization, offering a psychic and physical envelope, firm and flexible, is essential: it would be an introjectable container for the baby, provided that the rhythmicity of the tuning at the time of the care allows a true gathering of the senses, a transforming action of the impulsive flow as Bullinger (11) proposes. This shows the importance of direct interventions with infants whose mothers interact inadequately.

The therapeutic process modifies the psychic economy. The therapist's game engages and mobilizes the infant's interest, keeps his body active, and stimulates the development of the related fantasy.

The triangulation associated with the presence of the therapist in front of the dyad, or the mobilization of the paternal presence at the insistent invitation of the analyst, modifies the libidinal investment of the baby for a "non-mother" character who has an essential anti-depressive function by modifying the constellation of anxieties and defenses that characterizes the 6month-old child at the moment when he reaches the depressive position. The father builds a bridge between the mother and the kid; The father, not as another maternal object, but as different, and containing his wife, creates a bridge between her and the child; it is he who allows the establishment of links.

Using an outside authority figure, such as a therapist who acts as a father figure, is cathartic because it releases pent-up libidinal energy, makes room for fresh investments, and kick-starts stagnant development stifled by the narcissistic system (12).

The role of play

The great play models are organized the absence: the fort da the hide-and-seek are games of controlled loss. The discovery and creation of games, pleasures of all kinds, and the sexualization of life always show an improvement in babies; the appearance of a smile in impassive infants and laughter in little ones who have finally become enthusiastic are reliable signs of change (13).

Stimulated by the environment, babies begin to laugh and become happy and excited at the age of 4 months. By the end of the first year, children begin to laugh on their own *via* their own actions and decisions, and it is from 18 months on that a real sense of humor (non-verbal) will emerge in incongruous and surprising situations.

I am not talking here about the laughter that relieves tension and has poorly organized effects or the big laughs of manic defense; I am referring to the association of pleasure and control in the sense of humor.

A 3-month-old baby

Anna is an almost 3-month-old girl, sullen and silent. Her mother is convinced that she will become autistic because she makes no sounds and smiles little. I know this mother well. She has had disability anxiety for each of her previous children and had to undergo a therapeutic abortion before becoming pregnant with Anna. The mother-daughter encounters are quite gentle around breastfeeding, but the exchanges of glances are poor and lost in anguish. I address the baby directly, telling her how her mother wanted a wonderful little girl but had lost confidence since the tragedy of the abortion, and I add, in a deliberately theatrical tone, that her mother is a woman of inordinate demands who wants perfect children; I surprise the mother, who starts laughing when I add that she has all the possible faults of a mother who idealizes the maternal function. I know that Anna is smiling with her father, and I tell her what a conflict it must be for the little girl to have a handsome father and an angry mother. Anna's mother, of course, reacts strongly and addresses her daughter in turn, saying how much she loves and values her baby, and her voice changes, becoming softer and more melodious. Anna turns to me and coos, then make eye contact with her mother and gets lost in her eyes, smiling. She then not stops babbling and becomes a very happy baby in a few weeks.

It is more difficult when the baby must face the negative effects of a rejecting mother. The threats of annihilation of the internal world are then intense. The persecutory experience is constant. These babies present obvious mood disorders. They are apathetic, inhibited, and always serious. Their development is restricted; attachment disorders take the lead very quickly, with a deficiency in bonds; these children can be entrusted to any stranger. They are neither fierce nor wild. The mother has not been able to be a mirror image of the child's emotions and has not been able to invest in the child as an object of love (14). The narcissistic damage is inevitable, as is the accompanying sense of guilt for having caused the argument with one's mother and a general inability to find peace in the world.

For a child's mind to develop, there must be something around that can hold it, comfort it through its pains, and challenge it just enough. Like a broken container, an uninteresting cosmos might trigger primal fears of abandonment and isolation. The excess of depressive suffering does not allow for the continuity and stability of the psychic structure; the introjective capacities of the baby are diminished; the developmental potentials cannot be realized and remain frozen in pathological identifications (15). The primary identification is with an object that ensures vital functions in a harmonious relationship, and this relationship allows psychic growth. Primary depression can be the equivalent of psychic death with proper defenses in place.

The baby has psychically withdrawn from the relationship. He has disengaged himself.

This failure in constructing the subject as an object of desire jeopardizes the construction of the fantasy. These sick children do not play or laugh.

The feeling of "existing" remains extremely fragile in children with early narcissistic disorders. The feeling of security is sometimes regained by looking at them and through rhythmic exchanges. Eye-to-eye contact is a tactile experience for infants. When a mother can, during therapy with her baby, rediscover the pleasure of contact with a baby she is rocking and singing a nursery rhyme to, a common skin is put back in place (8).

An inconsolable 3-year-old boy

A 3-year-old boy I had known as a baby, subjected to the disorganizing anxieties of his borderline mother, was subject

to inconsolable terrors. During the session, he drew elephants covered with three layers of skin. I pointed out to him that they must have felt well wrapped up, unlike him. He described his anxiety about dissolving into the water like sugar on the way to the pool or spilling like an inconsistent liquid on the way to bed at night. This child had never laughed, and it took several years of therapy for him to find a sense of humor that makes distress funny.

In early therapy, play fulfills several functions, from putting the mother's relational capacities back into play to engaging in eye-to-eye communication with a baby who is just waiting for it to the slow resuscitation of a withdrawn infant, hypotonic and almost desireless. A game of imitations, tuning, sound and visual mirroring, offering empathy, sympathy, and the ability to read effects (16).

The emotional exchange is the relationship between the internal world and the outside, the material that allows the relationship to be created and to continue. The danger is not so much hatred as withdrawal, non-emotion, as Bion (17) calls "anti-emotion."

It is essential to allow a baby to act in the world and feel capable of acting on his own body and others. The game unfolds with a shared pleasure, the amused complicity of the therapist. It is important to remain naïve and enthusiastic enough to be surprised by the baby and its formidable capacities for relationship and recovery.

As Lore Schacht (18) has shown, wonder and being surprised are part of therapy with children. It is a capacity that is quickly lost in depression. Emotional sharing is the benchmark for the therapist, sometimes mired in discouraging affect, sometimes excited by the baby's rapid engagement.

Play allows the object's response to be represented: what has been refused or has been impossible, the prohibitions and the losses; play also allows the child to satisfy its need for action and transformation. The therapist must try to remain creative to keep a sense of humor, which allows the differentiation between internal and external reality to be maintained while playing for real or fictitiously. We stay in the realm of illusion to give the baby ways to represent things and to give him a chance to understand how symbolization works.

How fix the damage to the object? It is all the work of the depressive position. Moreover, in the playground that the therapist offers to the child by addressing him directly, a whole chain of representations can develop that manifest the dynamics and the imbalance linked to the depressive symptoms.

I will present my first encounter with a depressed family whose first child compulsively pulls out his hair. This is an example of a way of intervening with analytical thinking based on Freudian metapsychology, the internal economic aspect of the psychic apparatus, and the freedom to play that Winnicott gives.

A toddler suffering from a compulsion to pull out her hair

Paul walks embarrassed, badly balanced on his small, spindly legs. He is alone in his discomfort. His parents consider him an independent person who does not need support.

His father bursts out laughing loudly at seeing him so awkward and frightened when he enters my office. The whole family seems caught up in the fear of the analyst in a stranger's anxiety, leaving the tiny boy in hyper-control of his wobbly body, looking hard. His mother is more worried about my gaze than her son, who will reject her brutally when she finally extends her hand. Paul falls, gets up quickly, and rushes to the toys on my desk without exchanging a glance.

He is a little boy who does not smile and has a stern look and a bitter mouth. He has almost no hair, his skin is damaged, and his appearance is strange and disharmonious. Paul has been compulsively pulling out his hair for several months.

According to his parents, this is a reaction to frustration, but when I try to connect the dots with events, they are surprised to discover that this symptom began when the baby moved to a daycare center.

The father reports that he is furious at his son's reaction and tends to scream and sometimes grab his arm violently, as his own father did when he was holding himself badly. He can talk about this abuse with legitimacy, thus leaning on his father's model, even if this admission is a request for help on his part.

Paul's mother cannot tolerate dirt, and the falling hair drives her crazy and makes her abusive, forcing her to deny the child's suffering.

Paul walks over to my desk, stubbornly avoiding his parents and clinging to a piece of furniture. A few stuffed animals attract his attention. He is more interested in the concrete aspect of the object than in its symbolic value.

His body is solidified around a clumsy muscular carapace, a defensive second skin, as Esther Bick (19) has shown. He is not harmonious because of this muscular contracture. This little boy is not attractive.

One scenario that comes to mind is that of immature, emotionally stunted parents who ignore or abuse their infant. According to Ferenczi et al. (20), when a child is not welcomed he is subject to depression and destructiveness.

Paul touches the toys without looking at them while his parents repeat: "Say thank you to the doctor, do not touch, apologize."

Conversely, the inability to assign this little child a generational position is a manifestation of the restriction against touching, which is one of the organizers of oedipal prohibitions. A child is not touched by his parents if he is not in pain. He is repressed in his attempt at action and out of curiosity. No creativity. When Paul is left alone with a stranger, he tries to take his anger out on his toys, but his parents, who have a very strong superego, stop him.

I think the symptom of pulling out hair is associated with a lack of sensation between mother and child, with the absence of a container and solid holding that can be internalized. This brings Didier Anzieu's Moi Peau to mind (21).

Their fear of judgment is extreme. A terrifying superego dominates the atmosphere, inhibiting everyone (22). As I point out, Paul's mother recognizes how impossible it is for her to play with her son. When they are together, she cannot stand the needs of the child who touches everything.

I say how distressed the presence of her baby makes her feel. This intervention leads to a respite from parental prohibitions, and Paul grabs a wooden duck. He places it on my desk, and the toy falls on the floor. She holds her breath, visibly distressed.

I then take the duck back and put it on the table, which I tap with the flat of my hand, saying, "Bad duck!" Paul opens his eyes, looks at me at last and waits for my reaction. I repeat the gesture of tapping the table while talking to the duck. Paul opens his mouth, drops his arms on his legs, and looks at me with a burst of surprise. The muscular relaxation is impressive. His mechanical robot look is gone. He approaches the table, throws the duck on the floor and solicits my intervention with his eyes. I repeat, "naughty duck!" We start a repetitive game, where he throws the duck more and more rigorously.

The persecutory atmosphere of the session has dissipated. Paul slams the table as he throws the duck on the floor and screams with his mouth open and head tilted back; it is more of a scream than an expression of joy, but his mother immediately interprets it as a laugh. She exclaims, "My son has never laughed!" This very brief outburst is followed by an excited lively look and a silent request to play again, which we do, with all the toys in his hand.

Paul's father is shocked that I would allow this transgression, but since the change in their son moves his wife, he agrees that I should say, "It's a game!"

Paul, however, does not smile and does not babble. But his look has become alive, and he solicits me. At the end of our first meeting, he points out a small plush ball, and I let him take this toy, which he will take home, while I ask the parents to think about bringing back the toy at the time of our second appointment, which they did, explaining their surprise as Paul replayed the fallen animal and the tapped table at every opportunity. They accepted that it was a game and were impressed by their son's ability to remember the session. This was their first positive comment about Paul. But the child pulls his hair out every night at home, and the parents' screaming does not help.

As I picked up this family in the waiting room for the second appointment, I was amazed to see this lone toddler sitting lopsidedly on the couch, holding a bottle in his mouth, with a blank stare, while both parents were sitting farther back in armchairs, busy with their own reading.

After a reunion with Paul, who took a while to exchange a glance, he got excited and repeated the game of the bad duck. I say my question is about the child's solitude with his bottle. The parents are proud to have an independent baby because, since the age of 6 months, Paul has held his bottle alone; they thought he no longer needed any contact with them.

I think of the relationship between the child's muscular contraction, aggressive tension, and maternal abandonment situations. Paul's mother understands my problem and asks for an interview with me alone. Working with the parents will allow for changes in their closeness to their baby's body and primary needs.

The discharges of tension and aggression will playfully continue in Paul. We play with balls that we exchange while I evoke the movements of proximity and distance from the maternal object.

After several weeks of guidance from the parents and playing with Paul, the symptom of hair-pulling changed. As soon as he pulls out his hair, her mother now sits next to him and gradually offers him tender contact. A doll was found in my office, whose large soft hair has become a subject of pleasure to caress and is on the way to becoming a fetish object.

But Paul needs to find self-calming actions and move from discharge to bonding. The child's therapy will last for a few years. Paul was an infant suffering from emotional neglect and a lack of auto-erotic capacity, and when he became a toddler addicted to a painful, compulsive discharge of despair and aggression. He then developed an ability to play when his mother found pleasure in interacting with him in a containing and daydreaming way (23).

Paul was a child "beyond the pleasure principle" (24), fed with bottles without the presence of the maternal object, and raised in silence when speech only served to emit prohibitions. The impulsive needs were ignored or restrained. Only the discharge remained as a solution to the tension. The experience of pleasure requires the presence of the object and the possibility of satisfaction Connivance around pleasure is sharing in the mirror that a mother may provide by acting as an accomplice and acknowledging the child's desires.

The complicity developed with the analyst allowed for exchanges of glances, emotions, then laughter. It is one of the essential roles of the third party to provide the necessary elements for satisfaction (13).

By identifying his son as being capable of joy, Paul's mother began to find pleasure in playing with him. As a mother abandoned by her own mother, she expected her son to be the one who supported and loved her.

Paul's feelings have been given substance by my interpretations of them. The ability to welcome satisfaction, enjoyment, surprise, and discoveries are balanced—or not— with the capacity for adaptation and control, which has a value of economic balance. The analyst's efforts help the kid develop

the skills she needs to overcome the protective mechanisms that hold her back, such as the non-mentalized discharge processes and short circuits that deplete the richness of the child's imaginative play and her ability to represent the world around her.

Paul's first laugh in the session was a mixture of brutality and fragility. Subjected to the calming and destructive process of hair pulling, in an undifferentiated sensuality, he remained attached to the perceptive elements of the relationship. It is indeed an index of the self's premature reaction to the early trauma. By channeling their excitement into positive physiological ego sensations and the excitatory function of the analyst, who speaks and encourages the regression as access to passivity, the young child was able to feel a positive effect. Anguish is sometimes soluble in laughter.

The effect of surprise plays an essential role here. As Winnicott (25) shows in the use of the squiggle, it is when the patient surprises himself that a persistent therapeutic action can take place: the discovery of the unknown of the unconscious never before experienced. "The ability to surprise oneself presupposes the security of being carried by the framework, by the transferential relationship; it presupposes experiencing oneself as being in the attention and solicitude of the person in front of the other" [(26), p. 211].

The social laughter

I observed Paul at the nursery when he was two and a half years old: he ran straight ahead without looking at his mother, who was leaving, made a tour of the friends who had already arrived, settled in the middle, and burst out laughing while shaking his head. A wild, forced laugh was the signal for the group: all laugh and approach him. They shook their heads in rhythm and laughed out loud. Paul forced himself to laugh again to maintain the general atmosphere and the feeling of being together. His mother was gone, and the group was here. With each difficult transition, he shook his head and forced a not-sofunny but convincing throat laugh to trigger a manic defense signal. Merging with the group of restless laughers allowed him to get through the transition without being alone.

The predictable emergence of a discharge of both anxious tension and excitement, the laughter of the small child is contagious. The narcissistic contribution is immediate: "I exist. The others imitate me and surround me." The vitality of the ego-body associated with the laughing gesticulation gives the pleasure of being in the center of the group explosion.

For Paul's laughter to take on an auto-erotic value, it took many sessions of repeating the actions of throwing and tapping and then putting the toys in a container before continuing with games that put in place the symbolic value of the alternation between presence and absence (27). Paul's compulsion to pull out his hair and to feel pain subsided and eventually disappeared when his parents started touching their child.

In denial of depressive effects, triggering the group's excitement at the nursery allowed aggressive desires to manifest. It was a noisy laugh without humor, sometimes even without comedy. The elaboration of the separation from the mother remained limited, the maternal object being little represented as a source of satisfaction.

Despite hypomanic attempts at collective laughter and the lack of resources in this small boy's symbolic activities, the transformation task of negative affect, rage, despair, and anger was not completed. Let's think of a neurosis of character in the making.

We finally quit the purely economic register of discharge to advance toward representations and a sense of humor when common mother-son laughter became possible. From motor pleasure to emotional pleasure, Paul's laughter finally led to that of his sad mother. Paul never became a clown.

I still think that even if his development went back to a more regular line. He was able to develop good language and cognitive abilities. Paul was at risk of staying in a state of narcissistic vulnerability and a tendency to use compulsive actions to manage his anxieties, as we observe in adults whose infantile trauma leaves an imprint on their capacities (28).

When he was four and was telling me a story about an abandoned child left alone in a dark forest, Paul said, "Do you remember? When I was a baby, I felt like a robot. I was like a mechanical puppet in a state of terror."

Conclusion

The essential contribution of the depression, of the loss of the object of satisfaction, to the construction of the psychic apparatus, is the birth of the capacity for representation, language, and symbolization.

The development of the internalized objects is precocious, and the quantity of investment attached to it depends on the pleasure of functioning in the Ego of the new activities offered by the environment, which plays a fundamental role. A child's joy in taking action and the amazement of their parents are both excellent indicators of progress after a period of initial collapse. What Geneviève Haag (29) described under the term "intracorporeal identification" as an essential sign to identify the positive evolution of a baby: when the child re-enacts with his body interactions with the mother, between integration, autoeroticism, and introjection. The adult must then interpret these experiences anchored in the body.

It seems to me that early joint therapies make it possible to reduce the defensive cleavage in the infant and to give back place and energy to the processes of identification by offering possibilities to act in the world and to experience the body in action. It is as much work with the parents to help them be more empathetic and less projective while tolerating what Winnicott calls the "ruthless cruelty" of their child as it is direct work with the baby through the corporal and interactive games.

Parent-baby psychotherapy means giving libidinal plasticity a chance.

The primary depressive collapse that I am talking about here leaves traces in the body, which keeps the trace of primary disorganizations, and in the psyche by modifying the possibilities of identification. I think that we can see here a determining influence on sensory integration disorders, now diagnosed as a nosography entity, cause serious developmental disorders.

A toddler's ability to laugh out loud or finally crack a smile is always a sign of positive development. Enthusiasm and the capacity for wonder, which are easily shared with the therapist, give the impression that treatment is going well. Serious or frightened infants and young children who are constantly worried or sad, when they cheer up, give the impression that the libidinal quality of existence has returned.

An indicator of development in toddlers is the ability to experience grief over loss, guilt for acting on aggressive impulses, and the ability to regulate these emotions. It is always important to observe the quality of the gaze, the harmony of the communication, the solidity of the motor tone, and the curiosity of a baby for the outside world. It is also necessary to evaluate the evolutionary possibilities of the family environment: can the parents have access to empathy, or do they remain in denial?

Recovery of libido begins with a renewed appreciation for life, but we must also lay the groundwork for the possibility of symbolizations.

It is time to develop research protocols highlighting the therapeutic impact of psychoanalysts' interventions, which helps us know the specific means of action for early disorders.

The contemporary world demands that analytical intervention quality be recognized by offering demonstrations that respect the scientific tradition.

Early therapies with therapeutic value and preventative potential for future narcissistic unpleasant difficulties can be provided to new parents and suffering newborns through the use of psychoanalytic thinking and an understanding of early relationship disorders.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Klein M. A contribution to the psychogenesis of manic-depressive states. Int J Psychoanal. (1935) 16:145–74.

2. Tronick EZ. Things still to be done on the still face effect. *Infancy*. (2003) 4:475-82. doi: 10.1207/S15327078IN0404_02

3. Winnicott DW. The child and the outside world: Studies in developing relationships. Routledge (1957).

4. Bowlby J. Attachment and loss: Volume II: Separation, anxiety and anger. In *Attachment and loss: Volume II: Separation, anxiety and anger.* London: The Hogarth press and the institute of psycho-analysis (1973). p. 1-429.

5. Fraiberg S. Pathological defenses in infancy. *Psychoanal Q.* (1982) 51:612– 35. doi: 10.1080/21674086.1982.11927012

В. Mother-infant research 6. Beebe informs mother-infant Psychoanalytic treatment. Studv Child. (2005)60:7the of 46. doi: 10.1080/00797308.2005.11800745

7. Golse B. Les dépressions chez le bébé: affect, état, structure? in Revue Française de Psychosomatique. (2001) 20:29–46. doi: 10.3917/rfps.020.0029

8. Anzieu-Premmereur C. Perspectives on the body ego and mother-infant interactions. I've got you under my skin. In: Tsolas V, Anzieu-Premmereur C, Editors. *A Psychoanalytic Exploration of the Body in Today's World: On the Body.* Routledge, Chap.6 (2017). p. 89–99. doi: 10.4324/9781315159683-10

9. Palacio Espasa F. Considerations on depressive conflict and its different levels of intensity: implications for technique. *Int J Psychoanal.* (2002) 83:825–36. doi: 10.1516/15HH-H25E-JBVX-9PAR

10. Balint M. The Basic Fault: Therapeutic Aspects of Regression. Oxfordshire: Routledge (1968). doi: 10.4324/9780203735640

11. Bullinger A. Habiter son organisme ou la recherche de l'équilibre sensoritonique. Érès (2007). p. 151-9.

12. Anzieu-Premmereur C. The process of representation in early childhood. in The Work of Figurability. In: Levine H, Reed G, Scarfone D, editors. *Unrepresented to Represented Mental States*. Oxfordshire: Routledge (2013). p. 240–54. doi: 10.4324/9780429484612-12

13. Anzieu-Premmereur C. The development of a sense of humor in young children during psychoanalysis. *JICAP*. (2009) 8:137-44. doi: 10.1080/15289160903417725

14. Bowlby J. The nature of the child's tie to his mother. Int J Psychoanal. (1958) 39:350–73.

15. Winnicott DW. The child and the outside world: Studies in developing relationships. Routledge (1947). doi: 10.4324/9781315013404

16. Brazelton TB, Tronick E, Adamson L, Als H, Wise S. Early mother-infant reciprocity. *Parent-infant interaction*. (1975) 33:122. doi: 10.1002/9780470720158.ch9

17. Bion WR. Attention and interpretation, in: Seven Servants. New York: Aronson (1970).

18. Schacht L. Psychoanalytic facilitation into the "subject-uses-subject" phase of maturation. Int J Child Psychother. (1972) 5–15.

19. Bick E. The experience of the skin in early objects relations. *IntJPsy.* (1968) 49:484-6.

20. Ferenczi S, Balint M, Mosbacher E. The unwelcome child and his death instinct 1:(1929). In: *Final contributions to the problems and methods of psychoanalysis*. Routledge (2018). P. 102–7. doi: 10.4324/9780429474750-9

21. Anzieu D. The Skin Ego. Translation Naomi Segal. London: Karnac (1985).

22. Winnicott DW. Hate in the counter-transference. J Psychother Pract Res. (1994) 3:348.

23. Ogden T. On holding and containing, being and dreaming. Int J Psychoanal. (2004) 65:1349-64. doi: 10.1516/T41H-DGUX-9JY4-GQC7

24. Freud S. Beyond the pleasure principle. SE. (1920) 18:7-66.

25. Winnicott DW. Transitional objects and transitional phenomena-a study of the first not-me possession. *Int J: Psycho-Anal.* (1953) 34:89–97.

26. Schacht L. La capacité d'être surpris. Journal de la psychanalyse d'enfant. (2001) 29:195-214.

27. Roussillon R. Primitive Agony and Its Symbolization. IPA Karnac London (2011).

28. Anzieu-Premmereur C. The skin ego: dyadic sensuality, trauma in infancy, and adult narcissistic issues. *Psychoanal Rev.* (2015) 102:659–82. doi: 10.1521/prev.2015.102.5.659

29. Haag G. In the footsteps of Frances Tustin: Further reflections on the construction of the body-ego. *Infant Observation*. (2000) 3:7–22. doi: 10.1080/13698030008599640

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

FDITED BY

Olivier Putois, Université de Strasbourg, France REVIEWED BY Roberto Esposito, Asur Marche, Italv Carlo Lai, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Michel Botbol, Université de Bretagne Occidentale, France Daniela Flores Mosri, Universidad Intercontinental. Mexico Bernard Golse Université de Paris, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Jessica Tran The jessica.tran-the@unicaen.r

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Neuroplasticity and Development, a section of the journal Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience

RECEIVED 06 October 2022 ACCEPTED 11 November 2022 PUBLISHED 14 December 2022

CITATION

Tran The J, Magistretti PJ and Ansermet F (2022) The critical periods of cerebral plasticity: A key aspect in a dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience centered on the psychopathology of schizophrenia. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 15:1057539. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2022.1057539

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Tran The, Magistretti and Ansermet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The critical periods of cerebral plasticity: A key aspect in a dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience centered on the psychopathology of schizophrenia

Jessica Tran The^{1,2,3,4,5,6}*, Pierre J. Magistretti^{6,7,8} and Francois Ansermet^{6,9}

¹INSERM U1077 Neuropsychologie et Imagerie de la Mémoire Humaine, Caen, France, ²Ecole Pratique des Hautes Etudes, Université Paris Sciences et Lettres, Paris, France, ³UFR de Psychologie, Université de Caen Normandie, Caen, France, ⁴Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Caen, Caen, France, ⁵Cyceron, Caen, France, ⁶Agalma Foundation Geneva, Chemin des Mines, Switzerland, ⁷Brain Mind Institute, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland, ⁸Division of Biological and Environmental Sciences and Engineering (BESE), King Abdullah University of Science and Technology, Thuwal, Saudi Arabia, ⁹Département de Psychiatrie, Faculté de Médecine, Université de Genève, Geneva, Switzerland

Through research into the molecular and cellular mechanisms that occur during critical periods, recent experimental neurobiological data have brought to light the importance of early childhood. These have demonstrated that childhood and early environmental stimuli play a part not only in our subjective construction, but also in brain development; thus, confirming Freud's intuition regarding the central role of childhood and early experiences of the environment in our psychological development and our subjective outcomes. "Critical periods" of cerebral development represent temporal windows that mark favorable, but also circumscribed, moments in developmental cerebral plasticity. They also vary between different cortical areas. There are, therefore, strictly defined temporal periods for learning language, music, etc., after which this learning becomes more difficult, or even impossible, to acquire. Now, research into these critical periods can be seen as having a significant part to play in the interdisciplinary dialog between psychoanalysis and neurosciences with regard to the role of early experiences in the etiology of some psychopathological conditions. Research into the cellular and molecular mechanisms controlling the onset and end of these critical periods, notably controlled by the maturation of parvalbumin-expressing basket cells, have brought to light the presence of anomalies in the maturation of these neurons in patients with schizophrenia. Starting from these findings we propose revisiting the psychoanalytic theories on the etiology of psychosis from an interdisciplinary perspective. Our study works from the observation, common to both psychoanalysis and neurosciences, that experience leaves a trace; be it a "psychic" or a "synaptic" trace. Thus, we develop a hypothesis for an "absence of trace"

in psychosis; reexamining psychosis through the prism of the biological theory of critical periods in plasticity.

KEYWORDS

schizophrenia, psychoanalysis, cerebral plasticity, environment, psychosis

Introduction

Cerebral plasticity is our brain"s capacity to modify itself under the influence of our experiences that are influenced the environment. As early as 1909, the histologist Santiago Ramon y Cajal, who was opposed to the view of the nervous system as being static, had an intuition of this hypothesis "The nerve connections are thus not definitive and immutable, since associations are formed which are destined to subsist or be destroyed in accordance with undetermined circumstances."(Ramón and Cajal, 1909). Since the 2000s, experimental data have brought to light molecular and cellular synaptic mechanisms of plasticity. These are mechanisms by means of which experience is inscribed in, and leaves a trace within, the neural networks. This modification of the nervous system due to the impact of interaction with the environment, is part of our organism's process of adaptation and individuation. It is what makes the structure and functioning of our brain unique to each of us.

Synaptic plasticity of the brain remains possible throughout life, and into adulthood. It can also continue in physiological and pathological conditions, such as ageing. Until the 1990s it was deemed that adult neurogenesis (defined as the birth and development of new neurons in adulthood) did not take place after birth, but it has now been demonstrated that specific zones of the brain retain a neurogenic potential throughout life (Just et al., 2022).

However, there exists in the course of the individual's development, precise temporal windows during which plasticity is at its peak. These temporal windows of plasticity, called *critical periods*, correspond to optimum moments when certain regions of the cerebral cortex can modify and remodel, both morphologically and physiologically, under the influence of environmental stimulations. When the critical period closes, this entails a loss of plasticity that makes the acquisition of new skills more difficult. This explains why, for example, it is easier to learn a second language or master a musical instrument during childhood rather that at adulthood.

The closing of critical periods, and the resultant partial loss of plasticity, can make the repair of damaged cortical pathways difficult. However, far from being only an inconvenience this closure is in fact essential for our development: once adulthood is reached, once the critical periods are closed, the cortex is less plastic, but it is also more stable. This make it possible to memorize and fix what has been learnt, to consolidate the traces resulting from our interactions with the environment that are the source of our autobiographical memories; something that contributes to anchoring our sense of identity. If our brain were to be too plastic, we would not be able to retain information, to consolidate the mnemic traces resulting from our past experiences. This situation could produce symptoms similar to those observed, for instance, in Alzheimer's disease (Hensch, 2005; Testa et al., 2019).

The cellular and molecular mechanisms that are at the origin of the onset and closure of critical periods are beginning to be better understood. This promising new field of research is one that neurobiology has had a growing interest in for the last 10 years. A focus of this research is ultimately to shed new light on the role of critical periods when considering the impact of environment in some psychiatric disorders (Di Nardo et al., 2020; Vincent et al., 2021). This research, could amount to a significant point of convergence in a dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience in the field of mental disorders.

Freud had from the very beginnings of his work, emphasized the importance of interaction with the environment during childhood for psychological development, and the formation of personality (Freud, 1895, 1905). Similarly, he insisted on the role played by certain early experiences in the etiology of nervous disorders, observing that these might have "...more severe and lasting effects than they could do in mature years" (Freud, 1897). According to this view, the early part of an individual's development could represent an important moment for understanding the impact of certain interaction with the environment on the individual's mental and emotional development; including understanding the etiology of some mental illnesses. Freud also underlined the role of certain innate predispositions in the etiology of these pathologies (Freud, 1896). To understand the twofold influence of these innate factors, alongside factors acquired during childhood that can act in a complementary way, he put forward the idea of a series of associated factors that complement each other. According to this view of a multifactorial etiology of mental illnesses, pathologies might result either from: the combination of a strong innate disposition and some lesser acquired factors; of the presence of a minor innate disposition mixed with a strong incidence of events linked to interactions with the environment, during the critical period that stretches from the first months of life up to puberty; or, in some rare cases, a pathology could be caused by the influence of only one of these determining factors (Freud, 1917). Freud maintained this concept of a twofold etiology, looking beyond the alternative which would involve making a choice between exogenous and endogenous factors when determining the etiology of mental illnesses.

If we focus particularly on the etiology of schizophrenia, recent data from research in psychiatry seem to support, in a remarkable way, this hypothesis for a possible interaction between genetic and environmental factors. Initially studies into the origin of this pathology concentrated on searching for a genetic mutation (Riley et al., 2005). However, the hypothesis that schizophrenia is a single gene disorder has been abandoned for a number of years now (Brown, 2011; Ripke, 2014). This is because the development of genome-wide association studies (GWAS) has shown that vulnerability to schizophrenia is dependent on a large number of alleles with very small effects, and so can only partially explain the appearance of the schizophrenia phenotype (Sanders et al., 2008; Psychiatric GWAS Consortium Bipolar Disorder Working Group, 2011; Ripke, 2014; Misiak et al., 2018). Furthermore, these genetic factors are not specific to schizophrenia but can be found with other psychiatric pathologies (Van Snellenberg and de Candia, 2009; Hill et al., 2013; Skudlarski et al., 2013; Cardno and Owen, 2014; Wang et al., 2015; Misiak et al., 2018).

Studies of monozygotic twins have brought to light that, when one twin presents a phenotype for schizophrenia, there is a measure of agreement that goes from 40 to 60% of cases where the second twin presents the same phenotype (against a 10 to 15% for dizygotic twins; Fischer, 1971; Kringlen and Cramer, 1989; Cardno et al., 1999). This genetic matching is therefore relative, and the existence of a very high number of twins who share the same genetic heritage but where only one twin develops a phenotype for schizophrenia could be explained by environmental factors. Environmental factors can act *in utero*, and the fetal experiences of the monozygotic twins may prove to be different (Piontelli et al., 1999). They can also act during the perinatal period, during childhood, or even at adolescence (Brown, 2011).

Studies into the role played by the environment in the etiology of schizophrenia developed later than the initial research into the genetic etiology. This was due, among other things, to the methodological problems linked to these studies, as well as the difficulty in scientifically measuring the impact of environmental factors on the development of a phenotype for schizophrenia. Today however, we know that besides the genetic risks a number of environmental exposures can interfere with brain development, and originate some of the brain anomalies observed with schizophrenia. Among these factors, we find events that occur at different stages of development - and thus at critical periods involving distinct areas of the brain. In particular, we find: prenatal infections, obstetric complications, nutritional deficiency and in utero maternal stress, postnatal infections, trauma during childhood, consumption of toxic substances such as cannabis during adolescence, but also socio-economic factors such as growing up in an urban environment (Andreasson et al., 1987; Ames, 2001; Arseneault et al., 2002; Aleman et al., 2003; Allardyce et al., 2005; Dean and Murray, 2005; Amminger et al., 2007; Arion et al., 2007; Amminger et al., 2010; Brown, 2011; Marangoni et al., 2016).

Yet, when they are studied in isolation, these environmental factors, just as the genetic factors, present very low levels of effect and explain only partially the development of a vulnerability to schizophrenia. A 2017 study proposed a method (the polyenviromic risk score) for calculating the combined score of various environmental risk factors that seemed to corelate the most with a vulnerability for schizophrenia (Padmanabhan et al., 2017). However, insofar as genetic and environmental risk factors identified in schizophrenia remain of little significance taken in isolation, for a number of years now scientists have increasingly been focusing on the possible interactions between these two kinds of factors (Misiak et al., 2018) - in effect revisiting the Freudian hypothesis of a series of factors that complement each other, involving both types of determinants. Studies focusing on the interaction between these two factors aim to bring to light cases where the effects of certain environmental exposures are predominant in subjects who present certain underlying genotypes; or, alternatively, where the expression of a particular genotype would be dependent on the presence of given environmental factors (Ottman, 1996; van Os et al., 2008; Ayhan et al., 2016). The majority of studies focusing on gene/environment interactions have concentrated on the effect in variation of COMT, BDNF and FKBP5, which may interact with certain environmental exposures such as the presence of trauma or abuse in childhood, or the use of cannabis during adolescence (Brown, 2011; Misiak et al., 2018).

The research protocols for the link between genetic vulnerability and environmental exposure study three kinds of interaction (Clarke et al., 2009). One area of research is the increased effects of environmental exposure, owing to the presence of a certain susceptible genes (Brown, 2011). For example, the risk of schizophrenia developing in offspring of mothers who were exposed to pyelonephritis during pregnancy, is higher when antecedents for psychosis exist in the family and two genes (DISC1 and MIA) may be involved. Another focus is the possibility that genetic vulnerabilities might constitute a risk factor for certain detrimental environmental exposures. This would be similar to the genetic predisposition to compulsive behaviors that can make some individual more susceptible to environmental incidents such as head trauma (Kendler and Eaves, 1986). Finally, there is research into the epigenetic factors involved in the etiology of schizophrenia. These studies look at functional changes that do not involve alterations in nucleotide sequence. They indicate that some environmental exposures that occur during critical periods in postnatal development can alter the epigenome, leading to changes in gene expression throughout the individual's life (Zhang and Meaney, 2010). These alterations can be at the origin of an increased vulnerability for schizophrenia and, in some cases, are susceptible to transmission across generations (Brown, 2011).

Thus, some surprising similarities between recent data on the etiology of schizophrenia and some of Freud's intuitions, have come to light. These similarities concern both the interaction between different factors for vulnerability, as well as the importance of critical periods in development during which the effects of certain environmental exposures are increased. If the idea of critical periods can represent a starting point for a promising dialog between psychoanalysis and the neurosciences,

16

as regards research into psychiatric pathologies, some of the recent data in particular, encourages us to initiate that dialog. Indeed, as research in neurobiology has begun to better understand the molecular and cellular mechanisms that determine the onset and closure of critical periods, some studies have evidenced the existence of anomalies in the physiological mechanisms linked to critical periods of brain plasticity in schizophrenia patients.

The aim of our work is therefore, to initiate that dialog between psychoanalysis and the neurosciences around the role of critical periods in an understanding of schizophrenia, while at the same time, indicating the possible therapeutic horizons this interdisciplinary approach presents. To that end, we propose first to define the biological concept of *critical periods*, using the model of a developmental pathology linked to the acquisition of binocular vision, namely amblyopia. This pathology has allowed scientists to better understand the molecular and cellular mechanisms that determine the onset and closure of critical periods. We propose describing some of the mechanisms linked to the maturation of inhibitory parvalbumin-expressing interneurons, and we will discuss the anomalies related to the functioning of these inhibitory cells that have been observed in schizophrenia patients.

We will then revisit the research around the cellular mechanisms of critical periods and their anomalies observed in schizophrenia, through the prism of a dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience. This dialog is based on the intersection of these two disciplines around the concept of "trace" (Ansermet et al., 2007). This model draws on the fact that psychoanalysis and neuroscience come together around the shared observation that experience is inscribed leaving an organic trace. On the basis of this model, we will endeavor to reframe the Freudian and Lacanian psychoanalytic theories on the etiology of schizophrenia - thus putting them into perspective with the research done on critical periods and the amblyopia model. We propose putting forward an interdisciplinary view of schizophrenia as resulting from an "absence of trace," that is to say, a defect in inscription of certain experiences linked to interactions with the environment during critical periods of brain plasticity. We will then propose some hypotheses relating to the nature of these traces - traces that may be at the root of our sense of self, and of identity -, as well as the effects resulting from the absence of their inscription (or pathological inscription, as is the case in amblyopia) for schizophrenia. Finally, we will consider, from an interdisciplinary perspective, the therapeutic possibilities offered by the work being done around the reopening of critical periods for plasticity.

Critical periods as temporal limits to plasticity: The amblyopia model

The research done by David Hubel and Torsten Wiesel on the visual system of cats – for which they received the 1981 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine – was the first to experimentally

demonstrate the temporally circumscribed character of cerebral plasticity. Their questions stemmed initially from a disease named amblyopia. In humans, amblyopia is a pathology characterized by a unilateral visual impairment in children who had been operated too late for cataracts, or who presented a significant strabismus that was not treated before the ages of four or five. The absence of stimulation in one eye during a certain length of time, led to a definitive weakening of cortical representation in the visual cortex for that eye in favor of the visual field of the other eye (Prochiantz, 2012). Although the term commonly used for this disorder is "lazy eye," it is however not a lesion or a functional disorder of the eye that is the root cause. The sensory organ itself is completely functional, it is at the cortical level that the representation is absent (the representation of both eyes is modified). Wiesel describes having initially tried to build an animal model that could demonstrate this particularly of the visual system"s development, based on experimentation using kittens. The results brought to light that, depending on the timing and the duration of the suture of one eye, the development of the visual system in the visual cortex showed noticeable differences. If the sutures were performed immediately after birth and left for 3 months, the kitten were definitively blind in the eye that had been closed (Wiesel, 1982). Even once the eye was allowed to open, the majority of neurons situated in the visual cortex only respond to stimulations from the eye that had remained open. The work of Hubel and Wiesel, thus made it possible to demonstrate experimentally that the development of binocular vision requires the stimulation of both eyes, during a very specific timeframe in postnatal development. Their research showed that the development of the visual cortex is dependent on the environment. The absence of stimulation in either of the two eyes, can have irreversible consequences for the acquisition of binocular vision.

If a kitten's eye is closed 2 weeks after birth, at the end of 18 months only the eye that was left open will give rise to cortical activity. However, if the eye is closed 10 weeks after birth, the impact is lessened, and significant activity can be observed in the cortical region when stimuli is applied to that eye. Closing of the eye that occurs after 1 year still shows some impact, but far less than the two previous interventions; and if the closing takes place at 6 years of age, no modification or reorganization of the cortical circuits are observed (Prochiantz, 2014; Di Nardo et al., 2018; Di Nardo et al., 2020). There exists therefore a precise temporal limit for the establishment of the phenomena of brain plasticity, insofar as that it is significantly reduced after a certain "critical" period for the development of any given brain function (in this instance binocular vision). After the closure of the critical period within the primary visual area, treatment of amblyopia becomes more difficult, even impossible (Scheiman et al., 2005). Sensory experience therefore, plays a significant role in the building of the central nervous system. The work of Hubel and Wiesel contributed to showing that, although brain development is in part determined by innate genetic factors, that development can be very labile within any given genetic makeup. The environment, especially through certain early experiences, modifies in a durable or even

irreversible way the structure of the nervous system. These modifications can, however, only happen if the stimuli occur within a precise temporal window. Brain plasticity is therefore not limitless throughout development, and interactions with the environment will not have the same effects on the organism depending on when they take place (Hensch, 2005). Consequently, there exist strict temporal windows that limit the impact of experiences on the organism and on the nervous system.

If the work done on critical periods within the nervous system has played an important role in the experimental demonstration of this phenomenon, the existence of such temporal windows for the development of the central nervous system affects many other areas of the brain, and the critical periods for these different areas of the cortex are not synchronous. Depending on the regions of the brain and the circuits involved, the critical periods can occur at very different stages of overall development. In the case of some functions, plasticity persists up to quite a late age such as adolescence. While other faculties have a plasticity that is limited to the first years of infancy.

There are critical periods for various processes of increasing complexity, and they generally happen in a cascade through different neuronal circuits (Di Nardo et al., 2020). Initially they occur within the primary sensory areas such as sight or hearing; then they spread to reach the parts of the brain that handle motricity and language. The physiologist Jeannet Werker evidenced a hierarchy of these critical periods within the different cortical areas that are involved in language, and the acquisition of the ability to recognize the maternal language and its pronunciation. Each area has its own window of plasticity (Werker and Hensch, 2015). Then, much later, a critical period takes place in the areas linked to the control of emotions and cognitive functions; these remain able to modify up to the end of adolescence (Takesian and Hensch, 2013; Werker and Hensch, 2015; Nelson III and Gabard-Durnam, 2020). Additionally, depending to the areas that underpin these different skill acquisitions, the duration of the critical periods appears to be vary widely: from a few months for the ability to discriminate phonemes for example (and other sensorial areas), up to several years for higher cognitive functions. As an example, the prefrontal cortex has a neuronal circuit that has a particularly lengthy period of plasticity that continues up until puberty and also in young adults.

The cellular mechanisms behind critical periods: The role of parvalbumin-expressing inhibitory neurons

Despite the diversity of cerebral areas that are subject to critical periods, studies on mice have brought to light that the physiological mechanisms that control the onset and closure of these periods are the same (Di Nardo et al., 2020). Furthermore, these mechanisms are closely linked to the maturation of inhibitory neuronal circuits. The balance between excitation and inhibition within the cerebral cortex is key to understanding the physiological mechanisms that regulate critical periods (Hensch, 2005; Bernard and Prochiantz, 2016). Inside the nervous system, it is the levels of inhibitory activity of particular GABAergic neurons that plays a determining role in the balance between excitation/inhibition. Their inhibitory neurotransmitter is Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), which when liberated inhibits the firing of the postsynaptic excitatory neurons. The onset of critical periods occurs at the start of the maturation of a particular group of inhibitory GABAergic neurons called basket cells, which synthesis a specific protein called parvalbumin (PV). Experiments performed on the visual cortex of mice show that the critical period closes when these neurons reach complete maturity (Hensch, 2005; Werker and Hensch, 2015). Thus, the onset of a critical period is triggered by the maturation of the PV expressing inhibitory interneurons, and when maturation reaches its peak the period closes, resulting in a considerable decrease in the plasticity of the circuit. Consequently, when inhibition reaches a certain level the circuit becomes closed, losing its plasticity. It can be observed that, at the moment of their maturation, the basket neurons physically become "fixed" by surrounding themselves with perineuronal nets (PNNs). These PNNs are an extracellular matrix structure, in the form of a proteinaceous net enriched with complex sugars from the glycosaminoglycan family (GAG). These structures contribute to stabilizing the system and considerably reducing its plasticity (Hensch, 2005; Bernard and Prochiantz, 2016; Testa et al., 2019; Di Nardo et al., 2020). Additionally, the balance between excitation and inhibition that is reached at the end of the critical period, through the maturation of the PV inhibitory neurons, is necessary to maintain the non-plastic state of the adult brain. That inhibition reduces the plasticity in the adult brain, is demonstrated by the increase in plasticity that follows the reduction in GABAergic transmission in adult rodents, caused either by a GABA antagonist or by the inhibition of GABA synthesis (Harauzov et al., 2010).

Scientists have noted that, from the point of view of energy, the metabolism of PV producing cells involves a significant and sustained physiological activity (Alitto and Dan, 2010). Indeed the GABA released by the PV cells binds to the alpha-1 type GABAergic receptors present on the cell body of the pyramidal neurons. Owing to the rapid desensitization of the receptors and the excitatory feedback loop coming from the postsynaptic cells, a high-frequency (between 40 Hz and 80 Hz) oscillation occurs during the critical period when inhibition is at its peak. The release and capture of ions as the depolarization and repolarization of the membrane of the PV cells takes place requires the production of high levels of ATP. The metabolic rate of the PV cells is thus very high, and a deficient metabolism can therefore have serious physiological consequences on the functioning of these inhibitory circuits (Prochiantz, 2014).

A study on primates undertaken in 1996 showed that the maturation of PV cells took place at an earlier stage in the sensory areas A1 and V1, and progressively later, depending on its

progress, through the hierarchy of the cortical areas (Condé et al., 1996). In humans, the critical periods for discriminating phenomena or for the acquisition of binocular sight also end early on, since the sensorial neuronal networks become fixed relatively early on in the course of development. However, it should be borne in mind that it is the photons hitting the retina or the waves hitting the internal ear cilia that allow for the initial maturation of PV cells. There is no clock for this maturation, and sensorial deprivation, as keeping both eyes closed in animals, delays PV cell maturation: plasticity does not open until the eyes are open. This also explains why the critical periods are not synchronous (Werker and Hensch, 2015).

In contrast to the sensory areas, the neuronal networks of the prefrontal cortex, associated with higher cognitive functions and mood regulation, have a particularly long period of plasticity: the maturation of PV cells is observed in these areas only at the onset of puberty, with a critical period that ends around the age of 20 years. The exceptionally slow nature of the maturation of the PV cells within these cortical areas is especially noticeable in humans (Prochiantz, 2019).

The role of OTX2 in critical periods and their environmental modulation

Among the factors identified that regulate the maturation of the PV neurons, the homeoprotein OTX2 plays a key role. It is a transcription factor, that is, a protein which is necessary for regulating the transcription of certain genes, while also interacting with the DNA and RNA. The homeoprotein OTX2 is transferred from an extra-cortical source (the choroid plexus) to the cortex (Spatazza et al., 2013; Di Nardo et al., 2020). An initial activitydependent condensation of the extracellular matrix of PV cells into perineuronal nets (PNNs) allows OTX2 internalization, initiates the opening of critical periods at a first concentration threshold and closes it at a second one. OTX2, once internalized, maintains PNN assembly, initiating a positive loop of interaction between PNNs and OTX2 (Sugiyama et al., 2008). This mechanism first demonstrated in the mouse visual cortex (V1) was generalized to the primary auditory cortex (A1), and medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC). Lee et al., 2017). Since, choroid plexus-derived OTX2 accumulates in PV cells throughout the cerebral cortex, it can be proposed that it is a general critical period regulator.

As mentioned above, the regulation of the onset and closure of critical periods through the accumulation of OTX2 takes place within a process that involves a two-thresholds model (Di Nardo et al., 2020). At the first OTX2 accumulation threshold, the window of plasticity opens. Then, the crossing of a second threshold of accumulation triggers a closure of the plasticity and maintains the non-plastic state of the adult brain. Prochiantz and Di Nardo, 2015). In the experimental protocols put in place using mice, a cortical infusion of the OTX2 protein accelerates the appearance and the closure of the critical period. While if OTX2 internalization by PV cells is blocked in a region of the cortex, the onset of the critical period is delayed in that region. Most importantly, permanent OTX2 import is necessary to maintain the adult non-plastic state and, as shown in V1, decreasing OTX2 in adult PV cells temporarily reopens plasticity.

Thus, if the influence of OTX2 on the maturation of PV cells has a direct incidence on the onset and closure of the critical periods, genetic or environmental factors that act upon the expression of OTX2 or its assimilation by the PV cells can result in a poor synchronization of the critical periods for plasticity within the cortex, possibly resulting in subsequent disorders. Genetic modelling in mice has shown that a genetic point mutation in the recognition motif of the GAG PNN by OTX2 delays the maturation of the PV interneurons not only in the primary visual area, but also in the primary auditory area, and the mPFC. This delayed plasticity can be correlated with a reduction of anxious-like behavior in mice (Lee et al., 2017). And more recently Vincent et al. have demonstrated that anxiety-like behaviors in the adult can me modulated by changing OTX2 levels in the choroid plexus or blocking its transfer into mPFC PV cells (Vincent et al., 2021). OTX2 signaling, and the synchronization of critical periods, can also orchestrate complex behaviors, reflecting the interaction of several sequential critical periods, as with language (Werker and Hensch, 2015). In consequence, a disrupted OTX2 signaling may be the cause of the onset of certain psychiatric and cognitive disorders (Gogolla et al., 2009; Le Magueresse and Monyer, 2013; Maeda, 2015).

Besides these genetic factors, environmental factors can also act upon the OTX2 signals, and influence the onset and closure of critical periods. In dark-reared mice, the retina is not stimulated and the activity signal is not sent to the cortex (Sugiyama et al., 2008). Thus, PV cells are not informed that the eyes are opened (because of the dark) and do not start to assemble the PNNs. As a consequence, OTX2 is not captured by the PV cells. In this mice, a 70% decrease in the quantity of OTX2 present in the PV cells was observed (Sugiyama et al., 2008). This absence of OTX2 capture does allow a further reinforcement of PNN assembly. The initial PNN assembly is activity dependent - if not all critical periods would be synchronous. It appears then, that the onset of critical periods requires adequate environmental stimuli to regulate the OTX2 signals (Di Nardo et al., 2020). Another study on mice has demonstrated that depriving the newborn of the maternal presence during a critical periods stretching from the 10th to the 20th day postpartum can result in a higher percentage of the offspring being subject to permanent anxiety and/or depression - even if some individual appear to present a degree of resilience (Peña et al., 2017). In the non-resilient progeny, the expression of OTX2 is transiently weaker in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) during the period of maternal separation. We should recall that the VTA is a dopaminergic hub in the mesencephalon, whose neurons project into the cortex and the sub-cortical structures, with a greater number of projections in the limbic area. The role of OTX2 in complex traits such as depression or anxiety has been evidenced not only in murine models of early stress, but

also in humans, where studies have been done with children victims of maltreatment (Peña et al., 2017; Murthy et al., 2019; Vincent et al., 2021). Samples of DNA from children who had suffered maltreatment showed a correlation between the presence of depression and the state of OTX2 gene methylation, and of genes downregulated by OTX2 (Kaufman et al., 2018). This would seem to strengthen the hypothesis that OTX2 is an important modulator of mental health (Di Nardo et al., 2020).

Cellular anomalies linked to critical periods in schizophrenia

Anomalies in the maturation of PV cells correlate with a number of psychiatric disorders (Gogolla et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2017); (Maeda, 2015). To explain these anomalies, an OTX2 hypothesis can be envisaged but is not the only one, and other models are not incompatibles with a regulation by OTX2, like the oxidative stress model which also explains PV cell maturation and excitation/inhibition balance modifications in schizophrenia. For example, the dysfunction of PV cells can be explained by the high metabolic requirements of these cells, which may render them susceptible to redox dysregulation and oxidative stress. A protocols using mice carrying a genetic redox imbalance has demonstrate that PNN play a critical role in the protection against oxidative stress. Although the perineuronal nets act as a protective shield, they are also themselves sensitive to excess oxidative stress. The protection might therefore reflect a balance between the oxidative burden on perineuronal net degradation and the capacity of the system to maintain the nets. Abnormal perineuronal nets, as observed in the postmortem patient brain, may thus underlie the vulnerability and functional impairment of pivotal inhibitory circuits in schizophrenia (Berretta et al., 2015).

More generally, it has been observed that patients with schizophrenia present a lower density of PNNs than control groups, within the amygdala, the entorhinal cortex, and the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (Pantazopoulos et al., 2010; Mauney et al., 2013; Berretta et al., 2015). This translates into an anomalous maturation of the PV cells in this region. The prefrontal cortex is one of the areas of the cortex whose disfunctions have been particularly associated with schizophrenia (Callicott et al., 2000). In this region of the brain, in healthy subjects, the maturation of the PV neurons at puberty usually triggers an increase in the quantity of PNNs, which translates into an increase in inhibition. In schizophrenia patients, although the density of PV neurons is not abnormal, it is a fault in their maturation that creates a disruption in inhibition within the prefrontal cortex (Enwright III et al., 2018). Hence the reduction in high-frequency gamma oscillations, and a lower PNN density observed in some patients (Uhlhaas and Singer, 2015; Di Nardo et al., 2020). Lacunae in the number of inhibitory synapses can also be observed in schizophrenia patients, along with a reduction in the pruning of excitatory pyramidal neuron dendrites (Insel, 2010).

It is therefore an increase in excitation, to the detriment of inhibition (a modification in E/I balance), that takes place within the neuronal circuits. Following this idea, scientists have noted an immaturity of the PV cells within the prefrontal cortex of schizophrenia patients (Mauney et al., 2013). These results have been confirmed by Daniel W. Chung's team, who have also brought to light a significant reduction in the expression of PV within the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of schizophrenia patients (Chung et al., 2018). There could therefore be a link between this kind of psychiatric pathology and an anomaly in the timing of the periods of plasticity. Such periods of plasticity would extend over an abnormal length of time, owing to a lack of inhibition, subsequent to a late maturation of the inhibitory circuits (Mauney et al., 2013). Still, it is difficult to determine if these alterations in the balance between excitation-inhibition and the gamma oscillations in schizophrenia, linked with the faulty maturation of the PV neurons that do not sufficiently surround themselves with PNNs, could be a cause or a consequence of the pathology (Testa et al., 2019).

To bring some answer to this question, it is appropriate to note that certain genetic etiological factors and environmental factor associated with schizophrenia, can have consequences for the maturation of the PV cells and their PNNs. For example, several studies highlight a link between schizophrenia and anomalies in the expression of certain genes that are necessary for the formation of the PNNs (such as NEUROCAN, HAPLN4, or PTPR; Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium, 2014; Testa et al., 2019). Similarly, murine models that use environmental exposure to induce a phenotype that mimics aspects of mood disorders in mice, show anomalies in the maturation of the PV cells. For example, a study in mice using maternal immune activation during pregnancy to induce anxietyrelated phenotypes among the offspring, has shown that these mice present a reduction of PNNs in the mPFC and the amygdala (Paylor et al., 2016). Similarly, as we have already observed, in mice the exposure to early stress in the first day of life induces changes in the expression of OTX2 in the VTA or the choroid plexus, and it is known that the expression of OTX2 in the choroid plexus regulates the maturation of PV neurons (Peña et al., 2017; Di Nardo et al., 2020; Vincent et al., 2021).

The alterations in the PNNs observed in schizophrenia patients could therefore appear as a consequence, linked with the genetic and/or environmental factors associated with schizophrenia. However, it should also be pointed out that the removal of the PNNs in the hippocampus of mice can also directly bring about behaviors similar to the positive symptoms of schizophrenia (Shah et al., 2013). Likewise, experimentally inducing a lowering of the transfer of OTX2 from the choroid plexus to the PV neurons in rodents, results in anxiety-related phenotypes (Vincent et al., 2021). The lack of inhibition linked to the abnormalities in the maturation of the PV neurons that regulate critical periods could therefore, in the case of schizophrenia, be associated with an excess of plasticity. Such an excess of plasticity, is at the root of certain symptoms observed in this pathology. But if we concentrate on a defective maturation of PV cells on the basis of markers, maturation could be so low that the first threshold (plasticity opening) is not even passed. Then the schizophrenia phenotype would be a consequence of an absence of plasticity when needed to repose to an environmental change.

Yet, if this faulty maturation of the PV interneurons has been recognized as associated with the disorders in cerebral development present with schizophrenia, this observation is compatible with an interaction of genetics and environmental factors in schizophrenia etiological models (Prochiantz, 2019).

A dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience around the anomalies in critical periods observable with schizophrenia: The hypothesis of the absence of trace

Even if much remains to be done, and caution should be exercised, recent discoveries about the cellular and molecular mechanisms determining the onset and closure of the critical periods of plasticity have opened a new field of research in the understanding of certain psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia. If the anomalies in the maturation of PV cells within the prefrontal cortex observed in this pathology can be both genetic and environmental in origin, their primary consequence is a disorder in the timeframe of critical periods for plasticity. This disorder can impact on the manner in which the environment models and structures the development of the cerebral cortex. Indeed, if the onset of a critical period does not occur at the right time, or if stimulations from the environment do not take place in a suitable way at the time when the critical period is open (as was exemplified with the case of amblyopia), the connections of the neuronal networks can fail to be put in place, or be inadequately put in place, within the cortex. In other words, for the stimuli linked to our interaction with the environment to be inscribed within our nervous system and guarantee a good development of our neuronal connections, these stimulations need to take place at the moment when the plasticity is at its peak, during the critical period for the region of brain concerned, and then be stabilized and consolidated through the closure of the window of plasticity. When it has not been possible for the environmental experiences to be inscribed in the form of neuronal traces during the critical period of plasticity for a given region of the cortex, one of the consequences is that we observe anomalies in the structure of the cerebral cortex in adulthood. This can be seen in the data from brain imaging of patients with amblyopia. Now, if anomalies linked to the maturation of the PV cells in schizophrenia cause either a delay in the onset of a critical period, or a failure in its closure, the consequence may be that certain traces resulting from interaction with the environment might not be inscribed, or would not be adequately consolidated in the cortical regions involved, including the dorsolateral

prefrontal cortex. This hypothesis coincides with the data coming from brain imagery of patients with schizophrenia, where numerous anomalies in the structure of the cortex can be observed (Arnone et al., 2009; Gur and Gur, 2010).

Structural imaging data have shown that schizophrenic patients tend to have a thinner cortex in parts of the brain such as the insula, have enlarged lateral ventricles, and have smaller hippocampal volumes (Haukvik et al., 2013). With regard to functional imaging data, many brain regions and networks show abnormal connectivity in schizophrenia. The principal results observed concern a hyperactivity of the default mode network (Hu et al., 2017) and functional connectivity anomalies in the insula (Wylie and Tregellas, 2010), hippocampus and prefrontal cortex (Lalousis et al., 2022). Aberrations observed on functional MRI scans in these regions are particularly interesting to relate to the PV cells' abnormalities. The significant loss of PV cells in the hippocampus can lead to hyperactivity of this region that then induces a hyperdopaminergic disorder. This is associated with psychotic symptomatology. Data on the hyperactivity of the dopaminergic system in schizophrenia could thus appear to be strongly correlated with the loss of PV cells in the ventral hippocampus (Grace and Gomes, 2019). A recent study has proposed an animal model of stress during critical periods, to explain abnormalities of the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. Exposure to a prolonged level of stress impacts the ventral hippocampus, inducing an abnormality in PV cell function and cell loss. This contributes to the hyperactivity of glutamatergic pyramidal neurons. Therefore, a hyperdopaminergic state appears - which is strongly associated by many studies with psychotic symptomatology. Furthermore, the medial prefrontal cortex, and particularly the prelimbic portion, has been shown to be involved in the control of stress response in basolateral amygdala. The implication is that the prefrontal cortex would no longer be able to regulate the amygdala's reactivity to stress. This would then lead to glutamatergic hyperactivity, which in turn could induce damage to parvalbumin cells and then generate a hyperdopaminergic state (Gomes et al., 2019).

If the latest advances in biology research on critical periods show promise for the understanding of the role of early interactions with the environment in the etiology of schizophrenia symptoms, these discoveries also open the way for an innovative dialog with psychoanalysis. Freud also had very early on emphasized the important place held by our childhood experiences, and early stimuli linked to the environment, in our subjective construction, as well as in the appearance of certain psychopathological disorders (Freud and Breuer, 1895; Freud, 1905). The work of several post-Freudian psychoanalysts, such as Jacques Lacan, also sought to apply this perspective to the understanding of the psychopathology of psychosis (Lacan, 1997). To draw a comparison between these psychoanalytic hypotheses and research in neurobiology on the critical periods, we are now going to propose integrating this research into a previously formulated model of interdisciplinary dialog (Ansermet et al., 2007; Ansermet and Magistretti, 2010; Tran The, 2022).

This model of dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience is rooted in the fact that both these disciplines, despite their radically different epistemological foundations, nevertheless meet around the idea of "trace." Indeed, if the neurosciences have demonstrated that experiences stemming from our interactions with the environment are inscribed in the form of traces (such as synaptic traces) within the nervous system – traces that integrate structural and functional modifications in the organization of neuronal networks –, the concept of "trace" is also at the root of the whole Freudian theory of the functioning of the psychic apparatus. In this respect, psychoanalysis and neuroscience come together over the shared observation that experiences linked to the environment are inscribed and leave a trace, whether we think of this trace as "physical" in the neurosciences, or as a "psychic" trace in the psychoanalytic perspective (Freud, 1887-1904).

This model is also based on the fact that, if experiences are inscribed and leave a trace (both psychic and synaptic), these traces are associated with somatic states. Representations (R) resulting from exteroceptive perceptions are linked, owing to an association through simultaneity, with representations resulting from interoceptive perceptions of somatic states (S) that have been the object of a concomitant and synchronic perception. Experimental discoveries around synaptic plasticity and the neurobiological mechanisms of memory, as well as the Freudian theory of the formation of the first mnesic traces in the experience of satisfaction, put the emphasis not only on the perceptions stemming from the external environment, but also on the paramount importance of the interoceptive perception of the organism's state (be it a corporal perception of pleasure or displeasure) that accompanies the external perception (Freud, 1900). The action of the perception of the internal states of the body are therefore critical to the inscription of the experience; and the simultaneity of the perceptions R and Sappear to be an essential condition for the inscription of the trace in the form of an association *R*-*S*.

Furthermore, the Freudian definition of thought as being in the service of the pleasure principle, Freud (1900) as well as the biological definitions of thought proposed by neuroscientist such as Alain Prochiantz - who sees thought as "an adaptive relationship that binds the individual and the species to their environment" [our translation](Prochiantz, 2001) -, or Antonio Damasio, according to whom the human faculty of reasoning appeared in evolution primarily to serve homeostasis, Damasio (2017) all these theories imply seeing cognitive function withing a homeostatic framework where the representations produced by our thoughts fulfil the purpose of regulating our somatic states. On the basis of this coming together of psychoanalysis and neuroscience around a homeostatic understanding of the psychic functioning (and in particular thought processes), we can underline the importance of this homeostatic functioning of the trace. This function appears to be a point of intersection between these two field, whose epistemological foundations are yet incommensurable (Ansermet et al., 2007).

In his model of the newborn's experience of satisfaction, Freud described how the first experiences linked to interactions with the

environment – most notable during the fulfilment of the newborn's basic needs by the adults who care for it – were inscribed within the psychic apparatus (Freud, 1900). The exteroceptive perceptions – that accompanied the pleasure that results from the satisfaction of basic needs such as hunger – are inscribed in the infant's memory, and these mnesic traces that are the origin of the first representations, play the role of regulators in the infant's first somatic experiences. These first experiences are marked by a state of complete helplessness, which Freud termed *Hilflosigkeit*. This is a state in which "unpleasure" dominates the first corporal experiences of the newborn. According to the psychoanalytic perspective, in the child's subsequent development, different traces (notably the Oedipus complex) that stem from interactions with the environment, as well as those produced by the subject themselves, perform this homeostatic function.

It is possible to integrate the Freudian model of the experience of satisfaction, and neuroscientific research on the role of the perception of somatic states in the inscription of experiences (Tran The, 2022). For example this has been done in research on interoception,(Craig, 2009) or on somatic markers (Damasio, 1996). In this interdisciplinary perspective, the representations (R), which come from the environment, from language and from those who take care of the newborn, play a regulatory role on the body states and on the interoceptive perceptions (S). This perspective also accords with Wilfred Bion's description of the alpha function of the psychical apparatus. The child is invaded by "beta" content, such as somatic perceptions that are sources of anxiety, in a raw relationship to the reality of its body and the world. The alpha function corresponds to the subject's capacity, through the mediation enabled by the adult, to metabolize beta elements. According to Bion, the prototype of the alpha function is the parent's capacity for dreaming. The parent takes into himself the contents deposited by the infant and restores elaborated alpha elements to the infant. In turn, these elements then allow the infant to distance himself from experiences, and from the intense and painful sensations resulting from its state of Hilflosigkeit.

Another prolongation of the Freudian understanding of trace inscription resulting from the newborn's experience of satisfaction, is the perspective put forward by Lacan. Based on Saussurean linguistics and Lévi-Strauss' structural anthropology, the psychoanalyst Lacan proposed rereading the Freudian concept of "trace" in term of "signifier." Lacan's argument was that "The memory phenomena that Freud is interested in are always language phenomena" (Lacan, 1997), and language is the result of the incidence of intersubjective relationships with others including the adults caring for the child during its development. Thus, Lacan draws the field of the signifier into that of the "Other," which is to say alterity or otherness in its language dimension. From there he will postulate the existence of a field of the "primordial signifier," of traces whose function is homeostatic and structuring for psychic development (Lacan, 1997). Based on this idea, the Lacanian psychoanalytic perspective understands psychosis as the result of an absence of inscription in childhood of some of those traces essential to our subjective construction.

Thus, by rereading Feud's theory on the organizational role of the Oedipus complex in psychic development, Lacan proposed the hypothesis of an etiology of psychosis based on the signifier (Lacan, 2002a). Lacan develops his theory of "*foreclosure*," that is to say the rejection of the primordial signifier, as a precondition for psychosis (Lacan, 1997). In line with this position, at the origin of psychosis one would find the absence of inscription of what is, for the psychic apparatus, a primordial and structuring representation – be it the unifying of the image of the body or the organizing role of the Oedipus complex (Lacan, 2002a).

The Lacanian psychoanalytic hypothesis, reformulated within the framework of the model of an "*R-S*" interdisciplinary dialog, is in essence to see psychosis as being characterized by the absence of, or defective inscription of, certain traces whose function is homeostatic and structuring for our psychic development. This hypothesis of an absence of trace, which stems from a psychoanalytic theory of psychosis, offers an ideal formalization for an interdisciplinary dialog, since it draws on the paradigm of the trace that is common to neuroscience and psychoanalysis. Thus it forms a possible intersection between these two disciplines.

Research in neurobiology on the cellular and molecular mechanism of critical periods for cerebral plasticity, which shed light on the role of early interactions with the environment in certain psychiatric pathologies like schizophrenia, resonates with this psychoanalytic idea of an absence of traces in psychosis. Research on the critical periods for plasticity have demonstrated that the inscription of traces stemming from experiences with the environment is conditioned by various factors. Obviously, it is necessary that the interaction does take place - for example, in the case of the visual cortex, it is necessary that an effective environmental stimulation of the eyes is produced for the neural connections to be put in place. However, it is also essential that this interaction with the environment takes place during a precise temporal period - a timeframe situated between the moment of the onset of the critical period of plasticity for the region of the brain in question, and its closure.

The discovery in schizophrenia patients of certain anomalies at the level of the molecular and cellular mechanisms that determine the onset and closure of critical periods, represents a major area for discussion in the dialog with psychoanalysis regarding the absence of traces as the origin of psychosis; since critical periods play such a determining role in the inscription of early experiences through the mechanisms of plasticity. On that basis, we can envisage that the inscription of the first representations R that stem from exteroceptive perceptions (associated with the interoceptive perceptions of corporal states *S*) whose function is homeostasis, could only take place within a limited timeframe defined by a critical period. Thus, we can postulate that in psychosis the inscription of traces whose functions are structuring for psychic development, may not have taken place within that limited timeframe - either because the critical period was not open at the time of the interactions with the environment, or because the environmental stimulations did not occur at the appropriate time (as in the amblyopia example).

Different clinical models can be used to illustrate how breakdowns in the relationship with the environment can result in an absence in the inscription of traces that structure psychic development. Levine's study demonstrated that, confronted with a prolonged period of maternal separation in their early development, young rodents initially presented anxious and agitated behavior, but that subsequently significant manifestations of behavior similar to despair appeared. These were accompanied by important physiological changes. The body temperature of the young rats dropped significantly, as did their heart rate. This resulted in a degree of withdrawal and a lessening of motricity amounting to a kind of catatonia (Levine, 1957). A parallel can be drawn between these observations and research done in humans on the effects of family separation during the Second World War in the U.S. notably the syndrome of hospitalism described by Spitz. This study highlights the psychic, cognitive and physiological consequences of emotional deprivation in children who were separated from family and raised as orphans (Spitz, 1946). A parallel can be drawn with the study done by Nelson that appeared in Nature in 2007 following the "Bucharest Early Intervention Project (Nelson III et al., 2007). The latter study concerned children raised as orphans during the Ceausescu regime in Romania, under extremely precarious circumstances from a emotional and material perspective. It showed that children who were place in foster families sufficiently early, demonstrated significant advantages in terms of emotional, cognitive and social development in comparison to those children who were placed only after 20 months. This occurred despite the two groups of children (raised in institutions or raised in foster families) both presented anomalies in the volume of gray matter when compared with children in a control group who had not experienced family separation.

These works are interesting for showing the psychic, cognitive and cerebral consequences of the absence of certain stimulating environmental interactions in the first months of infant development. The hypothesis for anomalies in critical periods in schizophrenia allows for a shift in relation to a direct linear causal view between certain environmental experiences and the psychopathological consequences. It should be underlined that an understanding of the molecular and cellular mechanisms for the onset of critical periods demonstrates that, even in the event of an appropriate and stimulating environment, neurobiological anomalies could have the same consequences for the brain and psyche as the absence of stimulation. It is from this pluri-factorial perspective, and not from a linear one, that the interdisciplinary hypothesis for the absence of trace in schizophrenia stems.

The onset of schizophrenia in adolescence as a consequence of the absence of trace

The hypothesis of a link between the physiology of critical periods and certain psychiatric pathologies has become a new field of research for neurobiology, notably in view of the delayed

23

maturation of PV cells in the prefrontal cortex that has been observed. This late maturation, occurring at puberty, could be correlated with the generally accepted fact that the onset of schizophrenia typically occurs during puberty (Prochiantz, 2012).

From the psychoanalytic perspective, the triggering of psychosis is understood as a two-phase process. This process involves firstly that, during childhood, certain traces whose function is homeostatic and structuring for psychic development have not been inscribed in the subject. However, for the symptomatology to appear and for psychosis to be triggered in a manifest way, certain life events in the subject's trajectory need to solicit those missing traces (Lacan, 2002a). In as much as those traces concern, among other things, the Oedipal question - that is to say a relational complex with the parental figures, involving strong affective elements, as well as questions of origin, of reproduction, sexual identity and the difference of the sexes - all event that solicit these themes can lead to the triggering of psychosis (Lacan, 2002). Puberty, which raises the question of sexual identity and identifications inherited from the Oedipus complex, is a key moment for the revival of the Oedipal problematic. Therefore, this juncture can turn out to be conducive to soliciting those missing traces (or what Lacan terms "foreclosed signifier"), leaving the subject facing emptiness and an absence of meaning that prevents them from responding to the reconfigurations that take place at puberty (Lacan, 2002a).

From a biological point of view the physiological changes, notably hormonal changes, during puberty, also demand a process of adaptation and a significant reconfiguration in the relationship to the environment. As Prochiantz points out, in this regard schizophrenia could be linked to "an inability on the part of the brain, be it for genetic or developmental and epigenetic reasons – both are possible and can combine –, to mobilize the necessary plasticity for that adaptation" [our translation] (Prochiantz, 2012).

Although the disorder may already have an underlying presence before puberty - be it genetically determined, or epigenetically determined by early environmental interactions puberty and the transition between the end of adolescence and the beginning of adulthood would seem to be a particularly favorable moment for the appearance of the symptomatology of schizophrenia; that is to say, for the expression of the phenotype that characterizes this pathology. One of the neurobiological hypotheses is that there is a link between the decompensations frequently observed at adolescence with schizophrenia patients, and the maturation of the PV cells in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex that takes place only at the end of adolescence (Prochiantz, 2014). The hypothesis is that PV cells do not respond appropriately to the trigger (for example a hormonal trigger), just as if PV cells in V1 did not respond appropriately to eye opening. It could be advanced that it is only as the critical period comes to its end that the defects in inscription of certain traces, and thus the absence of structural modification to the neural pathways dependent on the environment, become fixed owing to the closure of the period of plasticity. Work on the cellular mechanisms of critical periods, undertaken by Prochiantz's laboratory at the Collège de France in collaboration with Takao Hensch at Harvard University, are specifically motivated by the hypothesis that schizophrenia finds its origin in a defect in development:

Following what is only a hypothesis, this defect would materialize around adolescence during a critical period of the prefrontal cortex's development [...]. [E]ven if the phenotype appears at a late period of development, this does not entail that the "primary causes," for example one or more epigenetic mutations or modifications, did not take place at an earlier stage, or are hereditary [...]. As regards schizophrenia, the hypothesis is that the prefrontal cortex does not adapt to the socialization that follows the hormonal maturation which precedes and accompanies adolescence. [our translation] (Prochiantz, 2014)

This perspective echoes the structural psychoanalytic view according to which, in the decompensation of a psychotic episode, an event precipitates the onset of psychosis, thus making manifest an underlying psychopathological structure that predates the advent of that event. Freud illustrated this idea of a prior structure, with his crystallographic metaphor:

If we throw a crystal on the floor, it breaks; but not into haphazard pieces, it comes apart along its lines of cleavage into fragments whose boundaries, though they were invisible, were predetermined by the crystal's structure. Mental patients are split and broken structures of this same kind. (Freud, 1933)

The psychoanalytic hypothesis of structures thus requires that with psychosis, the psychotic structure, although it is present before the manifest onset of positive symptomatology, will only become apparent ulteriorly following an event that precipitates the onset; just as a crystal that falls and shatters, reveals the lines of its structure in doing so.

From an excess of plasticity to a disorder in the stability of a sense of self in schizophrenia

In line with an interdisciplinary dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience on critical periods and schizophrenia, it seems fruitful to consider the hypothesis of a critical period for the inscription of fundamental traces that have a structuring function in psychic development. Indeed, a disturbance in the usual duration of critical periods for plasticity within the higher cortical pathways, may result in the non-inscription of certain traces linked to interactions with the environment, and thus to the absence of certain representations that could perform an organizing role for the whole of the psychic functioning. If we follow this hypothesis, according to Prochiantz there would be "no difference in nature between the mechanisms that lead to a benign condition like amblyopia – and a devastating illness such as schizophrenia" [our translation] (Prochiantz, 2012). In effect, just as amblyopia is the result of a failure in environmental stimulation within the visual cortex during a critical period for the acquisition of binocular vision (prevented by the reorganization of neuronal networks in that cortex owing to the absence of stimulation), schizophrenia may also be the result of an absence of the inscription of environmental stimuli within the neuronal networks (notably with the prefrontal cortex).

If there is a low PV cells maturation (as in the OTX2-AA mouse), then plasticity opens later and amblyopia can be induced at P100 instead of P30 (Lee et al., 2017).For a psychiatry disease, PV maturation could be too low to permit plasticity and thus adaptation to the post-pubertal adult environment is too difficult. It might also be that the hormonal adult environment is not accompanied by a proper social affective environment (e.g., maternal separation model in mice). The first situation (plasticity is not ready when needed by the environment) is more genetic, and the second one (environment is not appropriate when plasticity is ready) is more environmental. Indeed, any combinations between genetic and environmental factors are possible. So, in schizophrenia, the absence of trace inscription may be linked either to the absence of stimuli, or to the fact that the onset of the critical period had not correctly taken place at the time when the stimuli occurred.

As we have seen, different data support the presence of anomalies in the timing of critical periods in schizophrenia patients. Usually, in the prefrontal cortex, the maturation of the PV cells at adolescence induces a balance between excitation and inhibition circuits. In turn, this terminates the period of plasticity by fixing and rigidifying the neuronal circuits and consolidating E/I balance. In schizophrenia patients however, lacunae in the number of inhibitory synapses, as well as a reduction in the pruning of excitatory pyramidal neuron dendrites, can be observed (Insel, 2010). It is therefore a rise in excitation, to the detriment of inhibition, that takes place within the neuronal circuits of these patients. This in turn prevents the closure of the critical period (or its non-opening or late opening). As we have noted, these data should be considered alongside the immaturity of the PV expressing cells within the prefrontal cortex detected in schizophrenia, since a significant reduction in the expression of parvalbumin within the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex has been observed with this pathology (Chung et al., 2018). A link may therefore exist between this psychiatric illness and anomalies in the mechanisms of onset and closure of critical periods for plasticity. These would be critical periods that were abnormally prolonged, because of a defect of inhibition owing to the belated maturation of the inhibitory circuits (Mauney et al., 2013). Surprisingly then, with schizophrenia patients it would appear that from a physiological perspective it is not a defect, but on the contrary an excess of plasticity - linked to these anomalies in the duration of the critical periods during which cortical plasticity is at its peak - that is observed.

Brain plasticity is certainly an advantage from a biological point of view, since it offers a significant advantage in terms of adaptation. However, stability also plays a major role in the homeostasis of the organism. A tension, inherent to the living organism, seems to emerge between these two poles: the need to adapt to the environment through the neurobiological mechanisms of neuronal plasticity on the one hand; and the necessity for a form of rigidity the makes it possible to ensure the stability over time, of some neuronal pathways. The maturation of the PV cells, that triggers the end of a period of plasticity, thus constitutes an essential stabilizing factor that limits plasticity; a stabilizing factor that, by rigidifying the neuronal circuits, durably fixes certain traces, which then become less subject to remodeling and change. The fact that the critical periods for brain plasticity are framed by precise temporal limits can thus be the precondition for a certain permanence, a stability necessary to the construction of a sense of self that is durable despite the permanent changes to which the organism is prey.

Memory in particular, appears to be one of the factors that enables the introduction of the permanence necessary to the formation of our stability and our sense of identity:

Indeed, memory requires a minimum of structural permanency, cerebral in particular [...]. [D]espite the reality of the morphological and physiological changes, which even in the brains of sapiens continues up to the end, there exists a curb on plasticity that, if left free rein, would erase the history as it was being inscribes in the structure of the brain. [our translation] (Prochiantz, 2012)

Along similar lines, the neuroscientist, Damasio, has also proposed understanding memory as the root of our "autobiographical self." This is an autobiographical self that relies on our capacity to remember significant events in our personal history, and thus participates in constructing our identity (Damasio, 2000). This understanding can be put in parallel with the words of Prochiantz for whom our capacity to produce narratives around our history - be they close or distant to the reality, "on occasion mythical like the fantasies that surround roots" - are one of the fundamental pillars of the "construction of the individual, of the illusory consciousness that he has of being himself beyond the biological changes, that inscribe themselves, sometimes cruelly, in his flesh, brain included" [our translation] (Prochiantz, 2012). At a cellular level, the critical periods, and notably the maturation of the PV cells that induce their closure, could appear to be one of the neurobiological mechanisms that guarantees a certain fixedness of the neuronal networks, thus ensuring the permanence of those representations or mnesic traces at the root of our identity and our autobiographical selves.

Research by the laboratory of Pico Caroni has demonstrated the importance for long-term memory, as well as for memory consolidation, of a certain population of PV cells within the hippocampus. These neurons, whose early neurogenesis when compared to other PV cells that appear later on in development, are

10.3389/fnmol.2022.1057539

characterized by a strong expression of PV (Donato et al., 2015). The inscription of the traces that determine what Damasio terms autobiographical self (that is, memories of the past, the remembrance of which underpins our sense of identity) therefore involves older PV cells, since these memories necessitate the establishment of a consolidation and a firm stability to become permanently inscribed. Animal models would suggest that in schizophrenia patients a reduced population of these PV cells with a strong expression of PV can be observed – younger cells with a weaker expression of PV being in the majority (Carvalho, 2017). The consequence of this may be disorders in the process of consolidation within the hippocampus, something which has also been observed in other studies of these patients (Genzel et al., 2015).

If we consider the hypothesis of an absence of traces being at the root of psychosis in the light of the neurobiological data on defects in the inhibition of cortical plasticity – defects owing to anomalies in the timeframe of the critical periods in schizophrenia – it is possible that it is particularly the traces and representations at the origin of an autobiographical sense of self that have not been fixed and consolidated in these patients. These traces usually constitute the stable reference point in time that allows for the continuity in our sense of existence. The absence of these traces may thus be at the root of the impairments to the sense of self manifest in the psychopathology of psychosis.

Following the idea of "embodied cognition" developed by Damasio, our feeling of autobiographical self and of self-identity might specifically develop based on certain representations linked to the cartography of our organism, to the mental picture of our own body, within certain areas of the brain. The neuronal mechanisms that generate this representation may appear as the basis for a certain stability of the organism. A stability that Damasio calls "proto-self," which is at the root of the sense of self. It is from this stable representation of the body, cornerstone of a stable point of reference in time, that the sense of autobiographical self will subsequently develop. This is a sense of autobiographical self from which our sense of identity originates, beyond the permanent changes that model us:

what might give the brain a natural means to generate the singular and stable reference we call self" [...] the possibility that the part of the mind we call self was, biologically speaking, grounded on a collection of non-conscious neural patterns standing for the part of the organism we call the body proper. (Damasio, 2000)

The stable representation of the body, that comprises "a remarkable degree of structural invariance" (Damasio, 2000), offers a point of reference over long periods of time. Unlike another kind of quasi-instantaneous cartography of the states of the body, which is the object of continuous updating, and on which the mechanisms of homeostatic regulation rely, the stable representation of the body is ensured by other neuronal circuits. These are neuronal circuits with more stable neuronal maps that offer the fixed support of a perennial representation of the general structure of the body. This neuroscientific perspective – in which

the neuronal circuits generate a stable representation of the body – represents precisely that reference point – guarantor of the stability and continuity of our conscience and our feeling of existence – that coincides with a psychoanalytic approach.

Following the psychoanalytic understanding, the primordial traces at the basis of the stability of our psychic functioning are the result of the representations and affects that are mobilized during interactions with the parental figures in the Oedipal stage. While, according to the Lacanian theory of the "mirror stage," it is at an even earlier stage of childhood development that the acquisition of a unified representation of our own body serves as basis for our "self" (Lacan, 2002b). This unified representation of the body does not stem from a representation that is directly linked to the state of the organism, but rather from a stable representation, acquired at an early age, through interactions with the environment and with the adults who themselves mirror back to the child this image of its unity. The image that the child gains of its own body as belonging to a unified whole, is therefore a cornerstone of subjective development, since it is a stable representation that is inscribed as a lasting psychic trace in the subject. It is a representation that will subsequently be the basis for a whole series of other traces or identification, on which the construction of a sense of identity will be formed.

In the Lacanian theory of the mirror stage, it is precisely this representation of a unified body that is absent in psychosis (Lacan, 2002b). This absence of a fundamental trace, which is the source of stability for the development of subjectivity and awareness of self, is made apparent with the onset of psychosis by the appearance of symptoms connected with an altered perception of the body. The experience of fragmentation, the strong presence of hypochondriac thematics, and coenesthetic hallucinations that are characteristic of the clinical picture of schizophrenia, may be understood as a consequence of this absence of a unifying and organizing representation (Lacan, 1997).

Freud had brought to light the existence of this altered perception in the representation of the body with his study of the Schreber case. In the initial phases the clinical picture was dominated by coenesthetic hallucinations and ideas of a hypochondriac nature (such as the feeling of no longer having a stomach, or of having certain organs such as the lungs damaged or even destroyed; Freud, 1911c). The introduction of narcissism would then enable Freud to disentangle the two phases of the psychotic process that consisted of a twofold libidinal movement. The first phase of psychosis consisted in a massive withdrawal of libidinal cathexis, and of all the psychic energy, from external objects. The libido flows back exclusively on the ego and the subject's own body. This first phase was characterized by the fact that the patient (notably those with schizophrenia) "...withdraws his interest from the external world completely..." (Freud, 1911c). The negative symptomatology of schizophrenia, such as being withdrawn, blunted affect, apragmatism, and deteriorations in representations of the body (coenesthetic hallucinations, hypochondria, and dysmorphophobia), are characteristic of this initial phase.

Freud postulated that this first phase is common to all forms of psychosis. However, in order to fight against this movement of libidinal withdrawal, some patients put in place a second process that would consist in an attempt to reinvest external objects with the libido. This second phase finds its expression in productive symptomatology such as auditory hallucinations and delusional ideas. In this perspective, Freud describes delusion as an "attempt at recovery" process (Freud, 1914c).

In the interdisciplinary model of schizophrenia as an "absence of trace," the delusional ideas can be equated to an attempt by the subject to produce new traces, new representations (R) by way of the delusion. This is in order to pacify the altered experience of the somatic states and the fear of fragmentation. It is an attempt, in the aftermath, to make up for the traces that had not been inscribed during development.

Psyochanalysis and neuroscience come together around the shared observation that certain traces and representations, lastingly and durably inscribed, constitute a reference point for our development and ensure a stability on which the sense of self, identity, and autobiographical consciousness can be built despite the continuous changes to which the organism is subject. The existence of critical periods of cerebral plasticity that are strictly delimited in time, constitutes an indispensable condition for the acquisition of a sense of self.

The anomalies observed in the molecular and cellular mechanisms that regulate the timeframes of the critical periods seen in schizophrenia patients, can therefore, owing to an excess of plasticity, have as consequence an absence of inscription or of consolidation of those traces that result from interactions with the environment. These are traces that offer a reference point, in terms of stability, for psychic development and the acquiring of a sense of autobiographical self. As we saw, this was the case also for the acquisition of a stable representation of a picture of the body, and according to Freudian theory for the psychic traces resulting from the resolving of the Oedipus complex. The absence of these traces, that usually form a reference point for everything that concerns procreation, access to parentality and maternity, and sexual identity in adult life, may in this way lead to the symptomatology that is characteristic of the clinical picture for schizophrenia; in particular symptoms connected with disorders in the perception and representation of the body, as well as an impairment of sense and awareness of self.

The reopening and reclosing of critical periods in schizophrenia: A therapeutic horizon

The dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience around the hypothesis of an absence of trace and anomalies in critical periods in schizophrenia may also open new horizons for treatment. Based on research into the importance of critical periods in the process of neurodevelopment at work in schizophrenia, a better understanding of the molecular mechanisms connected with the maturation of PV cells that conditions the onset and closure of critical periods, points to significant new therapeutic possibilities. Recent research on the molecular mechanisms of critical periods have brought to light the possibility of acting upon these mechanisms through pharmacological treatments, perhaps even reopening and reclosing certain periods of plasticity in adults. This research has raised the hope of being able to repeat certain stages of brain development, through the reopening and then closing of windows of plasticity. In particular, experiments have succeeded in reversing experimentally induced amblyopia in mice, enabling individual with amblyopia to regain normal binocular vision after the closure of the critical period for acquiring binocular vision. This was done by reopening a window of plasticity through the administering of a pharmacological drug within the visual cortex of the mice.

Several neuroscientific experiments have proposed different strategies to enable the manipulation and reopening of periods for developmental plasticity (Bavelier et al., 2010). The preferred approaches focus generally on neuromodulators such as dopamine, norepinephrine, or acetylcholine, as there are advantages to using drugs that are already approved for distribution (Bavelier et al., 2010). Experiments undertaken in the laboratory of Hensch have identified, in mice, the role played by a protein called Lynx1, which contributes to the plasticity inhibiting mechanism, and induces the closure of critical periods. The expression of Lynx1 contributes to maintaining the stability of mature cortical networks, as well as the suppression of molecular breaks that allow a modulation of the balance between the excitatory and inhibitory circuits that reactivate visual plasticity. For this reason, it represents an important avenue for the treatment of amblyopia, and opens up further interesting therapeutic prospects (Morishita et al., 2010).

Other similar studies have focused on the role of serotonin and norepinephrine in adult plasticity. These studies have successfully induced the reopening of critical periods by modulating the concentration of these neurotransmitters within the cortex (Spolidoro et al., 2009). Other scientists have for their part focused on another route towards the reopening of critical periods, notably through research into the role played by PNNs in the regulation of cortical periods of plasticity. Based on a study of the makeup of these extracellular matrices, which are organized in networks around neurons, Tommaso Pizzorusso's team have shown that their deterioration induced by hydrolysis with chondroitinase-ABC (chABC) leads to a reactivation of cortical plasticity in rats, thus enabling the reopening of the critical period for binocular vision (Pizzorusso et al., 2002; Harauzov et al., 2010).

The research done on the homeoprotein OTX2 that is internalized by the PV expressing basket neurons, by Prochiantz's team in collaboration with Hensch's laboratory, offers another interpretation of these results. The internalization of OTX2 is necessary and sufficient for opening then closing the critical period of plasticity in the visual cortex of mice. The teams have demonstrated that it is the perineuronal networks that surround the PV cells which capture the OTX2, by way of binding sites specific to the GAG present in that homeoprotein (Beurdeley et al., 2012). By identifying the molecules involved in these binding sites, the scientists have managed to demonstrate that the hydrolysis of the perineuronal networks by the chABC reduces the quantity of OTX2 present in the PV cells. This study has also shown that the direct infusion of a peptide, RK-pep, disturbed in a similar way the binding of OTX2 to the PV cells, reducing the expression of PV as well as the presence of PNN, thus reopening plasticity in the visual cortex of mice (Beurdeley et al., 2012). In the adult animals with amblyopia this momentary reopening of plasticity allowed a recovery of binocular vision.

There exists, therefore, different ways of reopening the critical periods for plasticity, using pharmacological means to act upon quantities of OTX2 (Despras et al., 2013; Testa et al., 2019). Modifying the binding of the homeoprotein OTX2 to the PNNs through pharmacological means, constitutes a potential new therapeutic tool. Such a tool might make it possible to restore the cortical plasticity not only in the visual cortex of humans, but also in other regions of the cerebral cortex. Based on the results obtained with amblyopia, scientists to come will be able to envisage new therapeutic horizons for other neurodevelopmental pathologies, and in particular for psychiatric pathologies such as schizophrenia.

Some studies have already sought to apply these ideas to animal models of schizophrenia, and have obtained significant results. Based on the hypothesis that the critical periods within different cortical regions are regulated by common mechanisms involving the maturation of PV basket cells, scientists have attempted to induce experimentally a structural, functional, or molecular lifting of the breaks that prevent plasticity in the areas implicated in the physiopathology of schizophrenia. In particular, Felipe Gomes and his team have looked at the critical period for the development of the ventral hippocampus that takes place in adolescence. This constitutes a period that is particularly sensitive to exposure to environmental stress factors. These can ultimately lead to a reduction in the physiological regulation of stress, and become a risk factor for schizophrenia (Gomes et al., 2019). The same team has also used sodium valproate, which has a strong inhibiting action, and which has been recognized for inducing a reopening of critical periods. Results have shown that administering valproate in adult mice enables a reopening of the critical period for vulnerability to stress, inducing a state of physiological maturation similar to that of adolescent mice. These data evidence the fact that adolescence is, from a physiological point of view, a critical period for acquiring a vulnerability to stress; a period that can be restored in adults through pharmacological means. These results are particularly important for our understanding of the physiopathology of schizophrenia, where this critical period could constitute a period of particular sensitivity to the impact of environmental factors that can contribute to the expression of a schizophrenia phenotype.

In so far as critical periods can be pharmacologically modulated, the experimental lifting of the various breaks on brain plasticity can be seen as a significant therapeutic step forward for schizophrenia symptoms. In the wake of the interdisciplinary hypothesis of an absence of trace at the root of this pathology, it is possible to envisage that a reopening of the critical periods for plasticity in certain regions of the brain could enable the replaying of some developmental processes; processes that had been disrupted or hindered the first time around. Thus, ultimately, it may be possible to achieve a re-inscription or a consolidation of certain traces that had not been stabilized during development.

If we follow the hypothesis that the lack of inhibition linked to the abnormalities in the maturation of the PV neurons that regulate critical periods could therefore, in the case of schizophrenia, be associated with an excess of plasticity, a therapeutic strategy could be the closure of the plasticity, with the aim of consolidating the traces that could not be stabilized during development.

But if we concentrate on a defective maturation of PV cells, following the hypothesis that maturation could be so low that the first threshold (plasticity opening) is not even passed (which means that the schizophrenia phenotype would be a consequence of an absence of plasticity when needed to repose to an environmental change), the therapeutic strategy will be different. The objective will then be to open critical period of plasticity, provide appropriate environment stimulation, and then close the critical period. This process would allow a long-lasting traces inscription.

If we consider schizophrenia as a neurodevelopmental pathology, linked in particular to anomalies in the duration of critical periods (anomalies that prevents the consolidation and the stabilization of certain representations which have a regulating and homeostatic function in psychic development) we could suppose that the reintroduction of plasticity within certain regions of the adult brain could allow, when associated with certain environmental stimuli such as psychotherapy, for a consolidation of the association between certain traces with a homeostatic function, thus making them more stable and perennial. This could be a way of attempting to replay the fundamental R-S tie that had not been the object of a lasting inscription during the subject's development. The potential for a psychological treatment would thus be increased, insofar as the return to a certain developmental plasticity would make it possible to inscribe and anchor in a more durable way the representations or signifiers evoked by the patient during sessions. Neurobiology's search for a chemical means of reopening critical periods would thus constitute a new therapeutic perspective for psychosis. It may even be an important trump card that would increase the effects of a talking cure, becoming a significant pharmacological aid in the psychoanalytic treatment of psychosis.

Conclusion

The interdisciplinary hypothesis of an absence of trace in psychosis, guided by research on anomalies in critical periods observed with schizophrenia, makes it possible to reconsider this pathology through an analogy with a developmental pathology such as amblyopia. Thus, seeing schizophrenia as consequent to the absence of inscription of certain fundamental traces linked to early interactions with the environment. Even when these early interactions, and the social and affective stimuli they imply, have taken place, an anomaly in the timeframe of the critical periods can prevent the inscription and the fixing of the neuronal traces stemming from these interactions. Cerebral anomalies identified by brain imaging in schizophrenia patients, may therefore be (as is the case with amblyopia) the result of this absence of reorganization in the neuronal networks that takes place through the influence of experience and environmental stimuli.

Research into the molecular mechanism that regulate the onset and closure of critical periods for brain plasticity have brought to light the regulation of these mechanisms – for example through the expression of the transcription factor OTX2, and by the PNN that surround the PV neurons. This demonstrates that genetic factors, as well as environmental ones, can act upon the timing of critical periods. The dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience that has developed around the cellular anomalies observed in the regulation of critical periods in schizophrenia patients, fits into a perspective that goes beyond the narrow opposition between genetic and environmental factors that has been linked to the etiology of this pathology.

Finally, neurobiological research into the pharmacological reopening of critical periods for plasticity represent a promising new therapeutic horizon, in that it may open the way to a reintroduction of developmental plasticity within certain cortical regions, in adult schizophrenia patients. Combined with environmental stimuli, this reopening could make it possible to consolidate or reinscribe certain associations of traces that had initially not been inscribed in a stable and perennial way during the subject's development. If these possibilities remain to date only in the realms of fiction, they could, ultimately, lead to new interdisciplinary therapeutic strategies between psychoanalysis and neurobiology, in the treatment of schizophrenia. The possibilities for a psychological treatment, could be vastly increased using chemical methods aimed at reintroducing a degree of developmental plasticity. The dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience centered on the role of critical periods in schizophrenia, shows itself to be rich in promise as regards new approaches in the treatment of this pathology.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

JT is the main contributor of this manuscript as part of her postdoctoral research. FA and PM supervised the research, contributed to the conception and development of the research, and revised critically the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We particularly thank Alain Prochiantz for his proofreading and his invaluable help in this work.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Aleman, A., Kahn, R. S., and Selten, J. P. (2003). Sex differences in the risk of schizophrenia: evidence from meta-analysis. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 60, 565–571.

Alitto, H. J., and Dan, Y. (2010). Function of inhibition in visual cortical processing. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 20, 340–346.

Allardyce, J., Gilmour, H., Atkinson, J., et al. (2005). Social fragmentation, deprivation and urbanicity: relation to first-admission rates for psychoses. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 187, 401–406.

Ames, B. (2001). DNA damage from micronutrient deficiencies is likely to be a major cause of cancer. *Mutat. Res.* 475, 7–20.

Amminger, G. P., McGorry, P. D., Berger, G. E., et al. (2007). Antibodies to infectious agents in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Biol. Psychiatry* 61, 1215–1217.

Amminger, G. P., Schafer, M. R., Papageorgiou, K., et al. (2010). Long-chain omega-3 fatty acids for indicated prevention of psychotic disorders: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 67, 146–154.

Andreasson, S., Allebeck, P., Engstrom, A., and Rydberg, U. (1987). Cannabis and schizophrenia. A longitudinal study of Swedish conscripts. *Lancet* 2, 1483–1486.

Ansermet, F., and Magistretti, P. (2010). Les Enigmes du plaisir. Paris: Odile Jacob.

Ansermet, F., and Magistretti, P.Biology of Freedom (2007) in *Neural Plasticity, Experience, and The Unconscious.* ed. S. Fairfield (trans) (New York: Other Press).

Arion, D., Unger, T., Lewis, D. A., et al. (2007). Molecular evidence for increased expression of genes related to immune and chaperone function in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* 62, 711–721.

Arnone, D., Cavanagh, J., Gerber, D., et al. (2009). Magnetic resonance imaging studies in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia: meta-analysis. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 195, 194–201.

Arseneault, L., Cannon, M., Poulton, R., et al. (2002). Cannabis use in adolescence and risk for adult psychosis: longitudinal prospective study. *BMJ* 325, 1212–1213. Ayhan, Y., McFarland, R., and Pletnikov, M. V. (2016). Animal models of geneenvironment interaction in schizophrenia: a dimensional perspective. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 136, 1–27.

Bavelier, D., Levi, D. M., Li, R. W., Dan, Y., and Hensch, T. K. (2010). Removing brakes on adult brain plasticity: from molecular to behavioral interventions. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 14964–14971. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4812-10.2010

Bernard, C., and Prochiantz, A. (2016). OTX2-PNN interaction to regulate cortical plasticity. *Neural Plast.* 2016;7931693. doi: 10.1155/2016/7931693

Berretta, S., Pantazopoulos, H., Markota, M., et al. (2015). Losing the sugar coating: potential impact of perineuronal net abnormalities on interneurons in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 167, 18–27. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.12.040

Beurdeley, M., Spatazza, J., Lee, H. H., et al. (2012). OTX2 binding to perineuronal nets persistently regulates plasticity in the mature visual cortex. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 9429–9437.

Brown, A. S. (2011). The environment and susceptibility to schizophrenia. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 93, 23–58. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2010.09.003

Callicott, J. H., Bertolino, A., Mattay, V. S., et al. (2000). Physiological dysfunction of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia revisited. *Cereb. Cortex* 10, 1078–1092.

Cardno, A. G., Marshall, E. J., Coid, B., et al. (1999). Heritability estimates for psychotic disorders: The Maudsley twin psychosis series. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 56, 162–168.

Cardno, A. G., and Owen, M. J. (2014). Genetic relationships between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and schizoaffective disorder. *Schizophr. Bull.* 40, 504–515.

Carvalho, F. (2017). Excess dopamine D2R activation accounts for PV+ basket cell and learning alteration. [doctoral disertation]. [Basel]: University of Basel, Available online at: https://edoc.unibas.ch/54785/1/Thesis_PhD_Fernando_CarvalhoRodriguesPereira.pdf (Accessed August 10, 2022).

Chung, D. W., Chung, Y., Bazmi, H. H., and Lewis, D. A. (2018). Altered ErbB4 splicing and cortical parvalbumin interneuron dysfunction in schizophrenia and mood disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 43, 2478–2486.

Clarke, M. C., Tanskanen, A., Huttunen, M., et al. (2009). Evidence for an interaction between familial liability and prenatal exposure to infection in the causation of schizophrenia. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 166, 1025–1030.

Condé, F., Lund, J. S., and Lewis, D. A. (1996). The hierarchical development of monkey visual cortical regions as revealed by the maturation of parvalbuminimmunoreactive neurons. *Dev. Brain Res.* 96, 261–276.

Craig, A. D. (2009). How do you feel—now? The anterior insula and human awareness. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 10, 59–70.

Damasio, A. R. (1996). The somatic marker hypothesis and the possible functions of the prefrontal cortex. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 351, 1413–1420.

Damasio, A. The feeling of what happens. Body and emotion in the making of consciousness. London: Vintage (2000).

Damasio, A., L'Ordre étrange des choses, Paris: Odile Jacob. (2017). 40.

Dean, K., and Murray, R. M. (2005). Environmental risk factors for psychosis. *Dialog. Clin. Neurosci.* 7, 69-80.

Despras, G., Bernard, C., Perrot, A., Cattiaux, L., Prochiantz, A., Lortat-Jacob, H., et al. (2013). Toward libraries of biotinylated chondroitin sulfate analogues: from synthesis to in vivo studies. *Chemistry* 19, 531–540.

Di Nardo, A. A., Fuchs, J., Joshi, R. L., Moya, K. L., and Prochiantz, A. (2018). The physiology of Homeoprotein transduction. *Physiol. Rev.* 98, 1943–1982. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00018.2017, PMID: 30067157

Di Nardo, A. A., Joliot, A., and Prochiantz, A. (2020). Homeoprotein transduction in neurodevelopment and physiopathology. *Sci. Adv.* 6, eabc6374. doi: 10.1126/ sciadv.abc6374

Donato, F., Chowdhury, A., Lahr, M., and Caroni, P. (2015). Early-and late-born parvalbumin basket cell subpopulations exhibiting distinct regulation and roles in learning. *Neuron* 85, 770–786.

Enwright, J. F. III, Huo, Z., Arion, D., et al. (2018). Transcriptome alterations of prefrontal cortical parvalbumin neurons in schizophrenia. *Mol. Psychiatry* 23, 1606–1613. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.216

Fischer, M. (1971). Psychoses in the offspring of schizophrenic monozygotic twins and their normal co-twins. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 118, 43–52.

Freud, S. (1887-1904). "Lettre to Wilhelm Fliess, 6 December 1896" in *The Complete Letters of Sigmund Freud to Wilhelm Fliess*. ed. M. Masson (Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press), 207–215.

Freud, S. (1895). Studies on Hysteria. Standard Edition, Vol. 2 London: Hogarth Press.

Freud, S. (1896). "Heredity and the Aetiology of the Neuroses." in Standard Edition Vol. 3. London: Hogarth Press. 141–156.

Freud, S. (1897). "The Aetiology of Hysteria." Standard Edition, Vol. 3. London: Hogarth Press. 202.

Freud, S. (1900). *The Interpretation of Dreams. Standard Edition*, Vol. 4. London: Hogarth Press.

Freud, S. (1905). "Three essays on the Theory of Sexuality," Standard Edition Vol. 7. London: Hogarth Press. 125–243.

Freud, S. (1911c). Psycho-Analytic Notes on an Autobiographical Account of A Case of Paranoia, Standard Edition, Vol. 12. London: Hogarth Press, 3–82.

Freud, S. (1914c). On Narcissism: An Introduction, Standard Edition Vol. 2. London, Hogarth Press, 1955, 67–104.

Freud, S. (1917). "The Path to the Formation of Symptoms." in Standard Edition Vol. 15. London: Hogarth Press. 358–377.

Freud, S. (1933). "New Introductory Lectures on Psycho-analysis." in Standard Edition, Vol. 23. London: Hogarth Press. 3–182.

Freud, S., and Breuer, J. (1895). "Studies on Hysteria." Standard Edition, Vol. 2. London: Hogarth Press.

Genzel, L., Dresler, M., Cornu, M., Jäger, E., Konrad, B., Adamczyk, M., et al. (2015). Medial prefrontal-84 hippocampal connectivity and motor memory consolidation in depression and schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* 7, 177–186.

Gogolla, N., Leblanc, J. J., Quast, K. B., et al. (2009). Common circuit defect of excitatory-inhibitory balance in mouse models of autism. *J. Neurodev. Disord.* 1, 172–181.

Gomes, V., Zhu, X., and Grace, A. A. (2019). Stress during critical periods of development and risk for schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 213, 107–113. doi: 10.1016/j. schres.2019.01.030

Grace, A. A., and Gomes, F. V. (2019). The circuitry of dopamine system regulation and its disruption in schizophrenia: insights into treatment and prevention. *Schizophr. Bull.* 45, 148–157.

Gur, R. E., and Gur, R. C. (2010). Functional magnetic resonance imaging in schizophrenia. *Dialogues Clin. Neurosci.* 12, 333–343. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2010.12.3/rgur

Harauzov, A., Spolidoro, M., DiCristo, G., et al. (2010). Reducing intracortical inhibition in the adult visual cortex promotes ocular dominance plasticity. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 361–371.

Haukvik, U. K., Hartberg, C. B., and Agartz, I. (2013). Schizophrenia-what does structural MRI show? *Tidsskrift Den Norske Legeforening*

Hensch, T. (2005). Critical period plasticity in local cortical circuits. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6, 877–888. doi: 10.1038/nrn1787

Hill, S. K., Reilly, J. L., Keefe, R. S., et al. (2013). Neuropsychological impairments in schizophrenia and psychotic bipolar disorder: findings from the bipolarschizophrenia network on intermediate phenotypes (B-SNIP) study. Am. J. Psychiatry 9170, 1275–1284.

Hu, M. L., Zong, X. F., Mann, J. J., Zheng, J. J., Liao, Y. H., Li, Z. C., and Tang, J. S. (2017). A review of the functional and anatomical default mode network in schizophrenia. *Neurosci. Bull.*, 33, 73–84.

Insel, T. (2010). Rethinking schizophrenia. Nature 468, 187–193. doi: 10.1038/ nature09552

Just, N., Chevillard, P. M., and Migaud, M. (2022). Imaging and spectroscopic methods to investigate adult neurogenesis in vivo: new models and new avenues. *Front. Neurosci.* 16

Kaufman, J., Wymbs, N. F., Montalvo-Ortiz, J. L., et al. (2018). Methylation in OTX2 and related genes, maltreatment, and depression in children. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 43, 2204–2211.

Kendler, K. S., and Eaves, L. J. (1986). Models for the joint effect of genotype and environment on liability to psychiatric illness. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 143, 279–289.

Kringlen, E., and Cramer, G. (1989). Offspring of monozygotic twins discordant for schizophrenia. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 46, 873–877.

Lacan, J. (2002a). "On a question prior to any possible treatment of psychosis" in *Écrits: The first complete. English* ed (New York & London: W.W. Norton), 445-488.

Lacan, J. (2002b). "The Mirror stage as formative of the I function as revealed in psychoanalytic experience" in *Écrits: The first complete. English* ed (New York & London: W.W. Norton), 75–81.

Lacan, JThe Seminar of Jacques Lacan. (1997). Book III: The psychoses 1955–1956. New York & London: W.W. Norton & Company.

Lalousis, P. A., Malaviya, A., Upthegrove, R., Heinze, K., Diukova, A., and Auer, D., & Mallikarjun, P. (2022). Trait related aberrant connectivity in clinically stable patients with schizophrenia: a seed based resting state fMRI study. *Brain Imaging Behav.*, 1–10.

Le Magueresse, C., and Monyer, H. (2013). GABAergic interneurons shape the functional maturation of the cortex. *Neuron* 77, 388–405.

Lee, H. H. C., Bernard, C., Ye, Z., et al. (2017). Genetic OTX2 mis-localization delays critical period plasticity across brain regions. *Mol. Psychiatry* 22, 680–688. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.1

Levine, S. (1957). Infantile experience and resistance to physiological stress. *Science* 126, 405–405.

Maeda, N. (2015). Proteoglycans and neuronal migration in the cerebral cortex during development and disease. *Front. Neurosci.* 9:98.

Marangoni, C., Hernandez, M., and Faedda, G. L. (2016). The role of environmental exposures as risk factors for bipolar disorder: a systematic review of longitudinal studies. *J. Affect. Disord.* 193, 165–174.

Mauney, S. A., Athanas, K. M., Pantazopoulos, H., et al. (2013). Developmental pattern of perineuronal nets in the human prefrontal cortex and their deficit in schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* 74, 427–435.

Misiak, B., Stramecki, F., Gawęda, Ł., et al. (2018). Interactions between variation in candidate genes and environmental factors in the etiology of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a systematic review. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 55, 5075–5100. doi: 10.1007/s12035-017-0708-y

Morishita, H., Miwa, J. M., Heintz, N., and Hensch, T. K. (2010). Lynx1, a cholinergic brake, limits plasticity in adult visual cortex. *Science* 330, 1238–1240.

Murthy, S., Kane, G. A., Katchur, N. J., et al. (2019). Perineuronal nets, inhibitory interneurons, and anxiety-related ventral hippocampal neuronal oscillations are altered by early life adversity. *Biol. Psychiatry* 85, 1011–1020.

Nelson, C. A. III, and Gabard-Durnam, L. J. (2020). Early adversity and critical periods: neurodevelopmental consequences of violating the expectable environment. *Trends Neurosci.* 43, 133–143.

Nelson, C. A. III, Zeanah, C. H., Fox, N. A., Marshall, P. J., Smyke, A. T., and Guthrie, D. (2007). Cognitive recovery in socially deprived young children: The Bucharest early intervention project. *Science* 318, 1937–1940.

Ottman, R. (1996). Gene-environment interaction: definitions and study designs. *Prev. Med.* 25, 764–770.

Padmanabhan, J. L., Shah, J. L., Neeraj, T., and Keshavan, M. S. (2017). The "polyenviromic risk score": aggregating environmental risk factors predicts conversion to psychosis in familial high-risk subjects. *Schizophr. Res.* 181, 17–22.

Pantazopoulos, H., Woo, T. U., Lim, M. P., et al. (2010). Extracellular matrix-glial abnormalities in the amygdala and entorhinal cortex of subjects diagnosed with schizophrenia. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 67, 155–166.

Paylor, J.W., Lins, B.R., and Greba, Q., et. al. (2016). Developmental disruption of perineuronal nets in the medial prefrontal cortex after maternal immune activation. *Sci. Rep.* 23:37580. doi: 10.1038/srep37580

Peña, C. J., Kronman, H. G., Walker, D. M., et al. (2017). Early life stress confers lifelong stress susceptibility in mice via ventral tegmental area OTX2. *Science* 356, 1185-1188.

Piontelli, A., Bocconi, L., Boschetto, C., et al. (1999). Differences and similarities in the intra-uterine behavior of monozygotic and dizygotic twins. *Twin Res.* 2, 264–273. doi: 10.1375/136905299320565753

Pizzorusso, T., Medini, P., Berardi, N., et al. (2002). Reactivation of ocular dominance plasticity in the adult visual cortex. *Science* 8, 1248–1251.

Prochiantz, A. (2001). Machine-esprit. Paris: Odile Jacob. 11-13.

Prochiantz, A. (2012). Qu'est-ce que le vivant?. Paris: Seuil, 36.

Prochiantz, A. (2014). "Processus morphogénétiques, Cours et travaux du Collège de France" in *Annuaire 113e année* (Paris: Collège de France), 331–353. Available online at: http://journals.openedition.org/annuaire-cdf/2432

Prochiantz, A. (2019). Singe toi-même, Paris: Odile Jacob.

Prochiantz, A., and Di Nardo, A. A. (2015). Homeoprotein signalng in the developing and adult nervous system. *Neuron* 85, 911–925.

Psychiatric GWAS Consortium Bipolar Disorder Working Group (2011). Largescale genome-wide association analysis of bipolar disorder identifies a new susceptibility locus near ODZ4. *Nat. Genet.* 43, 977–983. doi: 10.1038/ng.943

Ramón, Y., and Cajal, S. *Histologie du système nerveux de l'homme et des vertébrés* Paris: A. Maloine (1909).

Riley, B. P., Kendler, K. S., Sadock, B. J., and Sadock, V. A. (2005). "Schizophrenia: genetics" in *Comprehensive textbook of psychiatry* (Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins), 1354–1371.

Ripke, S. (2014). Schizophrenia working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci. *Nature* 511, 421–427. doi: 10.1038/nature13595

Sanders, A. R., Duan, J., Levinson, D. F., et al. (2008). No significant association of 14 candidate genes with schizophrenia in a large European ancestry sample: implications for psychiatric genetics. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 165, 497–506. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07101573

Scheiman, M. M., Hertle, R. W., Beck, R. W., et al. (2005). Pediatric eye disease Investigator Group randomized trial of treatment of amblyopia in children aged 7 to 17 years. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* 123, 437–447. doi: 10.1001/archopht.123.4.437

Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium (2014). Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci. *Nature* 511, 421–427. doi: 10.1038/nature13595

Shah, A., D, J., and Lodge. (2013). A loss of hippocampal perineuronal nets produces deficits in dopamine system function: relevance to the positive symptoms of schizophrenia. *Transl. Psychiatry* 3:e215. doi: 10.1038/tp.2012.145

Skudlarski, P., Schretlen, D. J., Thaker, G. K., et al. (2013). Diffusion tensor imaging white matter endophenotypes in patients with schizophrenia or psychotic bipolar disorder and their relatives. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 170, 886–898.

Spatazza, J., Lee, H. H. C., Di Nardo, A. A., et al. (2013). Choroid-plexus-derived OTX2 homeoprotein constrains adult cortical plasticity. *Cell Rep.* 3, 1815–1823.

Spitz, R. A. (1946). Hospitalism: a follow-up report on investigation described in volume I, 1945. *Psychoanal. Study Child* 2, 113–117.

Spolidoro, M., Sale, A., Berardi, N., and Maffei, L. (2009). Plasticity in the adult brain: lessons from the visual system. *Exp. Brain Res.* 192, 334–341.

Sugiyama, S., Di Nardo, A. A., Aizawa, S., et al. (2008). Experience-dependent transfer of OTX2 homeoprotein into the visual cortex activates postnatal plasticity. *Cells* 134, 508–520.

Takesian, A. E., and Hensch, T. K. (2013). Balancing plasticity/stability across brain development. *Prog. Brain Res.* 207, 3–34.

Testa, D., Prochiantz, A., and Di Nardo, A. A. (2019). Perineuronal nets in brain physiology and disease. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 89, 125–135. doi: 10.1016/j. semcdb.2018.09.011

Tran The, J. (2022). Le rôle des états somatiques dans l'inscription de l'expérience: une rencontre entre psychanalyse et neurosciences. L'Évolution Psychiatrique 87, 131–147.

Uhlhaas, P. J., and Singer, W. (2015). Oscillations and neuronal dynamics in schizophrenia: The search for basic symptoms and translational opportunities. *Biol. Psychiatry* 77, 1001–1009.

van Os, J., Rutten, B. P., and Poulton, R. (2008). Gene-environment interactions in schizophrenia: review of epidemiological findings and future directions. *Schizophr. Bull.* 34, 1066–1082. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn117

Van Snellenberg, J. X., and de Candia, T. (2009). Meta-analytic evidence for familial coaggregation of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 66, 748–755.

Vincent, C., Gilabert-Juan, J., Gibel-Russo, R., et al. (2021). Non-cell-autonomous OTX2 transcription factor regulates anxiety-related behavior in the mouse. *Mol. Psychiatry* 26, 6469–6480. doi: 10.1038/s41380-021-01132-y

Wang, Z., Meda, S. A., Keshavan, M. S., et al. (2015). Large-scale fusion of gray matter and resting-state functional MRI reveals common and distinct biological markers across the psychosis spectrum in the B-SNIP cohort. *Front. Psych.* 6:174.

Werker, J. F., and Hensch, T. K. (2015). Critical periods in speech perception: new directions. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 66, 173–196.

Wiesel, T. N. (1982). Postnatal development of the visual cortex and the influence of environment. *Nature* 299, 583–591.

Wylie, K. P., and Tregellas, J. R. (2010). The role of the insula in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 123, 93–104.

Zhang, T. Y., and Meaney, M. J. (2010). Epigenetics and the environmental regulation of the genome and its function. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 61, 439–466. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163625

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Olivier Putois, Université de Strasbourg, France

REVIEWED BY

Raphael Minjard, Université Lumière Lyon 2, France Hélène Riazuelo, Université Paris Nanterre, France Malika Mansouri, Université Sorbonne Paris Cité, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Sophie Boursange sophie_boursange@hotmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Children and Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

RECEIVED 19 October 2022 ACCEPTED 24 November 2022 PUBLISHED 21 December 2022

CITATION

Boursange S, Araneda M, Stalens C, Desguerre I, Barnerias C, Nougues M-C, Isapof A, Quijano-Roy S, Blu Genestine N, Ouillade L, Martinez Jalilie M, Castiglioni C, Boespflug-Tanguy O, Gargiulo M and The SMAPAR Study Group (2022) Parents' dilemma: A therapeutic decision for children with spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) type 1.

Front. Pediatr. 10:1062390. doi: 10.3389/fped.2022.1062390

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Boursange, Araneda, Stalens, Desguerre, Barnerias, Nougues, Isapof, Quijano-Roy, Blu Genestine, Quillade, Martinez Jalilie, Castiglioni, Boespflug-Tanguy, Gargiulo and The SMAPAR Study Group. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Parents' dilemma: A therapeutic decision for children with spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) type 1

Sophie Boursange^{1,2,3*}, Marco Araneda⁴, Caroline Stalens⁵, Isabelle Desguerre^{6,7,8}, Christine Barnerias^{6,7,8}, Marie-Christine Nougues^{6,7,9}, Arnaud Isapof^{6,7,9}, Susana Quijano-Roy^{6,7,10}, Nadia Blu Genestine¹¹, Laetitia Ouillade¹², Maripaz Martinez Jalilie¹³, Claudia Castiglioni¹⁴, Odile Boespflug-Tanguy^{6,7,15,16}, Marcela Gargiulo^{1,3} and The SMAPAR Study Group

¹Université Paris Cité, Laboratoire de Psychologie Clinique, Psychopathologie, Psychanalyse, Boulogne-Billancourt, France, ²Université Paris Cité, Ecole Doctorale ED-261, "Cognition, Conduct and Human Behavior", Boulogne-Billancourt, France, ³Institut de Myologie, Hôpital de la Pitié-Salpêtrière, APHP-Paris, France, ⁴Université Paris Cité, CRPMS, F-75013 Paris, France, ⁵French Association against Myopathies (AFM), Public Health and Medical Research Department, Evry, France, ⁶Centre de Référence des Maladies Neuromusculaires, Centre Nord-Est-Ile de France, Réseau National des Maladies Neuromusculaires, FILNEMUS, France, ⁷European Reference Center Network (Euro-NMD ERN), Paris, France, ⁸Pediatric Neurology Department, AP-HP Hôpital Necker Enfants Malades, Paris, France, ⁹Department of Paediatric Neurology, Armand Trousseau Hospital, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris, France, ¹⁰APHP Université Paris Saclay, Neuromuscular Unit Pediatric Neurology and ICU Department, Raymond Poincarré Hospital, Garches, France, ¹¹ECLAS association, Together against SMA type 1, Saint Denis Le Gast, France, ¹²SMA Interest Group – AFM Téléthon, Evry, France, ¹³Unidad de Investigación, Escuela de Medicina, Universidad Finis Terrae, Santiago, Chile, ¹⁴Neuropediatric Department, Las Condes Clinic, Santiago Chile, Chile, ¹⁵I-Motion, Institute of Myology, Armand Trousseau Hospital, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris, France, ¹⁶Université Paris Cité, UMR 1141, Paris, France

Background: SMA type 1 is a severe neurodegenerative disorder that, in the absence of curative treatment, leads to death before 1 year of age without ventilatory support. Three innovative therapies are available to increase life expectancy.

Purpose: (i) To increase knowledge about parents' experiences with their decision to have opted for an innovative therapy; (ii) to assess the middle-term psychological consequences in the parents' lives.

Methods: We used an in-depth interview; a self-administrated questionnaire and self-report scales (BDI-II, STAI-Y, PSI-SF, SOC-13, PBA, DAS 16 and FICD). We compared parents hesitant before the decision to parents who were not-hesitant and the group of parents whose child was treated with gene therapy (GT) to parents whose child received another innovative therapy.

Main results: We included n = 18 parents of 13 children. Parent's mean age was 34.7 (\pm 5.2), child's average age was 44.3 months (\pm 38.0). Retrospectively, most parents felt involved by doctors in decision-making on treatment, they felt their point of view was considered and were satisfied with the effects of the treatment. The group of parents "non-hesitant" was more depressed (p < 0.001), more anxious (p = 0.022) and had higher parental stress (p = 0.026) than the group of "hesitant" parents; the group of "GT-treated" parents was more depressed (p = 0.036) than the group of parents with "other therapy". Qualitative data highlights revealed: the need to save the child's life at all costs; the fear of coping with end of life and palliative care, the high value of perceived physician confidence in the treatment, the hope that the child will acquire autonomy or be cured. At the time of the decision, no parents felt they fully understood all of the issues regarding therapy and the disease.

Conclusion: Hesitating before making a decision did not predispose parents to depression and anxiety. The narratives suggest that the parents faced a dilemma regarding their child's health in an urgent context. The decision was not final, and parents will continue to think about it throughout the care process.

KEYWORDS

dilemmatic decisions, palliative care, parents, caregivers, spinal amyotrophy type 1, SMAPAR Study, burden, innovative therapies

Introduction

Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) is a degenerative disease of the motor neurons that, emerge from the spinal cord and brainstem. It is due to an alteration of the survival motor neuron 1 (SMN1) gene on the two alleles of maternal and paternal origin in the genome of the affected child. Parents transmitting the anomaly never develop the disease, as it is an autosomal recessive disease. It is the leading cause of pediatric neurodegenerative genetic disease, with an incidence in France of 120-150 births per year (15-19 new cases/ 100.000 births) and the second most common genetic pediatric disease after cystic fibrosis (1-3). These numbers are likely overestimated as only 35-40 new cases per year have been evaluated during national multidisciplinary consensus meetings (MCM) of reference centers for rare neuromuscular diseases (FILNEMUS) as of June 2018. SMA type 1 is the most severe and common form (50%-60%) of SMA. It appears within the first 6 months of life and is characterized by significant muscle weakness and very little motor acquisition (the independent sitting position is not acquired). Bulbar functions (swallowing disorders) and respiratory (ventilatory disorders) functions are also impaired, the latter being a key factor in the severity of the disease (1, 2, 4). In France, the various natural histories come from the follow-up of nearly 200 patients over 20 years (1999-2016). The patients received active palliative care but no long-term ventilation (non-invasive ventilation or tracheotomy). They showed a rapid evolution with a median age of diagnosis at 3 months (range 0.6-10.4) and a median age of death at 6 months (range 1-27) (5). A subgroup of children (type 1c) was defined by onset between three and 6 months (acquired head posture) usually with longer survival but a very severe disability (2). In other hand, SMN2 gene has been found to modulate the age of onset and severity of loss of function of the SMN1 gene (6). The first clinical trials began in 2008 and led to the approval for the first innovative therapy in the USA in 2016 (7), then in Europe in 2017 (8).

Currently, three innovative therapies¹ can increase life expectancy and improve motor and respiratory functions. Clinical studies show greater and faster efficacy when treatments are initiated early and ideally at a pre-symptomatic stage (9). Unlike in other countries, systematic neonatal screening is not yet available in France, which limits the possibility of treatment immediately from birth (6). A pilot project, DEPISMA, is being tested in two French regions. While these therapies change the natural course of the disease and bring new perspectives for patients and their families, many uncertainties remain (10) and families and medical teams navigate between "isolated islands of certainty in an ocean of uncertainty" (11).

In France, the therapeutic management of children with SMA needs to be ratified during MCM of reference centers for rare neuromuscular diseases (FILNEMUS) (12). Doctors discuss treatment indications based on the clinical (motor, bulbar and respiratory functions), the child's genetic profile and the available scientific data. They are thus faced with the ethical dilemma of choosing between palliative support through the end of life, or implementing an innovative therapy. The decision is most often broached with parents during the diagnostic confirmation visit and the final decision is an emergency. When the medical team advises palliative care, but the parents want an innovative therapy, they may experience the decision as an imposed sentence and often

¹Spinraza® (INN: Nusinersen) is an antisense oligonucleotide that increases the production of functional *SMN* protein by acting on the splicing of the *SMN2* gene. This is a very well tolerated treatment but requires an injection every 4 months into the cerebrospinal fluid via a lumbar puncture (intrathecal route) for life after a loading dose of 4 injections; Zolgensma® (INN: onasemnogene abeparvovec) is a gene therapy treatment designed to deliver the normal gene into defective motor neurons via a viral vector (AAV9). This is a one-time IV treatment that requires the injection of high doses of viral capsids that can cause serious side effects; Evrysdi® (INN: risdiplam) which is a motor neuron survival protein 2 pre-mRNA splicing modifier that increases the production of functional *SMN* protein. It is a very well tolerated oral treatment (syrup) requiring daily intake for life.

seek a second opinion. When the MCM proposes innovative therapy, the final decision about whether to treat the child is always up to the parents. They may sometimes interpret this proposal as a solution repairing the shock of the announcement of the child's illness, particularly when the SMA is severe (13). After the final decision, therapies are most of the time initiated 2 weeks after the genetic diagnosis has been confirmed.

In this urgent context, parents of children with SMA type 1 are faced with a dilemma: the decision to either consent to innovative therapy or to pursue palliative care and accompany their child through the end of life.

The aim of this study is to describe how parents experience their prior decision regarding an innovative therapy for their child with SMA type 1. This is a psychoanalytically oriented clinical psychology research based on a triangulation of quantitative and qualitative data.

This article presents the results of the subgroup of parents of children with SMA type 1 of the French cohort, of the SMAPAR study: a large Franco-Chilean study looking at the experience of parents of children (aged 1–18) with SMA type 1, 2 or 3 and the feeling of parental overload.

Objectives: (i) to increase knowledge about parents' experiences on their prior decision for an innovative therapy for their child with SMA type 1; (ii) to assess the middle-term psychological consequences in their lives.

Patients and methods

The inclusion of parents in the SMAPAR study took place in France between January 1, 2021 and September 30, 2021, within specialized neuropediatric departments (FILNEMUS) who chose to participate and through patient associations: French Association against Myopathies (AFM-Telethon) and Together Against SMA type 1 association (ECLAS). The parents who participated did so voluntarily and both parents within a couple could participate independently.

We used a mixed methodology with both qualitative tools (in-depth semi-structured interviews) and quantitative tools (self-questionnaire developed by members of the Steering Comitee of the SMAPAR study and validated in conjunction with members of patient associations and 7 self-questionnaires evaluating the medium-term psychological consequences on the parents). Complete methodology of the SMAPAR study is available in the **Supplementary Material**. Mixed methods propose to combine, in a more or less intimate way, quantitative and qualitative methods in order to produce results that combine credibility and meaning (14).

The study complies with MR-004 reference methodology that provides a framework for the processing of personal data for the purpose of studies, evaluations or research not involving the human person as studies that do not meet the definition of research involving the human person. It received approval from the Ethics Committee (No: #00011928, December 15, 2020) including the use of reported speech verbatim in publications. All participants signed written statements of non-opposition.

To meet the objectives of this study: we identified the variables related to therapeutic decision-making, mental health, and the impact of the disease on daily life and family in the catalog of data from the SMAPAR study:

(1) Variables from the in-house self-questionnaire: the selfquestionnaire consisted of open and closed multiple-choice questions and visual analog scales (VAS) that ranged from 0 (lowest agreement or satisfaction score) to 100 (highest agreement or satisfaction score).

We isolated the following variables:

- *Parents*: sex, age, marital status (multiple choice), parental status (primiparous Y/N), economic status (multiple choice), professional status (multiple choice), social assistance and coverage status (multiple choice), perception of overall health (VAS) and impact of the disease on the mental and physical health (Y/N) of the parents, parental satisfaction with comprehensive care (VAS)
- *Children*: age, type of SMA (multiple choice), age at onset of first symptoms, age at diagnosis, type of therapy, time between treatment start and research participation (calculated variable),
- *Therapeutic decision*: parental participation in therapeutic decisions (Y/N) and satisfaction that their opinion has been taken into account by the medical team (VAS)
- *Treatment effects*: effects observed by the parents following treatment (Y/N), effects on motor function (multiple choice) and autonomy (Y/N), satisfaction with the observed changes (VAS), evolution of parental concerns regarding the health and future of the child (multiple choice) and evolution of the feeling of parental overload related to the disease and its management (multiple choice)

(2) Variables from the self-questionnaires evaluating the medium-term psychological consequences on parents: depression—Beck Depression Inventory, BDI-II (15), state-trait anxiety—State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, STAI-Y (16, 17), parental stress—Parental stress Index short form, PSI SF (18), sense of coherence—Self-questionnaire, SOC-13 (19), parental burnout—Parental burnout questionnaire, PBA (20), marital satisfaction—Dyadic Adjustment Scale, DAS 16 (21), impact of the child's disability on the family—Family impact of Childhood Disease, FICD (22, 23).

(3) Variables from semi-structured interviews transcribed and analyzed with N'Vivo: "Therapeutic decision-making" sub-node.

Data analysis

Quantitative data from the in-house self-questionnaire and self-assessment scales were analyzed using SAS software (version 9.4; SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Data were reported as counts and frequencies (%) for qualitative variables and mean \pm standard deviation for quantitative variables.

The thematic analysis allowed us to identify two parental attitudes towards decision-making: "hesitant parent" and "non-hesitant parent". We also identified a difference in parental ideas about gene therapy (GT) vs. other innovative therapies. This allowed us to perform a descriptive statistical analysis by subgroup using "hesitant" parents (n = 7) vs. "non-hesitant" (n = 11) parents and parents whose child received GT "GT-treated" (n = 6) vs. those with a child treated with "other therapy" (n = 12). The homogeneity between the subgroups was tested using the appropriate tests: the χ^2 test (or an exact Fisher test) for qualitative variables, and a Student test (or non-parametric Mann-Whitney test according to the distribution variable) for quantitative variables. The results were considered statistically significant when $p \leq 0.05$.

The interviews were transcribed and imported into qualitative data analysis software NVivo 10 (version 1.6.1). The encoding map was produced jointly by three experienced psychologists using deductive methodology: two main thematic nodes were defined based on the literature and the objectives of the SMAPAR study: "Parenting" and "Parental overload".

We then moved on to an inductive phase: three psychologists (SB, MA, and MG) analyzed the first three interviews together in order to identify the emerging themes, define the sub-nodes to organize the data hierarchically, and check internal validity. A research psychologist (SB) then coded the other 15 interviews from the coding map, which was gradually improved by the iterative interpretative approach. Rereading the interviews allowed us to verify and specify the sub-nodes. We present an analysis of the "therapeutic decision-making" sub-node, created within the parent node here: Parenting \rightarrow Discovery of SMA \rightarrow Therapeutic decision-making and it's 5 themes, some of which are broken down into sub-themes.

The interview guide and research methodology were pilot tested on one mother and one father prior to the study and adjusted according to their feedback. Excerpts of the interviews were translated to English to be used in this paper.

Results

Participants

The sample (**Table 1**) consists of parents of a child with SMA1 treated with an innovative therapy (n = 18), including 12 mothers (66.7%) and 6 fathers (33.3%). The average age of the parents was 34.7 years (±5.2); 15/18 parents (83.3%) were

married; 3/18 parents (16.7%) were separated from the other parent of the affected child at the moment of assessment (2/3 had another partner and 1/3 were single); 10/18 parents (55.6%) participated in the research jointly as a couple, 10/18 parents (55.6%) were first-time parents. The mean age of the child as reported by the parents was 44.3 months (±38.0); 10/18 parents (55.6%) reported that their child was classified at type 1 SMA and 8/18 (44.4%) of type 1c. They evaluated the average age of onset of symptoms at 3.5 months (±2.3) and diagnosis at 5.4 months (±3.2). The average time between the introduction of innovative therapy and research participation was 813.6 days (±455.2). The different therapies and management options proposed to the 18 parents are divided as follows: 11 parents (61.1%) innovative therapy at the time of diagnosis, 2 (11.1%) participation in a clinical trial, 2 (11.1%) a choice between a clinical trial or an innovative therapy, 2 (11.1%) a palliative (end of life) care, and 1 parent (5.5%, child 1c) was offered proactive symptomatic care, as therapies were not yet available at the time of diagnosis. Finally, all children of participating parents had either received or were receiving innovative therapy at the time of the study. Note that 2/18 (11.1%) parents reported that their child was not treated, although the two children received a gene therapy injection. Regarding to the parents' socio-economic status, 2/18 parents (11.1%) were considered "low-income", 9/18 (50.0%) "working class", 5/18 (27.8%) "middle class" and 2/18 (11.1%) "high-income". Among the parents, 13/18 (72.2%) were working and 5/18 (27.8%) were unemployed; 15/18 parents (83.3%) received social assistance related to the child's education and or child's disability.

Data from the in-house self-questionnaire

The results of the descriptive analysis are presented in Table 2. When asked about their participation in therapeutic decision-making (treatment and care) for their child, only 1/18 parents (5.6%) did not feel involved. The parents felt their opinion was considered in the medical teams' decision with an average score of 80.6/100 (±16.6). All parents who reported that their child had received innovative therapy (n = 16)observed changes upon introduction of the treatment, including improvement in motor function (16/16, 100%), acquisition of new motor functions (12/16, 75.0%) and increased autonomy (10/16, 62.5%). Parental satisfaction with the observed improvements is on average 71.7/100 (±17.7). Despite the observed improvements, disease burden decreased for only 3/16 parents (18.8%), remained stable for 10/16 parents (62.5%) and increased for 3/16 parents (18.8%). Concerns related to the child's health decreased for 6/16 parents (37.5%), remained stable for 8/16 parents (50%) and increased for 2/16 parents (12.5%). Concerns for the child's future increased for 5/16 parents (31.3%), remained stable for 8/16 parents (50%) and
TABLE 1 Characteristics of participants (n = 18, homemade self-reported questionnaire).

All parents	Total <i>n</i> = 18	Non-hesitant $n = 11$	Hesitant $n = 7$	GT-treated n = 6	Other therapy $n = 12$
Gender of parent					
Male	6 (33.3%)	3 (27.3%)	3 (42.9%)	1 (16.7%)	5 (41.7%)
Female	12 (66.7%)	8 (72.7%)	4 (57.1%)	5 (83.3%)	7 (58.3%)
Age (years)	34.7 (±5.2)	32.6 (±5.1)	38.0 (±3.3)	32.8 (±6.8)	35.7 (±4.1)
Marital status					
Married	15 (83.3%)	8 (72.7%)	7 (100%)	6 (100%)	9 (75.0%)
Separated and in couple	2 (11.1%)	2 (18.2%)	-	-	2 (16.7%)
Separated and single	1 (5.6%)	1 (9.1%)	-	-	1 (8.3%)
Participation in couple					
No	8 (44.4%)	5 (45.5%)	3 (42.9%)	4 (66.7%)	4 (33.3%)
Yes	10 (55.6%)	6 (54.5%)	4 (57.1%)	2 (33.3%)	8 (66.7%)
Primiparous					
No	8 (44.4%)	2 (18.2%)	6 (85.7%)	1 (16.7%)	7 (53.8%)
Yes	10 (55.6%)	9 (81.8%)	1 (14.3%)	5 (83.3%)	5 (41.7%)
Economic status					
Poor	2 (11.1%)	2 (18.2%)	-	1 (16.7%)	1 (8.3%)
Popular	9 (50.0%)	6 (54.5%)	3 (42.9%)	4 (66.7%)	5 (41.7%)
Medium	5 (27.8%)	3 (27.3%)	2 (28.6%)	1 (16.7%)	4 (33.3%)
Easy	2 (11.1%)	-	2 (28.6%)	-	2 (16.7%)
Parent's working					
No	5 (27.8%)	2 (18.2%)	3 (42.9%)	2 (33.3%)	3 (25.0%)
Yes	13 (72.2%)	9 (81.8%)	4 (57.1%)	4 (66.7%)	9 (75.0%)
Social benefits					
No	3 (16.7%)	1 (9.1%)	2 (28.6%)	1 (16.7%)	2 (16.7%)
Yes	15 (83.3%)	10 (90.9%)	5 (71.4%)	5 (83.3%)	10 (83.3%)
Age of child (months)	44.3 (±38.0)	46.5 (±48.0)	40.7 (±15.2)	25.2 (±3.4)	53.8 (±44.0)
Type of SMA					
Type 1	10 (55.6%)	7 (63.6%)	3 (42.9%)	3 (50.0%)	7 (58.3%)
Type 1 c	8 (44.4%)	4 (36.4%)	4 (57.1%)	3 (50.0%)	5 (41.7%)
Age of symptoms' onset (months)	3.5 (±2.3)	3.5 (±2.7)	3.6 (±1.8)	2.8 (±1.5)	3.9 (±2.7)
Age of diagnostic (months)	5.4 (±3.2)	5.5 (±3.7)	5.3 (±2.4)	5.3 (±2.5)	5.5 (±3.6)
Treated with innovative therapy					
Answer no, but it was yes	2 (11.1%)	2 (18.2)	-	2 (33.3%)	-
Yes	16 (88.9%)	9 (81.8%)	7 (100%)	4 (66.7%)	12 (100%)
Type of innovative therapy					
Gene therapy	6 (33.3%)	5 (45.5%)	1 (14.3%)	-	-
Other therapy	12 (66.7%)	6 (54.5%)	6 (85.7%)	-	-
Time from research participation to start of treatment (days)	813.6 (±455.2)	666.8 (±375.9)	1002.3 (±505.7)	586.0 (±118.6)	889.4 (±503.6)

decreased for 3/16 parents (18.8%). The average score of parents, when asked about their overall health satisfaction, was 67.3/100 (\pm 20.8). However, 16/18 of parents (88.9%) believe that SMA has impacted their physical health and 12/18 (66.7%) their mental health. There is no significant difference between the subgroups of "hesitant" parents vs. "non-hesitant" parents and the subgroups of "GT-treated" vs. "other therapy" for all the variables mentioned above.

Evaluation of medium-term psychological effects on parents' lives

The results of the descriptive analysis are presented in **Table 3**. Overall, the parents do not have high depression scores (mean BDI score: 9.8 ± 6.1), 5/18 parents (27.8%) presented with mild depression and 1/18 parent (5.5%) with moderate depression. The sub-group analysis highlights that:

36

TABLE 2 Quantitative data from the in-house self-questionnaire (results are expressed as mean score ± standard deviation).

No $1 (5.6\%)$ $1 (9.1\%)$ $1 (16.7\%)$ $1 (16.7\%)$ $1 (16.7\%)$ Yes $17 (94.4\%)$ $10 (90.9\%)$ $7 (100\%)$ $5 (83.3\%)$ $12 (100\%)$ Satisfaction with the way their views were taken into account $80.6 (\pm 1.66)$ $7.7.7 (\pm 9.28)$ $84.7 (\pm 23.7)$ 0.137 $7.7.6 (\pm 22.8)$ $81.8 (\pm 14.4)$ $3.7.6 (\pm 22.8)$ $81.8 (\pm 14.4)$ $3.6 (\pm 1.66)$ Satisfaction about their overall health $67.3 (\pm 20.8)$ $6.1 (\pm 1.46)$ $7.40 (\pm 2.80)$ 0.21 $6.20 (\pm 20.5)$ $7.00 (\pm 21.8)$ $6.1 (\pm 1.66)$ Parents whose physical health is affected by the SMA 0.600 $2 (11.1\%)$ $2 (28.6\%)$ $6 (100\%)$ $10 (83.3\%)$ Parents whose psychological health is affected by the SMA 0.087 0.087 $1 (16.7\%)$ $5 (41.7\%)$ No $6 (33.3\%)$ $2 (18.2\%)$ $4 (57.1\%)$ $1 (16.7\%)$ $5 (41.7\%)$ Yes $12 (66.7\%)$ $9 (100\%)$ $7 (100\%)$ $1 (100\%)$ $12 (100\%)$ Observed change related to treatment: Yes $16 (100\%)$ $9 (100\%)$ $7 (100\%)$ $4 (100\%)$ $12 (100\%)$ Observed change related to treatment: Yes $16 (100\%)$ $9 (100\%)$ $7 (100\%)$ $4 (100\%)$ $12 (100\%)$ And/or New motor function acquisition $12 (75.7\%)$ $7 (77.8\%)$ $5 (71.4\%)$ $4 (100\%)$ $8 (66.7\%)$ Darceased $6 (30.7\%)$ $5 (55.6\%)$ $3 (42.9\%)$ $2 (50.0\%)$ $6 (50.0\%)$ Same $6 (30.0\%)$ $5 (55.6\%)$ $3 (42.9\%)$ $2 (50.0\%)$ $4 (33.3\%)$ Darceased	All parents	Total <i>n</i> = 18	Non- hesitant <i>n</i> = 11	Hesitant $n = 7$	<i>p</i> -value	GT- treated <i>n</i> = 6	Other therapy $n = 12$	<i>p</i> -value
Yes10 (90.9.%) 10 (90.9.%)7 (10%)5 (83.3.%) 5 (81.2.%)12 (10%)Satisfaction with the way their views were taken into account astisfaction about their overall health $67.3 (\pm 20.8)$ $63.1 (\pm 14.6)$ $74.0 (\pm 23.6)$ 0.137 $77.6 (\pm 22.8)$ $81.8 (\pm 14.4)$ $31.6 (\pm 14.6)$ Satisfaction about their overall health $67.3 (\pm 20.8)$ $63.1 (\pm 14.6)$ $74.0 (\pm 28.6)$ 0.291 $62.0 (\pm 20.5)$ $70.0 (\pm 21.3)$ $0.6 (\pm 20.6)$ Parents whose physical health is affected by the SMA 0.607 $2 (11.1\%)$ $ 2 (28.6\%)$ $ 2 (16.7\%)$ Yes $16 (89.9\%)$ $11 (10.9\%)$ $5 (71.4\%)$ $6 (10.0\%)$ $10 (63.3\%)$ 0.673 Parents whose psychological health is affected by the SMA $0.673 (\pm 20.6)$ $4 (57.1\%)$ $1 (16.7\%)$ $5 (41.7\%)$ Yes $12 (66.7\%)$ $9 (81.8\%)$ $3 (42.9\%)$ $5 (83.3\%)$ $7 (58.3\%)$ $7 (58.3\%)$ Parents who declared their child was treated $n = 16$ $n = 9$ $n = 7$ $n = 4$ $n = 12$ Observed change related to treatment: Yes $16 (100\%)$ $9 (100\%)$ $7 (100\%)$ $4 (100\%)$ $12 (100\%)$ Type of motor changes observed $16 (100\%)$ $9 (100\%)$ $7 (100\%)$ $4 (100\%)$ $2 (10.0\%)$ And/or New motor function acquisition $12 (50.5\%)$ $3 (42.9\%)$ $2 (50.0\%)$ $6 (50.0\%)$ Decreased $6 (37.5\%)$ $3 (33.3\%)$ $2 (28.6\%)$ $1 (25.0\%)$ $4 (33.3\%)$ Changes in level of concern about their child's futur $8 (50.0\%)$ $3 ($	Involvement in medical and therapeutic decision process				0.412			0.146
Satisfaction with the way their views were taken into account80.6 (\pm 16.6)77.7 (\pm 9.8)84.7 (\pm 2.3)0.13777.6 (\pm 2.28)81.8 (\pm 14.4)81.8 (\pm 14.4)<	No	1 (5.6%)	1 (9.1%)	-		1 (16.7%)	-	
Satisfaction about their overall health 67.3 (± 2.0 , 63.1 ($\pm 1.4.6$) 74.0 ($\pm 2.0.8$) 0.201 62.0 ($\pm 2.0.5$) 70.0 ($\pm 2.1.3$) Parents whose physical health is affected by the SMA 0.660 0.060 0.060 Yes 16 (88.9%) 11 (100%) 5 (71.4%) 6 (100%) 10 (83.3%) Parents whose psychological health is affected by the SMA 0.867 0.867 5 (41.7%) 5 (41.7%) No 6 (33.3%) 2 (18.2%) 4 (57.1%) 1 (16.7%) 5 (41.7%) Yes 12 (66.7%) 9 (81.8%) 3 (42.9%) 5 (83.3%) 7 (58.3%) Parents who declared their child was treated $n = 16$ $n = 9$ $n = 7$ $n = 4$ $n = 12$ Observed change related to treatment: Yes 16 (100%) 9 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) And/or New motor function acquisition 12 (75.0%) 7 (77.8%) 5 (71.4%) 4 (100%) 8 (66.7%) Same 8 (50.0%) 5 (55.6%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 6 (37.5%) 3 (33.3%) 2 (28.6%) 1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%) Same	Yes	17 (94.4%)	10 (90.9%)	7 (100%)		5 (83.3%)	12 (100%)	
Parents whose physical health is affected by the SMA 0.060 0.060 0.060 0.060 No $2(11.1\%)$ $ 2(28.6\%)$ $ 2(16.7\%)$ Yes $16(88.9\%)$ $11(100\%)$ $5(71.4\%)$ $6(100\%)$ $10(83.3\%)$ Parents whose psychological health is affected by the SMA 0.087 0.087 0.087 0.087 No $6(33.3\%)$ $2(18.2\%)$ $4(57.1\%)$ $1(16.7\%)$ $5(41.7\%)$ Yes $12(66.7\%)$ $9(81.8\%)$ $3(42.9\%)$ $5(83.3\%)$ $7(58.3\%)$ Parents who declared their child was treated $n = 16$ $n = 9$ $n = 7$ $n = 4$ $n = 12$ Observed change related to treatment: Yes $16(100\%)$ $9(100\%)$ $7(100\%)$ $4(100\%)$ $12(100\%)$ And/or New motor function acquisition $12(75.0\%)$ $7(77.8\%)$ $5(71.4\%)$ $4(100\%)$ $8(66.7\%)$ Same $8(50.0\%)$ $5(55.6\%)$ $3(42.9\%)$ $2(50.0\%)$ $6(50.0\%)$ Decreased $6(37.5\%)$ $3(33.3\%)$ $2(42.9\%)$ $1(42.5\%)$ $4(33.3\%)$ Same $8(50.0\%)$ $3($	Satisfaction with the way their views were taken into account	80.6 (±16.6)	77.7 (±9.8)	84.7 (±23.7)	0.137	77.6 (±22.8)	81.8 (±14.4)	1.000
No2 (11.1%)-2 (28.6%)-2 (16.7%)Yes16 (88.9%)11 (100%)5 (71.4%)6 (100%)10 (83.3%)Parents whose psychological health is affected by the SMA0.0870.0871 (16.7%)5 (41.7%)No6 (33.3%)2 (18.2%)4 (57.1%)1 (16.7%)5 (41.7%)7 (58.3%)7 (58.3%)Parents who declared their child was treated $n = 16$ $n = 9$ $n = 7$ $n = 4$ $n = 12$ Observed change related to treatment: Yes16 (100%)9 (100%)7 (100%)4 (100%)12 (100%)Type of motor changes observed 0.771 0.771 0.771 0.881 0.881 Changes in level of concern about their child's health $1 (11.1%)$ 1 (14.3%) $ 2 (16.7%)$ Decreased $2 (12.5\%)$ $1 (11.1\%)$ $1 (14.3\%)$ $ 2 (16.7\%)$ 0.881 Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.881 0.881 0.200 0.600 0.333 Decreased $2 (12.5\%)$ $1 (11.1\%)$ $1 (14.3\%)$ $ 2 (16.7\%)$ 0.600 Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.881 0.620 $0.650.9\%$ $0.650.9\%$ $0.650.9\%$ $0.650.9\%$ $0.650.9\%$ Decreased $5 (31.3\%)$ $3 (33.3\%)$ $2 (28.6\%)$ $1 (25.0\%)$ $4 (33.3\%)$ $0.660.9\%$ Decreased $5 (31.3\%)$ $3 (33.3\%)$ $2 (28.6\%)$ $1 (25.0\%)$ $2 (16.7\%)$ $0.660.9\%$ Same $8 (50.0\%)$ $4 (44.4\%)$ $4 (57.1\%)$ <td>Satisfaction about their overall health</td> <td>67.3 (±20.8)</td> <td>63.1 (±14.6)</td> <td>74.0 (±28.0)</td> <td>0.291</td> <td>62.0 (±20.5)</td> <td>70.0 (±21.3)</td> <td>0.458</td>	Satisfaction about their overall health	67.3 (±20.8)	63.1 (±14.6)	74.0 (±28.0)	0.291	62.0 (±20.5)	70.0 (±21.3)	0.458
Yes16 (88.9)11 (100%)5 (71.4%)6 (100%)10 (83.3%)Parents whose psychological health is affected by the SMA0.0870.0870.0870.087No6 (33.3%)2 (18.2%)4 (57.1%)1 (16.7%)5 (41.7%)5 (41.7%)Yes12 (66.7%)9 (81.8%)3 (42.9%)5 (83.3%)7 (58.3%)7 (58.3%)Parents who declared their child was treated $n=16$ $n=9$ $n=7$ $n=4$ $n=12$ Observed change related to treatment: Yes16 (100%)9 (100%)7 (100%)4 (100%)12 (100%)Type of motor changes observed0.7710.7718%5 (71.4%)4 (100%)8 (66.7%)And/or New motor function acquisition12 (75.0%)7 (77.8%)5 (71.4%)4 (100%)8 (66.7%)Changes in level of concern about their child's health0.8810.881-2 (16.7%)0.650.0%)Decreased6 (37.5%)3 (33.3%)3 (42.9%)2 (50.0%)4 (33.3%)Changes in level of concern about their child's futur0.866-0.866Increased5 (31.3%)3 (33.3%)3 (42.9%)2 (50.0%)4 (33.3%)Same8 (50.0%)4 (44.4%)4 (57.1%)1 (25.0%)6 (50.0%)Decreased5 (31.3%)3 (33.3%)2 (28.6%)1 (25.0%)6 (50.0%)Same8 (50.0%)4 (44.4%)4 (57.1%)2 (50.0%)6 (50.0%)Decreased3 (18.8%)2 (22.2%)1 (14.3%)1 (25.0%)2 (16.7%)Satisfaction with the chan	Parents whose physical health is affected by the SMA				0.060			0.289
Parents whose psychological health is affected by the SMA 0.087 $1.16.7\%$ $5.(41.7\%)$ No $6.(33.3\%)$ $2.(18.2\%)$ $4.(57.1\%)$ $1.(16.7\%)$ $5.(41.7\%)$ Yes $12.(66.7\%)$ $9.(81.8\%)$ $3.(42.9\%)$ $5.(83.3\%)$ $7.(58.3\%)$ Parents who declared their child was treated $n = 16$ $n = 9$ $n = 7$ $n = 4$ $n = 12$ Observed change related to treatment: Yes $16.(100\%)$ $9.(100\%)$ $7.(100\%)$ $4.(100\%)$ $12.(100\%)$ Type of motr changes observed $16.(100\%)$ $9.(100\%)$ $7.(100\%)$ $4.(100\%)$ $8.(66.7\%)$ And/or New motor function acquisition $12.(75.0\%)$ $7.(77.8\%)$ $5.(71.4\%)$ $4.(100\%)$ $8.(66.7\%)$ Changes in level of concern about their child's health $0.(37.5\%)$ $5.(55.6\%)$ $3.(42.9\%)$ $2.(50.0\%)$ $6.(50.0\%)$ Changes in level of concern about their child's futur $0.(37.5\%)$ $3.(33.3\%)$ $3.(29.\%)$ $2.(50.0\%)$ $4.(33.3\%)$ Changes in level of concern about their child's futur $0.(37.5\%)$ $3.(33.3\%)$ $2.(28.6\%)$ $1.(25.0\%)$ $4.(33.3\%)$ $2.(28.6\%)$ $1.(25.0\%)$	No	2 (11.1%)	-	2 (28.6%)		-	2 (16.7%)	
No 6 (33.3%) 2 (18.2%) 4 (57.1%) 1 (16.7%) 5 (41.7%)Yes 12 (66.7%) 9 (81.8%) 3 (42.9%) 5 (83.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (88.3%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 3 (Yes	16 (88.9%)	11 (100%)	5 (71.4%)		6 (100%)	10 (83.3%)	
Yes12 (66.7%)9 (81.8%)3 (42.9%)5 (83.3%)7 (58.3%)Parents who declared their child was treated $n = 16$ $n = 9$ $n = 7$ $n = 4$ $n = 12$ Observed change related to treatment: Yes16 (100%)9 (100%)7 (100%)4 (100%)12 (100%)Type of motor changes observed 0.771 0.771 0.771 0.771 0.771 Motor function improvments16 (100%)9 (100%)7 (100%)4 (100%)12 (100%)And/or New motor function acquisition12 (75.0%)7 (77.8%)5 (71.4%)4 (100%)8 (66.7%)Changes in level of concern about their child's health 0.881 0.881 0.881 0.881 0.881 Increased2 (12.5%)1 (11.1%)1 (14.3%) $-$ 2 (16.7%) 0.8861 Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 0.866 0.866 Decreased6 (37.5%)3 (33.3%)3 (42.9%)2 (50.0%)4 (33.3%)Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 0.866 0.866 Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 0.866 0.866 Decreased5 (31.3%)3 (33.3%)2 (28.6%)1 (25.0%)4 (33.3%)Same8 (50.0%)4 (44.4%)4 (57.1%)2 (50.0%)6 (50.0%)Decreased3 (18.8%)2 (22.2%)1 (14.3%)1 (25.0%)2 (16.7%)Satifaction with the changes observed following treatment $7.7 (\pm 1.77)$ $7.3 (\pm 1.83)$ $7.4 (\pm 1.3$	Parents whose psychological health is affected by the SMA				0.087			0.289
Parents who declared their child was treated $n = 16$ $n = 9$ $n = 7$ $n = 4$ $n = 12$ Observed change related to treatment: Yes16 (100%)9 (100%)7 (100%)4 (100%)12 (100%)Type of motor changes observed 0.771 0.771 0.771 0.771 0.771 0.771 Motor function improvments16 (100%)9 (100%)7 (100%)4 (100%)12 (100%)And/or New motor function acquisition12 (75.0%)7 (77.8%)5 (71.4%)4 (100%)8 (66.7%)Changes in level of concern about their child's health 0.881 0.881 0.881 0.881 0.881 Increased2 (12.5%)1 (11.1%)1 (14.3%) $-$ 2 (16.7%) 0.600 Decreased6 (37.5%)3 (33.3%)3 (42.9%)2 (50.0%) 4 (33.3%)Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 0.866 0.866 Increased5 (31.3%)3 (33.3%)2 (28.6%)1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%)Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 $0.660.0\%$ 0.866 $0.660.0\%$ Increased5 (31.3%)3 (33.3%)2 (28.6%) $1 (25.0\%)$ $4 (33.3\%)$ Same8 (50.0%) $4 (44.4\%)$ $4 (57.1\%)$ 0.741 $74.3 (\pm 18.3)$ $70.8 (\pm 18.3)$ Decreased 0.0660 $0.666.0\%$ $1 (14.3\%)$ $1 (25.0\%)$ $2 (16.7\%)$ Satisfaction with the changes observed following treatment $71.7 (\pm 17.7)$ $70.3 (\pm 18.8)$ $0.666.0\%$ $0.666.0\%$	No	6 (33.3%)	2 (18.2%)	4 (57.1%)		1 (16.7%)	5 (41.7%)	
Observed change related to treatment: Yes 16 (100%) 9 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) Type of motor changes observed 0.771 0.771 0.771 0 Motor function improvments 16 (100%) 9 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) And/or New motor function acquisition 12 (75.0%) 7 (77.8%) 5 (71.4%) 4 (100%) 8 (66.7%) Changes in level of concern about their child's health 0.881 - 2 (16.7%) Increased 2 (12.5%) 1 (11.1%) 1 (14.3%) - 2 (16.7%) Same 8 (50.0%) 5 (55.6%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 4 (33.3%) Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 - 2 (16.7%) Increased 5 (31.3%) 3 (33.3%) 2 (28.6%) 1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%) Same 8 (50.0%) 4 (44.4%) 4 (57.1%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Satisfaction with the changes observed following treatment 71.7 (±17.7) 70.3 (±14.8) 7.34 (22.1) 0.741	Yes	12 (66.7%)	9 (81.8%)	3 (42.9%)		5 (83.3%)	7 (58.3%)	
Type of motor changes observed 0.771 0.771 0.771 Motor function improvments 16 (100%) 9 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) And/or New motor function acquisition 12 (75.0%) 7 (77.8%) 5 (71.4%) 4 (100%) 8 (66.7%) Changes in level of concern about their child's health 0.881 - 2 (16.7%) - 2 (16.7%) Same 8 (50.0%) 5 (55.6%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) - 0.666 Decreased 6 (37.5%) 3 (33.3%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 4 (33.3%) - 0.666 Same 8 (50.0%) 3 (33.3%) 2 (28.6%) 1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%) - - 0.660 - - - 0.660 - - - 0.660 - - - 0.660 - - - 0.660 - - - 0.660 - - - 0.660 - - - 0.660 - - - 0.660 - - - 0.660 - 0.660 - -	Parents who declared their child was treated	<i>n</i> = 16	<i>n</i> = 9	n = 7		<i>n</i> = 4	<i>n</i> = 12	
Motor function improvments 16 (100%) 9 (100%) 7 (100%) 4 (100%) 12 (100%) And/or New motor function acquisition 12 (75.0%) 7 (77.8%) 5 (71.4%) 4 (100%) 8 (66.7%) Changes in level of concern about their child's health 0.881 - 2 (16.7%) Same 8 (50.0%) 5 (55.6%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 6 (37.5%) 3 (33.3%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 4 (33.3%) Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 - 0.866 - 0.866 Increased 5 (31.3%) 3 (33.3%) 2 (28.6%) 1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%) - 0.866 Increased 5 (31.3%) 3 (33.3%) 2 (28.6%) 1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%) - 0.600 - - 0.600 - - 0.600 - 0.600 - - 0.600 - - 0.600 - - 0.600 - - 0.600 - - 0.600 - - 0.600 - - 0.600 - - 0.6	Observed change related to treatment: Yes	16 (100%)	9 (100%)	7 (100%)		4 (100%)	12 (100%)	
And/or New motor function acquisition 12 (75.0%) 7 (77.8%) 5 (71.4%) 4 (100%) 8 (66.7%) Changes in level of concern about their child's health 0.881 0.881 0.881 0.881 0.881 Increased 2 (12.5%) 1 (11.1%) 1 (14.3%) - 2 (16.7%) 0.881 0.888 0.888 0.888 0.886 0.888 0.888 0.888 0.888 0.888 0.988	Type of motor changes observed				0.771			0.182
Changes in level of concern about their child's health 0.881 0 Increased 2 (12.5%) 1 (11.1%) 1 (14.3%) - 2 (16.7%) Same 8 (50.0%) 5 (55.6%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 6 (37.5%) 3 (33.3%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 4 (33.3%) Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 0 0 0 Increased 5 (31.3%) 3 (33.3%) 2 (28.6%) 1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%) Same 8 (50.0%) 4 (44.4%) 4 (57.1%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Same 8 (50.0%) 4 (44.4%) 4 (57.1%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Same 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management 0.660 0.610 0.667 0.601 0.601 Increased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) 0.660 Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management 0.660 0.667% 4 (57.1%) 3 (75.0%) 7 (58.3%) 0.660 </td <td>Motor function improvments</td> <td>16 (100%)</td> <td>9 (100%)</td> <td>7 (100%)</td> <td></td> <td>4 (100%)</td> <td>12 (100%)</td> <td></td>	Motor function improvments	16 (100%)	9 (100%)	7 (100%)		4 (100%)	12 (100%)	
Increased 2 (12.5%) 1 (11.1%) 1 (14.3%) - 2 (16.7%) Same 8 (50.0%) 5 (55.6%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 6 (37.5%) 3 (33.3%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 4 (33.3%) Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 Increased 5 (31.3%) 3 (33.3%) 2 (28.6%) 1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%) Same 8 (50.0%) 4 (44.4%) 4 (57.1%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Satisfaction with the changes observed following treatment 71.7 (±17.7) 70.3 (±14.8) 70.4 (22.1) 0.741 74.3 (±18.3) 70.8 (±18.3) 0 Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management 0.660 0.660 Increased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Same 10 (62.5%) 6 (66.7%) 4 (57.1%) 3 (75.0%) 7 (58.3%)	And/or New motor function acquisition	12 (75.0%)	7 (77.8%)	5 (71.4%)		4 (100%)	8 (66.7%)	
Same 8 (50.0%) 5 (55.6%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 6 (37.5%) 3 (33.3%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 4 (33.3%) Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 (0 Increased 5 (31.3%) 3 (33.3%) 2 (28.6%) 1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%) Same 8 (50.0%) 4 (44.4%) 4 (57.1%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Satisfaction with the changes observed following treatment 71.7 (±17.7) 70.3 (±14.8) 73.4 (22.1) 0.741 74.3 (±18.3) 70.8 (±18.3) 0 Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management 0.660 (10 Increased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Same 10 (62.5%) 6 (66.7%) 4 (57.1%) 3 (75.0%) 7 (58.3%)	Changes in level of concern about their child's health				0.881			0.641
Decreased 6 (37.5%) 3 (33.3%) 3 (42.9%) 2 (50.0%) 4 (33.3%) Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 0.866 0.866 Increased 5 (31.3%) 3 (33.3%) 2 (28.6%) 1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%) Same 8 (50.0%) 4 (44.4%) 4 (57.1%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Satisfaction with the changes observed following treatment 71.7 (±17.7) 70.3 (±14.8) 73.4 (22.1) 0.741 74.3 (±18.3) 70.8 (±18.3) 0 Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management 10 (62.5%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Same 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) 0	Increased	2 (12.5%)	1 (11.1%)	1 (14.3%)		-	2 (16.7%)	
Changes in level of concern about their child's futur 0.866 0.866 0 Increased 5 (31.3%) 3 (33.3%) 2 (28.6%) 1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%) Same 8 (50.0%) 4 (44.4%) 4 (57.1%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Satisfaction with the changes observed following treatment 71.7 (±17.7) 70.3 (±14.8) 73.4 (22.1) 0.741 74.3 (±18.3) 70.8 (±18.3) 0 Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management 0.660 0.660 0 0 0 Increased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) 0 Same 10 (62.5%) 6 (66.7%) 4 (57.1%) 3 (75.0%) 7 (58.3%) 0	Same	8 (50.0%)	5 (55.6%)	3 (42.9%)		2 (50.0%)	6 (50.0%)	
Increased 5 (31.3%) 3 (33.3%) 2 (28.6%) 1 (25.0%) 4 (33.3%) Same 8 (50.0%) 4 (44.4%) 4 (57.1%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Satisfaction with the changes observed following treatment 71.7 (±17.7) 70.3 (±14.8) 73.4 (22.1) 0.741 74.3 (±18.3) 70.8 (±18.3) 0 Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management 0.660 Increased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Same 10 (62.5%) 6 (66.7%) 4 (57.1%) 3 (75.0%) 7 (58.3%)	Decreased	6 (37.5%)	3 (33.3%)	3 (42.9%)		2 (50.0%)	4 (33.3%)	
Same 8 (50.0%) 4 (44.4%) 4 (57.1%) 2 (50.0%) 6 (50.0%) Decreased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Satisfaction with the changes observed following treatment 71.7 (±17.7) 70.3 (±14.8) 73.4 (22.1) 0.741 74.3 (±18.3) 70.8 (±18.3) 0 Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management 0.660 0 Increased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Same 10 (62.5%) 6 (66.7%) 4 (57.1%) 3 (75.0%) 7 (58.3%)	Changes in level of concern about their child's futur				0.866			0.915
Decreased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Satisfaction with the changes observed following treatment 71.7 (±17.7) 70.3 (±14.8) 73.4 (22.1) 0.741 74.3 (±18.3) 70.8 (±18.3) 0 Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management 0.660 0 0 0 0 Increased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) 0 Same 10 (62.5%) 6 (66.7%) 4 (57.1%) 3 (75.0%) 7 (58.3%) 0	Increased	5 (31.3%)	3 (33.3%)	2 (28.6%)		1 (25.0%)	4 (33.3%)	
Satisfaction with the changes observed following treatment 71.7 (±17.7) 70.3 (±14.8) 73.4 (22.1) 0.741 74.3 (±18.3) 70.8 (±18.3) 60 Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management 0.660 0.660 0 Increased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Same 10 (62.5%) 6 (66.7%) 4 (57.1%) 3 (75.0%) 7 (58.3%)	Same	8 (50.0%)	4 (44.4%)	4 (57.1%)		2 (50.0%)	6 (50.0%)	
Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management 0.660 0 Increased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Same 10 (62.5%) 6 (66.7%) 4 (57.1%) 3 (75.0%) 7 (58.3%)	Decreased	3 (18.8%)	2 (22.2%)	1 (14.3%)		1 (25.0%)	2 (16.7%)	
Increased 3 (18.8%) 2 (22.2%) 1 (14.3%) 1 (25.0%) 2 (16.7%) Same 10 (62.5%) 6 (66.7%) 4 (57.1%) 3 (75.0%) 7 (58.3%)	Satisfaction with the changes observed following treatment	71.7 (±17.7)	70.3 (±14.8)	73.4 (22.1)	0.741	74.3 (±18.3)	70.8 (±18.3)	0.751
Same 10 (62.5%) 6 (66.7%) 4 (57.1%) 3 (75.0%) 7 (58.3%)	Changes in burden due to the SMA and its management				0.660			0.537
	Increased	3 (18.8%)	2 (22.2%)	1 (14.3%)		1 (25.0%)	2 (16.7%)	
Decreased $3(18.8\%) + 1(11.1\%) + 2(28.6\%) - 3(25.0\%)$	Same	10 (62.5%)	6 (66.7%)	4 (57.1%)		3 (75.0%)	7 (58.3%)	
5 (10.0 /u) 1 (11.1 /u) 2 (20.0 /u) - 5 (25.0 /u)	Decreased	3 (18.8%)	1 (11.1%)	2 (28.6%)		-	3 (25.0%)	

the "non-hesitant" group of parents presented mild depression (13.2 ± 4.3) as compared with the "hesitant" group of parents who presented no depression (4.4 ± 4.5) (p < 0.001); the group of parents of a "GT-treated" child also presented mild depression (15.0 ± 3.6) as compared with the group of parents of child treated with "other therapy", which presented no depression (7.2 ± 5.4) (p = 0.013).

With regard to anxiety, the parents presented a low level of trait (YB) and state (YA) anxiety on average (mean score Stai YB = 40.7 ± 9.7 and YA = 39.3 ± 8.8); 6/18 parents (33.3%) and 7/18 parents (38.9%) presented average trait and state anxiety scores respectively.

The sub-group analysis highlights that: the group of "non-hesitant" parents presents mild anxiety (average score $YB = 45.1 \pm 7.1$; $YA = 43.0 \pm 7.6$) compared to the group of "hesitant" parents who presents very low anxiety (mean score

YB = 33.7 ± 9.5 ; YA = 33.6 ± 7.9) (p < 0.05); the parents in the "GT-treated" group show mild anxiety (mean score YB = 45.5 ± 4.4 ; YA = 42.7 ± 4.2) as compared with parents in the "other therapy" group who had very low anxiety (mean score YB = 38.3 ± 10.8 ; YA = 37.7 ± 10.2). There is no significant difference between the 2 groups.

At the time of assessment, the parents did not show significant parental stress (average PSI-SF score = 82.9 ± 22.0). However, according to establish criteria of the scale, 11/18 parents (61.1%) did suffer from clinically significant levels of stress. The analysis by subgroup underscores that the "non-hesitant" parents presents a clinically significant level of parental stress (average PSI-SF score = 91.8 ± 17.9) unlike the "hesitant" group who does not present parental stress (score mean PSI-SF = 69.0 ± 21.7) (p = 0.027). The parents in the "GT-treated" group and the parents in the "other therapy"

All parents	Total <i>n</i> = 18	Non-hesitant $n = 11$	Hesitant $n = 7$	<i>p</i> -value	GT-treated $n = 6$	Other therapy $n = 12$	<i>p</i> -value
Depression (BDI-II)	9.8 (±6.1)	13.2 (±4.3)	4.4 (±4.5)	< 0.001	15.0 (±3.6)	7.2 (±5.4)	0.013
State anxiety (Stai-YA)	39.3 (±8.8)	43.0 (±7.6)	33.6 (±7.9)	0.022	42.7 (±4.2)	37.7 (±10.2)	0.270
Trait anxiety (Stai-YB)	40.7 (±9.7)	45.1 (±7.1)	33.7 (±9.5)	0.010	45.5 (±4.4)	38.3 (±10.8)	0.139
Parental stress (PSI-SF)	82.9 (±22.0)	91.8 (±17.9)	69.0 (±21.7)	0.027	83.7 (±18.1)	82.6 (±24.5)	0.925
Parental burnout (PBA)	26.7 (±19.0)	30.0 (±18.9)	21.6 (±19.4)	0.374	27.0 (±25.1)	26.6 (±16.4)	0.967
Sense of coherence (SOC-13)	57.8 (±12.5)	53.8 (±10.7)	64.1 (±13.4)	0.088	56.8 (±8.5)	58.3 (±14.5)	0.819
Dyadic adjustment (DAS-16)	114.4 (±21.8)	103.3 (±18.7)	127.2 (±18.5)	0.076	110.2 (±4.2)	117.2 (±28.2)	0.486
Negative impact of the disease on family life (FICD –)	27.4 (±6.3)	29.2 (±6.2)	24.7 (±5.9)	0.290	27.7 (±6.7)	27.3 (±6.4)	0.920
Positive impact of the disease on family life (FICD +)	33.2 (±4.8)	32.5 (±5.1)	34.3 (±4.3)	0.475	33.3 (±4.3)	33.2 (±5.2)	0.947

TABLE 3 Medium-term psychological effects on parents' lives (results are expressed as mean score ± standard deviation).

group did not show significant parental stress (mean PSI-SF score = 83.7 ± 18.1 and 82.6 ± 24.5 , respectively). There is no significant difference between the two subgroups.

As a group, the parents presented no particular risk of parental burnout (average PBA score = 26.7 ± 19.0). However, taken individually, 2/18 parents (11.1%) presented a low risk of parental burnout and 5 parents (27.8%) a moderate risk. The mean internal consistency score (SOC-13 score) was 57.8 ± 12.5 and overall, the parents showed a good level of dyadic adjustment within their relationship (mean DAS 16 score = 114.4 ± 21.8). The subgroup analysis for these 3 scales indicates that there are no significant differences between the different subgroups.

Finally, examination of the impact of disability on family life (FICD) reveals both a moderately negative impact (27.4 ± 6.3) and a strong positive impact (33.2 ± 4.8) . There was no significant difference between the different subgroups.

Qualitative data from semi-structured interviews

Thematic analysis of the interviews allowed us to define 5 themes within the "Therapeutic decision-making" node, some of which were further broken down into sub-themes.

Theme 1: Experience of the treatment proposal The doctor's ability to deliver complete and reasoned

information According to the parents, how the neuropediatrician proposed the therapeutic strategy seemed to be based on his experience with clinical trials and new therapies. The parents found that doctors made proposals in a measured way. Their manner of proposing treatment on the one hand hinted at the epistemic

uncertainty surrounding the innovative therapies, while also

conveying confidence in their acquired experience since the beginning of use of the new therapies: both in terms of effectiveness as well as with regard for the clinical state of the child.

"The therapeutic trial was explained to us fairly well; we knew very well that there was no miracle. It was clearly explained to us that it would not cure the disease, but that it would reduce its effects. That being said, we had no idea what we were getting in to and we also knew that there was a part of the trial that used placebo" (21)

"He explained to us that there was a new drug that had arrived which had been through a phase of tests and that with this drug, maybe he would live beyond two years, even up to 50 years, we didn't know. But he explained that there were not enough long-term results" (17)

"We talked about it a bit with the doctor. When he told us about the appointment that had been made for the gene therapy trial, we said to him "please give us your opinion, we'll take it!" He was quite courageous, because he said that if it was for his children, he would do it without hesitation, he would not ask questions. So, it reassured us from a medical point of view, to say to ourselves "We don't know anything about this, but if we look at this person who is very interested and informed, and seems very professional, he would do it!" (10)

"According to him, our son was not particularly ill, and it also did not seem to be a question of him not receiving treatment [...] Anyway, I think that if we had absolutely wanted him not to be treated, I don't think the doctor would have necessarily objected. But to him, our son was a really good candidate for innovative therapy" (13).

Doctors who convey incomplete information or false hopes

Conversely, some parents reported that when treatments were discussed at the time of diagnosis by doctors who they later perceived as less informed, the information was sometimes incomplete, and conveyed a prediction of the future or unreasonable hope.

"They were unable to tell us what we could expect with the therapy. At that time, she was already nine months old, so we said to ourselves: "we have three months left"" (11)

"The doctor told me about gene therapy and said, "we will be able to cure your son". And I asked him "what do you mean cure him? She replied: "Ma'am, he will be able to walk! ". That's the only thing I retained. But when we went to meet another doctor, at the expert center, it was a rude awakening. She examined him and told us that she did not think he was particularly affected and that she wasn't sure if the therapy would work on him, she was very honest and she gave us a few days to consider our options" (41)

The sense of urgency in decision-making

Given that the prognosis of the child was at stake, the parents' testimonies highlight the context of emergency in which the decision was made. The parents recounted that the doctor conveyed the need to treat the child as quickly as possible just after making the diagnosis.

"She told us that she was giving us a little over 24 h to think things over, because we had to act quickly. At that moment, my husband and I looked at each other and we said to ourselves: "It's not worth it, we are not going to wait 24 h. If there is something to try, we'll do it now..." (41)

"The doctor said: "But we really have to make up our minds because it's a race against time and you have to treat your son now, he can't wait any longer, we don't have time." (13)

Parental ideas about innovative therapies

At the time when the decision was made, the parents remember having had vague ideas about innovative therapies. Some parents understood that these treatments would not cure their child and that there was uncertainty about the expected effects. Others evoke the idea of a miracle or a cure that had been conveyed by certain professionals, social networks, and/ or the media. In addition, the parents who were offered gene therapy mentioned greater efficacy and a less restrictive mode of administration than the other alternatives. They also cite a potential risk of greater side effects, but this risk does not tip the balance on their final decision. "We knew that it was partly random, we didn't know why it worked better for some children than for others" (13)

"The doctors told us: "She will be able to walk". So, they ignited hopes that were unrealistic at the time" (60)

"I asked him, "What's the difference between Spinraza and Gene therapy?" Is there really a noticeable difference? "She said to me: "When it is introduced before symptoms, there is a real difference" And I also said to myself: "He won't have to have epidurals every four months in his spine", I found it less burdensome on a daily basis for our family, for our child." (44)

"At the time, I think we said to ourselves, it's a bit like a magic wand. And they're going to give us back our little girl, the one we had when she was born." (32)

"We had some fears: won't this have other effects that we have no idea about today? Because it goes in the blood, we do not know exactly what other risks might be associated with the treatment" (10)

Theme 2: Parental attitudes at the time of the decision

Accepting without hesitation to save the child's life at all costs

Among the 16 parents who received approval for an innovative therapy, 9 parents accepted that their child be treated unequivocally regardless of the proposed strategy.

"Spinraza had been on the market for about six months. So here it is! We didn't hesitate, we were told about it and we said: "Well, if there's already a treatment, we're not going to take the risk of doing nothing." (14)

"Since it was that or nothing, well we went for it" (21)

"We had understood that without innovative therapy, he would not make it to age 2 and that, maybe with this treatment, he would get better. He might never be able to walk, but maybe he could live. So, if there was something to try, it was logical that we would try it." (41)

"We said to ourselves, we are going to put all the odds in his favor. In any case, we had nothing to lose. We were told he was going to die before the age of 2" (17)

Hesitating before making a decision

Some parents (n = 7) hesitated between pursuing a treatment or pursuing end of life care due to the

uncertainty, the seriousness of the disease, and the fear of imposing a life of suffering on their child in the form of severe disability.

Several mention the risks of both options: (i) pursuing palliative care might also mean taking the (low) risk that the child will survive with a severe disability; (ii) accepting innovative therapy means accepting the risk that the treatment will not be effective, particularly if symptoms were already present. The parents highlight the dilemma they had to face between two solutions marked both by uncertainty.

Among the 7 hesitant parents, 2 parents had initially chosen to refuse the treatment proposal, then changed their minds after a second opinion from an expert center where they had been informed that their child suffered of a later and more slowly progressive form of SMA (1c) and that he would most certainly survive for years to come, even without innovative therapy.

"I said to myself: "Before doing anything, we will have to have very specific opinions on: What state is he currently in? What can we expect and what should we do? For my part, I wasn't ready to let him live at any cost" (44)

"My husband and I didn't really know what to do because at the time, it was not presented as a treatment. It was more palliative, more as support for a death without suffering, in fact. So, my husband and I took 48 h to respond, we didn't really know what to do." (17)

"We still ask ourselves the question, "is it this the life that I want or not? "We were still given the possibility of doing nothing and accompanying him towards his end.... with a small risk that he will in fact live, with a huge handicap and without being able to do anything. We ask ourselves all of these questions because having a disability is not the life we had wanted for us, nor for him" (9)

"In the beginning we were told that this little girl, she was going to live less than a year that she was surely going to have a tracheostomy, a gastrostomy that her heart was in danger of stopping. And we said to ourselves: "Okay, but we aren't going to impose additional treatment on her" [...]. We said to ourselves "this is still a very important question for us, so we need a second opinion." And in fact, when we saw the doctor, he told us: "Of course she needs to be treated [....] in my opinion, without treatment she can live until the age of three". And we said to ourselves "there are actually children like her, adults like her and maybe, even with this disease, she will be able to have her own child. In the end, we suddenly fell in love with the idea of her destiny and that really made the decision for us" (11)

Theme 3: Whose decision is it?

A shared decision between parents and doctors The majority of parents feel that they took part in the decision

thanks to a trusting relationship with the medical teams.

"In general, I think that the, well, I think we can talk a little about collaboration between the medical team and ourselves because, yeah, we are involved, and they are involved as well. She is really very, very good, we are really...Well, we realize how lucky we are to have this doctor and this whole medical team" (13).

Parental responsibility for the decision

For 5 parents, the decision was a radical choice between the life and death of their child. Faced with such a dilemma, parents reacted in a variety of ways: 1 couple chose to delegate their decision to the doctor, as they found it to be an impossible responsibility, another couple shifted the decision-making to their child, somehow entrusting him with the responsibility to choose whether he wanted to live or not, and finally, 1 parent took on the responsibility to make the decision with his partner, but not without guilt.

"It did not seem to us to be our role as parents to have to make a choice, to say he must have this therapy, or he must have this other therapy. So, for us it was clear. And for the doctor it was also clear that ultimately he would be the one to make the decision" (12)

"We agreed that we didn't want to choose between life and death because it's not up to us to choose, it would be up to him. And despite his young age, I think children if they want to live, they live, if they don't want to live, they don't live. We said to ourselves, we're going to put the odds on his side." (17)

"There are very few cases in life where you are responsible for the life or death of your child. We, however, gave birth to a child with a fatal illness. So already, there was an extra weight on us. And afterwards, we said to ourselves: "Are we forcing him to live? And at what cost? "but it's still us who have to decide. So twice in a row, we said to him: "We gave you this life, we will make you survive" (44)

A feeling of dispossession, an imposed decision

In our study, 3 parents felt that the decision had been imposed upon them either because the choice of therapy was made by the MCM without taking into account the parents' viewpoint, or because they had not received approval for their child to receive an innovative therapy. When palliative care is proposed but the parents prefer their child to be treated, it feels like a door slammed shut. These parents believe that the decision was imposed upon them, and they experience it as a theft of their parental authority.

"She explained to us that in any case, it is not us who decide on the therapy she will be able to have. It is a group of doctors who decide after analyzing [...] We understood that it was really the doctor who decides because it was ultimately a medical decision" (32)

"Clearly, we were advised against it, we were not told: "You can try", we were told: "No. Don't do it" right?" (3)

"Uh, he didn't advise us at all. In actual fact, we were not given a choice. We were told, "Gene therapy, don't count on it. And Spinraza, we submitted an application and in committee, it wasn't accepted because he was too ill" (4)

Theme 4: Seeking information and support from the medical teams

The internet and patient associations

After the diagnosis and treatment proposal, one of the main sources parents report finding information is the Internet. They report feeling a need to learn about the disease and new therapies on French and international websites. They also hope to find other more detailed information or testimonials from other parents. Several parents consulted patient association sites or were referred to them by their doctor to find out about the disease, or to seek support when palliative care was being considered. In this specific case, contact with a patient association allowed a parent to develop his ideas about palliative care thanks to a conversation with a parent who had been through it with his child. It also allowed some parents who had initially been offered palliative care to seek a second opinion at an expert center.

"We looked for a lot of information on the internet: what is this treatment? What is gene therapy? There was a study in the United States two or three years ago, on 12 children. So, we were looking for all the documents which we were then trying to translate. Our life revolved entirely around that" (9)

"I had a conversation on the phone with someone who told me about the death of his child... so I asked him a lot of questions about the circumstances of his death, and it did me a lot of good. It was interesting because we needed to hear from other parents who had been through a similar experience" (11)

"We said to ourselves, we are going to meet parents who this has happened to, we'll discuss their experience in order to have some moral support for being with our child in endof-life care. It was my wife who contacted the association, the woman asked her questions about our son's health and right away, she suggested a second opinion. On my end, I didn't necessarily believe it was worth it and that's when my wife was put in touch with another mother who put us in touch with her neuropediatrician" (9)

Support from the medical teams

Overall, the majority of parents who were offered innovative therapy said they felt supported by the medical teams throughout the decision-making process. They describe professionals with a sense of humanity who were available and committed to them. Nevertheless, one parent highlighted the difficulty of interpreting the quantity of information given to them at the time of diagnosis. In contrast, the couple who was initially offered palliative care evoked the lack of support from the medical team when they challenged their decision and obtained treatment in another center.

"When we made our decision, it was also about the support from the team. We knew we would have the answers to our questions that we were really given all the information we needed. But it was up to us to interpret and understand the information how we wanted to understand it... I'm not saying that the support was the best" (17)

"They never had the same perspective as we did. We were in action mode while they were in end-of-life mode. And when our son was not doing well, even then, they, they would say, "well, we told you so. You shouldn't have expected anything else! Since his pediatrician didn't believe in the treatment, well suddenly everything she said was pushing in that direction." (3)

Theme 5: The experience of decision-making in the medium term

Satisfaction with the observed effects

The majority of parents describe themselves as satisfied with the progress they have observed in their child following treatment. This satisfaction is essentially linked to their child's motor progress and improvement in respiratory function. Note that their satisfaction is not related to the child's autonomy. The fact that the child was able to survive is deemed a miracle by some parents and a source of hope despite the child's severe disability. On the other hand, five parents describe mixed satisfaction with the treatment: because the child encountered medical problems following its implementation, because the child's progress is not up to the standard of parental expectations, or because signs of the disease appeared unexpectedly to the parents.

"It's been three weeks since we started a new treatment and we still have the impression that he talks a bit, well he babbles a lot more than before. He's starting to be able to turn from his back on both sides and come back on his own. He's been in really great shape since December and that's been really good for us." (13)

"Right now I have a four-year-old girl, not one with spinal muscular atrophy, but a four-year-old girl with a motor delay" (14)

"She is 5 and a half years old, it's a miracle. It's awesome. It is indescribable. Finally, I'm actually happy" (22)

"So, he can't hold his head up, he can't stay seated or anything at all really, but hey, well, we can still see that the treatment is working and that something is happening. So, we're being patient and we're telling ourselves that over time it will happen" (3)

"He can sit up, but we can't leave him sitting alone, because we're still afraid that he will fall. So, it's more of a type 1, but we still have the life of parents who have a young type 2. So, we say to ourselves: "At the moment, it is how it is, even if it doesn't evolve positively, it won't evolve negatively." (44)

"There are things that are going well and there are things that can't be controlled. And scoliosis is one of the things that's described, especially when the treatment comes a little later on" (10)

A decision that doesn't go away

In retrospect, parents perceive the diagnosis as confronting them with the helplessness and uncertainty of a future marked for premature death or severe disability, their discourse evokes decision-making as the only way of taking action. That being said, parents report that when making the decision, they did not understand all of the issues relating to their child's illness and its treatment.

At the time the decision had to be made, it was impossible for the parents to imagine what the future of their child might be or the impact of the disease on their daily and family life in the short and medium term. It was also impossible for them to envisage how end of life care for their child would be.

According to the parents, it is not as if the decision is final, but rather a decision that continues to be relevant and which they will reexamine at different times throughout the course of care or the development of the child. This is particularly true when the child's health is worrying and the risk that he or she suffers from a severe disability is confirmed.

In these moments, the parents wonder if the decision to support their child in palliative care would not have been

better and 4 parents mention their fear that their child will 1 day blame them for the choice that they have made on their behalf.

"Very quickly we were told: "You have the opportunity to do something!". And then the first day, it's like a huge void. But we reacted fast because we knew that we had to act quickly in order to succeed in getting the most decent life possible for him, so we moved to action quite quickly."(9)

"At the time I had not realized the impact on respiratory function. When I was told muscle, I didn't think of that. And swallowing was ultimately much more significant than the impact on motor muscles. So, it's true that at the time, I didn't understand what it was going to produce in terms of breathing and swallowing and that's our son's main issue." (13)

"I told them, "Listen! I can survive the death of my child". But then, witnessing the end of his life, I really don't know how it will happen, I don't know if I will be able to do it. And I told them, "Listen! If it doesn't go well, I'll smother him under a pillow" (44)

"I hadn't understood what it would entail: this amount of care, of time throughout the day.... or anything really. I didn't realize, what it was going to mean in my life, you know?" (22)

"It's true that seeing your child suffer, being unwell, to have the impression that it's something chronic and that it's improving, and then they relapse. At certain times we ask ourselves: "were all these efforts really necessary and is treatment necessarily the best solution? "Then again, we also don't have the impression that it is relentless or overly aggressive" (12)

"It happens less and less, but there are still times when I say to myself: "Oh my God! I would rather he was dead, you know?" Well, even now [...] I think it'll only be when he's an adult and he can say to me: "Wow, Mom! It was so worth it" that I will could think to myself, "We made the right decision." (44)

Discussion

This is the first study in France to examine how parents of children with SMA type 1 experience the decision-making process around innovative therapy for their child. The participants in our study were mainly mothers, which is consistent with participation rates found in the literature (24). The average age of parents in our study is slightly higher than the average age reported in the only other study providing information on the age of parents of children with type 1 SMA (25). Most parents in our sample were married and reported a good level of marital satisfaction. We believe that the young age of their children and the hope that a treatment offer provides may have a protective effect on the couple, an effect which remains to be demonstrated over the long term.

Parents describe a high degree of satisfaction with the effects observed in their child following the start of treatment as is consistent with caregivers' evaluations found in the literature. According to Audic et al., parents seem to be overly optimistic; this over-optimism may reflect the considerable hopes invested in these new therapies (8). Despite this, when asked if the burden related to the disease and the care of their child had decreased since starting treatment, results show that it only decreases for a minority of parents. In our study, we did not measure parental responsibility quantitatively as we felt there were no relevant tools to do so. Brand et al. point out that studies based on quantitative methodologies report an average to moderate burden (24, 26-29) in parents of children with SMA. However, these studies used the Zarit scale or the Caregiver Strain index, scales initially developed to assess the burden of caregivers of patients with dementia and/or the elderly and which have not been validated in a population of parents of children with degenerative diseases (30, 31). In addition, we believe that the many cares related to their child's disease carried out by the parents of our study might be perceived as expected for the care of any young child whose autonomy is limited, and therefore not perceived as a burden. In addition, a large proportion of the parents in our study were primiparous parents who could not have representations of what constitutes parenthood of a diseasefree child.

The parents' satisfaction with the observed treatment effects also contrasts with their concerns with the future and health of their child. Concerns decreased for only 33.3% and 16.7% of parents after starting treatment. Indeed, despite the availability of innovative therapies, which change the course of the disease, a cure is still not possible (24). Uncertainty regarding the long-term efficacy of treatments raises ethical, medical, and financial questions for families (24). Accordingly, parental concerns are reported in the literature regarding the cost of innovative therapies, side effects and complications that therapies could induce (32, 33). These concerns also relate to the alteration in the quality of life of the child and their psychological distress linked to becoming aware of their difference and disability (32, 33).

The rate of depressed parents (33%) was found to be similar to that reported in the literature (34), but the level of depression in our cohort was mild to moderate, whereas Cremers et al. observed a high level of depression (34). On average, the low trait and state anxiety of our cohort contrasts with the high level of anxiety described in the literature among mothers (34). Note that the tool used by Cremers et al. to measure maternal depression and anxiety (HADS) is not the same as the one we used, limiting its comparability (34). Furthermore, the parents in the "hesitant" group are significantly less depressed (p < 0.001) and less anxious (p = 0.022) than those who were "not hesitant", independently of their satisfaction with their child's progress after starting treatment. In our study, we attempted to determine the psychological states of the parents quantitatively using the BDI-2 and STAI scales. However, our qualitative approach leads us to believe that these scales cannot fully capture the very complex feelings parents report. Even though the interviews show similarities in themes, the experience reported by each parent was unique. The decision-making process seems to be very intimate and shaped by the personal history of each of the parents, which seems to be brought to the fore when confronted with such an extraordinary defy of parenting imposed on them by the disease. It seems important for us to point out that the majority of parents had never met with a psychologist and that this research was for many the first opportunity to recount their experiences at their own pace to someone with deep respect for their experiences. The psychologist who conducted the interviews (SB) perceived an intensely traumatic sentiment among the parents' accounts, particularly regarding the experience of misdiagnosis and then receiving a diagnosis, illustrating the intensity of what they have experienced on a psychological level. In addition, the psychologist herself experienced intense countertransferential feelings during the interviews, such as shock, blankness of thought, avoidance behaviours such as thinking about something else, and a feeling of helplessness. As the interviews progressed, she also described several somatic manifestations (fatigue, a feeling of physical overload), difficulties in getting back into the analysis of the interviews and a need to take care of herself. We believe that these manifestations are part of vicarious trauma, a term proposed by Laurie Pearlman and Karen Saatvine in the 1990s to describe the traumatic experiences of therapists working with survivors (35). It is now described in the therapeutical relationship, when the stories of patients have a traumatic effect on the therapist due to their repetition, which is associated with significant personal changes as a result of empathic engagement with the patient (35).

Furthermore, we might ask ourselves if the ambivalence at the time of the decision and the subsequent anticipation felt by some parents when presented with a treatment proposal may be protective. This could be pertinent for neuropediatricians who may perceive parental hesitation as an obstacle to decision-making. In reality, this first period of uncertainty could be considered necessary in order to integrate the complexity of their experience and begin the mental work needed throughout the evolution of the disease. Similarly, in the context of neonatology, it has been shown that parents who could anticipate difficulties during their pregnancy were better prepared to face them when the child had to stay in neonatology (36). It should also be noted that the parents of children who received gene therapy presented a significantly higher level of depression than those who received another therapy. This leads us to wonder if the proposal of gene therapy may induce an idealized vision of the treatment's effects or excessive hope of a cure, leading then to depressed mood when the parents are confronted with the current reality and forced to let go of that hope.

More than half of the parents reported high parental stress and more than a third of parents were at a low to moderate risk of developing parental burnout. The parental stress score is higher than that observed in the literature in parents of children and adolescents suffering from various neuromuscular diseases including SMA (37%, measured with the Parental Stress Scale) (37). According to Von Gontard et al. families of children with SMA, show high levels of stress compared to matched controls. The author points out that these levels of stress seem to be influenced by social support, the child's behavior, and the degree of disability (38). However, the use of different tools to measure parental stress makes the results difficult to compare and to our knowledge, no other studies have looked at parental burnout in parents of children with SMA. Furthermore, the "hesitant" group of parents did not present clinically significant levels of parental stress compared to the "non-hesitant" group. On the other hand, the parents of the "hesitant" group were not first-time parents. It is possible that having other healthy children may play a protective role in dealing with a new child's disease.

In our study, we adopted a salutogenic approach by focusing on the feeling of internal coherence: an important factor in psychological adjustment to stressful situations (39). The literature emphasizes that a high SOC score indicates better resistance to stress (39). The mean SOC score of parents in our study is lower than the mean score reported in a study that compared SOC in n = 368 parents of children with intellectual disability and/or autism and n = 387 parents of normal children (40). The literature points out that a weak sense of internal coherence is more strongly associated with the risk of parental overload, depression, and anxiety (39, 40), which does not seem to be the case in our research. However, the absence of norms to describe the SOC means we are not able to interpret its value in our population. Additional analysis to investigate the link between SOC scores and those of depression, anxiety, and parenting stress would allow us to see if the parents with the lowest SOC scores are also those with the highest depression, parental anxiety, and stress scores.

The fact that parents report a more positive than negative impact of the disease on family life, leads us to believe that the parents who agreed to participate in our study had a positive and combative attitude towards the disease. These results can therefore not be generalized to all parents, constituting a bias in our study.

The interview analysis reveals 3 determinants in the treatment decision-making process of parents of children with type 1. (i) Giving your child every chance: the literature on parents' expectations of the first approved therapy, Nusinersen, emphasizes that the majority of parents hoped that the treatment would modify the course of the disease, prolong the life of the child, improve their quality of life and allow the child to take charge of their illness and live with the most autonomy possible (24, 32, 33, 41); (ii) Trust in the prescribing physician. Kiefer et al. emphasize that the relationship with the medical team is the most important factor influencing parents' final decision. The author specifies that to feel supported, parents need to receive sufficient information delivered in a neutral fashion with regard to the parent's decision by a doctor with expertise in the innovative therapies (33). Two parents in our study had initially chosen not to treat their child but changed their minds after seeking a second opinion from an expert center doctor who told them their child would not die. (iii) Save the child's life and/or avoid being confronted with palliative care, the notion of saving the child's life is never addressed in studies that have focused on therapeutic decision-making. In contrast, in their study on parental decision-making around the use of invasive ventilation in children with type 1 SMA in a palliative care setting, Pechman et al. point out that ventilation was the only possibility for parents to influence and prolong the life of their child (42, 43).

In our research it appears that retrospectively, parents believe they have been involved in medical decisions about their child. This finding is consistent with the work of Beenaert et al., which emphasizes that health professionals do not make decisions without informing parents (44). However, much like in our study in which several parents report having vague information, the author states that nearly 1/3 of the parents felt insufficiently informed about SMA and its treatments. Pechman et al. also point out that the parents of children with type 1 SMA diagnosed before new therapies, had not received sufficient information to understand all the issues surrounding the disease and palliative care at diagnosis. The authors emphasize that the traumatic context of the diagnosis and its repercussions are not conducive to understanding all the information. In addition, parents reported that doctors provided abstract and prosaic information that contrasted with the emotional intensity of their situation and led parents to seek further information from parent associations, social media, and the Internet (43). In contrast to these observations, a recent study conducted among parents who had received a neonatal diagnosis of SMA for their child reports that the advice given by the doctor had an impact on their decision for 83.3% of the participating parents and that it constituted the main influence over information from other health professionals, social networks,

family and friends (45). In 2020, experts came to a consensus concerning the use of gene therapy in severe cases. They agreed that gene therapy could stabilize the disease without necessarily reducing disability or the child's quality of life (46). Following this publication, Gusset et al. were concerned that such a statement would leave little room for joint decision-making with families, would be misinterpreted by less experienced clinicians, would bias families' perspectives, and disrupt their decision-making process (47). The authors insisted on the need for the families concerned to be in contact with patient associations to develop realistic ideas about the life of a person and family with SMA and take part in medical decisions (47). In response to Gusset et al., Kirschner et al. highlight the need for parents not to be influenced in one way or the other. They emphasize the importance of explaining the wide range of outcomes associated with this therapy to parents, mainly because the public image is often idealized and seen as a cure, as in healing completely from SMA (46, 48). It should be noted that in our study, two parents stated that their child had not benefited from an innovative therapy when they had received gene therapy. When asked to elaborate on their response, the parents said that a treatment that did not cure the disease could not be considered as a treatment.

This surprising finding deserves more consideration with regard to families in long-term care as it is likely that the evolution of the disease will impose technical adaptations and a loss of function that the treatment will not be able to curb. Some parents may later feel disappointed and disillusioned with treatment and may consequently be reluctant to accept the prescribed medical recommendations to manage the child's disability. The innovative character of new therapies, in particular that of gene therapy, could be seen as a pharmakon (a philosophical idea denoting remedy, poison, and scapegoat). On the remedy side, it conveys hopes of healing, while on the poison side it induces fears about long-term side effects.

Retrospectively, several parents in our study reported that they had not understood all the issues around treatment when the decision was made and had constructed idealized representations based on what the doctor told them, information found on the Internet and/or transmitted by the associations, as well as their desire to save their child. We also noted that the families seem to have a perception of a hierarchy of innovative therapies leading them to prefer gene therapy as it seems to them more effective and less restrictive than other therapies despite the lack of long-term data on their safety and efficacy. Deng et al. (45) report similar findings about the criteria influencing therapeutic choice for parents of children who have undergone neonatal screening.

Our research has several limitations. First, like with most research on rare diseases, the size of our sample does not allow us to generalize these results to all parents of children with SMA type 1. Second, our study may be subject to selection bias, as the parent volunteers were mainly recruited from specialized consultations by family neuropediatricians and patient associations with close ties with the families.

Conclusion

While the availability of innovative therapies is radically changing the management of SMA and the lives of families, the uncertainty of how well innovative therapies are tolerated over the long-term forces parents and medical teams to face particular dilemmas. In the absence of more reliable data and neonatal screening to initiate pre-symptomatic treatment, parents are faced with an impossible decision between the early death of their child and the risk that treatment will not allow their child to live independently.

The therapeutic decision appears to not remain in the past but instead reappears as the disease and its care progress. When observing their child's progress, the parents feel reassured. Conversely, when disability worsens or no progress is made, parents may wonder if they have made the right decision for their child.

The urgent context in which this decision takes place, just after the announcement of the diagnosis, highlights the importance of frank and open discussions with the doctor to provide comprehensive information and answer the questions that parents may have during the treatment proposal. Moreover, the urgent nature of this decision should spur medical teams to systematically propose a meeting with a psychologist with expertise in SMA whenever possible and at a minimum, after the moment of decision-making. In our opinion, this is an essential part of helping parents prepare for the sequence of decisions that will have to be made as treatment and the child's development progresses as well as for forging an alliance of trust between families and the medical team.

Data availability statement

The raw quantitative data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation. In compliance with the General Data Protection Regulation and to preserve the confidentiality of study participants, the raw qualitative data can't be shared.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Name: Comité d'éthique et de la recherche APHP.5 (CER APHP.5). Affiliation: Assistance Publique Hôpitaux de Paris. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Name of the SMAPAR Study Group

Karin Alvarez, Marco Araneda, Christine Barnerias, Audrey Benezit, Marie Bougeard, Nadia Blu Genestine, Odile Boesflug-Tanguy, Sophie Boursange, Ruxandra Cardas, Caudia Castiglioni, Jean-Baptiste Davion, Nayla Debs, Isabelle Desguerre, Silvana De Lucia, Elodie Deladrière, Emmanuelle Fleurence, Virginie Germa, Marta Gomez Garcia de La Banda, Marcela Gargiulo, Ariane Herson, Marie Hully, Arnaud Isapof, Javiera Jofré, Emmanuelle Lagrue, Laetitia Laïch, Julie Lejeune, Maripaz Martínez Jalilie, Marie-Christine Nougues, Laetitia Ouillade, Yann Péréon, Sarah Poncet, Claudia Ravelli, Susana Quijano-Roy, François Rivier, Marie Sarremejeanne, Caroline Stalens, Andrea Seferian, Bernadita Suarez, Caroline Wenzel and Denisa Zvarova.

Author note

At the request of the publisher PAR we specify that : "An unauthorized version of the French PSI/SF was used by the study team without permission. The PSI/SF is a copyrighted instrument and may not be used or reproduced in whole or in part, in any form or language, or by any means without written permission of PAR." We got a retroactive permission for administration of this version.

Author contributions

MG, SB, MA, ID, OB, MN, AI, SQ, CC, MJ were responsible for the study conceptualization and design. SB, MG, MA, MN, SQ, CC were involved in the specific self-questionnaire conceptualization. LO and NB were involved to validate the research process and the qualitative and quantitative tools. MG and SB were responsible for obtaining funding and ethical committee authorizations. SB was responsible for creating the e-CRF in REDCAP, enrolling parents, collecting and managing data, and ensuring the conduct of the study. She had full access to all the data in the study and took responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the analysis. SB, MA, and MG were responsible for the analysis and interpretation of data as well as drafting/revising the manuscript and its intellectual content. CS was responsible for performing statistical analysis of quantitative data and revising the manuscript. ID, CB, OT, AI, MN, LO, NB were

responsible for the recruitment of parents. ID, OT, CS, SQ, CC were responsible for revising the manuscript. SMAPAR study group took part in the recruitment of parents. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was financed by the University of Paris-Cité (Doctoral contract), French Rare Diseases Foundation (FMR, grant N° SHS7-U20191102 and received financial support from the French affiliate of Roche Pharmaceutical Company.

Acknowledgments

This study could not have been completed without the families' participation, and we want to acknowledge them for that, especially in the context of this severe disorder. We wish to acknowledge ECLAS association and regional services of the AFM-Telethon who are involved in supporting families and helped us to let people know about our research. We want to acknowledge the parents who helped us to validate the research process and the qualitative and quantitative tools and Sarah Boster who helped us with the translation of the article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fped. 2022.1062390/full#supplementary-material.

References

1. Lunn MR, Wang CH. Spinal muscular atrophy. Lancet. (2008) 371:2120–33. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60921-6

2. D'Amico A, Mercuri E, Tiziano FD, Bertini E. Spinal muscular atrophy. Orphanet J Rare Dis. (2011) 6:71. doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-6-71

3. Urtizberea JA, Daidj F, le réseau Filnemus A. SMA in France, how many patients? *Med Sci.* (2018) 34:32-4. doi: 10.1051/medsci/201834s209

4. Farrar MA, Carey KA, Paguinto SG, Chambers G, Kasparian NA. Financial, opportunity and psychosocial costs of spinal muscular atrophy: an exploratory qualitative analysis of Australian carer perspectives. *BMJ Open.* (2018) 8:5. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020907

5. Hully M, Barnerias C, Chabalier D, Le Guen S, Germa V, Deladriere E, et al. Palliative care in SMA type 1: a prospective multicenter French study based on parents' reports. *Front Pediatr.* (2020) 8:4. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.00004

6. Rouzier C, Chaussenot A, Paquis-Flucklinger V. Molecular diagnosis and genetic counseling for spinal muscular atrophy (SMA). *Arch Pediatr.* (2020) 27 (75):7S9–14. doi: 10.1016/S0929-693X(20)30270-0

7. Ramdas S, Servais L. New treatments in spinal muscular atrophy: an overview of currently available data. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. (2020) 21(3):307–15. doi: 10.1080/14656566.2019.1704732

8. Audic F, de la Banda MGG, Bernoux D, Ramirez-Garcia P, Durigneux J, Barnerias C, et al. Effects of nusinersen after one year of treatment in 123 children with SMA type 1 or 2: a French real-life observational study. *Orphanet J Rare Dis.* (2020) 15(1):148. doi: 10.1186/s13023-020-01414-8

9. Schorling DC, Pechmann A, Kirschner J. Advances in treatment of spinal muscular atrophy—new phenotypes, new challenges, new implications for care. *J Neuromuscul Dis.* (2020) 7(1):1–13. doi: 10.3233/JND-190424

10. Messina S. New directions for SMA therapy. J Clin Med. (2018) 7(9):251. doi: 10.3390/jcm7090251

11. Arendt H. Condition de l'homme moderne. Paris: Calmann-Lévy (1961). 311.

12. Haute Autorité de santé (HAS). Protocole National de Diagnostic et de Soins (PNDS) Amyotrophie spinale (2021) p. 107. Available at: https://www.has-sante. fr/jcms/p_3245042/fr/amyotrophie-spinale-infantile (Accessed March 25, 2021).

13. Bonnichon D, Bénézit A. Nouvelles thérapeutiques dans le champ des maladies neuromusculaires: quels enjeux? In: S Missonnier, M Gargiulo, editors. *Handicap et génétique*. Toulouse: Érès (2020). p. 157–73. doi: 10.3917/eres.gargi. 2020.01.0157

14. Guével M, Pommier J. Recherche par les méthodes mixtes en santé publique: enjeux et illustration. Santé Publique. (2012) 24:23–38. doi: 10.3917/spub.121.0023

15. Beck AT, Steer RA, Brown GK. *Manual for the beck depression inventory second edition (BDI-II)*. San Antonio: Psychological Corp (1996). doi: 10.1037/t00742-000

16. Spielberger CD. Manual for the state trait anxiety inventory. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press (1983). doi: 10.1037/t06496-000

17. Bruchon-Scweitzer M, Paulhan I. Manuel du STAI forme Y, adaptation française. Paris: ECPA (1993).

18. Abidin RR. Parenting stress index professional manual. 3rd ed. Lutz: Psychological Assessment Resources (1995).

19. Antonovsky A. Personality and health: testing the sense of coherence model. In: A Antonovsky, S Friedman, editors. *Personality and disease howard*. New York: John Wiley and Sons (1990). p. 155–77.

20. Roskam I, Brianda ME, Mikolajczak M. A step forward in the conceptualization and measurement of parental burnout: the parental burnout assessment (PBA). *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:758. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00758

21. Antoine P, Christophe V, Nandrino J-L. Échelle d'ajustement dyadique: intérêts cliniques d'une révision et validation d'une version abrégée. *L'Encéphale.* (2008) 34(1):38–46. doi: 10.1016/j.encep.2006.12.005

22. Trute B, Hiebert-Murphy D, Levine K. Parental appraisal of the family impact of childhood developmental disability: times of sadness and times of joy. *J Intellect Dev Disabil.* (2007) 32(1):1–9. doi: 10.1080/13668250601146753

23. Trute B, Benzies KM, Worthington C, Reddon JR, Moore M. Accentuate the positive to mitigate the negative: mother psychological coping resources and family adjustment in childhood disability. *J Intellect Dev Disabil.* (2010) 35 (1):36–43. doi: 10.3109/13668250903496328

24. Brandt M, Johannsen L, Inhestern L, Bergelt C. Parents as informal caregivers of children and adolescents with spinal muscular atrophy: a systematic review of quantitative and qualitative data on the psychosocial

situation, caregiver burden, and family needs. Orphanet J Rare Dis. (2022) 17 (1):274. doi: 10.1186/s13023-022-02407-5

25. Murrell DV, Crawford CA, Jackson CT, Lotze TE, Wiemann CM. Identifying opportunities to provide family-centered care for families with children with type 1 spinal muscular atrophy. *J Pediatr Nurs.* (2018) 43:111–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2018.09.007

26. Aranda-Reneo I, Pena-Longobardo LM, Oliva-Moreno J, Litzkendorf S, Durand-Zaleski I, Tizzano EF, et al. The burden of spinal muscular atrophy on informal caregivers. *Int J Environl Res Pub Health*. (2020) 17(23):8989. doi: 10. 3390/ijerph17238989

27. López-Bastida J, Peña-Longobardo LM, Aranda-Reneo I, Tizzano E, Sefton M, Oliva-Moreno J. Social/economic costs and health-related quality of life in patients with spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) in Spain. *Orphanet J Rare Dis.* (2017) 12(1):141. doi: 10.1186/s13023-017-0695-0

28. Peña-Longobardo LM, Aranda-Reneo I, Oliva-Moreno J, Litzkendorf S, Durand-Zaleski I, Tizzano E, et al. The economic impact and health-related quality of life of spinal muscular atrophy. An analysis across Europe. *Int J Environ Res Pub Health.* (2020) 17(16):5640. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17165640

29. Acar AE, Saygi EK, Imamoglu S, Ozturk G, Unver O, Ergenekon P, et al. The burden of primary caregivers of spinal muscular atrophy patients and their needs. *Turkish Archives of Pediatrics*. (2021) 56(4):366673. doi: 10.5152/TurkArchPediatr.2021.20117

30. Zarit SH, Reever KE, Bach-Peterson J. Relatives of the impaired elderly: correlates of feelings of burden. *Gerontologist.* (1980) 20:649655. doi: 10.1093/geront/20.6.649

31. Robinson PhD BC. Validation of a caregiver strain index. J Gerontol. (1983) 38(3):344-8. doi: 10.1093/geronj/38.3.34

32. Farrar MA, Carey KA, Paguinto SG, Kasparian NA, De Abreu LR. The whole game is changing and you've got hope: Australian perspectives on treatment decision making in spinal muscular atrophy. *Patient.* (2020) 13 (4):389–400. doi: 0.1007/s40271-020-00415-w

33. Kiefer P, Kirschner J, Pechmann A, Langer T. Experiences of caregivers of children with spinal muscular atrophy participating in the expanded access program for nusinersen: a longitudinal qualitative study. *Orphanet J Rare Dis.* (2020) 15(1):194. doi: 10.1186/s13023-020-01477-7

34. Cremers CH, Fischer MJ, Kruitwagen-van Reenen ET, Wadman RI, Vervoordeldonk JJ, Verhoef M, et al. Participation and mental well-being of mothers of home-living patients with spinal muscular atrophy. *Neuromuscul Disord.* (2019) 29(4):321–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2019.02.011

35. Pearlman LA, Saakvitne KW. Trauma and the therapist: Counter-transference and vicarious traumatization in psychotherapy with incest survivors. New York: WW Norton & Co (1995).

36. Missonnier S. Entre agonie primitive et angoisse signal, la genèse de l'anticipation. *Neuropsychiatr Enf Adoles*. (2005) 53:36–45. doi: 10.1016/j.arcped. 2009.02.021

37. Ho MHT, Lang R, Ip YT, Zhi H, Wong WHS, Chan SHS. The impact of paediatric neuromuscular disorders on parents' health-related quality of life and family functioning. *Hong Kong J Paediatr.* (2021) 26(1):14–20. doi: 10.1186/s13023-022-02407-5

38. Von Gontard A, Rudnik-Schöneborn S, Zerres K. Stress and coping in parents of children and adolescents with spinal muscular atrophy. *Klin Padiatr.* (2012) 224(4):247–51. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1304577

39. Del-Pino-Casado R, Espinosa-Medina A, López-Martínez C, Orget V. Sense of coherence, burden and mental health in caregiving: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2019) 242:14–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.08.002

40. Olsson MB, Hwang CP. Sense of coherence in parents of children with different developmental disabilities. *J Intellect Disabil Res.* (2002) 46(7):548–59. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2788.2002.00414.x

41. Van Kruijsbergen M, Schroder CD, Ketelaar M, Van Der Pol W, Cuppen I, Van Der Geest A, et al. Parents' perspectives on nusinersen treatment for children with spinal muscular atrophy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2021) 63(7):816–23. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14825

42. Rul B, Quijano-Roy S, Golse A, Beynier D, Estournet B, Desguerre I, et al. Les principaux changements apportés par la trachéotomie chez des enfants atteints de maladies neuromusculaires. *Rech Soins Infirm.* (2013) 114:46–57. doi: 10.3917/rsi.114.0046

43. Pechmann A, Langer T, Kirschner J. Parents' perspectives on diagnosis and decision-making regarding ventilator support in children with SMA type 1. *Neuropediatrics.* (2022) 53:122–8. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-1743439

44. Beernaert K, Lövgren M, Jeppesen J, Werlauff U, Rahbek J, Sejersen T, et al. Parents' experiences of information and decision making in the care of their child with severe spinal muscular atrophy. *J Child Neurol.* (2019) 34(4):210–5. doi: 10. 1177/0883073818822900

45. Deng S, Lee BH, Ciafaloni E. Parent perceptions in choosing treatment for infants with spinal muscular atrophy diagnosed through newborn screening. *J Child Neurol.* (2022) 37(1):43–9. doi: 10.1177/08830738211040292

46. Kirschner J, Butoianu N, Goemans N, Haberlova J, Kostera-Pruszczyk A, Mercuri E, et al. European ad-hoc consensus statement on gene replacement

therapy for spinal muscular atrophy. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. (2020) 28:38–43. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2020.07.001

47. Gusset N, Erbas Y, Germanenko O, Rucinski K, Stumpe E, De Lemus M. A decision for life—treatment decisions in newly diagnosed families with spinal muscular atrophy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2020) 30:105–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn. 2020.11.003

48. Servais L, Kirschner J, Muntoni F. Randomisation versus prioritisation in a managed access programme: lessons from spinal muscular atrophy. *Neuromuscul Disord*. (2020) 30:267–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2020.03.00

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Olivier Putois, Université de Strasbourg, France

REVIEWED BY Jessica Tran The, INSERM U1077 Neuropsychologie et Imagerie de la Mémoire Humaine, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Yorgos Dimitriadis ⊠ dimitriadisyorgos@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Perinatal Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 30 October 2022 ACCEPTED 06 January 2023 PUBLISHED 20 January 2023

CITATION

Dimitriadis Y (2023) The complexity of the dialogue between psychoanalysis, neurosciences, and genetics. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1084642. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1084642

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Dimitriadis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The complexity of the dialogue between psychoanalysis, neurosciences, and genetics

Yorgos Dimitriadis*

Université Paris-Cité, Centre de Recherches Psychanalyse, Médecine et Société, Paris, France

KEYWORDS

psychoanalysis, neurosciences, psychiatry, genetics, complexity

Introduction

The question of psychogenesis and organogenesis is among the oldest and-according to Ey (1)-the most complex chapters in psychiatry. At the start of the 19th century this debate was expressed through the opposition between functional and organic disorders. Other terms such as endogenous-most often opposed to exogenous or, alternatively, to reactionary, psychogenic, neurotic or even sociogenic-are almost simultaneous variants of the previous tandem (2, 3). In recent years, with the development of genomics and neuroscience, the etiology debate in psychiatry has tended to shift toward the interaction between the genome and environmental factors (the so-called "exposome"), as early on as the gestation period [see (4)]. A much more recent functionalist conception of the body-mind problem sees the brain as the hardware and the mind as the software, but Kendler (5) considers this dualistic conception to be an unfortunate combination of 19th century Cartesian neuropathology and computer functionalism. Nevertheless, the discoveries on neuronal plasticity [see (6)], with the observation that lived experience inscribes traces in the nervous system that can be re-combined with later experiences, provide the possibility to go beyond the opposition between psychic causality and organic causality. Thus, genetic and environmental factors could contribute in their own way to the configuration of these traces but also to their re-combination. Moreover, Crow has proposed (7) that "schizophrenia is the price Homo Sapiens pays for language". Specifically, Crow has hypothesized that, for this very reason, the genes for schizophrenia must be related to the genes that make language possible. Moreover, in his 1946 Bonneval speech, Lacan argued that "Not only can man's being not be understood without madness, but it would not be man's being if it did not bear madness within itself as the limit of his freedom" [(8), p. 144]. Thus, views on psychopathology from fields as removed as genetics and psychoanalysis may unexpectedly echo one another.

The complexity of genome-environment interaction in psychiatry

Kendler and Eaves (9) distinguished three main models (and their possible association) for the interaction between genotype and environment: additive effects of genotype and environment, genetic control of sensitivity to the environment, and genetic control of exposure to the environment. Thus, it would appear that genetic factors may sensitize or predispose individuals to exposure to particular environmental factors or even to experiences with depressogenic potential. For the same authors (9), genetics influences on human personality are probably related to traits such as impulsiveness, personal stability, and frustration tolerance. These traits could predispose to life experiences such as work and relationship changes which, in turn, can induce depression. Furthermore, genetic heritability in psychiatry is governed by

complex mechanisms, since the same genes or the same genomic segments in copy number variation (CNVs) do not produce the same phenotypes and phenocopies can occur (these are environmentallyinduced phenotypes which are identical to phenotypes that are genotypically determined in other individuals). Moreover, in psychiatry, heritability is not considered to be purely genetic and discoveries made since the 1980s through. Kendler suggests (10) that family twin and adoption studies (FTA) indicate that there is both environmental and genetic inheritance. Thus, "[t]he claim that FTA studies 'prove' that a disorder is'biological' is weak. An astonishing wide array of human behaviors and traits, such as hours spent watching television, sports participation, church attendance [...] are heritable" [(10), p. 1058]. He also claims (10) that a substantial proportion of genetic variation results from large numbers of small effect variants, each of which has a limited impact. Genome-wide association studies of schizophrenia (11-13) and manic-depression (13, 14) confirm this claim. Furthermore, with regard to autism, Munnich [(15), p. 89] argues that: "Since 2014, our exploration has included targeted sequencing of 250 genes known and published to cause autistic syndrome [...] This approach has shown us the high frequency of accidental, genetic but non hereditary events [...] there is no single autism gene, but dozens, even hundreds of distinct mechanisms that contribute to autism. Making the diagnosis of a genetic disease that presents as autism in no way precludes the use of psychotherapeutic approaches". Even where genetic inheritance seems plausible, it is mostly non-specific and, furthermore, we cannot know whether what is inherited relates to specific nosological entities [which are, as Kendler (10) puts it, clinico-historical constructs] or a pathophysiological pathway. Which may predispose either to vulnerability to one or more clinical types or to one or more possible clinical expressions of the same. Moreover, Post and Weis (16) suggest that a particular genotype may predispose also to protective or adaptive mechanisms and other authors argue (as will also be seen below) that genes can predispose to creativity, which can be passed on alongside genes for vulnerability to certain psychopathologies.

From a single cause to a multitude of possible causes

Kendler (17) claim that in the second half of the 20th century, psychiatry sought to distance itself from psychoanalytic domination and to re-establish its medical legitimacy through research into theories positing a single cause, much like Bayle [(18), see also (19)] had succeeded in isolating tertiary syphilis as the sole cause of general paralysis insane. For one thing, this complexity moves us away from the idea of a single causality and, for another, the plurality of causes means that each individual case is unique. As Ansermet and Giacobino [(4), p. 10] put it: "Rather than presiding over the repetition of sameness, genetic determinism poses the question of the production of difference. Inter-individual variations and the defining of singularity also become crucial questions for genetics". What is more, "psychoanalysis involves the subject and its evermore unpredictable genesis, which relates to a gap between cause and effect that cannot be bridged" [(4), p. 74]. In this dialogue between genetics and clinical human sciences, the kind of psychopathology that takes into account the singularity of each case-namely, psychoanalytically-oriented psychopathology-surely has its place. In the light of neuroscience advances in neuroplasticity, the neuropathology of so-called mental illnesses should not abolish psychopathology. On the contrary, as is the case with psychosomatic diseases where pathological modification of tissues is a prerequisite for them to be qualified as psychosomatic, neuropathology does not contradict the "psychosomaticity" of so-called "mental illnesses". Indeed, for Lacan (19), psychosomatic phenomena have to do with the gelification of the signifying chain: signifiers, being sometimes gelified, lose their signifying function and, as a result, become signals from the other and obtain an imperative value for the organism. Peirce's phaneroscopy helps us [see (20-23)] to conceptualize this as a process of semiotic reduction that moves from signifying tierceity to the secondness of the signal (which could condition or provoke reactions) or, even beyond, to the primacy of complete automatism. Even beyond the framework of classical psychosomatic phenomena, this process of semiotic reduction would be conceivable also for other clinical states related to homeostatic circuits of the brain, as I argued elsewhere regarding schizophrenia (20, 21), manic-depressive psychosis (22-24), depression (24), catatonia (25), addictions (26), traumatic neurosis (27), and panic disorder (20, 27).

The Freudian approach has always taken into account organic—genetic and epigenetic—factors in the determinism of psychological disorders. Freud certainly did not reject organicity as a cause. In fact in his concept of the *complementary series* (28), two factors converge in fulfilling an etiological requirement, and in his concept of *somatic complacency* (29), every hysterical symptom involves the participation of both sides, psychical and somatic, the latter offered by some normal or pathological process "in" or "connected" with one of the bodily organs. Hence, these two concepts were meant as a conversation with the psychiatric theories of his time—namely, the theory of the "constitution". Lacan, for his part, far from excluding organic causes in the determination of psychoses and neuroses, referred to what could be a sensitization [(8), p. 182–83] or conditioning [(19), p. 207] of human soma.

Let us recall in this regard the sentence that closes Lacan's 1946 text [(8), p.182-83] on psychic causality: "I do not hesitate to say that it will be possible to demonstrate that the Oedipus crisis has physiological resonances-and that, however purely psychological it may be in its scope, a certain dose of Oedipus may be considered as having a humoral efficacy of the absorption of a desensitizing drug". And the action of psychotropic drugs-which we could describe, at least in several cases, as desensitizing processes [see (22, 30)]-can resonate with the much more complex and most efficient desensitizing processes that psychoanalysis allows us to observe. Indeed, an infant's soma is conditioned by the signals of her primordial Other, that is until she becomes desensitized to these signals, through the triadic-mainly linguistic-processes inherent in ternary semiotics, the properly human semiotics. Nevertheless, sometimes, as a described above, through a "semiotic redaction", produced both by psychic and biological predispositions, the human body may once again become attuned to signals that induce "automatic states". Affects for instance-which rely on the metaphorical and metonymic processes of the unconscious-may be reduced to automatic emotions and/or moods (20-24, 27)which loop and sustain themselves. Besides, in a letter to Fliess dated 1 January 1896 (31) Freud (K manuscript) recognizes heredity as a further determining factor, in that it promotes and increases pathological affect. Furthermore, Freud (32) in his paper, of the same year, "Heredity and the Aetiology of the Neuroses" gave

also an important role in heredity regarding the causality of psychic suffering.

An opportunity of renewed dialogue between psychoanalysis and psychiatry

The dialogue between psychiatry and psychoanalysis is by no means incompatible with neuroscientific and genetic studies. On the contrary, such interaction may reveal points of inertia in subjectification. Indeed, organic factors-amongst others-may interfere with the abovementioned desensitization and, consequently, with the subjectification of a given individual insofar as they interfere with his or her interactions with others, especially in the early years, which we know from psychoanalysis that they are foundational years. This is why intensive psychoanalytically inspired screening and psychotherapeutic work during these early years is crucial [e.g., (33, 34)]. Developmental psychology and neurodevelopmental studies also engage on this subject, with the concept of critical (or sensitive) periods [e.g., (35)] which allows precisely to bring new lights to the interaction genes/environment. Recent studies [for an overview see (36)] claim that there are neurobiological mechanisms (genetically determined) which regulate the impact of the environment during some precise "time windows" and also that these mechanisms can themselves be modified by the impact of certain environmental stimuli [for an discussion on this issue including psychoanalytic theory with a focus on schizophrenia see (36)]. However, the so-called "desabilitys" that can emerge when there are barriers to the knotting of the body with the symbolic, should not be reduced to deficiencies as they appear in the latest psychiatric classifications as psychiatric syndromes of the "neurodevelopmental disorders" category. The scientistic spirit of these taxonomies disregards the subjectivity of the so-called "mentally ill". Indeed, their "desability" is primarily an interpersonal issue which must be addressed by clinicians who understand the meaning of "madness". This should only additionally involve rehabilitative and medicinal treatments.

Biological psychiatry can interact with psychoanalysis either synergistically or antagonistically. In many cases of psychosis and autism neuroleptics can reduce the alienation felt by patients and, thus, facilitate transference and psychotherapeutic work and rehabilitation. This can typically happen in cases of coenesthetic and/or sensory invasion, pervasive feelings of persecution or states of agitation that, in the words of Czermak (37) (for person suffering from psychosis), render transference "irresistible" and "traumatic". On the other hand, the immoderate use of antidepressants (38), neuroleptics (39), and lithium (40, 41) can, in a number of cases, result in losing motivation to address important issues, or even in emotional apathy, anhedonia, decreased libido and attenuation of creative capacities.

On the genetic predisposition that is common to certain psychopathologies and creativity

Jamain [(42), p. 311] claims that epidemiological studies (43) regarding "Bipolar disorders" allow us to estimate that the proportion

of "the disease explained by genes is about 60-80%, whereas the effect of the environment would contribute to about 40% of the disease" [see also (11, 14)]. According to Masson and Brun (44), the basis for "manic-depressive illness" is the pathological drop in the threshold of emotional reactivity, making also reference to Ey (45) who wrote about in his Psychiatric Studies as early as the 1950s. According to Masson and Brun (44), the emotional hyperreactivity that results from cerebral dysfunctions can be amplified by certain traumatic, behavioral, or toxic phenomena that trigger critical episodes. However, several studies have documented the possibility of a parallel genetic transmission of the propensity for creativity or certain forms of intelligence and vulnerability to certain clinical types. For example, manic-depressive psychosis is reported to be much more common in writers, especially poets (46-49).¹ According to Andreasen (46) creative individuals have a particular cognitive style that both predisposes them to creation and leaves them vulnerable to thymic fluctuations. In this study, the predisposition to creativity also concerned their "healthy" relatives whose creativity was not otherwise limited to writing. Of course, the mechanisms of the correlation between madness and creativity are far from being elucidated. Is there a common mechanism for both? Or is it rather an effect of unusual experiences-as might also happen under the influence of psychedelic drugs-or even an attempt to synthesize divergent states or stimuli² that push toward creation. Probably there is more than one cause here, but as we shall see in the conclusions, psychoanalytic theory has something to say about this issue.

Discussion

The fact that all of us harbor something that is "out of the norm", a form of "madness", is by no means something to take offense at, but rather it allows us to relate to what is abnormal and specific about each individual—both the suffering or even deficits, and the originality and inventiveness. It has been established that the same genetic variants can predispose to symptoms but also to original creativity, and even, as Baron-Cohen et al. (53) suggest in the case of autism, to talents in fields that require systematization.³ As Malafosse also concludes, "it is possible that certain susceptibility alleles of psychiatric disorders constitute an advantage for the people who carry them and for society as a whole" [(54), p. 48]. Creativity and psychopathology are in no way incompatible, and one could even argue that many times is quite the opposite....

Since Freud, there have been discoveries about artistic creations by means of sublimation (55) and about delirium as a healing process (56). More recently, Lacan contributed his concepts of "suppléance" (supplementation) (57) and the "sinthome" (55). According to what Lacan says in 1975 (58) about James Joyce's writing style, language [which meant to have the function "not to inform but to evoke" [(59), p. 247], as he claimed back in 1956] has the main property

¹ For other authors such as Sclesinger (50) the association between creativity and "mad geniuses" is overstated in the professional and popular press.

² For which the terms "janusian process" (51), "overinclusive thinking", and "cognitive inhibition" (52) have been used.

³ This particular intelligence would be linked to sensory hypersensitivity and hyper-systematization.

to make us enjoy, beyond any sense—even equivocal—at the same point that it remains, according to Soler, "enigmatic" [(60), p. 18]. Scientists (61) have recently found that the language of apes is more "robust" than that of humans, but the latter is more efficient, "enabling better exploitation of information capacity and complex use of the neural vocabulary to adapt and learn new environments [(61), p. 606] [...] In turn, it can contribute to fragility underlying human psychopathologies" [(61), p. 596]. In my opinion, human language is apt to "deviate" in order to "treat" the enigma of the social Other's desire. This again brings us back to the relationship of language to psychosis, at the genetic level. And to conclude, as Lacan [(62), p. 477] noted: "the only organicity that is essentially involved in this process: the organicity that motivates the structure of signification".

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

References

1. Ey H. Avertissement. In: Bonnafé L, Ey H, Follin S, Lacan J, Rouart J, editors. *Le Problème de la psychogenèse des névroses et des psychoses*. Paris: Desclée de Brouwer (1950). 7 p.

2. Dimitriadis Y. History of the opposition between psychogenesis and organogenesis in classic psychiatry: part 1. *Hist Psychiatry.* (2020) 31:208–16. doi: 10.1177/0957154X20904036

3. Dimitriadis Y. History of the opposition between psychogenesis and organogenesis in classic psychiatry: part 2. *Hist Psychiatry.* (2020) 31:274–93. doi: 10.1177/0957154X20922131

4. Ansermet F, Giacobino A. *Autisme: à chacun son génome*. Paris: Navarin, le Champ Freudien (2012). 89 p.

5. Kendler KS. The dappled nature of causes of psychiatric illness: replacing the organic-functional/hardware-software dichotomy with empirically based pluralism. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2012) 17:377–88. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.182

6. Ansermet F, Magistretti P. Biology of Freedom: Neural Plasticity, Experience, and the Unconscious. London: Routledge (2007). 272 p.

7. Crow TJ. Schizophrenia as the price that homo sapiens pays for language: a resolution of the central paradox in the origin of the species. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev.* (2000) 31:118–29. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0173(99)00029-6

8. Lacan J. Presentation on psychic causality. In: Lacan JÉ, editor. New York, NY: W.W. Norton & Co (2006). p. 123–58 (Tr. Bruce Fink).

9. Kendler KS, Eaves LJ. Models for the joint effect of genotype and environment on liability to psychiatric illness. *Am J Psychiatry.* (1986) 143:279–89. doi: 10.1176/ajp.143.3.279

10. Kendler KS. What psychiatric genetics has taught us about the nature of psychiatric illness and what is left to learn. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2013) 18:1058-66. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.50

11. Sklar P, Ripke S, Scott L, Andreassen O, Cichon S, Psychiatric GWAS Consortium Bipolar Disorder Working Group. Large-scale genome-wide association analysis of bipolar disorder identifies a new susceptibility locus near ODZ4. *Nat Genet.* (2011) 43:977–83. doi: 10.1038/ng.943

12. Ripke S, Neale BM, Posthuma D, Sullivan PF, O'Donovan M. Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci. Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. Nature. (2014) 511:421–7. doi: 10.1038/nature 13595

13. Misiak B, Stramecki F, Gaweda Ł, Prochwicz K, Sasiadek MM, Moustafa AA, et al. Interactions between variation in candidate genes and environmental factors in the etiology of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a systematic review. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2018) 55:5075–100. doi: 10.1007/s12035-017-0708-y

14. Ikeda M, Saito T, Kondo K, Iwata N. Genome-wide association studies of bipolar disorder: a systematic review of recent findings and their clinical implications. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2018) 72:52–63. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12611

Funding

This work was translated by Clémence Sebag and the fees for the translation and the publication were paid by the CRPMS.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

15. Munnich A. Programmé mais libre : les malentendus de la génétique. Paris: Plon, DL (2016). 137 p.

16. Post RM, Weiss SR. Endogenous biochemical abnormalities in affective illness: therapeutic versus pathogenic. *Biol Psychiatry.* (1992) 32:469–84. doi: 10.1016/0006-3223(92)90216-M

17. Kendler KS. From many to one to many-the search for causes of psychiatric illness. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2019) 76:1085–91. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.1200

18. Bayle ALJ. Recherches sur l'arachnitis chronique, la gastrite et la gastro-entérite chroniques, et la goutte, considérées comme causes de l'aliénation mentale. Paris: Imprimerie de Didot le Jeune (1822).

19. Lacan J. *The Four Fundamental Concepts of Psychoanalysis*. New York, NY: W.W. Norton & Co (1978) (Tr. Alan Sheridan). 304 p.

20. Dimitriadis Y. Le concept heuristique d'affections psychosomatiques du cerveau. L'Évol Psychiatr. (2013) 78:290–300. doi: 10.1016/j.evopsy.2012.09.007

21. Dimitriadis Y. Schizophrenia as a psychosomatic illness: an interdisciplinary approach between Lacanian psychoanalysis and the neurosciences. *Bull Menninger Clin.* (2018) 82:1–18. doi: 10.1521/bumc_2017_81_09

22. Dimitriadis Y. The psychoanalytic concept of Jouissance and the kindling hypothesis. Front Psychol. (2017) 8:1593. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01593

23. Dimitriadis Y. Le concept heuristique de \ll réduction sémiotique \gg : un dialogue entre la psychaalyse et la psychiatrie biologique: focus sur la psychose maniacodépressive. In: Biglari A, editor. *La sémiotique et ses potentiels*. (2023).

24. Dimitriadis Y. On the question of a hypothetical psychosomatic process in depression. *Fig Psychanal*. (2014) 28:73–85. doi: 10.3917/fp.028.0073

25. Dimitriadis Y. Sur certains enjeux du diagnostic de \ll catatonie $\gg.$ Topique. (2013) 123:125–38. doi: 10.3917/top.123.0125

26. Westphal L, Dimitriadis Y. Les usages de drogue, les maladies psychosomatiques du cerveau, le passage à l'acte et les enjeux thérapeutiques. In: Westphal L, Lamote T, editors. *Les usages de drogues comme traitement de soi*. Paris: Langage (2018). p. 74–87.

27. Dimitriadis Y. Psychogénèse et organogénèse en psychopathologie: une hypothèse psychanalytique d'affections psychosomatiques du cerveau, préface du Professeur Alain Vanier. Paris: L'Harmattan (2013). 308 p.

28. Freud S. My views on the part played by sexuality in the aetiology of the neuroses (1906 [1905]). In: *The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud*. Vol. VII. London: Hogarth Press / Institute of Psycho-Analysis Norton & Co (1957). p. 223-41.

29. Freud S. Fragment of an analysis of a case of hysteria (1905 [1901]). In: *The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud*. Vol. VII. London: Hogarth Press/Institute of Psycho-Analysis (1953). p. 3–122.

30. Post RM. Transduction of psychosocial stress into the neurobiology of recurrent affective disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1992) 149:999–1010. doi: 10.1176/ajp.149.8.999

31. Freud S. Draft K. In: Bonaparte M, Freud A, Kris E, editors. *The Origins of Psychoanalysis*. New York, NY: Basic Books (1954). p. 146–55.

32. Freud, S. Heredity and the aetiology of the neuroses (1896). In: *The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud*. Vol. III. London: Hogarth Press/Institute of Psycho-Analysis (1961). p. 141–56.

33. Beaulieu A. Prévenir l'autisme des bébés à risque: Une approche corporelle et relationnelle. Paris: Érès (2021). 320 p.

34. Olliac B, Crespin G, Laznik MC, Cherif Idrissi El Ganouni O, Sarradet JL, et al. Infant and dyadic assessment in early community-based screening for autism spectrum disorder with the PREAUT grid. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0188831. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0188831

35. Vasseur R, Delion P. Périodes sensibles dans le développement psychomoteur de l'enfant de 0 à 3 ans. Paris: Érès (2010). 204 p.

36. Tran The J, Ansermet F, Magistretti P. The critical periods of cerebral plasticity: A key aspect in a dialog between psychoanalysis and neuroscience centered on the psychopathology of schizophrenia. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2022) 15:1057539. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2022.1057539

37. Czermak M. Patronymies: Considérations cliniques sur les psychoses. Paris: Érès (2012). 446 p.

38. Price J, Cole V, Goodwin, G. Emotional side-effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors: qualitative study. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2009) 195:211-7. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.108.051110

39. Sagud M, Tudor L, Šimunić L, Jezernik D, MadŽarac Z, Jakšić N, et al. Physical and social anhedonia are associated with suicidality in major depression, but not in schizophrenia. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* (2021) 51:446–54. doi: 10.1111/sltb. 12724

40. Andreasen NC, Glick ID. Bipolar affective disorder and creativity: implications and clinical management. *Compr Psychiatry.* (1988) 29:207–17. doi: 10.1016/0010-440X(88)90044-2

41. Schou M. Artistic productivity and lithium prophylaxis in manic-depressive illness. Br J Psychiatry. (1979) 135:97–103. doi: 10.1192/bjp.135.2.97

42. Jamain S. Vulnérabilité génétique et trouble bipolaire. In: Bourgeois M-L, editor. *Les troubles bipolaires*. Cachan: Lavoisier (2014). p. 309–16.

43. Lichtenstein P, Yip BH, Björk C, Pawitan Y, Cannon TD, Sullivan PF, et al. Common genetic determinants of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder in Swedish families: a population-based study. *Lancet.* (2009) 373:234–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60072-6

44. Masson M, Brun M. Psychiatrie et psychanalyse: le divorce est-il consommé? À propos des \ll troubles bipolaires \gg . L'Évol Psychiatr. (2015) 80:433–44. doi: 10.1016/j.evopsy.2014.12.008

45. Ey H. Les psychoses maniaco-dépressives. Étude no 25. In: Nouv.éd, editor. Études Psychiatriques. Vol. II. Perpignan: CREHEY (2006). p. 429–518.

46. Andreasen NC. Creativity and mental illness: prevalence rates in writers and their first-degree relatives. Am J Psychiatry. (1987) 144:1288–92. doi: 10.1176/ajp.144.10.1288

47. Jamison KR. Mood disorders and patterns of creativity in British writers and artists. *Psychiatry.* (1989) 52:125–34. doi: 10.1080/00332747.1989.11 024436

48. Ludwig AM. Creative achievement and psychopathology: comparison among professions. *Am J Psychother*. (1992) 46:330– 56. doi: 10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.1992.46.3.330

49. Post F. Creativity and psychopathology. A study of 291 world-famous men. Br J Psychiatry. (1994) 165:22–34. doi: 10.1192/bjp.165.1.22

50. Schlesinger J. Creative mythconceptions: a closer look at the evidence for the "mad genius" hypothesis. *Psychol Aesthet Creat Arts.* (2009) 3:62–72. doi: 10.1037/a0013975

51. Rothenberg A. The process of Janusian thinking in creativity. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (1971) 24:195. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1971.01750090001001

52. Wang L, Long H, Plucker JA, Wang Q, Xu X, Pang W. High schizotypal individuals are more creative? The mediation roles of overinclusive thinking and cognitive inhibition. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:1766. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01766

53. Baron-Cohen S, Ashwin E, Ashwin C, Tavassoli T, Chakrabarti B. Talent in autism: hyper-systemizing, hyper-attention to detail and sensory hypersensitivity. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2009) 364:1377–83. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2008.0337

54. Malfosse A. Le conseil génétique en psychiatrie. Paris: Doin (2000). 59 p.

55. Freud S. Leonardo da vinci and a memory of his childhood (1910). In: *The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud*. Vol IX. London: Hogarth Press/Institute of Psycho-Analysis (1957). p.58-137

56. Freud S. Psychoanalytic notes on an autobiographical account of a case of paranoia (Dementia paranoides) (1910 [1911]). In: *The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud.* Vol. XII. London: Hogarth Press and Institute of Psycho-Analysis (1958). p. 1–79.

57. Lacan J. Formations of the Unconscious: The Seminar of Jacques Lacan, Book V. 2nd ed. Oxford: Polity press (2020) (Tr. Russell Grigg). 400 p.

58. Lacan J. The Sinthome - The Seminar of Jacques Lacan, Book XXIII. Cambridge: Polity Press (2016) (Tr A. R. Price). 224 p.

59. Lacan J. The function and field of language in psychoanalysis. In: Lacan JÉ, editor. New York, NY: W.W. Norton & Co. (2006). p. 237–324 (Tr. Bruce Fink).

60. Soler C. Ce que Lacan a appris de Joyce. *L'en-je lacanien*. (2014) 23:11–22. doi: 10.3917/enje.023.0009

61. Pryluk R, Kfir Y, Gelbard-Sagiv H, Fried I, Paz R. A tradeoff in the neural code across regions and species. *Cell*. (2019) 176:597–609.e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.12.032

62. Lacan J. On a question prior to any possible treatment of psychosis. In: Lacan JÉ. New York, NY: W.W. Norton & Co (2006). p. 445–88 (Tr. Bruce Fink).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Olivier Putois, Université de Strasbourg, France

REVIEWED BY Christelle Viodé, Université de Bourgogne, France Anne Boisseuil, Université Côte d'Azur, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Hélène Riazuelo ⊠ hriazuelo@parisnanterre.fr

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Perinatal Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 01 October 2022 ACCEPTED 31 December 2022 PUBLISHED 23 January 2023

CITATION

Riazuelo H (2023) Becoming a mother when suffering from a chronic illness. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1059648. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1059648

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Riazuelo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Becoming a mother when suffering from a chronic illness

Hélène Riazuelo^{1,2*}

¹UFR Sciences Psychologiques et Sciences de l'Éducation (UFR SPSE), Université Paris Nanterre, Nanterre, France, ²Nephrology Psychosomatic Unit, Aura Paris Plaisance (APP), Paris, France

Introduction: The critical period of early motherhood when facing serious health problems constitutes a major public health issue. The disease may interfere with, influence, and compound the difficulties experienced over the course of pregnancy and during the parenthood processes. These processes are to be understood as a passage involving so many changes and fraught with difficulties leading to a series of psychological mobilizations. Illness also needs to be considered as a moment of transition, sometimes of severance, marking the lives of the people concerned in a more or less lasting way. Various developments are possible, some of which can be envisaged as leading to more positive outcomes, while others appear as if blocked or doomed to failure.

Clinical data and method: This clinical study is the result of twelve analytically oriented psychotherapeutic follow-ups. The sessions took place weekly over periods ranging from 1 to 6 years. Some of the patients we met had become pregnant while they had a declared but not yet chronic nephropathy. The other patients were already on dialysis and had become mother before starting dialysis. There is also one instance of a pregnant patient on dialysis. In the background, there are also many women who talked about giving up fertility and motherhood. After an in-depth study of each follow-up, a cross-sectional study was conducted to identify the main themes.

Results and discussion: Main considerations on the psychotherapeutic treatment: We regularly observe people who find it impossible to muster the internal resources that would enable them to deal with the trials they undergo in such situations. For the psychologist, there is a need to listen to archaic remnants. Gradually, in the space of psychotherapeutic work, possibilities of "reanimation" of the psyche emerge, an internal space that renews fantasmatic activity as it begins to be able to project into the external space and into the space of the sessions.

KEYWORDS

pregnancy, perinatal care, links, chronic illness, psychotherapeutic treatment, reverie

1. Introduction

Little has been written about the desire to become a parent and assuming all this entails when suffering from a serious somatic disease. In the medical field and also in psychology, work on women who are seriously ill and pregnant mainly relates to acute illnesses and cancer [for example (1-6)], or AIDS [for example (7-12)]. A growing interest in other severe conditions (13), including Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD), has however emerged in recent years (14-22).

This paradoxical, even violent interplay between life and death that a woman experiences in her body in a dramatically crosscutting fashion emerges from these writings. Tyer-Viola et al. (16) emphasize, along with others, that at the same time, there is an attempt to forget the illness by trying to experience a "normal" pregnancy like other women, with a parallel increase in anxiety when pregnancy may modify the symptoms of the illness. There is a clear need to manage potential complications during pregnancy, and it is essential to reflect on and conduct research into improving their management (20, 23). Robin summarizes matters in the psychoanalytical field when stating that during the course of th,e illness, the "threshold of permeability to the unconscious as also the preconscious is lowered; a lifting of repression takes place, which invasively gives way to regressive reminiscences and fantasies" [(24), p. 164].

Both periods are conducive to psychological reorganization during which the most archaic experiences are heavily drawn on. Thus, the psychological processes at work during pregnancy and becoming a mother intersect or intermingle with those set in motion after the announcement and treatment of a serious somatic illness. In this case, the maternal psyche is assailed by traumatic aspects. Anxiety and diffuse anguish are also perceptible. Close family and relatives are also seriously affected.

Pregnancy in women with chronic disease, and more particularly kidney failure, is still rare, especially when the condition deteriorates and the patients are on hemodialysis.¹ The evolution of pregnancy can then become unfavorable due to the frequency of complications. The clinical and physiological disturbances observed an increase in the degree of kidney failure. With the improvement of hemodialysis techniques, the fertility of women suffering from chronic renal deficiency has improved considerably (particularly since the introduction of erythropoietin, which allows more women to have normal cycles). Although increasing successes are now being reported, the outcome of pregnancy for women undergoing dialysis remains extremely uncertain and these women have to deal with massive restrictions. "Intensification of hemodialysis, with up to five or six sessions a week (as opposed to the usual three weekly sessions), peritoneal dialysis, or even the temporary combination of these two methods, is essential for sufficient quality of the amniotic fluid" [(25) p. 121]. Any pregnancy in a woman with kidney disease should be considered as being at risk. During monitoring sessions, the full reality of bodily functions is omnipresent. Psychologically, it should also be borne in mind that end-stage renal disease involves a possibly traumatic confrontation with invasive techniques without which the patient can no longer survive. She cannot preserve herself (26) and each dialysis conjures up an end-of-life situation (27, 28). Confronted by all this, the patient's imaginary projections are crushed, subdued under an operative way of thinking, where discourse is usually merely factual and reverie is well-nigh impossible.

2. Materials and methods

The methodology adopted here is qualitative. The clinical work discussed here stems from analytically oriented psychotherapeutic follow-ups with a psychoanalytical orientation in medical services, both in obstetrics and gynecology (one case study), and nephrology (eleven studies). The sessions took place weekly for periods ranging from 1 to 6 years.² The first above-mentioned case study took place with a pregnant woman who had been on dialysis for about a year. The follow-up continued a few months after the birth of the child. For

the eleven other follow-ups, kidney disease was known and was not yet chronic before pregnancy but became so afterward. The start of dialysis (in-centre hemodialysis for each of them) began in the year following the birth of the child or a few years later (at most two). For four of these women, psychotherapeutic follow-up started before their pregnancy (and hence the start of dialysis) and for the other seven, it started when they were put on dialysis, that is after the birth of their child.

All this took place against a background of encounters with other women we remember, who were unable to have a child and were dealing with the work of renunciation. Issues related to femininity, maternity, and fertility arose very regularly during psychotherapeutic interviews. Clearly, the disease also heavily affected family members, especially the father of the child. However, the focus here is mainly on the women themselves, who also talked about their spouses, and it is their perspective and their own representations that will be discussed here. Participants' names were anonymized. Written informed consent was obtained from all the participants for the publication of any potentially identifiable data included in this article.

After an in-depth case study, a cross-sectional survey was conducted to identify the main lines of thought. These are presented below.

3. Clinical results

3.1. A matrix experienced as "unwelcoming"

Listening to pregnant women, it is common to hear them talk about what they feel within their bodies, describing how the baby moves and kicks out. Sensoriality is omnipresent. Pregnant women suffering from nephrological disorders who consulted soon confronted the author with descriptions of the inside, functional workings of their maternal bodies. This was accompanied by a plethora of anatomical detail on the disease's progression as it hollowed out an unwelcoming and deficient environment for the unborn child. Additional medical information painted an even bleaker picture when the dialysis went a little less well than usual, adversely affecting the quality of the amniotic fluid. They, thus, considered their bodies as places where "everything (was) bad," "ruined bodies" that were no longer good for anything, entirely negative. An alternative interpretation was to split the body up into its good parts (uterus) and bad parts (the kidneys that failed to function and disrupt the rest, including the uterus).

As they prepared to bring their infant out into the world, they questioned their ability to be "good enough" mothers [in Winnicott's sense (29)] and were vulnerable to depression as they considered themselves to be "unwelcoming" to their child. For some, these two temporalities, pregnancy and illness, proved impossible to articulate and elaborate on, with the thought processes relating to one movement blocking off those on the other. They thought of themselves as a "bad" container, a "bad nurse" right from the time of pregnancy as their renal function deteriorated. The process of psychological integration of the unborn baby, which S. Missonnier calls "psychic nesting" (30), was undermined. Feeling physically deficient, their very ability to carry the child psychically became threatened (31). Their imaginings and their representations of the unborn child became extremely tentative and sketchy as they went through pregnancy not knowing whether it would be carried through

¹ Hemodialysis usually involves the patient being dialyzed three times a week, for four-hour sessions. They are then connected to an artificial kidney that cleans the blood week after week. Kidney transplantation provides an alternative in some cases.

² These follow-ups are currently completed and were collected over a period of about 10 years during the author's practice as a clinical psychologist.

to term, whether the baby might suffer fetal pain, or whether their illness would develop further.

3.2. A skin rendered transparent

Pregnancy entails a dimension of going to see, of taking a look inside (32), of showing this unborn child and at the same time of keeping it secret, of preserving it from view. Let us recall that for Winnicott in Human Nature, "true female genital functioning tends to be hidden, when it is not in fact secret (...) the fantasy plays with the concealment within oneself, the hidden and the secret." [(33) p. 65]. Genital representations find their fullest experience in identification with the mother, who is capable of acting and conceiving a child. In young girls' games, we observe this same tendency where the dimension of secrecy is essential. "The game of Can you keep a secret? belongs typically to the female side of human nature, just as fighting and pushing things into holes belong to the male side. Unless a girl can keep a secret she cannot become pregnant. Unless a boy can fight or push a train through a tunnel he cannot deliberately impregnate" (1988, p. 65-66). A glimpse of the imaginative elaboration of their dominant bodily functioning can, thus, be seen in such games. That secrecy is an intimate space that one seeks to protect against the outside world but that also functions as a barrier to archaic and oedipal anxieties. Through, thus, defining the notion of secrecy, we also grasp the pleasure we can feel in keeping a secret and then sometimes sharing it. Working on this theme with pregnant women may help them develop a capacity to turn toward their internal mode.

This inward drive is further encouraged by the technological advances in gynecology and obstetrics (ultrasound, monitoring, etc.). During their interviews with the author, pregnant women with an underlying or declared CKD all described their bodies as being pried into under everyone's gaze. This increased scrutiny that is lavished on them and their baby reassured them in part, but it also had a price tag attached to it psychologically as they felt as though they were being made transparent, with their insides constantly being probed by machines and needles. They spoke of a body that was no longer merely attacked internally by the disease but also assailed at its very limits. This accumulation of micro-traumas compounded their fears daily. Patients in nephrology regularly evoked this theme, stressing how burdensome and painful this was at a time when they ought to be providing a containing envelope for their baby. This containing function was regularly put to the test. In order to cope with this, the work of primary erogenic masochism³ that intertwines the life drive and the death drive is essential. I shall give as an example the case of Léonie.

We met Léonie for the first time when she was hospitalized for 3 weeks. She had to stay in bed throughout her pregnancy and even a little longer as she was to undergo another operation as soon as the baby was born. She was 5 months pregnant. She had kidney disease (due to diabetes) but also cardiac and digestive problems. She was connected to multiple catheters and an operation was scheduled after childbirth to restore her digestion. The seriousness of her medical complications weighed so heavily on the author that she felt trapped, unable to look beyond that immediate reality of her bedridden condition. Léonie explained that she cared about this baby above all else and that she had waited such a long time for it to come. She and her partner had wanted a child for several years now and the waiting became all the more painful as her additional somatic problems emerged, suddenly, on top of her already recognized heart problems. She was ready "to put up with anything, to endure everything, to wait week after week as long as (she could) keep (her) child." To begin with, the couple's desire to have a child emerged slowly and quietly, with the idea of starting a family a little later when the time came... but she now saw a major difference, talking about a pregnancy and a child that were "vital" to her. It was "what gave (her) the strength to live," as she put it. Having learned of her illness, she knew that it was going to be chronic for the rest of her life but she then wanted this child more than anything else to "prove to (herself), to show that (she could) also give life." Her body "cannot let (her) down at all levels," it must also be able to "give life." Her comments as to her inner bodily workings were harsh and brutal, with only the womb being preserved as a bubble of life. She was a carrier of death, but she would also be a giver of life... She talked of this pregnancy, this child, as coming to repair her psychically as well as physically, her body in itself. Some days, she had real death anxieties, feeling the peripheral parts of her body become numb (peripheral neuropathy being a common symptom in the later stages of diabetes). Even though she had not yet reached that condition, she was acutely aware of such complications and even evoked the sensation of herself gradually being transformed into a corpse. As the unborn infant moved inside her, knocking, this brought her out of these moments of morbid stupor. She also looked forward to examinations of the baby, where the gynecologists would tell her that he was doing well. Admittedly, he was rather small and a Cesarean section was already being envisaged before the end of pregnancy, but he was developing quite normally. Léonie kept repeating the words "completely normal" to herself. Even dependent as she was on medicine and treatment, she was going to give birth to a child in good health. She was able to carry him and ensure that he developed normally. Despite moments of doubt and worry, she felt like a good enough mother (according to Winnicott's meaning).

Inevitably, the scopic impulse is of course exacerbated by the reinforced medical monitoring needed to ensure that pregnancy proceeds well. Each medical indicator is watched assiduously. This is psychologically demanding but also reassures the mother-to-be when the baby's and her own medical results are good. Technology and medication are indispensable to maintaining life.

3.3. The dream baby⁴

This hollow female organ, the uterus, is at the center of these women's concerns and calls upon them in particular at the phantasmic level. In reference to Klein, the mother's body is

³ Which we can define as the first psychic connection realizing an entanglement between the life drive and the death drive necessary for psychic life. This makes it possible to withstand the tensions of excitation that are inevitable and necessary for psychic life [according to Rosenberg (12)].

⁴ Aulagnier (34); Lebovici (35); Soulé (31); Cupa-Pérard (36); Nerson-Sachs (37).

fantasized as a recipient of combined wealth, namely including the father's penis and new babies to come. The infant in the fantasy is an internal object among others such as the breast, penis, feces, and child, all related to the receptacle containing all, the "good" as well as the "bad," that is to say, the maternal interior. This recalls the box that contains all secrets, as M. Cournut-Janin has already pointed out: "Between Dora's jewelry box and the secret that Winnicott's little girl knows how to keep, the metaphor of a box and what it conceals is constructed: the female body, which is rich in 'transposable' content (penis, feces, child, jewelry, buttons, not forgetting the blood, which is promising, of the menstrual period)" [(38), p. 57]. The interior of the female body can also be full of other types of objects, which can be subsumed under the category of waste. At a fantastical level, the treasured baby or the jewel baby is evoked, but the womb may also be seen as a receptacle for non-productive discharge or even poison. In women with CKD, these phantasmic babies are present as in many women, but the feeling is all the more acute and the divisiveness all the more pronounced.

The baby as treasure is there to fill out, restore, and enhance childlike desires. In nephrology, this is especially true, as the pregnant patients feel a sense of fulfillment, a kind of narcissistic elation: being pregnant for them is a true victory. The infant is a treasure, a movement of life. Even as the disease emerges or asserts itself, it becomes eclipsed by the marvelous mundanity of the life of a woman who goes on her way just like any other, meeting a man and then becoming pregnant. These women spoke of real "healing." For women with kidney disease, the baby also comes in to mend them, to show them that their bodies are not just sick and fantasized as "bad" or "damaged" but able to bring forth life. They, thus, prove to be fertile when few thought it was possible. This baby that normalizes her life can become a saving grace (and hence is largely idealized), an ornament to the mother-to-be, while the baby too can be adorned like their mother, reinforcing their femininity phantasmically.

However, the fetus is also potentially dangerous to the mother and can encroach on or invade her maternal body. For women with CKD, pregnancy can actually degrade their kidney functions. The baby can, thus, be associated with deteriorating maternal health generating a form of ambivalence that can sometimes take on a persecutory aspect.

These women tend to think that their inside is not being appropriately fitted to receive the unborn child in optimal conditions. The liquid environment is imperfectly purified, not adequately renewed, thus reactivating fantasies of a soiled, damaged, cloacal matrix. The anal dimension is largely present. The baby can then be fantasized as being attacked by this "waste" or even being part of it. The idea of a form of "invasion" by the disease is regularly mentioned.

3.4. The "motherhood constellation"

Again referring to the approach adopted by Melanie Klein, the primordial anguish of the girl, the woman, concerning her inner body relates to the fear of seeing herself ravished, damaged within her body, above all through her genital organs. The mother's body is the place where all that is desirable is located, the place for investigations of origins and the very mainspring of life. As a result, the child, especially the daughter, is full of hatred toward her mother, whom

she wishes to attack in order to steal what she hides inside her body. This is followed by anguish linked to the fear of reprisals and of seeing the inside of her body stolen away and destroyed (40). Her own ability to bear children is destined to play a similar role, to prove to her the unaltered nature of her inner self, for which healthy, vigorous offspring will provide proof. Conversely, any flaw in the child's successful development will revive the mother's anxieties relating to her invisible, unverifiable, and worrying inner body and the ensuing reprisals she fears from her mother. It is also the fear of having one's internal or intimate treasures (penis, feces, or fetus) and the gem baby taken away, especially by the mother with whom the daughter had tried to rival and who may now want to take back what belongs only to her, especially the father's child. Thus, some women suffering from kidney failure spoke about their fear of a broken filiation and how they felt it was for them impossible to become a mother. Many childhood desires were re-awakened, and especially their past "cravings" for the maternal body. Their difficulties surrounding their own fertility and pregnancy came as an echo, a form of punishment for their infantile sexual desires.

Confrontation with their own mothers for these women can be painful. Ambivalence and aggression are regularly palpable and may be accompanied by a feeling of guilt. This is exacerbated when the kidney disease is hereditary.

Moreover, when faced with this debt of life (41-43) toward their mother who brought them into the world, the infant may seem to provide a way to settle matters. However, the question remains as to whether the patient will be able to carry things through to childbirth, after which there may still remain a complex debt that cannot be removed. We need to remember that these women talk of the life they are bearing within them but also of their possible early death. Well cared for, that outcome may still be remote, but the disease remains naggingly present, accompanied by the fear of their imminent demise. These women readily resort to mentioning their mother (sometimes a sister) as the person who will take care of their child if 1 day they are no longer able to do so. They also look to the coming months when they will have to organize their lives as mothers and fit all this in with their dialysis, already seeing themselves as mothers in control but only tenuously as they rely on treatment several times a week before having to recover. Their mother's presence by their side provides reassurance but also holds them within a form of dependence. They are to become mothers but regularly remain as if maintained in an infantile position, being dependent on the medical team and the machine itself in order to survive and give birth:

Katia is the mother of a 2-year-old girl. She says she is lucky because she was able to have her child before dialysis. She is severely diabetic and pregnancy did not help but at least she has her child by her side. She hears her laughing, she plays with her and she talks about her "ray of sunshine." She doesn't think about the future, about her failing eyesight and the treatment that is "eating out her life." All she thinks about is her daughter. After a pause in the interview, she explains that the thrice weekly trips to undergo dialysis are becoming more and more painful for her as she leaves her daughter behind. She knows her child is in good hands with her mother, but the whole thing is becoming more and more unbearable. The situation is not just a "separation, like any woman going to work, but something else mixed in." Katia feels unable to care for her daughter, unable to run toward her or carry her anymore as she devotes attention to her arm where the fistula

⁵ Stern (39).

that allows her to be connected to the dialysis machine is located. She feels she is failing when off work for health reasons. Sometimes she is so tired that she finally entrusts her daughter to her mother so that she can sleep and recover. She is a mother but only "parttime." She gets depressed. She wanted so much to be a mother and in the end her own mother takes more care of her daughter than she does. She feels guilty about her rivalry and aggressiveness toward her mother, which depresses her even more. Neither does she live up to her mother's standards. She talks about her childhood and what her mother did with her and for her, which she is not sure she can do with her daughter. She finds ways around the difficulties. Some days she feels creative enough and other days she thinks that she will never be able to give her daughter what she has received. She talks about a half-hearted transmission.

4. Discussion: Clinical treatment shrouded in uncertainty

The major challenge within our health institutions is to sustain multi-professionalism in hospitals in order to understand and cater to the patient as a whole. Due to cross-analysis conducted by different professionals, care is thought out and shared by several people with different skills. A kind of "constellation" of health and care professionals is essential here.

The recent pandemic has stimulated new thinking on health issues and innovative concepts such as "one health" are emerging. A recent French ministerial report published in February 2022 promotes this philosophy to reflect on the "lessons of the crisis." The World Health Organization defines health as "a state of complete physical, mental and social wellbeing and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity"⁶ The patient's health is, thus, considered in all its complexity, in relation to those close to her and the world around her. From this perspective, psychologists have a duty to be attentive to the analysis of institutional dynamics. We actively participate in the reflections of the medical and care teams at various institutional levels involving the hospitalization service staff at multidisciplinary meetings (doctors, nurses, social workers, dieticians) during which the teams formulate new demands in our direction. These meetings are also an opportunity to discuss ongoing follow-up. Interstitial times are also important, with the psychologist meeting caregivers and physicians. The psychologists then devote time to passing on information to the medical and care teams.

As psychologists and psychotherapists working in these medical services, we are confronted with a "clinic of the real" (44), where the experiences of trauma, mourning, and loss intersect. In these psychosomatic services, the harsh realities of clinical work can severely affect us. Faced with the burden of bodily representations, we try to think with the patient, in the dynamics of exchanges, of the place the spoken word can occupy, enabling the emergence of representations of a body closer to the fantasy, drawing away from the clutches of immediacy. In the medical world, the real daily challenge is to maintain the stability of the psychological framework (in the broadest sense of the term) offered to our patients, considering the sick person in her somatic and psychic wholeness, in connection with her entourage and environment. To avoid becoming overwhelmed by the grim realities of the sickness, we need as psychologists, to find our own temporality and retain our own capacity for reverie (in the sense of Bion) with regard to our patients.

Clearly, patients suffering from chronic diseases where their very survival is at stake experience considerable distress. The process of dialysis itself is a potent reminder of mortality and proximity to death becomes deafening as first object relations move into the foreground, shrouded in uncertainty. Psychic disorganization can be massive. We regularly observe patients who are distraught and unable to find the internal resources to cope with the experience. Here, the psychologist has a duty to listen to archaic traces as the body, in dialysis, appears in all its reality and vulnerability. As practitioners, we regularly have to listen to speech devoid of prosody, lacking modulation and affects, and having to remain attentive to the unspeakable. Gradually, in the space of psychotherapeutic work, possibilities for the "reanimation" of the psyche emerge, as part of an internal space that takes up a phantasmic activity as it begins to be able to project into the external space and the space of the sessions.

Psychological or psychotherapeutic follow-up provides a reflective appraisal so as gradually to recover the pleasure of thinking and allow for the reintegration of possible traumas. During the patient's discourse, time regularly freezes over. It remains somehow suspended, sometimes in a lasting way. Faced with such discontinuity, the patient needs to find regularity in the relationship and consistency in the medical and nursing teams, as well as in our own psychotherapeutic framework. This therapeutic structure needs constancy for the patient to emerge from the situation of dependence and reappropriate experience as a "continuity of being" (as understood by Winnicott).

The arrival of the baby is marked by serious medical constraints and by the limitations imposed by the disease. In the course of psychotherapeutic follow-up, we gradually try to leave more room for reverie. The patient can then take the risk of investing more calmly in the baby, her baby, as pregnancy progresses and she feels it move within her. The challenge is to differentiate and specify the sensations specific to her pregnant body and the fetus and, thus, rely on them so that the representations surrounding and enveloping this unborn baby can develop and become richer and greater in number.

These women may sometimes wish to commence psychotherapeutic work to begin the process of mourning for their fertility and the child. The work of renunciation is accomplished gradually and transmission will take place elsewhere, moving toward other objects and other projects.

5. Conclusion

When the child is born and terminal kidney disease occurs, it may be important to "de-crystallize" this period as the different psychic movements may possibly collide and become paralyzed. Pregnancy, the birth of the child, and sometimes the child itself are all part of the history of the illness. Demands on the child, its life debt, can be embroiled in what is happening with the illness. The child is caught up in the same loop as the machine (the artificial kidney that drains the patient three times a week), making them live like the machine.

However, even when carried along with the illness, pregnancy remains a moment of life where the work of creation, both physiological and psychological, is at work. In particular, it affords an opportunity to pass on the message that beyond the disease, life opes on.

⁶ https://solidarites-sante.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/contribution_conseil_

scientifique_8_fevrier_2022_one_health.pdf

A natural follow-up to this work would be the study of early interactions between mothers on dialysis or about to be on dialysis and their children. This is a surprisingly understudied area that would be important to develop.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from all the participants for the publication of any potentially identifiable data included in this article.

References

 Alder J. Cancer Et Grossesse: Quel Accompagnement Psychologique? 5^e journée de psycho-oncologie, Institut de cancérologie Gustave Roussy. Villejuif: Institut Curie. (2009) 17 mars.

2. Boinon D, Dauchy S, Flahault C. Devenir une mère malade: entre impact de la maladie et nouages familiaux. *Psycho-oncologie.* (2009) 2:94–97. doi: 10.1007/s11839-009-0135-z

3. Busch-Renner I, Lacobelli S. Regards, paroles, espaces de pensée autour du bébé prématuré, de ses parents et de l'équipe de réanimation néonatale. *Spirale.* (2009) 51:25–33. doi: 10.3917/spi.051.0025

4. Lof. Quand le temps de la maternité croise celui du cancer: réflexions cliniques. La psychiatrie de l'enfant. (2011) 54:469–89. doi: 10.3917/psye.542.0469

5. Lof AL. Cancer et maternité. Toulouse: Éditions Érès (2012).

6. Vanlerenberghe E. Cancers de la femme, sexualité et approche du couple. *Bullet du Cancer*. (2015) 5:454–62. doi: 10.1016/j.bulcan.2015.02.008

7. Chartier D, Matot JP. Vivre ou mourir d'enfant. Quelques réflexions sur le désir d'enfant, la grossesse et la maternité chez des femmes séropositives pour le VIH, *Neuropsychiatrie de l'enfance et de l'adolescence*. (1991) 1:39–46.

8. Cadart ML. Maternités ordinaires dans l'extraordinaire de la maladie. *Enfances Psy.* (2003) 23:126–131. doi: 10.3917/ep.023.0126

9. Martin-Chabot B. Des femmes enceintes séropositives au virus du sida, entre secret et parole. (2008). doi: 10.3917/dia.179.0111

10. Rosenblum, O. La sexualité, entre parole et parcours, des sujets infectés par le VIH. *Dialogue*. (2011) 193:115–124. doi: 10.3917/dia.193.0115

11. Rosenblum O. Quand la transmission est dangereuse. *Topique*. (2011) 3:116:61-72. doi: 10.3917/top.116.0061

12. Rosenberg B. Masochisme mortifère et masochisme gardien de la vie. Paris: PUF (1991).

13. Jølving LR, Nielsen JA, Kesmodel US, Nielsen RG, Beck-Nielsen SS, Nørgård BM. Prevalence of maternal chronic diseases during pregnancy-a nationwide population based study from 1989 to 2013. *Acta Obst et Gynecol Scandinavica*. (2016) 95:1295–304. doi: 10.1111/aogs.13007

14. Corbin JM. Women's perceptions and management of a pregnancy complicated by chronic illness. *Health Care for Women Int.* (1987):317-337. doi: 10.1080/07399338709515797

15. Davison JM, Lindheimer MD. Pregnancy and chronic kidney disease. Seminars Nephrol. (2011) 1:86–99. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2010.10.008

16. Tyer-Viola LA, Palan Lopez R. Pregnancy with chronic illness. J Obst Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. (2014) 43:25–37. doi: 10.1111/1552-6909.12275

17. Kersten I, Lange AE, Haas JP, Fusch C, Lode H, Hoffmann W, et al. Chronic diseases in pregnant women: prevalence and birth outcomes based on the SNiP-study. *BMC Preg Childbirth.* (2014) 14:75. doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-14-75

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

18. Hladunewich MA, Melamed N, Bramham K. Pregnancy across the spectrum of chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* (2016) 5:995. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2015. 12.050

19. McGrath M, Chrisler J. A lot of hard work, but doable: pregnancy experiences of women with type-1 diabetes. *Health Care Women Int.* (2017) 38:571-92. doi: 10.1080/07399332.2016.1267183

20. Hegaard HK. Pregnancy and Chronic Disease: The Effect of a Midwife-coordinated Maternity Care Intervention (ChroPreg), ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT03511508. (2018). Available online at: https://beta.clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT03511508

21. Ghorayeb J, Branney P, Seligner CP, Madill A. When your pregancy echoes your illness: transition to motherhood with inflammatory bowel disease. *Qual Health Res.* (2018) 28:1283–94. doi: 10.1177/1049732318763114

22. Brown HK, Wilton AS, Ray JG, Dennis CL, Guttmann A, Vigod SN. Chronic physical conditions and risk for perinatal mental illness: a population-based retrospective cohort study. *PLoS Med.* (2019) 3:2864. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed. 1002864

23. Chatterjee S, Kotelchuck M, Sambamoorthi U. Prevalence of chronic illness in pregnancy, access to care, and health care costs: implications for interconception care. *Women's Health Issues*. (2008) 6:S107–16. doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2008.06.003

24. Robin, B. Nommer le manque. In Ben Soussan, P. (ed), Le cancer: approche psychodynamique chez l'adulte. Toulouse: Éditions Érès (2004).

25. Jungers P. Néphropathie et grossesse. EMC Médecine. (2004) 2:121–30. doi: 10.1016/j.emcmed.2003.07.003

26. Cupa, D. Tendresse et cruauté, Paris: Dunod (2007). doi: 10.3917/jdp.252.0051

27. Jean-Dit-Pannel, R. Naricisse à l'épreuve de l'hémodialyse: quelle métaphore. *Cliniques méditérrannéennes.* (2016) 2:257–270. doi: 10.3917/cm.094.0257

28. Riazuelo H. L'intime à l'hôpital. Plaidoyer pour un certain clair obscur. *Cliniques.* (2020) 1:45–57. doi: 10.3917/clini.019.0045

29. Winnicott DW. La préoccupation maternelle primaire. In De la pédiatrie à la psychanalyse. Paris: Payot (1956). (p. 285-291).

30. Missonnier S. Le premier chapitre de la vie? Nidification fœtale et nidation parentale. *La psychiatrie de l'enfant*. (2007) 1:61–80. doi: 10.3917/psye.501.0061

31. Soulé M. L'enfant dans sa tête — L'enfant imaginaire. *La dynamique du nourrisson ou quoi de neuf bébé?* Paris: ESF (coll La vie de l'enfant) (1983) 137–75.

32. Chaudoye G, Riazuelo H. Au-delà de la peau, un regard scopique machinique. porté... L'échographie pulsion ĽÉvolution et la (2013) 78.599-613 psychiatrique. doi 10.1016/j.evopsy.2013. 06.006

33. Winnicott DW. La nature Humaine. Paris: Gallimard (1990).

34. Aulagnier P. La violence de l'interprétation. Du pictogramme à l'énoncé (5^e édition). Paris: PUF. (1975). 35. Lebovici S. *Le nourrisson, la mère et le psychanalyste*. Les interactions précoces. Paris: Paidos, Le Centurion (1983).

36. Cupa-Pérard D. Bébé imaginé et interactions précoces. *Devenir*. (1992) 2:47–60.

37. Nerson-Sachs C. De l'enfant imaginaire à l'enfant réel. *Gynécologie et psychosomatique*. (1995) 13:27–32.

38. Cournut-Janin M. La boîte et son secret. *Revue Française de psychanalyse, (LVIII).* (1994) 1:57–66. doi: 10.3917/rfp.g1993.57n5.1353

39. Stern DN The Motherhood Constellation: A Unified View of Parent-Infant Psychotherapy. New York: Basic Books (1995).

40. Klein M. Le retentissement des premières situations anxiogènes sur le développement sexuel de la fille In La psychanalyse des enfants. Paris: PUF (2003).

41. Bydlowski M. Les enfants du désir. Le désir d'enfant dans sa relation à l'inconscient Psychanalyse à l'université. Paris: Aurepp (1978) 4:59–92.

42. Bydlowski M, Dayan Lindzer M. Désir d'enfant, mal d'enfant. Revue de médecine psychosomatique. (1985) 1:23–42.

43. Bydlowski M. La dette de vie. Itinéraire psychanalytique de la maternité, Paris: PUF (1997).

44. Raimbault G. Clinique du réel. Paris: Éd. du Seuil (1982).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Anne-Laure Sutter-Dallay, Centre Hospitalier Charles Perrens, France

REVIEWED BY Jacqueline Strik, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Netherlands Diane Purper-Ouakil, Université de Montpellier, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Simone Marchini Simone.marchini@ulb.be

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Perinatal Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 19 November 2022 ACCEPTED 20 February 2023 PUBLISHED 23 March 2023

CITATION

Marchini S, Reis J, Ben-Shaool E, Delhaye M, Kornreich C, Nicolis H, Slama H, Leys C and Delvenne V (2023) Dimensional model on how familial vulnerability and environmental factors impact transitional age youth psychopathology: The *Transition_psy* study. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1103030. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1103030

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Marchini, Reis, Ben-Shaool, Delhaye, Kornreich, Nicolis, Slama, Leys and Delvenne. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Dimensional model on how familial vulnerability and environmental factors impact transitional age youth psychopathology: The *Transition_psy* study

Simone Marchini^{1,2}*, Joana Reis^{1,2}, Ella Ben-Shaool^{2,3}, Marie Delhaye^{1,2}, Charles Kornreich^{1,4}, Hélène Nicolis^{1,5}, Hichem Slama^{3,6}, Christophe Leys⁶ and Véronique Delvenne^{1,2}

¹Faculty of Medicine, Université Libre de Bruxelles (ULB), Brussels, Belgium, ²Department of Psychiatry for Infant, Child, Adolescent and Youth, University Hospital Brussels (HUB), Brussels, Belgium, ³Department of Neuropsychology and Speech Therapy, University Hospital Brussels (HUB), Brussels, Belgium, ⁴Department of Psychiatry, Brugmann University Hospital, Brussels, Belgium, ⁵Mental Health Service, Université Libre de Bruxelles (ULB), Brussels, Belgium, ⁶Faculty of Psychological Sciences and Education, Université Libre de Bruxelles (ULB), Brussels, Belgium

Background: Understanding psychopathology in transitional age youth (TAY) requires a complex model, incorporating familial vulnerability and environmental factors. A trans-diagnostic and dimensional approach seems the most appropriate. *Transition_psy* study aims to assess factors playing a role in TAY psychopathology and to define predictors.

Materials and methods: This article presents part of the Transition_psy study results, a case-control observational study. Youth aged 17 years old were recruited between June 2020 and December 2021, from both clinical [clinical population (CP) group] and non-clinical settings [non-clinical population (NCP) group]. Participants completed self-report questionnaires. The primary outcome to assess TAY psychopathology was the Youth-Self Report (YSR). We evaluated care needs with the Health of The Nation Outcome Scales For Children And Adolescents (HoNOSCA-SR) and quality of life with the World Health Organization Quality of Life - BREF (WHOQoL-BREF). Exposure factors included familial vulnerability, childhood, and present environmental factors, such as first-degree family history of psychopathology, the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) and the Family Assessment Device (FAD). YSR scores were compared, between groups, according to exposure factors with ANOVA and linear regression. We performed best subsets selection of multivariable analyses based on the Akaike Information Criterion. This study was registered with ClinicalTrials.gov (Identifier: NCT04333797).

Results: A total of 220 TAY (CP = 106, NCP = 114) were included in the study. Participants were aged 17 years old. The majority were female (69.1%), single (96.8%), and born in Belgium (82.3%). Clinical data were all significantly different between CP and NCP groups. YSR scores were found statistically different according to group (p < 0.001), first-degree family history of psychopathology

(p < 0.001), CTQ (p < 0.001), and FAD (p < 0.001). Predictive dimensional model suggested that TAY psychopathology can be predicted by group, CTQ and FAD. Significant positive correlation was found between YSR and HoNOSCA (rho = 0.81) and negative correlation between YSR and physical and psychological health (rho = -0.69 and -0.71, respectively).

Conclusion: This study findings allowed to present a predictive dimensional model on TAY psychopathology, including belonging to a clinical population at transitional age, childhood trauma, and family dysfunction. Further research is needed to replicate *Transition_psy* study results in other samples. The proposed model could be used in clinical practice to improve assessment of TAY psychopathology.

KEYWORDS

transitional age youth, psychopathology, dimensional approach, familial vulnerability, environmental factors, quality of life, care needs

1. Introduction

Transitional age youth (TAY), aged 16-24 years old, are a particularly at-risk population regarding mental health. Mental disorders onset before the age of 25 in 62.5% of the cases, with a peak incidence around 14.5 years old (1).

The ongoing hypothesis explaining the incidence of psychiatric disorders in TAY is multifactorial. Genetic and environmental factors, partially through epigenetics, negatively impact brain development (2). The brain maturation process presents two particularly vulnerable periods in life: (1) perinatal and early childhood, and (2) adolescence and early adulthood. During these periods, there is a greater risk that environmental factors interfere with brain maturation (2, 3).

It has already been proven that both familial vulnerability and childhood adverse events increase the risk of psychopathology (4, 5), manifested through internalizing and externalizing behaviors (6, 7). Additionally, psychopathology appears to be related to adolescent environmental factors, such as gonadal hormones, substance use, social interactions and school environment (8). It is still unclear whether these factors are a result of alterations that occurred earlier in life or strictly related to puberty (9).

All these factors contribute to the scientific and clinical complexity of TAY psychopathology and care needs. Understanding typical developmental processes remains crucial in research on the prevention of adverse life events effects on mental health (10). There is growing evidence in the literature that this complexity could be resumed in a single dimension of psychopathology, the "p" factor, measuring each individual's liability to mental disorder, comorbidities, duration and severity of disorders. The "p" factor seems positively correlated with family history of psychiatric illness, brain function, childhood developmental history, and adult life impairment (11).

Hence, a trans-diagnostic dimensional approach seems to better allow the understanding of TAY psychopathology (12, 13). TAY psychopathology is often characterized by early clinical presentations that include non-specific or subthreshold intensity and/or frequency symptoms, and by a high incidence of comorbid disorders (14). In recent years, such trans-diagnostic clinical staging models have gained importance, by allowing a multidimensional assessment while considering illness as a dynamic continuum from its absence to its most extreme expression (13). This broader strategy to identify at-risk TAY may ultimately permit to recognize early stages of severe mental disorders, offering new management strategies tailored to the patient's clinical stage, preventing the onset and/or progression of mental disorders (12). However, to date, there is little data on clinical dimensional characteristics involved in the development of psychopathology at the age of the transition and the identification of at-risk TAY.

The *Transition_psy* study focuses on the understanding of TAY psychopathology mainly in terms of quality of life and care needs (15). Based on the existing literature, we hypothesized that childhood trauma and family history of psychopathology were the main common factors to develop psychopathology at the transitional age (4, 5, 11). The *Transition_psy* study proposes a predictive dimensional model considering familial vulnerability, and both childhood and present environmental factors. The conceptual model of the study is presented in Figure 1. The aim of *Transition_psy* is to determine which factors play a protective or a risk role in psychopathology in the transitional age.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study design and setting

This article presents part of the *Transition_psy* study results. This is a case-control observational study evaluating risk and protective factors to develop psychopathology in TAY. The recruitment has been led in clinical and non-clinical settings. Clinical settings consisted in both outpatient and inpatient facilities within the urban area of Brussels: three general university hospitals and one outpatient university clinic. Non-clinical settings were both schools in the urban area of the same town and social networks. The complete protocol of *Transition_psy* study was



described in a previous paper (15). This trial was registered with ClinicalTrials.gov (Identifier: NCT04333797) on 3 April 2020.

2.2. Recruitment and procedure

Between June 2020 and December 2021, 17 years old youth were recruited in the Brussels urban area, Belgium. Clinical sample was recruited in collaboration with the referring physician. Participants from non-clinical settings were invited to participate in the study throughout flyers and social media posts. As a compensation, they received a 20 \in voucher from a multimedia shop.

To be included in the study, participants had to have sufficient fluency in French, and both parents or legal holders of parental authority and the participant had to provide informed and written consent. We excluded potential participants actively involved in another research study, those who were unable to answer the assessment tools, and patients with a progressive illness affecting short-term vital prognosis.

The clinical group was named "clinical population" (CP) because these participants were actively involved in outpatient or inpatient care, at the moment of inclusion. On the contrary, the non-clinical population was named "non-clinical population" (NCP).

At the inclusion, participants met the research assistants for a brief interview and were invited to complete the baseline assessment, consisting of self-report questionnaires available on the Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) platform. The time for completion was about 45 min.

Of the 428 participants considered for the study participation (CP = 309, NCP = 119), 393 were eligible to participate, among whom 254 consented to enroll in the baseline assessment. Few

participants (n = 34) did not complete at least 50% of the assessment and they were not included in the data analysis, representing a final sample of 220 (CP = 106, NCP = 114) with a participation rate of 51.4% (see Figure 2 for more details).

2.3. Measures and outcomes

All the measures are self-reported standardized questionnaires, previously validated in French.

The primary outcome to assess psychopathology was the Youth Self-Report 11–18 (YSR), a specific instrument for 11–18 years old adolescents performing a detailed assessment of participants' psychopathology (16, 17). This is a 112-item questionnaire on a three-point Likert scale (0–2). Global internalizing and externalizing problem behavior scores can be obtained. For this study analysis, we used the total scores to describe the overall TAY psychopathology (18). We also used the General Health Questionnaire-12 (GHQ) (19, 20), the 12-item version, as a screening tool for psychopathology in the sample. Each GHQ item scored on a 4-point scale (0–3); total scores range from 0 to 36 with higher scores representing greater psychopathology. This tool has been proven effective in primary care settings (21, 22).

We used two measures to evaluate care needs and quality of life, respectively: the self-rated Health of The Nation Outcome Scales For Children And Adolescents (HoNOSCA) (23, 24) and the World Health Organization Quality of Life- BREF (WHOQoL) (25, 26). The HoNOSCA (23, 24) is a 13-item instrument, scored on a five-point scale (0–4), measuring the severity of physical, personal, and social problems of children and young people with mental health problems. The total score, ranging from 0 to 52, represents the overall severity of care needs. The WHOQoL (25, 26) is a 26-item questionnaire on a five-point scale (1–5). It is possible to calculate



four separate scores for each broad domain ranging from 0 to 100. The four domains of quality of life are (1) physical health, (2) psychological health, (3) social relationships, and (4) environment. These two measures were used to examine the correlation between the TAY psychopathology and their actual degree of care need and impact on quality of life.

We collected sociodemographic data, such as: sex, civil status, country of birth, parental marital status, living arrangements, enrollment in education and/or employment. Additionally, participants were asked to report clinical data, mainly related to mental health: psychiatric and/or psychological consultations, psychiatric inpatient care and psychotropic drugs use.

Exposures have been assigned to three main categories according to chronological criteria: (1) familial vulnerability, (2) childhood environmental factors, and (3) present environmental factors.

To evaluate familial vulnerability, participants were asked to provide data about mental illness history of their first-degree relatives (parents). Summarized scores could range from 0 to 2, if they had no relatives with mental illness history, one or both parents, respectively.

Childhood environmental factors were assessed using two standardized tools: the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) and the Family Assessment Device (FAD), together with data about history of migration, adoption, previous psychomotricity or speech therapy, grade retention at school and reading or writing delay. Concerning these two last items, the threshold age for delay was set at 8 years old (27, 28). The CTQ is a 28-item instrument measuring trauma during childhood (29, 30). Each item scores on a five-point Likert scale (1–5) and the CTQ total score ranges from 28 to 140 (31). The higher scores represent greater intensity of childhood trauma. The FAD is a 12-item tool on a four-point scale (1–4) (32, 33), with a total score from 12 to 48 (34). Higher scores represent worse levels of family functioning.

The present environmental factors considered in the study were: some of the sociodemographic variables (youth's civil status, parental marital status, living arrangements, enrollment in education and/or employment), substance use (alcohol, tobacco, cannabis, or other drugs), and disruptive behaviors (such as stealing, vandalism, animal cruelty, assault, and battery).

2.4. Statistical analysis

We performed the "*a priori*" analysis to calculate the sample size with the G*Power software, version 3.1.9.7 (35). To reach a medium effect size (i.e., r = 0.3), with an α -error of 5% (two-sided) and a β -error of 80%, the required total sample size was 84 participants for correlations and 144 for linear regressions.

All statistical analyses were conducted using the software Statistical Package for the Social Sciences Version 27 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

We performed descriptive statistics to study sociodemographic and clinical characteristics in the total sample and in the two groups (CP and NCP): absolute and relative frequencies were presented for all qualitative variables; means with standard deviations were used to describe normally distributed quantitative variables. The normality of the distributions was established graphically (histogram, and normal probability plot). The frequencies in categories were compared between groups with χ^2 test for the majority of variables; when the absolute count was less than five, we performed Fisher's exact test. The homogeneity of variances was verified with Levene's test, and the means of quantitative variables were compared between the two groups with independent samples T-test. To compare the means of quantitative variables (GHQ and YSR) according to familial vulnerability and environmental factors between the sub-groups, we performed ANOVA for each categorical variable and linear regression for the quantitative variables (CTQ and FAD), presenting regression coefficients (b) and 95% confidence intervals. The interaction of each variable with the group was assessed in the models. For significant variables, we then performed multivariable analyses and tested all combinations of explanatory variables to choose the best model based on the Akaike information criterion (AIC). We verified the normality and homogeneity of variances of residuals with graphical representations. When appropriate, the *p*-values of posthoc pairwise comparison tests were adjusted with Tukey's honestly significant difference method.

Correlation between WHO-QoL, HoNOSCA, YSR, and GHQ was calculated with Spearman's rho coefficient.

Missing data were treated with pairwise deletion. The statistical significance level was set at 0.05 (two-sided).

3. Results

3.1. Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics

A total of 220 participants, aged 17 years old, were included in the final sample. The majority of participants were female (69.1%), single (96.8%), and born in Belgium (82.3%), but there were no significant statistical differences between groups regarding sex (p = 0.334), civil status (p = 0.714), or country of birth (p = 0.669). There were significant statistical differences regarding parental marital status (p = 0.008), living arrangements (p = 0.009), and enrollment in education and/or employment (p = 0.044) between CP and NCP participants. Detailed sociodemographic characteristics of participants are presented in Table 1.

Table 2 shows clinical data in the total sample and between groups. CP participants had significantly greater rates of psychiatric and/or psychological consultation (p < 0.001), inpatient care (p < 0.001), and psychotropic drug use (p < 0.001), comparing to NCP participants. CP participants had significantly higher GHQ (p < 0.001) and YSR (p < 0.001) scores than NCP participants. CP participants also presented higher HoNOSCA scores (p < 0.001) and lower WHOQoL scores, in all four domains (p < 0.001).

3.2. Familial vulnerability and environmental factors

We decided to present the analysis of YSR scores according to the group and familial vulnerability, childhood and present environmental factors as primary results (Table 3). Findings regarding GHQ scores according to the most significant factors are summarized in Table 4. The analyses of every factor using the GHQ scores are presented in the annex section (Supplementary Table 1).

Youth Self-Report scores were statistically different according to the group (CP and NCP), in each analyzed factors. The most significant factors to determine differences in YSR scores were the first-degree family history for psychopathology (p = 0.022), CTQ scores (p < 0.001), FAD scores (< 0.001), parental marital status (p = 0.027), and disruptive behaviors (p = 0.014). Results on the interaction between the group and each factor did not show a significant difference, except for CTQ scores (Table 3). Regarding first-degree family history for psychopathology, posthoc pairwise comparison tests showed a significant difference between participants without family history and those with one or both parents with a mental disorder (p < 0.001 and p = 0.004 accordingly), but no statistical difference between these last two categories (p = 0.998).

We found similar findings on GHQ scores in both group and factors. The most significant factors to determine differences in GHQ scores were the first-degree family history for psychopathology (p = 0.028), CTQ scores (p < 0.001), FAD scores (<0.001), and other drugs use (p = 0.049) (Table 4).

3.3. Predictive dimensional models

We studied the most predictive models on YSR scores with selection of the most significant factors identified in the previous logistic regressions. The two models with the smallest AIC were selected. *Model 1* included the following variables: group, CTQ, FAD, and first-degree family history of psychopathology (AIC = 790.13). In *model 2*, the variable first-degree family history of psychopathology was excluded (AIC = 790.17). The significance of each predictor in the predictive dimensional models is shown in Table 5.

Finding about the most predictive two models for GHQ scores are presented in the annex section (Supplementary Table 2). Group, FAD, and first-degree family history of psychopathology are included in both models, whereas CTQ is only present in the second best model.

3.4. Quality of life and care needs

The correlation matrix (Figure 3) assesses the strength and the direction of the relationship between the four domains of WHOQoL, HoNOSCA, GHQ, and YSR. Each correlation coefficient was statistically significant (p < 0.05). The higher positive correlation coefficient (rho = 0.81) was found in the relationship between YSR and HoNOSCA. GHQ and HoNOSCA are also positively correlated, but with a lower coefficient (rho = 0.66). Similar results were found in GHQ and YSR (rho = 0.61). GHQ, YSR, and HoNOSCA correlate negatively with all four domains of WHOQoL. However, the correlations with the highest coefficients are found between the first two domains of WHOQoL (1 = physical health; 2 = psychological health) and the other measures scores: GHQ (rho = -0.64 and -0.67, respectively), YSR (rho = -0.69 and -0.71, respectively), and HoNOSCA (rho = -0.70 and -0.71, respectively). The four domains of WHOQoL are all positively correlated among them; even if statistically significant, these correlations do not appear very strong. The highest one is the correlation between domains 1 and 2 (rho = 0.71).

TABLE 1 Sociodemographic characteristics of the sample and comparisons of the groups (N = 220).

Variables	Total (n	n = 220)	CP (<i>n</i> =	106)	NCP (r		
	n	%	n	%	n	%	<i>p</i> -value
Sex			1				
Male	66	30.0	32	30.2	34	29.8	
Female	152	69.1	72	67.9	80	70.2	0.334
Other	2	0.9	2	1.9	0	0.0	
Civil status							
Single	213	96.8	102	96.2	110	97.4	0.714
Cohabitant	7	3.2	4	3.8	3	2.6	0./14
Country of birth							
Belgium	181	82.3	86	81.1	95	83.3	0.669
Other	39	17.7	20	18.9	19	16.7	0.009
Adoption							
No	214	97.3	103	97.2	111	97.4	1.000
Yes	6	2.7	3	2.8	3	2.6	1.000
Parental marital status							
Married	105	47.7	40	37.7	65	57.0	
Divorced/separated	93	42.3	56	52.8	37	32.5	0.008**
Other	22	10.0	10	9.4	12	10.5	
Living arrangements							
Family	202	91.8	92	86.8	110	96.5	0.009**
Other	18	8.2	14	13.2	4	3.5	0.009
Education and/or employment							
Yes	207	94.1	96	90.6	111	97.4	0.044*
No	13	5.9	10	9.4	3	2.6	0.033

p < 0.05 and p < 0.01. CP, clinical population; NCP, non-clinical population. Bold values are the statistically significant *p*-values.

4. Discussion

This paper presents part of the *Transition_psy* study results. It consists of a case-control observational study aiming to model the mechanisms involved in the TAY psychopathology.

4.1. Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics

Some sociodemographic characteristics were are significantly related to the groups. Our findings show that CP participants have more frequently divorced or separated parents which is consistent with previous literature (36, 37). The differences observed in living arrangement conditions, on the contrary, is possibly related to the recruitment strategy of the *Transition_psy* study, as the clinical facilities collaborated with Youth Aid Residential Services, resulting in greater rates of CP youth not living with their families. Enrollment in education and/or employment is lower in the CP group. According to the Belgian Superior Health Council (38), psychopathology is associated with a higher risk for school dropout (39), and reduced work activity (40).

The statistical differences in clinical characteristics confirm that CP and NCP groups properly represent the clinical and nonclinical populations that we aimed to target in this study. Both psychopathology scores (GHQ and YSR) are relevant to distinguish between CP and NCP participants; these findings are consistent with previous research (41–43). Concerning quality of life, WHO-QoL scores in the CP population are significantly lower than in a reference healthy population (25). In particular, psychological health scores (Domain 2) in the total sample and CP group are lower than the means in the reference healthy population, whereas the environment scores (Domain 4) are higher in this study sample (25). Milestone European study showed that HoNOSCA is an appropriate instrument to assess the severity of mental health problems in TAY (44), which is consistent with our study sample.

However, part of the NCP participants already had previously had psychiatric and/or psychological consultation (40%), and a small portion of them already have received inpatient care in psychiatric units or psychotropic treatment. If these results could be partially explained by epidemiological data on mental health care needs in the general population (45), we should also highlight three additional factors. First, mental health literacy appears to have improved in youth over the last years (46), resulting in higher psychological or psychiatric consultation rates that might

TABLE 2 Comparison of clinical data by groups (N = 220).

Variables	Total (n	= 220)	CP (<i>n</i> =	106)	NCP (r		
	n	%	n	%	n	%	<i>p</i> -value
Psychiatric and/or psychologic	al consultation						
Yes	150	68	104	98.1	46	40.4	<0.001***
No	70	32	2	1.9	68	59.6	<0.001
Inpatient care							
Yes	49	22	46	43.4	3	2.6	<0.001***
No	171	78	60	56.6	111	97.4	<0.001
Psychotropic drug							
Yes	40	18	39	36.8	1	0.9	<0.001***
No	180	82	67	63.2	113	99.1	<0.001
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	<i>p</i> -value
GHQ	17.05	8.24	20.81	8.13	13.55	6.70	<0.001***
YSR	61.20	10.17	66.52	8.95	56.25	8.64	<0.001***
WHOQoL							
Domain 1	66.26	18.59	56.44	17.91	75.39	14.04	<0.001***
Domain 2	53.44	21.71	40.53	19.30	65.45	16.29	<0.001***
Domain 3	62.60	19.15	57.43	19.84	67.39	17.23	<0.001***
Domain 4	72.74	17.15	67.58	17.97	77.53	14.89	<0.001***
HoNOSCA	17.92	10.21	24.20	9.02	12.09	7.42	<0.001***

****p* < 0.001. CP, clinical population; GHQ, General Health Questionnaire; HoNOSCA, Health of The Nation Outcome Scales For Children And Adolescents; NCP, non-clinical population; SD, standard deviation; WHO-QoL, World Health Organization Quality of Life (domains: (1) physical health, (2) psychological health, (3) social relationships, and (4) environment); YSR, Youth Self-Report. Bold values are the statistically significant *p*-values.

not be related to a general increase in psychopathology nor in mental health care needs. Second, we acknowledge that data were collected mostly during the COVID-19 pandemic. It has already been proven that mental disorders increased during the pandemic, particularly in youth (47). Last, since NCP participants volunteered to participate in this research, they could be more likely to be concerned by a past or present experience of psychopathology.

Participation rates were quite different according to the two groups (CP and NCP). Firstly, the recruitment procedure was different in CP and NCP groups. Since CP youth were enrolled in the study in collaboration with their clinician, many of them (45%) declined to participate. On the contrary, NCP youth were asked to express their interest to participate, spontaneously, and they received compensation; as consequence, they were less susceptible to decline the participation to the study. Secondly, we hypothesize that in the CP group, the intensity of the psychopathology might have discouraged participation, which lead to higher rates of refusal and impossibility to reach out the participant by phone.

4.2. Familial vulnerability and environmental factors

We explored the role of several factors on TAY psychopathology, which have been grouped into three main categories: (1) familial vulnerability, (2) childhood environmental factors, and (3) present environmental factors. Due the recruitment

selection of participants, the two groups differed significantly in terms of psychopathology. The interaction of each factor and the group was explored.

Youth psychopathology appeared significantly different according to the presence of parental history of psychopathology, in both CP and NCP groups. However, the effect of one or both parents with history of psychopathology was not cumulative, the only significant effect on TAY psychopathology was whether at least one parent presented a positive history of mental disorder or not. It is already known that parental mental illness represents a double burden for children and adolescents in both genetic transmission (4, 48) and family-related factors, such as a worse family environment and interaction between parents and children (49). Our study findings on familial vulnerability support the link between genetics first-degree familial mental health disorders and TAY psychopathology.

All types of childhood trauma have been proven to be a common matrix in the emergence of non-specific psychopathology, playing a crucial role in the factor "p" model (11). Our study findings are consistent with the previous literature. Childhood trauma (CTQ) was statistically correlated with TAY psychopathology, and the interaction with the group was significant. This leads us to suggest that childhood trauma might trigger to seek for help at the transitional age. Further research in other TAY samples should be performed to verify this hypothesis.

Family environment plays a mediating role in the relationship between stressors and children and adolescents'

TABLE 3 Youth-Self Report (YSR) scores according to group and familial vulnerability, childhood or present environmental factors.

TABLE 5 TOURT-Set Report (TSR) S	1		-		-				
Variables	Total (n	= 220)	CP (<i>n</i>	= 106)	NCP (n	n = 114)		p-va	lue
Family vulnerability	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Variable	Group	Interaction variable-group
1 st degree family history ^a									
None	58.65	9.55	64.67	8.67	55.23	8.28			
One parent	66.53	8.59	68.25	8.24	58.50	5.09	0.022*	<0.001***	0.681
Both parents	66.69	12.01	68.63	10.41	63.60	14.98			
			b [95	% CI]				p-va	lue
Childhood environmental factors	Vari	able	Gro	oup		action e-group	Variable	Group	Interaction variable-group
CTQ ^a	0.44 [0.2	22; 0.37]	-0.38 [-4.	99; -2.80]	0.12 [0.0	01; 0.16]	<0.001***	<0.001***	0.025*
FAD ^a	0.36 [0.3	31; 0.58]	-0.42 [-5.	38; -3.16]	0.04 [-0.0	08; -0.19]	<0.001***	<0.001***	0.430
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Variable	Group	Interaction variable-group
Country of birth									
Belgium	61.03	10.32	66.64	8.78	55.96	8.54	0.715	<0.001***	0.438
Other	61.97	10.17	66.00	9.87	57.74	9.21	0./13	<0.001	0.430
Adoption									
Yes	61.83	8.40	67.67	4.16	56.00	7.55	0.000	0.003**	0.044
No	61.18	10.22	66.49	9.06	56.26	8.69	0.900	0.003	0.844
Psychomotricity									
Yes	63.65	8.90	66.55	6.09	58.33	11.26	0.622	<0.001***	0.642
No	61.00	10.26	66.52	9.25	56.14	8.52	0.633	<0.001	0.642
Speech therapy									
Yes	62.61	10.33	67.61	7.71	54.35	8.74	0.798	<0.001***	0.134
No	60.66	10.08	65.91	9.58	56.74	8.59	0.798	<0.001	0.134
Reading delay ^b									
Yes	62.94	10.84	68.33	9.73	57.56	9.46	0.453	<0.001***	0.899
No	60.97	10.07	66.43	8.78	56.20	8.62	0.433	<0.001	0.899
Writing delay ^b									
Yes	58.50	11.50	67.67	10.07	54.57	10.23	0.891	<0.001***	0.642
No	61.31	10.06	66.66	8.78	56.43	8.58	0.091	<0.001	0.042
Grade retention ^b									
Never	59.23	10.16	67.23	9.23	55.04	7.89			
Once	63.65	9.31	65.78	8.55	60.16	9.63	0.409	<0.001***	0.059
Twice or more	64.69	10.31	66.48	9.45	57.20	11.45			
Present environmental factors	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Variable	Group	Interaction variable-group
Civil status ^b									
Single	61.24	10.25	66.58	9.07	56.34	8.73	0.473	0.001**	0.797
Cohabitant	59.86	7.56	65.00	5.48	53.00	1.73	0.4/3	0.001	0./ 2/
Parental marital status ^b									
Married	59.00	10.09	65.67	9.19	54.89	8.31			
Divorced/separated	64.23	9.90	67.68	8.72	59.00	9.38	0.027*	<0.001***	0.658
Other	58.91	8.58	63.40	9.08	55.17	6.28			

(Continued)

TABLE 3 (Continued)

Present environmental factors	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Variable	Group	Interaction variable-group			
iving arrangements ^b												
Family	61.21	10.26	67.08	8.76	56.31	8.69	0.26	<0.001***	0.604			
Other	61.06	9.74	62.86	9.70	54.75	7.85	0.20	<0.001	0.004			
Education and/or employmen	lt ^b											
Yes	61.12	10.30	66.67	9.19	56.32	8.70	0.514	<0.001***	0.900			
No	62.54	7.77	65.10	6.39	54.00	6.08	0.314	<0.001	0.500			
Alcohol ^b												
Yes	61.69	9.70	65.15	8.63	56.40	7.38	0.284	<0.001***	0.446			
No	60.42	10.88	67.38	9.38	56.02	10.42	0.204	<0.001	0.440			
Tobacco ^b												
Yes	63.77	10.17	68.83	8.12	56.77	8.50	0.117	<0.001***	0.286			
No	60.19	10.02	65.33	9.18	56.10	8.72	0.117	<0.001	0.280			
Cannabis ^b												
Yes	63.53	9.67	67.54	8.71	57.28	7.64	0.274	<0.001***	0.911			
No	60.24	10.24	65.93	9.10	55.97	8.91	0.274	<0.001	0.911			
Other drug ^b												
Yes	65.43	7.37	67.17	6.31	55.00	0.00	0.952	0.021*	0.839			
No	61.06	10.23	66.48	9.11	56.27	8.67	0.952	0.021	0.839			
Disruptive behaviors ^b												
Yes	65.98	9.26	70.28	7.43	58.19	6.95	0.014*	<0.001***	0.331			
No	59.97	10.05	65.10	9.11	55.94	8.87		<0.001	0.331			

^aData is missing for 24 participants (16 CP and 8 NCP); ^bData is missing for 9 participants (7 CP and 2 NCP); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; and ****p* < 0.001. CTQ, Childhood Trauma Questionnaire; FAD, Family Assessment Device; CP, clinical population; NCP, non-clinical population; SD, standard deviation; YSR, Youth Self-Report. Bold values are the statistically significant *p*-values.

TABLE 4 Summary of the GHQ scores according to most significant factors.

Variables	Total (n	n = 196)	CP (n	= 90)	NCP (n	= 106)		lue		
Family vulnerability	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Variable	Group	Interaction variable-group	
1 st degree family history										
None	15.38	7.78	18.78	8.58	13.44	6.59				
One parent	21.18	8.54	22.61	7.97	14.50	8.60	0.028*	0.001**	0.743	
Both parents	22.31	7.78	24.63	6.89	18.60	8.14				
			b [95	% CI]			<i>p</i> -value			
Childhood environmental factors	Vari	able	Gro	oup		action e-group	Variable	Group	Interaction variable-group	
CTQ	0.24 [06	3; 0.020]	-0.36 [-3.	97; –1.94]	0.02 [-0	0.06; 0.8]	<0.001***	<0.001***	0.782	
FAD	0.26 [0.]	14; 0.38]	-0.37 [-3.	99; -2.02]	-0.32 [-0).54; 0.59]	<0.001***	<0.001***	0.592	
Present environmental factors	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Variable	Group	Interaction variable-group	
Other drug										
Yes	14.00	6.25	15.83	4.31	3.00		0.049*	0.012*	0.504	
No	17.15	8.30	21.11	8.22	13.65	6.66	0.049	0.012	0.504	

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; and ***p < 0.001; complete results are available in the annex section. CTQ, Childhood Trauma questionnaire; FAD, Family Assessment Device; GHQ, General Health Questionnaire; CP, clinical population; NCP, non-clinical population; SD, standard deviation. Bold values are the statistically significant p-values.

psychopathology (50, 51), but the impact on youth still needs to be established. In our TAY sample, family functioning appeared to be significantly correlated with psychopathology.

We can affirm that these findings about family functioning in TAY provide consistent evidence about the relation with youth psychopathology.

TABLE 5 Best model selection: significance of the predictors on YSR.

	Variables	AIC	<i>p</i> -value	Model coefficients	95% confidence interval
Model 1	Group		<0.001***	-0.377	(-9.997, -5.340)
	CTQ	790.13	<0.001***	0.284	(0.094, 0.310)
	FAD		0.044*	0.152	(0.005, 0.377)
	1 st degree family history		0.159	0.084	(-0.580, 3.507)
Model 2	Group		<0.001***	-0.383	(-9.994, -5.617)
	CTQ	790.17	<0.001***	0.305	(0.107, 0.310)
	FAD		0.047*	0.149	(0.003, 0.365)

p < 0.05 and r + p < 0.001. AIC, Akaike Information Criterion; CTQ, Childhood Trauma Questionnaire; FAD, Family Assessment Device; YSR, Youth Self-Report. Bold values are the statistically significant *p*-values.

Among present environmental factors, only parental marital status and disruptive behaviors were found to be significant. As discussed above, parental marital status was statistically different according to the group. Our TAY sample psychopathology appeared to correlate significantly with this factor, as is the case for children (37). The main hypothesis explaining the correlation between psychopathology and disruptive behaviors seems to be the possible redundancy of this variable with two YSR sub-scales (rule-breaking behavior, and aggressive behavior) (16). However, we should point out that total scores for psychopathology were significantly correlated to disruptive behaviors in our study sample.

The results on substance use should be discussed. None of the assessed substance was significant to TAY psychopathology. This finding could be explained in two different ways. On one hand, we could hypothesize that substance use does not intervene in



FIGURE 3

Correlation matrix between WHO-QoL, HoNOSCA, GHQ, and YSR. Correlation coefficient, method = Spearman's rho; all coefficients are bold because they are statistically significant (p < 0.05). GHQ, General Health Questionnaire; HoNOSCA, Health of The Nation Outcome Scales For Children And Adolescents; WHO-QoL, World Health Organization Quality of Life (domains: (1) physical health, (2) psychological health, (3) social relationships, and (4) environment); YSR, Youth Self-Report. the emergence of psychopathology, it is rather a consequence of psychopathology as a subsequent manifestation. On the other hand, in occidental societies, substance use is increasing in youth, and the age of first drug consumption is lower than it was in the past, and this is certainly the case in Belgium (52). Hence, substance use in youth might be not uniquely correlated to psychopathology, but also connected to societal trends.

Similar considerations can be pointed out about enrollment in education and/or employment. However, in this case, the causative role of psychopathology on school drop-out and reduced work activity has already been recognized (39, 40).

4.3. Predictive dimensional models

The best subsets selection aimed to present dimensional models for the most predictive outcomes on TAY psychopathology. Results on YSR identified the three best predictors in youth: group, childhood trauma (CTQ), and family functioning (FAD). Family functioning was already correlated with youth psychopathology in urban areas, particularly regarding internalizing symptoms (53). Recent studies showed a positive correlation between adverse childhood experiences and neurodevelopmental disorders in children, leading to a greater risk of poor health outcomes in childhood and adolescence through the mediation of maladaptive stress calibration (54-56). Thus, the presence of childhood trauma and poor family functioning in strong association with the psychopathology in our TAY sample seems consistent with these models. These findings also need to be interpreted in light of some CTQ specific characteristics. The majority of items in the CTQ are related to past experiences with family and parents (29, 30), consequently concordant results between CTQ and FAD seem consistent with previous studies in University students (57).

The first-degree family history of psychopathology, even if significant in the linear regression, appeared to be redundant to predict TAY psychopathology. This might be related to different hypotheses. In particular, we found an already proven correlation between maternal mood disorder, youth comorbidity, and worse family functioning among bipolar youth (58). Additionally, high parental stress is a major risk factor for childhood maltreatment. Childhood maltreatment has been proven to worsen psychopathology, in particular symptoms related to neurodevelopmental conditions (54, 59), but also to cause psychopathology if combined with other genetic and environmental risk factors (60). For these reasons, we highlight that childhood trauma and poor family functioning might be strong enough explanatory factors associated with belonging to a clinical population.

The influence of genetics on psychiatric disorders (4, 48) is far from being rejected with these findings on familial vulnerability. However, dimensional models showed that, in clinical practice, assessment of childhood trauma and family functioning in the clinical population might be more efficient in the prediction of psychopathology in TAY.

The most predictive dimensional models on GHQ showed three similar significant factors: group, family functioning (FAD), and first-degree family history of psychopathology. These findings are essential for the screening of TAY psychopathology in primary care settings. General practitioners and other first-line health professionals might benefit from this model to efficiently screen psychopathology in youth and, if needed, refer to specific psychiatric care.

4.4. Quality of life and care needs

The positive and strong correlation between YSR and HoNOSCA confirms that as TAY psychopathology increases, care needs are greater. HoNOSCA has already been proven to be a cheap and efficient tool to monitor care needs in youth at the transition boundary (61). This instrument should be considered in clinical practice because of its specificity to correlate with psychopathology in detail. The correlation between GHQ and HoNOSCA is positive and significant, but less strong than the correlation between YSR and HoNOSCA. These findings are consistent with the fact that GHQ is a more sensitive tool to screen psychopathology, when compared to YSR, but may be less specific to determine care needs in depth. As already discussed above, GHQ finds its interest in primary care. In general, these results about positive correlation between TAY psychopathology and care needs support the encouraging trend of mental health literacy in youth (46), which is the best strategy to improve early intervention (62, 63).

Youth psychopathology and all quality of life domains are negatively correlated in the *Transition_psy* study sample. In particular, greater correlations are found in physical and psychological health, meaning that these two domains are more related to youth psychopathology in our study population. In the clinical sample of the Milestone European study, the most impacted domains were psychological health and social relationships, even if not significant in the comparison between usual care and managed transition (61).

Concerning quality of life itself, our findings show that all four domains correlate positively among them in a significant way. TAY's physical and psychological health positively and strongly correlates. Environment moderately correlates with both physical and psychological health, whereas the correlation between the social relationships and the other three domains is not very strong. To date, few studies are available in the literature showing WHO-QoL inter-domain correlation in TAY. One of these was conducted in war-affected youth in Sierra Leone; these findings show lower positive correlation between physical health with psychological health and environment, whereas the correlation between environment and psychological health seems more similar (64). Further research should be led to test more detailed hypotheses on this subject.

4.5. Limitations

Certain limitations in this study should be further taken into account, mainly the differences about the CP and NCP groups and the impact of COVID-19 pandemics on youth mental health.

Participant groups (CP or NCP) were selected according to the participants' active involvement in inpatient and/or outpatient mental health care, in the recruitment setting. However, all data were collected *via* self-report questionnaires, resulting in the absence of clinician and/or parents information. Among the CP population, a small proposition of participants did not selfreported being involved in mental health care even if they were recruited in one of the clinical settings. This example illustrates that information bias is a key problem in the assessment of research study designs and a distortion of results must always be considered (65).

Selection bias must also be taken into account in this study. A considerable proportion of NCP youth declared involvement in inpatient or outpatient mental health care or psychotropic drug use previously to the recruitment phase. Even though they were not actively seeking mental health care, their previous life experiences may have caused a distortion in results, probably by reducing differences between the two groups. Additionally, a selective refusal to participate in the study was perhaps observed. Participants needed to be motivated to answer questions about their mental health status and psychological vulnerabilities. It is possible that some responders dropped out of the study for two opposite reasons: either their psychological discomfort was too high to participate in a mental health study (most probably in the CP group) or, on the contrary, they did not feel mental health was a priority during the considered period (particularly among the NCP group). Also, recruitment strategies between the two groups were slightly different as described in the methods section (15, 66).

Additionally, data were collected between June 2020 and December 2021, mostly during the COVID-19 pandemic phase. It has already been shown that mental health problems urged during this period, particularly in adolescents and young adults (47). The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health research are not yet properly acknowledged but this element must be considered in our study.

5. Conclusion

A complex model, including familial vulnerability and environmental factors, is needed to understand the emergence of psychopathology in TAY. To date, the trans-diagnostic and dimensional approach seems to be the most appropriate one.

With this study, we propose a predictive dimensional model on TAY psychopathology that includes belonging to a clinical group at the transitional age, childhood trauma, and family functioning. To date, few studies have been conducted on how
to predict psychopathology in youth. Further research is needed to replicate these findings and to study other factors' role in TAY psychopathology.

In terms of implications in clinical practice, early and specific assessment of the emergent psychopathology in TAY is crucial to allow early intervention and to improve lifelong prognostic. The proposed predictive dimensional model might be implemented in clinical practice to alert professionals about the presence of psychopathology in TAY.

Additionally, HoNOSCA seems an efficient tool to establish care needs in psychiatric settings at the boundary between Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services and Adult Mental Health Services. GHQ could be used as a consistent screening tool of psychopathology in youth in primary care settings.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by IRBs of Queen Fabiola Children's University Hospital, Brugmann University Hospital, and Erasmus Hospital. The study was conducted in accordance with the International Conference on Harmonization (ICH) for good clinical practice (GCP). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

VD was the chief investigator who conceptualized the study and wrote the grant funding proposition, together with MD, HN, CK, and JR. SM, JR, and EB-S collected and analyzed the research data and prepared the first draft and subsequent versions of this manuscript. SM and JR were the research assistants and wrote the ethical approval documents. CL and HS contributed to the statistical analysis and results interpretation. VD, HN, MD, CK, CL,

References

1. Solmi, M, Radua J, Olivola M, Croce E, Soardo L, Salazar de Pablo G, et al. Age at onset of mental disorders worldwide: Large-scale meta-analysis of 192 epidemiological studies. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2022). 27:281–95. doi: 10.1038/s41380-021-01 161-7

2. Millan M, Andrieux A, Bartzokis G, Cadenhead K, Dazzan P, Fusar-Poli P, et al. Altering the course of schizophrenia: Progress and perspectives. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2016) 15:485–515. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2016.28

3. Georgieff N. L'adolescence à l'épreuve de la neurobiologie? *Adolescence*. (2013) 311:185-190. doi: 10.3917/ado.083.0185

4. Abdellaoui A, Verweij K. [Genetics and psychiatry]. *Tijdschr Psychiatr.* (2022) 64:260–5.

and HS revised the manuscript. All authors reviewed and approved the submitted version of this manuscript.

Funding

The *Transition_psy* study was carried out as part of the Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium and University Chair "Psychiatry in Transition in a World in Transition", supported by the Julie Renson Fund, the Queen Fabiola Fund, and the King Baudouin Foundation (grant number: 2019-J1130650-213107).

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Iman Hussein for her contribution in the participants' recruitment.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2023. 1103030/full#supplementary-material

5. Andersen S. Commentary on the special issue on the adolescent brain: Adolescence, trajectories, and the importance of prevention. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 70:329–33. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.07.012

6. Bonanno G, Mancini A. The human capacity to thrive in the face of potential trauma. *Pediatrics*. (2008) 121:369–75.

7. D'Andrea W, Ford J, Stolbach B, Spinazzola J, van der Kolk B. Understanding interpersonal trauma in children: Why we need a developmentally appropriate trauma diagnosis. *Am J Orthopsychiatry.* (2012) 82:187–200. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-0025.2012. 01154.x

8. Paus T, Keshavan M, Giedd J. Why do many psychiatric disorders emerge during adolescence? Nat Rev Neurosci. (2008) 9:947-57.

9. Paus T. How environment and genes shape the adolescent brain. *Horm Behav.* (2013) 64:195–202.

10. Stanis J, Andersen S. Reducing substance use during adolescence: A translational framework for prevention. *Psychopharmacology.* (2014) 231:1437–53. doi: 10.1007/s00213-013-3393-1

11. Caspi A, Moffitt T. All for one and one for all: Mental disorders in one dimension. Am J Psychiatry. (2018) 175:831-44.

12. McGorry P, Hartmann J, Spooner R, Nelson B. Beyond the "at risk mental state" concept: Transitioning to transdiagnostic psychiatry. *World Psychiatry.* (2018) 17:133–42.

13. Shah J, Scott J, McGorry P, Cross S, Keshavan M, Nelson B, et al. Transdiagnostic clinical staging in youth mental health: A first international consensus statement. *World Psychiatry.* (2020) 19:233–42. doi: 10.1002/wps.20745

14. Cuthbert B. The RDoC framework: Facilitating transition from ICD/DSM to dimensional approaches that integrate neuroscience and psychopathology. *World Psychiatry.* (2014) 13:28–35. doi: 10.1002/wps.20087

15. Reis J, Marchini S, De Leeuw A, Slama H, Leys C, Delhaye M, et al. Study protocol: Transition _ psy a multicenter prospective longitudinal cohort study assessing risk and protective factors to develop psychopathology in transitional age youth in Belgium. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:645679. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.645679

16. Achenbach, T. Youth Self-Report Form and Profile for Ages 11-18 (YSR/11-18). Itaca, Ill Riverside. (1991). Burlington, VT: University of Vermont, Research Center for Children, Youth, & Families.

17. Wyss C, Voelker S, Cornock B, Hakim-Larson J. Psychometric properties of a French-Canadian translation of Achenbach's youth self-report. *Can J Behav Sci.* (2003) 35:67–71. doi: 10.1037/h0087189

18. Verhulst F, Achenbach T, van der Ende J, Erol N, Lambert M, Leung P, et al. Comparisons of problems reported by youths from seven countries. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2003) 160:1479–85.

19. Goldberg D, Williams P. General Health Questionnaire (GHQ). Swindon: nferNelson (2000).

20. Salama-Younes M, Montazeri A, Ismaïl A, Roncin C. Factor structure and internal consistency of the 12-item general health questionnaire (GHQ-12) and the subjective vitality scale (VS), and the relationship between them: A study from France. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. (2009) 7:22. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-7-22

21. Smith P. The role of the general health questionnaire in general practice consultations. Br J Gen Pract. (1998) 48:1565–9.

22. Gureje O, Obikoya B. The GHQ-12 as a screening tool in a primary care setting. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (1990) 25:276-80. doi: 10.1007/BF00788650

23. Gowers S, Harrington R, Whitton A, Lelliott P, Beevor A, Wing J, et al. Brief scale for measuring the outcomes of emotional and behavioural disorders in children. Health of the nation outcome scales for children and adolescents (HoNOSCA). *Br J Psychiatry.* (1999) 174:413–6. doi: 10.1192/bjp.174.5.413

24. Urben S, Baier V, Mantzouranis G, Schwery J, Mahi C, Courosse S, et al. The French adaptation of the health of the nation outcome scale for children and adolescents self-rated form (F-HoNOSCA-SR): Validation and clinical routine use. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 218:229–35. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.04.004

25. Skevington S, Lotfy M, O'Connell K, WHOQOL Group. The world health organization's WHOQOL-BREF quality of life assessment: Psychometric properties and results of the international field trial. A report from the WHOQOL group. *Qual Life Res.* (2004) 13:299–310. doi: 10.1023/B:QURE.0000018486.91360.00

26. Baumann C, Erpelding M, Régat S, Collin J, Briançon S. The WHOQOL-BREF questionnaire: French adult population norms for the physical health, psychological health and social relationship dimensions. *Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique.* (2010) 58:33–9. doi: 10.1016/j.respe.2009.10.009

27. Peterson R, Pennington B. Peterson R- 2012- the lancet-developmental dyslexia. *Lancet.* (2012) 379:1997–2007.

28. Billard C, Delteil-Pinton F. Clinique de la dyslexie. Arch Pediatr. (2010) 17:1734-43.

29. Bernstein D, Ahluvalia T, Pogge D, Handelsman L. Validity of the childhood trauma questionnaire in an adolescent psychiatric population. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (1997) 36:340–8. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199703000-00012

30. Paquette D, Laporte L, Bigras M, Zoccolillo M. Validation de la version française du CTQ et prévalence de l'histoire de maltraitance 1. *Sante Ment Que.* (2004) 29:201–20.

31. Hori H, Itoh M, Lin M, Yoshida F, Niwa M, Hakamata Y, et al. Childhood maltreatment history and attention bias variability in healthy adult women: Role of inflammation and the BDNF Val66Met genotype. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2021) 11:122. doi: 10.1038/s41398-021-01247-4

32. Epstein N, Baldwin L, Bishop D. The McMaster family assessment device. J Marital Fam Ther. (1983) 9:171–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-0606.1983.tb01497.x

33. Speranza M, Guénolé F, Revah-Levy A, Egler P, Negadi F, Falissard B, et al. The French version of the family assessment device. *Can J Psychiatry*. (2012) 57:570–7. doi: 10.1177/070674371205700908

34. Mansfield A, Keitner G, Dealy J. The family assessment device: An update. *Fam Process.* (2015) 54:82–93.

35. Erdfelder E, FAul F, Buchner A, Lang A. Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav Res Methods.* (2009) 41:1149–60. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149

36. O'Connor T, Caspi A, DeFries J, Plomin R. Are associations between parental divorce and children's adjustment genetically mediated? An adoption study. *Dev Psychol.* (2000) 36:429–37. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.36.4.429

37. D'Onofrio B, Turkheimer E, Emery R, Maes H, Silberg J, Eaves L. A children of twins study of parental divorce and offspring psychopathology. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry.* (2007) 48:667–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01741.x

38. Superior Health Council [SHC]. Research in Mental Health: Bridging the Knowledge Gap August 2022 SHC No 9667. Brussels: SHC (2022).

39. Hjorth C, Bilgrav L, Frandsen L, Overgaard C, Torp-Pedersen C, Nielsen B, et al. Mental health and school dropout across educational levels and genders: A 4.8-year follow-up study. *BMC Public Health*. (2016) 16:976. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3622-8

40. Leka S, Jain A. Mental Health in the Workplace in Europe. EU Compass for Action on Mental Health and Well-being. Brussels: European Commission (2020).

41. Baksheev G, Robinson J, Cosgrave E, Baker K, Yung A. Validity of the 12-item General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12) in detecting depressive and anxiety disorders among high school students. *Psychiatry Res.* (2011) 187:291–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres. 2010.10.010

42. Collishaw S, Maughan B, Natarajan L, Pickles A. Trends in adolescent emotional problems in England: A comparison of two national cohorts twenty years apart. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Discip.* (2010) 51:885–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610. 2010.02252.x

43. Roelofs J, Braet C, Rood L, Timbremont B, van Vlierberghe L, Goossens L, et al. Norms and screening utility of the dutch version of the Children's depression inventory in clinical and nonclinical youths. *Psychol Assess.* (2010) 22:866–77. doi: 10.1037/a0020593

44. Gerritsen S, Maras A, van Bodegom L, Overbeek M, Verhulst F, Wolke D, et al. Cohort profile: Demographic and clinical characteristics of the MILESTONE longitudinal cohort of young people approaching the upper age limit of their child mental health care service in Europe. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e053373. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-053373

45. Alonso J, Angermeyer M, Bernert S, Bruffaerts R, Brugha T, Bryson H, et al. Prevalence of mental disorders in Europe: Results from the European study of the epidemiology of mental disorders (ESEMeD) project. *Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl.* (2004) 109:21–7.

46. Amado-Rodríguez I, Casañas R, Mas-Expósito L, Castellví P, Roldan-Merino J, Casas I, et al. Effectiveness of mental health literacy programs in primary and secondary schools: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Children*. (2022) 9:480.

47. Santomauro D, Mantilla Herrera A, Shadid J, Zheng P, Ashbaugh C, Pigott D, et al. Global prevalence and burden of depressive and anxiety disorders in 204 countries and territories in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:1700–12. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02143-7

48. Schijven D, Zinkstok J, Luykx J. [From genetic findings to clinical practice in psychiatry: How genetics may enable Precision Psychiatry]. *Tijdschr Psychiatr.* (2020) 62:776–83.

49. Van Loon L, Van de Ven M, Van Doesum K, Witteman C, Hosman C. The relation between parental mental illness and adolescent mental health: The role of family factors. *J Child Fam Stud.* (2014) 23:1201–14. doi: 10.1007/s10826-013-9781-7

50. Grant K, Compas B, Thurm A, McMahon S, Gipson P, Campbell A, et al. Stressors and child and adolescent psychopathology: Evidence of moderating and mediating effects. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2006) 26:257–83. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2005.06.011

51. Cohen P, Brook J. Family factors related to the persistence of psychopathology in childhood and adolescence. *Psychiatry*. (1987) 50:332–45. doi: 10.1080/00332747.1987. 11024365

52. Gisle L, Demarest S, Drieskens S. Enquête de santé 2018: Usage des drogues. Report number: D/2019/14.44/68. Belgique: Sciensano (2019).

53. Sheidow A, Henry D, Tolan P, Strachan M. The role of stress exposure and family functioning in internalizing outcomes of urban families. *J Child Fam Stud.* (2014) 23:1351–65.

54. Gajwani R, Minnis H. Double jeopardy: Implications of neurodevelopmental conditions and adverse childhood experiences for child health. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry.* (2022) 32:1–4. doi: 10.1007/s00787-022-02081-9

55. Strathearn L, Giannotti M, Mills R, Kisely S, Najman J, Abajobir A. Long-term cognitive, psychological, and health outcomes associated with child abuse and neglect. *Pediatrics.* (2020) 146:e20200438.

56. Schilling E, Aseltine R, Gore S. Adverse childhood experiences and mental health in young adults: A longitudinal survey. *BMC Public Health.* (2007) 7:30. doi: 10.1186/ 1471-2458-7-30

57. Tanju E, Demirbaş H. Investigation of childhood trauma experiences and family functions among university students. *Procedia Soc Behav Sci.* (2012) 47:1950–6.

58. Esposito-Smythers C, Birmaher B, Valeri S, Chiappetta L, Hunt J, Ryan N, et al. Child comorbidity, maternal mood disorder, and perceptions of family functioning among bipolar youth. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry.* (2006) 45:955–64. doi: 10.1097/01.chi.0000222785.11359.04

59. Dinkler L, Lundström S, Gajwani R, Lichtenstein P, Gillberg C, Minnis H. Maltreatment-associated neurodevelopmental disorders: A co-twin control analysis. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2017) 58:691–701. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12682

60. Baldwin J, Wang B, Karwatowska L, Schoeler T, Tsaligopoulou A, Munafò M, et al. Childhood maltreatment and mental health problems: A systematic review and meta-analysis of quasi-experimental studies. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2023) 180:117–26. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.20220174

61. Singh, S, Tuomainen H, Bouliotis G, Canaway A, De Girolamo G, Dieleman G, et al. Effect of managed transition on mental health outcomes for young people at the child–adult mental health service boundary: A randomised clinical trial. *Psychol Med.* (2021):1–12.

62. Kelly C, Jorm A, Wright A. Improving mental health literacy as a strategy to facilitate early intervention for mental disorders. *Med J Aust.* (2007) 187:S26–30. doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2007.tb01332.x

63. Marinucci A, Grové C, Allen K-AA. Scoping review and analysis of mental health literacy interventions for children and youth. *School Psych Rev.* (2022) 187:1–15. doi: 10.1080/2372966X.2021.2018918

64. Newnham E, McBain R, Hann K, Akinsulure-Smith A, Weisz J, Lilienthal G, et al. The youth readiness intervention for war-affected youth. *J Adolesc Heal.* (2015) 56:606–11.

65. Althubaiti A. Information bias in health research: Definition, pitfalls, and adjustment methods. *J Multidiscip Healthc.* (2016) 187:211. doi: 10.2147/JMDH. S104807

66. Shapiro S, Rosenberg L. Bias in case-control studies. In: Armitage P, Colton T, editors *Encyclopedia of Biostatistics*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (2005). doi: 10.1002/0470011815.b2a03013

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Olivier Putois, Université de Strasbourg, France

REVIEWED BY Khadija Chahraoui, Université Paris 8, France Romuald Jean-Dit-Pannel, Université de Franche-Comté, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Rahmeth Radjack ⊠ rahmeth.radjack@aphp.fr

RECEIVED 30 November 2022 ACCEPTED 03 April 2023 PUBLISHED 21 April 2023

CITATION

Radjack R, Bossuroy M, Camara H, Touhami F, Ogrizek A, Rodriguez J, Robin M and Moro MR (2023) Transcultural skills for early childhood professionals. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1112997. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1112997

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Radjack, Bossuroy, Camara, Touhami, Ogrizek, Rodriguez, Robin and Moro. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Transcultural skills for early childhood professionals

Rahmeth Radjack^{1,2,3}*, Muriel Bossuroy⁴, Hawa Camara^{1,2,3}, Fatima Touhami^{1,2,3}, Anaïs Ogrizek^{1,2,5}, Juliette Rodriguez^{1,2,3}, Marion Robin^{2,3,6} and Marie Rose Moro^{1,2,3}

¹Maison de Solenn, Department of Adolescent Psychiatry, Cochin Hospital, AP-HP, Paris University, Paris, France, ²Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, University of Paris, Paris, France, ³CESP-UVSQ, DevPsy, INSERM, Université Paris-Saclay, Villejuif, France, ⁴Unité Transversale de Psychogénèse et Psychopathologie, Sorbonne Paris Nord University, UTRPP, Villetaneuse, France, ⁵Department of Adult and Child Psychiatry, University Hospital of Martinique, Fort-de-France, France, ⁶Department of Adolescent and Young Adult Psychiatry, Institut Mutualiste Montsouris, Paris, France

Context: Transcultural skills are especially useful for those involved in the perinatal period, when parents and babies must adapt to one another in a setting of migration a long a focus of transcultural clinical practice.

Objective: The aim of this article is to provide useful transcultural skills for any health care worker (e.g., psychologists, child psychiatrists, midwives, family doctors, pediatricians, specialized child-care attendants, and social workers) who provide care or support to families during the perinatal period. It highlights the cultural aspects requiring attention in relation to representations of pregnancy, children's needs, obstetric complications, and postnatal problems. Taking into account the impact of culture on clinical evaluation and treatment can enable professionals to distinguish what involves cultural representations of pregnancy, babies, and sometimes of disease from what is associated with interaction disorders or maternal psychopathology.

Methods: After explaining the relevance of transcultural clinical practices to provide migrant mothers with better support, we describe 9 themes useful to explore from a transcultural perspective. This choice is based on the transcultural clinical practice in our specialized department.

Results: The description of these 9 themes is intended to aid in their pragmatic application and is illustrated with short clinical vignettes for specific concepts. We describe situations that are extreme but often encountered in liaison transcultural clinical practice for maternity wards: perinatal mourning with cultural coding, mediation in refusal of care, cultural misunderstandings, situations of complex trauma and of multiple contextual vulnerabilities, and difficulties associated with acculturation.

Discussion: The transcultural levers described here make it possible to limit cultural misunderstandings and to promote the therapeutic alliance. It presupposes the professionals will concomitantly analyze their cultural countertransference and acquire both the knowledge and know-how needed to understand the elements of cultural, political, and social issues needed to develop clinical finesse.

Conclusion: This combined theoretical-clinical article is intended to be pedagogical. It provides guidelines for conducting transcultural child psychiatry/ psychological interviews in the perinatal period aimed at both assessment and therapy.

KEYWORDS

culture, migration, transcultural competencies, perinatal, maternity ward, pregnancy, birth

Introduction: the importance of acquiring transcultural skills

There are a thousand and one ways to think about, educate, and take care of babies across the world, and they are all equally effective in enabling good child development-both emotional and physiological. Several sociological, anthropological, and psychological works confirm this universality without uniformity (1, 2). Among the differences that may affect our clinical evaluation, we should take into account the distal interactions in the mother-baby relationship and the more proximal interactions in some cultural groups (3-5). In many cultural groups, for example, tactile and motor interactions count more than visual and verbal interactions: mothers carry babies frequently; massages shape babies, drain their impurities, and stimulate them. That is, babies are considered malleable, impure, from a world of invisible beings (6). They must be embodied and shaped for the world of humans. Elsewhere, it is eye contact and speaking that have become most important in interactions to compensate for the distal character of other interactions, e.g., swaddling to avoid skin-to-skin contact, strollers later on (1). There are numerous examples around the world of important differences in how to put babies to sleep, feed them, play with them, care for them, and address them. There is not one good way or one bad way to interact with babies.

The fundamentals, such as the theory of attachment described by Bowlby (7), must also be taken into account in the context and the environment in which infants develop, along with their mothers and the various, often multiple, attachment figures (and not only one or two people who care for the baby consistently and continuously to aid their social and emotional development).

The absence of uniformity also lies in the way of thinking of a family (8). The concept of a family is enlarged beyond the nuclear in many cultures: the opinion of a maternal uncle in a matrilinear society (such as Haiti, some regions of Indonesia, and Cameroon) about a child's education can be more important than that of the father, for example. In other places, the role of the elders and even the ancestors is important (Asia), and children belong more to the group than to their two parents.

These differences create the need for professionals to decenter, that is, to not interpret the unknown in terms of the known, for that risks eroding human complexity and inducing cultural misunderstandings. On the contrary, we must leave room for doubt when we are faced with ways of doing things that seem surprising to us.

Knowing how to adapt the framework and the questions in an interview with patients or clients allows us to gain access to their different cultural representations. In our health care departments in France, the republican ideology is supposed to protect against the risk of pointing out differences in patients from other cultures and other religions, so that patients can feel they are receiving care with equal rights and without either judgment or exclusion. These universalist positions avoid any insistence on the difference between communities or cultural groups (9). Others nonetheless underline the need to recognize the specific needs of minorities and to find appropriate responses to these needs (10–13).

The curriculum allocates very little space to the consideration of cultural elements in health care relationships (14). Care providers are often very prudent, even inhibited, about approaching cultural questions, sometimes to the point of being implicitly reluctant to use an interpreter in situations where a language barrier exists, although this can be considered to constitute a form of institutional abuse/mistreatment (11). Another pitfall has been observed in France: the logic of integration that is supposed to erase or at least erode these differences led professionals of early childhood to advise in the 1980s that the use of French should be privileged in personal family spheres. One consequence of this was an impairment of the language quality in family interactions in non-French speaking families. It is clearly recognized today, however, that using a mother tongue other than that of the host country does not slow down the acquisition of the host-country language. On the contrary, the more languages one learns, the easier it is to learn others (15).

The objectives of this article are simultaneously theoretical, clinical, and pedagogic to demonstrate the importance of taking these elements into account to obtain a better clinical understanding and evaluation of the situation in the perinatal period and thus be able to provide optimal support. The aim is to help care providers to acquire/adopt transcultural skills, that is, an overall set of aptitudes and attitudes that allow them access to these essential elements of understanding. Academic training is needed to impart transcultural skills to early childhood professionals, regardless of their discipline (16-18). Transcultural skills consist in adopting a dynamic posture toward the acquisition of skills (such as knowing how to work with an interpreter, to adapt one's manner in conducting an interview, general culture) and attitudes (nonjudgmental, and nondiscriminatory toward minority populations, decentering), which help to take the impact of culture on symptoms into account (19). The clinical evaluation is thus more detailed, without creating the feeling of stepping past the lines of our republican institutions. We know that these cultural elements suffuse/pervade/dominate/invade the thoughts of hospital patients, in particular during this period of pregnancy and childbirth. Tact is needed to show the usefulness of this exploration and its benefits for clinical evaluation, treatment, and support of mothers in the care related to mothering.

76

2. Implications for the clinical situation/for clinical progress: value of the transcultural approach in the perinatal period

2.1. Psychological vulnerability

The concept of psychological universality and of universality in ways of mothering a young child makes it impossible to label the way something is done in one culture to be the best way of doing it in any culture or to define any vulnerability as greater in the babies of a given cultural group. On the other hand, outside of their cultural group, families can find it distressing to give birth in a foreign country. Migration can induce a loss of bearings and undermine a sense of parental competence. Confronting different mothering techniques and questioning themselves about how to raise a baby born in a foreign land are factors that make parents especially vulnerable during this period. Babies themselves can appear strange and foreign to their parents' eyes simply because they were born in another country (11). What will their parents be able to transmit to them of their cultural values, of their identity? Migration, especially if recent and if the couple or the mother is isolated, induces a sudden break from previous reference points (3, 4, 20, 21). The absence of a word, a practice, of support at the start of their baby's life/at the start of their life as parents-a moment when the group is primordial-can make isolated parents still more insecure (20). That is, numerous cultural practices exist to protect mothers and babies and to enculturate babies: for example, among Hindus, both naming according to specific astrological criteria and a head-shaving ritual for purification. In several non-Western cultures, the mother must comply with a period of rest and social withdrawal after giving birth. During this time, the baby is presented to the world and the mother is released from her domestic tasks, surrounded and supported by older women. Pregnancy and childbirth are among the life stages that require rites. Among these, Van Gennep (22) distinguished rites of protection from rites of passage. The first are intended to protect the mother and child from perinatal risks but also from dangers and the malevolence of both the visible and invisible worlds. The rites of passage, on the other hand, make it possible to "forbid, from birth, even pregnancy, the fusion of the mother and the baby, to unify the body and the mind or soul (the psyche), and to manage the anxiety of death inherent in humanity" (23). The childbirth is thus marked by a period of reclusion (margin period), followed by rites of reintegration and a social return from childbirth, which is the moment of both the mother's churching ceremony and the baby's second (psychic) birth (23-25).

This planned isolation period of 40 days exists in several cultures, not solely in Muslim areas. In the words of Ben Mohammed (26, p. 184) about North Africa, "the 40 days following the birth of a child are particularly dangerous for the mother and child. The tomb remains open during that time." The mother–child dyad is isolated, especially during breastfeeding, so as not to attract "the evil eye of envious women who might make the milk go dry." Other mothers have stated that in China too, the rule is "confinement" for a month after giving birth: neither the mother nor the baby is allowed to leave the house, except for medical appointments. And in this case, the mother must cover her head. She must also avoid tiring activities such as reading or watching television and ideally, she must stay mostly in bed. She must avoid washing her hair and therefore must settle for a quick sponge-down with hot water and lemongrass oil. At the end of the month, a big party is organized, bringing together all family members.

Distance from the country and the absence of the group can make these practices more difficult. Some families may feel insecure about whether they have performed these practices correctly. Whether or not we are superstitious, we are carried by a collective unconscious, and we in the West also have our own beliefs without always realizing that they are cultural and not universal. We need to feel that we belong to a group at moments of vulnerability or during life passages. This cultural dimension can become important in particular when there is a problem or an illness. Inversely, the fact of feeling active is protective and can help a parent to emerge from a traumatic shock. It is not unusual to see a mother or an isolated couple frozen due to a recurrent trauma or just by the fact of not knowing, not recognizing, or not daring to know how to express it because of the language barrier and the cultural distance from the professionals attempting to offer support.

Sometimes, in the absence of the group, only the father is present; he may find himself in a place that is not supposed to be his. In some cultures (25) it is even bad luck for the father to be present at the birth. When he finds himself invested and involved in mothering the newborn, the risk is that he may deepen the gap with traditional mothering and induce guilt and a feeling of incompetence in the mother (27). In these situations where the initial milieu is traditional, what is missing is other women (cousins, aunts, and grandmothers), co-mothers and especially the mother's mother. Rodriguez describes this particularly for cesarean births to migrant women (27). Some studies nonetheless qualify the ambivalence of this place: the presence of the father alone may mitigate the mother's feeling of isolation and reduce some of the risks associated with it. Lameche (28) described this in a study of a newly arrived North African population. The report RéMI related to the cesarean rate, which appears to rise less when the partner is present (29).

Forms of breastfeeding can also be transformed during migration: faster passage to mixed breastfeeding, because of preoccupation about the need to work and make a living as rapidly as possible. Some mothers say they fear the child "will get used to being carried" and avoid doing that frequently because there is no one else to do it (30).

2.2. Vulnerability that can be transformed into psychopathology

The risk of psychopathology is greater among migrant patients, especially for pre- and postpartum depression, which affects, respectively, 38 and 50% of migrant women, with a higher risk for more recent migration (31–33). Complex post-traumatic stress states are also overrepresented (34, 35). In the first place, we often find in clinical pictures of complex PTSD impaired trust in others. That is, trust has been endangered in repeated, intentional episodes of trauma. Dissociative symptoms, somatization, and feelings of hatred and anger are also frequent in the general migrant population. The repetition and/or reactivation of traumatic events contributes to them. The traumatic valence of a migrant's journey may be found at different three time periods: before migration, during the voyage, and after arrival. Before the migration, some departures are associated with traumatic situations, civil war or conflicts, or a flight from complex social or family conditions. Some mourning or trauma can recur, sometimes months or even years later. The period of pregnancy is propitious to the emotional reactivation of these unresolved past events (3).

During migration, the journey can be affected by trauma. Some migrant women traveling alone experience sexual violence during their travels (36).

Afterward, the living conditions in the host country, sometimes precarization, the waiting time to the regularization of their socioadministrative situation, job hunting, and looking for housing can generate discouragement, anxiety, and disillusionment about the initial migration plan. Some symptoms are directly linked to precarization or isolation from relationships (37, 38). Microaggressions can also have an impact¹ (39). Finally, very preterm birth or obstetric complications can present the risk of the infant's death or disability and have a traumatic impact on families.

2.3. Physical vulnerability

In France, the number of at-risk pregnancies, cesarean births, and preterm births appears higher among migrants, particularly those from sub-Saharan Africa (31, 40, 41). Nonetheless, the literature on this point is not entirely consensual (42). The factors advanced to explain the excess risk of cesareans among migrant women are limited and inadequate. It could be linked to insufficient access to prenatal care, representations of pregnancy follow-up that are different from those of the country of origin, communication barriers, and often precarious and inhospitable conditions on arrival in the host country/ France, fragile maternal health, a high body mass index, feto-pelvic disproportion, or even simply isolation (40, 43–46).

The precarity associated with migration is an important perinatal risk factor, as are isolation, absence of marital support, administrative status, and social insurance coverage (31, 45, 46).

3. Actionable recommendations: the interview in the perinatal period

Our transcultural team is composed of psychologists, nurses, and psychiatrists trained in transcultural clinical practices with Professor Marie Rose Moro, a leader of transcultural psychiatry in France, specialized in the clinical care of métissages (cultural mixing) in babies, children, adolescents, and their families.

We have deduced interview themes that allow a transcultural approach in child psychiatry during the perinatal period. These levers come from our diversified clinical practice applying transcultural methods, adapted and personalized to the situations for which this expertise is required. These include liaison work in the hospital, discussion and support groups with pregnant women or recent parturients (47, 48), transcultural consultations with a group of co-therapists from various cultures (3, 4, 49), mediation at the hospital with an interpreter-mediator, and institutional work (team

supervision, university instruction or professional training programs, and reflexive interventions in multidisciplinary staff meetings). These guidelines also consider the bases of ethnopsychoanalytic theory (50), combined with approaches described in the international scientific literature (4, 14, 16–18).

3.1. Start the interview by creating the basis for an appropriate relationship

The interview's framework presupposes establishing the conditions for a balanced and horizontal relationship. The interviewer exits the position of expert and instead shows a posture of cultural humility (51). Sitting in a circle, sometimes sharing some water, can facilitate this first encounter (52, 53). Showing an authentic interest in the other's culture and representations can transform the relationship. This is done by asking in detail about their cultural identity, beyond their country or nationality. What are the family's cultural affiliations? What language do they speak? What city or village do they come from? Language is an important aspect of identity. Exploring the languages the patient speaks is often the occasion to praise those patient who are multilingual for this accomplishment. Both ethics and quality of care require finding an interpreter to ensure mutual understanding; it is thus necessary to identify the language the interpreter should speak. The help of family or friends has its limitations for announcing bad news (for example, a suspected malformation on ultrasound or complications in neonatology). Thus, partial mastery of a language cannot suffice in these contexts to ensure mutual understanding, especially as there can be an initial level of stunned speechlessness even in their native language, it is often necessary to repeat news that is difficult for everyone to understand. The interpreter, who is often someone with whom the patient can identify, enables the mother to assert herself, to not fear being judged: the cultural distance is thus reduced, and the interpreter facilitates bridges between the two countries by knowing the codes to both worlds. Finally, the expression of emotions is often facilitated by use of the mother tongue which, in turn, facilitates the narration [Ricoeur's narrative identity (54)].

Sometimes reluctance linked to financial cost or time are mentioned, or those linked to individual or collective unconscious factors. Studies show that the use of interpreters and mediators offers cost benefits for public health (55). It is important for therapists to show that they are making an effort to adapt to and respect the patient by seeking to share the same language.

The notion of hospitality in the welcome is also important, for it can contrast with the exterior world, sometimes associated with the austerity of migration policy (56). The tone of voice is almost as important as the content (57).

One of the principles of receiving patients in a place providing care is to create a relationship of trust, which is all the more important for women who have experienced intentional and repeated traumas. For that reason, it is important to explicitly state the meaning and nature of a "talking" therapies, of seeing a psychologist or psychiatrist, without this being associated with the mental illness of the "asylum" sector. Finally, the role of each professional must be clearly explained, especially for more highly medicalized pregnancies. The psychological support must be related to the risk of vulnerability, while assuring the patient that there is no association with a severe overt mental disorder.

¹ Insults or attitudes, "intentional or not" that "communicate hostile or contemptuous messages targeting people solely on the basis of their membership in a marginalized group."

The families may not be able to understand the notion of interaction disorders unless the therapist describes them clearly.

Finally, one way to show that it is possible to approach the cultural dimension in the framework of a medical interview is to begin the interview by self-disclosure, that is, short personal revelations (while remaining professional) used to create empathetic understanding: they may concern hindsight about the experience of other patients or be a personal shareable and generalizable experience.

This self-disclosure aims to create cultural proximity (if the interviewer is comfortable with it), but also to demonstrate the diversity that authorizes patients to assume their culture and thus to be able to refer to it as a resource, to subjectively structure an issue. For example, near the end of an interview during the perinatal period: "Where I'm from, in North Africa, we organize this protection, that birth ritual, when a baby's born; and where you come from?" This type of interview sometimes humanizes the professional and promotes the therapeutic alliance.

3.2. Elaborate a narrative that mitigates the risk of migration cleavage and considers the possible traumatic dimension (re-establish continuity between before and after)

Child psychiatry and transcultural psychiatric interviews are often based on narrations (3, 5, 11, 52). The therapist accepts and welcomes the cultural narratives that serve as a container for the intimate individual material relating to the current situation of the mother, family, and baby.

Bridges are built between life "back there" and life here to avoid the risk of a migratory divide and to share cultural representations. Indeed, parents often tell their story starting from the day they arrived in France. If we do not actively look for information about their premigration history, it is impossible to have access to it. This reaction can be linked to the reading of migration trauma, with too great a separation between before and after. The cleavage of migration is a phenomenon described by Nathan (58): the experience that every migrant has of mental separation between before and after migration. It resembles the loss of a psychological and sensory envelope with which the migrant decodes the exterior world and stimulates the need to create another one, like a new skin.

Evoking the patient's migration experience, its determinants, its course, what she thinks of life before and after migration-these questions make it possible to help her establish a continuous narrative of the different periods of her life. Often the heroic valence of the journey is manifest in this account and deserves to be underlined for therapeutic purposes. These elements must be explored progressively; they can finally allow the patient to recover a feeling of the continuity of existence, the continuity of her existence (the self-continuity described by Chandler and Lalonde (59)). We search constantly for coherence in their pathways, so often characterized by family separation, cultural ruptures, and changes in their care. This coherence and this life story are necessary to cross/bridge the passages of life (52). In the face of this disillusionment and sometimes precarization, it is useful to ask about her professional identity, her education, her place in the family before migrating, and to recall who she is. Sometimes disillusionment and/or trauma seem to deprive the journey of its meaning. This must be reactivated to give her the strength to continue. Contrary to what is often thought, asking about the meaning of the journey or exploring the other's cultural affiliations is not uncomfortable when the therapist's interest is authentic. Finally, it is necessary to welcome disillusionment, to share the disarray sometimes, often to help actively on the social level, assuming this professional role, despite being a health care provider. That is, a patient cannot engage in psychotherapeutic work until her material survival and shelter are assured. In pregnancy or at childbirth, this need for a safe place can become obsessive and constitute a form of primary material preoccupation together with a primary maternal preoccupation (constructing a home).

She must be restored to her story both gradually (60) and prudently to take her own rate of progress into account: the traumatic valence of a journey exposes her to the risk of reactivation and emotional overflow. Time is needed to transform and develop these aspects at a psychotherapeutic level. Putting it into words—into a narrative/story—is sometimes painful. Regardless of the country one leaves, regardless of the reasons for leaving, there is inevitably a loss causing narcissistic injuries the extent of which is sometimes difficult to measure, but also, simultaneously, producing unsuspected gains (13).

3.3. Reconstruct the networks of belonging

On a practical level, the networks of kinship and social belonging are reconstituted during the interview: Which family members stayed behind in the home country? Who in the family is in France? What contacts do they have (telephone, frequency)? Has the baby's birth been announced? Are there any friends, people from the community, at hand? Is the parent able to speak his/her mother tongue? Even for the most isolated individuals, encouraging them to talk about family during a consultation, helping them to telephone family members, or encouraging them to do so, can help them feel less lonely, and loneliness is a very deleterious feeling during the perinatal period.

Do not be afraid of mentioning the people missing in France; on the contrary, make them exist in the session: the grandmothers, the child's father, even the children who remained behind. Prevost et al. (61) shows for example in her qualitative study of the experience of migrant mothers giving birth in France after leaving a first child behind in the country she left that there is a massive reactivation of the missing child during the new pregnancy. Often the women have left them to protect them and to bring them over later, once the material conditions are correct. Professionals may often not dare to raise the question of the children left behind for fear of making the mother feel guilty with anxieties about having abandoned them. Some professionals are also comforted by the idea that culturally favored entrusting of children does not engender distress. Recent studies point out the consequences and intrafamily relationship stakes that it raises. Even though this practice is recognized and valued in society, it is not without risk of psychopathology for both mothers and children (61, 62)

Finally, taking the cultural place of the extended family into account sometimes makes it possible to adapt the hospital's framework. Knipiler (63) described how the experience of a neonatology unit stay aggravates the experience of isolation and how the extended family can be allowed in neonatology departments that

are aware of the limits of the concept of the nuclear family in Western areas.

The interpreter can also function as someone with whom the patient can identify; this can also help her to escape her sense of isolation. Finally, therapists/care providers/professionals can creatively employ local groups and associations. They can also discuss with the patient the difficulties of contacting the family, despite today's social networks which make it easier than in the past: these difficulties sometimes follow traumas (and/or the desire to protect the family "back there"). Finally, when mother has had not news of her family or friends because she had to flee rapidly, referring her to the Tracing services provided by the International Red Cross² can spark new hope.

3.4. Help her to escape a feeling of powerlessness and facilitate her psychological reinvigoration

Therapists faced with the patient's psychic exhaustion from confronting recurrent adversity must often take an active position, adapted to the patient's tempo of progression to escape their own feelings of powerlessness. We help to coconstruct solutions based on what emerges from the narrative, facilitated by the interview levers described here.

• An example of a woman's prenatal mourning with an acute traumatic reaction

Joëlle arrived in France recently. She came from the DR Congo and was hospitalized after her delivery. One of her twins died in utero. The other twin is alive, but Joëlle is stunned and does not seem able to succeed in paying attention to him.

Joëlle explained that she cannot either eat herself or breastfeed the baby because the other twin is "out in the cold and frozen" an allusion to the morgue/mortuary. Her principal preoccupation was that "he's suspended between the world of visible and invisible beings," the latter being, in other words, the world of the dead and spirit creatures. She understood that we were not judging her and that we would not hesitate to talk about different cultural representations of the pregnancy and ontological representations of children. She understood this because of our explicit questions about how to welcome a child into the world, what birth rituals should be done, what mourning rituals were needed. She could not be primarily preoccupied with the living baby as long as his twin was not buried in due and good form. Moreover because the two were linked, neither could be appeased and recognized in the world of the living or the dead. But Joëlle's very great precarity, her isolation from family and any community (because she had arrived very recently in France), and her lack of knowledge of the organization of funerals in France aggravated her experience of isolation and prevented her from acting.

Helping her to escape this sense of isolation was the first step to re-energizing her. First, we talked about her family. Even thought they were back in her country, far away, we made them re-exist in this interview. She said she had not been able to tell her mother, to whom she is nonetheless close, of her delivery, both because she lacked the money to make the call, but also to protect her. Wouldn't her mother herself feel helpless, even sad about Joëlle even as she was in her own difficult situation in RD Congo, a situation that Joëlle had fled precisely to be able to later help her family? In every culture, mourning is shared by the community/collectively. Culture surrounds/lines these difficult life passages to generate meaning and master the violence of the unexpected. What can be done when the person is far from her cultural group? We thus lent Joëlle our work telephone so that she could call her mother and connect with her and her country. This simple act probably prevented the prolongation of her hospitalization. The next day, she told us that her mother was planning to organize a ceremony there, with the help of the extended family, the day of the funeral. We obtained information about - and told her - the specific date this month of the burials of fetuses and newborns who died at the maternity hospital, and where it would be. There is a support system covering the costs of burial for families in situations of great precarity and/or who do not want the burden (fetuses who died in utero or medical terminations of pregnancy). *We also informed Joëlle that she could see a priest at the hospital.*

Sometimes, it is other mothers who help the patient to find solutions and to escape from this psychic paralysis, even in the most extreme situations (very great precarity, extreme preterm birth). We have observed this in particular in support groups around cultural questions about welcoming a child (30, 47, 49). These groups help to mitigate the feeling of isolation and constitute a creative and relevant form of care at the maternity ward. We can cite here a conversation around African massages. The practice was relegitimized in one support group (47). One mother thought the practice was forbidden here, that the vigor involved could be badly interpreted by professionals. This led another to say that she would have liked to do this, that it was important to her, but she really did not know how to do it well, because it is grandmothers who handle the initial care after birth "back home," mothers being considered too gentle/subdued to do these massages. Hearing this, another mother from a related cultural group improvised the massage gestures on her baby for the rest of the group.

3.5. Promote harmonious cultural métissage

One of the coping strategies described in the literature (64) is the maintenance of continuity despite an unstable and shifting situation. It is thus desirable to facilitate access to familiar things—things the patient knows—to help her regain her bearings. This enables a transition to integrate the values of the host country more easily and to construct a harmonious cultural métissage or mix between two cultural worlds. The progressive learning of new cultural norms, as well as the maintenance of religious beliefs and practices within the host country are part of the strategies for achieving this construction. Links with peers from the cultural community already more accustomed to the host country and who have often endured identical

² Tracing department and Restoring family links program provided by IRCR https://familylinks.icrc.org/

or similar situations can play a major role, as sharing experiences mitigates isolation and discouragement. A double support network, in the host country and the country of origin, may have a protective effect on the mental health of migrants (14, 64).

A harmonious cultural métissage protects against the stress of adaptation to the culture of the host country. Metissage is an identity building continuum (or a set of processes) that integrates the feelings of belonging to many cultural universes. It is found among children from mixed couples or couples from migrant backgrounds or among child migrants, who tend to adopt progressively some of the cultural norms of the adopted country.

These involve maintaining a feeling of belonging to the original culture, while adopting new affiliations in the host country—all as part of a creative process integrating the values of each culture. Acculturated individuals³ may thus be the most highly exposed to this risk of psychic vulnerability (65). That is, we encounter in our everyday transcultural clinical practices couples or isolated mothers whose sense of identity is sometimes lost due to their cultural mixing.

Behind their resistance or their lack of knowledge of cultural theories, we often see a willingness to understand the cultural sense of the symptoms of their baby or child, leading them to rethink the disease from a cultural perspective, because medicine has not led to recovery, or because the coding of the symptoms clearly evokes a cultural interpretation. Often this occurs only because of the patient's cultural group, and one of the means of treatment is precisely to link it to the culture of the country they come from, in one way or another (66).

Within a single country, the effects of globalization and accessible media and social networks engender rapid transformations. Knowledge is mixed in a single generation, which is evidently valuable, but is also a loss of bearings and identity across a single generation. The painful moments of life (a chronic disease that medicine cannot cure) or its passages (birth, death, becoming an adolescent or reaching adulthood), when they are difficult, sometimes call for cultural readings.

3.6. Construct a narrative of filiation

It is also our goal to attempt to elaborate a narrative surrounding the child and to develop a form of narrative of parenthood (67), thereby placing the child or the future child within the family history. The focus is also on the notion of a cultural mix or blend: help with the construction of self between the two cultural worlds the patient belongs to and the creative use of the wealth from both (without this appearing incompatible). "There is no filiation without putting a history into words, without a narrative, without a narrative on filiation" (Golse & Moro, op. cit.). Putting the baby's history into words is paramount. The feeling of containment, protection, and roots procured by the family and the entire group of belonging is primordial because it enables the mother and child to be part of an intergenerational web—filiation and affiliation (68–70).

In the perinatal period, asking about the history of the child's name makes it possible to identify first of all who he is and often leads to an important story of his history and his parents' investments. Given the concept of an "exposed child" at risk of vulnerability because he is the first to be born in France, this work of making him a history is very important. It also reduces the risk of reciprocal feelings of strangeness.

Without the group, it is sometimes difficult for mothers to achieve this, because of the massive nature of their worries, their numerous disruptions, exposing them to a risk of "mental blank," withdrawal, silence, and encryptment. Therapists can sometimes find themselves in the midst of extremely problematic issues: the reaffiliation of a baby born from a rape, which can be thought of/handled in several ways: by naming, or through religion, membership in a matrilinear line or a new mixed cultural group, etc. (71). In these cases, we sometimes use a valuable narrative support, the transcultural genogram (72).

It makes it possible to represent families who come from elsewhere, taking into account migrations as well as blended definitions of the family object in its psychoanalytic and anthropological sense. It thus provides support for the narration of family stories for migrant families who sometimes find it hard to conceive and transmit these bonds.

3.7. Make the family the expert, decenter oneself

At all of these stages, it is essential to adopt a decentered posture (distancing oneself to avoid ethnocentrism) in particular when one has a doubt, a feeling of strangeness, of missing the content of the clinical encounter. To learn from the family, it is important not to fear facing otherness. Assuming that some things are not spoken of/kept quiet, we recommend showing (and thinking) that you are ready to listen without judgment.

The interview is based on co-construction: the patient is given an expert role and a mother is invited to express herself the way she wants, to be fully heard, avoiding turning what is unknown into what is usually done in your country to welcome a baby? What are the rituals at birth?" The mother can therefore become an ambassador for the collective or family knowledge that she wishes for and chooses. What is most important is the meaning for her of whatever cultural or religious practice she decides to honor, as migration is bound to trigger changes, choices, and mixing. It is important to avoid the pitfall of cultural generalities: for example, that a woman who comes from a rural area does not say the same things as a woman from the city.

Finally, we aim to co-construct solutions: "even if we cannot do exactly the same as in the home country, something can be done, for instance, asking the family to carry out part of the ritual over there," or else over here, even if it is not on the day initially required, or carry it out symbolically and partially. Culture is a dynamic process, constantly changing, and certain adaptations in practices on foreign land are perfectly valid.

This approach often helps people to escape a feeling of powerlessness and enables skills to emerge despite a traumatic past.

³ A cultural transformation of identity that takes place in contact with the culture of the host country. The stress associated with the phenomenon of acculturation is recognized as a risk factor for the decompensation of several psychiatric disorders.

Here we cite the example of African massages of babies, or the technique of putting Tamil babies to sleep with rapid, jerky movements, the tonicity of which can surprise the untrained eye (1). The error of interpretation would be to consider them to be shaken babies, even as the techniques of this form of mothering, transmitted from generation to generation, protect the baby from any shock. The transcultural posture consists, on the contrary, of leaving room for a tolerable doubt: leave yourself the time and give yourself the means to apply the procedure used in complementarism that combines a (non-simultaneous) anthropological and psychological/medical reading (73). Therapists must be capable of listening non-judgmentally and non-ethnocentrically, even if they do not understand.

· A Kurdish family and its very preterm baby

Elif, a young woman of Kurdish origin who arrived in France shortly before giving birth to a very premature baby. Her social and economic situation was precarious. She did not speak French. The professionals in the neonatology department were astonished because the she was discharged but has not been to visit the baby for the entire first week in the department. The parents did not understand the hospital staff's explanations. They could not be reached by telephone. The team was feeling alarmed and powerless about the situation. At the end of a week, the parents returned with clothing and a stuffed animal for the newborn. They were accompanied by a friend who interpreted for them and the staff. They then explained the status of babies in their culture. For them, babies do not yet belong in the world of humans when they are born. They are suspended between life and death, between the world of the visibie and the world of the invisible. The parents were therefore not yet authorized to meet them. Now, after seven days of life, he can be named and welcomed to the world of humans.

It is not rare for several parents from diverse cultural minorities to say that they are not coming to see their very preterm child because he does not belong to them yet. They entrust the infant confidently to the medical world. This does not at all prejudice their future investments in the child.

3.8. Elaborate a meaning

This transcultural posture allows access to cultural representations and sometimes to etiological theories. These cultural theories (74) give meaning to distress or suffering or a difficult event and may offer comfort beyond the medical cause or even allow the family to take action and thus contribute to the child's wellbeing. It is frequent to see families give a cultural meaning to the chronic disease of a child whom medicine cannot cure or to explain a death, a singularity. From this sense of/search for meaning comes a cultural therapeutic logic that allows patients to overcome their feeling of powerlessness. They can for example, rename a child, provide a dowry for the marriage of unmarried parents, recognize the child's ontological status, and perform the appropriate rituals to keep the infant in the world of humans. For example, the ontological representation of autism in West Africa can enable parents to consider this singularity acceptable (and culturally coherent). In some cultural groups, when a person is unwell, an external cause is sought (attack by witchcraft, badly named child, unprotected family alliances, unpaid dowry, etc.). To harm a group or a family, the most vulnerable in the group can be targets, a child, for example. Culture intervenes to enable thinking and healing, by allowing action and mastery of the associated anguish by rites of holding, cultural protections, and by giving meaning to the meaningless (75).

In some situations of unsuccessful treatment, this development of these etiological levels and anthropological treatments can take place in transcultural consultations in a department offering therapist groups with a flexible number of therapists trained in transcultural clinical practices (3).

Some interview questions can help to develop a narrative around the elaboration of a meaning: how is a child welcomed in the home country? How would the problem of a pathological pregnancy or a maternal psychological pathology be described? What would be done? How would the problem or disease be named? Have others been harmed and what could be done (or wasn't done that is possible today)?

There again, the etiological theories must be considered in a context and cannot be generalized: they depend on the cultural group (or groups) involved, the relation to migration, what the combined symptoms suggest, the family's singular history, and the individual and collective knowledge of these situations. They may be part of a global framework of intergenerational distress, without an association with a theory for a specific disease.

• Refusal of a cesarean for a "sleeping baby"

We were called into the delivery room for a young woman from Somalia, Faduma, to attempt to resolve a situation in which she was refusing a cesarean, delivery despite the risk of fetal death, with an argument based on cultural elements. Faduma's partner, the father of the unborn child and her only source of support in France is also opposed to a cesarean.

The medical team informs us that the interviews have thus far been conducted through a staff member who speaks Arab, as Faduma does not speak French. Faduma has been in France for only months; she fled her country for reasons related to family trauma (fear of a forced marriage, with vague notions of excision mentioned). In her journey, Faduma crossed Libya and learned Arab. She was also violently raped. Because she was post-term, labor had been induced several hours earlier. The fetus responded poorly to the induction and appeared to present fetal distress (heart rate decelerations). The cervix remained too closed to allow vaginal delivery.

On arrival, we decided to sit down at her level. We established a framework at a pace contrasting with the context of a lifethreatening emergency. We used mediation techniques, including an interpreter in Oromo, a language which the mother spoke more fluently than Arab; given the emergency situation, this professional interpreter worked by telephone. In the presence of the midwife and the obstetrician, we retranslated the medical reasons and the risks and also translated for them her precise cultural logic (see reference mediation).

What we learned during the interview in Oromo illuminated three essential points:

On one hand, Faduma insisted that she could not be mistaken about the date of the child's conception. Was she insisting that her partner's paternity was unquestionable paternity and that she had no doubt that she did not conceive during her rape in Libya? Might it not influence the fetus's fate if the conception resulted instead from rape? She thinks she is at term especially as she feels a discordance between what the monitoring is saying and her own physical sensations that she wants to interpret. She says she is attached to traditional techniques of childbirth. According to her religion and practices, prenatal care should not be too medicalized (and she was identified only late at the maternity ward) and one does what "God has decided." Through ignorance, she said, she accepted an epidural, and it was preventing her from perceiving the painful contractions. She felt that the baby could still wait to come out "naturally" and thus refused the "surgery." When we asked her to describe what she thought the surgery is, a second point of understanding emerged: she considered it similar to a "long laceration," with a statement that reactivated the experience of her infibulation⁴ but also the fear of disinfibulation associated with a cesarean.

Finally, she explained to us an ontologic conception that can make sense of a pregnancy that can sometimes last a long time, well beyond 9 months and can nonetheless be considered at term. This ontologic theory of the "sleeping baby" is culturally coherent and is known in several cultural areas, including in North Africa and sub-Saharan Africa. It developed to make the inconceivable conceivable at a time when infant mortality in those regions was high: the same fetus who left for the world of the dead during a miscarriage or an in utero death can return several months or years later.

This transcultural mediation took place in a particularly benevolent ambiance: Faduma only spoke when we assured her that we would not force her to have the cesarean and that we would respect her decision. The obstetrician took her traditional representations seriously and responded clearly and appropriately to Faduma's precise fears. She thus reassured her about the type of surgical incision. She also answered Faduma's questions, including her worry that the fetus's poor state was because she could not eat (concern related to the infusion).

Can we represent the experience of strangeness/ foreignness? Of cultural distance? Seeing so many "scopes"… when the pregnancy can be hidden to protect it (from the evil eye).

She and her partner finally agreed to the cesarean, and their first interactions with the baby went well. The physical health of both mother and baby was also good.

Other mothers mentioned that cesarean birth is viewed as a cultural, religious, or even sexual transgression. They risk being repudiated by their husbands, branded as sterile, and accused of the baby's malformations (76).

We note that anthropological studies about the perinatal period and obstetrics in traditional rural settings report negative cultural representations of cesarean births. Cesarean birth is most often feared or refused because it demonstrates to the community the mother's inability to give birth/to know how to give birth (77). A woman from a city or somewhere else would not necessarily say the same thing.

3.9. Show that she has mothering skills and be careful not to quash them

A favorable outcome in the interactions between parents and babies is most likely when the parents' skills are underlined rather than criticized (3). This is especially important when migration has damaged these feelings of competence, for the reasons cited in part l. The logic of mixing ways of doing something or welcoming other ways of doing it requires the professional to have the tact to not impair these feelings. This requires pointing out where the mother can genuinely feel competent, but also recognizing the difficulties that others would also legitimately have, by contextualizing the situation.

• Avoiding cultural misunderstandings with a traditional Bambara woman from Mali

Aminata is a young Bambara mother from Mali, referred for a transcultural consultation by the staff from the maternal center⁵ that initially sheltered her and her baby. At the time of our evaluation, the baby, Ramata, was a year old and she had been placed in a foster family. Some developmental delay was beginning to be noticeable. Ramata was growing up a different language environment than that of her mother, who had arrived in France soon before her birth and does not speak French. Aminata reported that her daughter was eating better when she was not present, partaking of little jars of baby food, whose composition was unknown to Aminata.

Aminata described in a consultation her experience of the birth of this very preterm baby. The meeting with this baby arrived too early and was difficult; she was a stranger to her. Aminata had no representation of preterm birth/did not understand what preterm birth was and seemed stunned by the situation. Added to that were her language barrier and a life path that seemed studded with multiple traumas. Under these circumstances and the various misunderstandings between Aminata and the different teams caring for her, several professionals suspected she had cognitive difficulties. This led to a request for a transcultural consultation.

The often chafing cultural distance was a source of misunderstandings on several occasions, in particular on the subject of protecting the

⁴ Closure of the vulvar orifice during excision.

⁵ Define maternal center.

child. When meetings with Aminata resumed in a larger space and in Bambara, her native language, this young mother's explanations made sense and seemed legitimate. For example, her representations of foster care enabled Aminata to accept assistance from the child protection services easily without understanding that she would not be able to control how frequently she saw the baby. Ramata is growing up in a cultural milieu different from her mother's, a fact that deepens the latter's feeling that her child is strange/foreign and incomprehensible. To feed her child well, as s/he did not gain (but did not lose) weight at least during the winter illnesses, she fed her/him as much as possible, but did not succeed in following the hospital's dietary prescription. She was also very anxious when the baby physically vulnerable because of his preterm birth, had a fever, because in her country, people see doctors for a fever, which they associate with a serious disease. She relied on the help of professionals during this period, but without any feedback from them. They were unaware of how worried Aminata was, and of how she felt progressively dispossessed of her maternal role.

The staff at the center interpreted the difficulty in their meetings to be due to a poor affective investment in the maternal relationship and her difficulty in bonding with Ramata. But did this not result from a separation of mother and baby that occurred too early? The staff's difficulty in decentering and their worries led the team to read her behavior through a prism that impaired her feeling of maternal competence. The misunderstandings concerned how she carried the baby, which they described as too "tonic", her failure to attach the baby to the stroller, his sleeping in her bed ... Also some of the naive unfiltered questions she asked, due to her level of trust in these professionals: such as her mention of excision which she was not planning to do because it is forbidden in France, but an issue she wanted to raise related to including her child as part of her extended family, as her aunt was a blacksmith and exciser... In this situation, we shared an exercise in decentering with the team. Everything described here was normal in Aminata's culture. There are no cradles in African villages Babies are carried proximally. Is it Aminata who is wrong, or is it that we do not understand the complexity to which we are exposing her with our tools, such as cradles? How can we ask her to decipher prescriptions that would be complex for us as well when she cannot read? How can we make her understand the concept of contextual danger? If we say, "no, not like that, it's dangerous," the harsh word erases all of her maternal skills.

Moreover, what is dangerous here is not necessarily dangerous elsewhere in another context.

We need to ask ourselves how we can explain what seems to be inappropriate without erasing her maternal competence. In exploring in detail Aminata's pathway through her narrative facilitated by the transcultural levers described above, we understand that Aminata comes from the countryside, that she is isolated and very far from her points of reference, but also from our points of reference as professionals.

4. Discussion: how can cultural misunderstandings be resolved?

All of these postures and interview themes must allow an evaluation of the situation and a detailed understanding, while simultaneously avoiding misunderstandings and starting therapeutic work from the outset by a narration/story. Every stage requires a therapist's demeanor and knowledge of clinical practice and of the complex journey of migrants.

4.1. Professionals must take their cultural and trauma-related countertransference into account

Cultural countertransference (78) is the set of emotions, thoughts, and attitudes felt by the care provider toward the patient, related to the cultural similarities and differences of each. Professionals are influenced by their own identity, history, and knowledge, but also their prejudices and the conventional wisdom that constitutes implicit bias (79): their religion, education, life habits, name, etc.

The analysis and consideration of these attitudes of professionals supporting migrants in educational, therapeutic, academic, or legal settings are essential in transcultural work. These attitudes are objectified only by third-party references (supervisors, institutions, teams, theoretical references, etc.) (14).

When developed, the question of the cultural countertransference most often allows cultural misunderstandings to be resolved. Thus, team discussions make it possible to discriminate the portion of subjectivity, and to take the woman's own cultural representation into better account. Of course, the impact on interactions of postpartum depression, which is also more frequent in the migrant population, must not be underestimated. The point is to not induce pathological doubt in situations that do not fall in this category, and this requires reciprocal learning about cultural representations. To detect these attitudes, we propose that therapists engage in/commit to a process of decentering in relation to their own cultural affiliations. Clinicians must participate in the experience of cultural contacts, all the while creating methods to promote reflexivity concerning the intercultural dynamics that unfold during these contacts (14). The clinician's cultural subjectivity can be revealed by debriefing at the end of the consultation between the different therapists involved in it.

In situations regularly encountered with migrants (especially those who have traversed conflicts or wars and/or been subjected to trauma during their voyage, often intentional and repetitive), a traumatic dimension of countertransference can provide information about the impact of this trauma. Attention must also be paid to the risk of vicarious trauma (80) that can engender stupefaction, a blank mind. You do not have to tell yourself that this story is impossible because it is beyond comprehension; on the contrary, it may well signify real traumatic events. Moreover, psychotrauma can cause memory disorders and confusion in the patient's narrative: the description of dates and places can be complicated or inconsistent (81). Thus, knowledge of migrant journeys and elements of international politics/policy can be useful to therapists to avoid this pitfall of incredulity due to the unthinkable. Trauma implies precisely a form of insanity, in that it is defined by an experience of brutal and sudden confrontation with the reality of death (our own or that of others), stripped of all mediation of the signifying system that in ordinary life preserves the subject from the unexpected apprehension of nothingness (82).

While the patient's own rhythm must be respected in managing psychotrauma, professionals must not be inhibited in their approach to some elements if its clinical consequence or functional discomfort is important. Sometimes, avoidance-type counter-transference reactions by care providers who are not psychologists or psychiatrists also protect against not knowing how to use a traumatic narrative/ story for therapeutic purposes/what to do with it on a therapeutic level. Subjects such as excision or children conceived by rape, for example, can cause blockages because of a feeling of lack of know-how due to the cultural distance (71).

Finally, some studies show that the analysis of therapists' countertransference allows a glimpse of what the babies may perceive through the mirror of their mothers (83), especially in traumatic dissociation.

4.2. Have detailed knowledge of the clinical aspects/presentation of complex trauma and of the cultural coding of symptoms of depression and anxiety

Numerous mothers and future mother present complex migration journeys, spattered with repeated traumatic events. The disorders observed often fit the clinical picture of a complex posttraumatic stress disorder (complex PTSD). Initially described by Herman (84), it is currently included in ICD 11 (11th revision of the World Health Organization's International Classification of Diseases, that is, WHO ICD-11). Herman stressed the dissociative symptoms, the somatic manifestations, and the negative changes in self-perception (guilt, shame, modification of identity). Suspicion/distrust accompanied by impairment/changes of systems of meaning (despair and loss of fundamental beliefs) can impair relationships with others, including professionals.

The clinical picture of migrants is sometimes atypical and far from the classic reactivation syndrome. Profound and lasting personality changes have been described. Some symptoms associated with distrust may be interpreted as delusions of persecution, which would generate diagnostic errors (ref). Because of other conceptual models of *fright* in some societies, patients can make it into a narrative with spirits and ancestors, with coded cultural events, or represent themselves as singular beings who have overcome recurrent trauma.

Similarly, the experience of depression varies between cultures, negative affects can present as guilt feelings more prevalently in Western cultures and as feelings of shame or persecution more often in so-called "traditional" societies (85). Somatic symptoms can also be in the foreground in the expression of psychological distress (86), such as massive anxiety or depression.

In some situations of isolation, the absence of local peers can jeopardize the accuracy of this diagnostic evaluation. Active creativity is then called for. Because of the stakes of a diagnosis and from an ethical perspective: get information from an interpreter, agree to see someone close to the extended family or designated by the patient, even though they are not part of the family, make telephone calls to the country of origin... And especially do not turn too rapidly toward a stigmatizing diagnosis and a potentially inappropriate treatment.

4.3. Alliance and refusal of care

Most of the requests from hospital teams due to a refusal of care for apparent cultural issues involve a way of reclaiming the performative character of what is spoken, that is, ensuring that the patient's discourse is heard and considered before any radical refusal is made.

Giving them a way to express their cultural representations can allow families to avoid western medical practices sometimes experienced as violent or immodest (delivery position, discarding the placenta, which can represents the baby's real double, showing a photo of a dead fetus ...). We can encourage respect for traditional means of protection, which are most often compatible with the medical care needed. Working on maternal competence assumes/presupposes taking into account their know-how about the rhythm of breastfeeding, solid food introduction with food from their native country, the importance of playing with the child, and how to raise a child or make him strong. Adopting a moralizing position risks breaking one's bond with these patients, or even of undermining still more their sense of competence, already eroded by facing such different ways of doing things. The refusal of the cesarean described above is a good example of this. Among less extreme situations, let us mention the example of kaoline ingestion, frequent in West Africa: You can always inform women of the risk of anemia due to this consumption, consumption important to some women, because it is a common social practice in pregnancy. A refusal would most often reveal experience with a lack of consideration for what they have to say and with the other's subjectivity. Negotiations are most often possible if they are explained after understanding the performative character of the other's word. When a narrative can be developed, we often find an argument distant from the initial reason for refusal, more often associated with a singular aspect of the patient's individual or family history. Identifying where the reluctance really comes from makes it possible to work better and overcome fears (Table 1).

5. Conclusion

This article aims to help care providers to acquire/adopt transcultural skills, that is, an overall set of aptitudes and attitudes that allow them access to essential elements of their patient's cultural understanding and that will help their patient to create bridges between their health care customs "back there" and here.

Transcultural clinical practices often ask us to be creative and to abandon the rigidity of some standard frameworks of care. It implies for the clinician, to adjust his overall approach, including his attitude, his health examination, his therapeutic framework, in order to access the patient's cultural behaviors and mindsets. It also involves to overcome many relationships obstacles and to reduce the cultural distance which can both impact the therapeutic and diagnostic approach. Indeed, flexibility from health care workers promotes a thorough diagnostic evaluation and therefore a more effective therapeutic process, since the patient feeling more at ease and understood may be more inclined to share his distress, which can be a therapeutic process in itself by unlocking his normal thinking skills frozen by language barrier and cultural distance.

The transcultural approach is also a dynamic method that implies actively seeking levels of understanding, a general

	Interview themes	Examples of content or questions
1	Start the interview by creating the basis for an appropriate relationship	Hospitality (Warmth and kindness) in the welcome Query the patient's cultural identity with precision Arrange for an interpreter as soon as necessary Explain clearly the professional's role and treatment objectives
2	Mitigate migration cleavage	Weave bridges between life there and life here Reestablish levels of continuity between here and there (religion, community, associative sectors)
3	Reconstruct the networks of belonging	What family remained there? Who is in France? How are they linked now (by telephone? how often?)? Did you announce the birth to them? Do you have friends, people from your cultural community nearby? Is the parent able sometimes to talk in her native language?
4	Help her to escape a feeling of powerlessness and facilitate her psychological reinvigoration	Help her capacities for resilience to emerge Show the heroic valence of the migration journeyHelp to coconstruct solutions: Even though she cannot do exactly as she would there, she can, for example, to perform a part of the ritual there. Or, do it here; it is equally functional even if it is not the day initially required.
5	Promote harmonious cultural métissage	Help her construct herself between the two cultural worlds she belongs to and take the creative richness of both (without it seeming inconciliable)
6	Construct a narrative of filiation	Historicize. include the child (or the future child) in the family history Ask about the baby's name, for example (Co-)construct a genogram
7	Put the family in the position of the expert: Let them express themselves, listen to them fully	What is done in your cultural groups to welcome a child? What are the rituals around birth?
8	Elaborate a meaning	State the problem: How would you name it in your country of origin? Is there a related/relevant cultural therapeutic logic?
9	Stress the parents' competence	Give yourself the means/resources (time, interpreter, team meetings) to avoid cultural misunderstandings. Welcome other ways of doing things Reinforce the parents' feelings of competence

TABLE 1 Summary: start working on cultural understanding early in the perinatal period- recommendations for health care workers (family doctors, psychologists, child psychiatrists, midwives, pediatricians, specialized child-care attendants, and social workers).

culture—learning from our patients and getting help from colleagues. It also supposes a form of sincere opening to the other's culture and self-exposure, even while remaining professional. Every health care professional working in a crosscultural world should not be scared of approaching cultural questions, by using an interpreter in situations where a language barrier exists, or by developing their openness and decentering skills. It will undoubtedly benefit the therapeutic alliance with the patient, particularly in the field of perinatal care in which cultural representations and native language play a crucial role.

Ethics statement

Ethics approval was given by The "Comité d'Evaluation de l'Ethique des projets de Recherche Biomédicale (CEERB) Paris Nord" (Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Paris NorthHospitals, Paris 7 University, APHP). All participants were adult and provided written informed consent to participate in the study. Written informed consent for publication of any potentially identifiable data was obtained from all participants.

Author contributions

RR, HC, JR, and MM made substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work, or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work. MB, HC, and AO drafted the work or revised it critically for important intellectual content. MR provided approval for publication of the content. All authors agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Stork H. Enfances Indiennes. Etude de Psychologie Transculturelle et Comparée du Jeune Enfant. Paris: Paidos/Le Centurion (1988).

2. Mesman J, Basweti N, Misati J. Sensitive infant caregiving among the rural Gusii in Kenya. *Attach Hum Dev.* (2018):1–9. doi: 10.1080/14616734.2018.1454053

3. Moro MR, Réal I, Baubet T. Consultation transculturelle en périnatalité: Une psychiatrie de liaison pour les bébés et leurs parents migrants In: D Bailly, editor. *Pédopsychiatrie de Liaison: vers une Collaboration entre Pédiatres et Psychiatres*. Rueil-Malmaison: Doin (2005). 35–41.

4. Radjack R, Guessoum S, Ogrizek A, Moro M. Prêter attention à la dimension culturelle en période périnatale pour mieux accompagner les parents et leurs bébés. *Spirale*. (2021) 99:73-81. doi: 10.3917/spi.099.0073

5. Camara H, Radjack R, Klein A, Di C, Moro MR. Apprendre de la vie des mères. Approche Transculturelle Journal de la Psychanalyse de l'enfant. (2016) 6:151–72. doi: 10.3917/jpe.012.0151

 Kane H. Soins aux nouveau-nés: les recommandations internationales face aux enjeux sociaux de la naissance. Sante Publique. (2020) S1:17–27. doi: 10.3917/ spub.200.0017

7. Bowlby J. Attachement et Perte: la Perte, vol. 3. Paris: Puf (1978).

8. Godelier M. Systèmes de parenté et formes de famille. *Recherches de Science Religieuse*. (2014) 102:357–72. doi: 10.3917/rsr.143.0357

9. Fassin D, Rechtman R. An anthropological hybrid: the pragmatic arrangement of universalism and culturalism in French mental health. *Transcult Psychiatry*. (2005) 42:347–66. doi: 10.1177/1363461505055620

10. Sturm G. Culture, société, subjectivité: les innovations de l'ethnopsychanalyse file:///C:/Users/rahme/Downloads/healthcare-1952353.docxfrançaise In: Z Guerraoui, editor. *Comprendre et Traiter les Situations Interculturelles: Approches Psychodynamiques et Psychanalytiques*. Louvain-la-Neuve: De Boeck Supérieur (2011). 37–54.

11. Moro MR. Guide de Psychothérapie Transculturelle: Soigner les Enfants et les Adolescents. Paris: Éditions in Press (2021).

12. Mestre C. Psychothérapie transculturelle et institutionnelle In: . Bébés d'ici, Mères d'exil. Paris: Erès (2016). 155–88.

13. Di C, Bailly J, Radjack R, Moro MR. Éthique et soins: quand la clinique transculturelle ouvre sur des mondes. *Ethics Med Public Health*. (2020) 15:100603. doi: 10.1016/j.jemep.2020.100603hal-03493194

14. Radjack R, Ludot-Grégoire M, Guessoum SB, Moro MR. Évaluation clinique en situation transculturelle. *EMC - Psychiatrie*. (2022):1–10. doi: 10.1016/S0246-1072(22)44464-6

15. Byers-Heinlein K, Lew-Williams C. Bilingualism in the early years: what the science says. *LEARNing Landsc.* (2013) 7:95–112. doi: 10.36510/learnland.v7i1.632

16. Truong M, Paradies Y, Priest N. Interventions to improve cultural competency in healthcare: a systematic review of reviews. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2014) 14:99. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-14-99

17. Kirmayer LJ, Fung K, Rousseau C, Lo HT, Menzies P, Guzder J, et al. Guidelines for training in cultural psychiatry. *Can J Psychiatr.* (2021) 66:195–246. doi: 10.1177/0706743720907505

18. Okpaku SO. Therapeutic skills and therapeutic expectations in the treatment of migrant individuals and their families In: D Bhugra, editor. Oxford Textbook of Migrant Psychiatry. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2021). 467–74.

19. Betancourt JR, Green AR, Carrillo JE, Ananeh-Firempong O II. Defining cultural competence: a practical framework for addressing racial/ethnic disparities in health and health care. *Pub Health Rep.* (2003) 118:293–302. doi: 10.1016/S0033-3549(04)50253-4

20. Goguikian Ratcliff B, Diaz-Marchand N. Avoir un enfant loin des siens: petits gestes, grands enjeux In: . L'accompagnement des Familles: Entre Réparation et Créativité. Paris: L'Harmattan (2019)

21. Mestre C. Bébés d'ici, Mères d'exil. Toulouse, France: Érès (2016).

22. Van Gennep A. Les Rites de Passage: étude Systématique des rites de la porte et du seuil, de l'hospitalité, de l'adoption, de la grossesse et de l'accouchement, de la Naissance, de l'enfance, de la Puberté, de l'initiation, de l'ordination, du Couronnement des Fiançailles. In: Nourry, editors; (1909) (Vol. 5).

23. Govindama Y. Temps et Rites de Passage: Naissance, Enfance, Culture et Religion. In: Karthala, editors; (2011).

24. Carles G. Grossesse, accouchement et cultures: approche transculturelle de l'obstétrique. *Journal de Gynécologie Obstétrique et Biologie de La Reproduction*. (2014) 43:275–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jgyn.2013.12.002

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

25. Beninguisse G, Nikièma B, Fournier P, Haddad S. L'accessibilité culturelle: une exigence de la qualité des services et soins obstétricaux en Afrique; (2005). Available at: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/bitstream/1807/5835/1/ep04044.pdf (Accessed December 31, 2004).

26. Ben Mohammed K. Facteurs Psycho-socio-Culturels et Dépression Post-Natale en Tunisie: Exemple de la Prématurité [Thèse, Université Sorbonne Paris Nord et Université de Tunis]; (2010).

27. Rodriguez J. L'expérience de la Césarienne chez les Femmes Migrantes: Une étude Qualitative Transculturelle. Paris: Mémoire de Master Recherche (2022).

28. Lamèche R, Sarraouinia G, Radjack R. Vécu de la première expérience de grossesse et d'accouchement chez les femmes primo-arrivantes: une étude qualitative en Seine-Saint-Denis. *Sages femmes.* (2023) 22:23–26.

29. Rapport final RéMI- Réduction de la mortalité infantile et périnatale en Seine-Saint-Denis. Equipe de recherche en Epidémiologie Obstétricale, Périnatale et Pédiatrique (EPOPé). ARS Ile-de-France; (2016). Available at: http://www.xn-epopinserm-ebb.fr/wpcontent/uploads/2017/07/Rapport-REMIp_INSERM_Final-1.pdf. (Accessed September 04, 2022).

30. Camara H, Bossuroy M. Accompagnements psychologiques des femmes migrantes à l'hôpital dans la période périnatale In: BMGK Tunis, editor. Périnatalité: Parents, Bébés et Familles à Travers les Cultures. Tunis: Beit Al Hikma (2019)

31. Ratcliff BG, Sharapova A, Suardi F, Borel F. Factors associated with antenatal depression and obstetric complications in immigrant women in Geneva. *Midwifery*. (2015) 31:871–8. doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2015.04.010

32. Stewart DE, Gagnon A, Saucier JF, Wahoush O, Dougherty G. Postpartum depression symptoms in newcomers. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2008) 53:121-4. doi: 10.1177/070674370805300208

33. Zelkowitz P, Saucier JF, Wang T, Katofsky L, Valenzuel M, Westreich R. Stability and change in depressive symptoms from pregnancy to two months post-partum in childbearing immigrant women. *Arch Womens Ment Health*. (2008) 11:1–11. doi: 10.1007/s00737-008-0219-y

34. Mestre C, Pinheiro L, Guéry L. Affilier les enfants nés de viols politiques. L'Autre. (2022) 23:22–31. doi: 10.3917/lautr.067.0022

35. Vandentorren S, Le Méner E, Oppenchaim N, Arnaud A, Jangal C, Caum C, et al. Characteristics and health of homeless families: the ENFAMS survey in the Paris region, France 2013. *Eur J Pub Health*. (2016) 26:71–6. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckv187

36. Weiss J. Female refugees face physical assault, exploitation and sexual harassment on their journey throught Europe In: . Sexual and Gender- Based Violence Prevention and Response in Refugee Situations in the Middle East and North Africa — Executive Summary. London: Amnesty International (2016)

37. Mourouvaye Payet M, Radjack R, Moro MR. Les professionnels de maternité auprès des femmes migrantes, enceintes et à la rue. *Soins Pédiatrie/Puériculture*. (2019) 64:45–8. doi: 10.1016/j.soin.2019.04.012

38. Panaccione E, Moro MR. Construire de la sécurité dans l'errance. Maternité chez des femmes migrantes sans domicile fixe. *Psychiatr Enfant*. (2014) 57:533–61. doi: 10.3917/psye.572.0533

39. Wing S. Microaggressions in Everyday Life. Race, Gender, and Sexual Orientation. New York: John Wiley & Sons (2010).

40. Merry L, Small R, Blondel B, Gagnon AJ. International migration and caesarean birth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2013) 13:27. doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-13-27

41. Urquia ML, Glazier RH, Mortensen L, Nybo-Andersen AM, Small R, Davey MA, et al. Severe maternal morbidity associated with maternal birthplace in three high-immigration settings. *Eur J Pub Health.* (2015) 25:620–5. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/cku230

42. Gagnon AJ, Zimbeck M, Zeitlin J. Migration and perinatal health surveillance: an international Delphi survey. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reproduct Biol.* (2010) 149:37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2009.12.002

43. Azria É. Précarité sociale et risque périnatal. Enfances Psy. (2015) 67:13-31. doi: 10.3917/ep.067.0013

44. Sauvegrain P, Stewart Z, Gonthier C, Saurel-Cubizolles M-J, Saucedo M, Deneux-Tharaux C, et al. Accès aux soins prénatals et santé maternelle des femmes immigrées. *Bull Epidemiol Hebd.* (2017):389–95.

45. Herschkorn BP. Parcours de soins périnatals et grande précarité: expérience du réseau SOLIPAM (Solidarité Paris Maman Île-de-France). *Contraste.* (2017) 46:189–206. doi: 10.3917/cont.046.0189

46. Rietsch M-G. Rapport Final Issu du Projet de Recherche Commun. (2014).

47. Radjack R, Moro MR. Managing encounters with otherness - transcultural approaches in a French maternity unit In: G Welsh and MR Moro, editors. *Parenthood and Immigration in Psychoanalysis: Shaping the Therapeutic Setting*. London (Great Britain): Routledge (2021)

48. Gabai N, Furtos J, Maggi-Perpoint C, Gansel Y, Danet F, Monloubou C, et al. Migration et soins périnataux: une approche transculturelle de la rencontre soignants/ soignés. *Médecine Hygiène Devenir*. (2013) 25:285–307. doi: 10.3917/dev.134.0285

49. Bossuroy M, Serbandini N, Drain É, Baubet T, Ayosso J. Autour de l'accueil du bébé: intérêt d'une consultation transculturelle en maternité. *Psychiatr Enfant*. (2014) 57:563. doi: 10.3917/psye.572.0563

50. Devereux G. (1972) Ethnopsychanalyse Complémentariste. Paris: Flammarion, Réédition (1985).

51. Tervalon M, Murray-Garcia J. Cultural humility versus cultural competence. A critical distinction in defining physician training outcomes in multicultural education. *J Health Care Poor Underserved.* (1998) 9:117–25. doi: 10.1353/hpu.2010.0233

52. Radjack R, Touhami F, Woestelandt L, Minassian S, Lachal J, Mouchenik Y, et al. Cultural competencies of professionals working with unaccompanied minors: Adressing empathy by a shared narrative. A qualitative study. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:528. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00528

53. Touhami F, Minassian S, Radjack R, Moro MR. Le dessin, support de soins aux mineurs isolés étrangers. *Soins Pédiatrie*. (2017) 294:32–5. doi: 10.1016/j.spp.2016.11.007

54. Ricoeur P. Soi-même Comme un Autre. Paris: Seuil (1990).

55. Lachal J, Escaich M, Bouznah S, Rousselle C, De Lonlay P, Canoui P, et al. Transcultural mediation programme in a paediatric hospital in France: qualitative and quantitative study of participants' experience and impact on hospital costs. *BMJ Open*. (2019) 9:e032498. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032498

56. Derivois D. Clinique de la mondialité. Vivre ensemble avec soi-même, vivre ensemble avec les autres. Louvain-la-Neuve: De Boeck (2017).

57. Guedeney N, Guedeney A. Lattachement: Concepts et Applications. Paris: Masson (2006). 160 p.

58. La NT. Folie des Autres. Traité D'ethnopsychiatrie Clinique. Paris: Dunod (1986).

59. Chandler M, Lalonde C. Cultural continuity as a hedge against suicide in Canada's first nations. *Transcult Psychiatry*. (1998) 35:191–219. doi: 10.1177/136346159803500202

60. Aulagnier P. Se construire un passé. *Journal de Psychanalyse de l'enfant.* (1989) 7:119–220.

61. Prevost C, Drain E, Carbillon L, Taieb O, Baubet T. Etre mère ici et là-bas, une parentalité complexe. *L'Autre*. (2021) 22:61–70. doi: 10.3917/lautr.064.0061

62. Camara M, Seck S, Ba E, Faye P, Thiam M. Le confiage: mécanismes et enjeux relationnels. *L'Autre*. (2014) 15:167–77. doi: 10.3917/lautr.044.0167

63. Knipiler T. Vécu et Représentations Parentales de la Place de la Famille Élargie Après une Naissance très Prématurée. Paris: Thèse Psychiatrie (2017).

64. Woestelandt L. Initier un Suivi Psychiatrique chez les Jeunes Isolés Étrangers: Revue de la Littérature et Apport d'une Recherche Qualitative à la Compréhension de la Place des Soins. Paris: Thèse Psychiatrie (2016).

65. Selten J-P, Van der Ven E, Termorshuizen F. Migration and psychosis: a meta-analysis of incidence studies. *Psychol Med.* (2020) 50:303–13. doi: 10.1017/S0033291719000035

66. Tallarico S. Quand les Esprits Troublent les Esprits; Patients et Cliniciens à la Rencontre du Monde Invisible. Paris: Thèse de Psychologie (2019).

67. Golse B, Moro MR. Le concept de filiation narrative: un quatrième axe de la filiation. *Psychiatr Enfant*. (2017) 60:3–24. doi: 10.3917/psye.601.0003

68. Bossuroy M, Camara H. La clinique transculturelle en périnatalité aujourd'hui In: Y Mouchenik and MR Moro, editors. *Pratiques Transculturelles: Les Nouveaux Champs de la Clinique*. Paris: Editions in Press (2021)

69. Cautru F. Accoucher prématurément en exil: histoires d'accompagnement à la parentalité. *Le Carnet PSY*. (2022) 5:24–6.

70. Camara H, Moro MR. L'éveil du tout petit dans d'autres cultures. *Cahiers de Puériculture*. (2015) 52:24–5. doi: 10.1016/j.cahpu.2015.05.002

71. Radjack R, Molino L, Ogrizek A, Ngameni EG, Moro MR. How do we address and treat the trauma of a 16-year-old girl, unaccompanied minor, and her rape-born son? A case report. *Healthcare*. (2022) 10:2036. doi: 10.3390/healthcare10102036

72. Rizzi AT, Moro MR. Le génogramme transculturel. In Y. Mouchenik and MR Moro. (dirs.). *Pratiques Transculturelles: Les Nouveaux Champs de la Clinique*. Paris: Editions In Press (2021).

73. De DG. L'angoisse à la Méthode Dans les Sciences du Comportement (1967). Paris, France: Flammarion (1980).

74. Heidenreiche F. Sur la corde raide - les étiologies "traditionnelles" et leur utilisation dans le dispositif ethnopsychiatrique. *L'autre*. (2010) 11:199–206. doi: 10.3917/lautr.032.0199

75. Le ZA. sens de l'insensé: de l'interprétation « magico-religieuse » des troubles psychiques. *Psychiatrie Française*. (1983) 4:29–47.

76. Perrin AS, Drain E, Sarot A, Moro MR. Comment soutenir l'arrivée au monde d'un enfant de mère migrante dans une maternité française: entre urgence somatique et urgence psychiatrique, le temps de la reconstruction. *Neuropsychiatr Enfance Adolesc.* (2016) 64:31–5. doi: 10.1016/j.neurenf.2015.11.004

77. Aziken M, Omo-Aghoja L, Okonofua F. Perceptions and attitudes of pregnant women towards caesarean section in urban Nigeria. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. (2007) 86:42–7. doi: 10.1080/00016340600994950

78. Rouchon JF, Reyre A, Taïeb O, Moro MR. L'utilisation de la notion de contretransfert culturel en clinique. L'Autre. (2009) 10:80–9. doi: 10.3917/lautr.028.0080

79. Azria E, Sauvegrain P, Anselem O, Bonnet MP, Deneux-Tharaux C, Rousseau A, et al. Implicit biases and differential perinatal care for migrant women: methodological framework and study protocol of the BiP study part 3. *J Gynecol Obstet Hum Reprod.* (2022) 51:102340. doi: 10.1016/j.jogoh.2022.102340

80. Lachal C. Comment se Transmettent les traumas? Traumas, Contre-Transferts, Empathie et Scénarios Émergents. Grenoble: La Pensée Sauvage (2015).

81. Baubet T, Moro MR. Psychopathologie Transculturelle. Paris: Masson (2013).

82. Lebigot F. Traiter les Traumatismes Psychiques, Clinique et Prise en Charge. Paris: Dunod (2011).

83. Feldman M, El Husseini M, Dozio E, Drain E, Radjack R, Moro MR. The transmission of trauma from mother to infant: radioactive residues and counter-transference in the case of a Haitian mother and her two-year old son. *Child Care Pract.* (2019) 25:215–226. doi: 10.1080/13575279.2017.1342600

84. Herman J. Complex PTSD: a syndrome in survivors of prolonged and repeated trauma. *J Trauma Stress.* (1992) 5:377–91. doi: 10.1002/jts.2490050305

85. Kirmayer LJ, Guzder J, Rousseau C eds. *Cultural Consultation: Encountering the Other in Mental Health Care.* Berlin, Germany: Springer Science & Business Media (2013).

86. Ludot-Grégoire M, Harf A, Ibrahim N, Merlo M, Hassler C, Rietsch J, et al. Bodily expression of psychological distress in adolescents: a qualitative study. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health.* (2022) 16:40. doi: 10.1186/s13034-022-00476-9

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Bernard Golse, Université de Paris, France

REVIEWED BY Anna B. Pilewska-Kozak, Medical University of Lublin, Poland Derek Humphreys, Université Paris Cité, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Juliette Rodriguez ⊠ rodriguez.juliette@gmail.com

RECEIVED 28 January 2023 ACCEPTED 05 April 2023 PUBLISHED 25 April 2023

CITATION

Rodriguez J, Moro MR and Radjack R (2023) Migrant mothers' experiences of Caesarean section: a transcultural qualitative study. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1152810. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1152810

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Rodriguez, Moro and Radjack. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Migrant mothers' experiences of Caesarean section: a transcultural qualitative study

Juliette Rodriguez ^{1,2*}, Marie Rose Moro ^{1,2,3} and Rahmeth Radjack ^{1,2,3}

¹AP-HP, Department of Adolescent Psychiatry, Maison de Solenn, Cochin Hospital, Paris, France, ²Laboratoire de Psychologie Clinique, Psychopathologie, Psychanalyse, Université Paris Cité, Boulogne-Billancourt, France, ³Université Paris-Saclay, UVSQ, Inserm, CESP, Team DevPsy, Villejuif, France

Objectives: Migrant women face an increased risk of adverse obstetrical outcome and Caesarean section. The psychological experience of Caesarean section combines physiological, social, and cultural dimensions. This qualitative study explores the subjective experiences of first-generation migrant women who gave birth by Caesarean section.

Methods: Seven qualitative, semi-directed interviews were conducted from January to March 2022 in a Paris maternity hospital, with women in their postpartum period who had had a scheduled or emergency Caesarean section and straightforward obstetrical outcomes. The presence of an interpreter-mediator was systematically offered. Thematic analysis of the interviews was carried out following the Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA) methodology.

Results: Four themes were identified in the thematic analysis relating to the women's experiences of Caesarean section: (1) The shock of the intervention combines disappointment, fear and early separation from the baby, (2) Pregnancy and delivery far from one's family aggravates the psychological suffering caused by isolation and loneliness related to migration, (3) The lack of cultural representations of Caesarean section leads to negative preconceptions and hinders mental preparation, in contrast with traditional or medicalised childbirth, and (4) The women's experiences of the medical follow-up highlights the importance of the continuity of care.

Discussion and conclusion: Caesarean section, which is a physical break, re-enacts the symbolic break (cultural, social, familial) that follows on from emigration. Improvements in care include the need for a better preparation for Caesarean section, active efforts for care continuity, and the development of early prevention interviews and groups in maternity units.

KEYWORDS

Caesarean section (C.S), emigrants and immigrants, migrant women, qualitative research and analysis, transcultural studies, obstetrics, maternity care

Background and introduction

Migrant women have a greater likelihood of risk-prone pregnancies, perinatal complications, premature childbirth, or Caesarean section (1-4). Higher rates of Caesarean section are observed among migrant women in large-scale studies. One Norwegian study in 2000, in an analysis of 17,000 births to non-European migrant women, found a prevalence of Caesarean section

reaching 25%, while the average percentage for Norwegian women is 12%. Disparities according to cultural and geographical origin are considerable, with particularly high rates for women from the Philippines (25.8%) Brazil and Chile (24.3%) India and Sri Lanka (21.3%) and countries in the Horn of Africa (Somalia, Eritrea, Ethiopia) (20.5%) (5). A meta-analysis in 2013 found similar results from a synthesis of studies performed in 18 Western countries (Europe and North America). Among the 70 studies included, 69% evidenced different rates of Caesarean section between migrants and non-migrants. In particular, the rates are regularly higher among women from Sub-Saharan Africa, Somalia, and Southern Asia. In addition to this, the rates for emergency Caesarean section are higher among North African women, women from Western Asia, and Latin America. In the Paris region, a study by Linard using data from 2000-2002 found a proportion of 17% for Caesarean section among French women, versus 31% for women from Sub-Saharan Africa (6).

The factors suggested to explain this excess risk among migrant women are numerous. They include language and communication barriers, low socio-economic status, frail health of the mothers, high BMI, disproportion between uterus and foetus, previous uterine scarring, inadequate prenatal care, representations of pregnancy follow-up different from those of the country of origin, and isolation (1, 6-10). The precarious situations associated with migration are a considerable perinatal risk factor, as is isolation and absence of marital support, administrative status, and the existence or otherwise of health cover (3, 10). Command of the French language also appears a determining factor in the instatement of adequate pregnancy follow-up. Women who can neither read nor write French have a risk multiplied by three of not having the recommended pregnancy follow-up (10). For migrant mothers, fears associated with Caesarean section, often lifethreatening in the country of origin, can combine with the experience of a cultural, religious or sexual transgression, and thus further compound the difficulties encountered for these parents starting a family far from their cultural landmarks and the support of their families (11). Anthropological studies on the perinatal period and obstetrics in traditional rural areas report negative cultural representations of Caesarean section (12-20). Women from Sub-Saharan Africa, West Africa or the Maghreb who have a Caesarean section run the risk of rejection by their husbands, or being branded as sterile, and are liable to be excluded from the social group if they can no longer bear children, or if they are held responsible for malformations in the baby (15, 16, 21, 22). Refusal to consent to Caesarean section is a frequent source of difficulties for caregivers in obstetric units, who argue compliance with medical decisions and the absolute need to save the lives of the mother and child, in the face of people who prefer to put their trust in divine will and who refuse the mutilation of Caesarean section (23). The intervention is most often dreaded or refused, since it signals to the community the woman's inability to give birth (12, 13).

Objectives of the study

This qualitative study aimed to explore the experiences of migrant women who have had a child by Caesarean section, so as to suggest lines for improvement in terms of psychological prevention and care provision for these vulnerable populations. The issue is approached from a transcultural and complementarist (24) point of view, so as to facilitate access to participants' inner experiences, while at the same time taking their anthropological and cultural belonging into account. This requirement has taken the form of an integration into the design of our interview guide of probe questions enabling women to express their cultural perceptions, and also of the availability of interpreters in the research interviews to enable participants to use their native language. The main aim of the research was to explore the subjective experience of women from diverse cultural origins who had given birth by Caesarean section. The secondary objective was to propose lines for improvement in terms of psychological prevention and mental care for this vulnerable population.

Materials and methods

Ethics approval

The research protocol was reviewed and approved by the Paris-Cité University ethics committee in 2021 (ethics committee registration number n° IRB: 00012021–109). All participants were adults and provided written informed consent to the study.

Methods

This was a single-centre, exploratory, qualitative study. The participants were recruited in the Port-Royal maternity unit, Cochin Hospital (APHP) in Paris during their post-natal stay. They had no previous links with the research team. Inclusions took place from January to March 2022 in the following manner: after an interview with the team of midwives and ascertainment of their eligibility, one researcher (JR) visited the rooms of the patients who were eligible to propose a face-to-face interview. The information letter and the consent form were given to the patients, who were allowed a period of reflection before agreeing to participate (see Annexe 1). Then an appointment was made, usually for the day after inclusion, according to patient preference and the availability of the ISM (Inter Services Migrants) interpreters. The participants could be accompanied by a person of their choice for the interview. Recruitment continued until theoretical saturation of the data, i.e. when the inclusion of new participants reaches a point of redundancy and all perspectives appear to have been explored (25, 26).

The inclusion criteria were as follows:

- Being a first-generation migrant mother, however long she has been in France
- Having recently given birth by Caesarean section, with straightforward sequellae for mother and child
- Caesarean section performed in emergency or planned.

The exclusion criteria were as follows:

- Mothers with a decompensated acute psychiatric disorder
- · Mothers of new-born infants with serious neo-natal complications
- · Mothers with serious obstetrical complications.

No financial remuneration was offered for participation in this research. The collection of informed consent and the perusal of the information letter were repeated before the interview and the data collection, with the help of the interpreter. An interpreter-mediator was systematically called on for the research interviews if the participant's mother tongue was not French, so as to facilitate access to the cultural concepts and representations of the participant, or to detail complex emotions is their own language. The participants' viewpoints were collected using a semi-structured interview guide specifically designed for this research. The interview guide included a limited number of open probe questions enabling the conversation to start on the research themes, while at the same time attempting to foster an interview that was as fluid and spontaneous as possible (Table 1). The duration of the interview was adapted to the state of fatigue of the participants, who were informed of the possibility of discontinuing the interview at any time. In case of manifestations of mental suffering in the course of the interviews, participants were asked if they consented to the transmission of this information to the health-care team in the maternity follow-up unit with a view to instatement of psychological care.

Data analysis

The interviews were recorded on a secure recorder in anonymous form, and were transcribed word-for-word. The analysis was performed using Nvivo (QSR International) qualitative analysis software. The analysis implemented Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA), which aims to provide an in-depth exploration of the ways in which subjects experience and give meaning to a phenomenon, from the study of their narratives on the subject (27, 28). The original interviews were coded line by line in full, using notations that were as close as possible to the original. Each unit of meaning (sentence, paragraph, verbatim) was translated into primary notations, and these were then grouped in codes, which in turn were grouped in themes and meta-themes. The thematic analysis grid was derived from the categories developed in inductive manner from the themes obtained. The analysis of the interviews was conducted by three researchers (JR, RR, MRM) (triangulation to ensure concordance between the analyses and the results).

Results

1. Description of the sample

TABLE 1 Interview guide.

1. You recently gave birth. How are you feeling today?
2. How did your pregnancy go? Can you tell me how things went and who
accompanied and assisted you, medically or non-medically?
3. How did your close and broader family accompany you in this period of
pregnancy and childbirth??
4. There are many ways to bring a child into the world. In your family, how is
childbirth viewed? What were your own thoughts and expectations for your
delivery?
5. Can you tell me about the delivery of your child? How was the decision to
perform Caesarean section reached?
6. Tell me about your first encounter with your child. How did the first few days
go?
7. What accompaniment did you have by professionals in the maternity ward
following the Caesarean section?
8. Do you have anything to add about your experience of Caesarean section?

We interviewed seven women of various cultural origins: Australia, Spain, the Gambia (Soninke), Senegal (Wolof), Ivory Coast, Cameroon and Mali (Bambara). They had been in France for durations of 1 month to 5 years. The interviews were conducted from day 2 to day 4 after childbirth. Four of the Caesarean deliveries were emergency interventions, among which two followed on from a failed attempt to trigger labour. Two interviews were conducted without an interpreter, as none was available and the women were from African countries where French is commonly used. In line with our protocol, we interviewed only first-time migrant women.

Four of the seven participants were living with their partner and had their partner present during their stay in the maternity hospital. For those whose husbands were not present during the interview, this was due to situational factors (having to look after the eldest child, or the partner having gone to make the administrative declaration of birth) and not to a refusal on the part of the mother or to a lesser paternal investment.

As in any qualitative study, the small number of participants does not allow statistical conclusions to be drawn from the descriptive table of participants.

The interviews were conducted from January to March 2022 (Table 2). The duration of the interviews was 20 min to 1 hour, with an average of 53 min.

2. Thematic analysis

The thematic analysis detected 4 main themes articulating intimate, inter-subjective and cultural perceptions of Caesarean section with the experience of the care provided. We have named these themes (1) the shock of the Caesarean, (2) isolation and loneliness, (3) the absence of a cultural containing function, and (4) experiences of the medical follow-up.

The verbatims quoted as examples are intended to illustrate the themes and to help the understanding of the reader. The themes are to be considered as reflecting the experience of all the participants, except when the contrary is explicitly stated.

The shock of the caesarean

The first theme in the results is related to the intimate experience of Caesarean delivery in a setting of surprise, disappointment and pain. Although this particular theme does not apply specifically to migrant women, exemplifying an experience probably common to all women subjected to this experience, its complexity is greater in the context of migration. In almost all the situations here, the participant was unprepared for Caesarean delivery, which was at odds with her idealised projections of childbirth. One participant had the impression of having been deprived of the "magic of childbirth", while another said she had not had the dreamed-of delivery. Almost all participants said they had hoped for a "natural (or "physiological") delivery", or for a "delivery without epidural analgesia".

MO2 – It was an experience completely different from what I had imagined. I wanted to give birth very naturally, in a natural setting, without epidural or anything else.

MO3 – I wanted a physiological delivery, I had a plan for the birth of the child, I wanted to cut the umbilical cord with delayed clamping.

	Native language /country of origin	Marital status	Arrive in France	Parity	Reason for Caesarean	Psychological follow-up for:	People present during the research interview
M01	English (Australia)	With a partner	2 months	G1P1- 1st Caesarean	Caesarean during labour	-	Partner
M02	Spanish (Spain)	With a partner	Several years	G1P1- 1st Caesarean	Caesarean planned before labour	-	Partner
M03	Soninké/ Spanish (Gambia/Spain)	With a partner	2 and a half years	G1P1- 1st Caesarean	Caesarean during labour	Depression	Alone
M04	Wolof (Senegal)	With a partner	5 years	G2P2- 2nd Caesarean	Emergency Caesarean before labour	Denial of pregnancy	Alone
M05	French (Ivory Coast)	Single	5 years	G1P1- 1st Caesarean	Planned Caesarean before labour	Isolation	Alone
M06	Bafia (Cameroon)	Single	1 month	G1P2-1st Caesarean, twins.	Caesarean during labour	Traumatic experiences	Alone
M07	Bambara (Mali)	Single	1 month	G3P3- 3rd Caesarean, the first 2 in Mali	Emergency Caesarean before labour	-	A female friend

TABLE 2 Participant characteristics.

Only one woman said that she had not formed a childbirth plan, attributing this to lack of time and mental availability to settle down and dream. The context of migration and an atmosphere of health uncertainties relating to Covid-19 hampered maternal reveries.

MO1 - It seems to me that with all the changes in recent years I have in a way got into the habit of not anticipating things [...] It's just that our lives have changed so much... moving to France was an enormous life change, a new country, so many challenges.

The announcement and the decision to perform a Caesarean appears as an unwelcome surprise, too sudden, and received with disappointment by the participants who had never envisaged this mode of delivery. The preparation sessions for childbirth were of no help in the situations encountered here in preparing for Caesarean delivery.

MO2 – It was nothing like what I expected it to be. It was very sudden, all the information came too fast, something you are not expecting at all.

P (MO2) It was rather surgical, in fact, rather cold and surgical.

The corollary of this disappointment is the experience of a sort of failure, with feelings of incompetence and inability to bear children, going even as far as the expression of intense guilt. Caesarean delivery in this case is seen as deviant compared to what was systematically referred to as "normal" delivery.

MO5 - I failed...

MO2 - It made me feel like a bad mother, and a bad woman because I couldn't manage it properly - why? Did I do something wrong? Why can't I give birth normally, like other women?

This feeling of failure is stressed by several women, who compare themselves to other women around them, and most often with their own mother. The reference to other women is a constant observation in the interviews, characterising delivery as the life event that places a woman in her lineage and her social group.

MO6 - In my family I am the only one to have had a Caesarean. Otherwise, everyone else has had a vaginal delivery.

The participants were interviewed just after delivery. Their postoperative physical state occupies considerable space in their discourse. Thus fatigue, or even exhaustion, and also pain and worries about recovering from surgery are present in all the interviews. The participants talked of worries about the healing of the scar on the uterus.

MO1 – Everyone looks at the scar, asks me about pain, how things are going. But it's true that we never talk about what's going on inside in any detail. How will it heal?

The procedures encountered in the operating theatre cause distress, fear and anxiety. The lack of privacy on account of the numbers of professionals present, and the accumulation of strong stimuli (noise, lights, milling people) makes the visit to the operating theatre an experience that is a sensory aggression.

MO7 - There they are very quick, there are too many people milling around! There are nurses, lights, bing! bang! You don't know what's going on. It's too much, far too much!

MO4 – When I saw the people with masks, saying "It's alright, don't worry" I was flustered, I was in tears

Caesarean birth is sudden and violent, occurring in an immediacy that overturns psychic temporality of the mother who is thus deprived of the period of labour.

MO2 – We were talking, and the moment we stopped talking they said "there we are, the baby is coming now" and a few seconds later we could hear him cry.

If we look at the words used to describe their Caesarean we note the words "hole", "big cut" or "they cut your belly open". Certain participants' narratives are in very lurid language, or else they give a wealth of details, which suggests that our interviews in the early aftermath had not left time for the experience to be integrated psychically. These raw narratives, without hierarchy in the detail, reflect the violence of the experience, and result from the great psychic vulnerability in which these mothers found themselves at the time of the interviews. They also provide insight into the traumatic potential of Caesarean section. The narratives are characterised by the lexical field of trauma, with the mention of a suspension of time, along with imposed passivity, giving the impression that the woman is placed in the position of undergoing (or enduring) her delivery, no longer an active party.

MO4 – I went all day without eating. There were emergencies, they told me to wait in the other room. And I stayed there waiting till 4 in the morning. It was really hard, I was in pain [...] Several times I asked for a drink of water and they said no, I wasn't to eat or drink ... so I went more than 24 hours without eating, waiting for my turn.

MO2 – It's as if someone said to you "You are going to die on such and such a day, you have two weeks, 18 days [...] You can't compare waiting to die and having a baby, but there...

Caesarean section means an early separation of the mother from her baby, because of the time required to suture the wound and the time in post-operative care. This initial time of separation, lasting several hours, can cause a feeling of abandonment and loneliness for the mother, and the impression of a sudden switch to care of the baby rather than herself. The mother feels alone, abandoned in the recovery room and suddenly no longer the centre of attention of the healthcare team.

MO1 – For me it was the recovery room that was the hardest. I was alone, unfortunately the nurse was not very friendly. I really felt as if I was alone on that floor. There really was no-one around [...] I was in a sort of void, it's true. I was no longer the patient, and I was not yet the patient. Because, of course, it was the baby who mattered most [...] I felt rather abandoned, in fact, once the baby was taken away.

Pregnancy and childbirth far from one's own people: an itinerary characterised by isolation and loneliness

Isolation, loneliness and mental distress

The women we interviewed were all suffering intensely from isolation as a result of migration. For those who had maintained contacts

with their families, distant family support takes the form of frequent calls and exchanges, mostly several times a day, with the family remaining in the country of origin. When questioned about their experiences of pregnancy the participants all described a pregnancy that was difficult and stressful, with considerable vomiting throughout, the threat of premature birth, or mistaken announcements of miscarriage, and these ordeals were compounded by the pain of separation from the family.

MO3 – In fact it's because I had the risk of a miscarriage. Very early on, at 15 weeks, and then a threatened delivery at 23 weeks. As a result I had to stay in bed, and in fact, as I'm not from here, well my family wasn't there either. So I spent my whole pregnancy alone with my husband.

This feeling of isolation leads to worries about what will happen after the Caesarean and the return home, and this is particularly marked for women with no companion.

MO5 – I just know a few people here and there, but they can't be there for you all the time when you need them. Here everyone has his own occupations, people go to work... You can't call them and ask "can you come and help me".

One of the participants has a history of post-partum depression at the time of an earlier Caesarean delivery, which she links to her loneliness and solitude.

MO7 – When I had my second son I had post partum depression, the real thing! Because overnight, I go to hospital, I have the baby, I come home, and I am alone! I don't even know how to bath the baby, I don't know how to do anything, I was shaking, it was horrible! Horrible – loneliness is ... dreadful.

Solitude and distancing from the family as a result of migration were compounded by the closure of borders with the Covid-19 pandemic, and also by lockdown measures. Pregnant migrant women found themselves particularly vulnerable, in a situation of total dependence towards their husbands, who, when present, were their only resource.

MO3 – Suddenly, no longer going to work, not being able to do anything, not being able to get out, I realised that apart from my husband I wasn't going to be able to do anything, or see anyone.

The husband, a needed but insufficient support

The husband, when present, has a major role in the pregnancy trajectory of these migrant women. Caesarean delivery imposes considerable requirements on the husband, since the mother in the recovery room is not available for prolonged skin-to-skin with the new-born baby, nor for the first baby care procedures. The two fathers who were present in the interviews (MO1 and M02) were particularly committed fathers, anxious to be present throughout their wife's time in the maternity unit. All the other participants were isolated and needed to care for the baby on their own. For them, the sadness of being alone, and also the worry of being temporarily incapacitated by the Caesarean and not physically fit to look after the new-born child, were particularly marked. MO5 – Its the time after the Caesarean [that worries me], because I have practically no-one here. How will I manage? Who will help me?

The mother, an omnipresent figure, is cruelly missed

The figure of their own mother appears omnipresent in the discourse of the participants, they miss her cruelly. The participants call on their mothers to accompany them from a distance, to reassure them.

MO1 – My mother is a great person. I called her at one in the morning on three consecutive nights. In the depth of the night she told me "yes, yes I'm with you, it's nine in the morning here! Don't worry". That helped [...] just knowing that someone was there. When it's night time you feel so alone [...] so it does me good to be able to call my mother"

Several of our participants, especially those from Western African or Sub-Saharan countries express nostalgia for the maternal "portage" they would have had in their own country. The mother of the parturient woman has the role of providing psychological support, physical care and child care, to enable the young woman to regain strength.

MO7 interpreter – Culturally, when the daughter gives birth she will spend one month with her mother, it depends on families, sometimes it's two weeks, sometimes 40 days.

MO5 - So that you can eat well, you are given large portions of dishes at home. There you are given a big fish for you to recover!

MO7 – You eat, you sleep, and you don't see your baby, they look after him.

In addition, the deliveries of their own mothers are systematically recalled by these women. The feeling of having had an abnormal experience is greater among the women whose mothers had vaginal deliveries, while those whose mother underwent Caesarean section identify more easily with that trajectory, which is welcome support.

MO3 - For my mother too her pregnancies were complicated, she had a bad experience of the triggering of labour and Caesarean.

Trauma, secrecy, and disgrace

Migrants women can need to conceal their pregnancy from their families back home, which aggravates their isolation and loneliness in confronting these challenges. One of our participants (MO4) was initially in denial of her pregnancy and did not announce it to the family for fear of a negative, violent reaction from her father. For another participant, it was because of the worry of the disgrace she would bring on her family that made her prefer to keep her pregnancy secret.

MO5 - If you aren't married, you can't have a baby... so I preferred not to tell them. As the father and I are no longer together, when things are that way, in the family it's – it's a sort of disgrace in the family. So I don't really want to talk about it, for that reason For another of our participants (MO6) the pregnancy was the result of rape in the course of migration. The stunned state in which she found herself made the interview distressing, despite the participant's repeated request not to end it. The interview is punctuated by lengthy silences, and a virtual absence of spontaneous comments to restart the interview by the participant. Her obvious mental slowing, which could be attributed to both the fatigue from the recent Caesarean and to the presence of clear depressive symptoms, can also be seen as a state of dissociation and traumatic numbness.

The lack of a cultural containing function

A negative view of Caesarean section

Four of our participants from Sub-Saharan Africa reported negative cultural representations of Caesarean section. Caesarean delivery is perceived very negatively and there is heavy prejudice for the mother. Caesareans have a bad image first because they inspire fear: in countries with poor medical infrastructures the consequences of surgery – often fatal for earlier generations -are still feared. Caesarean delivery also means having fewer children, thus affecting the woman's fertility.

MO4 – At that point I was afraid, because at home when we talk about Caesarean delivery, people are scared [...] Because it was said that with a Caesarean you can only have three children, that's what they say in Senegal.

Beyond these worries of a medical nature, Caesarean delivery is viewed negatively as an absence of effort, preventing the woman from becoming "a real woman".

MO7 – When I had the Caesarean, my grandmother said "As for you, you're just lazy, you couldn't even give birth! You had lots of help, didn't you! They open up your belly and they just give you the baby". For those women it's easy [...] Yes, you should have vaginal delivery. That's it, you should... in fact you're not a real woman, not in their heads.

Caesarean delivery belongs to the medical world and makes traditional care impossible.

Caesarean delivery, by essence medicalised, calls into question the place and the presence of the medical profession in childbirth. For women from traditional societies, delivery should be natural and physiological, and excessive medical intervention is dreaded. One participant told about the experience of her own mother, who did not attend the appointment in the maternity unit for labour to be triggered.

MO3 – In African culture, so much medical stuff is not really a good thing. For instance my mother, I know, for one of my brothers, they told her to come in so that could start the labour, and she didn't go, she waited till it started spontaneously.

The women systematically spoke of the traditional care provided for young parturient women having had a vaginal delivery to facilitate their recovery. This care is often described in detail, whether in terms of massages, the intake of certain plants or eating special foods suited to young mothers and favouring recovery. There is however no traditional care in case of Caesarean delivery. Caesareans belong to the world of medicine, and cuts women off from traditional care often provided by the mother or grandmother. This lack of cultural containing echoes with the loneliness and isolation mentioned earlier, which is compounded by the Caesarean delivery which excludes the woman from the traditional care needed for her full integration into the group of women and mothers.

MO6 – I don't know about Caesarean, but with vaginal delivery when it's over you are cared for. Caesarean is a bit complicated. They would touch... it's still complicated. You shouldn't touch the belly, it should be left, you see...

Touch occupies an important place in the care of young parturient women. In intra-cultural situations, a woman who has not migrated and can receive the traditional care thus seems to deliver a second time with the expulsion of the "clots in the belly" (after-birth). Thus the delivery lasts several days, but in this case in the expert hands of women from the family. Everything then suggests that migrant women are dually distanced from their family group, by way of migration first of all, and by the medical profession *via* Caesarean section. The touch of another person, described as so important by the parturient women, is impossible, prevented.

MO5 - When you have a vaginal delivery at home; you can be massaged, someone can massage your belly. It's the mother who does that, or an elderly person, with hot water. They say there are blood clots in the belly and they need to be expelled, so they massage you, they press on your belly, for several days.

The participants who have been able to share things with their family back home all have a particularly strong relationship with their mother, calling her on the phone several times a day and even in the night, and receiving a lot of advice and reassurance. While "our little hints" (MO4) can be used, the woman is nevertheless alone to massage her belly, or to carry out traditional care procedures or prepare special drinks to favour recovery.

MO4 – My mother told me when I wake up in the morning to take a towel or a piece of cloth, dip it in hot water, and then put it on the wound and massage gently, not pressing too hard, but putting a little pressure, and the water should be quite warm even so. She also told me to take millet powder and make it into a porridge, to add palm oil and to drink it hot. That will clean out the belly, wash away the impurities, and all. That will help me have milk in my breasts so I can feed the baby.

In a setting of migration, threat to the rituals that welcome a baby

The importance of the rituals for the welcome of a baby are well known. They can take the form of physical, spiritual or symbolic care. The traditional practices intended to instate protection against evil spirits for the mother and her child can be difficult to set up in France. The advice proffered by the mother can contradict the rules imposed by the husband. For one participant in particular (MO5) this violent confrontation concerned traditional and cultural protection measures in contradiction with the religious requirements posed by the husband. MO4 – I tell my mother that I have done something, but I don't do it, because my husband does not want me to. Because he says to me "That's not written in the Koran, that's traditional stuff, not religious, so..." For him anything that is traditional and not religious, he doesn't do it

In addition, the lack of family and community support and "propping" in France can compromise the traditional rituals for welcoming the child. Among them, the Moslem baptism is practised in the first weeks after birth in Mali which is the country of origin of MO7. Even so, as a migrant mother having only recently arrived in France and with little access so far to other Malians, she does not envisage the baptism "here". It is a friend, also from Mali and present in the interviews, who acts as a mediator and proposes to introduce the mother and her baby to the local community, asking her own husband to organise the baptism.

Friend of MO7 - In fact baptism within the week is compulsory. It's compulsory, it's religious, it's where you give the baby a first name, when the baby is shaved, they shave his hair. So we'll do it! Now I've seen it, I have my husband, they'll do it, it's compulsory. He'll do it.

The experience of medical follow-Up

Administrative difficulties and difficulties accessing care

Our participants have to cope with numerous administrative difficulties leading to difficulties in accessing care, this being true irrespective of socio-economic position or socio-professional category. Recently-arrived women all report difficulties in finding their way in the French healthcare system, notifying their pregnancy or initiating the monitoring of their pregnancy. They feel lost and in difficulty for access to midwives, gynaecologists and paediatricians in community practice to whom they are generally directed.

MO1 - In fact I have an American friend who moved when she was eight months pregnant or thereabouts. She doesn't speak French, she has no Carte Vitale (personal identification for access to healthcare) of course, and that's difficult... When you are outside the system you are a bit lost.

These difficulties for access to health professionals in ambulatory care continue after childbirth, making the perspective of discharge with no outside support a worrying prospect. One participants expressed her anxiety about the imminent return home, although she had not been able to find a community midwife to visit her at home.

MO3 – When I'm discharged, I need to find a midwife, as I had a Caesarean, a midwife who come to the home. But up to yesterday those that I have contacted are not available.

The language barrier is a considerable difficulty. For one of our participants, also a care professional, it is language that prevents the medical staff from providing medical information to the patients.

MO3 – So they come here, they don't understand the language, nor the explanations. And several times at work I have seen that

when the patients don't speak the language well, even the doctor gives fewer explanations because he knows she won't understand. It would be a good thing to always have interpreters in hospital.

Antenatal care, preparation for childbirth

There is a stark contrast within the interviews: while most of the participants are very satisfied generally with their stay in the maternity unit after the birth of the baby, the antenatal period is discontinuous and the sessions of preparation for childbirth appear unsuited to their situation. Indeed, all the participants mentioned their difficulty in finding their way in the French health system and finding a community midwife on their own to ensure follow-up of the pregnancy. They repeatedly mentioned not having been able to know who to turn to, having felt alone in organising the follow-up and having experienced considerable anxiety.

MO3 – [In Spain] we have health centres where you find everything, you don't need to look for a midwife. You go there, make an appointment, you say you are pregnant and they organise everything. But here you have to look for a midwife yourself, or a paediatrician or a gynaecologist

Having friends and a network of acquaintances in France facilitates things. Almost counter-intuitively, our most vulnerable participants with regard to the administration and finance, housed in centres for migrants or social accommodation, were accompanied by the social services and were generally better supported in the follow-up of their pregnancy. Psychological care was also systematically offered, showing the considerable concern shown by staff for these difficult itineraries.

MO5 – When I arrived at Port-Royal I was really well supported. I had the support of psychologists, social workers and a midwife. They were really there for me, they answered my questions and they listened to me. They did all they could. It really did me good, it brought me a lot.

Low-risk patients who were oriented towards externalised follow-up in ambulatory care were in contrast less satisfied with their prenatal surveillance. To the difficulties finding their way around the French system and in recruiting community health professionals can be added a feeling of discontinuity in the few appointments in the prenatal period in the maternity unit. When they meet different doctors and midwives at each consultation, the women are unable to share their concerns or worries. This lack of a stable reference is a central element that destabilises the participants, pregnant women and migrants already in a situation of vulnerability. The participants thus clearly expressed their need for caregiving continuity, not just referrals in medical files.

MO2 – Sometimes you see doctors that are completely different, who have your file but that's all. I don't really feel I was properly followed, here, I don't feel really reassured with a person who you can really talk to and all that.

This absence of a frame of reference during pregnancy follow-up relates to a specific mode of organisation in the maternity unit at Port-Royal. We can however add that there are radical differences in care provision linked to differences in protocol between maternity units. One of our participants, who started her follow-up in another Paris maternity unit before transfer to Port-Royal reports a complete change in the mode of healthcare delivery.

MO3 – The problem is that here they don't use at all the same protocol as the one I know. They placed a pessary which is like cervical cerclage, but here they don't use it and they removed it. It was a bit of a shock, because for me the pessary could help! It's a form of support! And I had medication, progesterone and all that, but they said that should go too. So it was a shock, right from the start, because they weren't doing the things I know about. I felt they weren't listening to me.

The sessions of preparation for childbirth appeared inadequate and unsuited to our participants who had ended up with a Caesarean. In all the interviews, we found this impression of sessions that had too little to say about the possibility of Caesarean delivery, and did not enable these women to anticipate this possibility. Sometimes, as for MO2, the preparation sessions were experienced as painful, entailing rivalry with other women, compounding their feelings of "abnormality" associated with Caesarean delivery.

MO2 - I remember one day we were to prepare for childbirth with a community midwife, and we already knew we were programmed for Caesarean – having beside you couples who are saying things, like... "so we feel this and that" when I knew that I wouldn't feel anything at all...

Psychological care was offered to several participants during pregnancy, in the setting of pregnancy denial, depression sometimes compounded by isolation, or a history of trauma. This accompaniment proved to be particularly supportive for certain participants, while others had greater difficulty resorting to it, or regretted having been able to only broach very ordinary subjects in the sessions.

MO3 – I talked with her, we got on well and all that, but she didn't go deep into my feelings. Sometimes I went there, we talked about everything and nothing, but not really about... the fact that I was sad, that I was crying, or things like that...

The delivery

The narratives of the participants mingle the difficulties linked to the Caesarean delivery, as seen in the first part of the results, and unanimous recognition of the professionalism and kindliness of the healthcare staff. No participant questioned the decision for Caesarean section despite their negative experience of it, and all agreed to the need for it. Likewise, none of them showed any anger or aggressiveness towards the maternity unit. The narratives are particularly positive and valorising, with the participants expressing their gratitude and satisfaction, stressing the kindliness of the staff and the quality of care in France.

MO7 – They are so nice! I said to myself, these white people are so kind! [...] If it was in Africa they would have been saying "Hey, you over there, get out! And who are you? Hurry up!"

However certain elements combine to make the experience of Caesarean delivery distressing. The premises, the organisation of the

unit and the status of staff in the unit can be inadequately identified by the parents, compounding feelings of confusion generated by the decision to perform emergency Caesarean section.

Father MO1 – At one moment they moved us to the day hospital, they took us to the pre-labour room or the birth room. There was a notice for a pre-labour room, but they had said birth room.

After the birth: the time in the maternity unit

The participants were unanimous in recognising the quality of the care provided by the maternity unit teams, describing the professionals as kind and supportive. The participants, and their husbands when present, expressed their satisfaction and even their gratitude.

MO2 – From the moment we moved to the operating theatre, everyone was really professional, really reassuring and very kind.

MO6 – They coddled me, they took care of me, they tried to see what was wrong. It's reassuring despite everything

The participants had a positive view of the staff visits to their room after the birth by staff they had seen before delivery, doctors, midwives or psychologists, stressing the importance of continuity in the therapeutic and human links with individuals who have been identified. This need for links could be exacerbated in setting of migration where links are often compromised.

MO2 – She [the midwife who announced it] came to see me today, I was glad. To see how things were going

MO5 - I have my psychologist, she came even yesterday, she keeps coming to see me, on Monday, yesterday [...] Since the start of pregnancy, it has really supported me. She even told me, if I want, we can stay in contact, even if I see other psychologists out there, I can call her any time even so. She said so.

Discussion

One hypothesis can be derived from these results. The incision in the Caesarean procedure amplifies and updates the symbolic severance caused by migration. A migrant woman having had Caesarean delivery runs the risk of being excluded from the group of mothers for two reasons. Because of the isolation and loneliness linked to migration, first of all, she cannot be coddled and contained by the female accompaniment she would have had at home (this being independent from the modes and cultural variations of this accompaniment). Above all, it is the painful distancing from her own mother that makes the woman vulnerable, as the transmission of care gestures for parturient women (massages, food to regain strength) and for the care of the infant no longer occurs. These effects, frequently evidenced and well identified as vulnerability factors specific to migrant women in the perinatal period (29-31), are accentuated by the Caesarean. Caesarean section, a purely medical and surgical act, seen at least as having no cultural meaning when it is not viewed as a symbolic or even religious transgression (23), is also deprived of the appropriate care gestures that could provide this act with coherent symbolic and cultural meaning. And on top of that, the young parturient must avoid the traditional care and massages that could favour her recovery.

This study does not claim to be ethnological, nor does it describe how each culture perceives Caesarean section. Indeed, the participants were not interviewed as experts on their culture. The interview guide, while seeking to incorporate cultural elements, focused on the participants' subjective experiences; the cultural and familial elements that constitute their internalized cultural framework serving as a matrix for their subjective experiences. Thus, the thematic analysis aimed to identify factors of vulnerability linked to the transcultural situation and migration shared by all the participants.

These results casts light on the functions of childbirth and maternity which are specific neither to Caesarean delivery nor to migration. Here everything suggests that the transcultural context aligns with the situation of all women who are becoming mothers. How can one's integration into the group of adult women be envisaged if one has not been able to prove the ability to give birth? How can one learn to become a mother without the model and support of one's own mother? Migration, according to Claire Mestre, thus equates to "a quasi-experimental situation that enables us to explore how women need to call on different personal competences and do without the help of their mothers, in particular when they are from a society in which the place of the mother is essential for transmission" (30). Our results underline another important element: the atmosphere of uncertainty in which migrant women find themselves entails the risk of failure to invest fully in the birth of the child, a risk that then involves the child.

The parturient woman's mother occupies an essential place in the psychological elaboration of pregnancy, with the processes of identification, gratitude and idealisation [Bydlowski, quoted by 30]. The absence of this maternal figure can be partially compensated for by the adoption of a particularly maternal attitude by the husband, as seen in several narratives by our participants. This situation, frequent for migrant mothers distanced from their own mothers, (and more broadly for non-migrants suffering from isolation and loneliness) is accentuated by the physical injury of the Caesarean. The initial prolonged separation from the baby while the mother is in the recovery room, the first care procedures that the woman cannot perform – this makes the father particularly involved in the maternal care of the new-born infant. This is liable to accentuate the gulf with traditional maternal care in the home community and aggravate the mother's feelings of guilt and incompetence.

Our participants established a parallel between difficult experiences of pregnancy, different from what was expected, and the fact that the pregnancy ended up with a Caesarean. The narratives on these pregnancies show a predominance of the passive register (needing to rest, to stay in bed, vomiting, being restricted in activities, etc.). This passivity is also seen in the experience of Caesarean delivery, where the woman submits to the vicissitudes of protocol and medical decision. The distress relating to intrusion and upheaval linked to pregnancy also entails the necessary experience of passivity that the mother must endure to enable a new being to grow within her body (32). This theme of passivity, inherent in pregnancy and inherent in Caesarean delivery, echoes the situation of passivity to which the migrant woman is subjected, whereby she has to adapt, conform and accept an external cultural framework that differs from her interior cultural framework. Indeed, the logics of healthcare, of life and death entertained by these women may not be in line with the issues and objectives of the medical care provision offered by healthcare teams here (23). This passivity resulting from both migrant status and pregnancy status is reinforced by Caesarean delivery, a painful episode that reinforces dependency towards caregivers and husbands, making the woman unable physically to take care of the baby on her own in the early days. In addition, the importance of pain during labour seems to be missed by certain women who feel they have been forced to be passive as a result of Caesarean delivery, losing control of their own delivery. The violent remarks by traditional grandmothers reported such as "you are just lazy" show the importance of the symbolic dimensions of distress, pain and suffering, seen as legitimising graduation to maternity.

Certain migrant women are particularly exposed to the risk of violence and traumatic events, as with one of our participants whose pregnancy was the result of rape during her travels. Some participants described their deliveries with a wealth of detail involving various sensory modes (visual, auditory or painful scenes) in some cases violent. These details, associated in counter-transference with an impression of diffuse unease, dejection or anger when listening to them, are challenging and of concern to us on account of the ultimate traumatic potential of the event (33, 34). Further to this, the literature outside the migratory setting identifies the risk of traumatic neurosis following a Caesarean delivery (35). We hypothesise that Caesarean delivery could compound the aftermath of the trauma of migration, in other words it could revive and update on the one hand real trauma experienced previously, and on the other the separations and bereavements of the past and the emptiness resulting from migration and distancing from one's own people. To be validated, this hypothesis requires a longitudinal exploration of a cohort of migrant women having had Caesarean deliveries. We can however also turn to research on trauma in transcultural settings, which can inform us on the modes of activation of experiences of traumatic migration following bodily alterations (36).

One result diverges from the literature and our expectations: none of the women expressed mistrust or contested medical decisions or care protocols. On the contrary, gratitude is unanimous, even when the feelings towards Caesarean delivery are negative. It can be hypothesised that the status of migrant fosters passive social and institutional attitudes (sometimes in extreme cases linked to the inability to understand and to be understood by caregivers). This interiorised passivity could generate narcissistic feelings of frailty and intense dependency towards caregivers and the institution, making expressions of discontent more hazardous.

It can be added that participants may have found it difficult to precisely identify the place of our research interviews in care provision in the institution. The participants indeed mentioned their difficulty in identifying and differentiating the different professionals in the unit, which leads us to think that visits to the patient's room by a researcher were possibly not sufficiently distinguished from the healthcare staff's visits, leading to possible confusion.

Proposals for the improvement of care

Pregnant migrant women need continuity and a healthcare reference in order to develop a feeling of containment throughout the pregnancy, from the start of follow-up until discharge from the maternity facility, and including the operating theatre. It appears fundamental to deploy efforts to reduce moments of isolation and loneliness inflicted on mothers finding themselves alone after their Caesarean, since these moments of isolation reactivate the woman's feelings of loneliness and abandonment. Likewise, organisational efforts should be deployed to restrict the period of separation between the mother and her baby after a Caesarean. As suggested by Goguikian Ratcliff (37), we also think it is important to search medical files for anamnestic data linked to vulnerability factors among these women, so that they can be taken into account by caregivers: time since arrival in the host country, fluency in the host country language, educational level and urban or rural origin.

All our participants felt insufficiently prepared for a Caesarean. Preparation for a Caesarean should be given more space in sessions preparing for childbirth, so as to reduce the experience of failure and comparisons with other women. Further to this, their own mothers have considerable importance for these migrant mothers. The presence of the patient's mother should be allowed and encouraged, wherever possible, to foster coherent cultural propping and support and to enable tradition care practices to be maintained. Care should be taken to avoid an ethno-centred stance allowing only the presence of the husband. In the absence of the mother or co-mothers, i.e. other women from the cultural group of origin (11, 38), caregivers, serving as substitute mothers, should endeavour to be "good enough" mothers. They can support motherhood by showing themselves to be sensitive to the cultural identity of these women.

Our results, and the excellent reception of our study by the participants, show that while the initial experience of Caesarean delivery is always difficult, migrant women draw considerable benefit from the opportunity to put words and give meaning to labour and childbirth, which is in favour of a re-appropriation and a return to an active posture after Caesarean delivery that has been experienced passively. We suggest the need to raise awareness among caregivers towards the difficulties of the post-natal period, and the need for systematic debriefing interviews on the birth of the child. In cases of emergency Caesarean, women draw considerable benefit from being able to see the team members present at the time.

In certain maternity units, there are groups of mothers which are open to mothers who have recently given birth. Given the frequency of Caesarean deliveries, it seems relevant to develop groups of women who have had a Caesarean, aiming to enable women to put their feelings of abnormality and guilt into perspective. There are also other systems, such as transcultural consultations, which, using a complementarist approach (Devereux) propose group consultations enabling an affective and cultural "envelope" to be formed for migrant patients with ambivalent representations of the practices encountered here and those of their home country (11, 31, 39).

Strengths and limitation of the present study

The interviews carried out with the presence of interpreters enabled women whose first language was not French to express their intimate thoughts in their native language. The presence of an interpreter, along with the interview guide specifically constructed to explore cultural perceptions of the subjects' experiences, were a major methodological concern, favouring the transcultural validity of the research.

The protocol, validated by the Ethics Committee, entails all due precautions to protect the participants in this very vulnerable period. Our

objective was not to draw conclusions from experiences specific to one or other culture, but our results do cast light on vulnerabilities exacerbated by the difficulties of migration. Further to this, our exploratory methodology and the very early organisation of the interviews immediately after delivery was not suited to the exploration of phenomena that tend to appear in the later aftermath, such as traumatic neuroses.

A later study could include a larger number of mothers so as to have access to varied modes of care provision, or to explore the mental consequences at a distance from the event. Moreover, recent anthropological studies would be needed to collect cultural representations of C-section by cultural group, and their consequences on femininity and motherhood.

Conclusion

Caesarean section is a genuine public health challenge, since in France today one in five deliveries is a Caesarean delivery. Migrant women are particularly vulnerable in this respect. Caesarean birth is often experienced negatively and ill-prepared, and it accentuates the distress linked to isolation, feelings of loneliness and the difficulty of becoming a mother without the support of their own mother. The absence of a culturally coherent meaning allocated to Caesarean birth places the migrant women from traditional cultures in a position that devalorises them and causes feelings of guilt. We propose to deploy systematic interviews centred on the experience of Caesarean delivery in the post-natal period, as well as talking groups for women who have had a Caesarean. Migrant women need to be better prepared for this intervention in the course of sessions preparing for childbirth, involving the presence of interpreters. It is urgent to consider migrant women having had a Caesarean as dually vulnerable, and to actively accompany these women for a sufficiently long period before and after the intervention. Maternity unit professionals and mother and child protection centres should be made aware of these problems so that migrant women can develop protective strategies commensurate with their specific vulnerabilities.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

References

1. Merry L, Small R, Blondel B, Gagnon AJ. International migration and caesarean birth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2013) [cited 2021 Jun 15]) 13:27. Available from. doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-13-27

2. Urquia ML, Glazier RH, Mortensen L, Nybo-Andersen A-M, Small R, Davey M-A, et al. Severe maternal morbidity associated with maternal birthplace in three highimmigration settings. *Eur J Public Health*. (2015) [cited 2021 Jun 15) 25:620–5. Available from:. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/cku230

3. Ratcliff BG, Sharapova A, Suardi F, Borel F. Factors associated with antenatal depression and obstetric complications in immigrant women in Geneva. *Midwifery*. (2015) 31:871–8. doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2015.04.010

4. Eslier M, Morello R, Azria E, Dreyfus M. Comparative study between women born in France and migrant women with regard to their mode of delivery. *J Gynecol Obstet Hum Reprod.* (2020) 49:101648. doi: 10.1016/j.jogoh.2019.101648

5. Vangen S, Stoltenberg C, Skrondal A, Magnus PER, Stray-Pedersen B. Cesarean section among immigrants in Norway. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. (2000) 79:553–8.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Comité d'Ethique de la Recherche de l'Université de Paris (CER U-Paris). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

JR, RR, and MM: conception of the study design, data analysis and interpretation, and final approval of the version to be published. JR: data collection and drafting the article. RR and MM: critical revision of the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank F. Goffinet for having authorised and encouraged this study in his unit, along with E. Azria and P. Sauvegrain for their advice. The authors thank Angela Verdier for the translation work.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor BG declared a shared affiliation with the authors at the time of review.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

6. Linard M, Deneux-Tharaux C, Luton D, Schmitz T, Mandelbrot L, Estellat C, et al. Differential rates of cesarean delivery by maternal geographical origin: a cohort study in France. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth.* (2019) 19. Available from::217. doi: 10.1186/s12884-019-2364-x

7. Azria É. Précarité sociale et risque périnatal. *Enfances Psy.* (2015) 67:13–31. Available at: https://www.cairn.info/revue-enfances-et-psy-2015-3-page-13.htm

8. Sauvegrain P. La santé maternelle des « {Africaines} » en Île-de-{France}: racisation des patientes et trajectoires de soins. *Rev Eur Migr Int.* (2012) 28:81–100. doi: 10.4000/ remi.5902

9. Sauvegrain P, Stewart Z, Gonthier C, Saurel-Cubizolles MJ, Saucedo M, Deneux-Tharaux C, et al. Accès aux soins prénatals et santé maternelle des femmes immigrées. *Bull Epidemiol Hebd.* (2017) 389–95.

10. Herschkorn BP. Parcours de soins périnatals et grande précarité: expérience du réseau SOLIPAM (Solidarité Paris Maman Île-de-France). Contraste. (2017) N° 46:189–206. doi: 10.3917/cont.046.0189

11. Camara H, Radjack R, Klein A, Di C, Moro MR. Apprendre de la vie des mères. Approche transculturelle. *J la Psychanal l'enfant [Internet]*. (2016) 6:151–72. Available at: https://www.cairn.info/revue-journal-de-la-psychanalyse-de-l-enfant-2016-2-page-151.htm

12. Carles G. Grossesse, accouchement et cultures: approche transculturelle de l'obstétrique. *J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod.* (2014) 43:275–80. doi: 10.1016/j. jgyn.2013.12.002

13. Aziken M, Omo-Aghoja L, Okonofua F. Perceptions and attitudes of pregnant women towards caesarean section in urban Nigeria. *Acta Gynecol Scand.* (2007) 86:42–7. Available from. doi: 10.1080/00016340600994950

14. Sim-Medhi P. "4. La culture chinoise," in *Temps Et Rites De Passage [Internet]*. Questions d'Enfances. Paris: Karthala (2011). 93–113.

15. Camara H, Radjack R, Klein A, Di C, Moro MR. Apprendre de la vie des mères. A manual of histology. (2016) 6:151–72. doi: 10.3917/jpe.012.0151

16. Idris I. Approche transculturelle de la famille et de la parentalité. *Le J des Psychol* [*Internet*]. (2020) 375:21–5. Available at: https://www.cairn.info/load_pdf.php?ID_ ARTICLE=JDP_375_0021

17. Amani AF. Terminologie locale et interprétation populaire des maux de grossesse chez les Baoulé en Côte d'Ivoire. *Eur Sci J.* (2019) 15:199. doi: 10.19044/esj.2019. v15n1p199

18. Debruyker A. Les sages-femmes traditionnelles de Papantla: changements et persistances dans l'offre de soin en santé maternelle au Mexique. *Nuevo Mundo Mundos Nuevos Nouv mondes mondes Nouv Mundo Mundos Novos-New world New worlds*. (2015). doi: 10.4000/nuevomundo.68488

19. Damus O. Chapitre 7. Les limites de l'éthique du care des matrones d'Haïti In: . Anthropologie De l'accouchement à Domicile [Internet]. Espace, territoires et sociétés: Presses universitaires des Antilles (2021). 103–13.

20. Damus O. Les pratiques d'orientation de la grossesse et de la naissance en Haïti. L'Harmattan. (2017)

21. Perrin A-S, Drain E, Sarot A, Moro M-R. Comment soutenir l'arrivée au monde d'un enfant de mère migrante dans une maternité française: entre urgence somatique et urgence psychiatrique, le temps de la reconstruction.... *Neuropsychiatr Enfance Adolesc.* (2016) 64:31–5. doi: 10.1016/j.neurenf.2015.11.004

22. BRAS C. Regards sur la césarienne. Témoignages de femmes originaires d'Afrique Subsaharienne. Mémoire pour l'obtention du diplôme d'État de sage-femme, Université de Rouen, non publié, 92 p., [en ligne]. URL: http://dumas.ccsd.cnrs.fr/docs/00/ 65/14/82/PDF/BRAS_Camille.pdf

23. Essén B, Binder P, Johnsdotter S. An anthropological analysis of the perspectives of Somali women in the west and their obstetric care providers on caesarean birth. *J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol.* (2011) 32:10–8. doi: 10.3109/0167482X.2010.547966

24. Devereux G, Jolas T, Gobard H. Ethnopsychanalyse complémentariste. Paris: Flammarion (1972) 163.

25. Mays N, Pope C. Assessing quality in qualitative research. *BMJ*. (2000) 320:50–2. doi: 10.1136/bmj.320.7226.50

26. Smith JA. (ed.). *Qualitative psychology: A practical guide to research methods*. USA: Sage Publications, Inc (2003).

27. Smith JA, Osborn M. Interpretative phenomenological analysis as a useful methodology for research on the lived experience of pain. *Reviews in pain.* (2015) 9:41–2. doi: 10.1177/2049463714541642

28. Malterud K. Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. Lancet. (2001) 358:483–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05627-6

29. Moro MR, Neuman D, Réal I. Maternités en exil: mettre des bébés au monde et les faire grandir en situation transculturelle. *Pensée sauvage*. (2008). doi: 10.1016/B978-2-294-70434-5.00013-7

30. Mestre C. Bébés d'ici, Mères d'exil [Internet]. 1001 bébés. Toulouse: Érès (2016). 400 p.

31. Radjack R, Moro MR. Managing encounters with otherness: transcultural approaches in a French maternity unit In: . *Parenthood and Immigration in Psychoanalysis*. UK: Routledge (2022). 43–59.

32. Pascal C, Spiess M, Thévenot A. Expérience de passivité et affects d'angoisse dans le temps de la grossesse. *Dialogue (Paris).* (2011) n° 192:137–48. doi: 10.3917/ dia.192.0137

33. Lachal C. Le partage du traumatisme: comment soigner les patients traumatisés. *Le J des Psychol.* (2007) 253:50–4. Available at: https://www.cairn.info/load_pdf.php?ID_ ARTICLE=JDP_253_0050

34. Laroche-Joubert M, Moro MR. Manifestations contre-transférentielles et indices de transmission du trauma dans un groupe de thérapeutes. *Cah Crit thérapie Fam Prat réseaux*. (2019) 62:199–211. Available at: https://www.cairn.info/load_pdf.php?ID_ARTICLE=CTF_062_0199

35. Vial F, Guerci P, Dewandre P-Y, Benhamou D. Syndrome de stress post-traumatique et césarienne. *Douleur et Analgésie.* (2016) 29:84–7. doi: 10.1007/s11724-016-0455-2

36. Moro MR. "Le corps comme modalité d'inscription psychique et culturelle. Éléments d'analysée ethnopsychanalytique," in *L'hypocondrie [Internet]*. ed. Dans: Marilia Aisenstein (Paris cedex 14: Presses Universitaires de France), (1995) 137–149.

37. Ratcliff BG, Pereira C, Sharapova A, Grimard N, Radeff FB, Moratti A. *Etude Longitudinale Du Stress Périnatal Des Femmes Migrantes Allophones.* (2014);

38. Moro MR, Radjack R. Grossesse, naissance et petite enfance, une approche transculturelle. *Vocat Sage-femme*. (2016) 4889:1 YP-47. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1634-0760(16)30069-5

39. Bossuroy M, Serbandini N, Drain É, Carbillon L, Baubet T, Ayosso J. Autour de l'accueil du bébé: intérêt d'une consultation transculturelle en maternité. *Psychiatr Enfant*. (2014) 57:563–80. doi: 10.3917/psye.572.0563

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Anne-Laure Sutter-Dallay, Centre Hospitalier Charles Perrens, France

REVIEWED BY Anne-Catherine Rolland, Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, France Suchandra Mukherjee, Institute of Post Graduate Medical Education and Research (IPGMER), India

*CORRESPONDENCE

Audrey Moureau audrey.moureau@huderf.be Louise Cordemans louise.cordemans@huderf.be

RECEIVED 12 December 2022 ACCEPTED 12 May 2023 PUBLISHED 15 June 2023

CITATION

Moureau A, Cordemans L, Gregoire C, Benoît P and Delvenne V (2023) A 5 years' experience of a parent-baby day unit: impact on baby's development. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1121894. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1121894

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Moureau, Cordemans, Gregoire, Benoît and Delvenne. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A 5 years' experience of a parent-baby day unit: impact on baby's development

Audrey Moureau^{1,2*}, Louise Cordemans^{2,3*}, Caroline Gregoire^{2,3}, Pirmez Benoît⁴ and Veronique Delvenne^{1,2}

¹Faculty of Medicine, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium, ²Child and Adolescent Psychiatry Department, Queen Fabiola Children's University Hospital, Brussels, Belgium, ³Faculty of Psychology, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium, ⁴Faculty of Statistics, Université Catholique de Louvain, Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium

Introduction: Psychiatric Mother-Baby Units are well established in France, United Kingdom, and Australia, mostly in full-time hospitalization. Inpatient units are considered as best practice for improving outcomes for mothers and babies when the mother is experiencing severe mental illness and many studies have showed the effectiveness of care for the mother or the mother-infant relationship. Only a limited number of studies have focused on the day care setting or on the development of the baby. Our parent-baby day unit is the first day care unit in child psychiatry in Belgium. It offers specialized evaluation and therapeutic interventions focused on the baby and involves parents with mild or moderate psychiatric symptoms. The advantages of day care unit is to reduce the rupture with social and family living.

Aims: The objective of this study is to evaluate the effectiveness of parent-baby day unit in prevention of babies' developmental problems. First, we present the clinical characteristics of the population treated in the day-unit in comparison to the features presented in the literature review about mother-baby units, which usually receive full-time treatment. Then, we will identify the factors that might contribute to a positive evolution of the baby's development.

Materials and methods: In this study, we retrospectively analyze data of patients admitted between 2015 and 2020 in the day unit. Upon admission, the 3 pillars of perinatal care – babies, parents, and dyadic relationships – have systematically been investigated. All the families have received a standard perinatal medico-psycho-social anamnesis, including data on the pregnancy period. In this unit, all the babies are assessed at entry and at discharge using the diagnostic 0 to 5 scale, a clinical withdrawal risk, and a developmental assessment (Bayley). Parental psychopathology is assessed with the DSM5 diagnostic scale and the Edinburgh scale for depression. Parent–child interactions are categorized according to Axis II of the 0 to 5 scale. We have evaluated the improvement of children symptomatology, the child development and the mother–child relation between the entrance (T1) and the discharge (T2) and we have compared two groups of clinical situations: a group of patients with a successful evolution (considering baby's development and the alliance with the parents) and a group of unsuccessful evolution during hospitalization.

Statistical analysis: We use descriptive statistics to characterize our population. To compare the different groups of our cohort, we use the T-test and non-parametric tests for continue variables. For discrete variables, we used the Chi² test of Pearson.

Discussion: The clinical population of the day unit is comparable to the motherbaby units in terms of psychosocial fragility but the psychopathological profile of the parents entering the day unit shows more anxiety disorder and less postpartum psychosis. The babies' development quotient is in the average range at T1 and is maintained at T2. In the day unit, the number of symptoms as well as the relational withdrawal of the babies is reduced between T1 and T2. The quality of parent–child relationship is improved between T1 and T2. The children of the group of pejorative evolution had a lower developmental quotient at the T1 and an overrepresentation of traumatic life events.

Conclusion: These results indicate that parent-baby day unit lead to positive outcomes in clinical situations with anxio-depressive parents, relational withdrawal of the babies, functional problems of the babies but not when a significant impact on the development of the baby already exists. The results of this study can guide therapeutic approaches for the benefit of care in parent-baby day units, and improve the development of the child and of the dyadic relationships.

KEYWORDS

perinatality, mother-baby unit, parent-baby day unit, day treatment, child development, parent-child relation

Introduction

In western countries, perinatal mental disorders are associated with considerable maternal and fetal/child morbidity and mortality which remain one of the major problem for the child development and adaptability (1–3). Childhood toxic stress is defined as a severe, prolonged, or repetitive adversity, and a lack of the nurturance or support from a caregiver. It induces a disruption of the neuroendocrine-immune response resulting in prolonged cortisol activation and a persistent inflammatory state. Children experiencing early life toxic stress are at risk of long-term adverse health effects including maladaptive coping skills, emotional, social and cognitive long-lasting effects, poor stress management, unhealthy lifestyles, mental illness, and physical disease (4–8). Some of the negative effects of early life toxic stress on child development are mediated by disruptions in the mother–child interaction, biological factors including cortisol secretion and epigenetic processes (3, 9–12).

Furthermore, in the context of early distorted parent–child interactions, number of studies have shown that treatment targeting only the mother is not sufficient to improve the development of the child (9, 13).

Additionally, the risk factors for parental psychiatric troubles are also risk factors for poor child development, suggesting that the relation between parental disorder and compromised early child development is multilevel and cumulative (14).

Regarding maternal depression, which is to date the most widely studied perinatal pathology, many authors conclude the need for care integrating as soon as possible the parent, the child and their emerging relationship to reduce the impact of cortisol secretion on the development of the child (15, 16).

Parent-baby units are an interesting perinatal care device recommended by the NICE (National institute for Health and Care Excellence) for women with acute postpartum mental disorders and their baby to facilitate mother-infant relationships (1). These units provide health care for mothers, care for the infant and sustain the mother-infant interactions (17). This type of unit has been established in several countries since the eighties (United Kingdom, France, and Australia) and more recently in New Zealand, Israel, India, Sri-Lanka, and in the US (18). In 2021 in France, following the publication of the "First 100 Days" report, additional budget was allocated for the opening of 10 new mother-baby units. This report also points out the difficulty to compare the different units, due to the heterogeneity of the existing devices (19, 20). First, the literature still refers to "motherbaby units," despite the fact that fathers are more frequently involved. Second, some parent-baby or mother-baby unit are day-night units, other are day units. Third, these units depend, based on their funding or their professional identity, either of adult psychiatry or of child psychiatry department.

Day units were created in parallel to day-night units (21). The choice of implementing a day structure has being often induced by economic necessity (22). These structures are positioned at an intermediate level for dyadic care, between outpatient care and full-time hospitalization. So, in case of parental psychopathology, it has to be stabilized and it should not compromise too much the parenting function at home.

Most studies on mother-baby units involve residential care setting. Very few have focused specifically on day units (18, 23–26). They describe the patient population and usually focus on the mother's clinical improvement (27–31) or on the parental satisfaction (32, 33). The mean maternal age at the time of admission ranges from 24 (34) to 33 years (28) with a mean child age ranging from 9 weeks (29) to 7 months (35). The average length of stay ranged from 7 days [US study by (36)] to 11 weeks (37). The most frequent diagnosis for the mothers were depressive disorder, schizophrenia, or other psychotic disorders.

The second focus of these studies concerns the parent-child relationship which is assessed through video observations, attachment scales, or assessments of parental competences. In the literature, a significant improvement in the parent-child bonding (30, 38, 39, 40) or in the feelings of parental competence (31) is often described.

Results are influenced by psychopathological and demographic factors (lower scores with a diagnosis of schizophrenia, personality disorder, lower social support or economic status) (29).

Few studies focus specifically on the well-being of the infants and on infant mental health (41). Other studies describe the symptomatology of the child at admission (29), the attachment type at discharge (42), or focus on the factors influencing the decision of child's placement after admission (43, 44). This specific aspect needs to be considered, as the largest European prospective longitudinal study (43) shows that 14.8% of children were separated from their mother at discharge from mother–child baby units. Different risk factors were brought forward: medical complications for the baby, severe psychiatric disorders for mothers, severe psychiatric disorders for fathers, bad social relationships of the mother, disability for the mothers and low-social economic status.

There is a lack of international consensus on how these units should be structured and equipped (19, 45). Early identification of potentially at risk situations with a low outcome for the baby is therefore a major challenge.

Our study aims at contributing to this debate. In comparison with the literature dealing with day-night units, we will describe the care trajectory of the population of a parent-baby day unit, and focus more specifically on the baby's status and on the parental psychopathology. The clinical evolution thanks to the day treatment, in terms of clinical improvement of the baby and the parent-baby relationship, will be evaluated at the time of discharge. The objective is to identify the specific variables related to a favorable or unfavorable outcome for the baby and to specify the clinical indications for day unit.

Methods

Description of the day unit

The Parent-Baby Day Hospitalization Unit (PBDH) opened its doors in 2015 within a tertiary pediatric hospital in Brussels. This innovative device is the first of its kind in the French-speaking part of Belgium. It is integrated in the child university psychiatry department and is in a great proximity with the pediatric department. It receives children from 0 to 2.5 years old, accompanied by their parents, on a part-time basis. The multidisciplinary team is composed of two child psychiatrists, a coordinator, two psychologists, a social worker, a psychomotrician, two pediatric nurses, three educators, two midwives and a secretary. A pediatrician and a psychiatrist are consultants at the request of the team.

The PBDH welcomes requests from parents or professionals regarding difficulties in the development of the child, functional disorders, difficulties in parenthood or in the establishment of early relationships. The capacity is 6 dyads/triads per day. Attendance can vary from 1 to 2 times per week. The Unit has a dual mandate of evaluation and therapeutic care. All admitted situations begin with an assessment period of 4 to 8 weeks.

The care is provided through group support and individual follow-up. During the day, different activities offer parental guidance, nursing assistance and a supportive environment for the child's development and the relationship with the parent. Therapeutic individual interventions are based on multiple models (attachment, systemic, psychodynamic, and behavioral theories). Practitioners always rely on the developmental needs of infants as the basis for their guidance and on mentalization work with parents (46). The use of video is an integral part of the treatment as it can support parent's reflection on their child and on their relationship with him/her. The unit tries to interact with the parents' network, and to systematically meet the close family in contact with the child.

Participants

All families admitted to the Parent-Baby Unit from its opening in 2015 to March 2020 were eligible for the study. Patients who attended the unit for only 1 day were excluded. All ethical measures regarding privacy, patient rights, and professional conduct were duly observed. This study was submitted to the HUDERF ethics committee, which gave its approval to start the study on 19/06/2020.

Data collection

Data were collected from the child psychiatric medical records of the hospitalized patients.

Hospitalizations resulting in a discharge plan jointly supported by the parents, the team and the network are considered as "successful." The hospitalization is considered "unsuccessful" when the child is placed or when developmental regression is observed (1 standard deviation below the mean for cognitive development between T1 and T2).

Tools

Child development and diagnosis

The Bayley Scale-III was used to **assess** child **development**. The *Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development* – *BSID-III* assesses the development of young children between 1 and 42 months. The BSID-III is built around 5 scales: cognitive, language, motor, social–emotional, and behavioral. Only cognitive, language and motor scales were used here. The results for each scale are expressed as a composite score with a mean of 100 and a standard deviation of 15. We considered a score below 85 as a developmental delay.

The relational withdrawal was assessed with a clinical observation based on the ADBB (Alarm Distress Baby) scale developed by (47). The relational withdrawals were classified into 3 categories: no withdrawal, at risk of withdrawal and obvious withdrawal. Due to the low number of data collection, ADBB scores were not included in our study.

Regarding **the diagnostic assessment** of children, we have worked with the new edition of the Diagnostic Classification of Mental Health and Developmental Disorders in Early and Middle Childhood (DC: 0-5), (48). It is the updated and revised version of the DC: 0-3R classification.

Physical health of the child was evaluated by a pediatrician.

Parent-child interactions were evaluated using the Axis II (Relational Context) of the DC: 0–5 years old *scale (Zero to Three, 2005)* and more specifically the "Levels of adaptation of the parent-child relationship" scale. Four general levels of adjustment are

described from level 1 (well-adjusted to satisfactory relationship) to level 4 (troubled to dangerous relationship). Parent–child interaction was assessed at T1 and T2 for each mother–child dyad.

Mental and physical health of the parent was considered either by the child psychiatrist in charge or by the consulting psychiatrist on the basis of the DSM V (49). Maternal depression was assessed using *The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)*. This scale is a 10-item self-administered questionnaire designed to assess the intensity of depressive symptoms experienced during the previous 7 days (50). A score of 12 or more is considered indicative of a risk of depression.

Statistical analysis

The data drawn from the sample of the patients are used for descriptive and frequency statistics. Then, for the comparison of the variables of the two groups (successful hospitalization versus unsuccessful), the statistical tests are adapted to the type of variable. For continuous variables, the underlying assumptions of the *T*-test are tested (homogeneity of variances using the Bartlett test of homogeneity of variances and normality of residuals using the Shapiro-Wilks test). If the underlying assumptions are met, a *T*-test is made and the mean ± standard deviation is presented. Finally, we use a non-parametric test to compare the groups: the Wilcoxon rank test (*median* and inter-quartile range [*Q25 – Q75*] are presented). For discrete variables, we do the comparison using Pearson's Chi² test. A value of *p* <0.05 is considered significant and <0.001 is considered highly significant.

Results

Admission and socio-demographic data

Ninety-two situations were admitted at the PBDH between May 2015 and March 2020. Data related to admissions and sociodemographic characteristics of our population are presented in Tables 1, 2.

In the majority of cases, babies and their family were referred for therapeutic management (81.5%) while the remaining (18.5%) were referred for assessment.

The mean parental age at admission was 32.7 years for mothers and 36.3 years for fathers. The mean age of children at admission was 14.8 months. The age distribution of children at admission is bimodal, with two peaks of attendance, around 7.2 and 25.3 months. A bit more than half of the children are admitted after 12 months (52.1%). The average length of hospitalization is 29 weeks, or 6.65 months (ranges from 1 week to 24.8 months) (1.6 months for the evaluation group and 7.8 months for the therapy group), with an average family attendance rate of 69.6%.

The reasons for admission were analyzed from the perspective of the baby, the parents, and the relationship. Each of these poles can constitute the reason, separately or jointly, for referral to the UPBB. Regarding the child's reason for admission, there is a strong concern for the child himself (83%), the first reason being a developmental disorder (43.5%). Concerning the parent, in 77.2% of

TABLE 1	Admissions	data.	
---------	------------	-------	--

<table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container>		Ν	Mean (SD) or <i>N</i> (%)
Therapy group4/(81.5)Succesful outcome54(73)Unsuccesful outcome20(28)Maternal age (years)32.7 (6.3)Paternal age (years)14.80-fmonths11.2 (13)6-12 months12.2 (3.9)Child age at admission (months)22.2 (3.9)6-12 months22.2 (3.9)12-24 months22.2 (3.9)Child gender (percentage of girls)2.4 (3.5)Length of stay (weck)2.9Svaluation group7Therapy group3.4Average frequentation9.1Reason for admission9Concern for the child9.2None9.2Pevelopment delay16.17.4)Behavioral trouble9.2None9.2Somatic problem2.1 (2.2)None2.1 (2.2)Parental difficulty9.2None2.1 (2.2)Parental difficulty9.2Somatic problem2.1 (2.2)Parental skills2.1 (2.2)Parental skills3.9 (2.2)Parental skills3.9 (3.6)Parental skills3.9 (3.6)Parents2.0 (3.1)Parents2.0 (3.1)Parents2.0 (3.1)Parents2.0 (3.1)Parents2.0 (3.1)Parents2.0 (3.1)Parents3.9 (3.6)Parents3.9 (3.6)Parents3.9 (3.6)Parents3.9 (3.6)Parents3.9 (3.6)Parents3.0 (3.6)<	Mission	92	
Succesful outcome54(73)Unsuccesful outcome20 (28)Maternal age (years)32.7 (6.3)Paternal age (years)14.80-fammal age (years)14.80-fammal age (years)14.80-fammals20 (28.2)6-12 months21 (13)12-24 months22 (23.9)24 months20 (28.2)>24 months20 (28.2)Success (years)40 (43.5)Length of stay (week)9124 months91Average frequentation91Reason for admission91Oncern for the child92None9Development delay16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble92Somatic problem22 (23.2)None92Somatic problem91Oncern for the child92Somatic problem22 (23.2)Somatic problem92Somatic problem22 (23.2)Parental difficulty92Somatic problem22 (23.2)Somatic problem22 (23.2)Parental skills92Somatic problem32 (20.2)Parental skills92Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Not present but supportive39Social or protectional service appointments37 (29.3)Noit protectional service appointments37 (20.3)Noit protectional service 	Evaluation group		18 (18.5)
Unsuccessful outcome20(28)Maternal age (years)32.7 (6.3)Paternal age (years)36.3 (7.6)Paternal age (years)36.3 (7.6)Child age at admission (months)14.80-6 months10.1 (3.1)1-2 months12.1 (3)1-2-24 months20.2 (2.3)2-24 months20.1 (2.3)12-24 months91.1 (3.4)12-24 months91.1 (3.4)12-24 months91.1 (3.4)12-24 months91.1 (3.4)12-24 months91.1 (3.4)12-24 months91.1 (3.4)14-24 months91.1 (3.4)14-24 months91.1 (3.4)14-24 months92.1 (3.5)14-24 months92.1 (2.2)15 Order for the child92.1 (2.2,1)16 None92.1 (2.2,1)17 More21.1 (2.3)17 More21.1 (2.3)18 None21.1 (2.3)19 Order for heightightightightightightightightightight	Therapy group		74 (81.5)
Maternal age (years)Image (years)Image (years)Paternal age (years)Image (years)Image (years)Child age at admission (months)Image (years)Image (years)0-6 monthsImage (years)Image (years)0-6 monthsImage (years)Image (years)0-6 monthsImage (years)Image (years)12-24 monthsImage (years)Image (years)2-24 monthsImage (years)Image (years)2-24 monthsImage (years)Image (years)2-24 monthsImage (years)Image (years)2-24 monthsImage (years)Image (years)Child gender (percentage of girks)Image (years)Image (years)Child gender (percentage of girks)Image (years)Image (years)Length of stay (week)Image (years)Image (years)Length of stay (week)Image (years)Image (years)Length of stay (week)Image (years)Image (years)Varage frequentation9169.6Reason for admissionImage (years)Image (years)NoneImage (years)Image (years)Image (years)Image (years)Image (years)NoneImage (years)Image (years)Im	Successful outcome		54 (73)
Paternal age (vars)36.3 (7.6)Child age at admission (months)14.80-6 months11 (13)6-12 months12 (13)12-24 months26 (28.2)>24 months22 (23.9)Child gender (percentage of girls)20 (23.9)Length of stay (week)912-10 months91Kautanion group34 (34.7)Therapy group34Average frequentation9160.00092Reason for admission91Concern for the child92983None9116 (17.4)940 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)925 (27.2)Somatic problem92950 (54)17 (17.2)25 (27.2)None929250 (54)18 (19.6)25 (27.2)None929271 (77.2)None9219271 (77.2)None92920 (31.5)10 Acute psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)9 montic psychiatric pathology3910 Acute psychiatric pathology3910 Acute psychiatric pathology10 (1710 Acute asign2010 Acute psychiatric pathology1111 Acute asign27 (29.3)11 Acute asign27 (29.3)11 Acute asign27 (29.3)11 Acute protectional service27 (29.3)12 Acute protectional service30 (32.6) </td <td>Unsuccessful outcome</td> <td></td> <td>20 (28)</td>	Unsuccessful outcome		20 (28)
Child age at admission (months)14.80-6 months31 (33.7)6-12 months12 (13)12-24 months26 (28.2)>24 months22 (23.9)Child gender (percentage of girls)20Length of stay (week)29Evaluation group7Therapy group34Average frequentation91Concern for the child92Beason for admission91Concern for the child92Bevelopment delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble22 (22.2)Somatic problem92Somatic problem92Parental difficulty92Parental difficulty92Chronic psychiatric pathology21 (22.8)Parental skills29 (31.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology39Parents92Parents92Mutual decision91Parents20 (31.5)Fartner support92Involved in day care or appointmentsMissing or lacking27 (29.3)Noit present but supportive appointmentsSocial or protectional service aced (yes)30 (32.6)	Maternal age (years)		32.7 (6.3)
0-G months31 (33.7)6-12 months12 (13)12-24 months26 (28.2)>24 months22 (23.9)Child gender (percentage of girls)40 (43.5)Length of stay (week)9Fvaluation group7Therapy group34Average frequentation9160.cern for the child92Soncern for the child92Development delay616 (17.4)Behavioral trouble92Somatic problem21 (22.2)Parental difficulty92None92Somatic problem21 (22.8)Parental difficulty92Somatic problem22 (31.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology39Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision99Parents20Monical staff99Parents20Social or protectional service appointments18 (19.6)Social or protectional service appoint27 (29.3)Not present but supportive30 (32.6)	Paternal age (years)		36.3 (7.6)
6-12 months12 (13)12-24 months26 (28.2)>24 months22 (23.9)Child gender (percentage of girls)40 (43.5)Length of stay (week)7Paratulation group7Therapy group91Average frequentation91Reason for admission91Concern for the child92Behavioral trouble9Development delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble92Somatic problem92Average frequentation92Somatic problem92None92Somatic problem92Average high light (19.1)92None92Somatic problem92Somatic problem92Somatic problem92Somatic problem20 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology21 (22.8)Parental skills20 (31.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology39Parents20Mutual decision39Parents20Motical staff17Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive21 (29.3)Not present but supportive30 (32.6)	Child age at admission (months)		14.8
1 - Letter1 - Letter12 - 24 months26 (28.2)>24 months22 (23.9)Child gender (percentage of girls)40 (43.5)Length of stay (week)29Evaluation group7Therapy group34Average frequentation916 Reason for admission91Concern for the child92Behavioral trouble9Development delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble92Somatic problem22 (22.2)Somatic problem92Parent-child relational trouble92Parental difficulty92None21 (22.8)Parental difficulty92Somatic problem22 (27.2)Somatic problem21 (22.8)Parental difficulty92Somatic problem22 (27.2)None22 (27.2)Somatic problem22 (27.2)Parental difficulty92Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)Mutual decision39Parents20Mutual decision99Parents20Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking30 (32.6)	0–6 months		31 (33.7)
>24 months11>24 months22 (23.9)Child gender (percentage of girls)40 (43.5)Length of stay (week)29Evaluation group7Therapy group34Average frequentation91Reason for admission91Concern for the child92Beason for admission9Development delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble92Somatic problem22 (2.2)Somatic problem22 (2.2)Parent-child relational trouble92Parental difficulty92Parental difficulty92Parental skills29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Parents20Parents39Parents20Mutual decision39Parents20Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking27 (29.3)Social or protectional service nepoint30 (32.6)	6–12 months		12 (13)
Child gender (percentage of girk)(1)Length of stay (week)29Evaluation group7Therapy group34Average frequentation91Reason for admission91Concern for the child92Some9Development delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble22 (2.2)Somatic problem22 (2.2)Parent-child relational trouble92Parental difficulty92Parental difficulty92Parental difficulty92Parental skills21 (22.8)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Somatic the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking30 (32.6)	12-24 months		26 (28.2)
Child gender (percentage of girks)40 (43.5)Length of stay (week)29Evaluation group7Therapy group34Average frequentation91Goncern for the child92Some92Development delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble20 (2.2)Somatic problem22 (2.2)Somatic problem92Parent-child relational trouble92Parental difficulty92Parental difficulty92Parental skills21 (22.8)Parental skills21 (22.8)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Mutual decision92Mutual decision39Parents20 (3.5)Parents20Involved in day care or appointments91Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Nissing or lacking21 (22.9)Social or protectional service nedpointments30 (32.6)	>24 months		22 (23.9)
Length of stay (week)29Length of stay (week)29Evaluation group7Therapy group34Average frequentation9169.66Reason for admission92Concern for the child92Parent for the child92Development delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble92Somatic problem22 (2.2)Parent-child relational trouble92Somatic problem21 (22.8)Parental difficulty92Parental skills29 (31.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff20Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Noising or lacking30 (32.6)	Child gender (percentage of girls)		
Evaluation group7Iherapy group34Average frequentation9169.6Reason for admission9169.6Reason for the child9283None9283Operelopment delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble25 (27.2)Somatic problem9250 (54)Parent-child relational trouble9270 (54)Parental difficulty9271 (77.2)None21 (22.8)29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff20Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Noti protectional service appointments30 (32.6)			
Therapy group34Average frequentation9169.6Reason for admission9169.6Reason for admission9283None9283None9283Openet delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble22 (2.2)Somatic problem9250 (54)Parent-child relational trouble9271 (77.2)None9271 (77.2)None21 (22.8)Parental difficulty9271 (77.2)None21 (22.8)Parental skills29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Noti present but supportive30 (32.6)			
Average frequentation9169.6Reason for admission9169.6Reason for admission928.3None928.3None928.3Development delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble25 (27.2)Somatic problem9250 (54)Parent-child relational trouble9250 (54)Parental difficulty9271 (77.2)None21 (22.8)29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology225 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support18 (19.6)Involved in day care or appointments27 (29.3)Not present but supportive social or protectional service nede(yes)30 (32.6)			
Reason for admissionImage: constant of the child9283Concern for the child9283None940 (43.5)Development delay16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble25 (27.2)Somatic problem2 (2.2)Parent-child relational trouble9250 (54)Parent-child relational trouble9271 (77.2)None21 (22.8)29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology21 (22.8)Parental skills29 (31.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support118 (19.6)Involved in day care or appointments27 (29.3)Not present but supportive social or protectional service needed (yes)30 (32.6)		01	
Concern for the child 92 83 None 9 9 Development delay 40 (43.5) Withdrawal 16 (17.4) Behavioral trouble 25 (27.2) Somatic problem 2 (2.2) Parent-child relational trouble 92 50 (54) Parental difficulty 92 71 (77.2) None 21 (22.8) 29 (31.5) Acute psychiatric pathology 17 (18.5) 25 (27.2) Obespitalization (therapy group) 25 (27.2) 25 (27.2) Mutual decision 25 (27.2) 25 (27.2) Parental skills 29 (31.5) 25 (27.2) Decision of the end of 25 (27.2) 25 (27.2) Mutual decision 39 39 Parents 20 39 Medical staff 17 18 (19.6) Parents 27 (29.3) 18 (19.6) Missing or lacking 27 (29.3) 47 (51.1) Social or protectional service needed (yes) 30 (32.6) 30 (32.6)		91	09.0
None9None9Development delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble25 (27.2)Somatic problem92Somatic problem92Parent-child relational trouble92Parental difficulty92None21 (22.8)Parental skills29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support18 (19.6)Involved in day care or appointments27 (29.3)Not present but supportive Missing or lacking30 (32.6)Vertice (vs)30 (32.6)		02	02
Development delay40 (43.5)Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble25 (27.2)Somatic problem2 (2.2)Parent-child relational trouble929250 (54)Parental difficulty92None21 (22.8)Parental skills29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support18 (19.6)Involved in day care or appointments27 (29.3)Not present but supportive Missing or lacking30 (32.6)Vertice of the service needed (yes)30 (32.6)		92	
Withdrawal16 (17.4)Behavioral trouble25 (27.2)Somatic problem2 (2.2)Parent-child relational trouble9250 (54)Parent-child relational trouble9271 (77.2)None9271 (77.2)None29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support18 (19.6)Involved in day care or appointments47 (51.1)Social or protectional service needed (yes)30 (32.6)			
Behavioral trouble25 (27.2)Somatic problem2 (2.2)Parent-child relational trouble9250 (54)Parental difficulty9271 (77.2)None21 (22.8)29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology21 (22.8)29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)25 (27.2)25 (27.2)Mutual decision3939Parents2017Partner support1717Partner support118 (19.6)18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)47 (51.1)Social or protectional service needed (yes)30 (32.6)30 (32.6)			
Somatic problem2 (2.2)Parent-child relational trouble9250 (54)Parental difficulty9271 (77.2)None21 (22.8)Parental skills29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support117Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking30 (32.6)	Withdrawal		16 (17.4)
Parent-child relational trouble9250 (54)Parental difficulty9271 (77.2)None21 (22.8)Parental skills29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support118 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking30 (32.6)	Behavioral trouble		25 (27.2)
Parental difficulty9271 (77.2)None21 (22.8)Parental skills29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support17Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking30 (32.6)	Somatic problem		2 (2.2)
None21 (22.8)Parental skills29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support11Partner support118 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking30 (32.6)	Parent-child relational trouble	92	50 (54)
Parental skills29 (31.5)Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)17Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support117Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking30 (32.6)	Parental difficulty	92	71 (77.2)
Acute psychiatric pathology17 (18.5)Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support17Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking30 (32.6)	None		21 (22.8)
Chronic psychiatric pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision39Parents20Medical staff17Partner support17Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking47 (51.1)Social or protectional service needed (yes)30 (32.6)	Parental skills		29 (31.5)
pathology25 (27.2)Decision of the end of hospitalization (therapy group)39Mutual decision20Parents20Medical staff17Partner support18 (19.6)Involved in day care or appointments27 (29.3)Missing or lacking47 (51.1)Social or protectional service needed (yes)30 (32.6)	Acute psychiatric pathology		17 (18.5)
hospitalization (therapy group) Image: Constraint of the sector of t			25 (27.2)
Parents20Medical staff17Partner support17Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking47 (51.1)Social or protectional service needed (yes)30 (32.6)			
Medical staff 17 Partner support 17 Involved in day care or appointments 18 (19.6) Not present but supportive 27 (29.3) Missing or lacking 47 (51.1) Social or protectional service needed (yes) 30 (32.6)	Mutual decision		39
Partner support Involved in day care or appointments Not present but supportive 18 (19.6) Missing or lacking 27 (29.3) Social or protectional service needed (yes) 30 (32.6)	Parents		20
Involved in day care or appointments18 (19.6)Not present but supportive27 (29.3)Missing or lacking47 (51.1)Social or protectional service needed (yes)30 (32.6)	Medical staff		17
appointments 18 (19.6) Not present but supportive 27 (29.3) Missing or lacking 47 (51.1) Social or protectional service needed (yes) 30 (32.6)	Partner support		<u> </u>
appointments 27 (29.3) Missing or lacking 47 (51.1) Social or protectional service needed (yes) 30 (32.6)	Involved in day care or		10 (10 ()
Missing or lacking 47 (51.1) Social or protectional service 30 (32.6) needed (yes) 30 (32.6)	appointments		18 (19.6)
Social or protectional service 30 (32.6)	Not present but supportive		27 (29.3)
needed (yes) 30 (32.6)	Missing or lacking		47 (51.1)
			30 (32.6)
	Placement (yes)		16 (17.4)

TABLE 2 Socio-demographic characteristics.

	Ν	Mean (SD) or <i>N</i> (%)
Mother cultural origins	92	
Belgian		23 (25)
Maghreb		43 (46.7)
Sub-Saharan Africa		11 (11.9)
Eastern Europe		10 (10.9)
Europe (rest)		1 (1.1)
Turquey		3 (4.2)
South America		1 (1.1)
Father cultural origins		
Belgian		17 (18)
Maghreb		46 (50)
Sub-Saharan Africa		13 (14)
Eastern Europe		8 (9)
Europe (rest)		2 (2)
Turquey		4 (4)
South America		1 (1)
Lifestyle	92	
Couple		63 (68.5)
Isolated		20 (21.7)
Extended family		6 (6.5)
Parental center		3 (3.2)
Paternal recognition (yes)	91	74 (81.3)
Socio-economic level (family)	89	
Low		46 (51.7)
Middle		39 (43.8)
High		5 (5.6)
Familial support		
No		33 (36)
Low		12 (13)
Enough		47 (51)
Parity		
1		43 (46.7)
2		21 (22.8)
3		17 (18.5)
4 or more		11 (12)
History of child placement in the family	48	9 (18.8)
History of intervention of social service	48	15 (31.2)
History of medical or psychological antecedent in the siblings	48	30 (62.5)

the cases, a maternal problem is the reason for the admission. Finally, for slightly more than half of the dyads/triads (54.3%), the parent recognizes a relationship disorder at admission.

The majority of referrals were from intern second line health care (40.6%) and from extern second line health care (28.6%). A smaller number of patients came directly from the front line health care (16.4%), from social services related to youth care or protection (8.8%) or directly on the patient's initiative (5.5%). Nevertheless, 32.6% of the children had an open file with the youth care or youth protection (at the time of admission) and 8 children (8.7%) were in a placement situation (foster-care or intra-family).

The vast majority of admitted parents live together (68.8%). Most hosted families are of foreign cultural origin, with more than two languages spoken fluently at home (more than 75% in both cases), and half of them come from a disadvantaged socio-economic background. Only 3.4% of the mothers have an income as wage-earner, compared to 60% of the fathers.

Among families with more than one child, almost two-thirds have a history of medical or psychological follow-up for another child. One-fifth of families have had a court placement experience in their history, and one-third have had a social services intervention experience, whether it involves a parent or a child. 18.8% of the siblings had a history of placement and 31.2% had been followed by the youth protection services. The vast majority of families with more than a child (62.5%) had a psychological or somatic history for the children.

Concerning the involvement of fathers, he is absent half of the time (51.1%). He is not involved but supportive in 29.3% of cases and present in 19.6% of cases.

Pregnancy, neonatal, and child data

Pregnancy and Infant characteristics are presented in Table 3.

More than 25% of the children were born premature [statistical difference with the national average of 8% (51)] and just over a quarter of the children were born with low birth weight (26.1%). In comparison, the national low birth weight rate is 7.8% (value of p = <0.001) (CEPIP).

Concerning the antenatal period, two thirds reported stress factors during pregnancy and one third of the mothers had a history of miscarriage, a traumatic delivery and/or a hospitalization in the neonatal intensive care. One-fourth (23.3%) of the deliveries was made by cesarean section, this proportion is not significantly different from the Belgian national rate.

In terms of drug use, nearly one-fifth of the mothers smoked during their pregnancy, one-tenth used drugs and 6.5% were under psychiatric treatment.

Nearly half of the children admitted had a somatic or functional pathology at the time of admission, mainly gastroenterology pathology, sleep disorder (20%), and eating disorder (15%).

The diagnosis of the children at admission, according to the DC 0-5 scale (Axis I) shows that 26% of the children present a developmental disorder (global developmental delay, language delay, ASD), 19.6% present an anxiety disorder (generalized, separation anxiety) and 20.6% present symptoms related to a trauma.

The developmental scales show that more than a quarter of the children (26.1%) are admitted with a cognitive delay (scale score below 85), slightly less than a half (47.7%) with a language delay and 20% with a motor delay. Children also presented high risk (28.1%) or clinical withdrawal (39.3%) at entrance.

TABLE 3 Pregnancy and infant characteristics.

	Ν	Mean (SD) or <i>N</i> (%)
Pregnancy desire (yes)	92	79 (85)
Medically assisted procreation	92	6 (6.5)
Miscarriage antecedent	88	29 (32.9)
Stress during pregnancy	92	60 (65.2)
Tobacco during pregnancy	88	15 (17)
Drugs during pregnancy	87	9 (10.3)
Psychiatric treatment	92	6 (6.5)
Delivery mode	90	
Cesarean		21 (23.3)
Vaginal	-	69 (76.7)
Traumatism at delivery	81	25 (30.9)
Stay in neonatalogy	91	31 (34)
Breastfeeding	91	59 (64.8)
Weight < 2.5 kg at birth		24 (26.1)
Growth		
Normal	-	72 (78.3)
Upper the curve		8 (8.7)
Under the curve		12 (13)
Gestational age / prematurity		
Term	-	61 (66.3)
Late prematurity		20 (21.7)
Moderate	-	5 (5.4)
High	-	3 (3.3)
Extreme		2 (2.2)
Infant mental health diagnosis (DC 0-5)		
No diagnosis	_	23 (25)
Neuro-developmental disorder		24 (26)
Sensory processing disorder		2 (2)
Anxiety disorder		18 (19.6)
Mood disorder		9 (9.8)
Sleep disorder		18 (19.6)
Eating disorder		9 (9.8)
Related to trauma		19 (20.6)
Specific relation disorder		9 (9.8)
Somatic problems		42 (45.6)
Witness to domestic violence		35 (38)
Neglect		32 (34.8)
Maltreatment		13 (14.1)

The children witnessed domestic violence in 38% of the situations and have also experienced separation from their attachment figure or have been neglected. In 34.8% of cases, children experienced neglect and 14.1% abuse.

TABLE 4 Comparison of child development, withdrawal and parent-child
interaction between entrance and discharge.

	Entrance	Discharge	
Bayley (QD)	(<i>n</i> = 65)	(<i>n</i> = 26)	
Cognitive	90.3 (26.1% <85)	97.3	
Communication	85.9 (47.7% <85)	89.6	
Motor	91.9 (20% <85)	97.5	
Clinical withdrawal	(<i>n</i> = 89)	(<i>n</i> = 89)	
No	29 (32.6%)	44 (49.4%)	
At risk	25 (28.1%)	19 (21.3%)	
withdrawal	35 (39.3%)	26 (29.3%)	
Relational level	(<i>n</i> = 91)	(<i>n</i> = 91)	
1	12 (13.2%)	28 (30.8%)	
2	38 (41.8%)	26 (28.6%)	
3	37 (40.6%)	32 (35.2%)	
4	4 (4.4%)	5 (5.4%)	

Child development and clinical improvement

Results at the Bayley and symptoms at entrance and discharge are presented in Table 4 and Figure 1. Sixty-five children received the developmental assessment at entrance and 26 where evaluated at the end of the intervention. An improvement in the developmental quotient between entry and discharge is observed but it does not reach statistical significance.

With respect to psychopathological symptoms, each child presents an average of 2.9 symptoms at admission, with an overrepresentation of symptoms of developmental disorder, sleep disorder, separation anxiety and relational withdrawal. At discharge, the children presented a symptom reduction with an average of 2.4 symptoms and a reduction of child's withdrawal but it does not reach statistical significance.

Parent-child interaction improvement

Nearly all patients have significant relational parent-baby relationship problems at admission. At entry, according to axis 2 of the DC 0–5, 41.8% of the dyads/tryads have type 2 relationships (strained to concerning) and 40.6% have type 3 relationships (compromised to disturbed). 13.2% have a relationship described as adapted appropriately and satisfactory (type 1). At discharge, 28.6% of patients had a type 2 relationship, 35.2% had a type 3 relationship and 30.8% had a type 1 relationship. These results are presented in Table 4.

Parental data

Mother and father clinical characteristics are presented in Table 5. Among the mothers admitted to the PBDH, 53.8% have a psychologist or psychiatric follow-up.

The average score obtained for the Edinburgh Scale was 17, indicating the presence of depressive symptoms and a high risk of depression for these mothers. This result can be linked to the



mothers' diagnoses according to axis 1 of the DSM V: 52 have a depressive pathology (56.5%), 24 show anxiety (26%) and 24 have a borderline pathology (26%). The majority of the mothers in our care unit are suffering from anxiety and depression, with significant comorbidity (66.3% of the mothers have at least two diagnoses).

It should be noted that 41.3% have somatic problems and that more than one mother out of two (51.2%) have a traumatic past (history of psychological or physical abuse).

Concerning the fathers, 22.7% of them present a somatic pathology. 16.4% of the fathers have a traumatic past, as well as the same pathologies than the mothers (according to axis 1 of the DSM V) but to a lesser extent: depressive and borderline pathologies. This can be explained by a lack of comprehensive data collected from the fathers.

Factors contributing to a positive change in hospitalization

Table 6 examines the variables that could influence the outcome of the hospitalization. Regarding the impact of the family context, the mother's age at admission has a significant influence on the outcome of the hospitalization. It is not the case for fathers. When the hospitalization is successful, the mothers are on average 33.1 years old at admission (\pm 6.16) against 29.4 years old (\pm 6.21) when the hospitalization is not successful.

The age of the children at admission has no significant influence on the outcome of the hospitalization, following the Wilcoxon test.

Neither family support (p=0.30) nor socioeconomic level (p=0.07) seems to have a significant influence on the outcome of hospitalization.

Concerning the setting of the hospitalization, the Mc Nemar's Chi² test highlights that the reason for hospitalization on the mother's side significantly influences the outcome of the hospitalization ($\chi^2 = 10.62$, value of p = 0.01). On the contrary, the reason for admission on the child's side, the rate of attendance and the duration of hospitalization do not significantly influence the outcome of hospitalization.

Clinical situations in which mothers got support from their partners regarding the hospitalization (χ^2 = 6.40, value of *p* = 0.04) without their partners being present in the care at the PBDH, have a 94% rate of success. This ratio drops to 54% when the partner is present and to 70.5% when they are absent and do not support the process. Absent partners represent 65% of the "unsuccessful" group.

Finally, the presence of a legal framework such as the youth care or youth protection at admission ($\chi^2 = 12.79$, value of p = 0.0001) significantly influences the outcome of the hospitalization. Hospitalizations made outside of a legal framework at admission have a positive outcome in 86.95% of the cases, whereas this ratio drops to 56% when children are admitted through a youth care and 42% through a youth protection service.

For variables grouping child-related data, those who witnessed domestic violence ($\chi^2 = 10.98$, value of p < 0.001), experienced neglect ($\chi^2 = 32.68$, value of p < 0.001) or abuse ($\chi^2 = 19.74$, value of p < 0.001) are more represented in the "unsuccessful hospitalization" group. There is therefore a significant influence on the outcome of hospitalization for these three variables.

Regarding child development, the mean scores at admission for the language scale and the motor scale have a significant influence on the evolution of the hospitalization. When hospitalization was successful, children had a mean score of 90.51 (\pm 16.78) on the language scale, compared with 80.38 (\pm 12.3) for those whose hospitalization was not successful. The children obtained an average
TABLE 5 Parental clinical characteristics.

	Ν	Mean (SD) or <i>N</i> (%)
Mothers characteristics		
Suicide attempt antecedent	91	17 (18.6)
Psychiatric follow-up at entrance	91	49 (53.8)
Somatic problem	90	38 (41.3)
History of physical or psychical trauma	86	44 (51.2)
Edinburgh scale	23	17
DSM V diagnostic	92	
No diagnostic		13 (14.1)
Schizophrenia/non affective psychosis		4 (4.3)
Depressive disorder		52 (56.5)
Anxiety disorder		24 (26.1)
Borderline personality		
disorder		24 (26.1)
Trauma disorder		6 (6.5)
Eating disorder		3 (3.2)
Substance use disorder		10 (10.9)
Bipolar disorder		1 (1.1)
Neurocognitive disorder		7 (7.6)
ASD		0
Conduct disorders		0
Comorbidity		61
Fathers characteristics		
Suicide attempt antecedent	65	2 (3.1)
Psychiatric follow-up at entrance	66	5 (7.5)
Somatic problem	66	15 (22.7)
History of physical or psychical trauma	61	10 (16.4)
Edinburgh scale		/
DSM V diagnostic	62	
No diagnostic		37 (59.7)
Schizophrenia/non affective psychosis		2 (3.2)
Depressive disorder		8 (12.9)
Anxiety disorder		3 (4.8)
Borderline personality disorder		7 (11.3)
Trauma disorder		5 (8.1)
Eating disorder		0
Substance use disorder		8 (12.9)
Bipolar disorder		0
Neurocognitive disorder		3 (4.8)
ASD		1 (1.6)
Conduct disorders		4 (6.4)
Conduct disorders		4 (0.4)

TABLE 6 Analysis of the variables influencing the outcome of the hospitalization.

nospitalization.			
Variable	Unsuccessful (n=20)	Successful (n=54)	value of p
Mother's age	29.4 ± 6.21	33.1±6.16	< 0.05
Father's age	33 [30.75-34.25]	33.5 [29-41]	0.44
Socio economic level			0.07
Low	15 (75%)	23 (42.59%)	
Middle	5 (25%)	25 (46.3%)	
High	0 (0%)	4 (7.41%)	
Unknown	0 (0%)	2 (3.7%)	
Familial support			0.30
No	10 (50%)	18 (33.33%)	
Low	1 (5%)	8 (14.81%)	
Enough	9 (45%)	28 (51.9%)	
Reason of admission			
Relational trouble	12 (60%)	35 (64.9%)	0.91
Parental difficulty			< 0.05
Parental skills	6 (30%)	18 (33.33%)	
Chronic psych. Path.	10 (50%)	15 (27.8%)	
Acute psych. Path.	0 (0%)	17 (31.48%)	
None	4 (20%)	4 (7.41%)	
Concern for the child			0.07
Behavior	4 (20%)	17 (31.48%)	
Development delay	12 (60%)	15 (27.78%)	
Withdrawal	4 (20%)	12 (22.22%)	
Somatic problem	0 (0%)	2 (3.7%)	
None	0 (0%)	8 (14.81%)	
Average frequentation (d/w)	0.72 [0.55-0.86]	0.68 [0.56–0.85]	0.94
Length of stay (weeks)	27.5 [13.75-50.5]	26.5 [12.5-49]	0.83
Partner support			0.04
Involved	6 (30%)	7 (12.97%)	
Supportive	1 (5%)	16 (29.63%)	
Missing or lacking	13 (65%)	31 (57.41%)	
Youth care or protection entrance			<0.01
0	6 (30%)	40 (74.07%)	
Youth care	7 (35%)	9 (16.67%)	
Youth protection	7 (35%)	5 (9.26%)	
Low birth weight	15 (750)	42 (70 (20))	0.9111
0	15 (75%)	43 (79.63%)	

(Continued)

TABLE 6 (Continued)

Variable	Unsuccessful (n=20)	Successful (n=54)	value of p
1	5 (25%)	11/ (20.37%)	
Witness to domestic			< 0.01
violence			
0	4 (20%)	36 (66.67%)	
1	16 (80%)	18 (33.33%)	
Neglect			<0.001
0	1 (5%)	44 (81.48%)	
1	19 (95%)	10 (18.52%)	
Maltreatment			< 0.001
0	10 (50%)	52 (96.3%)	
1	10 (50%)	2 (3.7%)	
ADBB score at	10.75 ± 5.5	7.26 ± 5.11	0.31
entrance			
Bayley score at			
entrance			
Cognitive score	89.06±15.4	91.48 ± 16.8	0.61
Communication	80.38 ± 12.3	90.51 ± 16.78	< 0.05
score			
Motricity score	85.25±14.23	94.89±15.68	<0.05
Child diagnostic at entrance			<0.05
0	2 (10%)	19 (35.19%)	
Sensory	0 (0%)	2 (3.7%)	
processing			
disorder			
Mood disorder	2 (10%)	5 (9.25%)	
Related to trauma	10 (50%)	4 (7.41%)	
Specific relational trouble	1 (5%)	1 (1.85%)	
Autism spectrum	0 (0%)	2 (3.7%)	
trouble			
Global	3 (15%)	1 (1.85%)	
developmental delay			
Language delay	1 (5%)	1 (1.85%)	
Other neuro-	0 (0%)	1 (1.85%)	
developmental	- ()	(/0)	
Separation anxiety	0 (0%)	10 (18.52%)	
Generalized	1 (5%)	3 (5.56%)	
anxiety			
Sleeping trouble	0 (0%)	4 (7.41%)	
Eating trouble	0 (0%)	2 (3.7%)	
Relational level			< 0.01
entrance (Axis II DC			
0–5)			
1	0 (0%)	1 (1.89%)	
2	3 (15%)	32 (60.38%)	

(Continued)

TABLE 6 (Continued)

3	15 (75%)	19 (35.85%)	
4	2 (10%)	1 (1.89%)	
Sibling placement history (<i>n</i> = 10)	6/10 (60%)	2/26 (7.7%)	<0.01
Maternal suicide attempt	6 (30%)	10 (18.5%)	0.4547
Father's suicide attempt	0	1 (1.8%)	1
Maternal trauma history	19/19 (100%)	23/49 (46.9%)	<0.001
Father trauma history	4/11 (36.3%)	5/27 (18.5%)	0.30
Maternal diagnostic (DSM V)			0.048
0	0/20 (0%)	3/53	
1	1/20 (5%)	3/53	
2	9/20 (45%)	27/53 (50.94%)	
3	0/20 (0%)	11/53 (20.75%)	
4	3/20 (15%)	5/53	
5	2/20 (10%)	2/53	
7	4/20 (20%)	2/53	
9	1/20 (5%)	0/53	
Paternal diagnostic			0.1077

score of 94.89 (\pm 15.68) on the motor scale, compared with 85.25 (\pm 14.23) for the children belonging to the "uncompleted hospitalization" group.

The child's diagnosis (according to DC: 0–5) also has a significant impact in the outcome of hospitalization (χ^2 =33.68, value of *p*=0.001). Trauma-related disorders are more represented (50%) in the "unsuccessful hospitalization" group and account for 1 in 2 patients, whereas separation anxiety disorder is the most represented (18.52%) in the "successful hospitalization" group. Nevertheless, the absence of disorder is the most represented (35.19%) in the successful hospitalization group.

Relationship quality is closely linked to the outcome of hospitalization at PBDH ($\chi^2 = 13.71$, value of p = 0.003). The vast majority of patients present a type 3 relationship (compromised to disturbed) in the "unsuccessful hospitalization" group, whereas the type 2 relationship (strained to concerning) represent 60% of the "successful hospitalization" group. Patients with the latter type of relationship have 91.4% (32/32+3) chances to have a successful hospitalization. This ratio drops to 55.9% (19/19+15) for type 3 relationships. Finally, the Wilcoxon test suggests that there is a significant improvement in the parent-baby relationship between entry and discharge when the hospitalization is successful (p < 0.001).

Regarding siblings, a history of placement significantly influences the outcome of hospitalization. When the hospitalized child's siblings have been placed, the hospitalization has a 25% probability to succeed. The number of siblings with a history of placement is more represented in the "unsuccessful hospitalization" group (60%).

With respect to parental history variables, there was significantly ($\chi^2 = 14.15$, value of *p*<0.001) more traumatic history among mothers

in the "hospitalization not completed" group (100%). This feature is not found among the fathers. The maternal pathology significantly influences the outcome of the hospitalization. Depressive disorders (2; 50.94%) and anxiety disorders (3; 20.75%) are more represented in the "completed hospitalization" group. Depressive disorders are also found in 45% of cases in the "not completed" group and are the most common disorder in this latter group.

Discussion

This retrospective study is the first major study to focus specifically on the developmental and clinical improvement of the baby in a PBDH. It is also the first survey to highlight significant differences between day and day/night units, both in the population data and in the characteristics of admission in a parent-baby unit. Strengths and limitations will be discussed.

Admission data

One of the first findings is that the length of stay in day units (29 weeks) is much longer than in day/night facilities. Based on the existing literature, the durations of the stay in the later vary from 5.93 days for a study in the US (36) to 11.6 weeks in Israel (37). It is even more obvious when considering only therapeutic care (34 weeks). These differences for day/night units seem to partly result from the different nature and purpose of MBUs in different countries and regions. Nevertheless, the possibility of receiving intensive care in a day unit, avoiding the break in contact inherent in a day/night hospitalization, undoubtedly offers a longer-term perspective of therapeutic management. Care is also longer for chronic pathologies and personality disorders (22), yet our sample includes a high rate of mothers with borderline personality disorder (26%). Based on the type of psychopathology we receive (including a high rate of parents who have experienced traumas weakening the construction of the bond with the other), the high duration of the care seems necessary to accompany these families properly and respect their temporality. It is also necessary to consider that the hospitalization framework, putting the baby at the very heart of the care, has an influence on the duration of hospitalization. Clearly, the outcome changes if the objective of hospitalization is the clinical improvement of the parent or of the baby.

The average age of care in day units differs from that of full-time units, where most admissions take place very early (before 8 weeks of age). The greater psychiatric morbidity of mothers admitted to residential units probably explains the earlier age of admission (52). The high percentage of mothers suffering from depression is a factor that probably contributes to a later age of admission (average age 15 months). It might indeed literally immobilize the mother (interest in home care), and present constraints related to traveling with a young child. These results should encourage the development of psychiatric services offering postpartum home care. Furthermore, the positioning of university hospitals as third-line hospitals may also explain the later move of families who already benefit from outpatient care before being reoriented to day hospitalization. Finally, in many day/night units, the age of admission for babies is sometimes limited to the first year of life, whereas our system welcomes them until they start kindergarten.

Unlike the situation in French MBUs, where the number of voluntary admissions reaches 90%, in our PBDH a significant number of admissions are supported or imposed by the youth care or the youth protection. In our study, 32.6% of the families are supervised by one of these two services. This percentage is similar to the one established during the Marcé research in Belgium between 2001 and 2007 (34%) (53). The ways in which medical and social services work together differ significantly in the two countries.

Examination of the grounds for admission shows a significant difference from what is described in the literature for day/night units. The results of the Marcé study show that in 80% of cases, "children are generally well" on admission. In our study, this proportion is reversed, since in 90.2% of cases, difficulties for the baby are observed on admission (all areas of development combined). Once again, it seems that one explanation for this situation is the one of the positioning of the facility, which the workers identify as a "care structure at the baby's departure," whereas the day/night mother-baby units rather welcome mother populations identified as being at risk, in an earlier way at the end of the maternity ward when the baby's psychopathology is not yet at the forefront.

The high rate (17.4%) of referral of the baby to a care facility at the end of the hospitalization deserves attention, since it is similar to or exceeds certain percentages found in day/night studies in Europe [4 out of 23 placements, i.e., 17.4% in the study by (54); 14.8% in the study by (43)]. It should be taken into consideration that some of the children (n=7) were already in institutional care (nursery or hospital) and that 5 of them remained there after hospitalization. The higher average age of our population probably partly explains this high rate since a decision for separation is sometimes taken when successive therapeutic proposals fail. It is interesting to note that in other recent studies, including an Australian study examining the orientation of patients at discharge from hospital (55), the return of children to their home with their parent (s) is almost systematic (only 2.4% separation), raising questions involving the health and child protection policies in place in each country.

Social vulnerabilities, partner involving, and familial support

As we expected, the context of vulnerability is similar in our population and in the day/night units. The vast majority of parents have poor financial resources, lack family or extra-familial assistance and have a family history of immigration. These data are difficult to compare with the literature given the heterogeneity of the measures used.

Nevertheless, it is imperative to consider the seriousness of this vulnerability, since it will be added, for some parents, to psychopathology and/or traumas experienced in childhood. The interplay between socioeconomic factors, migration history and perinatal health is widely described in the literature (56, 57). However, unlike what has been shown in previous studies (58), none of the economic or social variables considered individually, is associated with a pejorative outcome of hospitalization in our study. Only the mother's age seems to have an influence on the outcome of the hospitalization. Indeed, early motherhood has been widely shown to be associated with poorer child development and young mothers are at increased risk for postpartum depression (59, 60). Multivariate statistical analyses could help measuring the risk associated with

cumulative factors. We have also studied data related to the lifestyle of the families in care. As shown in other studies on MBUs, the majority of families attending the PBDH live together as couples [68.5% in our study vs. 68–90% according to the studies reviewed, (24)], yet we expected to receive a majority of single parents since support by the group is an indication for referral to our service.

The place of fathers in mother-baby hospitalization and perinatal care facilities has evolved considerably since the units first opened (61), but this topic is hardly addressed in the research literature (62, 63). Nowadays, some residential units have small studios or rooms set up to accommodate inpatient couples. The name "Parent-Baby Day Unit" implies, de facto, the inclusion of the partner in the care. In our study, the isolation of a large number of women in the exercise of their parental functions was found (absence of the father or of his support in 51% of the cases). The comparison of the two populations shows that hospitalization is most likely to be successful when the father is supportive, without necessarily being present at the hospital. A more detailed analysis of these data helps understanding this paradox since paternal psychopathology concerned a higher number of fathers when the father was the caregiver involved with the baby during hospitalization (15 of 18). These results should be considered with caution, since a considerable amount of data concerning paternal psychopathology is missing. In addition, it was easier to assess parental psychopathology for fathers who spent full days in the unit. In any case, these data support the point of view of some authors who consider the father's refusal of any contact with the hospitalization services as a poor prognosis factor for the evolution of the dyad (44).

Focus on the child and the pregnancy

The analysis of the perinatal risk factors in our population illustrates the importance of antenatal prevention: most of the families attending our unit have a history of complicated pregnancy or immediate postpartum. The high proportion of children who stayed in the neonatal unit (34%) and the number of children with low birth weight (26.1%) clearly highlights it. This latter rate is statistically significantly higher than the data in the Belgian population, and the literature has highlighted its correlation with socioeconomic risk factors like in our population (64). The study by Wright et al. (41) similarly found an abnormally high rate of children with low birth weight (20%) among children admitted in a MBU, while the percentage of prematurity did not differ from their national average. As a reminder, many epidemiological studies show a link between major psycho-emotional stress during pregnancy or low birth weight and subsequent outcomes in terms of psychopathology but also cardiovascular diseases (65, 66).

The major results of this research show an improvement in the developmental quotient of the child between entry and discharge. There is also an overall decrease in the symptomatology present at entry. None of these results is however statistically significant and it must therefore be interpreted with caution given the inherent bias of the retrospective aspect of this study. A major weakness of this work was the difficulty to collect quantitative data. Developmental scales could only be collected at discharge for 26 children (compared to 65 at entry). There are three possible reasons for this loss of data. The main one is that the duration of intervention for many children (9) did not allow for re-administration of the test (the test is administered at

6-month intervals to avoid learning bias). The second reason is linked to an abrupt interruption in the care process with no test at the end (generally decided by the parents) in 9 situations. Finally, the last explanation is the difficulty of collecting quantitative data from a research perspective while engaged in a clinical process (e.g., systematizing the use of exit scales even if the patient is clinically better) (9 situations). Equally, the improvement in scores cognition, language could have been better studied if the developmental assessment had been done in relatively older age groups (the mean age of admission of the infant was 14.8 months, one third of the population was below 6 months and around 50% was less than one year). This is given to lower scores of reliability of Bayley scale in younger age groups (67). Similarly, for showing a visible change in scores in Bayley scale with any intervention a longer period of interval (T2-T1) is preferable. In this study, the average period was 6.65 months (range from 1 week to 24.8 months).

There is a lack of use of a validated grid to collect symptoms. The age range of the infants at admission was lower in the use of Pediatric behavioral assessment scales or check lists though some infants in the present study were referred with behavioral trouble. Using an appropriate scale for sensory integration profile could be an important parameter for assessment in infants who have suffered from stress disorders, since around 30% infants were found to have suffered from sleep and eating disorders in the present study. But, at this time, the most significant test (Infant/ Toddler sensory profile instrument) is still not translated and validated in French for this age group (68).

Nevertheless, this is the first study to systematically examine the development of children in a day parent-baby unit using a standardized developmental scale. Only two other studies conducted on parent-baby day-units look at the psychopathology and development of the child at entry (29, 41). The first used the Marcé questionnaire and reported the following figures (child's condition at entry): 76% cases children in good health, 11% psychomotor problems, 9% emotional problems and 5% somatic problems. These results are far from ours, which reveal an alarming picture of the children's condition at entry in our unit (45.6% somatic problems, 26.1% cognitive delay, 47% communication delay and 20% motor delay). Concern for the child's condition is even greater in the unfavorable outcome group (significative statistical difference for communication and motricity assessment). The second study (41) used the Ages & Stages Questionnaires-3 to screen children's development, and found the same trends than us, with greater difficulties in the socioemotional areas than in the motor and cognitive areas. The strong representation of somatic problems, and in particular gastro-alimentary problems, should encourage the team to propose more targeted therapeutic treatments for this group of pathologies (sensory workshops around food, more individual care during meals, cooking workshops with parents, integration of a speech therapist in the therapeutic team, etc.)

Another study looks at the early relational withdrawal of children from mothers hospitalized in MBU. The study boosts it around 35% (69). We find in the PBDH the same proportion, 39.3% of children with marked relational withdrawal, to which can be added those who are considered at risk of withdrawal (28.1%). Despite the fact that number of children admitted to the unit for developmental assessment show withdrawal and communication disorders, this proportion remains significant. In the general population, a high prevalence (up to 75%) is found among infants whose mothers met criteria for a major depressive episode at 6 months postpartum (70). The child population at PBDH is often impacted by trauma and the results show that these life events significantly influence the hospitalization negatively. The rates of neglect and the number of children witnessing domestic violence are very high (34.8 and 38% of cases respectively), just as the number of children presenting disorders related to mistreatment and overrepresented in the pejorative group. In comparison, data from the literature estimate neglect at 1–15%, and witnessing domestic violence at 10–20% (71).

Dyadic relation and parental psychopathology

The assessment of the relationship through the Axis II of the 0-5 years scale shows an improvement of the relationship between the partners of the mother-child dyad at the end of the care process. This improvement is also statistically higher in the successful group and the dyadic relation was worser in pejorative group, as expected. Although the 0-3 scale is recognized for the value of its multiaxial assessment, (72) point out the lack of a quantitative criteria between pathological and non-pathological, as well as the lack of information related to the degree of intensity of the symptom and explanation of its meaning. Consequently, the parent-child interaction should be investigated through other tools at PBDH. It would be interesting to know the relational attachment patterns of parents and children.

Compared to the populations in MBUs, the psychopathology of the parents appears to be less severe in the PBDH unit. The maternal population is mainly represented by depressive disorders (37%) and anxiety disorders (26%), whereas a systematic review of MBUs identifies depressive disorders (50%), psychotic disorders (25%), and bipolar disorders (10%) as the most frequent pathologies. (24). Anxiety disorders are therefore much more represented in PBDH than in UMBs, which had been highlighted by the study of a day unit (73). High anxiety levels are known to be possible risk factor for the development of disorders in parenting (74). The high rate of trauma experienced by the patients was predictable, given the psychiatric fragility of the sample population, and the prevalence of borderline personality disorder (29%), as shown in previous studies of MBU's (75). The appropriate management of this pathology is even more important given that a study identified it as one of the first factors associated with placement in a population attending a mother-baby unit (76). Our results did not show a significant influence of this pathology on the outcome, but maternal trauma history is overrepresented in our pejorative evolution group. For the management of this disorder, scientists generally advocate a therapeutic setting that combines flexibility, stability, and availability (77), which characterizes daytime settings over a day/night structure.

Interestingly, our study shows statistical differences in the repartition of psychopathological pathology between the two groups. Mothers with an anxious diagnosis are all included in the successful group. This suggests that this profile of patients benefits particularly from our care.

Parents' somatic complaints are seldom studied in the literature. Our study shows that this aspect of parental symptomatology is significant (39% of mothers, 26% of fathers show a current somatic pathology) and must be addressed simultaneously within the care to the families (collaboration with a treating physician, relay to the proximity care network, workshops or body therapies) because it can sometimes be the only witness of a parent's psychic suffering (psycho-somatic disorder). The need to work hand in hand with a psychiatrist and a pediatrician is obvious in the perinatal care system, but the aspect of the parents' physical health is insufficiently addressed.

Conclusion and perspectives

This study contributes to giving the baby its central place in perinatal settings, particularly in mother-baby units where concern for the mother was historically the primary focus of care. The strength of our research lies in the precise description of the physical and developmental state of the baby at admission to a parent-baby day unit. Developmental, behavioral, and relational improvement was observed at discharge but the sustainable effect of intervention needs prospective long term follow up studies.

The differences observed in our study between the day/night population and the daytime population should contribute to improve the care pathway for families. In our study, the system seemed to be more effective for anxiety disorders of the child and the parent. It also underlines the vigilance necessary for the implementation of care which could be inadequate for the child when his clinical presentation is already worrying at the time of admission.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Comité d'éthique de l'hôpital universitaire des enfants Reine Fabiola. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

VD conceptualized the study, and wrote the grant funding proposition, together with AM, LC, and CG. AM prepared the first draft and subsequent versions of the protocol and this manuscript, wrote the ethical approvals documents, and selected the parental scales. AM and LC collected research data and analyzed them. LC and CG are the psychologists responsible for the developmental and relational assessment tools. PB was statistician who led the design of statistical analysis model. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Howard LM, Megnin-Viggars O, Symington I, Pilling SOn behalf of the Guideline Development Group. Antenatal and postnatal mental health: summary of updated NICE guidance. *BMJ*. (2014) 349:g7394. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g7394

2. Jones I, Chandra PS, Dazzan P, Howard LM. Bipolar disorder, affective psychosis, and schizophrenia in pregnancy and the post-partum period. *Lancet.* (2014) 384:1789–99. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61278-2

3. Stein A, Pearson RM, Goodman SH, Rapa E, Rahman A, McCallum M, et al. Effects of perinatal mental disorders on the fetus and child. *Lancet*. (2014) 384:1800–19. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61277-0

4. Cunningham J, Harris G, Vostanis P, Oyebode F, Blissett J. Children of mothers with mental illness: attachment, emotional and behavioural problems. *Early Child Dev Care*. (2004) 174:639–50. doi: 10.1080/0300443042000187130

5. Franke AH. Toxic stress: effects, prevention and treatment. *Children*. (2014) 1:390-402. doi: 10.3390/children1030390

6. Goodman SH, Gotlib IH. Children of depressed parents: mechanisms of risk and implications for treatment. *Scitech Book News*. (2002) 26:351. doi: 10.1037/10449-000

7. Moureau A, Delvenne V. Traces cérébrales des traumatismes infantiles et devenir psychopathologique. *Psychiatr Enfant*. (2016) 59:333–55. doi: 10.3917/psye.591.0333

8. Wall-Wieler E, Roos LL, Gotlib I. Maternal depression in early childhood and developmental vulnerability at school entry. International journal of population data. *Science*. (2020) 5. doi: 10.23889/ijpds.v5i5.1425

9. Forman DR, Ohara MW, Stuart S, Gorman LL, Larsen KE, Coy KC. Effective treatment for postpartum depression is not sufficient to improve the developing motherchild relationship. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2007) 19:585–602. doi: 10.1017/ S0954579407070289

10. Khoury JE, Beeney J, Shiff I, Bosquet Enlow M, Lyons-Ruth K. Maternal experiences of childhood maltreatment moderate patterns of mother-infant cortisol regulation under stress. *Dev Psychobiol.* (2021) 63:1309–21. doi: 10.1002/dev.22109

11. Lyons-Ruth K, Yarger HA. Developmental costs associated with early maternal withdrawal. *Child Dev Perspect*. (2022) 16:10–7. doi: 10.1111/cdep.12442

12. Van Doesum KTM, Hosman CMH, Riksen-Walraven M. A model-based intervention for depressed mothers and their infants. *Infant Ment Health J.* (2005) 26:157–76. doi: 10.1002/imhj.20037

13. Murray L, Halligan SL, Cooper PJ. Postnatal depression and child development In: C Zeanah, editor. *Handbook of infant mental health. 4th* ed. New York: Guilford Press (2019). 172–86.

14. Wachs TD, Black MM, Engle PL. Maternal depression: a global threat to children's health, development, and behavior and to human rights. *Child Dev Perspect.* (2009) 3:51–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-8606.2008.00077.x

15. Letourneau N, Dennis CL, Cosic N, Linder J. The effect of perinatal depression treatment for mothers on parenting and child development: a systematic review. *Depress Anxiety*. (2017) 34:928–66. doi: 10.1002/da.22687

16. Nylen KJ, Moran TE, Franklin CL, O'hara MW. Maternal depression: a review of relevant treatment approaches for mothers and infants. *Infant Ment Health J.* (2006) 27:327–43. doi: 10.1002/imhj.20095

17. Glangeaud-Freudenthal NMC, Howard LM, Sutter-Dallay AL. Treatment motherinfant inpatient units. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol.* (2014) 28:147–57. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2013.08.015

18. Connellan K, Bartholomaeus C, Due C, Riggs D. A systematic review of research on psychiatric mother-baby units. *Arch Womens Ment Health*. (2017) 20:373–88. doi: 10.1007/s00737-017-0718-9

19. Brockington I, Butterworth R, Glangeaud-Freudenthal N. An international position paper on mother-infant (perinatal) mental health, with guidelines for clinical practice. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2017) 20:113–20. doi: 10.1007/s00737-016-0684-7

20. Sananès S, Collomb N, Dugnat M, Poiso F, Grégoire A. Santé mentale périnatale outre-Manche: une inspiration possible pour la France? *Spirale.* (2019) 92:117–20. doi: 10.3917/spi.092.0117

21. Cazas O, Glangeaud-Freudenthael NMC. The history of mother-baby units (MBUs) in France and Belgium and of the French version of the Marce checklist. *Arch Womens Ment Health*. (2005) 7:53–8. doi: 10.1007/s00737-003-0046-0

22. Glangeaud-Freudenthal NMC, Rainelli C, Cazas O, Nezelof S, Dugnat M, Poinso F, et al. Inpatients mother and baby psychiatric units (MBUs) and day cares. In: *Joint Care of Parents and Infants in Perinatal Psychiatry*. eds. Sutter-Dallay, AL,

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Glangeaud-Freudenthal, NC, Guedeney, A, Riecher-Rössler, A. (Cham: Springer). (2016).

23. Battle CL, Howard MM. A mother-baby psychiatric day hospital: history, rationale, and why perinatal mental health is important for obstetric medicine. *Obstet Med.* (2014) 7:66–70. doi: 10.1177/1753495X13514402

24. Gillham R, Wittkowski A. Outcomes for women admitted to a mother and baby unit: a systematic review. *Int J Women's Health*. (2015) 7:459–76. doi: 10.2147/IJWH. S69472

25. Howard M, Battle CL, Pearlstein T, Rosene-Montella K. A psychiatric mother-baby day hospital for pregnant and postpartum women. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2006) 9:213–8. doi: 10.1007/s00737-005-0087-7

26. Singh BSK, Danckaerts M, Van den Bergh BRH. Helping families of infants with persistent crying and sleep problems in a day-clinic. *Front Psych.* (2021) 12:591389. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.591389

27. Abel K, Webb RT, Salmon MP, Wan MW, Appleby L. Prevalence and predictors of parenting outcomes in a cohort of mothers with schizophrenia admitted for joint mother and baby psychiatric care in England. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2005) 66:781–9. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v66n0618

28. Christl B, Reilly N, Yin C, Austin MP. Clinical profile and outcomes of women admitted to a psychiatric mother-baby unit. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2015) 18:805–16. doi: 10.1007/s00737-014-0492-x

29. Glangeaud-Frendenthal NM. Mother-baby psychiatric units (MBUs): national data collection in France and in Belgium (1999-2000). *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2004) 7:59–64. doi: 10.1007/s00737-003-0045-1

30. Noorlander Y, Bergink V, van den Berg MP. Perceived and observed mother-child interactions at time of hospitalization and release in postpartum depression and psychosis. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2008) 11:49–56. doi: 10.1007/s00737-008-0217-0

31. Salmon MP, Abel K, Webb R, Warburton AL, Appleby L. A national audit of joint mother and baby admissions to UK psychiatric hospitals: an overview of findings. *Arch Womens Health.* (2004) 7:65–70. doi: 10.1007/s00737-003-0042-4

32. Antonysamy A, Wieck A, Wittowski A. Service satisfaction on discharge from a psychiatric mother and baby unit: a representative patient survey. *Arch Womens Ment Health*. (2009) 12:359–62. doi: 10.1007/s00737-009-0085-2

33. Nair R, Bilstza J, Salam N, Buist A. Review of patients admitted to a specialist inpatient parent-infant psychiatric service. *Australas Psychiatry*. (2010) 18:567–72. doi: 10.3109/10398562.2010.525641

34. Chandra PS, Desai G, Reddy D, Thippeswamy H, Saraf G. The establishment of a mother-baby inpatient psychiatry unit in India: adaptation of a western model to meet local and cultural and resource needs. *Indian J Psychiatry*. (2015) 57:290–4. doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.166621

35. Yelland C, Girke T, Tottman C, Sved WA. Clinical characteristics and mental health outcomes for women admitted to an Australian mother-baby unit: a focus on borderline personality disorder and emotional dysregulation? *Australas Psychiatry*. (2015) 23:683–7. doi: 10.1177/1039856215590251

36. Meltzer-Brody S, Brandon AR, Pearson B, Burns L, Raines C, Bullard E, et al. Evaluating the clinical effectiveness of a specialized perinatal psychiatry inpatient unit. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2014) 17:107–13. doi: 10.1007/s00737-013-0390-7

37. Maizel S, Katzenelson SK, Fainstein V. The Jerusalem psychiatric mother-baby unit. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2005) 8:200-2. doi: 10.1007/s00737-005-0091-y

38. Hipwell AE, Goossens FA, Melhuish EC, Kumar R. Severe maternal psychopathology and infant-mother attachment. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2000) 12:157–75. doi: 10.1017/S0954579400002030

39. Stephenson LA, Macdonald AJD, Seneviratne G, Waites F, Pawlby S. Mother and baby units matter: improved outcomes for both. *BJPsych Open*. (2018) 4:119–25. doi: 10.1192/bjo.2018.7

40. Vliegen, N, Casalin, S, Luyten, P, Docx, R, Lenaerts, M, Tang, E, et al. Hospitalization-based treatment for postpartum depressed mothers and their babies: rationale, principles, and preliminary follow-up data. *Psychiatry*. (2013) 76:150–68.

41. Wright T, Stevens S, Wouldes TA. Mothers and their infants co-admitted to a newly developed mother-baby unit: characteristics and outcomes. *Infant Ment Health J.* (2018) 39:707–17. doi: 10.1002/imhj.21742

42. Pawlby, S, Fernyhough, C, Meins, E, Pariante, CM, Seneviratne, G, and Bentall, RP. Mind-mindedness and maternal responsiveness in infant-mother interactions in mothers with severe mental illness. *Psychol Med.* (2010) 40:1861–9. doi: 10.1017/S0033291709992340

43. Glangeaud- Freudenthal, NM, Sutter-Dallay, A-L, Thieulin, AC, et al. Predictors of infant foster care in cases of maternal psychiatric disorders. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2013) 48:553–61.

44. Poinso F, Gay MP, Glangeaud-Freudenthal NMC, Rufo M. Care in a mother-baby psychiatric unit: analysis of separation at discharge. *Arch Womens Health.* (2002) 5:49–58. doi: 10.1007/s00737-002-0134-6

45. Howard LM, Shah N, Salmon M, Appleby L. Predictors of social services supervision of babies of mothers with mental illness after admission to a psychiatric mother and baby unit. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2003) 38:450–5. doi: 10.1007/s00127-003-0663-y

46. Asen E, Fonagy P. Mentalization-based therapeutic interventions for families. J Fam Ther. (2011) 34:347–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6427.2011.00552.x

47. Guedeney, A, and Fermanian, J. A validity and reliability study of assessment and screening for sustained withdrawal reaction in infancy: the Alarm Distress Baby scale. *Infant Mental Health J.* (2001) 22:559–75. doi: 10.1002/imhj.1018

48. Zero To Three. Diagnostic classification of mental health and developmental disorders of infancy and early childhood (dc:0-5). Washington, DC: Zero to Three Press (2016).

49. American Psychiatric Association. DSM-5: diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5e édition ed. American Psychiatric Association: Washington, DC (2013).

50. Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of postnatal depression: development of the 10-item Edinburgh postnatal depression scale. *Br J Psychiatry*. (1987) 150:782–6. doi: 10.1192/bjp.150.6.782

51. Van Leeuw, V., and Leroy, C. Santé périnatale en Région bruxelloise – Année 2019, Brussels: Centre d'Epidémiologie Périnatale (2020).

52. Glangeaud-Freudenthal, NM-C, Sutter, AL, Thieulin, AC, Chardeau, P, Zimmermann, M-A, Debourg, A, et al. Qui sont les femmes et les bébés hospitlaisés en UMB? Données nationales 2001-2007 In: F Poinso and G-F NMC, editors. Orages à l'aube de la vie: Liens précoces, pathologies puerpérales et développement des nourrissons dans les unités parents-bébé, Paris, édition érès, Collection La vie de l'enfant (2009). 19–27.

53. Nezelof S, Ancel PY, Khoshnood B. Qui sont les femmes et les bébés hospitlaisés en UMB? Données nationales 2001-2007, Orages à l'aube de la vie: Liens précoces, pathologies puerpérales et développement des nourrissons dans les unités parents-bébé, édition érès, Collection La vie de l'enfant. Paris, (2009) 19–27.

54. Vitte L, Hauguel C, Benoit V, Genet M-C, Letot J, Bruel H, et al. Panda unit, a mother-baby unit nested in a neonatal care service. *Front Psych.* (2022) 13:889557. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.889557

55. Soni N, Roberts S, Brandjerdporn G. Exploring discharge outcomes and readmission rates of mothers admitted to a psychiatric mother and baby unit. *Psychiatry Q*. (2021) 93:393–407. doi: 10.1007/s11126-021-09956-1

56. Azria E. Social inequalities in perinatal health. Arch Pediatr. (2015) 22:1078–85. doi: 10.1016/j.arcped.2015.07.006

57. Schönborn C, Castetbon K, Sow M, Racape J, De Spiegelaere M. Mothers' experiences of perinatal care in Belgian public hospitals: exploring the social inequalities. Protocol for a cross-sectional survey. *BMJ Open.* (2020) 10:e038400. doi: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-038400

58. Nezelof S, Cazas O, Sutter-Dallay AL, Glangeaud N. Hospitalisation conjointe mère-bébé en psychiatrie. *Annales Médico-Psychologiques*. (2005) 163:529.

59. Agnafors S, Bladh M, Göran C, Sydsjöl G. Mental health in young mothers, single mothers and their children. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2019) 19:112. doi: 10.1186/s12888-019-2082-y

60. Reid V, Meadows-Oliver M. Postpartum depression in adolescent mothers: an integrative review of the literature. *J Pediatr Health Care.* (2007) 21:289–98. doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2006.05.010

61. Filippa, M, Saliba, S, Esseily, R, Gratier, M, Grandjean, D, and Kuhn, P. Systematic review shows the benefits of involving the fathers of preterm infants in early interventions in neonatal intensive care units. *Acta Paediatrica*. (2021) 110:2509–20.

62. Grube M. Inpatient treatment of women with postpartum disorders – the role of the mal partner. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2005) 8:163–70. doi: 10.1007/s00737-005-0087-7

63. Kemp N. Father's experiences of a mother and baby unit: a qualitative study. Dissertation. Canterbury: Canterbury Christ Church University (2011).

64. Reime B, Ratner PA, Tomaselli-Reime SN, Kelly N, Schuecking BA, Wenzlaff P. The role of mediating factors in the association between social deprivation and low birth weight in Germany. *Soc Sci Med.* (2006) 62:1731–44. doi: 10.1016/j. socscimed.2005.08.017

65. Cambonie, G, Rideau, A, Bienfait, M, Pidoux, O, Toubin, R-M, Picaud, J-C, et al. Stress périnatal et développement neuropsychologique. *Revue de médecine périnatale.* (2010) 2:122–30.

66. Palmer FB, Anand KJ, Graff JC, Murphy LE, Qu Y, Völgyi E, et al. Early adversity, socioe-motional development, and stress in urban 1-year-old children. *J Pediatr.* (2013) 163:1733–1739.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.08.030

67. Albers CA, Grieve AJ. Test review: Bayley, N. (2006). Bayley scales of infant and toddler development–third edition. San Antonio, TX: Harcourt assessment. *J Psychoeduc Assess.* (2007) 25:180–90. doi: 10.1177/0734282906297199

68. Dunn W. The infant/toddler sensory profile manual. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation (2002).

69. Tonnadre, L, Guédeney, A, Verdoux, H, and Sutter, AL. Etude pilote sur les facteurs de risque de survenue d'un retrait relationnel précoce chez les enfants de mères admises en UMB et présentant de graves troubles psychiatriques, et les liens avec le développement psychologique ultérieur. *Devenir*. (2017) 29:255–65.

70. Burtchen N, Alvarez-Segura M, Mendelsohn AL. Screening for sustained social withdrawal behaviors in six-month-old infants during pediatric primary care visits: results from an at-risk latino immigrant sample with high rates of maternal major depressive disorder. *Infant Ment Health J.* (2013) 34:542–52. doi: 10.1002/imhj.21418

71. Gilbert R, Widom CS, Browne K, Fergusson D, Webb E, Janson S. Burden and consequences of child maltreatment in high- income countries. *Lancet.* (2009) 373:68–81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61706-7

72. Guedeney N, Mintz AS, Rabouam C, Nestour AL, Guedeney A, Danon G, et al. A propos des systèmes de classification en psychiatrie du très jeune enfant: utilisation de la classification diagnostique zero to three. *Psychiatr Enfant.* (2002) 45:483–531. doi: 10.3917/psye.452.0483

73. Battle CL, Zlotnick C, Miller IW, Pearlstein T, Howard MJ. Clinical characteristics of perinatal psychiatric patients: a chart review study. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2006) 194:369–77. doi: 10.1097/01.nmd.0000217833.49686.c0

74. Austin MP, Colton J, Priest S, Reilly N, Hadzi-Pavlovic D. The antenatal risk questionnaire (ANRQ): acceptability and use for psychosocial risk assessment in the maternity setting. *Women Birth.* (2013) 26:17–25. doi: 10.1016/j.wombi.2011.06.002

75. Wright, T, Stevens, S, Reed, PW, and Wouldes, TA. Post-discharge outcomes for mothers and the mother–infant relationship following admission to a psychiatric Mother–Baby Unit. *Infant Mental Health J.* (2020) 41:770–82.

76. Glangeaud-Freudenthal, NC, Sutter, AL, Thieulin, AC, Dagens-Lafont, V, Zimmermann, MA, Debourg, A, et al. Inpatient mother-and-child postpartum psychiatric care: factors associated with improvement in maternal mental health. *European Psych.* (2011) 26:215–23. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2010.03.006

77. Wendland J, Brisson J, Medeiros M, Camon-Sénéchal L, Aidane E, David M, et al. Mothers with borderline personality disorder: transition to parenthood, parent–infant interaction, and preventive/therapeutic approach. *Clin Psychol Sci Pract.* (2014) 21:139–53. doi: 10.1111/cpsp.12066

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Olivier Bonnot, Universitéde Nantes, France

REVIEWED BY Claude Bursztejn, Universitéde Strasbourg, France Alka Anand Subramanyam, Topiwala National Medical College and BYL Nair Charitable Hospital, India

*CORRESPONDENCE Bernard Golse bernard.golse@icloud.com

RECEIVED 19 December 2022 ACCEPTED 30 May 2023 PUBLISHED 27 June 2023

CITATION

Golse B (2023) The polyfactorial model of autism and the question of causality. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1117807. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1117807

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Golse. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The polyfactorial model of autism and the question of causality

Bernard Golse*

Université Paris Cité, Paris, France

After recalling the different pediatric, psychopathological and child psychiatric models of mental disorders in children and adolescents, the author presents in detail the so-called polyfactorial model, which includes primary, secondary, and mixed factors. This model is the epistemological heir of the Freudian concept of "complementary series." The example of autism is then explored as a paradigm of the usefulness of this polyfactorial model. Finally, we reflect on the notion of causality, from Aristotelian causality to epigenetic causality, which could 1day re-legitimize psychoanalysis and the impact of the relationship on genome expression.

KEYWORDS

autism, Neuroscience, Psychoanalysis, epistemology, Model, epigenetic

Introduction

The question of epistemological models is important in child psychiatry, on the one hand to think about the question of causality and on the other hand to guide the choice of therapeutic strategies.

Growth and psychological maturation correspond to eminently complex processes and the same is true for developmental disorders.

It is an oversimplification to try to make people believe otherwise, and therefore the management of mental disorders in children and adolescents must carefully consider its reference model(s) (1).

In this work, autism will be taken as the paradigm for reflection, but many of the reflections presented in this respect can, in our opinion, be extended to other child psychiatric disorders.

The pediatric, psychopathological and child psychiatric models

The question is not whether one model is more valid than another, but to emphasize that each discipline, depending on its practice and objectives, refers to models that are specific to it and therefore useful.

Pediatrics refers to a medical model—like all somatic disciplines—which is rather monofactorial (a single cause is supposed to account for the pathological situation), deductive (based on univocal cause-and-effect relationships) and referring to a linear type of temporality (organized according to the arrow of time in the usual sense of the term).

Psychoanalysis (and psychodynamic psychopathology in general) refers to a different model, of a polyfactorial nature (as S. Freud had proposed it in 1915/17 with his concept of "complementary series") (2), inferential (proceeding by associations of thoughts and not by deduction), and based on a circular temporality integrating the so-called after effects, according

to which the past partly accounts for the present, but the present also allowing, permanently, to retell, rewrite and re-construct the past history.

It should be noted that the deductive somatic model aims for rapid efficiency, whereas the inferential psychopathological model cannot claim to master the tempo of understanding, elaboration and decision.

In any case, the child psychiatric model seeks its place and its identity in relation to these two models.

Depending on the country and the time, the psychiatric model is more or less close to one of the two previous models.

Today, in Anglo-Saxon countries, the child psychiatric model is very close to the medical model (3), whereas in France, it remains, in a way, at equal distance from the medical model and the psychopathological model, still quite strongly impregnated by the psychoanalytical references which presided over the birth of child psychiatry in our country.

It is therefore clear that pediatricians on the one hand, and child psychiatrists, psychologists and child psychoanalysts on the other, do not refer to the same model.

This does not mean that part of the conceptual path cannot be travelled jointly, even if fundamental differences exist. But it does underline the fact that this common path requires mutual esteem and respect between the representatives of the somatic and psychic disciplines.

The difference in tempo often acts as a seed of possible dissension, and in this respect, it is important to say something about the concept of "negative capacity" that Bion (4) developed from the work of the romantic poet J. Keats (5).

This is the clinician's ability to tolerate ignorance for a certain period of time, not to want to understand everything immediately, to allow himself to be impregnated by the clinical situation, to allow himself to be deeply affected at the level of his emotions, and finally to know how to give time to time so that elaborations, interpretations and conclusions do not have the value of theorizing and defensive force.

This aptitude is necessary to the caretakers of the psyche whereas it is not expected nor even sometimes necessary for caretakers of the body: hence, sometimes, a certain number of possible misunderstandings and specially within the framework of what is called liaison child psychiatry.

The polyfactorial model

The polyfactorial model probably applies to a number of somatic pathologies (6, 7), but in the field of child and adolescent mental disorders, it seems to us that the most plausible model of the etiology of autistic pathology at present is a polyfactorial model, which is the only one capable of articulating physical causality, interactive causality and epigenetic causality, thereby imposing on us an integrated multidimensional management of this pathology.

In this perspective, autistic functioning would then be a sort of "common final pathway" of a whole series of etiopathogenic configurations within which endogenous and exogenous factors would always be present, but in a variable proportion according to each child.

What is important to specify is the double level of the polyfactorial dimension that can be invoked both for the primary factors of

vulnerability, which are always multiple (exogenous and endogenous), and for the secondary factors of fixation and maintenance, among which the deferred action is essential, because the meanings that the first interactive dysfunctions of their child may have for such and such parents can then function autonomously as secondary causal factors, as we shall return to.

This being said, primary factors are only risk factors, whereas secondary factors are factors that fix a psychopathology that is sometimes partially reversible.

It is likely that the years to come will see the emergence and development of the concept of "epigenetic causality" (8) which will finally make it possible to articulate, in a dialectical and singular manner for each patient, the role of internal determinants (the personal part of each person with his or her genetic, neurobiological, cognitive equipment and so on ...) and external determinants (the part of the environment in all its components, ecological, dietary, social, cultural, family and so on...) as to the origin of his or her difficulties or developmental disorders.

Primary and secondary factors

*The Freudian concept of "complementary series" (Freud, 1915/1917) mentioned above represents, in a way, the epistemological ancestor of our current polyfactorial model.

This concept constituted, at the time, a real epistemological revolution insofar as it was a profound break with the prevailing medical vision, which was then closely linked to the perspectives developed by Claude Bernard (9).

Freud proposed a sort of power grab by making the hypothesis that the constitution of any neurotic organization could only be conceived as the result of the joint influence of endogenous and exogenous factors.

Among the endogenous factors, he had in mind the fixation points that he had put forward as part of his scheme of psychoaffective development: an oral fixation point predisposed, according to him, to the organization of a hysterical neurosis, an anal fixation point to the organization of an obsessive neurosis, and a phallic or urethro-phallic fixation point to the organization of a phobic or hysterical neurosis.

But, he specified, these fixation points could not be considered as causes in the linear sense of the term, because they were, according to him, only predisposing factors, not determining ones.

In this model, exogenous factors had to precipitate and decompensate things, and among these exogenous factors, he insisted, in a central way, on the question of sexual frustration.

He added that in this model, there was a sort of 'sliding scale' between endogenous and exogenous factors, the more important the one being, the less important the other needing to be, but the presence of both being indispensable in each subject to account for his or her psychopathology, according to a pathogenic equation that was therefore strictly specific and individual.

This conception of psychopathological etiology must undoubtedly be clarified; it must however be emphasized that it was extremely innovative at the time, and that our current polyfactorial model derives quite directly from it, even if it has since become much more complex.

* Today, in fact, we consider that any psychopathological situation is the result of the interplay of primary and secondary factors, and that these two lines of factors are each fundamentally polyfactorial in nature. Both primary and secondary factors can, moreover, be of an endogenous nature (personal part of the child) or of an exogenous nature (environment).

Primary factors are only predisposing factors (or vulnerability factors): they are not sufficient, but they are necessary, they do not create psychopathology, but they increase the risk of it.

Secondary factors are decompensating (triggering) factors for psychopathology in subjects who have primary factors that make them vulnerable.

A paradigmatic example: childhood autism?

By way of illustration, we will now take the example of childhood autism and pervasive developmental disorders, while making it clear that in our opinion, these considerations on autism and autism spectrum disorders have conceptual implications that extend well beyond these various pathologies.

(1) Examples of primary (vulnerability) factors

- Genetic factors

These are undeniable, but they are now to be understood from the point of view of genetics of vulnerability, and not causal genetics in the classical sense of the term (10). It is known, for example, that Fragile X syndrome is a predisposing factor for childhood autism, since although in the population of autistic children there is a clear excess of children carrying this anomaly (about 7%) compared to the frequency observed in the general population, conversely not all Fragile X children are autistic.

Furthermore, Kanner's (11) genetic model of autism as a specified pervasive developmental disorder is currently oriented towards a constellation of alleles involved in so-called "candidate" genes, spread over all the chromosomes and whose joint state would underlie the autistic predisposition. Only this model makes it possible to account for the fact that around an autistic proposer, nearly 1% of other cases are found among first-degree relatives, whereas from the second degree of kinship, the frequency falls back to that observed in the general population (10).

No Mendelian model is capable of explaining this phenomenon, and we are therefore in the perspective of a susceptibility genetics referring to the question of the heritability of complex traits and to epistatic interaction processes (12), which now invite us to classify genetic factors among the so-called primary factors of the polyfactorial model.

Even the recent discoveries (13) on neuroligins and neurexins, which are said to occur in less than 1% of autism cases, should probably be interpreted only in terms of vulnerability.

– Neurological factors

The same reasoning as for Fragile X syndrome can be applied to Bourneville Tuberous Sclerosis (BTS): among autistic children, there is a clear increase in the frequency of this condition compared to the general population (A. (14)), but the fact that 25–60% of children affected by this particular encephalopathy are also autistic makes BTS a primary—and only primary - predisposing factor, *via* mutation of the TSC1 (Hamartine) and TSC2 (Tuberine) genes.

The complex problem of epilepsies associated with approximately 30% of autism cases and appearing at some point in the course of the disease must also be mentioned in this section (15). It is still difficult,

at the present time, to really specify the intimate mechanisms of this association, which probably differ according to each type of epilepsy, but as far as West syndrome is concerned, it seems that it can be considered as a primary risk factor: it is known that 20–25% of children with West syndrome become autistic in the first 2 years of life, without it being possible to predict in advance which ones, and on the basis of a profound interference with early interactions by certain motor stereotypies of the upper limbs, as Ouss et al. (16) have been able to begin to show in the framework of our research program "PILE" (International Program on Child Language).

As for the anomalies revealed by functional MRI of the superior temporal lobes in children with autism (17), if in some cases they are not only the consequence of autistic-like functioning, they can perhaps be understood as reflecting an important etiopathogenic link, but here we are no longer quite in the framework of primary factors in the strict sense.

- Sensory factors

Unlike blindness, deafness appears to be an undeniable risk factor for infantile autism, to the extent that it was thought, at one time, that it was important to identify a specific syndrome associating autism and deafness. Today, while auditory and/or visual cortical hypersensitivity has been demonstrated in the pathogenesis of autism (18), it is thought that deafness plays a primary, non-specific role *via* the partial relational isolation it causes in a large number of cases.

Infectious factors

Congenital rubella was once shown to occur more frequently in the histories of children with autism than in the general population. The anti-rubella vaccination has somewhat relegated this question to the background, but it remains that the neurological and sensory disorders linked to this embryo-fetopathy could undoubtedly function as primary risk factors.

- Environmental factors, finally

The whole question of interactive dysfunctions and maternal depressions is at stake here. This question must be treated with caution. It is important to consider that these environmental factors can only be considered as primary risk factors within a truly polyfactorial model, i.e., considering that they probably need to be associated with other primary factors (genetic, in particular) to have a real impact. With this proviso, which is essential, we can then imagine that they can play a role as risk factors to be integrated into the "autising process" proposed by Hochmann (19).

This list is by no means exhaustive, and developments in child psychiatric research will very probably lead to new discoveries in this field in the years to come, perhaps with the identification of primary environmental factors in the broad sense (dietary or ecological, for example).

(2) Examples of secondary (triggering) factors

As child psychiatry is still relatively young, these secondary factors are far from being fully identified.

As we have just said with regard to primary factors, the future will certainly allow us to specify, in a wide variety of fields, secondary factors for triggering or decompensating autism in vulnerable children (environmental, nutritional, socio-familial, cultural, ecological, anthropological factors and so on...)

It is now thought that certain perinatal factors, and in particular maternal stress, could play a role in triggering autistic organization in certain babies who are vulnerable in terms of their primary factors. Certain modifications of the maternal lifestyle as well as perinatal maternal stress as well as sleep disorders and maternal melatonin metabolism could also be invoked (20, 21).

To which we can also add that abnormalities in the general movements of the fetus and the baby during the first months of life (extension reflex and "fidgety" movements in particular) could testify to a neurodevelopmental fragility and interfere with the system of early interactions (A. Beaulieu) while also offering the conditions for an early prevention of the emergence of an autistic organization.

For the time being, the secondary factors that we know best, and on which we can act the most, are the relational factors, i.e., the child's encounter with the psyche of others, within the framework of the "autising process" mentioned above.

It is not at all a question of reopening the debate on the guilt of families in the genesis of infantile autism, a debate which we know the ravages to which it has given rise (22, 23).

It is clear that parents are in no way responsible or guilty for their child's autism, which can now only be understood from a polyfactorial perspective.

However, within the framework of a polyfactorial model such as the one presented here, it must be possible to question the status of possible early interactive anomalies as primary or secondary factors, and possibly take them into account as such, either from a prevention (secondary) perspective, or from a care perspective.

(3) Thus, what is fascinating in child psychiatry is that certain factors can play as primary or secondary factors depending on the case, and that it is the role of psychopathological analysis to be able to specify things as finely as possible.

Let us take the case of quantitative or qualitative deficiencies, which have been the subject of particular attention for a number of years.

In some cases, deficiency factors act as primary factors of fragility, and we know, for example, that some children presenting an anaclitic depression, in the sense of Spitz (24), can perfectly well become autistic if the deficiency situation persists and the experience of the orphanages in Romania has again recently provided sad confirmation of this (25–27).

On the other hand, it seems, according to F. Tustin (28), that autistic pathologies are, moreover, quite often the result of the encounter of vulnerable children with an environment that is deficient or insufficiently available, at the interactive level, for this or that reason.

A case-by-case analysis is therefore essential.

All the more so as the frequency of cases of autism seems to be increasing, currently within families in great precariousness (29) and that, among these, the number of migrant families is undoubtedly significant.

As a result, we should not allow ourselves to think, as some authors have hastily done, that migrant families bring with them autism genes; we can see the unjustifiable shortcut that this reasoning makes, with obvious political implications.

The reality is more complex than that and, without doubt, we should rather take into consideration the fact that socio-familial precariousness may well, as a secondary factor, decompensate children who are vulnerable in terms of their primary factors (and in particular genetic factors) within the framework of an epigenetic causality; these children would probably never have become autistic without the encounter with this particular and painful sociological reality. Taking into account, on the one hand, the intertwining of primary and secondary factors and, on the other hand, the fact that the same factor may intervene, depending on the case, as a primary or secondary factor, seems to us at present the only way to allow room for freedom and a place to the effects of encounters in psychopathological etiopathogeny, which would otherwise risk being reduced to a linear and reductive schema of a strictly endogenous and neurodevelopmental type.

From Aristotelian causality To epigenetic causality

The central epistemological problem posed by this reductionist view, which is belied by the clinic, paradoxically seems to be often overlooked.

The different types of causality

Without detailing here the four types of causes that Aristotle (384-322 BC) defines in his Nicomachean Ethics (30) (the material cause, the formal cause, the driving cause and the final cause), we know that from the point of view of a dynamic psychology or psychopathology, it would undoubtedly be interesting to distinguish between the causes that drive (in reference to the drive system) and the causes that attract (in reference to the goal representations).

The drive itself includes its more or less specific goal which pushes the subject to action and the goal-representations (in the Freudian sense of the term) have an effect of attraction which mobilizes the action procedures of this same subject.

But, once again, the essential thing is undoubtedly to resolutely consider a polyfactorial model, both for the approach of development and of developmental disorders.

Within the framework of this polyfactorial model, the notion of interactive causality emerges, involving dialectical effects between the personal part of the subject (i.e., his or her genetic, neurobiological, somatic equipment and so on..) and the role of the environment in all its components (ecological, biological, nutritional, social, family, cultural and so on...). The relational component (i.e., the subject's encounter with the psychic work of others) has a particularly important function within the environment, and is essential for the disciplines devoted to the functioning of the psyche.

Taking this relational component into account within a polyfactorial model does not mean a return to a purely external causality if one clearly maintains the framework of a polyfactorial model.

In this perspective, there would probably be no pure psychological causality insofar as the impact of the environment depends fundamentally on the personal part of the subject.

Even in the case of traumatic pathology, the study of Post Traumatic Stress Disorders (PTSD) must today consider the subject's 'temperament' for neuroscientists (which corresponds to what psychoanalysts call history and deferred action) in order to understand the different effects of the same trauma on different subjects.

The reign of an exclusive psychogenesis thus appears today to be definitively outdated.

In fact, we would like to insist here on the notion of epigenetic causality, which represents one of the dimensions-probably the most

recently discovered—of this interactive causality, a dimension linked to the concept of epigenesis.

Epigenetic causality In general and In relation To autistic organizations

Psychological development and the disorders of this development are played out at the exact intersection of a certain number of endogenous factors and a certain number of exogenous factors.

There is no room for any kind of division and psychopathology whether psychoanalytical, attachmentist, systemic, cognitive or developmental—must imperatively integrate this fundamental and founding dialectic between internal and external determinants.

On this basis, many developmental disorders can probably be conceptualized as the result of a mixed epigenetic causality.

What does this term mean?

Usually, when we talk about epigenetic causality, we refer to the influence of the external environment on the expression of the genome.

However, the problem of autistic ontogenesis perhaps also invites us to consider the influence of experiences, feelings and bodily experiences themselves on the expression of the genetic determinants of this epigenesis.

In other words, if it is plausible to imagine that the nature of the child's early interactions with the adults who take care of them (parents and/or professionals) can have an impact on the expression and regulation of the genetic part that underlies the setting up of an autistic type of organization (we could speak here of external epigenetics), however it is not impossible to think that the bodily and sensory experiences linked to autistic functioning itself may also have an impact on the expression and regulation of the geneme that govern the genetic level of autistic susceptibility (here we could talk about internal epigenetics).

It is the intertwining of these two facets of epigenetics that leads us to propose the term mixed epigenetic causality.

The causality of autistic pathologies or when The consequences of first causes become second causes

However, as psychoanalyst as one may be, we can affirm today that there is no pure psychogenesis of autism.

Not just anyone becomes autistic, as the study of extreme situations such as the one studied in Romania during the opening of nurseries and orphanages at the end of Ceausescu's political era has clearly shown.

All the children discovered there were certainly severely deficient in the sense of R. Spitz's hospitalism (24), but only 30% among them were truly autistic (even if there are areas of symptomatic overlap between deficiency pathology and autistic pathology).

The autistic causality is most likely, as we have seen, polyfactorial, interactive and epigenetic.

This being so, things are even more complex insofar as in the framework of the "autising process" described by Hochmann (19), the consequences of the very first dysfunctions (whether they occur in the baby or in the adult) can then assume the status of second causes and

thus turn on a sort of interactive spiral that is dangerously pathogenic and destined to rapidly self-aggravate.

Can epigenetic causality re-legitimize psychoanalysis?

Lebovici often said (unpublished oral communication) that psychoanalysis had nothing to fear from the current spectacular advances in neuroscience, and that it was even looking forward to them, as they would certainly give us new doors of entry into a polyfactorial model which it is important for us to stand firm, in the field of psychopathology.

It is in this perspective that the following lines are written.

Whatever the future of this hypothesis of a mixed epigenetic causality, which is of course only valid as a conceptual proposal at the present time, we wish to emphasize that psychopathology today can no longer ignore the body, this body which is in essence at the interface of the relationship with the external environment and our internal perceptions forming the basis of our sensoriality, our sensuality and hence our sexuality.

The future of psychoanalysis in a sense is at stake here, because in view of current neurobiological positions, the requalification of speech will probably only be possible through the demonstration (still to come) of its epigenetic effects, which are already plausible.

Conclusion

Epistemology in psychoanalysis and psychiatry is still insufficiently developed (31); it is nevertheless essential for us to specify the models to which we refer implicitly and/or explicitly, to think about the question of causality and to choose our therapeutic strategies.

We have taken the example of autism, which is known to be a controversial subject, but this epistemological reflection concerns all mental disorders in children and adolescents and can only be effectively conducted in a resolutely transdisciplinary spirit.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Ouss-Ryngaert L, Golse B. Linking neuroscience and psychoanalysis from a developmental perspective: why and how? *J Physiol.* (2010) 104:303–8. doi: 10.1016/j. jphysparis.2010.09.005

2. Freud S. Point de vue du développement et de la régression-Étiologie, 319-336 et Les modes de formation de symptômes In: S Freud, editor. *Introduction à la psychanalyse*. Paris: Petite Bibliothèque Payot (1915–1917). 337–55.

3. Golse B. Le Modèle polyfactoriel en psychopathologie. In: Lavoisier, editor. *Traité européen de psychiatrie et de psychopathologie de l'enfant et de l'adolescent (sous l'égide de l'AEPEA et sous la direction de P. FERRARI et O. BONNOT)*. Paris: Lavoisier, Médecine Sciences Publications (2013). 279–82.

4. Bion W.R. (1963). Éléments de psychanalyse, P.U.F., Coll. Bibliothèque de Psychanalyse, Paris (1979) (lère éd).

5. Keats J. Lettre à ses frères, 21 décembre 1817. In: Lavoisier, editor. *Keats and negative capability (Keats et la capacité négative)*. Londres: Bloomsbury, coll. continuum literary studies (2011)

6. Cooper RS. Gene-environment interactions and the etiology of common complex disease. *Ann Intern Med.* (2003) 139:437–40. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-139-5_Part_2-200309021-00011

7. Ramos RG, Olden K. Gene-environment interactions in the development of complex disease phenotypes. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2008) 5:4–11. doi: 10.3390/ijerph5010004

8. Golse B. Le bébé et ses possibles, Éditions Erès, Coll. « Thema/Psy ». Toulouse: (2019).

9. Bernard CL. Introduction à l'étude de la médecine expérimentale (1865). Paris: Éditions Garnier-Flammarion (1865). 1966 p.

10. Gorwood P, Wohl M, Purper D. Génétique des pathologies psychiatriques de l'enfant et de l'adolescent, EMC. *Psychiatrie*. (2004) 1:4–14. doi: 10.1016/j.emcps.2003.08.001

11. Kanner L. Autistic disturbances of affective contact. Nervous Child. (1942) 3:217-30.

12. Medjkane F, Apter G. Épigénétique et autisme. Entre inné et acquis: un espace de convergence. *Inf Psychiatr.* (2014) 90:753–9.

13. Bourgeron T, Leboyer M, Delorme R. Autisme, la piste génétique se confirme. Enfance. (2009) 1:93-8. doi: 10.3917/enf1.091.0093

14. Jullien A. Autisme, crises convulsives, sclérose tubéreuse de Bourneville– Démarche diagnostique chez le jeune enfant et sa famille. *Dev Dent*. (2002) 14:121. doi: 10.3917/dev.022.0121

15. Boissel L, Le Borgne G, Fuentealba Baldini L, Gosme C, Leitgel-Gille M, Desguerre I, et al. Attachment insecurity in infantile spasms: maternal anxiety and sadness and infant's temperament outweigh disease severity. *Epilepsy Behav*. (2020) 113:107401. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107401

16. Ouss L, Le Normand M-T, Bailly K, Leitgel-Gille M, Gosme C, Simas R, et al. Developmental trajectories of hand movements in typical infants and those at risk of

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

developmental disorders: an observational study of kinematics during the first year of life. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:83:83. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00083

17. Saitovitch A., Rechtman E., Vinçon-Leite A., Brunelle F., Zilbovicius M. Et Boddaert N., Imagerie dans l'autisme infantile, Encyclopédie Médico-Chirurgicale (EMC). *Psychiatrie* (2019), 16:11.

18. Mottron L. *Lautisme, une autre intelligence.* Bruxelles: Mardaga, coll. Pratiques psychologiques (1990).

19. Hochmann J. L'autisme infantile: déficit ou défense ? In: C l Parquet and BB Golse, editors. *Soigner, éduquer l'enfant autiste ?* Paris: Masson, Coll. Médecine et Psychothérapie (1990). 33–55.

20. Beversdorf D.. Communication à l'Ohio State University, le 21 (2001)

21. Gallois TH, Wendland J. Effets du stress prénatal sur le développement psychoaffectif: une revue de la question. *Dev Dent.* (2012) 24:245–62. doi: 10.3917/ dev.123.0245

22. Chamak B. Autism and social moverments: French paretns'associations and international autistic individuals'organisations. *Sociol Health Illness.* (2008) 30:76–96. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9566.2007.01053.x

23. Chamak B. Autisme, handicap et mouvements sociaux. ALTER, Eur J Disab Res. (2010) 4:103–15. doi: 10.1016/j.alter.2010.02.001

24. Spitz R. (1946). *De la naissance à la parole-La première année de la vie*. P.U.F., Coll. Bibliothèque de Psychanalyse: Paris (1979) (6).

25. Kumsta R, Kreppner J, Kennedy M, Knights N, Rutter M, Sonuga-Barke E. Psychological consequences of early global deprivation: an overview of findings from the English & Romanian Adoptees study. *Eur Psychol.* (2015) 20:138–51. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040/a000227

26. Rutter M, Andersen-Wood L, Beckett C, Bredenkamp D, Castle J, Groothues C, et al. Quasi-autistic patterns following severe early global privation. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Discip.* (1999) 40:537–49. doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00472

27. Rutter M, Kreppner J, Croft C, Murin M, Colvert E, Beckett C, et al. Early adolescent outcomes of institutionally deprived and non-deprived adoptees. III. Quasi-autism. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2007) 48:1200–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007. 01792.x

28. Tustin F. Les états autistiques chez l'enfant. Paris: Le Seuil (1986).

29. Chamak B. L'autisme à Marseille Nord: inégalités territoriales, précarité et services publics. *Neuropsychiatr Enfance Adolesc.* (2019) 67:304–10. doi: 10.1016/j. neurenf.2019.03.004

30. Aristote. (384–322 av. J.-C), Éthique à Nicomaque, Lgf, Livre de poche, Coll. Classiques Philo, Paris, (1992).

31. Golse B, Putois O, Vanier A. (sous la direction de), Épistémologie et méthodologie en psychanalyse et en psychiatrie – Pour un vrai débat avec les neurosciences, Éditions Érès, Coll. Le Carnet-Psy. Toulouse: (2017).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Bernard Golse, Université de Paris, France

REVIEWED BY Silvka Zornig, Pontifical Catholic University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Anne Boisseuil, Université Côte d'Azur, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Sylvain Missonnier Sylvainmissonnier@gmail.com

RECEIVED 05 November 2022 ACCEPTED 20 April 2023 PUBLISHED 17 July 2023

CITATION

Missonnier S (2023) The genesis of perinatal clinical psychology and its contemporary issues. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1090365. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1090365

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Missonnier. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The genesis of perinatal clinical psychology and its contemporary issues

Sylvain Missonnier^{1,2*}

¹Clinical Psychology, Institut de Psychologie, Université Paris Descartes, Boulogne-sur-Mer, France, ²Université Paris-Cité, Institut de Psychologie Laboratoire PCPP, Paris, Île-de-France, France

The main aim of French clinical psychology is to explain the psychic processes of transformation, to which the subject is central. In this context, transformations in the perinatal period open an innovating field in perinatal clinical psychology focused on the conscious/subconscious, subjective/inter-subjective psychic reality of a subject who is in the process of becoming (or becoming once again) a parent and being born a human.

KEYWORDS

clinical psychology, perinatality, parenthood, psychic reality, perinatal clinical psychology

1. Introduction: clinical psychology

Clinical psychology is defined by its two-sided object:

- An exploration of the conscious/subconscious, subjective/inter-subjective psychic reality of the subjects' day-to-day life in situation, in its individual/group, and normal/pathological forms.

- The implementation of formats of inter-subjective encounters favourable to the containing observation of verbal/non-verbal, focal/free associative processuality, and the implementation of the subjectifying meaning of its phenomenology and its conflicting inhibiting and dissociative obstacles.

The clinical methodology for this psychic reality is inseparable from its implementation across all participants involved: it is the inter-subjective encounter and its reciprocal effects that enables the exploration of virtual associations and a meaningful update of their contents.

Of course, this definition of clinical psychology is a skeleton which, to take flesh, must feed on constant ethical reflection and a multitude of modes (diagnosis, results, orientation, individual and group psychotherapies, supervision, expertise, etc.), belonging to the main classic domains of intervention by clinical psychologists: medicine, psychiatry, education and training, employment, justice, institutions, etc. inseparable from their specific cultural context.

Nonetheless, this attempt at a definition aspires to three decisive qualities:

- Highlighting clearly cardinal epistemological 'values' of clinical psychology (1–12).

- Being intrinsically open to inter-disciplinarity, so that the different specialties of care can appropriate this definition of clinical psychology and enrich it with their singularities and critical experience. If clinical psychology is the corporate monopoly of clinical psychologists alone, it betrays the foundations of its mixed identity, its true 'mixed blood'; indeed, the permanent effort towards transition in practises and the multiplication of theories contributes to its history.

- Offering an appropriate framework to engage in its full application in the inter-disciplinary field of perinatal clinical psychology.

2. Perinatal clinical psychology

As an echo to this definition of clinical psychology, the perinatal period can be seen as an open window on the conscious/subconscious, subjective/inter-subjective psychic reality of the subject in a situation of becoming a parent and being born a human.

The process of perinatal parenthood corresponds to a particular amplification of bio-psychic transformations and the inherent processes of associativity/inhibition-dissociation. This parental metamorphosis corresponds, in extreme situations, to a potentially two-faceted crisis: traumatic and/or cathartic.

For better or for worse, parenthood, in transitory manner, highlights the typical elements of the structure and content of the subject's psychic reality. Bydlowski (13), one of the first French psychoanalysts to have focused on perinatal clinical practise after Deutsch, Bibring, and Benedek, speaks of the pregnant woman's 'psychic transparency'.

However this 'psychic transparency', an element clinically and technically central to our definition of perinatal clinical psychology, is no doubt only virtual. The redeployment of its meaning¹ is only a potential that may or may not be confirmed. The greater associativity inherent in the perinatal experience will only provide subectifying opportunities insofar as the internal and external characteristics of the subject's psychic apparatus, the conjugal, familial, and professional inter-subjective spaces, along with the perinatal medical, psychological and social follow-up (maternity, neonatology, paediatrics, perinatal networks, etc.) are or are not favourable to its elaborative containing function. The constraints of this situation will be compounded in case of medically 'pathological' pregnancies and births, and/or in case of parenthood disorders and early parent/foetus/baby disharmony.

The first facet of the object perinatal clinical psychology will thus be an exploration of subjects' subjective/inter-subjective, conscious/ subconscious daily psychic reality in a situation of becoming a parent (or becoming a parent once more), of being born human and becoming carers, in all forms—normal/pathological, as an individual, a couple or a group.

The second facet of the object of perinatal clinical psychology is attention towards the scope for parents and caregivers to draw benefit from private, institutional surroundings favouring the metabolisation of verbal and non-verbal associative processuality (somatic, in particular), inherent in the bio-psychic transformations of parenthood and its professional care.

This containing clinical observation of what exists among the different participants and the varied stimulations deriving from the metabolising potential of verbal/non-verbal associativity corresponds to the strategies of primary medical, psychological and social

prevention in perinatal clinical psychology. It has meaning and actual existence only in the setting of collegiate collaboration.

Possessing essential common grounds with primary prevention, secondary prevention concerns the offer of modes of inter-subjective encounters targeting parents and caregivers harbouring dissociativeinhibiting obstacles, thus hampering the metabolisation of verbal/ non-verbal associative processuality and the attribution of meaning to subjective aspects of its phenomenology.

The inclusion of the 'normal' and the 'psychopathological' in clinical psychology, and thereby primary and secondary prevention, is essential to its perinatal version. As a result, as we will see, the history of perinatal clinical psychology demonstrates, in caricatural mode, how dissatisfactory and distressing it is for parents and their foetuses/babies to see attention directed solely to 'noisy' cases, which will merely receive one-off psychiatric responses.

The extension of the perinatal psychiatry and perinatal clinical psychology to the wide variations in perinatal setting in what is 'normal', and the extension to interdisciplinary caring attitudes more broadly (primary prevention), has been a source of humanisation of births and recognition of masked, mute or visible pathologies (secondary prevention).

Indeed, the 'ordinary' signs of suffering in the perinatal world are liable to be ignored or trivialised, and to evolve underground: the recurrence, still underestimated in the perinatal world, of anxiety, mood and psychosomatic disorders, family relationship disharmony, infant psychosomatic disorders, etc. easily demonstrates this cultural blind spot.

Denouncing the mirage of the conformist medical 'normality' of parenthood (i.e., defensively idealised and a cause of violent exclusions), primary prevention in the perinatal world is justified by a great individual variability in the nature, the content and the chronology of the parental anticipatory maturation in attitudes towards the foetus/baby (14). In response to the singularities of this 'spontaneous' parental prevention, institutional prevention aims to be 'made to measure'. It thus adopts a humanistic approach by offering an interdisciplinary ritual framework, promoting recognition, shared anticipation and explanation for the potential shockwaves of this crisis, oscillating between vulnerability and creativity.

2.1. The epistemological foundations of perinatal clinical psychology

Perinatal clinical psychology is thus centred on the many psychological and psycho-pathological avatars of the encounter of 'being born a human', of 'becoming a parent' and of 'being a caregiver'.

It unites perinatal psychology and perinatal psycho-pathology. The first studies the diversity of the tempered (but broad) formalisations of the process of attunement between the genesis of a subject and the accompanying process of parenthood. Perinatal psycho-pathology distinguishes the pathological patterns that perinatal psychology— in the strict sense—sets out to address in terms of prevention and care. Perinatal ethno-psychiatry (15) ponders about the cultural valency of the disharmony at hand, and its place in an appropriate therapeutic response.

Current perinatal clinical psychology was recently born out of interdisciplinary clinical practise, where psychiatry in the post-partum

¹ The term 'transparency' could well suggest the illusion of total transparency. This notion would however neglect the irreducible unconscious of both the woman giving birth and those around her.

period plays an essential role. Its history is the best guide to understand the current issues in perinatal clinical psychology.

2.1.1. Genesis

With (16), followed by his pupil (17), French psychiatry was initially innovative in the affirmation of the psychic specificity of the post-partum period (18). But it is only recently that perinatal psychiatry, essentially in Britain in the 1950s, appeared as an institutional practise (19). After a few pioneering experiments, the first mother-baby hospitalisation unit was opened in 1959 at Banstead Hospital in the United Kingdom, on the initiative of adult psychiatrists. This institutional formalisation was motivated by an immediate desire to not separate mothers from their newly born babies. In a population of psychotic mothers, Baker and his team, as early as 1961, reported encouraging retrospective results on the outcome of non-separated dyads from birth, compared to separated dyads. Since then, the dynamics of British perinatal psychiatry have never been refuted. To be convinced of this fact, one only has to mention the activities of the International Marcé Society for perinatal mental health, the first lectureship in perinatal psychiatry in London created by Kumar, or the work by Cox and Holden (20), a Scottish author, famous for a scale designed for the detection of maternal post-partum depression (the EPDS manual), which has been translated into French (21).

In France, it was Racamier who first organised mother-infant hospitalisations at Prémontré psychiatric hospital in northern France. Its concept of motherhood generated reflection in France on the psychic process of 'becoming a mother'. However, it was not until 1979 that the first mother-baby hospitalisation unit was opened at Créteil inter-communal hospital. There are currently 20 full-time hospitalisation units and 11 day-units.² The first national meeting of the different psychiatric teams offering joint hospitalisations was held in Créteil on January 29 and 30th 1993.

The contributions by Sutter and Bourgeois (19) and Dugnat (22, 23) provide a good overview of the environment of these units. They were, to start with, defined to host dyads, in which mothers either presented an overt, acute pathology of the post-partum period with its manic/depressive bipolarity (10–15% of parturient women), or an earlier psychiatric pathology or serious personality disorders. Young women with no psychiatric history were also hospitalised with their babies, because of difficulties building their identity as mothers and establishing an attachment favourable to their infant's development.

Perinatal psychiatry was forged around the clinical care of psychotic, depressive and anxiety disorders and suicide risk among pregnant women and during the post-partum period. Today, whilst remaining faithful to this original line of approach, it is in particular extending its spectrum to a wider prevention perspective. Perinatal psychiatry can no longer merely apprehend overt, 'noisy' psychopathological disorders. It is opening up to the diversity of parenting dysfunctions—from the most masked to the most obvious, from the mildest to the most severe. This extension is particularly the result of incessant interaction between child and adult psychiatrists and psychologists involved in interdisciplinary clinical perinatal activities.

Perinatal clinical psychopathology is a co-construction between somatic and psychic specialists. For the latter, experience shared on a daily basis between psychiatrists and clinical psychologists who are involved in implementing primary and secondary prevention strategies in perinatal units, plays an essential role. On this point, it is interesting to observe how perinatal clinical practise is an area of great mutual creativity between psychiatrists (child and adult) and psychologists, in stark contrast with other sectors of mental health!

2.1.2. The theoretical foundations of perinatal clinical psychology

In France, the psychology and psychopathology of very young children have been central in the claim for a specific identity of this new domain. On the interface between psychoanalytical and experimental observation, clinical practise in early infancy is progressively opening up to the complexity of the emergence of the psyche and inter-subjectivity. The light cast by theory of attachment of Bowlby (24–26) and by his successors, the reconsideration of the notion of self/other non-differentiation by new-born babies (27) and the essential realisation of the interactive dimension in babies' postnatal bio-psychic development, have all led to innovating questioning on perinatal epigenetics.

In this line of thought, current perinatal psychopathology in France, combines, within an original referential space, contributions from 'developmental psychoanalysis' among infants (28) and research on the process of parenthood and its disorders.

- Developmental psychoanalysis is situated at the crossroads between studies on genesis and dysfunctions in relation to:
 - the skills of the foetus/baby (29) and their interactive epigenetics (30);
 - object relationships and attachment (31, 32);
 - the emergence of the self and inter-subjectivity (Stern, 1989) (33-35);
 - fantasised parent-baby interactions (36, 37) and inter/transgenerational transmission (38).
 - triadification (39); and
 - the psychosomatic functioning of the infant (40).
- b. Following on from theoretical founding research by Englishlanguage authors Deutsh (41), Benedek (42), Bibring (43), and Winnicott (44), the psychoanalytical approach to parenthood has a central role (14).

2.1.3. The influence of a few pioneers

French perinatal clinical psychology is greatly indebted to certain clinicians, who were at first isolated, and whose innovating actions opened new paths that have since become emblematic. As a result, the current identity of this practise is to be situated in the wake of the first psychoanalysts first involved in paediatrics and then in maternity and neonatology.

Raimbault inaugurated this approach in the 60s. Royer, who managed the paediatric nephrology unit in the Hôpital des Enfants Malades (Paris), asked him to join his team. This collaboration, which was radically original in those days, led to the creation of the first research unit to include psychoanalysts and sociologists. The '*Clinique du réel*' (45) (real-life clinical practise) was born from this encounter between psychoanalysis and medical paediatrics.

It is clear that the theme of child death here forms an institutional diagonal and an epistemological dynamic. It was the premature

² http://www.marce-francophone.fr

death of children with leukaemia that led Royer to invite Raimbault (46) to his unit. Death was also often decisive in initiating interdisciplinary psychological reflection in the areas of maternity and paediatrics.

In neonatology in the 80s, Soulé (47) at the Institut de Puériculture, explored 'the death-wish in new-born paediatrics'. In the maternity ward, realisation of the little-known devastating psychosocial effects of mourning for a child triggered a slow but definite change in practises from the 90s onwards (48).

However, the propounding of a psychodynamic clinical reflection on motherhood started in France some 10 years earlier, particularly with the inter-disciplinary work by the psychoanalyst Bydlowski in Clamart, in Papiernik's team (49, 50). As for the psychoanalyst Druon (51) working in Relier's neonatal medical unit, she adapted Bick's method of observation (52) to neonatology.

Finally, the local success of these innovating practises and the dissemination of this work *via* publications and congresses provided strong anchor points in favour of triggering awareness of the need for reflection in France on a coherent form of perinatal clinical psychology.

2.1.4. Identity, boundaries and intersections: interdisciplinary, networked and preventive practise

Perinatal clinical psychology is inseparable from its interdisciplinary nature: adult and child psychiatry, gynaecologyobstetrics, neonatology, paediatrics, general medicine, facilities for the care of infants, and the social services constitute the many branches of a network for which the common goal of coherence is its identity.

As has been well demonstrated in its history, perinatal clinical psychology was born from collaboration among a variety of specialists attending parents and foetuses/infants. It was not elaborated by specialists of the psyche alone (psychiatrists and psychologists), but by a panel of professional participants with distinct training qualifications, as illustrated by the reference list of this manual.

Perinatal anamnesis, in the presence of the mother, father and foetus/baby, apprehends human beings in their wholeness, at the cost of the need to move beyond dogmatic divides among caregivers: psychic/somatic, normal/pathological, gynaecologist-obstetricians/ paediatricians, prenatal/post-natal caregivers, etc.

The interdisciplinary approach—often fruitful in its conflicting aspects (53)—is certainly very assertively dynamic in the continuum of perinatal activities. The 'somatic' specialists/psychologists-psychiatrists collaboration in teams (including private practise) offer a promise of unity if a common preventive orientation can be materialised. This collaboration in no way means outsourcing from the 'somatic' specialists to the psychologists-psychiatrists all that relates to relationships, affects and trauma. However, this preventive axis can prove fruitful if there is common ground, where each one of the participants can shed light, reflecting their qualification, their history and their subjectivity.

This shared investment will generate first and foremost indirect collaboration with psychiatrists-psychologists. Corridor conversations, exchanges in the staff room, liaising in offices, and meetings (of the Balint group type) will be the basis for the daily metabolisation of the shockwaves of the vulnerability observed. By suggesting, but without imposing, a more or less formalised questioning on caregivers' experiences, this multidisciplinary sharing helps give meaning and combats the defensive operational inertia of the body/mind duality, which has been fed by ambient scientism and biassed training courses. As a result, awareness, which always needs to be re-conquered, of the interactive unity of the patient/carer 'system' is assuredly the basic substrate enabling the efficacy of the containing function of professionals. The more discreet are the disorders in presence and the more central to interpersonal relationship for patients, the more the caregivers' perception of this interaction will be a determining factor.

The direct interventions by psychiatrists-psychologists with families will not replace or compensate for failure of the care initiated. They will follow on from a multidisciplinary reflection that is often worth explaining to parents and babies by caregivers, to prepare for mediation. The psychologists' direct action will therefore be initiated by harvesting a substantial amount of information from professionals who have been made aware of perinatal psychology and psychopathology in parenthood. In return, direct action by the specialist will find its place, as with their colleagues, in constant reference to the common project in the facility. This mutual collaboration in the field is probably a more dynamic argument in favour of a preventive approach than many petitions on principle.

3. The ethics of care and prevention

In the best of cases, medical, psychological and social strategies in perinatal units will therefore follow an open epistemological path, resolutely interdisciplinary, rendered dynamic by research, escaping the insistent medical threat of a 'ready-made' protocol and any predictive, alienating, scientistic, preventive logic, and will take root in a broad ethical community debate on the meaning of the transmission of our paradoxical humanity, a simultaneous source of fecundity and tragic conflict.

The subject at hand is sensitive because the public health strategies of a state-based society to pre-empt and provide support for bio-psychic risks in key periods of the life of its members are certainly an indicator of its political maturity. This is particularly true of the perinatal period, where the meaning and content of the measures adopted in favour of preventing suffering inherent in 'becoming a parent', 'being born a human' and to 'being a caregiver' are particularly subtle political issues.

It is therefore not surprising that the preventive discourse in the perinatal field encounters ideological issues and favours Manichean caricature. It is constantly open to manipulation by idealists ('prevention is going to eradicate all suffering') and to pessimism ('the apple does not fall far from the tree'). Between the utopia of total control over nature and the fatalism of an evil repetition across generations, the creative impetus in perinatality and prevention faithfully reflects the paradoxical human blend of Eros and Thanatos.

3.1. The birth of early prevention

According to pioneers Soulé et al. (54), prevention work with families 'is based on three key ideas: the notion of early instatement, the consideration of the rules of infant mental hygiene, and

trans-disciplinary³ aspects, i.e., the mode of participation of all medical and psychosocial professionals who intervene with families for whatever reason.

In line with this, prevention is said to be early if it is situated before the child's birth, at the crossroads between primary prevention (reducing the incidence of an illness) and secondary prevention (decreasing its prevalence).

These basic notions are inseparable from those of risk and vulnerability. Risks relate to 'the uncertainty of the outcome of a child's confrontation with environmental or interior stressors' (55)—and to vulnerability: 'faced with the same risks, ultimately not all children present the same disorders (...) personal factors play a considerable role and thus lead to greater or lesser vulnerability.'

The notion of vulnerability (56) illustrates the fact that different people faced with a given risk do not present the same disorders. Vulnerability highlights personal factors. The same blow to three dolls made of glass, plastic and steel will not have the same effect. With the concept of resilience popularised today, this concept merits attentive critical analysis (57–59).

However, more than anything, it is the confrontation with the notions of risk indicators and the emergence of hidden demands that could be the most fruitful and plead in favour of a natural, convergent perspective between social, psychological and medical prevention and provision of support for parents or parental substitutes and children. 'Behind temporary needs', explained Soulé and Noël, there are situations or behavioural modes among parents or children whose experience shows that the children's entourage has difficulty in integrating at once the demands of the child, their own needs and social constraints. These are in fact inadequate, conventional or ill-adapted behaviours. This is why they can be 'warning lights' (55). The perception of these explicit or implicit warning lights starts with the recognition of the multiplicity of expressions of psychosocial distress.

Finally, as these authors stress, when we envisage risk indicators, 'warning lights' and hidden needs, it is important to remember that they are possible signs of distress and in no way obvious symptoms of a recognised pathology. The borderline between well-tempered prevention and an alienating and suspecting investigation is narrow. The challenge for consultants and the whole of the team is to be simultaneously respectful of each person's freedom and potential, and to be able to hear, not only spoken demands for help, but hidden demands too.

According to Soulé and Noël, the difficulties encountered by the caregivers to reach and maintain this balance is an insistent reminder of how 'a certain number of motivations supporting us in this fine idea of prevention are also based on the myth of superpower and man's total control over nature'. If it is not individually and institutionally elaborated, this ideological position 'becomes harmful if, in the name of health, it introduces rigid regulations for education and behaviour' (55).

On a larger scale, social control by the state or by a dominant class, the correction of deviance, normalisation, and the totalitarian deprivation of individual freedom are considered by these pioneers as theoretical and excessive arguments against preventive action, but it is primordial not to set them aside, as they have the advantage of pointing the finger 'at the dangers of doctrines or policies that seek to apply prevention but without assessing the risks and potential excesses' (55).

3.2. Criticism of preventive reasoning: from suspicion to mutually enlightened watchfulness

In a book on perinatal prevention, which showed great maturity in its theoretical, clinical and ethical reflection, Molenat (60) defends a point of view that enables an assessment of the journey undertaken since these pioneering propositions to reach the current state today.

'Classic risk factors are a first level of vigilance, although carrying their own poison: detecting what is psychopathological without necessarily seeking the patient's subjectivity, which means that readymade responses are needed'. Assessment or screening grids, 'potentially useful in a period of raising awareness, (...) are reused in sometimes unfortunate ways, while a state of mind based on respect for others should prevail'.

According to F. Molénat, if perinatal prevention is not accompanied in the various networks of professionals by a common ethical goal of respecting parental creative subjectivity, it will be synonymous with institutional abuse, thus favouring the deleterious repetitions that it claims to combat. The subjects concerned by this prevention exclusively dedicated to screening for the psychopathological are, in the long run, 'defendants' deprived of attention characterised by 'consideration' and 'solicitude'. Experiments and assessments of prevention programmes show that the essential driving force seems to be the identification aid that a professional at ease in his/her role provides for the families he/she cares for. There is also the particular interest caregivers have in their work, which enables them to mobilise their energy in durable manner.

It is the caregivers' non-elaborated vulnerability, their uneasiness in inter-professional communication and internal power struggles that deprive professionals of a coherent collective containing function that only a network of clinical reflection can allow. If the main question of 'how can a professional, without knowledge of it, repeat what distressed parents have experienced in their own construction?' is not addressed, professional collaboration will keep on building towers of Babel.

By radically drawing away from a culture of repair and opening up towards the anticipation of parental competence, early prevention can find its place in the perinatal world. This objective has a *sine qua non* condition: the professionals' elaborative support, which alone can break off the fatality of repetition of suffering.

Furthermore, it is by being particularly careful with the usual terms of social and medical policies, that prevention will gain its ethical legitimacy: 'This approach evidently discards the usual medical

³ We prefer the term interdisciplinarity. As with generational transmission, clinically described by Grangeon as trangenerational or intergenerational, the collaboration expressed by 'inter-' refers generally to mutual exchanges where the unavoidable risk of conflict will lead to debate that will generate symbols and attunement, while collaboration of the 'trans-' type, conversely, will suggest dissymmetrical relationships with little or no elaboration of the antagonisms on its boundaries.

and social policy terms. It is no longer a question of screening for distress or depression in the post-partum period, but about re-introducing sufficient humanity and rigour into practises so that everyone finds their place.

These relevant suggestions, enriched through the years by day-to-day clinical work, active research and inter-professional training, are directed towards perinatal mental health⁴, placing 'the user at the centre of a system to be renovated.⁵

Finally, the decidedly necessary criticism of preventive reasoning does not justify its outright rejection or the exclusion of its promoters in the name of some potential deviance. On the other hand, it leads us to consider preventive action as inseparable from an on-going, ethical, clinical reflection on caregiving. The encounter of prevention issues (now classic) with, more recently, informed consent for care provision, currently offers innovative and promising food for thought (61).

At the end of a century marked by the triumph of medicalisation, synonymous in France with a decrease in maternal and infantile mortality, with the transfer of birth to a medical environment and to increased social protection, we find ourselves in a period of mutation in familial functioning.

On the one hand, changes in conjugal relationships, the sharp increase in the number of 'recomposed' families, changes in familial and filial rights, and on the other hand, a relative decrease in birth rates, a spacing between births, the frequency in late pregnancies, and the abundance of medically assisted procreation procedures are so many facets of the emergent part of the iceberg, amounting to a relative de-institutionalisation of the family, the classic profile of which has been transformed.

This new dynamic is more globally part of an on-going social mutation, where the shift of power from families and religion to medicine triggers a thinning-out of the former community networks and thus affects the symbolic efficacy of the habitual rites of passage attendant on birth and filiation. In this period of metamorphosis of beliefs and social rites, one of the aspects that is likely to be weakened is that of the establishment of parental identity.

To establish a preventive strategy on maternity wards therefore requires first of all to address the issue of what determines the conditions of existence of symbolic reciprocity in secular rites offered by institutions. Is medical follow-up of pregnancies, births and post-partum the psychic organiser of the parenthood process or, on the contrary, the iatrogenic mediator of alienating scientism? Are there rites of passage that enable—individually and collectively—the violence inherent in this transition to be confronted? Are the usual procedures in maternity wards the object of genuinely informed consent, the guarantee of symbolic efficacy (62)?

4. Perinatal clinical psychology: promising heuristic potential!

To date, the legitimacy of perinatal clinical psychology has been globally secured in the field in France, even if some worrying geographical and institutional discrepancies persist across the country. Even though increased means have been granted to medical and psychosocial perinatal prevention, it could benefit from more assertive adherence by politicians and the public to ensure durable public funding, given the collective stakes involved.

In the future, the medical and psychosocial strategies in maternity wards will need to pursue an open epistemological journey, resolutely interdisciplinary and rendered dynamic by research, sheltering from the insistent medical threat of a 'ready-made' protocol, from a scientistic, predictive, alienating, and preventive logic, and taking root in a broad ethical community debate on the meaning of the transmission of our paradoxical humanity, at once a source of fecundity and of tragic conflict. Quite a challenge!...where clinicians calling on individual or group psychoanalysis have a major role to play in the theoretical and clinical field, remarkable for its heuristic potential.

In fact, in the last 2 decades, innovative clinical experiments in the perinatal period and in early infancy, and the original theories that they have produced, prove extremely fruitful for psychic care in general and psychoanalysis in particular.

As a culmination of this contribution, I would like to focus on the roots of this heuristic force of clinical practise in the area of our origins. Paradoxically, it draws its dynamism from the constancy and ruthlessness of its internal tensions, which call for insistent cross-sectional questioning. Here is an introduction to its main themes:

- Conflict in inter-disciplinary work between 'somatic' and 'psychic' specialists. It is an inexhaustible fountain of this clinical and epistemological prodigality. The oppositions between the various 'somatic' specialists (the frontline between obstetricians and paediatricians and also between 'somatic specialists' of the prenatal and postnatal periods) are less often mentioned, but should nevertheless not be underestimated.

Currently, the growing emergence of care and prevention networking strategies is widening the issues of this dynamic towards the intra- and extra-hospital interfaces—public/private, institutional/ liberal. The fruitfulness of these confrontations to smooth over the dividing lines is inseparable from the modes of expression and elaboration of the conflicts in presence. In this context, clinical reappraisals, research-action and perinatal training are fertile laboratories favouring an authentic multi-disciplinary culture:

- A permanent dialectic between the discovery of the amplitude of psychological variations and the psycho-pathological forms encountered. In fact, the 1,001 intermingled metamorphoses of becoming a mother, becoming a father and being born a human are a constant recall of the need to put the nosographic categories into perspective, as they are too geometrical.
- An evolving dynamic of the bodily and psychic boundaries of the processes of profound perinatal transformation: they generate elective attention to the issues of limits and the entanglement of the somatic and the psyche, of the self and the other, of the individual and the group, familial, social, etc.

⁴ Ministère de l'Emploi et de la Solidarité, Ministère délégué à la Santé, report by Piel and Roelandt: 'De la psychiatrie vers la santé mentale'. Submitted July 2001.

⁵ Ministère de l'Emploi et de la Solidarité, Ministère délégué à la Santé, Plan santé mentale 'L'usager au centre d'un dispositif à rénover'. Report submitted December 2001.

- A reliving of the conflicts of separation punctuating our lives. 'Psychic transparency' is too often idealised: it is, at one extreme, a source of morbid and catastrophic repetitions and at the other a source of maturing radical transformations, but in both cases, always synonymous with crisis.
- A re-edition of the *Oedipus complex*, but first and foremost a confrontation with the reminiscence of the classic archaism described by psychoanalysis, and even more, the archaic archaism that I have attempted to describe with my suggestion of the virtual object relationship in intra-uterine life characterised by the issues of the relationship container/content (53).
- A trivial face-to-face with the limits of our symbolic efficacy confronted with the violence of the suspense, the uncertainty of human genesis in real time around embryos/foetuses/babies, and afterwards in the adults around them. This generational threat is by essence potentially traumatic. It concerns any perinatal journey from the most trivial in appearance, in obstetrical and/ or psychological terms, to the most blatantly pathological on somatic and/or psychic level.
- Awareness—not without moral violence—of the determination of the many layers conditioning the quality of the societal, institutional and familial containing functions attendant on these metamorphoses of becoming a parent, being born a human and being a caregiver.
- Finally, perinatal clinical practise is confronted with the origins of a human being, in a given culture, both individual and group-based. The subject belongs to a genealogy that pre-exists and is a singular appearance serving the transmission.

The potential creativity of the perinatal world is incarnated in this bitter, often violent dialectic tension between these two poles of origin and originality. This individual specificity, to express itself, will have to impose itself as a branch on the tree of life where the trunk is the filiation, itself rooted in the Russian-doll succession of generations.

The perinatal world is inhabited by this dual origin of human beings: that of the links—whether clear or unclear—with their genetic matrix, their filiation, their collective heritage, and their culture, and that of the uniqueness of the epigenetics of their being, of their potential originality.

In the end, to defend the preventive potentiality of this period is to seek to promote parental and professional originality and at the same time to underline the insistent threat of repetition, sometimes deleterious, always violent, of the origins.

In this setting gathering users and caregivers, there is a strong convergence between the group formalisation of institutional functioning and what (63) called the 'group psychic apparatus' which 'accomplishes a particular psychic task: that of producing and treating the psychic reality of and in the group'. In fact, any situation in perinatal care belongs to this dialectic uniting the sphere of relationships between the members of a group, and the sphere of the relationships of each member in relation to the group. Indeed, the maternity ward as an institution, the unity of time and place and action, unites all the participants present, users and caregivers. This space-time corresponds to the interweaving of affects and representations of and in the user and caregiver group.

The unity present on the scene of clinical care around our origins is the classic scene of tragedy, unitarian in its temporality, its geography and its action. Given the potential of tragedy to 'inspire terror or pity' (definition: Petit Robert) it appears that one of our most spontaneous defence mechanisms as members of a maternity ward team or as researchers is that of isolation, which is achieved by centring only on the reactions of the receivers of messages without taking account of the attitudes and experiences of the senders, i.e., ourselves. The challenge in gaining awareness of this protective positioning is essential, since it enables the establishment of the foundations of an interactive, empathetic common territory between the protagonists, all actors in their particular places in a single tragedy, a 'situation in which a human becomes painfully aware of a destiny or fatality weighing on his or her life, nature and very condition (definition: Petit Robert)'. Whether destiny or fatality, these are indeed the possible issues to address in this collective representation, which will lead either to a predictive oracle condemning a powerless audience to an inexorable morbid fate, or in contrast to a revelation synonymous with narrative and project (destiny), bringing expectation and life.

The maternity institution, a horn of plenty on the throne of cultural propaganda, finally gives birth to as much darkness as light. Between its celestial showroom and the trivial back-of-the-shop of daily drama (infertility, abortion, miscarriage, perinatal accidents, neonate separation from the mother, prematurity, announcement of a disability, institutional violence, psychosocial distress etc.) the contrast can be enormous (14).

At the centre of the interweaving of Eros and Thanatos, perinatal clinical practise spectacularly stages the encounter between our resilience and our creativity and the dizzying heights of our vulnerability. Perinatal clinical psychology meets the challenge of exploring the somatic and psychic reality of this individual and collective scene, supporting its symbolisation by way of relevant approaches. Quite a challenge indeed!

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Anzieu D. La psychanalyse au service de la psychologie. *Nouv Rev Psychanaly Reg Psychanaly France*. (1979) 20:59–75.

2. Freud S. (2007). Lettre du 30 janvier 1899 in Lettres à Wilhelm Fliess, 1887–1904. Paris PUF.

3. Lagache D. (1949a), L'unité de la psychologie. Paris PUF, 2004.

4. Lagache D. Psychologie clinique et méthode clinique. L'évol Psychiat. (1949b) 1:155-78.

5. Lecanuet JP, Granier-Deferre C, Schaal B. Les perceptions fœtales. Ontogenèses des systèmes et écologie fœtale In: S Lebovici, R Diatkine and M Soulé, editors. *Nouveau Traité de Psychiatrie de l'enfant et de l'Adolescent*. Paris: PUF (1995). 253-63.

6. Mahler M., Pine F., Bergman A., (1975), La Naissance Psychologique de l'être Humain. Symbiose et individuation, Paris, Payot, 1980.

7. Molenat F., Toubin R.M. Vers des réseaux de soins précoces in DUGNAT M. et coll, Troubles relationnels père-mère-bébé. (1996) Quels soins, Toulouse, Eres.

8. Favez-Boutonnier J. La Psychologie Clinique: Objet, Méthode, Problèmes. Paris: CDU (1959).

9. Perron R. La Pratique de la Psychologie Clinique. Paris: Dunod (1997).

10. Roussillon R. (2008), Définir la clinique. Colloque "Sauvons la clinique," Paris, 5 juillet 2008.

11. Roussillon R. (2009), La naissance de la méthode et les processus de l'associativité « focale ». Libres Cahiers pour la psychanalyse. sous presse.

12. Samacher R. Psychologie Clinique et Psychopathologie. Paris: Bréal (1998).

13. Bydlowski M. La transparence psychique de la grossesse. *Etudes Freudiennes*. (1991) 32:135–42.

14. Missonnier S. La Consultation Thérapeutique Périnatale. Toulouse: Érès (2003).

15. Moro M.R, Nathan T, Rabain-Jamin, Stork H, Si Ahmed D. Le bébé dans son univers culturel in Lebovici S., Weil-Harpern F., *Psychopathologie du bébé*, PUF (1989), 683–748.

16. Esquirol E.L'aliénation mentale des nouvelles accouchées et des nourrices, Des maladies mentales, Paris, Edition Baillière, (1819).

17. Marcé L. Traité de la folie des femmes enceintes des nouvelles accouchées et des nourrices. Paris: L'Harmattan (1858).

18. Coco U., Mazet P. (1998), Un précurseur de la psychiatrie périnatale, Louis Vincent Marcé. (eds.) Mazet, P., and Lebovici, S. Psychiatrie périnatale, PUF

19. Sutter AL, Bourgeois M. Les Unités Mère-Enfant en Psychiatrie Périnatale. Paris, PUF: Nodules (1996).

20. Cox J.L., Holden J. (1994). Perinatal psychiatry. Use and Misuse of the Edinburgh Post-Natal Depression Scale, London, Gaskel.

21. Guedeney N, Fermanian J, Guelfi JD, Deljour M. Premiers résultats de la traduction de l'Edinbourgh post-natal Depression Scale sur une population parisienne. *Dev Dent.* (1995) 7:69–92.

22. Dugnat M. Troubles Relationnels Père-Mère/Bébé: Quels Soins? Toulouse: Erès (1996).

23. Dugnat M. (1999), L'hospitalisation mère-bébé. Spirale 10

 Bowlby J. (1969), L'attachement Vol 1. In Attachement et perte, Paris, PUF, 1978.
Bowlby J. (1973). La séparation, angoisse et colère Vol 2. In Attachement et perte, Paris, PUF, 1978.

26. Bowlby J. L'avènement de la psychiatrie développementale a sonné. *Dev Dent.* (1986) 4:7–31.

27. Stern D. N. Le monde interpersonnel du nourrisson. Paris: PUF. (1986).

28. Tyson P, Tyson RL. Les Théories Psychanalytiques du Développement de l'enfant et de l'Adolescent. Paris: PUF (1996).

29. Brazelton TB. Les compétences comportementales du nouveau-né In: S Lebovici and F Weil-Halpern, editors. *Psychopathologie du Bébé*. Paris: PUF (1989)

30. Cosnier J. Observation directe des interactions directes ou les bases de l'épigenèse interactionnelles. *Psychiatr Enfant*. (1984) 2:107–26.

31. Golse B. Du Corps à la Pensée. Paris: PUF (1999).

32. Golse B. Lêtre bébé. Paris: PUF (2006).

33. Trevarthen C. The self born in intersubjectivity: the psychology of an infant communicating In: U Neisser, editor. *The Perceived Self, Ecological and Interpersonal Sources of Self-Knowledge*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (1993a). 121–73.

34. Trevarthen C. The function of emotions in early infant communication In: J Nadel and L Camaioni, editors. *New Perspectives in Early Communicative Development*. London: Routledge (1993b). 48–81.

35. Trevarthen C, Aitken KJ. Intersubjectivité chez le nourrisson: recherche, théorie et application clinique. *Dev Dent*. (2003) 15:309–428. doi: 10.3917/dev.034.0309

36. Kreisler L, Cramer B. Les bases cliniques de la psychiatrie du nourrisson. *Psychiatr Enfant*. (1981) 24:223–63.

37. Lebovici S., Stoleru S. Le nourrisson, la mère et le psychanalyste. Les interactions précoces. (1983) Paris, Le Centurion.

38. Lebovici S. L'homme dans le bébé. Rev Fr Psychanal. (1994) 3:661-80.

39. Fivaz-Depeursinge E, Corboz-Warnery A, Frenck N. L'approche systémique In: Fava-Viziello, DN Stern and A Birraux, editors. *Modèles Psychothérapiques au Premier Âge*. Paris: Masson (1995)

40. Kreisler L. La Psychosomatique de l'Enfant. Paris: PUF (1992).

41. Deutsh H. (1949). La psychologie des femmes, Paris, PUF, T.1 et T.2.

42. Benedek T. Parenthood as a developmental phase. J Am Psychoanal Assoc. (1959) 7:389–417. doi: 10.1177/000306515900700301

43. Bibring G. Some considerations of the psychological processes in pregnancy. *Psychoanal Study Child.* (1959) 16:9–24. doi: 10.1080/00797308.1961.11823197

44. Winnicott DW. De la Pédiatrie à la Psychanalyse. Paris: Payot (1969).

45. Raimbault G. La Clinique du Réel. Paris: Seuil (1982).

46. Raimbault G. L'enfant et la Mort. Paris: Dunod (1985).

47. Soulé M. Les Souhaits de Mort en Pédiatrie du Nouveau-né in Soulé M. (sous la dir.) Mère mortifère, Mère meurtrière, Mère Mortifièe. Paris: ESF (1984).

48. Dumoulin M, Valat AS. L'enfant mort en maternité: les rites d'accompagnement de l'échographie aux funérailles In: R FrydmaN and M Flis-Treves, editors. *Mourir Avant de Naître*. Paris: Editions Odile Jacob (1997)

49. Bydlowski M, Raoul-Duval A. Un avatar psychique méconnu: la névrose traumatique post-obstétricale. Perspect Psychiatr. (1978) 68:321-8.

50. Bydlowski M, Camus CH. Recherche psychanalytique dans une maternité hospitalière. *Rev Med Psychos.* (1988) 14:19–30.

51. Druon C. L'aide au bébé et à ses parents en réanimation néonatale. *Dev Dent.* (1991) 1:47–74.

52. Haag M, Haag G. L'observation du nourrisson selon Esther Bick (1901–1983) et ses applications In: S Lebovici, R Diatkine and M Soulé, editors. *Nouveau Traité de Psychiatrie de l'enfant et de l'adolescent*. Paris: PUF (1995).

53. Missonnier S. De la complémentarité des "somaticiens" et des "psychistes" ou l'agora de Babel In: A Ciccone, S Korff-Sausse, S Missonnier and R Scelles, editors. *Handicapés: Soi, l'autre, autrui.* Érès: Toulouse (2009a)

54. Soulé M, Noel J, Frichet A. Le travail préventif auprès de la famille en faveur du très jeune enfant In: S Lebovici and F Weil-Halpern, editors. *Psychopathologie du Bébé*: Paris: PUF (1989). 751–9.

55. Soulé M, Noel J. La prévention médico-psycho-sociale précoce In: S Dans Lebovici, R Diatkine and M Soule, editors. *Traité de Psychiatrie de l'enfant et de l'Adolescent*. Paris: PUF (1985)

Anthony EJ, Chiland C, Koupernik C. L'enfant dans sa famille. Paris: PUF (1980).
Cyrulnik B. Ces enfants qui tiennent le coup. (2000) Revigny-sur-Ornain,

58. Cyrulnik B. Les Vilains Petits Canards. Paris: Odile Jacob, Paris (2001).

Hommes et perspectives.

59. Missonnier S. Incertitude, anticipation et résilience de vie/de mort à l'aube de la vie In: J Aïn, editor. *Résiliences, Réparation, Élaboration ou Création*. Toulouse: Érès (2007)

Molenat F. Naissances: Pour une Éthique de la Prévention. Toulouse: Érès (2001).
Gosme-Seguret S. (2004). Le consentement éclairé en périnatalité et en pédiatrie.

Ombres et lumières, Toulouse, Érès. 62. Missonnier S. Devenir parent, naître humain. La diagonale du virtuel. Paris: PUF (2009b).

63. Kaës R. Les théories psychanalytiques du groupe, Paris: PUF (1999).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Olivier Putois, Université de Strasbourg, France

REVIEWED BY Baptiste Lignier, Université de Bourgogne, France Johane Le Goff, Université de Tours, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Marion Robin Marion.robin@imm.fr

RECEIVED 29 November 2022 ACCEPTED 16 June 2023 PUBLISHED 07 August 2023

CITATION

Robin M, Bellone L, Belbèze J, Kazemian K, Radjack R and Corcos M (2023) Three-level containment model of hospitalized adolescents with borderline pathology: a holistic therapeutic perspective. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1110788. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1110788

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Robin, Bellone, Belbèze, Kazemian, Radjack and Corcos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Three-level containment model of hospitalized adolescents with borderline pathology: a holistic therapeutic perspective

Marion Robin^{1,2,3}*, Laura Bellone^{1,3}, Jean Belbèze^{1,3}, Koucha Kazemian^{1,3}, Rahmeth Radjack^{2,3,4} and Maurice Corcos^{1,3}

¹Department of Adolescent and Young Adult Psychiatry, Institut Mutualiste Montsouris, Paris, France, ²Paris-Saclay University, UVSQ, CESP, INSERM U1178, Team PsyDev, Villejuif, France, ³Paris Cité University, Paris, France, ⁴Maison de Solenn, Department of Adolescent Psychiatry, Cochin Hospital, AP-HP, Paris University, Paris, France

Borderline personality disorders account for 50% of adolescent hospitalization cases in psychiatry. The severity and psychopathological complexity of these symptoms indicate the need for inclusive models of understanding. Adopting a holistic approach allows for the consideration of not only the patient's environment, but also their position within that environment and their life history. In this article, a model based on the concept of therapeutic containment at three levels is presented. Global containment refers to the mindset and organization of the institution that provides care, which is itself a part of society at a specific time. Local containment focuses on understanding and therapeutic interventions within the immediate social environment of the individual. Lastly, individual containment encompasses the development of independent processes during the course of care. These three levels are integrated in the hospital treatment of borderline personality disorders, forming a trans-theoretical approach.

KEYWORDS

adolescents, hospitalization, holistic model, thee-level containing, borderline personality

Introduction

Adolescent psychiatry is characterized by its richness, variability, and the complexity of its symptoms. Models of understanding cannot afford to be exclusive due to the multifaceted nature of the adolescent experience. The relational function of symptoms prevents us from perceiving the adolescent as an isolated or independent entity. Acts and transitions to action challenge the notion of the adolescent as a purely thinking subject. The development of reflexive faculties at this age contradicts the idea of an all-acting subject. Frequent somatizations remind us that the mind cannot be detached from its bodily anchorage. The need for medication highlights the importance of the relational aspect. Furthermore, the acuteness of family conflicts and traumas underscores the group and systemic dimension of symptoms. The practice of adolescent psychiatry goes beyond integration or holism, as it encompasses the environment and the overall journey of the individual, utilizing various theoretical tools.

Borderline Personality Disorder (BPD) is closely intertwined with the environment. Its etiology is complex and influenced by multiple factors. The biopsychosocial model has gained consensus, emphasizing the continuous interaction between the individual and the environment in the development of BPD (1). Epigenetics research supports this view, particularly stress-diathesis models that consider the interplay of genetic vulnerability and the effects of life experiences (2, 3). In addition to genetic, neurobiological, and temperamental factors (4), the occurrence of adverse events is well-documented in borderline pathology (5-7). From its inception in the late nineteenth century to current classifications, BPD has been characterized by its intricate relationship with life events, under the concept of psychogenicity. The clinical description of borderline pathology establishes a strong connection between patients' symptoms, their environment, and the relational events that shape their turbulent journey. Borderline individuals are in a constant state of interaction with their environment, which significantly influences them. The inherent fragility of the self makes them porous to every element in their environment, almost like mirrors. Additionally, healthy adolescents and patients (adolescents or adults) with BPD share specific characteristics in terms of psychic functioning and dynamic conflict movements, such as issues with autonomy and dependence, increased sensitivity to intrusion and abandonment, cognitive functioning with a Manichean tendency, and self and relationship instability, among others. Adults with BPD seem to extend an unresolved adolescent process indefinitely (8). Thus, there exists a continuum between adolescence, borderline psychopathology, and society. Our clinical work aims to establish a continuous process of differentiation and gradation, taking into account these various aspects in a holistic manner.

BPD is a complex psychiatric condition characterized by a wide range of symptoms, all revolving around the theme of instability and oscillation. This includes oscillation between anxieties of intrusion and abandonment, instability of the self and relationships, impulsivity, feelings of rage and emptiness, as well as anxious and mood symptoms. Clinical presentations of BPD vary, but are often marked by acute episodes that may involve anxiety, self-mutilation, suicidal attempts, dissociative episodes, and more. These moments of clinical severity, with their potential prognostic implications, are the primary reasons for hospitalization in psychiatry, accounting for 30 to 50% of hospitalized adolescents (9). The coexistence of these noisy but episodic clinical moments with underlying and enduring psychopathological processes necessitates a two-level analysis: nosographic and psychopathological, or categorical and dimensional. In this regard, it remains useful to distinguish between BPD as defined by DSM criteria (characterized by overt symptoms such as selfdestructive behaviors, uncontrollable anger, impulsivity, etc.) and borderline functioning in the psychoanalytic psychopathological sense, encompassing a borderline state/personality organization (involving defense mechanisms such as splitting and projective identification, anaclitic dependency relationships, ego porosity with intra-psychic conflicts between intrusion and abandonment, etc.) (10). It is possible to experience one without the other, and often, but not always, adolescence reveals a borderline crisis with symptoms that have been evolving since childhood. Thus, we refer to an "adolescent borderline crisis," which may complicate an earlier borderline functioning (11), reserving the term "BPD" for situations that confirm a categorically observable functioning persisting into adulthood. The therapeutic perspectives outlined in this article apply to the entire field of borderline pathology.

These moments of clinical and prognostic severity, where the vital prognosis is at stake, often lead to the hospitalization of patients with borderline symptoms. Self-destruction, which is a challenging symptomatic dimension to address in psychiatric consultation or psychotherapy (12), frequently necessitates hospitalization. For adolescents with borderline symptoms, the duration of hospital care can be divided into three distinct periods, with some overlap in timeframes, each lasting approximately one week.

The first period of hospitalization focuses on global containment. This involves providing reassurance to the adolescent and limiting their internal or externalized agitation, anxieties, and resulting disorganization. Achieving global containment in the hospital requires various measures, including architectural considerations (department structure), organizational aspects (care planning), and institutional factors (team mindset and ensuring team safety, based on the clinical assessment of the patient).

- Once global containment has been established, the second phase of care involves local containment. During this stage, the focus is on the adolescent and their immediate relational environment, with the goal of understanding the factors contributing to the deterioration of their psychological state. This includes identifying the psychological events that have led to the current situation, which may have been challenging and unchanging for weeks, months, or even years. Additionally, the general context of the adolescent and their typical level of functioning is evaluated. This phase of the work entails exploring emotions and representations, analyzing and mentalizing experiences, and fostering individual and collective sharing.

- Finally, the last phase of care, individual containment, combines a gradual increase in patient autonomy to prepare for discharge and the development of a more active role in their own care. Therefore, the objective is to facilitate the patient's departure from the hospital by finding a satisfactory compromise that considers the needs and desires of all parties involved, including caregivers and parents. This is the time when the young person reconnects with friends and teachers, organizes their return to school, and coordinates their ongoing psychiatric care. The separation from the care team at the time of discharge is smoother when the focus of the therapeutic exchanges has shifted from symptoms to the sharing of positive and constructive experiences.

These three periods of care correspond to three distinct levels of therapeutic intervention, drawing from various theoretical perspectives that complement each other. They are organized according to the global, local, and individual levels, ranging from the broader containment to more focused interventions. Given that psychotherapy models may not be accessible in all geographical areas and that patients with severe disorders may have difficulty engaging in regular psychotherapy, our model aims to integrate different therapeutic approaches, which can be particularly beneficial for these challenging cases. These approaches serve as the foundation for achieving the three therapeutic objectives in BPD that align with the three levels of care organization: 1. stopping self-destruction, 2. identifying and addressing the factors contributing to the crisis, and 3. recognizing and connecting emotions to their triggering events to regulate them through bodily, psychological, and relational processes.

Global therapeutic containment

To prevent self-destruction and facilitate the patient's personal growth and interpersonal connections, a crucial resource is the supportive institution. In order to fulfill this role effectively, the institution must possess specific characteristics, as outlined by the theoretical framework of institutional psychotherapy.

A. Institutional care mindset

Over the last 70 years, theorists of psychiatric care have discovered, with institutional psychotherapy, the extent to which the state of mind and the application of an active and organized collective life is a fundamental institutional prerequisite for receiving and caring for a patient (13). Although these practices were thought of with adult patients suffering from psychotic disorders in mind, certain principles are completely relevant in adolescent psychiatry, particularly with patients with borderline symptoms (14).

In the hospital, death distress is the daily life of the psychiatrist who treats borderline pathology. These workers are the ones to whom adolescents convey their suicidal behaviors, their negative feelings toward their entourage, and toward the caregivers who are in contact with them. The psychological work often revolves around understanding the stakes of the individual's situation and their family history concerning death. It always deals with a group, in this case a family, and the way in which death distress is dealt with within this group. A quarter of adolescents (24.6%) with DSM-5 criteria of BPD have a parent who has attempted suicide (15). The psychiatric work is also linked to the analysis of the history, the narration, and the re-appropriation of the individual and collective parts of the fear of separation and death. The group device constitutes a therapeutic space in the spirit of "transitionality", as developed by Winnicott. It is a space in which patients who are in a state of crisis are able to express the most archaic and stormy strata of their thoughts and it can open or reopen "the way to a sufficiently existential foundation" (16), especially when the singular therapeutic relation between the patient and his psychiatrist remains unsuccessful for a real "psychic accommodation" (17). However, before all this work intending to give the patient's story a narrative can begin, first, one must consider protecting the patient against acts of self-destruction, and thus ensuring their survival. At the very beginning of the care lies the necessity to stop the escalation of suicidal behaviors and the escalation of danger and fear.

The psychiatrist overseeing the patient's treatment must effectively manage the adolescent's behavior to ensure their safety and wellbeing. Initially, measures such as restricting the patient's freedom of movement, removing dangerous objects, and ensuring a secure environment are necessary steps in providing care. However, it is crucial to recognize the limitations of these restrictive measures and to determine when it is appropriate to gradually reduce them, allowing the patient to regain their autonomy and sense of responsibility. As the patient's clinical condition improves, typically within a few hours or days, the care team can work toward preserving the patient's privacy, freedom of movement, and encouraging their active participation in decision-making. It is important to strike a balance between maintaining safety and avoiding excessive control, as an excessive focus on absolute safety and eliminating all risks can actually be counterproductive and reinforce suicidal symptoms. By excessively exerting control, caregivers inadvertently reinforce the patient's pre-existing feelings of powerlessness and contribute to a sense of intrusion that further intensifies their fears. Therefore, it is essential for caregivers, in addition to the psychiatrist, to navigate the concept of risk and help adolescents gradually overcome their risk-avoidant thinking (often characterized by all-or-nothing reasoning) that is inherent in borderline psychopathology.

B. Organization of institutional care

In the tradition of F. Tosquelles and H. Simon, the institutional organization of care aims to address three threats to patients' wellbeing: inaction, an unfavorable hospital atmosphere, and the prejudice of patient irresponsibility (13). Hospitalized patients engage in various mediation activities such as visual arts, rock climbing, relaxation exercises, meditation, singing, and circus arts. These activities provide patients with an active role within a group, fostering interdependent relationships and collective creativity. The focus shifts from the patient's illness to their strengths, aligning with Jean-Baptiste Pussin's approach in the eighteenth century. These workshops offer patients an opportunity to explore aspects of their personality that provide personal pleasure, fulfillment, and unique experiences (18). During these experiences, patients are both differentiated from others and connected to them, facing the complex challenge of maintaining individuality while remaining connected. The mediated group setting facilitates symbolic expression without the therapeutic relationship becoming overly threatening. The use of artistic media allows patients to "play and give form" to their relationship with the clinician (19). As caregivers also participate in workshops outside their expertise, these mediation sessions promote a more horizontal caregiver-patient relationship. It encourages a co-construction of care rather than a hierarchical medical approach that can be perceived as powerful and intimidating. The attachment insecurity often observed in patients with borderline pathology complicates the provision of help, as they may simultaneously seek and reject it. Moreover, this defense mechanism evolves in response to the actions and words of others, creating an idealized or demonized image of oneself and others, further amplifying the perceived power of medicine and caregivers (the power to heal magically or harm diabolically). Therapeutic efforts are more effective when adapted to include the patient as an active participant in their healing process, thereby alleviating the overwhelming sense of powerlessness experienced by patients who have endured numerous traumatic experiences.

A weekly multidisciplinary synthesis meeting is organized to gather insights from various caregivers, serving three fundamental functions. Firstly, it facilitates the exchange of information about the patient that goes beyond their symptoms and daily care, including details the clinical significance of which may not yet be fully understood. Secondly, it provides an opportunity for caregivers to express their emotions and delve deeper into the emotions evoked and projected by the patient. Lastly, it serves as a collective platform for developing the care project. The fragmented nature of borderline identity presents challenges in providing care, as different fragments of the patient's personality are projected onto different caregivers throughout the course of hospitalization, referred to as the "transferential constellation" (20-22). Establishing trust in care is difficult for caregivers, and for the patient, investing in a relationship with a care team is less intimidating than investing in a relationship with a single individual. Similarly, caregivers quickly encounter their own powerlessness in providing "good care," and teamwork serves as a support system, enabling shared experiences and the ability to navigate this feeling without jeopardizing the therapeutic relationship. By identifying the nature of exchanges, emotions, and psychological conflicts that unfold during the synthesis meeting, the care project begins to take shape. The collective unconscious plays a role, and the sharing of representations fosters the emergence of new ideas. Collective intelligence promotes the appearance of these emerging processes, which unfold in unpredictable ways, even though the therapeutic setting influences their probability of occurrence (13). These processes confirm that the representations generated by the group are greater than the sum of their parts. To facilitate the emergence of the patient's true self from their symptoms, the fragmented elements must first be gathered, re-associated, and reorganized. Cleavages and projections are the challenges that compromise coherence and continuity, and caregivers work to address them. Through the synthesis of the elements of the transferential constellation, they aim to give it shape and assist the patient in constructing a coherent sense of self (10). This work creates a space for the patient to acquire or reclaim the subjective position that may have been lost beneath the symptoms (13).

C. Recognizing the societal factors influencing self-destructive behaviors

We have observed that clinicians have long established connections between borderline symptoms and the environment. However, the significant increase in suicidal behavior among adolescents since 2020 has driven research to identify psychopathological correlations between societal factors and the psychological wellbeing of adolescents. While it is not to say that society creates and solely explains psychological disorders, it can be considered that society influences the expression, development, resolution, and acceptability of these disorders to varying degrees. Psychological disorders can manifest differently depending on the societal context in which they arise, and they may also occur more frequently if society lacks the protective barriers that typically contain fear, anger, and sadness. In this sense, if we conceptualize institutional containment as that of society, the state, a group, or collective organization, it enables proactive intervention in the best interest of individuals. Furthermore, gaining a comprehensive understanding of the relationship between these societal factors and patients' symptoms is a crucial prerequisite for any therapy. On one hand, recognizing these phenomena at the collective level allows for their discussion with the patient and their family, who will experience them in a unique but not isolated manner. On the other hand, this holistic understanding of the environmental effects enables the establishment of prevention policies that have individual-level consequences and, if effective, reduce the need for individualized care. Therefore, preventing suicidal behaviors in adolescents, including those related to borderline crises, requires an understanding of these mechanisms that encompass both the adolescent themselves and the institutions responsible for their care. It is also important to avoid interpreting all problematic phenomena in adolescents solely from a medical perspective, as this would underestimate other crucial causal factors that are societal rather than medical in nature. Examples of such factors include social inequalities, territorial policies, child protection, and the impact of screen usage on cognitive functions. Hence, it is the responsibility of caregivers to bear witness to the various factors contributing to their patients' disorders, with the goal of addressing them collectively at a societal level in parallel with individual treatment.

Among the various societal factors, the COVID-19 pandemic has been identified as an immediate explanation for the significant increase in suicidal behaviors among adolescents. The restrictions imposed during the pandemic had a profound impact on the global population, particularly hindering adolescents who have a strong need for exploration beyond the family environment. This period of withdrawal and fear of others not only led to an increase in suicidal issues but also manifested in symptoms related to fear and control, such as phobias, anorexia, and somatization. It is important to note that even before the pandemic, the isolation of young people was recognized as a societal problem (23). However, the quality of family support and social integration plays a significant role as a prognostic factor in suicidal problems. The fragility of such support, which varies from country to country, contributes to the sense of isolation in young people who rely more on virtual relationships rather than in-person connections. Since 2020, alongside the reinforcement of social distancing measures, adolescents have experienced a notable increase in symptoms of "derealization" and dissociation, which are characteristic symptoms of borderline personality disorder (24). These symptoms reflect an overwhelming feeling of detachment from oneself and reality, where individuals no longer feel present in their own bodies. While these symptoms are severe, they can be alleviated through the use of words, self-care, in-person relationships, and shared activities. Many solutions exist outside the realm of medicine to address these issues. In some countries, the suffering experienced by adolescents and the timing of their symptoms, when correlated with the school calendar, reveal a significant amount of schoolrelated pressure. This pressure, combined with frequent cases of bullying in the school environment, contributes to the adolescents' sense of inadequacy. It highlights the challenges they face in

hierarchical and competitive systems that prioritize conformity over personal development and lack sufficient opportunities for encounters and cooperation. Additionally, instances of neglect and abuse, both within and outside the family, exist and are often inadequately addressed in terms of prevention and care. These situations are now highly medicalized in several countries, and the lack of medical resources to address the increasing rates of suicidal acts further hinders caregivers from fulfilling their role as a last line of defense against suicide. Providing a welcoming, reassuring, and present presence over time and ensuring continuity of support are crucial aspects of this role, but are often impeded by resource limitations.

At a family level, the deployment of parenthood is affected by professional and personal stress, which is further exacerbated by the lack of adequate social and community support. This hinders the collective effort in raising a child, leaving isolated and inadequately supported adults to shoulder the responsibility alone. However, isn't it said that "it takes a village to raise a child"? The pervasive experience of death and distress during the pandemic has underscored the crucial importance of psychological resilience and the need for a collective social project that goes beyond mere survival. In times of adversity, and in life in general, the psychological suffering arising from a situation is often more closely tied to the absence of meaning (shared values and objectives) rather than the situation itself. Without a sense of purpose, any stressinducing reality can become traumatic. Young people are acutely aware of the stakes involved in climate change and the preservation of life, and their sense of isolation grows when adults fail to protect the planet and the natural world. This sense of immobilization and denial creates a feeling of dissociation between the recognition of a major threat and the failure of adults to safeguard the future. Furthermore, the actions of young people are sometimes criticized and belittled. However, engaging in civic activism is one of the most effective ways to foster social integration and combat anxiety and powerlessness. For society, youth represents a wealth of fresh perspectives, an impetus for action and creativity, and the primary transformative potential, provided they are given the necessary opportunities to fulfill their role.

Outlined here are the societal issues that can influence the psychopathology of destructive behaviors, prompting us to consider collective action for the prevention of mental health problems. Such efforts would significantly support institutions in maintaining their therapeutic role in alleviating patients' suffering. However, it is crucial not to oversimplify borderline pathology as a purely psychic or purely social phenomenon, but rather to recognize its multifaceted nature. Examining the immediate relational environment of these individuals helps us comprehend how the interaction between the individual and society unfolds, with the ultimate goal of informing therapeutic interventions.

Local therapeutic containment

A. The assessment of the relational environment

Given the chaotic environment typically experienced by adolescents with borderline symptoms, the therapeutic management of these patients requires a comprehensive assessment of their relational history. It is crucial to address environmental challenges in addition to therapeutic interventions, often involving medical and child protection measures, as solely focusing on therapy may prove insufficient or ineffective. During hospital treatment, significant time is dedicated to conducting medical interviews with both parents present. These interviews serve to explore the family and patient's history, including psychiatric, medical, and legal aspects, as well as assess the difficulties and level of parental distress. Therapists actively encourage the psychological and relational engagement already initiated by the psychiatric crisis and hospitalization. In this way, they initiate treatment of borderline symptoms by incorporating the patient's environment and evaluate the family's capacity to adapt to change, engage in self-reflection and questioning, and collaborate with professionals, all of which are important prognostic factors for adolescent borderline pathology.

Early adversity in borderline pathology has a significant impact on neural and cognitive functioning associated with the stress axis through epigenetic mechanisms (25-27). It also disrupts attachment patterns, which in turn contribute to the development and perpetuation of borderline symptoms (2, 28). Research has shown that severe childhood maltreatment is prevalent among adult patients with BPD, and similar findings have been observed in adolescents (29). This maltreatment includes traumatic life events, abuse, and dysfunctional parenting. Examples of traumatic events include early separations, childhood loss, bereavement, and severe threats of loss such as parental suicide attempts. Maltreatment often involves emotional abuse, including child denigration, as well as sexual abuse (found in 30-90% of cases and 28.6% of borderline adolescents) (15, 30), and neglect. A significant number of hospitalized young people face challenges in their immediate environment, where their basic needs beyond material necessities are often overlooked. These needs include shared time, attention, emotional care, consistent rules, and support.

Parenting dysfunctions are characterized by controlling behaviors and a decrease in the level of emotional care. Problematic interactions, such as emotional invalidation, suicidal threats in front of the child, repeated conflicts revolving around the child, and loyalty issues between parents, are also common (1, 15). These adversity factors play various roles in the psychogenesis of borderline pathology, with their accumulation associated with the severity and early onset of symptoms (30). Furthermore, their variable combinations contribute to distinct symptom patterns and clinical presentations (15). The cumulative effects of these factors contribute to the complex trauma experienced by adolescents with borderline pathology. Such trauma involves early and prolonged experiences that often involve attachment figures. Like other forms of complex trauma, the consequences include not only dissociative trauma symptoms but also profound identity shifts and attachment disorders (31).

Hospitalization frequently provides an opportunity to identify or observe evidence of ongoing or past abuse. Caregivers play a fundamental role in establishing an educational framework during hospitalization, while recognizing the importance of involving educational services regularly used during treatment. The aim is to create conditions that promote a calmer and more supportive parental environment for the adolescent. This approach includes supporting both the parents and the adolescent in addressing their limitations, while respecting each party's subjectivity and needs. In most clinical situations, caregivers emphasize the importance of meeting the adolescent's emotional needs in an age-appropriate manner. This includes providing a reliable and predictable environment, supporting autonomy in a gradual manner, setting parental expectations based on the child's abilities, and ensuring shared time, attention, emotional care, support, and a structured framework with clear rules. Observing these parental difficulties often prompts clinicians to establish close collaborations with child protection services, which may vary in difficulty depending on the country. Such collaborations are necessary to break the cycle of abuse or neglect. In addition to the responsibilities of child protection services, psychiatric professionals systematically consider and address these relational factors to establish an environment that promotes the adolescent's recovery.

B. Considering the systemic dimension of symptoms

The presence of adversity should be considered at both the individual and family levels (32). Exploring the family history in the presence of the adolescent can be therapeutic from the beginning. Admission to the hospital often unveils a suicide attempt by a parent or other family member during the medical interview. Conflicts between the adolescent and their parents are frequently linked to relationships between the parents and members of their family of origin, such as siblings or parents. Parents often describe complex relational issues with siblings or parents that have led to major conflicts and unresolved life-and-death matters. In these interviews, the adolescent realizes with relief that they are not the root cause of the problem as they had believed, but rather that their symptoms represent a variation of it. Traumatic relational elements leave their mark differently across generations and time, and the adolescent's symptoms provide a gateway to accessing these hidden crypts and secrets that are passed down (33, 34). The adolescent, who carries the symptoms, becomes the person who enables the family to access care and is valued by the care team for this role.

Working with family conflicts is akin to working with trauma. Patients and parents recount life situations that have remained unresolved, painful, and immobilizing. During these narratives, emotions emerge and become associated with the words and shared representations. Expressing emotions, connecting them to representations, and sharing them with others are the essential steps to move beyond a traumatic state. Conducting three to five one-hour interviews with the patient and their parents together often results in a significant change in family dynamics. The crisis situation, with its deep family imbalance, simultaneously encourages mobilization and resilience. Although hospitalization may be a moment of suffering and imbalance within the family unit, it also opens up possibilities for a new and betteradjusted equilibrium.

It is widely accepted that the therapeutic management of BPD in adolescence requires significant involvement of the family (35, 36). The exploration of family dynamics begins with the adolescent's symptoms. The family is encouraged to establish hypotheses about factors that are somehow related to the symptoms

or the adolescent's overall distress. Starting from the symptoms, an associative thread is woven, leading back to the history, the "prehistory" of the adolescent, and various family members, particularly addressing the knots, conflicts, and impasses within this collective history. The suicide attempt, a central symptom of borderline pathology, represents not only a refusal to live but also a message directed at emotional support, indicating a resignation to jointly find a solution to pre-existing distress. It signifies the loss of hope in the relationship and a desire to detach oneself from others during this overwhelming distress to regain some control that has been completely lost and to preempt an unbearable fear of abandonment. The suicide attempt also reflects an anger that cannot be directed toward someone who would not hear or support it. Borderline anger represents an inward turn of aggressiveness, and the role of the psychiatrist is to explore with the patient and their parents which feelings could not be identified and expressed to their family and friends.

In some cases, a suicide attempt can also reflect an intense feeling of self-disappointment, often associated with an excessively demanding ego-ideal. The adolescent may feel that they are not living up to the expectations placed upon them by their family, such as achieving academic success. This self-disappointment is a sign of introjection, where the adolescent internalizes the demands of society, often conveyed through their parents. Adolescent psychopathology shows that what we commonly refer to as "school failure" becomes a matter of life or death when it is accompanied by a sense of rejection. Unlike a healthy individual who may respond to the failure of their ideal with modesty, patients with borderline pathology experience it with depression. The externalized ego-ideal is gratified through action (37). The adolescent perceives that their failures could bring shame to their family and friends, or that society excludes them. Consequently, they contemplate death as a means of protecting themselves. What the adolescent truly seeks is not merely a diploma, but rather the unconditional love and acceptance of their parents, as well as a sense of belonging in society. They long for the certainty of being loved regardless of their abilities and for gaining collective esteem regardless of their social status. They shoulder the immense weight associated with these expectations, to the extent that it becomes a matter of life or death, particularly when there are no supportive structures in place. This leaves the patient trapped in their anxieties without the possibility of overcoming the issue of "success" and developing self-actualization (38). Adolescents who struggle academically and contemplate death are expressing that their need for emotional safety outweighs their need for scholarly success.

Family relationship work is highly beneficial in the care of adolescents, but it often evokes feelings of guilt that need to be identified and addressed. This guilt stems from the awareness of the affective power of interpersonal relationships on oneself and others, which patients may alternately minimize or exaggerate through a process of splitting. One way to alleviate overwhelming guilt is for parents and doctors to sometimes seek genetic or biological explanations for the pervasive nature of the disorder. However, parents are relieved when they overcome the difficulties associated with guilt and are able to identify the unresolved wounds from their own history that resonate with and contribute to their adolescent child's difficulties. They appreciate the opportunity to comprehend the emotional and transgenerational issues that have hindered their relationship with their child, as it empowers them to influence the relationship at both an individual and family level. Medical interviews with parents involve psychoeducational work on the diagnosis, characteristics, and evolution of the disorder, which also helps alleviate parental guilt (39). Multifamily groups and individual therapy can be utilized to teach parents how to overcome an invalidating parenting style (40). Additionally, siblings may be included in consultations as well, as borderline symptoms affect the entire family, and siblings often remain silent to avoid exacerbating the problem.

Moreover, the process of finding meaning and understanding the functions of symptoms is not contradictory to the search for a biological or genetic cause, or the implementation of solutions that may include medication. It involves attributing complexity to situations and moving beyond binary reasoning-cause and effect-to embrace circular and systemic reasoning. After a suicide attempt, patients often identify one or two causes for their actions, while their parents identify two or three causes, which may not necessarily align. However, after a few weeks of hospitalization, caregivers can deconstruct a dozen causes or, rather, conditions that contribute to the emergence of suicidal thoughts or behaviors (38). No single factor alone determines the outcome, but the convergence of these factors creates the possibility of a suicidal event or symptom. Once these conditions have been identified, caregivers work collaboratively with patients and families to develop solutions, whether they are psychological, physical, or involve adjustments to the adolescent's daily life (e.g., treatment approaches, living arrangements, school accommodations, etc.). However, caregivers often encounter resistance if they propose quick-fix solutions. The concern or distress may shift from one issue to another, and simple adjustments may not be suitable until the underlying relational needs are understood and the solutions are co-constructed. The stability of the family system can challenge the therapeutic alliance, and this reality is openly addressed with families as a process linked to the complexities of therapeutic responses. The conditions that contribute to the emergence of symptoms reflect a range of unmet needs that could not be expressed in any other way, but are now being explored to address them proactively before they manifest as symptoms. The adolescent assumes the role of the person who enables the identification of these dysfunctions and is valued for fulfilling this role. The more the family can establish themselves in this process, shifting their focus from the adolescent's symptoms and reorganizing their functioning, the better the prognosis for the patient. This family work occurs on two levels: the internal reality level, which involves addressing individual and group unconscious conflicts, and the external reality level, which involves concrete interventions to adapt the educational framework to meet the adolescent's daily needs.

Systemic family therapies are commonly prescribed for the majority of families following hospitalization, when there is a capacity for psychological mobilization and the therapeutic work is deemed significant. However, not all families of adolescents with borderline pathology possess the minimum degree of cohesion required for this type of therapy. Additionally, a highly projective group dynamic can render this work unfeasible. Other specific therapeutic interventions have been developed to support parents or the family, focusing on particular areas such as psychoeducation based on Dialectical Behavioral Therapy, mentalization processing, or trauma-focused approaches (39, 41–46). Family interviews conducted during hospitalization can already address various dimensions, including reducing educational inconsistencies, reviewing parental and adolescent expectations, identifying and interrupting role-reversal dynamics, reestablishing protective roles, decreasing levels of control and criticism, promoting emotional validation of the adolescent by their parents, identifying issues related to relational distance (separation or intrusion), recognizing paradoxical communications, addressing conflicts, and highlighting transgenerational repetitions.

C. Psychoeducation

At this stage, the issue of diagnosis arises, either at the request of the parents or with the aim of clarification, therapy, and psychoeducation. While diagnosis is not a routine practice in adolescents, mainly due to the risk of pathologizing identity formation during this critical developmental period, it can still be valuable in many cases. Its utility should be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. Diagnosis can guide the treatment team during and after hospitalization, such as determining the need for a day hospital program or requesting disability recognition. However, its primary benefit lies in helping the patient and their parents organize their responses to the symptoms with a prognostic perspective. Experiencing a significant stressor like a suicide attempt or self-injury in a child necessitates that parents project themselves into the future and avoid succumbing to despair. However, the diagnosis of BPD inherently implies a prognosis extending into adulthood, which may not align with the duration of the most overt and disruptive BPD symptoms. Therefore, when diagnosing BPD in adolescence, it is crucial to clarify the precise nature of the observed symptoms, including emotional, relational, behavioral, and identity-related instability. Additionally, underlying psychopathological elements should be addressed, such as increased dependence, excessive reliance on relationships at the expense of one's own needs, and diminished self-esteem and confidence in one's abilities. It is important to explain to parents the diagnostic challenges in balancing the concept of a personality disorder with the scientific predictive validity of the disorder. Statistically, approximately three-quarters of individuals with BPD experience significant symptom remission within 2 years. This has been supported by studies conducted by Bernstein et al. (47), Levy et al. (48), and Miller et al. (49). Furthermore, the proximity of certain features of adolescent crisis to BPD symptoms may have led to an overestimation of the disorder's prevalence, which is actually estimated to be around 3% instead of the previously suggested range of 6% to 18% (47, 50-52). Borderline behavioral symptoms can overlap with symptoms present in other disorders, such as eating disorders, substance use disorders, or adolescent depression. The expression of these symptoms may be more prominent at the physical level during this developmental stage, including self-injury and impulsive suicide attempts (47, 53). The co-occurrence of these symptoms may have contributed to the overestimation of BPD. In such cases, the duration of borderline-type symptoms may be shorter than that of the co-occurring disorder, leading the concept of a personality disorder to hold less relevance for the patient, parents, and healthcare professionals.

For these reasons, it is more appropriate and cautious to use the term "borderline crisis in adolescence" (11, 54), which captures the symptomatic behavioral presentation while incorporating the scientific elements of predictive validity for the disorder at this age. This approach allows for differentiation and compatibility between categorical and dimensional perspectives, both of which are necessary for medical evaluation. The term "borderline crisis" describes the presence or absence of symptoms according to international nosology, while "borderline personality functioning" describes the underlying traits that should be targeted in long-term therapeutic interventions. This diagnosis also enables the naming of the clinical state in real-time without having to wait for a year or more (as required by DSM criteria for diagnosing BPD in adolescence), thus facilitating specific and prompt interventions during crises. Furthermore, in certain situations, it is particularly useful to inform parents that their adolescent does not have a psychiatric diagnosis or does not meet the criteria for BPD, especially when the environment's perception of illness undermines the patient's speech, desires, or choices. This requires clinical and therapeutic sensitivity to reassure the family and help them identify precise transgenerational traumas in order to establish more realistic expectations for their child's future. Regardless of the diagnosis, it is crucial to avoid exclusively focusing on the adolescent with BPD (36). They should be seen as part of the solution rather than the problem, and the entire family system needs to modify roles and behaviors to foster cohesion. Psychoeducation can be incorporated alongside symptom defocusing, even after a diagnosis has been made, to ensure the importance of transgenerational work is not overlooked despite the need for psychoeducation.

D. Restoring a balanced relationship with others

Attachment theories, such as the strange situation paradigm, have taught us that one-year-old infants respond to brief separations from their primary attachment figure in specific ways (55-57). When an adolescent is hospitalized, they encounter strangers and experience multiple separations from and reunions with their parents. From an attachment perspective, this situation is also relevant. Although the temporality differs, it allows for comparisons, and the precise analysis of the patients' attachment patterns (secure, ambivalent, avoidant, or disorganized) is essential, given that attachment insecurity characterizes 96% of hospitalized adolescents (58). Thus, psychiatric hospitalization at this age becomes both an opportunity to assess attachment security and a therapeutic tool to experiment with separation in a controlled environment, with familiar reference points and with outcomes that differ from experiencing "fear without a solution," as described by Main and Hesse (58).

Hospitalization also provides an opportunity to mobilize Internal Working Models [IWM, (59, 60)], which are mental representations of the relationships established with attachment figures. These models incorporate beliefs about oneself as worthy of existence and deserving of help, as well as beliefs about others as competent and available when help is needed. Many hospitalized adolescents report a tendency to cope with major life difficulties on their own. In reality, their symptoms maintain a "forced" relational closeness with attachment figures. A central objective of hospitalization is to enable them to integrate the possibility of creating new relational modalities, including seeking support from others. This can be facilitated through interviews, art therapy, medication, shared meals, or informal exchanges with the treatment team. The idea is to help the patient recognize that their current relational patterns, which may have been adaptive in the past, have become dysfunctional. For instance, adolescents with predominantly avoidant attachment are encouraged to reach out to caregivers when they have even the slightest need or difficulty, despite their inclination to minimize and rely on themselves. They are asked to make 5 to 10 relational attempts, such as requesting treatment as needed, asking for time to talk, or discussing their day. These attempts are systematically addressed and analyzed in individual interviews with the doctor and a nurse. Through the gradual re-establishment of secure connections in a safe environment, patients with avoidant attachment can regain or develop the capacity to reflect on their internal states, identify their emotions, and take care of themselves. This process often requires evoking multiple situations in interviews to construct secure representations, as patients initially resist due to their typical avoidant belief of "No one can help you better than yourself" (61).

From a complementary psychoanalytic perspective, listening to and observing hospitalized patients, even at a young age, reveals significant repetitions that unfold in the transference toward the caregivers. These repetitions reflect the patients' past experiences with others. Each patient guides the caregivers toward a specific relational position, which is important to identify, name, and share. This process involves accepting identification with this position and then shifting away from it, opening up creative possibilities for care instead of sterile repetitions of destructive relational patterns. Similar to the role of psychoanalysis in institutional psychotherapy, understanding the psychoanalytic dynamics of the patient's case is not characterized by silence, neutral listening, or verbal interpretation (21, 22). It allows for the elaboration of institutional responses, prescriptions, actions, attitudes, and everything that contributes to the therapeutic context and the patient's care project. However, in adolescence, these relational mechanisms become more complex as transferential processes unfold directly with caregivers and indirectly through parents. These dynamics need to be analyzed, particularly in terms of areas of splitting and projection. These therapeutic procedures resemble Transference Focused Therapy adapted for adolescents (62, 63), which aims to identify internalized dyads of idealized and persecutory object relationships during psychotherapy. These dyads are characterized by oscillating, incompatible, and unconscious selfother representations. The therapist seeks to track their activation and alternation by identifying with whom these movements are "staged" or conveyed (63). These processes need to be analyzed and clarified within the relationships in which they occur (with parents, team members, or peers) before or alongside their direct exploration in the transference itself. Negative therapeutic reactions (64) may manifest in patients with borderline pathology, either as a temporary deterioration of their clinical state during hospitalization or as resistance to leaving the hospital after a few weeks of care. It is the team's responsibility to analyze the relational dynamics and psychic modifications involved in the therapeutic relationship, considering the patient's past experiences and their implications for meeting and separation. With proper attention, the discharge process can become a represented and surmountable separation.

Finally, the transferential aspects within the institution cannot be understood without considering the transferencecountertransference dynamics between patients and the institution itself. This work occurs during weekly caregiver-client meetings involving all patients and the care team. In line with the tradition of institutional psychotherapy, individuals can only be effectively treated if the institution itself is also treated (13, 18, 20, 65). These therapeutic moments provide an opportunity to question the framework and purpose of care, as well as the patients' and the group's appropriation of them. They also serve as a therapeutic moment for the institution, allowing for ongoing reflection. The agenda of these meetings is determined in real-time, based on the group's and caregivers' current issues. Improvisation creates space for the emergence of affects and primary processes, which are the foundation of collective work. With borderline symptoms, the psychic space spills over into reality (66, 67), and the patient group becomes a privileged context for the projection movements of each patient. These moments enable the gathering and containment of projective identification, persecution, and disorganization arising from daily events in the unit. Moreover, the use of peer identification is a powerful therapeutic process in adolescence. Treatment within the group setting provides an opportunity to develop reflexivity and mentalization (68, 69). It also facilitates the collective construction and clarification of treatment objectives, stages, and encountered difficulties. Collective elaboration and containment work occur during group sessions and in post-group discussions among caregivers.

In summary, this work at the interface between the patient and their relational environment aims to address the relational aspects of borderline symptoms and enable the patient to differentiate between projection and reality in their daily interactions with others. This process of differentiation allows for a re-anchoring of these patients in reality.

Individual therapeutic containment

This work on different levels of containment is crucial for the patient to establish a sense of individuality within the complex system of care that evolves and adapts over time.

A. (Re)discovering a differentiated identity

During hospitalization, individual medical interviews are conducted regularly (though not necessarily on a daily basis). These interviews involve a nurse caregiver who has a closer connection to the adolescent's daily emotional experiences compared to the doctor. The nurse caregiver shares mediation times, meal times, and informal moments with the patient, in addition to the interview sessions. The main objective of these interviews is to restore the connection between emotions and mental representations, addressing the limited capacity for mentalization often observed in patients with borderline pathology (70). Adolescents with borderline pathology frequently struggle to make sense of the emotions they experience and the sudden changes in their emotional states. During the interviews, concrete relational situations are analyzed to understand how daily events impact the patient's emotions. Borderline affective instability is characterized by an exaggerated reactivity to seemingly insignificant triggers. However, these patients often have a history of significant emotional disruptions from a young age, and their emotional turmoil during adolescence is often linked to situations that hold more significance than they initially appear. These situations may include the fear of separation, relationship difficulties, or the feeling that their needs are not being met. Patients tend to anticipate negative events and perceive the world as threatening, which can lead them to generalize their experiences and interpret even minor situations as highly significant (28). During the interview, a thorough analysis of these relational situations allows the patient's conscious experiences to be compared with their unexpressed emotional and bodily reactions. This process aims to construct new shared representations and promote a deeper understanding of the patient's crisis. It is crucial to look beyond environmental factors and identify the underlying psychic events that triggered the patient's crisis. While the patient's environment may contribute to potential risks, understanding how the patient experienced specific relational events provides valuable insights into the mechanisms of the crisis and helps outline the stages of psychological mobilization.

The individual interviews also serve to promote the subjectivation of the adolescent in the days following family interactions. During these interviews, adolescents have the opportunity to express their perceptions, understanding, and feelings regarding their parents' stories and emotions. This process helps enhance their perceptual abilities by incorporating the perspectives of the caregivers themselves. When these shared perceptions align, they are grounded in a common reality and reinforce the patient's confidence in their own perceptual capabilities. However, when perceptions differ, it opens up a discussion about relational reference points and potential causes underlying the emotions of family members, thus exploring the family history. This allows the patient to practice inferring their own and others' mental states and develop mentalizing abilities, which are key targets in mentalization-based therapies (69-72). Furthermore, the development of insight and reflexivity abilities, which involve self-reflection, is an important aspect of the patient's prognosis. By engaging in representative work on internal and interpersonal psychological processes, the patient can subjectively appropriate their experiences and consolidate their sense of self. The therapist tactfully points out paradoxes, contradictions, oppositions, and inconsistencies in the patient's discourse, allowing the adolescent to become aware of the internal conflicts at play and to develop independent thinking. The analysis of daily aspects in the here and now serves as a starting point for reflecting on past and recurring experiences. These therapeutic techniques share similarities with aspects of Transference-Focused Therapy, which focuses on therapeutic affective movements,

and Dialectical Behavioral Therapy, which addresses Manichean functioning (63, 73, 74). During hospitalization, the level of support in the here and now is intensified for patients with more fragile selves. For patients with less severe borderline symptoms, the work conducted in these interviews enables them to acquire the psychological tools necessary to establish a new relationship with the world based on an understanding of the factors that contributed to the crisis and its emotional manifestations. However, for other patients, whose capacity to connect emotions and representations is too overwhelming, the therapeutic work will focus more intensely on reactivated past relational experiences in the therapeutic relationship with the caregivers during hospitalization. In this context, the meaning and explicitness of daily therapeutic interventions become crucial in facilitating this process of psychological connection.

Medical interviews provide a crucial space for discussing traumatic events, their causes, and their consequences, allowing patients to share their experiences with another human being. This opportunity for emotional sharing is supported by empathetic caregivers. Adolescents often experience isolated traumatic events, such as episodes of physical violence. However, the complex nature of trauma in borderline pathology makes it difficult for patients to recognize the abnormality of their experiences. Caregivers play a vital role in guiding patients regarding social norms (e.g., the abnormality and illegality of sexual intercourse between a 13-yearold and an adult) and addressing the emotional needs of young individuals as they develop (emotions, needs, constraints, desires, projects, etc.). Through the sharing of the patient's experiences, a sense of temporality is established within their narrative. This temporal framework is essential for addressing traumatic symptoms, as individuals often experience a loss of temporal landmarks. Distinguishing between the patient's individual story and the stories of their parents or family members also enables temporal and spatial differentiation. Through discussing life experiences with a compassionate listener, subjective appropriation of these experiences occurs, allowing for differentiation from the experiences of relatives. This psychological work contributes to reducing dissociative phenomena and establishing a stronger grounding in reality. The clinician assumes the role of a secondary environmental response, providing representation and validation that was lacking in the primary response. This identification, influenced by Ferenczi's concept of a primitive failure of the object's response to the subject's experiences, highlights the importance of later inscription of experiences that were not adequately processed. As Green (75) suggests, "the response through countertransference is the one that should have taken place on the part of the object". Consequently, the psychological work surrounding these experiences helps reduce the risks of repetitive traumatic patterns and psychotic disintegration, aiming to restore the patient's relationship with reality (76). Crisis hospitalization also serves as a significant moment for the transformation of childhood images. The borderline crisis presents an opportunity to confront the images constructed since childhood with the reality of the parents as they are during treatment. It allows the adolescent to engage in a seesaw process, as described by Kestemberg (77), involving a transition from disappointment to self-conquest.

B. Body therapies

After the initial phase of hospitalization, which may be characterized by a "honeymoon" period, patients often enter into conflictual therapeutic relationships with their caregivers, feeling that they are not receiving sufficient help in managing their symptoms. Additionally, due to decreased mentalization and insight capacities in patients with borderline pathology, their symptoms tend to manifest behaviorally and bodily, with selfaggressive behaviors, such as self-injury, being common. These self-injurious behaviors serve as visible expressions of underlying instability, which the patients themselves often struggle to identify. This presents another opportunity for shared representation work, which is conducted on a daily basis with the nurses and discussed in meetings with the doctors. Nurses propose hypotheses and draw connections between internal emotional experiences and events the patients have encountered during the day or week. To aid in this process, nurses utilize various tools to help patients identify and regulate their emotions. One such tool is the establishment of a written emotional report, which assists patients in labeling the fluctuations of their physical sensations and emotions throughout the week.

In the development of patients with borderline pathology, attention may shift toward both parents and one of them as a means of self-protection and/or protecting others. Early experiences of concern for a parent's compromised health, fear of separation, or other sources of worry can lead to heightened observational abilities directed toward the environment, while selfobservation capacities may be diminished. Green (78) described how these early modalities, through the paradigm of the dead mother complex, affect the child's personality, resulting in difficulties perceiving and interpreting affects within oneself and the development of alexithymia. Bowlby (60) also proposed that early experiences of relational withdrawal from attachment figures have an impact on development, a finding supported by several studies linking insecure attachment and borderline symptoms (79-81). Adverse experiences can lead to distinct perceptual modifications, with relational withdrawal experiences correlating with hypersensitivity in facial emotion recognition and intrusion experiences associated with decreased emotional perceptual accuracy (82). In all cases, attention to the internal world is diminished, likely due to difficulties accessing early parental mirroring functions (83). During hospital treatment, the emotional regulation work conducted with caregivers enables patients to shift their attention to their internal world. Caregivers provide them with tools to apprehend and regulate their emotions once they are identified and understood. While putting emotions into words is an important tool, it is not the only one. Breathing exercises, such as abdominal breathing, cardiac coherence exercises, and mindfulness, are fundamental. Caregivers, nurses, or body therapists may also offer massages or other body treatments that promote a sense of calm. In extreme cases, patients may find comfort in being wrapped in blankets or sheets, lying in a hammock, or resting on cushions in a soothing environment. Body care is also provided through various activities, such as sports, yoga, dance therapy, relaxation exercises, circus arts, or socio-aesthetic care, offered on a daily basis.

Caregivers and therapists who organize these activities serve as conduits for accessing affective and bodily integration, aiming to construct psychic representations from threatening, absent, or dissociated bodily perceptions. This "space outside-the-self" can only be accessible to the psyche if it can be represented, and pre-representations registered in the body can only be expressed through interaction (84). The experience of affect arises through the shaping of a relational schema. The development of a sense of self, which is lacking in patients, emerges from interactions with others and involves both psychological relationships (gaining meaning, sharing representations) and bodily aspects (tonic support, affective holding, handling). Similar to how an infant relies on the reflexive ability of their early environment, adolescents depend on the capacity of their environment to engage relationally, affectively, and bodily to support their tonicity (85). The internalization of bodily and relational elements, connected through processes of symbolization, allows adolescents to form an envelope that contains psychic, affective, and sensory contents, similar to Anzieu's (86) concept of the Skin-Ego. Just as infants, during the separation that inaugurates mother-child differentiation, maintain their unity by symbolically linking perceptions and sensations to psychically survive the absence, adolescents also rely on this process to navigate separation without exhausting themselves.

In addition to body therapies, alleviating borderline symptoms may involve pharmacological treatments, although their effectiveness is somewhat limited according to randomized controlled trials (87, 88). Medications are primarily prescribed based on the identified clinical dimensions present in borderline pathology or its numerous comorbidities, such as anxiety, self-aggression, major mood variations, and insomnia. Secondgeneration antipsychotics with anxiolytic aims are often preferred for a limited duration of a few weeks or months (89). The choice of medication depends on the patient's psycho-corporal profile, considering the specificities of adolescent metabolism that may result in more side effects compared to adults receiving the same dosage, particularly metabolic syndrome (90, 91). The appropriate timing for medication prescription is also considered, with the need to establish a therapeutic alliance and address any resistance or concerns regarding medication, as the fantasy of dependence can be particularly significant for patients and parents. Therefore, addressing this dimension in parallel is crucial to improve compliance. Additionally, the presence of various addictions often requires regular consultations with specialized addiction professionals during and/or after hospitalization.

C. Autonomy toward the exit

In the final phase of care, the focus is on promoting autonomy as the adolescent prepares for discharge from the hospital. The patient gradually engages in out-of-hospital activities, initially accompanied by staff and eventually on their own in a safe environment near the hospital. This process allows them to re-establish autonomy and learn to manage stressful situations independently, while still having the option to seek support if needed. Weekend leaves also provide opportunities to practice autonomy and ensure the safety of both internal and external spaces. During this stage, it is important for the patient to distinguish between manageable and more challenging situations and symptoms, and to develop a safety plan that outlines coping strategies and available resources for each level of stress. This plan may include activities such as listening to music, reading, drawing, engaging in breathing exercises, going for walks with a trusted person, reaching out to caregivers or close individuals, practicing body calming exercises, taking prescribed medications, or contacting the referring psychiatrist or the hospital. As discharge approaches, the focus shifts to preparing the adolescent for greater autonomy outside of the hospital setting. This includes gradually reintegrating into daily life, spending time alone at home, engaging in social activities with friends, and taking trips to the city. It is essential to consider the stability of the patient's clinical state at discharge, as borderline symptoms may require multiple hospitalizations to achieve regulation. Therapeutic strategies can be employed to minimize the risk of suicidal acts, such as implementing a watch and call system or planning for sequential re-hospitalization if necessary.

If medication has been part of the treatment, this phase allows the adolescent's input to be considered when adjusting the treatment plan, as they will ultimately decide whether to continue taking medication on a daily basis after discharge. As the patient identifies their sources of difficulty, they take progressive steps toward moving forward and finding meaning and purpose in their internal states. Discharge signifies a planned and announced end to the hospitalization, representing a positive change in the therapeutic relationship, which is often different from the initial patterns experienced by hospitalized patients. It is also a time for parental guidance, managing attenuated symptoms that still carry a risk of recurrence. Parental guidance involves learning to manage risk while providing a containing function for the child.

At the end of hospitalization, in addition to the significant reduction in borderline symptoms, the therapist evaluates various factors, including the evolution of self-esteem, the level of hope for both the adolescent and their parents, the insight of each individual, and the ability to engage the family group in action. These objectives align with the aims of successful psychotherapy, which include building confidence, exploring conflicts, regulating emotions, and managing separations and reunions. However, the temporal dynamics of hospitalization differ significantly, and the emotional intensity experienced over the course of a few weeks plays a crucial role in shaping the psychological impact of these experiences.

In summary, the last stage of care focuses on the patient's own capacities and their ability to translate and regulate their internal states. The goal is to support them in resuming their life journey with increased serenity and equipped with the necessary skills and resources.

Conclusion

The quote by Marcus Aurelius, "May I be given the strength to bear what cannot be changed and the courage to change what can be, but also the wisdom to distinguish one from the other," encapsulates the therapeutic approach for adolescents with borderline symptoms.

In pursuit of the holistic objective, the three levels of containment, crucial in the treatment of adolescents with borderline symptoms, are interconnected and intertwined. They progress sequentially over time, with global containment being planned and organized prior to the patient's admission, followed by local containment during the hospitalization period, and individual containment becoming more prominent toward the end of the hospitalization. At each level, the preventive and therapeutic objectives are inherently linked to the analysis of the contributing factors. The hospital objectives align with those of the outpatient psychotherapeutic model for patients with borderline symptoms. These objectives include establishing a structured framework, involving the parents, actively engaging therapists with the adolescent, addressing resistance factors associated with the disorder, and restoring coherence and psychological continuity (92). For the most severe cases, additional layers of containment are implemented, requiring strong cohesion and collective creativity within the care teams. It would be beneficial in the future to compare this holistic model with singular models to quantitatively assess how different theoretical approaches complement each other within a comprehensive perspective. Overall, this model aligns with the current global health trend, which emphasizes transnational health issues, determinants, and solutions for enhancing overall wellbeing. By providing a detailed description of the individual's environment, it enables better preventive and therapeutic interventions to be implemented.

The therapeutic work aims to assist these patients in achieving a more balanced position within their environment. This involves fostering a sense of differentiation from others (psychic separation) while maintaining emotional connection in a secure manner. The goal is to support them in representing the adversities they have experienced and developing protective and coping strategies to navigate these experiences. It also involves reactivating the process of autonomy-dependence that is inherent to adolescence. Furthermore, the aim is to help the family identify their challenges, difficulties, and available individual and collective resources. Ultimately, the objective is to help the adolescent achieve inner harmony and find peace within their environment.

Author contributions

Conceptualization: MR, RR, and MC. Methodology: MR, LB, KK, and JB. Clinical investigation: LB, JB, and MR. Original draft preparation: RR and MR. Reviewed by: MC, JB, LB, and KK. Supervision: MC. The manuscript was written by MR and approved by all co-authors. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Linehan MM. Understanding Borderline Personality Disorder: The Dialectic Approach Manual. New York, NY: Guilford Press. (1995)

2. Steele H, Siever L. An attachment perspective on borderline personality disorder: advances in gene-environment considerations. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2010) 12:61–7. doi: 10.1007/s11920-009-0091-0

3. Sharp C, Fonagy P. Practitioner Review: Borderline personality disorder in adolescence-recent conceptualization, intervention, and implications for clinical practice. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2015) 56:1266–88. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12449

4. Gunderson JG, Herpertz SC, Skodol AE, Torgersen S, Zanarini MC. Borderline personality disorder. *Nat Rev Dis Prim.* (2018) 4:18029. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2018.29

5. Distel MA, Middeldorp CM, Trull TJ, Derom CA, Willemsen G, Boomsma DI, et al. Life events and borderline personality features: the influence of geneenvironment interaction and gene-environment correlation. *Psychol Med.* (2011) 41:849–60. doi: 10.1017/S0033291710001297

6. Stepp SD, Keenan K, Hipwell AE, Krueger RF. The impact of childhood temperament on the development of borderline personality disorder symptoms over the course of adolescence. *Borderline Person Dis Emot Dysreg.* (2014) 1:18. doi: 10.1186/2051-6673-1-18

7. Porter C, Palmier-Claus J, Branitsky A, Mansell W, Warwick H, Varese F, et al. Childhood adversity and borderline personality disorder: a meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2020) 141:6–20. doi: 10.1111/acps.13118

8. Marcelli D, Braconnier A, Tandonnet L. *Adolescence et Psychopathologie*. Paris: Dunod. (2018).

9. Becker DF, Grilo CM, Edell WS, McGlashan TH. Diagnostic efficiency of borderline personality disorder criteria in hospitalised adolescents :

comparison with hospitalised adults. Am J Psychiatry. (2002) 159:2042–7. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.12.2042

10. Kernberg OF. Borderline Conditions and Pathological Narcissism. New York, NY: Jason Aronson. (1975).

11. Corcos M, Lamas C, Robin M. Borderline functioning in adolescence: psychopathology and psychodynamic clinic. *Front Psychiatr.* (2023).

12. Ougrin D, Latif S. Specific psychological treatment versus treatment as usual in adolescents with self-harm: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Crisis.* (2011) 32:74–80. doi: 10.1027/0227-5910/a000060

13. Delion P. Thérapeutiques institutionnelles. EMC-Psychiatr. (2001) 37:161-6.

14. Robin M, Cassini L, Cornac X, Pinardon M, Polge C, Pommeret S, et al. La psychothérapie institutionnelle, terreau d'intelligence collective. *L'Inf Psych.* (2019) 95:653–60.

15. Robin M, Douniol M, Pham-Scottez A, Gicquel L, Delvenne V, Nezelof S, et al. Specific pathways from adverse experiences to bpd in adolescence: a criteria-based approach of trauma. *J Pers Disord*. (2021) 35:94–110. doi: 10.1521/pedi_2021_35_523

16. Winnicott DW. Playing and Reality. 2nd Edn. London: Routlege (1971).

17. Racamier PC. L'esprit des soins. Vinsobres: Editions du Collège. (2001).

18. Oury J. Le Collectif: le Séminaire de Sainte-Anne. Nîmes: Champ Social Éditions. (1999).

19. Roussillon R. Propositions pour une théorie des dispositifs thérapeutiques à mediations. *Le Carnet Psy.* (2010) 141:28–31. doi: 10.3917/lcp.141.0028

20. Tosquelles F. Éducation et Psychothérapie Institutionnelle. Paris: Hiatus. (1984).

21. Racamier PC. Le Psychanalyste Sans Divan. Paris: Payot. (1993).

22. Hochmann J. Soigner, éduquer, instituer, raconter. Histoire et actualité des traitements institutionnels des enfants psychiquement troublés. *Revue Française Psych.* (2006) 70:1043–63. doi: 10.3917/rfp.704.1043

23. Diehl K, Jansen C, Ishchanova K, Hilger-Kolb J. Loneliness at universities: determinants of emotional and social loneliness among students. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2018) 15:1865. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15091865

24. Robin M, Votadoro P. En France, en 2022, des enfants et adolescents meurent de souffrance psychique par manque de soins et de prise en compte sociétale. *J Monde* (2022).

25. Stepp SD, Whalen DJ, Scott LN, Zalewski M, Loeber R, Hipwell AE, et al. Reciprocal effects of parenting and borderline personality disorder symptoms in adolescent girls. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2014) 26:361–78. doi: 10.1017/S09545794130 01041

26. Bourvis N, Aouidad A, Cabelguen C, Cohen D, Xavier J. How do stress exposure and stress regulation relate to borderline personality disorder? *Front Psychol.* (2017) 8:2054. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.02054

27. Cicchetti D, Handley ED. Methylation of the glucocorticoid receptor gene, nuclear receptor subfamily 3, group C, member 1 (NR3C1), in maltreated and nonmaltreated children: associations with behavioral undercontrol, emotional lability/negativity, and externalizing and internalizing symptoms. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2017) 29:1795–806. doi: 10.1017/S0954579417001407

28. Robin M, Belbèze J, Pham-Scottez A, Shadili G, Peres V, Silva J, et al. Paradoxes in borderline emotional dysregulation in adolescence: influence of parenting, stressful life events, and attachment. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:735615. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.735615

29. Lieb K, Zanarini MC, Schmahl C, Linehan MM, Bohus M. Borderline personality disorder. *Lancet.* (2004) 364:453–61. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16770-6

30. Ibrahim J, Cosgrave N, Woolgar M. Childhood maltreatment and its link to borderline personality disorder features in children: a systematic review approach. *Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry.* (2018) 23:57–76. doi: 10.1177/1359104517712778

31. Milot T, Collin-Vézina D, Godbout N. *Trauma Complexe: Comprendre, Évaluer et Intervenir*. Québec: Presses de l'Université de Québec (2018).

32. Lord S. Systemic work with clients with a diagnosis of Borderline Personality Disorder. J Fam Ther. (2007) 29:203–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6427.2007.00382.x

33. Rosolato, G. (1976). Le non-dit. Nouvelle Revue de psychanalyse n° 14 (Du secret).

34. Abraham N, Torok L. L'écorce et le Noyau. Paris: Flammarion (1978).

35. Guilé JM, Boissel L, Alaux-Cantin S, La Rivière SG. Borderline personality disorder in adolescents: prevalence, diagnosis, and treatment strategies. *Adol Health Med Ther.* (2018) 9:199–210. doi: 10.2147/AHMT.S156565

36. Choi H. Family systemic approaches for borderline personality disorder in acute adult mental health care settings. *J Family Ther.* (2018) 39:155–73. doi: 10.1002/anzf.1308

37. Bergeret J. Les États-Limites. Ed Payot. (1984).

38. Robin M. Ado désemparé Cherche Société Vivante. Paris: Ed Odile Jacob. (2017).

39. Ilagan GS, Choi-Kain LW. General psychiatric management for adolescents (GPM-A) with borderline personality disorder. *Curr Opin Psychol.* (2021) 37:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.05.006

40. Rathus JH, Miller AL. DBT Skills Manual for Adolescents. New York, NY: Guilford Press. (2015).

41. Santisteban DA, Muir JA, Mena MP, Mitrani VB. Integrative borderline adolescent family therapy: meeting the challenges of treating adolescents with borderline personality disorder. *Psychotherapy.* (2003) 40:251–64. doi: 10.1037/0033-3204.40.4.251

42. Hoffman PD, Fruzzetti AE, Buteau E, Neiditch ER, Penney D, Bruce ML, et al. Family connections: a program for relatives of persons with borderline personality disorder. *Fam Process.* (2005) 44:217–25. doi: 10.1111/j.1545-5300.2005.00055.x

43. Rajalin M, Wickholm-Pethrus L, Hursti T, Jokinen J. Dialectical behavior therapy-based skills training for family members of suicide attempters. *Arch Suicide Res.* (2009) 13:257–63. doi: 10.1080/13811110903044401

44. Pearce J, Jovev M, Hulbert C, McKechnie B, McCutcheon L, Betts J, et al. Evaluation of a psychoeducational group intervention for family and friends of youth with borderline personality disorder. *Borderlin Person Dis Emot Dysreg.* (2017) 4:5. doi: 10.1186/s40479-017-0056-6

45. Guillén V, Díaz-García A, Mira A, García-Palacios A, Escrivá-Martínez T, Baños R, et al. Interventions for family members and carers of patients with borderline personality disorder: a systematic review. *Fam Process.* (2021) 60:134–44. doi: 10.1111/famp.12537

46. Mooren Tvan Ee E, Hein I, Bala J. Combatting intergenerational effects of psychotrauma with multifamily therapy. *Front Psychiatry.* (2023) 13:867305. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.867305

47. Bernstein DP, Cohen P, Velez CN, Schwab-Stone M, Siever LJ, Shin-Sato L. Prevalence and stability of the DSM-III-R personality disor- ders in a community-based survey of adolescents. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1993) 150:1237–43. doi: 10.1176/ajp.150.8.1237

48. Levy KN, Becker DF, Grilo CM, Mattanah JJ, Garnet KE, Quinlan DM, et al. Concurrent and predictive validity of the personality disorder diagnosis in adolescent inpatients. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1999) 156:1522–8. doi: 10.1176/ajp.156.10.1522

49. Miller AL, Muehlenkamp JJ, Jacobson CM. Fact or fiction: diagnosing borderline personality disorder in adolescents. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2008) 28:969–81. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2008.02.004

50. Chabrol H, Montovany A, Chouicha K, Callahan S, Mullet E. Frequency of borderline personality disorder in a sample of French high school students. *Can J Psychiatr Rev.* (2001) 46:847–9. doi: 10.1177/070674370104600909

51. Johnson JG, Cohen P, Kasen S, Skodol AE, Oldham JM. Cumulative prevalence of personality disorders between adolescence and adulthood. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2008) 118:410–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2008.01231.x

52. Zanarini MC, Horwood J, Wolke D, Waylen A, Fitzmaurice G, Grant BF, et al. Prevalence of DSM-IV borderline personality disorder in two community samples: 6,330 English 11-year-olds and 34,653 American adults. *J Pers Disord*. (2011) 25:607– 19. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2011.25.5.607

53. Zittel Conklin C, Westen D. Borderline personality disorder in clinical practice. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2005) 162:867–75. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.5.867

54. Robin M. Etat Limite, Personnalité Borderline, ou Crise Borderline à L'adolescence? Troubles de la Personnalité Borderline à L'adolescence. Paris: Ed. Dunod (2013).

55. Ainsworth M, Witting B. Attachment and the exploratory behavior of one-yearolds in a strange situation. In BM Foss, Editor, *Determinants of Infants Behavior*. London: Methuen (1969).

56. Ainsworth M, Blehar M, Waters E. Patterns of Attachment: A Psychological Study of the Strange Situation. Hillsdale: Erlbaum. (1978).

57. 51. Guédeney N, Guédeney A. L'attachement, Approche Théorique. Du Bébé à la Personne Âgée. Paris: Masson (2016).

58. Main M, Hesse E. Disorganized/disoriented infant behavior in the strange situation, lapses in the monitoring of rasoning and discourse during the parent's Adult Attachment Interview, and dissociative states. In M Ammaniti, D Stern, editors *Attachment and Psycho-Analysis*. Rome : Guis, Laterza, and Figl, 80–140 (1992).

59. Bowlby J. Attachment and Loss, Vol. 1. New York, NY: Basic Books (1969).

60. Bowlby J. A Secure Base: Parent-Child Attachment and Healthy Human Development. New York, NY: Basic Books. (1988).

61. Robin M. L'hospitalisation en psychiatrie à l'adolescence : une situation étrange? L'observation de l'adolescent hospitalisé à la lumière de la théorie de l'attachement. *Enfances Psy.* (2019) 3:155–63. doi: 10.3917/ep.083.0155

62. Clarkin JF, Yeomans FE, Kernberg OF. *Psychotherapy of Borderline Personality: Focusing on Object Relations.* Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing Inc (2006).

63. Foelsch PA, Odom AE, Kernberg OF. Modifications à la psychothérapie focalisée sur le transfert (PFT) pour le traitement des adolescents avec une identité diffuse. *Santé Mentale au Québec* (2008) 33:37–60. doi: 10.7202/018472ar

64. Freud S. La Dynamique du Transfer, Dans La Technique Psychanalytique. Paris: PUF (2010).

65. Ducarre C. Comment contenir ce qui nous est étranger: Les réunions soignantssoignés à Orgemont. *Cliniques*. (2011) 1:78–92. doi: 10.3917/clini.001.0078

66. Jeanmet P. Réalité externe et réalité interne, importance et spécificité de leur articulation à l'adolescence. *Rev Française Psychanalyse* (1980) 4:481–521.

67. Azoulay J. Les Psychothérapies Institutionnelles, Psychanalyse et Psychothérapie. Paris: Flammarion (1996).

68. Bion WR. Une théorie de l'activité de pensée (A theory of Thinking), in Réflexion faite. *PUF*. (1983) 1983:125–35.

69. Bo S, Vilmar JW, Jensen SL, Jørgensen MS, Kongerslev M, Lind M, et al. What works for adolescents with borderline personality disorder: towards a developmentally informed understanding and structured treatment model. *Curr Opinion Psychol.* (2021) 37:7–12. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.06.008

70. Fonagy P, Bateman A. The development of borderline personality disorder-a mentalizing model. J Pers Disord. (2008) 22:4-21. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2008.22.1.4

71. Bo S, Sharp C, Beck E, Pedersen J, Gondan M, Simonsen E, et al. First empirical evaluation of outcomes for mentalization-based group therapy for adolescents with BPD. *Personal Disord*. (2017) 8:396–401. doi: 10.1037/per00 00210

72. Quek J, Melvin GA, Bennett C, Gordon MS, Saeedi N, Newman LK, et al. Mentalization in adolescents with borderline personality disorder: a comparison with healthy controls. *J Pers Disord*. (2019) 33:145–63. doi: 10.1521/pedi_2018_32_336

73. Linehan MM. Skills Training Manual for Treating Borderline Personality Disorder. New York, NY: Guilford Press. (1993).

74. Klein DA, Miller AL. Dialectical behavior therapy for suicidal adolescents with borderline personality disorder. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am.* (2011) 20:205–16. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2011.01.001

75. Green A. La Folie Privée. Paris: Gallimard. (1990).

76. Robin M, Essadek A, Corcos M, Shadili G. High-risk sexual behaviours, from the neurotica to complex trauma: psychopathologies of repetition. *Int J Psychoanal.* (2021) 102:906–31. doi: 10.1080/00207578.2021.1939036

77. Kestemberg E. « La crise de l'adolescence. Rev Fr Psychanal. (1980) 44:3-4.

78. Green A. La Mère Morte, in Narcissisme de vie, Narcissisme de Mort. Paris: Éditions de Minuit, 222–253 (1980).

79. Schuder MR, Lyons-Ruth K. "Hidden trauma" in infancy: attachment, fearful arousal, and early dysfunction of the stress response system. In: Osofsky JD, editor *Young Children and Trauma: Intervention and Treatment.* New York, NY: Guilford Press, (2004), 69–104.

80. Lyons-Ruthn K, Bureau JF, Easterbrooks MA, Obsuth I, Hennighausen K, Vulliez-Coady L, et al. Parsing the construct of maternal insensitivity: distinct longitudinal pathways associated with early maternal withdrawal. *Attach Hum Dev.* (2013) 15:562–82. doi: 10.1080/14616734.2013.841051

81. Briere J, Runtz M, Eadie E, Bigras N, Godbout N. Disengaged parenting: Structural equation modeling with child abuse, insecure attachment, and adult symptomatology. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2017) 67:260–70. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.02.036

82. Robin M, Belbèze J, Pham-Scottez A, Speranza M, Shadili G, Silva J, et al. Adversity, attachment and emotion recognition in BPD adolescents: the distinct roles of disengaged and controlling environment. *BMC psychology.* (2022) 10:89. doi: 10.1186/s40359-022-00788-7

83. Fonagy P, Luyten PA. Developmental, mentalization-based approach to the understanding and treatment of borderline personality disorder. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2009) 21:1355–81. doi: 10.1017/S0954579409990198

84. Aulagnier P. La Violence de L'interprétation. 7th Edn. Paris: PUF.

85. Corcos M. Le silence des émotions. Clinique Psychanalytique des états Vides D'affects. Paris : Dunod (2011).

86. Anzieu D. Le Moi-Peau. Paris: Editions Dunod (1985).

87. Biskin RS. Treatment of borderline personality disorder in youth. J Can Acad Child Adol Psychiatr. (2013) 22:230–4.

88. Stoffers JM, Lieb K. Pharmacotherapy for borderline personality disorder-current evidence and recent trends. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2015) 17:534. doi: 10.1007/s11920-014-0534-0

89. Chanen AM, Thompson KN. Prescribing and borderline personality disorder. *Austr Prescriber.* (2016) 39:49–53. doi: 10.18773/austprescr.2016.019

90. Correll CU, Carlson HE. Endocrine and metabolic adverse effects of psychotropic medications in children and adolescents. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2006) 45:771–91. doi: 10.1097/01.chi.0000220851.943 92.30

91. Garcia G, Logan GE, Gonzalez-Heydrich J. Management of psychotropic medication side effects in children and adolescents. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am.* (2012) 21:713–38. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2012. 07.012

92. Weiner AS, Ensink K, Normandin L. Psychotherapy for borderline personality disorder in adolescents. *Psychiatr Clin North Am.* (2018) 41:729–46. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2018.07.005

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jean Marc Guile, University of Picardie Jules Verne, France

REVIEWED BY Dargent Fanny, Université Paris Diderot, France Raphael Minjard, Lumière University Lyon 2, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Olivier Putois ⊠ olivier.putois.pro@gmail.com

RECEIVED 31 July 2023 ACCEPTED 22 September 2023 PUBLISHED 09 October 2023

CITATION

Putois O, Riegert M, Bahi N, Pires J and De Luca M (2023) Joint family consultations for psychiatric inpatients with severe eating disorders transitioning to adulthood: psychoanalytic design of a therapeutic setting. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1270499. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1270499

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Putois, Riegert, Bahi, Pires and De Luca. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Joint family consultations for psychiatric inpatients with severe eating disorders transitioning to adulthood: psychoanalytic design of a therapeutic setting

Olivier Putois^{1,2,3,4}*, Myriam Riegert², Nadine Bahi^{1,5}, Joël Pires^{1,6} and Manuella De Luca⁶

¹SuLiSoM UR 3071, Faculté de Psychologie, Université de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France, ²Service de Psychiatrie, Santé Mentale et Addictologie, Hôpitaux Universitaires de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France, ³Institut d'Immunologie et d'Hématologie, Institut Thématique Interdisciplinaire TRANSPLANTEX NG, Université de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France, ⁴Institut Contemporain de l'Enfance, Paris, France, ⁵PSInstitut, Strasbourg, France, ⁶PCPP UR 4056, Institut de Psychologie, Université de Paris, Paris, France

While family work is acknowledged as relevant in the care of eating disorders (EDs), not much literature has explored it in the period of transition from adolescence to young adulthood (16-18 to 30 y.o.). Yet this period is of significant importance in the prognosis and evolution of EDs; but its particular stakes require specific therapeutic settings-especially for inpatient EDs. In this paper, we start from the paradoxical observation that some families refuse this type of work in its usual form, with a family-dedicated therapist, and require to only exchange with the psychiatrist in charge of the treatment plan. We use a psychosomatic-informed psychoanalytic approach to shed light on this refusal as a latent denial of the contribution of family dynamics to the current symptom, and an unconscious tendency to stick to a dependency-laden family scheme. We then explain the conception of a specifically dedicated therapeutic setting, designed to address this specific type of resistance, offered to families as a therapeutic compromise designed to give them a specific position in the care of their child. In our joint therapeutic consultations, family dynamics are addressed on the basis of exchanges regarding treatment and in particular feeding. While such exchanges start from medical considerations, the therapeutic couple (psychiatrist-psychologist) uses them to address the parent and patient expectations underlying the symptom. We propose to call this act "inscription"; it enables a separation from the underlying dependency-oriented family scheme, while stressing the importance to care for associated parental anxieties.

KEYWORDS

inscription, therapeutic setting, eating disorders, family, denial, model, psychosomatic, psychoanalysis
1. Introduction

1.1. Eating disorders in late adolescence and young adulthood: complexity and family care

Eating disorders (EDs) encompass a vast array of complex psychiatric pathologies present in adolescents and young adults, such as binge eating, *anorexia nervosa*, etc. The complexity of these pathologies comes from their notoriously multi-factorial nature – factors encompass culture, family, somatic and biological conditions, and psychiatric comorbidities (1). The absence of a univocal causality requires a multi-faceted approach to care.

Amongst these factors, therapeutic paradigms have stressed the need to address family dynamics, thereby including families to the treatment plan [cf. e.g., Rienecke and Le Grange (2)]. Offering them punctual psychotherapeutic consultations or regular therapy sessions is standard practice for adolescent inpatient EDs in French hospital Units (3, 4).

Less literature has stressed the importance of family work in the transition to young adulthood (16–18 to 30 y.o.). Yet we believe, like (5–7), that this period is of importance in the prognosis and evolution of EDs, and requires specific therapeutic settings. This is especially the case for serious forms, requiring inpatient care.

In this respect, we have been struck by a recurring feature encountered in many inpatient clinical situations in this age range (the vast majority of EDs in the adult Psychiatry Unit at Strasbourg University Hospital). A significant number of families refuse to explore the family dimension of the symptoms in a dedicated family consultation with a psychologist, in spite of the seriousness of their child's condition–which leads others to accept every therapeutic option. Instead, when proposed such a (statefunded) dedicated consultation, they say that it is not that they do not want it, but that since it is now the hospital's job to cure their child, they see no reason to discuss the situation and its family effect.

Drawing on psychoanalysis – an acknowledged therapeutic paradigm in EDs [e.g., Thompson-Brenner et al. (1)], we consider this refusal as a form of specific family resistance against the anxiety induced by the offer to explore family dynamics, and *a fortiori* subsequent family changes. To work with this subset of families, we devised a specific therapeutic setting adapted to this resistance: that of joint family consultations (JFCs), jointly led by a psychiatrist and a psychologist-psychoanalyst. The goal of this paper is to sketch out the design, therapeutic stakes and effects of this specific setting and its use, by explaining how these recurrent clinical situations led us to model it. The data presented in this paper did not need ethical clearance, as it was a secondary account of our experiences in healthcare.

2. Institutional context

In late adolescence, EDs are triggered by the challenges of approaching adulthood: leaving home, facing important choices (e.g., higher education), etc. This differs from earlier adolescence: what is now at stake is the possibility to withstand the perspective of psychologically separating oneself from one's family environment and become autonomous. This has direct implications for ED inpatient care: caretakers no longer envision hospital stays as temporary breaks from family life, as they mostly are during adolescence. Hospital stays in our unit are conceived as an intermediate step before the beginning of (young) adult life, where patients separate themselves from the hospital and establish a new relationship with their families to start an adult life.

But when patients initially come to the hospital after a consultation request, and meet with the psychiatrist overseeing the treatment plan (MR), medical concerns are in the forefrontespecially body mass index (BMI) issues. They are understandably the main focus of both patients, families and caretakers. Yet, as mentioned above, a growing consensus is that efficient EDs care requires family work: thus, in the case of potential inpatient admission, the psychiatrist quickly proposes to meet with the parents. Most of the time, she then offers them to plan a consultation (generally with the patient) with the unit's dedicated psychologist/family therapist (OP), to discuss the family effects of the situation; such consultations typically explore the difficulties associated with becoming psychically autonomous, for both families and patients. This offer is presented as an addition to all standard inpatient care: daily psychotherapeutic sessions with a psychiatrist (other than the head of ED Unit), exchanges with another psychiatrist about treatment adjustment (medication, somatic follow-up, stay duration, etc.), and a wide range of institutional care: individual or group dietary support, physical and bodywork and somatic therapies, group psychotherapy, dance lessons, etc. In addition, we have the opportunity to interact with the hospital's Clinical Nutrition Unit. Therefore, all therapeutic effects of family work take place within a dense web of activities; and it is never meant to replace individual psychotherapy, but it facilitates it (more in Conclusion).

3. From manifest refusal to latent common denial

But a significant subset of parents refuse to meet with the unit's family therapist (OP) to discuss the family effects of the situation: it is not that they do not want it, but since it is now the hospital's job to take care of their child, they see no reason to come discuss the situation and its family effect. This is particularly interesting, since EDs – especially *anorexia nervosa*, with its extremely slim bodies – tend to put many families in a constant state of preoccupation (8): quite a few immediately and gratefully accept dedicated consultations with a specialized psychologist. How are we to understand this?

While this clinical observation matches Minuchin et al.'s (9) psychosomatic remarks on change-averse families in *anorexia nervosa*, we understand it exclusively through a psychoanalytic lens: as a resistance of the family group (parents + inpatient + siblings, potentially), expressing a mechanism of denial of the family

dimension at play in EDs. This refusal, and the subsequent claim that it is now the hospital's task (and not theirs anymore) to take care of the patient (including feeding them), should be understood as an unconscious projection, onto the Psychiatry Unit, of the family's representation of what it is to take care of someone. Considering how families tell us that they are now solely concerned with how the Psychiatry Unit takes care of their child, we contend that there is something specific in their unconscious representation of such care - and most likely, that it is a relation of exclusive dependency [cf. Corcos (3)], whereby the child would receive from the parents everything they need. While often feeling hurt because they believe they have failed to provide their child with everything they need, parents nonetheless transpose the same exclusive relational scheme onto the caregiving team, without realizing that it is its exclusive character that should be re-examined and questioned: exclusive dependency is both impossible in reality, and an obstacle to separation and individual self-realization (This accounts for the two extremes often to be found in these families: those who try and provide everything, and those who renounce because it looks impossible - both share a representation of exclusive care).

This understanding relies on the psychoanalytic concept of denial, first laid out extensively by Freud in 1938 (10), subsequently elaborated by Klein (11) and Bion (12–14), and recently developed by Ogden (15) under the name of projective disavowal. Gabbard (16) stresses its relevance and sums it up like this: denial, or disavowal, is an active process whereby denied representations or affects are projected onto someone else, in actual interactions, part of which take place at an unconscious level. The task of the therapist is to "process and contain them," i.e., understand them as such, in order to signify to the patient (or the group) what they have thus unconsciously set aside.

We believe that when refusing a dedicated EDs consultation with the psychologist, families project onto the psychiatrist who offers it their unconscious representation of caring for a child *qua* exclusive dependency. Hence the shift of the burden of care, so to speak: it was all on the family, and it is now all on the hospital.

To specify the "interpersonal pressure" exerted on the psychiatrist, and what "process and contain" means, we expand on Braunschweig and Fain's (17) concept of "community of denial" [cf. also (18)], following recent work (19, 20). Braunschweig and Fain (17) stressed that in situations of denial, projection is an attempt to persuade the therapist to adopt one's perspective and jointly disavow the representations one seeks to ignore ("common" denial). In essence, these families tell the psychiatrist (a doctor) that they agree to come and see her to receive medical information about the treatment course, as long as family dynamics are not brought forward as a therapeutic dimension per se. This unconscious invitation to denial generally emanates from the whole family (the child partakes in it), but is most often expressed by parents. Therefore, to "process and contain" it means that the psychiatrist, in charge of both mental and physical health, needs to acknowledge the denied representation of parental care that underlies it - one of exclusiveness and dependency, which she is encouraged to take on as a parental substitute. In terms of psychoanalytic technique, she needs to acknowledge a specific form of emerging transference emanating from the whole family group and especially the parents, whereby she is envisioned as a potential accomplice of a specific, unquestioned understanding of care. This emerging transference thus represents the main therapeutic indication for our specific therapeutic setting.

4. Offering a joint therapeutic setting

Following a line of thought first laid out by P. Marty and M. Fain, which OP's work develops, we decided that to preserve potential psychotherapeutic effects, the psychiatrist overseeing the treatment plan should offer a creative compromise adapted to the families' initial resistance. On the one hand, her stance should implicitly acknowledge families' denial-based resistance to address their relational dynamics. On the other, she needs to communicate that it is not possible to fully separate medical/somatic work from family dynamics: there can be no "splitting" between the two (10, 16, 17) since family dynamics are affected by EDs, and affect them in return. On the basis of OP's previous research, we devised a specific therapeutic offer: that of a joint therapeutic setting, with the psychiatrist (MR) and the unit's specialized family therapist (OP). This offer's goal is to communicate that optimal care for the patient will respect their resistance to some extent (the psychiatrist's presence means that it will still be possible to talk about medical care, incl. feeding/eating); but that making care optimal would also require to explore family feelings (this is embodied by the presence of the family therapist).

The psychiatrist tries to enact an "inscription" [cf. e.g., Chervet (21, 22)]. In our use of the term, in institutional and family group dynamics, "inscription" refers to an intervention going, in part, against families' resistance, by shedding light on a representation that they expect the psychiatrist to deny along with them – i.e., their exclusive representation of parental care. In therapeutic technique, this inscription amounts to a specific handling of the family's emerging transference, whereby the psychiatrist is cathected as a parental substitute mirroring their representation of care. While they expect her to mirror this representation, she draws on this transferential expectation to surprise them by expressing that she cannot take this role alone, and instead needs someone to help her. She thus communicates two elements that embody a different caregiving stance:

- there should be no individual/exclusive caretaker(s). This is a dismissal of their projected expectation of an almighty caretaker/caretaking team.
- (2) care is not only about manifest behavioral parameters (weight, caloric intake, etc.). From the Unit's point of view, care includes more psychological elements: at least, taking into account how everyone feels about the situation. Underlying this is a technical premise: elements regarding medical care can be handled as a therapeutic medium to address family dynamics.

The goal is a re-mobilization of the family: caregivers are not almighty, they need the parents to contribute to

the care, as it involves a psychological parameter – their relation to their child. That is, ED treatment is a 3-tier challenge: patient/family/caretakers. This first inscription leaves a trace potentiating further therapist interventions during joint consultations, by delineating an alternative, non-exclusive model of care which does not require the patient to remain dependent upon the caregiver.

5. The technique of joint family consultations: inscription as separation

Offering such a compromise-based therapeutic setting is not psychoanalytically orthodox, since it leaves room to discuss medical and eating-related preoccupations while seeking to address elements pertaining to intra- and interpersonal psychological dynamics. It could thus at first sight be understood as feeding families' resistance. We believe that on the contrary, in cases of strong family denial, it helps induce authentic therapeutic effects by handling their specific transference (projected expectation of an almighty caretaker). Yet, this should not be confused with family therapy *per se*, which is more constrained in terms of rhythm, participants and therapeutic aim [cf. e.g., Robert (23) or Berger (24)] since it is focused on restructuring relationships within the family – while our consultations are more punctual and seek to increase individual autonomy with respect to family dynamics.

In transition to adulthood, the therapeutic aim of these JFCs is to enable parents and patients to withstand the patient's separation and self-realization. Such self-realization requires, as a necessary condition, feeding oneself well enough (not too little, not too much, etc.): that is, (1) not to depend on an external figure to regulate or even control eating behavior, as well as (2) accept to feed on something which does not come from one's parents. Thus, leaving room for families and especially parents to express their feelings about the concrete care of their child is a springboard to explore how families can tolerate transitioning out of a relationship of exclusive dependency. But this requires that psychological separation be explicitly expressed in the course of a therapeutic exchange or sequence, which will echo the first inscription carried out by the psychiatrist.

For the sake of brevity, we give one frequent example: parents often tell the psychiatrist they are preoccupied because in the Unit, their child will not be offered the food they are used to; surely they will not like it as much, so how are they to be cured from their disorder? This manifest question is underlain by latent issues, through what psychoanalysis calls unconscious overdetermination. For example, in the later course of family consultations, some families admit they are concerned their child could be poisoned by what comes from the outside, while others say they are afraid the child could not control him/herself (and would always need someone to regulate their intake, like an infant). Sometimes, they say: the child is not gaining enough weight–you must feed them the wrong way. Both exemplify unconscious motives to maintain an exclusive relationship with the family: they are types of an exclusive, dependency-laden family relationship, split off from the explicit concern about feeding, and unconsciously projected onto the child who, in return, identifies with them. It is these projections that JFCs wish to disentangle, by showing that the child's behavior and discourse to some extent echoes that of parents, and that both play a part in the current symptom.

Drawing on the presence of the psychiatrist, parents thus use manifest issues to express their rivalry with the Unit. These exchanges call for an inscription of the main psychological stake underlying EDs and their medical care: psychological separation between parents and child/patient - that is, a separation of individual perspectives through an explicit re-attribution to parents of what they project onto the child, and vice-versa. From a technical point of view, in the aforementioned type of situations, the therapeutic couple (psychiatrist-psychologist) often proceeds as follows. The psychiatrist shifts her stance out of the medical level, and stresses that from the perspective of the treatment plan, medical parameters (BMI etc.) are but one level of information, and that the stakes are more general and revolve around their child's personal evolution, and how they feel about it. This paves the way for the psychologist to mention that maybe their worry about feeding means that it is they who suffer from being separated from their child - a suffering which they project onto him/her, and to which the child might conform to show them how irreplaceable they are, thereby maintaining dependency.

In these situations, we respectfully tell parents that their anxieties should be discussed without any form of prejudice, as they play a role in the situation, which cannot therefore be fully ascribed to the child. Upon hearing this, the patient is put in a position where s/he is both relieved of parental projections (s/he can refer to this later), while parental separation anxieties can be acknowledged; at the same time, s/he becomes authorized by a third party (the therapeutic couple) to express personal heretofore unexpressed concerns, while evolving away from such projections.

6. Conclusion: deferred and distributed therapeutic effects

The trace of this 2-step inscription often appears in a deferred manner, when the Unit's individual psychotherapists tell us in a subsequent staff meeting that the patient now expresses new desires (with which e.g., their parents might not be happy); or that, more generally, they associate more freely about future perspectives. Of course, in other instances, we see that the patient's relation to their parents evolves, often by witnessing how previous inscriptions affect their exchanges.

Finally, such a therapeutic setting is devised as a potential preparation for, or adjunction to, individual therapy; but by no means as a substitution. Indeed, some parents start a therapy after JFCs, when realizing their child's symptom echoes their concerns.

We even sometimes decide to see parents without the patient when we feel they need a temporary dedicated space to express concerns that should remain out of the child's conscious awareness, to help them transition toward individual therapeutic work.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in this article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Author contributions

OP: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MR: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. NB: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. JP: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. MD: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – review & editing.

References

1. Thompson-Brenner H, Weingeroff J, Westen D. Empirical support for psychodynamic psychotherapy for eating disorders. In: Levy RA, Ablon JS editors. *Handbook of Evidence-Based Psychodynamic Psychotherapy. Current Clinical Psychiatry.* Totowa, NJ: Humana Press (2009). doi: 10.1007/978-1-59745-444-5_4

2. Rienecke RD, Le Grange D. The five tenets of family-based treatment for adolescent eating disorders. *J Eat Disord.* (2022) 10:60. doi: 10.1186/s40337-022-00585-y

3. Corcos M. Le corps absent. Approche psychosomatique des troubles des conduites alimentaires. Paris: Dunod (2010).

4. Yon L, Doyen C, Asch M, Cook-Darzens S, Mouren MC. Traitement de l'anorexie mentale du sujet jeune en unité d'hospitalisation spécialisée: recommandations et modalités pratiques. *Arch Pédiatr.* (2009) 16:1491–8. doi: 10.1016/j.arcped.2009. 07.022

5. Blanchet-Collet C, Lefevre H, Moro M. La transition enfant-adulte pour les patients souffrant de troubles des conduites alimentaires. *Soins Pediatr Pueric.* (2017) 38:21–3. French. doi: 10.1016/j.spp.2017.05.005

6. Godart N, Perdereau F, Flament M, Jeammet P. La famille des patients souffrant d'anorexie mentale ou de boulimie [Families of patients with anorexia or bulimia. Review of the literature and therapeutic implications]. *Ann Med Interne (Paris).* (2002) 153:369–72. French.

7. Carles M, Ludot M, Lachal J, Moro M, Blanchet C. Les enjeux de la transition dans l'anorexie mentale vus par les professionnels: une étude qualitative. *Ann Méd Psychol Revue Psychiatr.* (2023) 181:112–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amp. 2022.04.014

8. Kestemberg E, Kestemberg J, Decobert S. La faim et le corps: une étude psychanalytique de l'anorexie mentale. Paris: PUF (1972).

9. Minuchin S, Rosman BL, Baker L. *Psychosomatic families: anorexia nervosa in context*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press (1978).

10. Freud S. Splitting of the ego in the process of defence. In: Strachey J editor. *The standard edition of the complete psychological works of Sigmund Freud, Volume XXIII (1937-1939): Moses and Monotheism, an outline of psycho-analysis and other works.* London: The Hogarth Press (1938). p. 271–8.

Funding

The authors declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. OP gratefully acknowledges funding from Institut Contemporain de l'Enfance.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

11. Klein M. On identification. In: Delacorte Press editor. *Envy and Gratitude and Other Works, 1946–1963. (Original Work Published in 1955).* New York, NY: Delacorte Press (1975). p. 141–75.

12. Bion WR. The psycho-analytic study of thinking. II: a theory of thinking. Int. J. Psychoanal. (1962) 43:306–10. (Also in Bion, W.R. [1967]. Second thoughts [pp. 110–119]. London: Heinemann.). doi: 10.1016/B978-1-4831-9866-8.50011-4

13. Bion WR. Learning from experience. London: Heinemann (1962).

14. Bion WR. Attention and interpretation. London: Tavistock (1970).

15. Ogden TH. Projective identification and psychotherapeutic technique. New York, NY: Jason Aronson (1982).

16. Gabbard G. A contemporary psychoanalytic model of countertransference. *J Clin Psychol.* (2001) 57:983–91. doi: 10.1002/jclp.1065

17. Braunschweig D, Fain M. La nuit, le jour. Essai psychanalytique sur le fonctionnement mental. Paris: PUF (1975).

18. Chervet E. Scènes familiales et consultation thérapeutique d'adolescents. In: Bouhsira J editor. *La consultation psychanalytique*. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France (2013). p. 65–88. doi: 10.3917/puf.bouh.2013.01.0065

19. Putois O, Bacqué M, Anheim M. Joint consultation by a neurogeneticist of movement disorders and a psychodynamic psychotherapist: an occasion for subjectivization. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:1828. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01828

20. Putois O, Riegert M. Pertinence thérapeutique des entretiens familiaux joints dans les troubles des conduites alimentaires chez les jeunes adultes hospitalisés. *L'inform Psychiatr.* (2022) 98:179–85. doi: 10.1684/ipe.2022.2393

21. Chervet B. L'après-coup: la tentative d'inscrire ce qui tend à disparaître. *Revue Française Psychanalyse.* (2009) 73:1361–441. doi: 10.3917/rfp.735.1361

22. Chervet B. The traumatic and the work of the *après-coup* in Freud's *opus. Int J Psychoanal.* (2021) 102:765–77. doi: 10.1080/00207578.2021.1944485

23. Robert P. Prise en charge familiale psychanalytique. *Adolescence.* (2014) 323:609–15. doi: 10.3917/ado.089.0609

24. Berger M, Durieux M, Frisch-Desmarez C. Les entretiens thérapeutiques avec la famille. Paris: Dunod (2022).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Bernard Golse, Université de Paris, France

REVIEWED BY Emily Lowthian, Swansea University, United Kingdom Ravi Philip Rajkumar, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), India

*CORRESPONDENCE Aziz Essadek ⊠ aziz.essadek@univ-lorraine.fr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 06 March 2023 ACCEPTED 12 September 2023 PUBLISHED 25 October 2023

CITATION

Essadek A, Musso M, Assous A, Widart F, Mathieu J, Robin M and Shadili G (2023) Alcohol and psychoactive substance use in a cohort of children followed by child protection in France. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1180292. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1180292

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Essadek, Musso, Assous, Widart, Mathieu, Robin and Shadili. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Alcohol and psychoactive substance use in a cohort of children followed by child protection in France

Aziz Essadek^{1*†}, Maeva Musso^{2†}, Adèle Assous³, Frédéric Widart⁴, Joris Mathieu^{1,5}, Marion Robin^{6,7} and Gérard Shadili⁶

¹Université de Lorraine, INTERPSY, Nancy, France, ²Department of Psychiatry, Hopital Saint-Maurice, Paris, France, ³University of Paris, CRPMS, Paris, France, ⁴Department of Psychology, University of Liège, Liège, Belgium, ⁵Centre Spécialisé de l'Obésité (CSO) et Service d'Endocrinologie, Diabétologie et Nutrition (EDN), CHRU-Nancy, Vandoeuvre-lès-Nancy, France, ⁶Department of Adolescent and Young Adult Psychiatry, Institut Mutualiste Montsouris, Paris, France, ⁷INSERM U1178, Team PsyDev, Villejuif, Paris, France

Background and aim: Many studies have investigated the association between maltreatment and substance use in adulthood.

In this study, we sought to explore the association between substance use during adolescence, diverse forms of child maltreatment, and psychological symptoms within a cohort of individuals under the purview of child protection services in France.

Method: The dataset was culled from a retrospective, population-based study encompassing minors and young adults aged 0 to 21, who were under the care of child protection services. Specifically, we conducted a comparative analysis between minors exhibiting substance use (N = 72) and those without such use (N = 776).

Result: The odds ratios predominantly illuminated a significant correlation between Substance Use and the manifestation of self-destructive behavior (OR = 4.35; CI 2.02–9.59), as well as aggressive behavior (OR = 5.75; CI 2.87–11.84). Univariate analysis also hinted at an association between SUD and suicidal ideation (OR = 3.52; CI 2.1–5.90).

Conclusion: Children in France who are in the care of child protection services and who use psychoactive substances are at greater risk of dropping out of school and of having other psychological symptoms. It is important that the public authorities take account of these results in order to adjust the care given to these minors, who often do not receive psychological support.

KEYWORDS

substance use, child protection, mental health, youth & adolescence, maltreatment

1. Introduction

In France, alcohol and substance use are major public health problems. In the general population, initial consumption appears around the age of 13.3 years for boys and 13.5 years for girls (1). It is estimated that 7% of deaths the population aged 15 and over are related to alcohol consumption (2). Alcohol consumption starts very early, and is often associated with the use of other substances. Indeed, nearly 10% of 17 year olds are regular multiple users of alcohol, tobacco or cannabis (3). This issue appears to have an international dimension, as a recent

Australian study showed that alcohol was the main cause of death and hospitalization among young Australians (15–24 years) (4). At this age, substance use is often associated with partying (5), youth justify their consumption by the sensations it provides, the desire to get intoxicated, or to facilitate integration into a group (3). However, several studies have highlighted the risk of correlation with other psychopathologies (6) and a risk of future mental health impairment (7).

A key point highlighted in the literature is that alcohol or substance use in adolescence and adulthood is significantly associated with maltreatment and negative childhood experiences (7). More globally, children's experiences and living conditions, from pregnancy onwards (8) have a major influence on the future mental health of victims. Indeed, the World Health Organization (WHO) claims that one in four adults worldwide report having experienced physical violence in childhood (9). A WHO study (10) reports that childhood adversity accounts for 29.8% of all disorders in all countries. In France, in 2015, between 17.6 and 22.0% of women, and between 12.9 and 18.0% of men reported having experienced at least one form of abuse during childhood (11), which may have major consequences in terms of public health. Numerous studies have highlighted the consequences of child maltreatment on the mental health of individuals. Moreover, numerous studies have pointed out the bidirectional relationship between mental health and SUD (12). Alcohol consumption can significantly trigger and exacerbate symptoms of internalization, and conversely, symptoms of internalization increase a person's vulnerability to developing SUD (13). Therefore, these adolescents who exhibit vulnerabilities appear to be at a higher risk of developing psychological symptoms associated with SUD. While these factors have been identified in the general population, we have less evidence for children in child protection care, despite overexposure to maltreatment, but also to mental health disorders (14). Additionally, studies on substance use among minors in child protection services are less existing, especially in France. It therefore seems important to us to focus on this population, which is exposed to multiple forms of abuse (15). Indeed, a cumulative phenomenon of exposure to abuse during childhood seems to amplify the risk of developing a psychological pathology (16-18). Besides, this cumulative aspect has a negative impact on the reduction of psychological symptoms over time (19).

A recent study underlined the complexity of estimating substance use among minors in child welfare services, which depends on the way in which it is measured and the age of the sample (20). Thus, rates ranging from 20% (21) to 50% (22) have been identified. It is essential to take this issue into account, as substance use is strongly associated with delinquency (23) and homelessness (24) in child protection populations, as reported by Bransard et al. (14), who point out that 25% of homeless people and 20% of adults in prison in France were previously child protection beneficiaries.

Considering maltreatment and its specificity as a risk factor for mental health disorders, and in particular substance and alcohol abuse, implies modifying care to adapt it to this population by favoring trauma-focused approaches to combat the long-term impact of the abuse (25). While many studies highlight the impact of maltreatment on the risk of illicit substance use and mental health deterioration, few studies have focused specifically on populations of maltreated children in the care of social services. The primary aim of the study was to ascertain whether Substance Use Disorders (SUD) among these minors varied based on the type of maltreatment experienced. The second objective was to examine the association between SUD and the presence of other psychological symptoms.

2. Methods

The present study relies on an analysis of data collected as part of the population-based study on children and young adults accompanied by the Essonne departmental council in the context of child protection. This is a retrospective cross-sectional study. The aim of this population-based study is to highlight the characteristics of maltreatment of minors in the Aide Sociale à l'Enfance (ASE) and to examine the psychological disorders of minors and young adults. It was developed from the Canadian incidence study (26). To conduct this population-based study, an email was sent to all social workers in charge of measures, in which a link was provided to allow them to complete the tool. We used the LimeSurvey software, so that the survey could be completed online. Professionals had between June 2020 and November 2020 to complete the survey. In total, 1,557 records were partially completed. 242 files were discarded because of too many missing answers. The result is a set of 193 variables containing information on 1,315 completed files, i.e., 19.185% of minors in care in the whole department.

As part of this research, we worked on the following variables Socio-demographic data: age, sex, duration of care, legal status of the child, interaction of the child with the parents, schooling, MDPH recognition (departmental house for the disabled people) and psychological care of the minor.

Data related to maltreatment

The data collected in the files are those that were included in the reason for care by the child protection services. These are physical abuse, sexual abuse, neglect, exposure to domestic violence, and psychological abuse. In terms of the timeline of events, the maltreatment comes first. Indeed, they prompted the need for intervention by child protection services. The symptoms were assessed at a later stage.

Data on psychological disorders

From the administrative files, social workers were asked to record psychological symptoms in children: depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, self-destructive behavior, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), aggressive behavior. This research was recorded in the Université de Lorraine's research register.

In this research, we focused on young individuals who engage in psychoactive substance consumption. Substance consumption is defined as a daily consumption of cigarettes and/or cannabis, as well as regular alcohol consumption. A first group of SUD youth was formed (N = 72) was compared to a group without substance use (N = 776). To do so, we excluded all children with an age of 11 years or younger because in our cohort, no child under the age of 11 presented cigarette, cannabis, and/or alcohol consumption.

Statistical analyses

Data analyses were performed using R software (version 4.0.2) and the level of significance was set at 0.05. In a first step, we performed descriptive analyses. The distribution of continuous data was estimated using the Anderson-Darling test. As the continuous variables are all non-parametric, they were described using medians and interquartile ranges (IQR). Categorical variables were reported in terms of number (n) and percentage (%).

We opted to perform several multivariable binary logistic regression models to explore the association of SUD. The results are presented in terms of odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). First, we explored the association of CPSA with sociodemographic variables (Model 1). Second, we investigated the association of CPSA with all childhood maltreatment variables (Model 2). Third, we examined the association between CPSA and the set of psychological symptoms variables (Model 3). Fourth, we included both sociodemographic and maltreatment variables (Model 4). Fifth, we included both sociodemographic and psychological symptoms variables (Model 5). Finally, we integrated sociodemographic, maltreatment, and psychological symptoms variables into the model (Model 6). Variation inflation factors (VIF <10) were calculated to check for non-correlation and multicollinearity (27). All the eigenvalues of the VIF were less than 10. With these results, multicollinearity has been ruled out as a concern. Finally, we calculated the Nagelkerke and McFadden R² for each model.

Results

In the entire cohort, a total of 72 adolescents were afflicted by SUD. The median age for this subgroup of minors was 17 years [15–19], with 41 (56.9%) being male. The predominant legal status among these adolescents with SUD was categorized as parental authority, encompassing 38 cases (52.8%). Interactions between parents and offspring were predominantly characterized as "frequent," representing 25 instances (40%). A substantial portion of this cohort of minors, approximately 47.2%, is found to be disengaged from formal education. Among these individuals, 9 cases (12.5%) had received formal recognition for having a recognized disability. Notably, a considerable subset of these adolescents, totaling 30 cases (41.7%), were concurrently receiving psychological support. All socio-demographic variables are described in Table 1.

Univariable analysis

Table 2 presents the odds ratios estimating the association for SUD (Substance Use Disorder) with different variables. SUD was associated with higher age [1.21; CI (1.08–1.36); p < 0.001], infrequent parental interactions [2.91; CI (1.14–8.96); p = 0.037], suicidal

ideation [3.52 (2.10–5.9); p < 0.001], Self-destructive behavior [5.86; CI (3.54–9.71); p < 0.001], and Aggressive Behavior [6.05; CI (3.6–10.19); p < 0.001]. Conversely, being enrolled in school appeared to reduce the risk of SUD [0.16; CI (0.09–0.27); p < 0.001]. Our results highlight that a form of maltreatment is significantly associated with SUD.

Analysis of models

Table 3 presents the results of multivariable binary logistic regression models applied to analyze Substance Use Disorder (SUD). Elevated age and disengagement from formal education demonstrated persistent associations with SUD across the models. Additionally, it can be highlighted that self-destructive behavior and aggressive behavior also exhibited consistent associations across all models. However, the association with frequent parental interactions was significant only within Models 5 and 6. Moreover, the status of being classified as an emerging adult exhibited an association with SUD only within Models 1 and 4.

Association with child maltreatment

Our results suggest a lack of association between distinct forms of maltreatment and SUD (Table 2). In Model 2, the associations were as follows: [1.43; CI (0.79–2.6); p = 0.241] for instances of physical violence, [1.41; CI (0.73–2.59); p = 0.29] for instances of sexual abuse, [0.96 (0.54–1.74); p = 0.895] for instances of neglect, [0.81; CI (0.44–1.50); p = 0.503] for instances of psychological violence, and [0.66; CI (0.37–1.16); p = 0.154] for instances of domestic violence. All models confirm the lack of significance obtained in Model 2.

Discussion

This study examined the association between SUD and forms of child maltreatment, but also with psychological symptoms. To our knowledge, this is the first French study to address this issue in a population of children in child protection care. The main hypothesis of our study was that in the specific population of minors in child protection care, SUD by these minors would be associated with different forms of maltreatment. In our results, on a population of subjects who had suffered abuse and were accompanied by child protection services, the type of abuse did not seem to influence SUD. However, our findings predominantly indicate that SUD is significantly linked to higher age, disengagement from schooling, Self-destructive behavior, and Aggressive Behavior. Moreover, certain models have indicated a significant inverse association between individuals with disabilities and SUD. Children who engage in frequent interactions with their parents, as opposed to those with permanent interactions, exhibit a significant association with SUD.

These results on the absence of association between maltreatment and SUD seem to contradict the existing literature that highlights the association between childhood maltreatment and the risk of substance use in adolescence or adulthood (7, 28).

TABLE 1 Characteristics of the SUD^a and others.

	SUD (72)	Other (776)	All (848)
	Median [IQR] / <i>n</i> (%)	Median [IQR] / <i>n</i> (%)	Median [IQR] / <i>n</i> (%)
Socio-demographic variables			
Age	17 [15–19]	16 [12-20]	16 [4]
Sex			
Female	31 (43.05)	339 (43.68)	370 (43.63)
Male	41 (56.94)	437 (56.31)	478 (56.37)
Status of the child			
Parental authority	38 (52.78)	451 (58.12)	489 (57.67)
Adult CJM ^b	21 (29.16)	175 (22.55)	196 (23.11)
Delegation of authority	6 (8.33)	37 (4.77)	43 (5.07)
Pupil of the state	1 (1.38)	21 (2.71)	22 (2.59)
Unaccompanied minors awaiting status	5 (6.94)	60 (7.73)	65 (7.67)
Other	1 (1.38)	32 (4.12)	33 (3.89)
Parent-child interaction		1	1
Permanent	5 (6.94)	121 (15.59)	126 (14.86)
Often	25 (34.72)	243 (31.31)	268 (31.6)
Rarely	20 (27.78)	166 (21.39)	186 (21.93)
Never	22 (30.56)	246 (31.70)	268 (31.6)
Education			
Yes	34 (52.78)	676 (87.11)	714 (84.2)
No	38 (47.22)	100 (12.89)	134 (15.8)
Recognition MDPH (Departmental house for d	isabled people)		
Yes	9 (12.5)	170 (21.91)	179 (21.11)
No	63 (87.5)	606 (78.09)	669 (78.89)
Psychological support			
Yes	30 (41.67)	360 (46.39)	390 (45.99)
No	42 (58.33)	416 (53.61)	458 (54.01)
Child maltreatment			
Physical Abuse			
Yes	38 (52.78)	332 (42.78)	366 (43.16)
No	34 (47.22)	444 (57.22)	482 (56.84)
Sexual abuse			
Yes	16 (22.22)	138 (17.78)	154 (18.16)
No	56 (77.78)	638 (82.22)	694 (81.84)
Neglect	1	I	1
Yes	47 (65.28)	527 (67.91)	574 (67.69)
No	25 (34.72)	249 (32.09)	274 (32.31)
Psychological violence		1	1
Yes	39 (54.16)	444 (57.22)	483 (56.96)
No	33 (45.83)	332 (42.78)	365 (43.04)
Domestic violence			1
Yes	27 (37.5)	349 (44.97)	376 (44.34)

(Continued)

	SUD (72)	Other (776)	All (848)
	Median [IQR] / <i>n</i> (%)	Median [IQR] / <i>n</i> (%)	Median [IQR] / <i>n</i> (%)
Psychological symptoms			
Depression			
Yes	40 (55.56)	354 (45.62)	394 (46.46)
No	32 (44.44)	422 (54.38)	454 (53.54)
Anxiety			
Yes	54 (75)	557 (71.78)	611 (72.05)
No	18 (25)	219 (28.22)	237 (28.95)
Suicidal Ideation			
Yes	27 (37.5)	113 (14.56)	140 (16.51)
No	45 (62.5)	663 (85.45)	708 (83.49)
Self-destructive behavior			
Yes	44 (61.11)	164 (21.13)	208 (24.53)
No	28 (38.89)	612 (78.86)	640 (75.47)
ADHD ⁴			
Yes	21 (29.17)	221 (28.48)	242 (28.54)
No	51 (70.83)	555 (71.52)	606 (71.46)
Attachment disorder			
Yes	42 (58.33)	396 (51.03)	438 (51.65)
No	30 (41.67)	380 (48.97)	410 (48.35)
Aggressive Behavior			
Yes	49 (68.05)	202 (26.03)	251 (29.6)
No	23 (31.94)	574 (73.97)	597 (70.4)

^aSubstance use disorders.

^bContrat jeune majeur (Young Adult Contract: This refers to a type of legal agreement or program that provides support and assistance to young individuals who are transitioning from the status of minors to adults in the child protection context).

However, most studies compared maltreated children with non-abused children. In our study, all the minors were exposed to childhood maltreatment. We note high odd ratios with physical abuse and sexual abuse. The lack of significance may be an effect of the small size of our consumer group. This could also mean that the type of adversity does not influence SUD, but that it would be child maltreatment in a general sense. The literature points out (29) that child maltreatment can be a stressful life event, often chronic and long-lasting, and where substance use can be used to alleviate the affect (29, 30).

In contrast, our study highlighted strong associations with psychological symptoms, including suicidal ideation. These findings are consistent with previous literature (31, 32). This is important as recent research has noted that children in child protection settings had less suicidal ideation than the general population but were more likely to act on it (33). This aspect raises inquiries into the mentalization capacity of the youth. Previous studies have underscored a correlation between attachment disorders, mentalization, and suicidal ideation (34). Youth in child protection are more exposed to attachment disorders, potentially influencing their mentalization processes and exacerbating the risk of transitioning from ideation to action (35). Further studies should delve into this highly significant aspect to enhance the management of children in child protection.

Regarding psychological symptoms, our results indicate also an association with a risk of aggressive behavior. These findings align with the work of Dória et al. (20) and call for early intervention to prevent progression toward legal action (11). Previous studies have underscored, in the general population, that substance consumption during adolescence is linked to a range of adverse outcomes, including aggressive behavior, antisocial conduct, and school disengagement (36). Substance Use Disorder (SUD) associated with aggressive behaviors acts as predictors of delinquent involvement (23). These youths exhibiting aggressive behaviors tend to identify themselves within peer groups, facilitated by their disengagement from schooling (37). Within these groups, aggressive behaviors and SUD are glorified, thereby escalating the risk of behavioral issues and SUD over the course of years (37). If our study does not measure the bidirectional aspects between SUD and psychological symptoms, it highlights numerous associations that would require further investigation into these dimensions. Indeed, bidirectionality is a complex and significant

TABLE 2 Univariable binary logistic regression models.

	OR 95% CI	p value
Age	1.21 (1.08–1.36)	<0.001
Sex (Male)	1.02 (0.63–1.67)	1
Status of the child	1	
Parental authority (reference)	-	
Adult CJM ¹	1.42 (0.8–2.47)	0.216
Delegation of authority	1.92 (0.69–4.55)	0.165
Pupil of the state	0.56 (0.03-2.82)	0.582
Unaccompanied minors awaiting status	0.99 (0.33-1.40)	0.982
Other	0.37 (0.02–1.80)	0.335
Parent-child interaction	-	
Permanent (reference)	-	
Often	2.49 (1.01-7.52)	0.069
Rarely	2.91 (1.14-8.96)	0.037
Never	2.86 (0.53-6.59)	0.128
Education (Yes)	0.16 (0.09-0.27)	<0.001
Recognition MDPH (Yes)	0.51 (0.25-1.04)	0.07
Psychological support (Yes)	0.82 (0.51–1.34)	0.46
Physical Abuse (Yes)	1.20 (0.74–1.94)	0.53
Sexual abuse (Yes)	1.32 (0.73–2.37)	0.34
Neglect (Yes)	0.89 (0.53–1.47)	0.693
Psychological violence (Yes)	0.88 (0.54–1.43)	0.62
Domestic violence (Yes)	0.73 (0.45–1.21)	0.26
Depression (Yes)	1.49 (0.92–2.42)	0.11
Anxiety (Yes)	1.17 (0.68–2.06)	0.68
Suicidal Ideation (Yes)	3.52 (2.10-5.90)	<0.001
Self-destructive behavior (Yes)	5.86 (3.54-9.71)	<0.001
ADHD (Yes)	1.03 (0.61–1.76)	0.89
Attachment disorder (Yes)	1.34 (0.82–2.19)	0.27
Aggressive Behavior (Yes)	6.05 (3.6-10.19)	<0.001

¹Contrat jeune majeur (Young Adult Contract: This refers to a type of legal agreement or program that provides support and assistance to young individuals who are transitioning from the status of minors to adults in the child protection context).

issue in public health. However, it is not necessarily straightforward. Previous studies had emphasized the bidirectional aspect between SUD and aggressive behaviors (38). On the other hand, a more recent study pointed out a reciprocal association between alcohol consumption and internalized symptoms in an adolescent population (13). However, when the analysis accounted for gender and externalized symptoms, no bidirectional association was found. Despite these contradictory results, the bidirectional relationship between SUD and psychological symptoms has been documented in the general population (12, 39–41), further studies should further investigate populations exposed to adversity, especially in child protection settings. Beyond the aspects related to symptomatology, our study highlights a significant association between school dropout and substance use. Studies have noted the effects of substance use, particularly cannabis, on school results (42, 43) and on school absenteeism. However, these studies were in general populations. It has been pointed out that children followed by the child protective services were significantly more likely to drop out of school than other children (44), but beyond the effects of maltreatment on school dropout (45), we have little information on the profile of minors. Our results suggest that children who are abused and use substances are more likely to drop out of school. This element must be taken into account in the holistic support of the child. In particular, by strengthening interaction between schools and child protection services, and by making reports to reduce the risk of children dropping out of school.

We propose not a distance but a multi-professional line of action, as it can be developed in the open dialog (46) protocols for network to address the issue of transference, which is partly undermined by the presence of attachment disorders. In this sense, it seems preferable to us to favor institutional psychotherapeutic approaches that favor the presence of a strong, multi-transferential collective (47). This approach would make it possible to fight against the process of desocialisation encouraged by attachment disorders and which can generate the risk of dropping out of school (48).

Limitations

Our study has several limitations. The main bias of the study is its design. A longitudinal study with repeated measurements to assess placed children would have allowed for greater data reliability. Secondly, the small sample size of the SUD may influence the significance of the results. Thirdly, there may be a recall bias in the case of retrospective data, especially with regard to sexual abuse where it is well known that there may be traumatic dissociation and lower reporting. Finally, the measurement of consumption was not carried out using a scale but from the elements recorded in the files. These are mainly related to a psychological assessment, but may also be the transcript of the observations of the referral educator.

Conclusion

This study highlights the association between psychological symptoms and susceptibility to psychoactive substance use. Importantly, it highlights a pronounced vulnerability to suicidal ideation and underscores a significant inclination toward aggressive behavior. Moreover, our results emphasize that among the cohort of minors under the purview of child protection services, those who partake in substance use are at an elevated risk of discontinuing their education. These comprehensive findings contribute crucial insights to the nuanced decision-making landscape within this institution (49).

There's no doubt that exposure to childhood trauma has a profound impact on mental well-being. As evidenced by prior research, it serves as a pivotal determinant that can shape the

TABLE 3 Comparison of logistic regression models to explain SUD.

	Model 1 N = 848	Model 2 N = 848	Model 3 N = 848	Model 4 N = 848	Model 5 N = 848	Model 6 N = 848
	OR 95% CI	OR 95% CI	OR 95% CI	OR 95% CI	OR 95% CI	OR 95% CI
Age	1.23 (1.01–1.52)	-	-	1.24 (1.01–1.53)	1.40 (1.11–1.79)	1.39 (1.09–1.79)
Sex (Male)	1.04 (0.61–1.78)	_	_	1.05 (0.60-1.88)	1.08 (0.59-2.02)	0.97 (0.5-1.89)
Status of the child		_	_			
Parental authority (reference)	-	-	_	-	-	-
Adult CJM ¹	0.37 (0.14-0.94)	-	-	0.36 (0.14-0.92)	0.51 (0.18-1.41)	0.5 (0.17-1.40)
Delegation of authority	2.37 (0.77-6.50)	-	-	2.21 (0.71-6.15)	2.99 (0.85-9.66)	3.03 (0.84-9.92)
Pupil of the state	0.51 (0.02-3.24)	-	-	0.49 (0.02-3.15)	1.36 (0.06–9.98)	1.17 (0.05-8.92)
Unaccompanied minors awaiting status	0.38 (0.10–1.23)	-	-	0.33 (0.09–2.32)	0.70 (0.17–2.54)	0.6 (0.14-2.28)
Other	0.41 (0.02–2.17)	-	-	0.44 (0.98-8.19)	0.44 (0.02-2.81)	0.45 (0.02-3)
Parent-child interaction	-	-	-	-	-	-
Permanent (reference)	-	-	-	-	-	-
Often	2.51 (0.96-7.91)	-	-	2.58 (0.99-8.19)	3.73 (1.31-12.64)	3.57 (1.23-12.24)
Rarely	2.21 (0.80-7.21)	-	-	2.34 (0.82-7.75)	2.78 (0.91-9.77)	3.08 (0.98-11.14)
Never	1.57 (0.53-5.32)	-	-	1.60 (0.54-5.50)	2 (0.62-7.41)	2 (0.6–7.55)
Education (Yes)	0.15 (0.08-0.27)	_	_	0.15 (0.08-0.27)	0.24 (0.12-0.46)	0.23 (0.12-0.45)
Recognition MDPH (Yes)	0.45 (0.19-0.97)	-	-	0.47 (0.20-1.02)	0.37 (0.14-0.91)	0.39 (0.14-0.96)
Psychological support (Yes)	1.12 (0.63–1.95)	_	_	1.11 (0.62–1.97)	0.91 (0.47-1.72)	0.95 (0.49–1.82)
Physical Abuse (Yes)	-	1.43 (0.79–2.60)	-	1.28 (0.67-2.47)	-	0.97 (0.46-2.01)
Sexual abuse (Yes)	-	1.41 (0.73–2.59)	-	1.29 (0.62–2.59)	-	1.07 (0.46-2.37)
Neglect (Yes)	-	0.96 (0.54–1.74)	-	1.02 (0.54–1.95)	-	1.11 (0.55–2.26)
Psychological violence (Yes)	-	0.81 (0.44–1.5)	-	0.74 (0.37-1.46)	-	0.68 (0.32–1.44)
Domestic violence (Yes)	-	0.66 (0.37-1.16)	-	0.72 (0.39–1.34)	-	0.60 (0.28-1.11)
Depression (Yes)	_	-	0.95 (0.51–1.77)	-	0.67 (0.34–1.32)	0.67 (0.33-1.33)
Anxiety (Yes)	-	-	0.66 (0.33–1.35)	-	0.83 (0.39-1.80)	0.85 (0.4-1.85)
Suicidal Ideation (Yes)	_	-	1.54 (0.77-3.07)	-	1.28 (0.59–2.77)	1.32 (0.60–2.87)
Self-destructive behavior (Yes)	-	-	3.17 (1.63-6.26)	-	4.28 (2.01-9.33)	4.35 (2.02-9.59)
ADHD (Yes)	-	-	0.57 (0.29–1.04)	-	0.81 (0.36-1.77)	0.83 (0.37-1.85)
Attachment disorder (Yes)	-	-	0.83 (0.45-1.50)	-	0.74 (0.37–1.47)	0.84 (0.41–1.74)
Aggressive Behavior (Yes)	-	-	4.42 (2.42-8.26)	-	5.26 (2.66-10.63)	5.75 (2.87-11.84)
McFadden R ²	0.13	0.01	0.15	0.14	0.28	0.29
Nagelkerke <i>R</i> ²	0.17	0.01	0.19	0.18	0.34	0.35

¹Contrat jeune majeur (Young Adult Contract: This refers to a type of legal agreement or program that provides support and assistance to young individuals who are transitioning from the status of minors to adults in the child protection context).

Bold font indicates statistical significance (p < 0.05).

trajectory of an individual's psychological health. Addressing the effects of childhood maltreatment and ensuring effective management

strategies emerge as paramount endeavors for safeguarding mental wellbeing or positive mental health and prevent the risk of SUD.

Data availability statement

The datasets used and/or analyzed in this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Ethics statement

Ethical approval was not required for the study involving humans in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent to participate in this study was not required from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

AE and MM co-wrote the first draft of the article. AE, MM, AA, FW, JM, MR, and GS participated in the data collection and correction of the article. GS supervised the work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Godeau E, Arnaud C, Navarro F. Données françaises de l'enquête internationale health behaviour in school-aged children. INPES (2008), 176–182

2. Bonaldi C, Hill C. La mortalité attribuable à l'alcool en France en 2015. *Bulletin Epidémiologique Hebdomadaire*. (2019) 5–6: Available at: http://invs.santepubliquefrance. fr/beh/2019/5-6/2019_5-6_2.html

3. Le Borgès E, Quatremère G, Andler R, Arwidson P, Nguyen-Thanh V, Spilka S, et al. Consommation de substances psychoactives chez les jeunes en France et dans certains pays à revenus élevés. État des lieux des modes et niveaux de consommation, et facteurs associés. Saint-Maurice: Santé publique France (2019).

4. Matthews S, Chikritzhs TN, Catalano P, Stockwell TR, Donath S. Trends in alcoholrelated violence in Australia, 1991/92-1999/00. Nat Alcohol Indictors Project, Bulletin No 5 Nat Drug Res Ins, Curtin Univ Technol, Perth, Western Australia. (2002)

5. Babaei Heydarabadi A, Ramezankhani A, Barekati H, Vejdani M, Shariatinejad K, Panahi R, et al. Prevalence of substance abuse among dormitory students of Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran. *Int J High Risk Behav Addict*. (2015) 4:e22350. doi: 10.5812/ijhrba.22350v2

6. Saban A, Flisher AJ. The association between psychopathology and substance use in young people: a review of the literature. *J Psychoactive Drugs*. (2010) 42:37–47. doi: 10.1080/02791072.2010.10399784

7. Kisely S, Mills R, Strathearn L, Najman JM. Does child maltreatment predict alcohol use disorders in young adulthood? A cohort study of linked notifications and survey data. *Addiction*. (2020) 115:61–8. doi: 10.1111/add.14794

8. Radua J, Ramella-Cravaro V, Ioannidis JPA, Reichenberg A, Phiphopthatsanee N, Amir T, et al. What causes psychosis? An umbrella review of risk and protective factors. *World Psychiatry.* (2018) 17:49–66. doi: 10.1002/wps.20490

9. WHO. Child maltreatment. World Health Organization. (2022) Available at: https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/child-maltreatment

10. Kessler RC, McLaughlin KA, Green JG, Gruber MJ, Sampson NA, Zaslavsky AM, et al. Childhood adversities and adult psychopathology in the WHO world mental health surveys. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2010) 197:378–85. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.110.080499

11. Bozon M. Violences et rapports de genre: enquête sur les violences de genre en France. Paris: INED éditions (2020).

12. Treur JL, Munafò MR, Logtenberg E, Wiers RW, Verweij KJH. Using Mendelian randomization analysis to better understand the relationship between mental health and substance use: a systematic review. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 51:1593–624. doi: 10.1017/S003329172100180X

13. Birrell L, Slade T, Teesson M, Prior K, Chapman C, Hides L, et al. Bidirectional relationships in the development of internalising symptoms and alcohol use in adolescence. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* (2020) 39:950–9. doi: 10.1111/dar.13070

14. Bronsard G, Alessandrini M, Fond G, Loundou A, Auquier P, Tordjman S, et al. The prevalence of mental disorders among children and adolescents in the child welfare system: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. *Medicine*. (2016) 95:e2622. doi: 10.1097/ MD.000000000002622

Funding

This study was funded by the Essonne departmental council.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

15. Segura A, Pereda N, Guilera G, Hamby S. Resilience and psychopathology among victimized youth in residential care. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2017) 72:301–11. doi: 10.1016/j. chiabu.2017.08.019

16. Myers B, Browne FA, Carney T, Kline T, Bonner CP, Wechsberg WM. The Association of Recurrent and Multiple Types of abuse with adverse mental health, substance use, and sexual health outcomes among out-of-school adolescent girls and Young women in Cape Town. *South Africa IJERPH.* (2021) 18:11403. doi: 10.3390/ jerph182111403

17. Stein CR, Sheridan MA, Copeland WE, Machlin LS, Carpenter KLH, Egger HL. Association of adversity with psychopathology in early childhood: dimensional and cumulative approaches. *Depress Anxiety*. (2022) 39:524–35. doi: 10.1002/da.23269

 Varese F, Smeets F, Drukker M, Lieverse R, Lataster T, Viechtbauer W, et al. Childhood adversities increase the risk of psychosis: a Meta-analysis of patient-control, prospective- and cross-sectional cohort studies. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:661–71. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbb050

19. Clark C, Caldwell T, Power C, Stansfeld SA. Does the influence of childhood adversity on psychopathology persist across the Lifecourse? A 45-year prospective epidemiologic study. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2010) 20:385–94. doi: 10.1016/j. annepidem.2010.02.008

20. He AS, Traube DE, Young NK. Perceptions of parental substance use disorders in cross-system collaboration among child welfare, alcohol and other drugs, and dependency court organizations. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2014) 38:939–51. doi: 10.1016/j. chiabu.2013.10.020

21. Wall AE, Kohl PL. Substance use in maltreated youth: findings from the national survey of child and adolescent well-being. *Child Maltreat.* (2007) 12:20–30. doi: 10.1177/1077559506296316

22. Moran PB, Vuchinich S, Hall NK. Associations between types of maltreatment and substance use during adolescence. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2004) 28:565–74. doi: 10.1016/j. chiabu.2003.12.002

23. Dória GMS, Antoniuk SA, Assumpção Junior FB, Fajardo DN, Ehlke MN. Delinquency and association with behavioral disorders and substance abuse. *Rev Assoc Med Bras.* (2015) 61:51–7. doi: 10.1590/1806-9282.61.01.051

24. Firdion J-M. Influence des événements de jeunesse et héritage social au sein de la population des utilisateurs des services d'aide aux sansdomicile. *Economie et Statistique*. (2016)

25. Fernandes GS, Spiers A, Vaidya N, Zhang Y, Sharma E, Holla B, et al. Adverse childhood experiences and substance misuse in young people in India: results from the multisite cVEDA cohort. *BMC Public Health.* (2021) 21:1920. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11892-5

26. Trocmé N. National Clearinghouse on family violence (Canada), Public Health Agency of Canada eds. Canadian incidence study of reported child abuse and neglect, 2008: Major findings. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada (2010). 105 p.

27. Hair JF, Tatham RL, Black WC. *Multivariate Data Analysis*. New York: Macmillan (1995).

28. McCurdy AL, Gower AL, Rider GN, Thomas D, Watson RJ, Eisenberg ME, et al. Adolescent substance use at the intersections of foster care, sexual orientation and gender identity, racial/ethnic identity, and sex assigned at birth. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2023) 137:106042. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2023.106042

29. Afifi TOHenriksen CA, Asmundson GJG, Sareen J. Childhood maltreatment and substance use disorders among men and women in a nationally representative sample. *Can J Psychiatr.* (2012) 57:677–86. doi: 10.1177/070674371205701105

30. Wills TA. Stress and coping factors in the epidemiology of substance use In: LT Kozlowski, HM Annis, HD Cappell, FB Glaser, MS Goodstadt and Y Israelet al, editors. *Research advances in alcohol and drug problems.* Boston, MA: Springer US (1990). 215–50.

31. Sellers CM, McRoy RG, O'Brien KHM. Substance use and suicidal ideation among child welfare involved adolescents: a longitudinal examination. *Addict Behav.* (2019) 93:39–45. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.01.021

32. Bagge CL, Sher KJ. Adolescent alcohol involvement and suicide attempts: toward the development of a conceptual framework. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2008) 28:1283–96. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2008.06.002

33. Bronsard G, Boyer L, Diallo Bogreau I. Étude médico-psychologique d'adolescents placés en Centre Éducatif Fermé en France. (2019).

34. Green J, Berry K, Danquah A, Pratt D. Attachment security and suicide ideation and behaviour: the mediating role of reflective functioning. *IJERPH*. (2021) 18:3090. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18063090

35. Carrera P, Román M, Jiménez-Morago JM. Foster children's attachment representations: the role of type of maltreatment and the relationship with birth family. *Attach Hum Dev.* (2021) 23:969–86. doi: 10.1080/14616734.2020.1841253

36. Biglan A, Van Ryzin MJ. Behavioral science and the prevention of adolescent substance abuse. *Perspect Behav Sci.* (2019) 42:547–63. doi: 10.1007/s40614-019-00217-y

37. Van Ryzin MJ, Dishion TJ. Adolescent deviant peer clustering as an amplifying mechanism underlying the progression from early substance use to late adolescent dependence. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2014) 55:1153–61. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12211

38. Margolin G, Ramos MC, Baucom BR, Bennett DC, Guran EL. Substance use, aggression perpetration, and victimization: temporal co-occurrence in college males and females. *J Interpers Violence*. (2013) 28:2849–72. doi: 10.1177/0886260513488683

39. Burton SMI, Sallis HM, Hatoum AS, Munafò MR, Reed ZE. Is there a causal relationship between executive function and liability to mental health and substance use? A Mendelian randomization approach. *R Soc Open Sci.* (2022) 9:220631. doi: 10.1098/rsos.220631

40. Lynne-Landsman SD, Graber JA, Nichols TR, Botvin GJ. Trajectories of aggression, delinquency, and substance use across middle school among urban, minority adolescents. *Aggress Behav.* (2011) 37:161–76. doi: 10.1002/ab.20382

41. Pacek LR, Martins SS, Crum RM. The bidirectional relationships between alcohol, cannabis, co-occurring alcohol and cannabis use disorders with major depressive disorder: results from a national sample. *J Affect Disord.* (2013) 148:188–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012.11.059

42. Lynskey M, Hall W. The effects of adolescent cannabis use on educational attainment: a review. *Addiction*. (2000) 95:1621–30. doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.2000.951116213.x

43. Lynskey MT, Coffey C, Degenhardt L, Carlin JB, Patton G. A longitudinal study of the effects of adolescent cannabis use on high school completion: Cannabis use and high school completion. *Addiction*. (2003) 98:685–92. doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.2003.00356.x

44. Mainaud T. Échec et retard scolaire des enfants hébergés par l'aide sociale à l'enfance. *Études et Résultats.* (2011) 845:1-6.

45. Fry D, Fang X, Elliott S, Casey T, Zheng X, Li J, et al. The relationships between violence in childhood and educational outcomes: a global systematic review and metaanalysis. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2018) 75:6–28. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.06.021

46. Freeman AM, Tribe RH, Stott JCH, Pilling S. Open dialogue: a review of the evidence. PS. (2019) 70:46–59. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201800236

47. La DP. psychothérapie institutionnelle: d'où vient-elle et où va-t-elle? *Empan.* (2014) 96:104. doi: 10.3917/empa.096.0104

48. Lehmann S, Breivik K, Heiervang ER, Havik T, Havik OE. Reactive attachment disorder and disinhibited social engagement disorder in school-aged Foster children--a confirmatory approach to dimensional measures. *J Abnorm Child Psychol.* (2016) 44:445–57. doi: 10.1007/s10802-015-0045-4

49. Essadek A, Assous A, Rezgui D, Shadili G. La complexité de la prise de décision dans le cadre du placement en protection de l'enfance en France. *La psychiatrie de l'enfant*. (2021) 64:211–28. doi: 10.3917/psye.641.0211

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Bernard Golse, Université de Paris, France

REVIEWED BY Serena Grumi, Neurological Institute Foundation Casimiro Mondino (IRCCS), Italy Anne-Catherine Rolland, Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Pierre Kuhn ⊠ pierre.kuhn@chru-strasbourg.fr

RECEIVED 25 May 2023 ACCEPTED 30 October 2023 PUBLISHED 16 November 2023

CITATION

Stern-Delfils A, Leray I, Caeymaex L, Dicky O, Akrich M, Reynaud A, Bouvard C, Evrard A, Sizun J, Tscherning C, Kuhn P and the GREEN Committee (Groupe de Réflexion et d'Evaluation de l'Environnement des Nouveau-nés de la Société Française de Néonatologie) (2023) Father's perceptions and care involvement for their very preterm infants at French neonatal intensive care units. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1229141. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1229141

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Stern-Delfils, Leray, Caeymaex, Dicky, Akrich, Reynaud, Bouvard, Evrard, Sizun, Tscherning, Kuhn and the GREEN Committee (Groupe de Réflexion et d'Evaluation de l'Environnement des Nouveau-nés de la Société Française de Néonatologie). This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Father's perceptions and care involvement for their very preterm infants at French neonatal intensive care units

Amélie Stern-Delfils¹, Isabelle Leray², Laurence Caeymaex^{3,4}, Odile Dicky^{5,6}, Madeleine Akrich⁷, Audrey Reynaud⁸, Charlotte Bouvard⁸, Anne Evrard⁷, Jacques Sizun⁵, Charlotte Tscherning^{5,6,9,10}, Pierre Kuhn^{2,11,12}* and the GREEN Committee (Groupe de Réflexion et d'Evaluation de l'Environnement des Nouveau-nés de la Société Française de Néonatologie)

¹Department of Neonatology, Hospital of Mulhouse, Mulhouse, France, ²Department of Neonatology, University Hospital of Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France, ³NICU, Centre Hospitalier Intercommunal de Créteil, Créteil, France, ⁴Centre d'Etudes Discours Images Textes Ecrits Communication (CEDITEC), Paris Est Créteil University, Créteil, France, ⁵NICU, University Hospital, Toulouse, France, ⁶U1027 INSERM, Paul Sabatier University, Toulouse, France, ⁷Collectif inter-associatif autour de la naissance (CIANE), Paris, France, ⁸Association SOS Préma, Boulogne-Billancourt, France, ⁹NICU, Sidra Medicine Hospital, Well Cornell University Hospital, Doha, Qatar, ¹⁰Center for Pathophysiology Toulouse-Purpan (CPTP), Inserm Unviversity of Toulouse, Toulouse, France, ¹¹Institut des Neurosciences Cellulaires et Intégratives, CNRS UPR, Strasbourg University, Strasbourg, France, ¹²Neonatal Research Unit, Department of Women's and Children's Health, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden

Objectives: We aimed to evaluate (1) fathers' perceptions and care involvement for their very premature infants and their views of the hospitalization period based on parental reports and (2) their evolution over time.

Methods: We used an online parental survey to assess answers from parents of very preterm infants who were successfully discharged from French neonatal units. We analysed answers from February 2014 to January 2019 to an anonymous internet-based survey from the GREEN committee of the French Neonatal Society. Responses were compared for period 1 (P1, 1998 to 2013) and period 2 (P2, 2014 to 2019).

Results: We analyzed 2,483 surveys, 124 (5%) from fathers and 2,359 (95%) from mothers. At birth, 1,845 (80%) fathers were present in the hospital, but only 879 (38%) were near the mother. The presence of fathers in the NICU increased from P1 to P2 (34.5% vs. 43.1%, p = 0.03). Nearly two thirds of fathers accompanied their infants during transfer to the NICU (1,204 fathers, 60.6%). Fathers and mothers had similar perceptions regarding relationships with caregivers and skin-to-skin contact with their infants. However, more fathers than mothers felt welcome in the NICU and in care involvement regarding requests for their wishes when they met their infant (79% vs. 60%, p = 0.02) and in the presentation of the NICU (91% vs. 76%; p = 0.03). Mothers and fathers significantly differed in the caring procedures they performed (p = 0.01), procedures they did not perform but wanted to perform (p < 0.001), and procedures they did not perform and did not want to perform (p < 0.01).

Conclusion: Most fathers were present at the births of their very preterm infants, but fewer fathers were near the mother at this time. Less than two thirds of fathers

accompanied their infants to the NICU. There should be further changes to better meet the specific needs of the fathers of infants requiring care in the NICU. Continuing assessment with an online questionnaire may be useful to monitor changes over time in father's involvement in NICUs.

KEYWORDS

online survey administration, fathers, preterm infants, NICU, care involvement and presence

1 Introduction

The birth and hospitalization of a very preterm infant (VPI) in a neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) is a major disruption in the family's life. The stressful and intimidating NICU environment and the uncertain health outcomes for newborns is especially traumatic for parents (1). The burden of these multiple stresses may have long-term consequences on the parent-child relationship and parents' mental health (2). The parents of premature neonates have increased risk of depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, and anxiety (3–5). Infant-and family-centered developmental care strategies can prevent these complications and meet the family's needs. Recent studies have recommended providing support for increased involvement of mothers and fathers in the care of their premature infants (6–8).

The presence of fathers in the NICU is now believed to promote the experience of fatherhood with the premature infant, increase the well-being of the mother and infant, and contribute to better infant brain development (8–10). Premature birth may reverse the roles of fathers and mothers in that fathers may be on the front line of care. In particular, fathers of such newborns often receive information on the infant's health and communicate this information to their partners (11). However, often, fathers feel unable to care for their infants, lack self-confidence, and are intimidated by the small size and apparent fragility of their premature newborn (11–13).

Biological and neuroscientific studies have shown that fathers have an innate ability to bond with and care for their premature infants (14, 15). Several studies have shown that fathers of preterm infants wanted to play an active role in their infants' care (9, 12, 16– 19). Father-infant bonding appears to be facilitated by the development of fathering skills and increased involvement in infant care (9, 10).

Thus, fathers seeking to care for their premature newborns need support and guidance that meet their specific needs. Previous parental surveys have assessed parental experiences and needs in the NICU (20, 21). However, only a few studies have been performed at the national level, and they rarely specifically examined fathers' views. A recent survey was submitted to parents in France (21, 22). This tool gave the opportunity to collect the presence and experiences of fathers' in French NICUs.

Our main objective was to evaluate the perception of fathers' presence at the time of birth of their VPIs and their experiences during their infants' transfer to the NICU. Secondary objectives were to evaluate fathers' experiences of feeling welcome in the NICU, their perceptions of their relationships with caregivers, and their participation in care and skin-to-skin contact, as compared to mothers' experiences. Finally, we aimed to assess the evolution of these items over time.

2 Patients and methods

2.1 Development and distribution of the questionnaire

In France, an internet-based survey was started in February 2014 as a collaborative project between members of the French Neonatology Society and parental associations within the *Groupe de Réflexion et d'Evaluation du Nouveau-né* (GREEN Committee) (21, 22). The objective was to develop recommendations to improve family integration into NICUs and to modify the hospital environment so that it better meets the needs of parents and their infants (7).

This anonymous online survey for the parents of premature infants who were hospitalized in NICUs consists of 222 questions regarding neonatal care (some multiple-choice and some open-ended) and covers 9 distinct areas. The topics covered include the particular circumstances of the birth, the parent's perceptions of feeling welcome, transfer of the infant to different units, breastfeeding, participation in care, and preparation for hospital discharge. It is intended for all parents who had a newborn infant hospitalized in a NICU.

2.2 Characteristics of parents and infants and data collection

This study was an analysis of quantitative data based on responses collected up to January 2019. We focused on fathers whose infants were born before 32 weeks of gestational age and successfully discharged from the hospital (Figure 1).

A total of 29 items described the population of fathers as a whole: demographic characteristics, presence at the time of birth, and support provided during the infant transfer to the NICU. For these 29 items, we used the responses of all fathers and mothers.

A total of 34 items focused on both parents' experiences. These allowed us to specifically analyse responses about feeling welcome in the NICU, relationships with caregivers, participation in different caring procedures (detailed in Table 1) and skin-to-skin contact. For these 34 questions, we compared the answers of mothers and fathers.

Abbreviations: GA: Gestational age; NICU: Neonatal intensive care unit; VPI: Very preterm infant.



Finally, we compared the periods of VPI birth from 1998 to 2013 (period 1; P1) and 2014 to 2019 (period 2; P2) to analyse changes over time as the first recommendations of the GREEN committee, aiming to improve family integration into NICUs, were presented in 2014.

Moreover, open-ended questions were included in the survey to allow the expression of individual feelings of the responders. They were used to describe more precisely the father's perception and to illustrate the presentation of the results of the survey with individual testimonies about fathers' care involvement.

2.3 Statistical analysis

Quantitative variables are presented as mean and standard deviation (SD) or number (%) and were compared by student *t*-test or Fisher's exact test, as indicated. For multiple comparisons, the *p*-value was adjusted using Holm's method (23). To compare the proportions of fathers and mothers among numerous items, we used the signs test (24). All statistical analyses were performed with R v3.5.2.

3 Results

Table 2 shows the characteristics of responding parents and their VPIs. Significantly more fathers than mothers reported living as couples, fathers had significantly more education than mothers, and the infants of fathers were significantly more preterm. As compared with P1 (1998 to 2013), during P2 (2014 to 2019), fathers were older [mean age 32.7 (5.6) vs. 31.3 (5.9) years, p < 0.0001], more families were living as couples (94.2% vs. 89.4%; p < 0.0001), and the proportion of families with siblings was greater (35.3% vs. 29.8%, p < 0.01) (data not shown). Not all fathers and mothers responded to all the questions

of the survey. The number of responders is specified for each question when it is necessary.

3.1 Presence of fathers at birth and during transfer to the NICU

Most fathers were present at birth, but less than half were near the mother, mainly due to medical restrictions.

The fathers regretted not being at their wives' side: "They did not come to get me to attend the cesarean" or "The nurses initially took my wife. After 3 min that seemed like an eternity, I had to insist twice and impose myself to attend the delivery. Our children arrived a few minutes later."

However, the father's presence near the mother increased over time. Most fathers were separated from their infants less than 24 h. Fathers visited before mothers. An increasing majority of fathers accompanied their infants to the NICU and most fathers accompanied their infants during intra-hospital transfers with caregivers.

The transfer of the newborn to the NICU remained a moment of particular vulnerability: the lack of information, the lack of welcome time and the feeling of loneliness were difficult for fathers: "*My twins were taken to the unit without me. When I arrived, the doctors and nurses were all busy caring for my twins. So no one greeted me*" or "*When he was born, we could not see him; he was immediately taken to the next room to be intubated. We did not hear him scream*" or "*I wish I had accompanied my child to NICU. I found myself without my baby and without my wife, alone and distraught. It was a very difficult time for me*."

The fathers reported easily finding the location of the NICU, even when going alone. This was similar for inter-hospital transfer, which fathers mostly performed on their own. In comparing P1 to P2 (Table 3), the father's presence near the mother at birth increased over time.

TABLE 1 Caring procedures.

Caring procedure domains	Type of caring procedures
Feeding	Preparing the milk in a syringe or cup Giving the bottle or cup Inserting or removing the nasogastric tube
Monitoring	Weighing/measuring your child Reporting monitoring data on your infant's chart (oxygen saturation/heart rate) Taking your child's temperature Turning off monitor alarms Putting electrodes on the chest
Hygiene care	Fully washing your child in the incubator Performing umbilical cord care Bathing your child wearing high flow or nasal CPAP cannula Bathing your child intubated
Diaper care and stools	Changing a nappy in the incubator Performing an abdominal massage Helping your child to stool by bending the knees
Positioning and clothing	Dressing your child wearing high flow or nasal CPAP cannula Dressing your child intubated Set up the cocoon or swaddling Cleaning the incubator or bed Cleaning feeding equipment (cup/bottle) Bringing clothes and sheets, washing them at home
Skin-to-skin contact or holding	Deciding when your unventilated child can be in skin-to-skin contact Deciding when your child can be in skin-to-skin contact with ventilation or nCPAP Deciding when your unventilated child can be held Deciding when your child can be held with ventilation or nCPAP Deciding when your intubated child can be held
Medical care	Putting on the cannula and repositioning the child in phototherapy Giving glucose before a painful procedure Hold the child by swaddling and comforting during a painful procedure Stimulating the child in case of apnoea Changing O2 high flow cannula Changing the CPAP equipment Suctioning at the nose or mouth
Administering pharmacological treatment	Administering medications orally Administering medications through the gastric tube Putting in eyedrops Administering inhalation

CPAP, continuous positive airway pressure; nCPAP, nasal continuous positive airway pressure.

3.2 Feeling welcome in the NICU

Overall, parents felt very welcome by the medical team, they reported that they received adequate and easily understood information, and the efficiency of the healthcare workers made them trust the team (see Tables 4, 5). More fathers than mothers had positive feelings during the first visit and during explanations of the unit's guidelines. Mothers met physicians later than did fathers but not significantly.

3.3 Relationships with caregivers

Overall, parents were very satisfied or satisfied about their relationships with caregivers. Most fathers and mothers perceived the staff as being available and felt confident in asking questions. They also felt involved in decision-making about the infant's well-being, health, and daily schedule. The parents felt comfortable talking openly to the caregivers, and the information they received seemed consistent among different caregivers. Fathers and mothers did not significantly differ in caregiver relationships (see Tables 6, 7).

3.4 Participation in care

Overall, most parents felt very positive regarding the support they received from caregivers for participating in their infants' care (Table 8). We also analysed participation in care more precisely by identifying different caring procedures (see Table 1).

However, when comparing caring procedures overall between mothers and fathers, we found significant differences in the number of caring procedures that were performed, procedures not performed but that the parent wanted to perform, and procedures not performed and the parent did not want to perform (Figure 2). Overall, fathers performed more caring procedures than mothers (Figure 2A; p=0.01), including bathing and dressing the intubated infant, preparing the infant for phototherapy, and stopping the monitor alarms. More mothers than fathers wanted to perform caring procedures that they did not actually perform (Figure 2B; p < 0.001), including cord care, bathing and dressing of the intubated infant, preparing for breast feeding, and administering eye drops. Finally, more fathers than mothers reported not performing caring procedures that they did not want to perform (Figure 2C; p < 0.01), including washing the infant completely in an incubator, administering a sweet solution, and performing facilitated tucking during a painful procedure. However, more mothers than fathers did not perform certain other caring procedures that they did not want to perform, including installing and removing a nasogastric tube and performing nasal or oral suction procedures.

Fathers and mothers did not differ in specific caring procedures, except for care of the umbilical cord, with significantly more mothers than fathers not performing cord care although they wanted to (29% vs. 11%, p = 0.026).

3.5 Participation in skin-to-skin contact

Most parents were informed of the benefits of skin-to-skin contact, performed this procedure, and felt confident when doing so: "Skin-to-skin contact was very strongly recommended to us, which we obviously agreed with (see Table 9). We had a comfortable chair, available staff, everything was always done with patience, with measured and careful gestures." Fathers and mothers did not significantly differ in this care, especially regarding the timing of the first skin-to-skin

TABLE 2 Characteristics of respondents and their infants.

Characteristics	Fathers' responses (N = 124)	Mothers' responses (N = 2,359)	p
Father's age, mean (SD), N = 2,414	32.6 (5.6)	31.9 (5.8)	0.19
Mother's age, mean (SD), N = 2,478	31.6 (5.1)	30.8 (5.4)	0.1
Mother's family situation at the time of birth: in couple, n (%), $N = 2,483$	124 (100)	2,256 (95.6)	<0.01
Mother's current family situation: in couple, n (%), $N = 2,483$	118 (95.2)	2,155 (91.4)	0.18
Father's education level, n (%), N = 2,402			<0.001
College level	37 (29.8)	1,084 (47.6)	
Baccalaureate level	1 (0.8)	103 (4.5)	
Higher education	86 (69.4)	1,091 (47.9)	
Mother's education level, n (%), N = 2,482			<0.05
College level	30 (24.2)	810 (34.4)	
Baccalaureate level	1 (0.8)	59 (2.5)	
Higher education	93 (75)	1,489 (63.1)	
Father's occupation, <i>n</i> (%), <i>N</i> = 2,409			0.63
Employed	121 (97.6)	2,180 (95.4)	
Unemployed	3 (2.4)	98 (4.3)	
Student	0 (0)	4 (0.2)	
Other (pensioner etc.)	0 (0)	3 (0.1)	
Mother's occupation, n (%), N = 2,482			0.17
Employed	109 (87.9)	1,961 (83.2)	
Unemployed	13 (10.5)	380 (16.1)	
Student	2 (1.6)	15 (0.6)	
Other (pensioner etc.)	0 (0)	2 (0.1)	
Father's native language, n (%), N = 2,418			0.1
French	118 (95.9)	2,077 (90.5)	
Other language	1 (0.8)	83 (3.6)	
Bilingual, including French	4 (3.3)	135 (5.9)	
Mother's native language, n (%), N = 2,483			0.08
French	114 (92)	2,220 (94.1)	
Other language	5 (4)	32 (1.4)	
Bilingual, including French	5 (4)	107 (4.5)	
Single or multiple births, n (%), N = 2,483			0.27
Singleton	103 (83.1)	1,988 (84.3)	
Twins	20 (16.1)	351 (14.9)	

(Continued)

TABLE 2 (Continued)

Triplets	0 (0)	17 (0.7)	
Quadruplets	1 (0.8)	3 (0.1)	< 0.05
Infant's gestational age at birth, median (min-max), N=2,483	28 (24-31)	29 (24-31)	<0.05
Birth weight, g, n (%), $N = 2,483$			0.37
<500	1 (0.8)	33 (1.4)	
500 to 1,500	113 (91.1)	2,002 (84.9)	
>1,500	10 (8.1)	324 (13.7)	
Family with siblings living at time of birth, n (%), $N = 2,480$	43 (34.7)	757 (32.1)	0.56
Number of hospitals where the infant received care, median (min–max), <i>N</i> = 2,282	1 (1–5)	1 (1–5)	0.36

Bold values indicate statistically significant differences.

contact. However, a higher proportion of mothers than fathers would have liked to perform skin-to-skin contact more often.

Nonetheless, some fathers' open-ended comments about skin-toskin contact described a stressful experience: "For the first skin-to-skin contact, the nurse insisted when I wasn't ready; it was too early for me, I was tired and was afraid he would breathe wrong on me" or "During skin-to-skin contact, the temperature was dropping too fast, and I was afraid I was making him worse." or "I felt more uncomfortable than insecure, a little ridiculous unclothed in the nursing unit" or "I was afraid of respiratory arrest when the assistants were removed and afraid of falling asleep with the baby and not doing it right."

4 Discussion

The results of this national web-based survey indicated that most fathers were present at birth, but less than half were near the mother at this time, although this number increased slightly over time. Very few fathers reported no separation from their infants, although most met their VPIs within 1 day of birth. Less than two thirds of fathers accompanied their infants during transfer to the NICU. We found many similarities between the responses of fathers and mothers; however, there were significant differences in the perceptions of fathers and mothers regarding feeling welcome in the neonatal unit and involvement in care of their infants.

The main limitation of this study was that it used an internetbased open-access questionnaire that required knowledge of the French language, which probably explains why the study population had a high percentage of parents with high socio-economic class and traditional family structure. Thus, our results may not be applicable to fathers from economically vulnerable families. In addition, our study population probably had more fathers that were involved in their infant's care. In agreement, a European study also reported that fathers with higher education were more likely to be present in the unit during medical rounds than other fathers (25). This situation could limit the generalizability of our results regarding fathers' perceptions. In addition, because our data were collected retrospectively, there was a risk of incorrect reporting of information by parents, whose perceptions could have changed over time and after discharge. Data TABLE 3 Comparison of fathers' presence at birth and transfer of newborns to other hospital units during period 1 (P1; 1998–2013) and period 2 (P2; 2014–2019).

	Total (N = 2,483)	Overall population from P1 (1998–2013) (N = 1,371)	Overall population from P2 (2014–2019) (<i>N</i> = 1,112)	Adjusted p
Father at birth was, n (%), $N = 2,291$				0.03
Present in birth room with mother	879 (38.4)	439 (34.5)	440 (43.1)	
Present but in a room next door because not allowed in birth room by medical staff	932 (40.7)	543 (42.7)	389 (38.1)	
Present but in a room next door, because did not want to attend	34 (1.5)	21 (1.7)	13 (1.3)	
Not present because of no time or unable to come	318 (13.9)	196 (15.4)	122 (12)	
Not present for other reasons	128 (5.5)	72 (5.7)	56 (5.5)	
Length of time between birth and mother's first visit with baby, n (%), $N = 1,960$				0.001
No separation	130 (6.6)	58 (5.3)	72 (8.4)	
Separation less than 24 h	1,330 (67.9)	701 (63.7)	629 (73.1)	
Separation more than 24 h	500 (25.5)	341 (31)	159 (18.5)	
Length of time between birth and father's first visit with baby, n (%), $N = 2,009$				0.15
No separation	795 (39.6)	420 (37)	375 (42.8)	
Separation less than 24 h	1,148 (57.1)	667 (58.8)	481 (55)	
Separation more than 24 h	66 (3.3)	47 (4.2)	19 (2.2)	
Number of fathers who accompanied baby to the first neonatal unit, n (%), $N = 1,986$	1,204 (60.6)	648 (57.9)	556 (64.2)	0.19
Means by which father followed his baby to another hospital, n (%), $N=73$				1
By himself	71 (97.3)	46 (97.9)	25 (96.2)	
In an ambulance	2 (2.7)	1 (2.1)	1 (3.8)	
If father went by himself, those who easily found the service where the infant was transferred, n (%) ($N = 58$)	53 (91.4)	32 (91.4)	21 (91.3)	1
For infant's transfer in the same hospital, fathers who were accompanied by a member of the healthcare team, n (%), $N = 1,042$	901 (86.5)	455 (83.5)	446 (89.7)	0.17
If fathers went there alone, those who easily found the service where the infant was transferred, n (%), $N = 132$	115 (87.1)	74 (89.2)	41 (83.7)	1

were also missing for some items in the questionnaire for some respondents. However, the very high number of total answers from mothers regarding the fathers' behaviors suggests the validity of our data.

To our knowledge, this was the first nation-wide study that used quantitative data to assess fathers' presence at the birth of their preterm infants and during their transfer to the NICU. Previous studies have reported fathers' perceptions during pregnancy and birth (26) but not the proportions of fathers present at birth and the presence of the father with the mother at that time. Similar to our results, a German survey from 2011 interviewed 111 fathers of very low birth weight infants in 2 NICUs and found that nearly all the fathers met their infants on the first day of life. However, first contact was earlier for these German fathers than the fathers in our study in that 33.3% of them saw their infants at birth and 61.3% saw them within 1 h of birth (27).

There is a general lack of data regarding the presence and role of fathers at birth of a VPI and during transfer to the NICU, even though fathers reported being very satisfied when accompanying their infants immediately after birth and when encouraged to touch and hold them (18). Current recommendations for infant-and family-centered developmental care strongly support parents being as close as possible to their infants (6) and that separation should be avoided. European studies showed that policies regarding parental presence and involvement in the NICU varied widely among countries and among NICUs within individual countries (28, 29). There is greater support for parental presence in the NICU in northern than other European countries. However, increasing emphases are being placed on applying fewer restrictions for parents regarding access to the NICU, more encouragement for parents to provide skin-to-skin contact, and improved accessibility of parents to bedrooms, family kitchens, and private bathrooms in NICUs (28, 30). These changes of NICU policies

TABLE 4 Parents' perceptions of feeling welcome in neonatal units.

	Fathers	Mothers	Adjusted p
Upon arrival in the neonatal care intensive unit, <i>n</i> (%)			
The parent felt expected by the medical team (N fathers = 95 and N mothers = 1,944)	83 (87)	1,606 (83)	1
The team devoted the time required (<i>N</i> fathers = 95 and <i>N</i> mothers = 1,944)	93 (98)	1,731 (89)	0.49
The team asked about the parents' wishes/needs when meeting with the infant (N fathers = 86 and N mothers = 1,880)	68 (79)	1,128 (60)	0.02
During this first visit, the parent was introduced to, n (%) (N fathers = 95 and N mothers = 1,944)			
The service and its operating rules	87 (92)	1,474 (76)	0.03
The caregivers of the infant	85 (89)	1,597 (82)	1
The infant's room and with explanations about the function of each device	81 (85)	1,497 (77)	1
The infant	85 (89)	1,720 (88)	1
Waiting time before talking with a member of the healthcare team (nurse, caregiver, intern, physician) about the condition of infant, n (%) (N fathers = 100 and N mothers = 1,960)			
After 24 h	6 (6)	294 (15)	0.56
Waiting time before meeting a physician, n (%) (N fathers = 91 and N mothers = 1,731)			
After 24h	20 (22)	658 (38)	0.08
During the first interview with the physician, the parent felt, n (%) (N fathers = 95 and N mothers = 1,890)			
Supported	83 (87)	1,561 (83)	1
Listened to	86 (91)	1,647 (87)	1
Included in the practice	82 (86)	1,536 (81)	1
The explanations given at that time were, n (%) (N fathers = 95 and N mothers = 1,930)			
Understandable	83 (87)	1,702 (88)	1
Adequate	77 (81)	1,424 (74)	1
These explanations were, <i>n</i> (%)			
Too technical (<i>N</i> fathers = 92 and <i>N</i> mothers = 1,870)	12 (13)	227 (12)	1
Of an appropriate technical level (<i>N</i> fathers = 92 and <i>N</i> mothers = 1,870)	76 (83)	1,533 (82)	
Insufficiently technical (<i>N</i> fathers = 100 and <i>N</i> mothers = 1,975)	5 (5)	79 (4)	
This interview generally gave confidence to the team, n (%) (N fathers = 95 and N mothers = 1,830)	87 (92)	1,683 (92)	1

are essential for successfully promoting a father's physical proximity with their infant. Father-infant closeness appears to be important in fostering the father-infant bond (8), mainly through care involvement and skin-to-skin contact (9, 11, 12, 31–33).

We found slight differences between fathers and mothers regarding their perceptions of feeling welcome in the NICUs and involvement in their infants' care. No previous studies have provided accurate comparisons of self-reported fathers' and mothers' involvement in the care of preterm infants. A few studies compared maternal and paternal perceptions on this topic, but these were not nation-wide studies and very few parents were interviewed (18, 31, 32, 34, 35). Some other studies on the topic considered only the father's views (9, 13, 16, 17, 19, 27, 33, 36). Altogether, these studies indicated that fathers needed explanations about the function of the NICU and its equipment and about the baby's sensory and relational abilities (31, 34, 36). Fathers reported feeling the need to be included early in care and to feel valued as a parent (35), in accordance with our results.

The responding fathers in our study were also very motivated to participate in care, notably expressing a desire to perform caring procedures that typically only a minority of parents perform. Moreover, fathers performed more technical procedures than mothers in our study. Interpreting this difference was difficult because (1) our study design did not allow for comparing mothers and fathers of the same infant; (2) we recruited parents from a large number of NICUs, which may differ in their parental integration policies; and (3) we could not exclude selection bias that favored the participation of fathers who wanted to participate in care (32). However the architectural design of a NICU and the level of implementation of infant-and family-centered care strategies could increase the involvement of parents and the frequency of skin-to-skin contact, particularly among fathers (25). In this case, the healthcare team plays an essential and supportive role (11, 16, 31, 35) in building trust and putting fathers at ease when providing care, such as skin-to-skin contact, and helping them be more involved with infant care (27, 33).

The need for fathers to be present near their partners and to be involved in infant care requires changes such as provision of supportive policies in the NICU and encouragement from healthcare teams of both parents to participate in their infants' care (31). Caregivers can have a decisive influence on fathers (31) and should be aware of the barriers that fathers have described such as the newborn's physical appearance, the technical NICU environment, and changes in parental roles, which may lead them

TABLE 5 Fathers' words about their perception and their welcome in the NICU.	
--	--

Surprised and lost	"In the hours following the birth, one is 'stunned." "The transfer from the NICU was abrupt and this memory will remain one of the most striking"
Not needed "technical" explanations	"No impatience about the technical questions, which I knew I would have time to ask later, and if possible with the mother"
Ambivalence between health to the newborn and mother	"Big ambivalence, between the fact of needing to accompany and be reassured on the state of the baby, and the anxiety of leaving the mother alone in the birth room"
Feeling of loneliness and anxiety in the absence of welcome	"And when we arrived in the NICU, not a glance, not a word, we were spectators of the placement of our baby in incubator, that seemed so abrupt that we cried. For many minutes, everyone was around the incubator, without anyone noticing our presence"
A human and benevolent welcome	"The team was waiting for us" "The reception in the unit was of an exceptional quality. At the same time, it was dedramatizing, human, empowering and involving"
Parental involvement with feeling as "care partner"	"I was taken into account" "They asked me what I wanted with my wife" "They said that we had a great role to play" "They involved us in every decision, and as a father, it feels good to be able to take on that role, they gave me room." "The doctor immediately named me as Robin's father, thus helping me to take this place for my son. This was beneficial and involving."
A team that takes the time and answers questions, in a comprehensible medical language	"They never tried to hide information from us, they took our concerns into account, our questions were always answered." "The nurse and the pediatricia, took the time to talk to us, to answer our questions and to talk about what was next without lying to us and without falling into incomprehensible medical language."
	Not needed "technical" explanations Ambivalence between health to the newborn and mother Feeling of loneliness and anxiety in the absence of welcome A human and benevolent welcome Parental involvement with feeling as "care partner" A team that takes the time and

TABLE 6 Relationships of parents and caregivers.

	Fathers	Mothers	Adjusted p
Relationships with caregivers were satisfactory or very satisfactory, n (%)			
In neonatal intensive care unit (N fathers = 90 and N mothers = 1,795)	88 (98)	1,768 (98)	1
In neonatal ward (<i>N</i> fathers = 85 and <i>N</i> mothers = 1,795)	83 (98)	1,585 (88)	1
In kangaroo unit (<i>N</i> fathers = 23 and <i>N</i> mothers = 500)	23 (100)	440 (88)	1
Relationships with the health care team, n (%) (N fathers = 82 and N mothers = 1,736)			
Staff was available when parents requested them	74 (90)	1,495 (86)	1
Parents felt confident with the staff who cared for the infant	73 (89)	1,509 (87)	1
Parents felt comfortable asking questions or for clarification when explanations were unclear	67 (82)	1,425 (82)	1
Overall, explanations and parents' involvement were possible in decision-making regarding, n (%) (N fathers = 82 and N mothers = 1,728)			
The infant's well-being	68 (83)	1,452 (84)	1
The infant's health (treatment, ventilation, nutrition)	69 (84)	1,387 (80)	1
The organization of the infant's day (care schedules, skin-to-skin contact, etc.)	71 (87)	1,407 (81)	1
The team considered the parent's comments about the infant's health and well-being, n (%) (N fathers = 78 and N mothers = 1,690)	63 (81)	1,301 (77)	1
Overall, the information was consistent from one person to another, n (%) (N fathers = 82 and N mothers = 1,715)	67 (82)	1,372 (80)	1
The parent felt comfortable speaking openly to the healthcare team, n (%) (N fathers = 82 and N mothers = 1,700)	64 (78)	1,224 (72)	1
The reasons why they did not feel comfortable talking with the health care team, n (%)			
Difficulty in formulating their requests (N fathers = 5 and N mothers = 131)	4 (80)	105 (80)	1
Shyness (N fathers = 6 and N mothers = 159)	5 (83)	135 (85)	
Fear of being judged (<i>N</i> fathers = 6 and <i>N</i> mothers = 166)	5 (83)	141 (85)	
Lack of availability of the healthcare team (<i>N</i> fathers = 6 and <i>N</i> mothers = 173)	5 (83)	152 (88)	
Fear that openness will influence caregivers' relationships with the infant (N fathers = 7 and N mothers = 219)	7 (100)	197 (90)	
Possibility of attending physicians' visits to the infant, n (%) (N fathers = 83 and N mothers = 1,725)	62 (75)	1,190 (69)	1
It helped the parent (<i>N</i> fathers = 59 and <i>N</i> mothers = 1,142)	50 (85)	959 (84)	1
The parent missed it (N fathers = 21 and N mother s = 496)	17 (81)	372 (75)	1

Positive feelings	"Humanity"
"What helped you the most	"Kindness"
during the newborn's	"Smile"
hospitalization?"	"Professionalism"
*	"Benevolence"
	"Moral support and comfort"
	"Availability"
	"Know-how"
	"Listening"
	"Involvement"
	"Reassurance,"
	"Presence and support"
	"Gentleness"
	"Empathy"
Negative feelings	"We were not really parents"
	"Under the control and judgment of the caregivers"
	"Caregivers contradicted each other in their methods"
	"We are nothing, not even the parents, nothing is chosen or asked of us"
	"Some caregivers purposely keep parents out of their child's care by telling us that we do not know how to do it"
	"No communication about the risks, the tests performed on the baby. We feel like spectators or even on the sidelines, powerless and passive"
	"Preference given to the mother systematically. Father's opinion not often asked"

TABLE 7 Fathers' feelings and words expressed about caregivers.

TABLE 8 Participation of parents in care of their infants.

	Fathers	Mothers	Adjusted p
Concerning the infant's care, n (%) (N fathers = 78 and N mothers = 1,580)			
Staff offered to participate in care as soon as possible	73 (94)	1,505 (95)	1
The first time parents were involved in care, the staff gave them confidence and accompanied them	76 (97)	1,493 (95)	1
Opportunity to take on the role of parent	67 (86)	1,285 (81)	1
Feeling of being judged by, <i>n</i> (%)			
Nurses (N fathers = 80 and N mothers = $1,606$)	8 (10)	273 (17)	1
Physicians (N fathers = 83 and N mothers = $1,555$)	5 (6)	171 (11)	1
Caregivers were able to respect preferences for the care that parents wanted to provide, n (%) (N fathers = 75 and N mothers = 1,530)	66 (88)	1,316 (86)	1
Caregivers were able to respect the time parents needed before they began to participate in their infant's care, n (%) (N fathers = 78 and N mothers = 1,572)	70 (90)	1,368 (87)	1

to feel they cannot adequately care for their infant (11–13). Caregivers must get to know each parent, learn about the type of involvement they want (13), and estimate the time they need before providing care (9, 32). The Family Initiative's International Neonatal Fathers Working Group drafted 12 practical recommendations to be used by neonatal teams to support the development of father-infant bonds and enable fathers to experience more equal co-parenting. These recommendations included assessing the needs and wishes of the father; ensuring flexibility and ease of access to the neonatal unit for fathers; providing information about infants directly to fathers, not exclusively through mothers (37); and providing information in real time (16, 35). Research has recommended encouraging the presence and care involvement of fathers and supporting them during their transition to fatherhood (31, 37). Other research

reported that fathers felt the need to meet with other fathers who would better understand their own fears and difficulties (37). This could be facilitated by the establishment of discussion groups for fathers. Some authors have proposed the creation of interactive social media support that provides fathers with electronic updates on their infants' health condition and allows communication with other fathers (35).

One highly effective procedure is to encourage the presence of fathers in family rooms during the entire hospitalization period, a strategy with proven short-term benefits for the infant (38). This approach is also supported by the implementation of infant-and family-centered care, which has widespread social support at the national level (39). European countries have disparities in the social support and parental leave policies provided to new parents (40), with Nordic countries providing the most generous benefits.



However, most member states of the European Union now provide statutory parental leave (41). They aim at providing greater support for fatherhood an promoting more gender equality. The European Standards of Care for Newborn Health called for continuous parental support and access as well as high parental involvement in the care of newborns (42). There are similar recommendations in France (7), and the laws in France regarding social support for fathers of very preterm infants have evolved. Since July 1, 2019, all fathers whose newborn infants require immediate hospitalization at birth receive 30 days of paternity leave (43) in addition to the 25 days allocated to all fathers since July 2021 (44). Before that last date, and at the time of the survey, only 11 days were allocated. Fathers in France are now able to spend more time with their preterm infants. In view of the demonstrated benefits of father's involvement in the care of their very preterm infants through early interventions, there is a need to further support this evolution in every country (45).

Large prospective studies are necessary to evaluate fathers' presence and perceptions regarding their very preterm newborns.

Quantitative studies should measure actual involvement during the whole duration of hospitalization, and qualitative studies should assess the feelings and needs of fathers. Future research should also examine the mothers and fathers of VPIs who have lower socioeconomic status because these parents may have different needs.

5 Conclusion

Most fathers were present at the births of their VPIs, but less than half were near the mother at this time. Only a small number of fathers reported no separation from their infants, although most met their infants during the first day of life. Less than two thirds of the fathers accompanied their infants on transfer to the NICU. Altogether, these data indicate room for improvement to meet the specific needs of fathers in the broad context of infant-and family-centered developmental care for premature infants. The continuation of this online questionnaire will allow for assessing future progress.

TABLE 9 Participation of parents in skin-to-skin contact with their infants.

	Fathers	Mothers	Adjusted p
Number of parents informed about the benefits of skin-to-skin contact, <i>n</i> (%) (<i>N</i> fathers = 74 and <i>N</i> mothers = 1,530)	70 (95)	1,443 (94)	1
Either parent was able to practice skin-to-skin contact with the infant at least once, n (%) (N fathers = 74 and N mothers = 1,530)			
No, neither parent did	1 (1.3)	26 (1.7)	0.002
Yes, the other parent did	5 (6.8)	12 (0.8)	
Yes, both parents did	63 (85)	1,242 (81)	
Yes, I did	5 (6.8)	267 (17)	
Infant's age when they first had skin-to-skin contact, n (%) (N fathers = 68 and N mothers = 1,510)			
1 to 3 days	28 (41)	652 (43)	1
3 to 7 days	23 (34)	441 (29)	
1 to 2 weeks	4 (6)	195 (13)	
2 to 3 weeks	7 (10)	100 (7)	
>3 weeks	6 (9)	121 (8)	
Concerning this first skin-to-skin contact, the parent thought that, n (%) (N fathers = 68 and N mothers = 1,468)			
It was the right time	59 (87)	1,128 (77)	0.63
It was offered too soon	1 (1.5)	51 (3.5)	
It was offered too late	7 (10)	296 (20)	
Number of parents who would have liked to have skin-to-skin more often, n (%) (N fathers = 65 and N mothers = 1,468)	37 (57)	1,087 (74)	0.026
The duration of skin-to-skin contact times was generally determined by, n (%) (N fathers = 68 and N			
mothers = 1,510)	17 (25)	259 (24)	1
Parents	17 (25)	358 (24)	1
Nurse	19 (28)	329 (22)	
Physician	3 (4.4)	165 (11)	
Mutual agreement between the health care team and parents The infant's state of health	5 (7.4)	83 (5.5)	
	24 (35)	572 (38)	1
Number of parents who felt confident during skin-to-skin contact, <i>n</i> (%) (<i>N</i> fathers = 68 and <i>N</i> mothers = 1,505)	65 (95.6)	1,404 (93)	1
Parents' preference to have their infant, n (%) (N fathers = 68 and N mothers = 1,508)			
In skin-to-skin contact	6 (9)	80 (5.3)	1
In their arms	48 (71)	1,160 (77)	
No preference	14 (21)	267 (18)	

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Comité d'Ethique de la Faculté de Médecine et d'Odontologie de l'Université de Strasbourg. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin in accordance with the national legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

AS-D analyzed the data, reviewed the literature, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. IL conducted the extraction and the analyses of the data and generated the figures and tables of the manuscript. LC, OD, and JS discussed the interpretation of the results and reviewed the manuscript. MA, AR, CB, and AE contributed actively to the conceptualisation, the accessibility and dissemination of the GREEN parental questionnaire. CT supervised the conceptualisation and dissemination of the GREEN parental questionnaire and discussed the results, and reviewed the manuscript. PK contributed to the conceptualisation of the GREEN questionnaire, designed the study, supervised the analyses, and thoroughly reviewed the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Group members of the GREEN Committee (Groupe de Réflexion et d'Evaluation de l'Environnement des Nouveau-nés de la Société Française de Néonatologie)

Aurore Allen (Port Royal-Paris), Frédérique Berne-Audeoud (CHU Grenoble), Charlotte Bouvard (SOS Préma), Anne Brandicourt (CH Sud Francilien), Charlotte Casper (CHU Toulouse), Laurence Caeymaex (CHIC Créteil), Hélène Denoual (CH Le Mans), Marie Agnès Duboz (CHU Besançon), Anne Evrard (Comité Inter-Associatif de la Naissance), Christine Fichtner (CHU Saint-Etienne), Céline Fischer-Fumeaux (CHUV Lausanne) Laurence Girard (Association Connaître), Françoise Gonnaud (CHU Lyon), Dominique Haumont (Hôpital Saint-Pierre Bruxelles), Petra Hüppi (CHU Genève), Nadine Knezovic (CHU Strasbourg), Pierre Kuhn (CHU Strasbourg), Elisabeth Laprugne-Garcia (CHU Lyon), Sophie Legouais (Paris), Fabienne Mons (CHU Limoges), Valérie Pelofy (CHU Toulouse), Jean-Charles Picaud (CHU Lyon), Véronique Pierrat (CHU Lille, Inserm EPopé), Patrick Pladys (CHU Rennes), Audrey Renaud (SOS

References

1. Obeidat HM, Bond EA, Callister LC. The parental experience of having an infant in the newborn intensive care unit. *J Perinat Educ.* (2009) 18:23–9. doi: 10.1624/105812409X461199

2. Korja R, Latva R, Lehtonen L. The effects of preterm birth on mother-infant interaction and attachment during the infant's first two years. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. (2012) 91:164–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0412.2011.01304.x

3. Morisod-Harari M, Borghini A, Hohlfeld P, Forcada-Guex M, Muller-Nix C. Influence of prenatal hospitalization on parental stressful experience in the case of a premature birth. *J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod.* (2013) 42:64–70. doi: 10.1016/j. jgyn.2012.07.004

 Pierrehumbert B, Nicole A, Muller-Nix C, Forcada-Guex M, Ansermet F. Parental post-traumatic reactions after premature birth: implications for sleeping and eating problems in the infant. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. (2003) 88:400F-4404F. doi: 10.1136/fn.88.5.F400

5. Jotzo M, Poets CF. Helping parents cope with the trauma of premature birth: an evaluation of a trauma-preventive psychological intervention. *Pediatrics*. (2005) 115:915–9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2004-0370

6. Roué J-M, Kuhn P, Lopez Maestro M, Maastrup RA, Mitanchez D, Westrup B, et al. Eight principles for patient-centred and family-centred care for newborns in the neonatal intensive care unit. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. (2017) 102:F364–8. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2016-312180

7. Kuhn P, Sizun J, Casper C. GREEN study group from the French neonatal society. Recommendations on the environment for hospitalised newborn infants from the French neonatal society: rationale, methods and first recommendation on neonatal intensive care unit design. *Acta Paediatr.* (2018) 107:1860–6. doi: 10.1111/apa.14501

8. Flacking R, Lehtonen L, Thomson G, Axelin A, Ahlqvist S, Moran VH, et al. Closeness and separation in neonatal intensive care. *Acta Paediatr.* (2012) 101:1032–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2012.02787.x

9. Lindberg B, Axelsson K, Ohrling K. Adjusting to being a father to an infant born prematurely: experiences from Swedish fathers. *Scand J Caring Sci.* (2008) 22:79–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6712.2007.00563.x

préma), Laurent Renesme (CHU Bordeaux), Jacques Sizun (CHU Brest), Gilles Souet (ARS Centre), Gérard Thiriez (CHU Besançon), Pierre Tourneux (CHU Amiens), Marie Touzet (Hôpital de Port-Royal, Paris), Patrick Truffert (CHU Lille), Catherine Zaoui (CHG Valenciennes), Elodie Zana-Taieb (Hôpital de Port-Royal), and Claire Zores-Koenig (CHU Strasbourg).

Acknowledgments

The authors are very thankful to the parents who answered this national survey and the members of the *Groupe de Réflexion et d'Evaluation de l'Environnement du Nouveau-né de la Société Française de Néonatologie* (GREEN Study Group).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

10. Yogman M, Garfield CF. Committee on psychosocial aspects of child and family health. Fathers' roles in the care and development of their children: the role of pediatricians. *Pediatrics*. (2016) 138:e20161128. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-1128

11. Koliouli F, Gaudron CZ, Raynaud J-P. Life experiences of French premature fathers: a qualitative study. *J Neonatal Nurs.* (2016) 22:244–9. doi: 10.1016/j. jnn.2016.04.003

12. Provenzi L, Santoro E. The lived experience of fathers of preterm infants in the neonatal intensive care unit: a systematic review of qualitative studies. *J Clin Nurs*. (2015) 24:1784–94. doi: 10.1111/jocn.12828

13. Feeley N, Waitzer E, Sherrard K, Boisvert L, Zelkowitz P. Fathers' perceptions of the barriers and facilitators to their involvement with their newborn hospitalised in the neonatal intensive care unit. *J Clin Nurs.* (2013) 22:521–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2012.04231.x

14. Cong X, Ludington-Hoe SM, Hussain N, Cusson RM, Walsh S, Vazquez V, et al. Parental oxytocin responses during skin-to-skin contact in pre-term infants. *Early Hum Dev.* (2015) 91:401–6. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.04.012

15. Abraham E, Hendler T, Shapira-Lichter I, Kanat-Maymon Y, Zagoory-Sharon O, Feldman R. Father's brain is sensitive to childcare experiences. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* (2014) 111:9792–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1402569111

16. Noergaard B, Ammentorp J, Fenger-Gron J, Kofoed P-E, Johannessen H, Thibeau S. Fathers' needs and masculinity dilemmas in a neonatal intensive care unit in Denmark. *Adv Neonatal Care*. (2017) 17:E13–22. doi: 10.1097/ANC.000000000000395

17. Arockiasamy V, Holsti L, Albersheim S. Fathers' experiences in the neonatal intensive care unit: a search for control. *Pediatrics*. (2008) 121:e215–22. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1005

18. Fegran L, Helseth S, Fagermoen MS. A comparison of mothers' and fathers' experiences of the attachment process in a neonatal intensive care unit. *J Clin Nurs*. (2008) 17:810–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2007.02125.x

19. Deeney K, Lohan M, Spence D, Parkes J. Experiences of fathering a baby admitted to neonatal intensive care: a critical gender analysis. *Soc Sci Med.* (2012) 75:1106–13. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.04.018

20. Latour JM, Duivenvoorden HJ, Hazelzet JA, van Goudoever JB. Development and validation of a neonatal intensive care parent satisfaction instrument. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2012) 13:554–9. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e318238b80a

21. Casper C, Caeymaex L, Dicky O, Akrich M, Reynaud A, Bouvard C, et al. Parental perception of their involvement in the care of their children in French neonatal units. *Arch Pediatr.* (2016) 23:974–82. doi: 10.1016/j.arcped.2016.06.010

22. Dicky O, Kuhn P, Akrich M, Reynaud A, Caeymaex L, Tscherning C. Emotional responses of parents participating for the first time in caregiving for their baby in a neonatal unit. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol.* (2021) 35:227–35. doi: 10.1111/ppe.12718

23. Holm S. A simple sequentially Rejective multiple test procedure. *Scand J Stat.* (1979) 6:65–70.

24. Baguley T. Serious stats: a guide to advanced statistics for the behavioral sciences. New York: Palgrave Macmillan (2012).

25. Aija A, Toome L, Axelin A, Raiskila S, Lehtonen L. Parents' presence and participation in medical rounds in 11 European neonatal units. *Early Hum Dev.* (2019) 130:10–6. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.01.003

26. Xue WL, Shorey S, Wang W, He H-G. Fathers' involvement during pregnancy and childbirth: an integrative literature review. *Midwifery*. (2018) 62:135–45. doi: 10.1016/j. midw.2018.04.013

27. Garten L, Nazary L, Metze B, Bührer C. Pilot study of experiences and needs of 111 fathers of very low birth weight infants in a neonatal intensive care unit. *J Perinatol.* (2013) 33:65–9. doi: 10.1038/jp.2012.32

28. Greisen G, Mirante N, Haumont D, Pierrat V, Pallás-Alonso CR, Warren I, et al. Parents, siblings and grandparents in the neonatal intensive care unit. A survey of policies in eight European countries. *Acta Paediatr.* (2009) 98:1744–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2009.01439.x

29. Pallás-Alonso CR, Losacco V, Maraschini A, Greisen G, Pierrat V, Warren I, et al. Parental involvement and kangaroo care in European neonatal intensive care units: a policy survey in eight countries. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2012) 13:568–77. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3182417959

30. Pierrat V, Coquelin A, Cuttini M, Khoshnood B, Glorieux I, Claris O, et al. Translating neurodevelopmental care policies into practice: the experience of neonatal ICUs in France-the EPIPAGE-2 cohort study. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2016) 17:957–67. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000014

31. Guillaume S, Michelin N, Amrani E, Benier B, Durrmeyer X, Lescure S, et al. Parents' expectations of staff in the early bonding process with their premature babies in the intensive care setting: a qualitative multicenter study with 60 parents. *BMC Pediatr.* (2013) 13:18. doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-13-18

32. Hagen IH, Iversen VC, Svindseth MF. Differences and similarities between mothers and fathers of premature children: a qualitative study of parents' coping

experiences in a neonatal intensive care unit. *BMC Pediatr.* (2016) 16:92. doi: 10.1186/s12887-016-0631-9

33. Olsson E, Eriksson M, Anderzén-Carlsson A. Skin-to-skin contact facilitates more equal parenthood—a qualitative study from fathers' perspective. *J Pediatr Nurs*. (2017) 34:e2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2017.03.004

34. Provenzi L, Barello S, Fumagalli M, Graffigna G, Sirgiovanni I, Savarese M, et al. A comparison of maternal and paternal experiences of becoming parents of a very preterm infant. *J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs.* (2016) 45:528–41. doi: 10.1016/j. jogn.2016.04.004

35. Kim HN. Social support provision: perspective of fathers with preterm infants. J Pediatr Nurs. (2018) 39:44–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2018.01.017

36. Logan RM, Dormire S. Finding my way: a phenomenology of fathering in the NICU. Adv Neonatal Care. (2018) 18:154–62. doi: 10.1097/ANC.00000000000471

37. Fisher D, Khashu M, Adama EA, Feeley N, Garfield CF, Ireland J, et al. Fathers in neonatal units: improving infant health by supporting the baby-father bond and mother-father coparenting. *J Neonatal Nurs*. (2018) 24:306–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jnn.2018.08.007

38. Ortenstrand A, Westrup B, Broström EB, Sarman I, Akerström S, Brune T, et al. The Stockholm neonatal family centered care study: effects on length of stay and infant morbidity. *Pediatrics*. (2010) 125:e278–85. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-1511

39. Westrup B. Family-centered developmentally supportive care: the Swedish example. Arch Pediatr. (2015) 22:1086-91. doi: 10.1016/j.arcped.2015.07.005

40. Thévenon O. Family policies in OECD countries: a comparative analysis. *Popul Dev Rev.* (2011) 37:57–87. doi: 10.1111/j.1728-4457.2011.00390.x

41. Van Belle J. Paternity and parental leave policies across the European Union. Santa Monica: RAND (2016).

42. Overview—EFCNI. Available at: https://newborn-health-standards.org/standards/ infant-and-family-centred-care/overview/. (Accessed April 12, 2023)

43. Décret No. 2019-630 du 24 juin 2019 relatif à la création d'un congé de paternité en cas d'hospitalisation de l'enfant Légifrance. Available at: https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/eli/decret/2019/6/24/SSAS1912523D/jo/texte. (Accessed April 12, 2023)

44. Décret No. 2021-574 du 10 mai 2021 relatif à l'allongement et à l'obligation de prise d'une partie du congé de paternité et d'accueil de l'enfant Légifrance. Available at: https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/eli/decret/2021/5/10/SSAS2109370D/jo/texte. (Accessed April 12, 2023)

45. Filippa M, Saliba S, Esseily R, Gratier M, Grandjean D, Kuhn P. Systematic review shows the benefits of involving the fathers of preterm infants in early interventions in neonatal intensive care units. *Acta Paediatr.* (2021) 110:2509–20. doi: 10.1111/apa.15961

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Marie Gomot, Inserm UMR1263 iBrain, France

REVIEWED BY Celia M. Rasga, National Health Institute Doutor Ricardo Jorge (INSA), Portugal Agostino Carbone, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Romain Coutelle Image: romain.coutelle@chru-strasbourg.fr

RECEIVED 22 January 2023 ACCEPTED 29 November 2023 PUBLISHED 19 December 2023

CITATION

Coutelle R, Coulon N, Schröder CM and Putois O (2023) Investigating the borders of autism spectrum disorder: lessons from the former diagnosis of pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1149580. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1149580

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Coutelle, Coulon, Schröder and Putois. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Investigating the borders of autism spectrum disorder: lessons from the former diagnosis of pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified

Romain Coutelle^{1,2}*, Nathalie Coulon³, Carmen M. Schröder^{1,4} and Olivier Putois^{1,5,6}

¹Hôpitaux Universitaires de Strasbourg, Department of Psychiatry, University of Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France, ²INSERM 1114, Strasbourg, France, ³TSA-SDI Expert Center and Psychosocial Rehabilitation Reference Center, Alpes Isère Hospital (Saint-Egrève Psychiatric Hospital), Grenoble, France, ⁴CNRS UPR 3212, Strasbourg, France, ⁵SuLiSoM UR 3071, Faculté de Psychologie, Université de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France, ⁶Institut d'Immunologie et d'Hématologie, Institut Thématique Interdisciplinaire TRANSPLANTEX NG, Université de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France

Introduction: Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) diagnosis is relatively consensual in typical forms. The margins of the spectrum and their degree of extension, however, are controversial. This has far-reaching implications, which extend beyond theoretical considerations: first, peripheral forms of autism are more prevalent than central forms; second, we do not know how relevant typical-targeted recommendations are for atypical forms. In DSM-IV-TR, these margins of autism were studied within the category of Pervasive Developmental Disorder – Not Otherwise Specified (PDD-NOS). In spite of its low reliability, this former diagnosis was of particular interest to shed light on the gray area of margins. The aim of this systematic is therefore to investigate the clinical characteristics of PDD-NOS in comparison with Autistic Disorder.

Method: A stepwise systematic PRISMA literature review was conducted by searching PubMed and Web Of Science databases to select corresponding studies.

Results: The systematic review included 81 studies comprising 6,644 children with PDD-NOS. Cross-sectional and longitudinal studies comparing PDD-NOS and AD showed that PDD-NOS corresponds to milder form of autism with less impact and less associated disorder, with the exception of schizophrenia and mood disorder.

Discussion: Our review challenges initial views of PDD-NOS, and shows the clinical relevance of this diagnosis when dealing with the margins of autism, and the *de facto* diversity included in the spectrum. However, in view of the many limitations of PDD-NOS (low reliability, instability through time, low acceptability), we suggest taxonomic changes in DSM-5: we introduce a new category based on three main dimensions related to socialization impairment, emotional lability and psychotic symptoms.

Conclusion: Our review argues for a distinction between AD and PDD-NOS on clinical characteristics and thus highlights the need to study the margins of autism. While the limitations of the PDD-NOS category made it irrelevant to investigate these margins from a research perspective, we believe that a multidimensional approach for mental health professionals taping socialization, emotion lability

and psychotic symptoms would be interesting. Our review therefore encourage future studies to test relevant criteria for a new category and possibly identify developmental trajectories, specific interventions and treatments.

KEYWORDS

autism spectrum disorder, pervasive developmental disorder, DSM-IV-TR, DSM-5, pathological demand avoidance, diversity, heterogeneity

Introduction

Since 2013 and the DSM-5, the diagnostic category of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) has included 2 behavioral dimensions which represent the core defining features of ASD (1): (a) communication and social interaction deficits on the one hand, and (b) repetitive behaviors and restricted interests on the other hand (1). The term "ASD" suggests that the core features of the disorder can be measured dimensionally and, that they fall along a continuum of severity. No diagnostic subtypes are listed (1); instead, specifiers are provided to indicate associated dimensions, such as intellectual and/ or language impairment, as well as the severity level of core ASD symptoms (2). Further, any known genetic or medical disorders are recorded and other co-occurring neurodevelopmental, mental, or behavioral disorders are indicated (2) to characterize subgroups.

In the DSM-5 (2), whatever the level of severity, even in the mildest forms, ASD symptoms are viewed as intrinsically autistic. However, to take one example, this conceptualization does not take into account the overlap between, on the one hand, some ASD symptoms, and on the other, Intellectual disability (3, 4), language impairment (5, 6), Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (7, 8) or schizophrenia (9, 10). Moreover, mild ASD symptoms might be more akin to a natural variant of typical development than a formal disorder (11). Boundaries issues with typical development are also longitudinal, as has been shown in studies on "optimal outcome" or "Loss of Autism Diagnosis (LAD)" (12). These studies (13) focused on a group of individuals meeting criteria for ASD in childhood who no longer met them later in development. This definition entailed clear documentation of early ASD diagnosis, not meeting current diagnostic criteria (with ADOS scores similar to neurotypical peers with no history of ASD), and having overall cognitive, language, and social functioning standardized test scores within the average range (12). Confirmation that meeting criteria for ASD is not necessarily a lifelong state appears evident in the strikingly similar proportions (about 9%) of individuals experiencing LAD in prospective and retrospective studies (12). In line with the scope of our review, it is worth noticing that one study (14) showed that among ASD children included at age 2, those with PDD-NOS were significantly more likely than those with AD to move off the spectrum by age 4. ASD symptoms might be thus less specific than suspected in the DSM-5, especially in milder forms.

Envisioned in line with Kannner's (15) first description and seminal work, autism is relatively consensual in its typical forms (full syndrome) (16). However the margins of the spectrum and their degree of extension are controversial (17) because of overlaps with other dimensions and blurred boundaries with typical development. This question is much more than a theoretical issue, since peripheral or "marginal" forms of autism might be more prevalent than central forms (see below). Furthermore, one could question the usefulness and relevance of recommendations made for typical forms when facing atypical ones. Past conceptualizations (18) contrasted the more prototypical form of autism, called "Autistic Disorder (AD)," with the margins of autism studied within the Pervasive Developmental Disorder - Not Otherwise Specified (PDD-NOS) category. Is therefore of special interest to explore these margins through the lens of this former diagnosis.

The PDD-NOS diagnosis category was first introduced in 1987 (19) to contrast with typical forms for autism labeled "Autistic Disorder" (AD). The DSM-III-R (19) states that "this category should be used when there is a qualitative impairment in the development of reciprocal social interaction and of verbal and nonverbal communication skills, but the criteria are not met for autistic disorder, schizophrenia or schizotypal or schizoid personality disorder. Some people with this diagnosis will exhibit a markedly restricted repertoire of activities and interests, but others will not." In DSM-IV (20) and DSM-IV-TR (18), AD and PDD-NOS were included within the Pervasive Developmental Disorders (PDDs) that prelude ASD. PDDs also included Asperger Syndrome (AS), Childhood Disintegrative Disorder and Rett Syndrome (18, 20).

In DSM-IV-TR (18), the PDD-NOS category included atypical autism, i.e., presentations that did not meet the criteria for AD because of late age of onset, atypical symptomatology, or subthreshold symptomatology, or all of these. These recommendations echoed Towbin's conceptualization (21) described in a reference textbook section published in 1997. He recommended the use of PDD-NOS in 4 indications: (a) as a temporary diagnosis when data are lacking or when the child is too young; (b) to designate a mild form of ASD; (c) in the case of late age of onset of autistic symptoms; (d) to depict a clinical picture with early symptom onset and impairment in social reciprocity (21). In terms of diagnostic use, the PDD-NOS, often envisioned as a diagnosis of subthreshold autism, seems to cover a wide range of clinical variability, sometimes referred to as heterogeneity; it would benefit from being studied in a more positive manner, by drawing on its clinical diversity (22).

Epidemiological studies show that at least half of PDD were PDD-NOS. In 2005, Fombonne (23) found a PDD-NOS prevalence of 37.1 per 10,000 for a PDD prevalence of 63 per 10,000 and an AD prevalence of 13 per 10,000. In 2010 in the United States, the results of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) showed a

Abbreviations: ASD, Autism Spectrum Disorder; ADHD, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder; DSM, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual; ID, Intellectual Disability; MCDD, Multiple Complex Developmental Disorder; MDI, Multi-Dimensional Impairments; PDA, Pathological Demand Avoidance; PDDs, Pervasive Developmental Disorders; PDD-NOS, Pervasive Developmental Disorder - Not Otherwise Specified; PRISMA, Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses; SCD, Social Communication Disorder.

PDD prevalence of 14.6 per 1,000 in a population of 363,749 8-year old children (24). PDD-NOS were 46% of the PDD, AD 43% and AS 11%. Noticeably, between 2006 and 2010 the distribution of AD and PDD-NOS has not undergone substantial changes (24).

The diagnosis of PDD-NOS had a low inter-rater reliability. The inter-rater reliability was good to excellent (*k* from 0.95 to 0.67) for the distinction between PDD and non-PDD. However, the disentanglement of different subtypes of PDD was much less reliable (*k* from 0.18 to 0.65) (25–27). The DSM-IV-TR criteria were therefore more successful in differentiating PDD (25) from other psychiatric disorders than in distinguishing between the three main subtypes of PDD, namely AD, PDD-NOS and AS (28). In line with these results, a study (29) tried to assess the variation between behavioral phenotypes and clinical diagnoses of different autism spectrum disorders across 12 university-based sites. They found that clinical distinctions among categorical diagnostic subtypes of PDDs (AD, PDD-NOS and AS) were not reliable even across sites with well-documented fidelity, using standardized diagnostic instruments (29).

In spite of its low reliability, the former diagnosis of PDD-NOS is very interesting to study the margins of autism because of both its conceptualization at the end of the spectrum, and its high prevalence. The aim of our systematic review is thus to investigate the clinical characteristics of PDD-NOS in comparison with AD. The objectives were therefore to study comparatively (in both diagnoses) synchronic and diachronic characteristics such as autism symptoms, cognitive function, daily impact, associated mental health or physical health condition and developmental trajectory from infancy to adolescence. The comparison is intended to address the distinction between the typical form and the margins of autism as well as the relevance of the PDD-NOS/AD distinction. Our study therefore aims to determine whether this distinction helps mental health professionals to account for diversity within the spectrum, and to identify divergent trajectories, better than the current ASD category.

Materials and methods

This study follows the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses reporting guidelines (PRISMA) (30).

Search strategy and selection criteria

A stepwise systematic literature review (30) was conducted by searching PubMed, MEDLINE, and Web Of Science databases for published peer-reviewed papers using the following keywords: "PDD-NOS" OR "Pervasive Developmental Disorder Not Otherwise Specified" from January first 1987 (the year of the DSM-III-R publication, introducing this diagnostic category for the first time) to June 16th 2022. The keywords were screened in the titles and abstracts.

Eligibility criteria

Inclusion criteria

To be included in this review, the articles had to meet all following criteria: (a) include children and/or adolescents (31), (b) compare

toddlers, children or adolescents with PDD-NOS with children with AD (c) be published in English, (d) use a quantitative design. RC and OP applied the eligibility criteria and screened the records to select included studies.

Exclusion criteria

The following exclusion criteria were used: (a) no reviews, comments or clinical cases, (b) methodological features: number of participants included in the AD or the PDD-NOS groups ≤ 10 , adults included only, lack of comparison group, comparison with a group different from AD (e.g., AS), participants whose diagnosis has been confirmed by a classification other than the DSM-III or the DSM-IV, test validation studies, (c) epidemiological data in order to focus on mostly clinical well-characterized populations, (d) therapeutic trials, (e) anatomical, biological or fMRI studies (isolated, contradictory and/or non-replicated results) are (difficult to interpret), (f) language other than English, and (g) qualitative studies.

Outcome measures and data extraction

The following variables were extracted: First author (second, third author and journal if needed to distinguish from other studies); Year of publication; Sample Size; Age (mean \pm SD); Sex (% Males); Functioning level when available and when age at inclusion (at baseline in longitudinal studies)>6 y.o. (to assess comorbid ID); Objective; Design of the Study; Methods (only with longitudinal studies); Main assessment tools; Results.

Quality assessment

All included studies were observational, with a similar comparative framework. Quality assessments in such observational studies is controversial, with no clear agreement on rating methods (32). We therefore did not assess quality.

Results

Database

Our search from 1987 to 2022, undertaken on June 16th 2022, found 510 articles on PubMed and 431 on Web of Science. After manually removing all duplicates, 681 references remained. Based on their titles and abstracts, 256 papers were excluded for lack of relevance as they displayed no separate groups for AD and PDD-NOS. Most of these articles focused on PDDs (not PDD-NOS), ASD or grouped PDD-NOS, AD and/or AS into common groups. Other articles studied PDD-NOS in specific groups such as X-Fra, cerebral palsy, Down Syndrome... Our search strategy yielded 425 full-text articles assessed for eligibility. After conducting a full-text analysis of all these papers and excluding those not meeting our inclusion criteria, we ended up with 81 relevant studies, 67 of which were cross-sectional and 14 longitudinal.

Studies

A total of 6,644 children with PDD-NOS and 11,156 children with AD were included. 47 studies were from the United States (58%), 12 from Netherlands (15%), 5 from Turkey (6%), 3 from Italy (4%), and 3 from Sweden (4%) The mean age in each group (when available) was 5.85 and 5.84 years, respectively. The mean age was low because many studies included toddlers or/and pre-schoolers with PDD-NOS (52%). Sex was not systematically specified in each group. Based on available data, PDD-NOS groups comprised 75.1% of males. IQ was not always specified, in particular in studies in toddlers or preschoolers. Based on available IQ measures, average IQ was 81.93.

Within the 67 selected cross-sectional studies, we distinguished those relating to (a) autism symptoms (22 studies), (b) perinatal, developmental and functional aspects (31 studies), (c) associated mental health conditions (14 studies) and (d) associated physical health conditions (6 studies). We chose these categories in part because they best served our goal, of investigating the clinical characteristics (autism symptoms, associated conditions/dimensions, developmental trajectories and adaptive behavior) of PDD-NOS in comparison with AD, and in part because they were those that best matched selected studies. All cross-sectional studies could be included in these three categories. As explained above, 14 longitudinal studies were also selected (Figure 1).



The total number of the studies presented in the corresponding tables (Tables 1–5) is 87 and not 81 because Carigi et al.'s study informed the 4 domains, and was thus selected in the corresponding categories (33). Walker et al. study informed 2 domains (34). Finally, Mandy et al.'s study informed 3 domains (35).

Cross-sectional studies

Autism symptoms

Studies on autism symptoms in PDD-NOS in comparison with AD deeply investigated the social-communication domain. 13 studies (33, 34, 36–46) (Table 1) showed a lesser socialization impairment whereas 3 studies (including one on gaze performance) (47–49) did not show any differences (Table 1).

7 studies found lower restrictive and repetitive behaviors (34, 35, 42, 43, 46, 50, 51) (Table 1). However, 3 studies did not show such a difference (33, 41, 52) (Table 1).

The mean age of onset of parental concerns in the group with AD was comparable to that reported in the PDD-NOS group (53). These parental concerns in PDD-NOS referred to non-specific problems linked to sleeping, eating, and level of activity (53).

Perinatal, developmental and functional aspects

Three studies (54–56) showed distinct perinatal risk factors in PDD-NOS in comparison with AD (Table 2). However, involved factors differed: hyperbilurinemia (55), higher exposure to smoking during pregnancy (56), threatened abortion, a labor duration of less than 1 h, cephalopelvic disproportion, and deliverance by an elective or emergency cesarean section (54). Even if perinatal risk factors might differ, odds ratios for birth defects were similar for AD and PDD-NOS (57).

Early development was less impacted in PDD-NOS with respect to AD (Table 2). Pointing was less impaired in PDD-NOS than in AD (33, 58). Skill loss was less frequent in PDD-NOS (58, 59). Children with AD began crawling significantly later than those with PDD-NOS (60). Using the Revised Educational Profile, Portoghese et al. showed that all behavioral areas and almost all assessed developmental domains (with the exception of the cognitive verbal) were more severely impaired in the AD group than in the PDD-NOS group (61). Children with AD and ID displayed a Visual Rooting Reflex more often than children with PDD-NOS and ID (62), suggesting less severe neurological impairments.

The investigation of language development in PDD-NOS in comparison with AD did not show any difference or particularity (63, 64) (Table 2). Also, fine and gross motor development did not differ between the 2 groups (35, 65). However, Ghaziuddin et al. found lower clumsiness in PDD-NOS (66).

Regarding socio-emotional development, social cognitive performance did not differ between both groups (67). One study shows a distinct profile of emotional information treatment in PDD-NOS in comparison with AD (68) (Table 2).

Children with PDD-NOS and AD did not differ with respect to global intellectual functioning (35, 69, 70). However, one study (35) showed higher visio-spatial performance in PDD-NOS when others did not (71, 72) (Table 2).

Executive functions lead to contradictory results, showing lesser impairment in PDD-NOS (73, 74) or no difference (75) (Table 2).

Sensory profile did not differ between the two groups (76).

Adaptive function was higher in PDD-NOS in 2 studies (34, 77). However, other studies did not show any difference (78, 79) (Table 2).

Quality of life of children and parents was less impaired in the PDD-NOS groups (33, 80) (Table 2).

Only one study showed an impact of sex on AD vs. PDD-NOS (81).

Associated mental health conditions

Children with PDD-NOS showed less challenging behavior than those with AD (82–86). Symptoms related to ADHD were overrepresented in the AD group (38, 85) (Table 3). Studies showed more Conduct Disorder (87) and Oppositional Defiant Disorder (88) in the PDD-NOS group.

Anxiety led to contradictory results (Table 3). Anxiety has been shown to be higher in the AD group (83, 85, 89) or in the PDD-NOS group (90). A study investigated the interaction between diagnosis (AD or PDD-NOS) and communication deficits (91). Children with AD experienced less anxiety as communication deficits increased while children with PDD-NOS experience more anxiety as communication deficits increased highlighting distinct type of interaction (91).

Chien et al. showed that children with PDD-NOS had a higher risk for developing Schizophrenia Spectrum Disorder, Bipolar Disorder, Major Depressive Disorder than those with AD (92). These results concur with another study comparing youth with ASD attending a specialty clinic to those attending a general psychiatry clinic (88). The latter group suffered from a greater burden of psychopathologies (Major Depressive Disorder and psychosis), higher levels of dysfunction and more pharmacotherapy [*cf* Carigi et al. (33); Table 3].

Associated physical health conditions

Studies showed less sleep disorders in the PDD-NOS-group (33, 93, 94) but another did not (35) (Table 4). Feeding disorders were less common in the PDD-NOS group than in the AD group (35, 93, 94). However, one study did not confirm this result (85) (Table 4).

Parmeggiani et al. showed that pathological neurological examination, cerebral lesions, abnormal EEG background activity and associated genetic pathologies were more common in PDD-NOS. Moreover, Epilepsy seizure in PDD-NOS had an earlier onset (2 years 8 months) and a better outcome (95).

Longitudinal studies

Longitudinal studies showed lower diagnosis stability in PDD-NOS than in AD (27, 96–99) with the exception of Chawaska et al. study (100) (Table 5).

Cognitive development was less impaired in PDD-NOS (Osada et al., Takeda et al., Thurm et al.) (101–103). However, another study did not show such a better outcome in this group (96).

As a whole, autistic symptoms were lower in the PDD-NOS group than in the AD group (96, 101) (Table 5). More specifically, studies showed better communication and socialization skill outcomes in PDD-NOS than in AD (103–105). Kim et al.'s study showed that the likelihood of having restrictive and repetitive behavior was the same for both AD and PDD-NOS groups; though the rated severity of these

TABLE 1 Autism symptoms in PDD-NOS in comparison of AD.

Authors	Year	Рорі	ulation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Carigi et al.	2014	46	71	AD: 67.78 months (39.59) ¹ PDD-NOS: 45.20 months (17.28)	56	79	Italy	DQ ² : 59.86 (15.42)	To identify clinical features that might prove able to differentiate AD from PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The ADI-R ³ The ADOS ⁴ The CARS ⁵ The Griffith's Mental Development Scale	Higher scores were rated on the ADI-R (with the exception of restrictive and repetitive behavior), on the ADOS and on the CARS in AD in comparison with PDD-NOS.
Mahoney et al.	2014	72	105	AD: 53.12 months (18.31) PDD-NOS: 52.86 months (18.47)	86	82	USA		To characterize and compare social interaction profiles of young children with AD and PDD- NOS	Comparative study	The Screen for Social Interaction	Children with AD and those with PDD-NOS had similar social interaction profiles
Joseph et al.	2013	128	46	AD: 4.14 years (1.57) PDD-NOS: = 4.14 (1.57)	41	89	USA	Non-Verbal Developmental Quotient: 80.37 (17.60)	To investigate restricted, repetitive and stereotyped patterns of behavior, interests and activities in children with AD and those with PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The Repetitive Behavior Scale- Revised	The AD group did not differ from PDD-NOS on any subscale (Self- Injurious Behavior, Stereotyped Behavior, Compulsive Behavior, Ritualistic/Sameness Behavior and Restricted Behavior).
Matson et al.	2013	115	113	26.63 months (5.22)			USA		To compare ASD symptoms in children with AD and those with PDD- NOS	Comparative study	the BISCUIT ⁶ -Part 1	The AD group had higher rates of ASD symptoms than the PDD-NOS group in all three domains (repetitive behaviors, social interaction and communication)

(Continued)

Authors	Year	Рорі	ulation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Kozlowski et al.	2012	20	20	8.37 years (3.22)	13	65	USA	No ID	To determine differences between AD and PDD-NOS on appropriate and inappropriate social skills	Comparative study	The Matson Evaluation of Social Skills in Youngsters-II	Social skills did not differ between children with AD and PDD- NOS
Falck-Ytter et al.	2012	40	25	AD: 2107 days (339) PDD- NOS: 2224 days (252)			Sweden	Total IQ: 84.15 (10.53)	To compare gaze performance in children with AD and those with PDD- NOS	Comparative study	Eye tracking The Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scale of Intelligence – Third Edition.	Gaze performance did not significantly differ between the AD and the PDD-NOS group
Hattier et al.	2011	197	197	AD: 26.59 months (4.75) PDD-NOS: 25.54 (4.48)	143	73	USA		To examine whether the AD group would have significantly greater levels of impairment in communication and socialization than the PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The BISCUIT-Part1 The Battelle Developmental Inventory, 2nd Edition	In regards to communication, no significant differences were found between children with AD and PDD-NOS. For socialization, the comparison AD vs. PDD-NOS were found to differ significantly
Karabekiroglu	2012	47	94	AD: 4.1 (2.0) PDD-NOS: 5.4 (2.4)	71	76	Turkey		To investigate differential features of PDD-NOS such as presenting symptoms, developmental history, and comorbidity with respect to autism	Comparative study	The K-SADS ⁷ The First Clinical Admission Questionnaire and Clinical Assessment Form Preliminary PDD-NOS symptom screening scale	The most common presenting symptoms in the PDD-NOS and AD groups are reported significantly less in prevalence in the PDD-NOS group

(Continued)

Authors	Year	Рори	ılation	Age	Male PDD- gro	NOS	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Mandy et al.	2011	97	66	AD: 9.43 years (3.50) ² PDD-NOS: 9.05 years (3.51)	52	79	UK	Verbal IQ: 87.60 (15.98)	To characterize a group of individuals diagnosed according to a clearly operationalized DSM-IV-TR definition of PDD- NOS	Comparative study	The Developmental, Dimensional and Diagnostic Interview The ADOS	The AD and PDD- NOS groups did not differ significantly according to reciprocal social interaction or social communication measures. The PDD-NOS group had less repetitive, stereotype behaviors than the AD group.
Sipes et al.	2011	270	270	17 to 34 months			USA		To examine the effects of a diagnosis of ASD (AD or PDD-NOS) and motor skills impairments and their interaction on social skills impairments	Comparative study	The Biscuit-part 1 The Battelle Developmental Inventory–Second Edition	Those with AD had significantly higher (i.e., more impaired) social skill impairments than those with PDD-NOS. Level of fine motor skills affected social skills more so in those with AD than in those with PDD-NOS
Fein et al.	2010	15	13	10.42 years (2.2)			USA		To compare the rates of contagious yawning in a group of children with AD and PDD-NOS	Comparative study	A contagious yawning experiment	Children diagnosed with AD were less likely to exhibit contagious yawning than children diagnosed with PDD- NOS

(Continued)

Frontiers in Psychiatry

Authors	Year	Ρορι	ulation	Age	Males in PDD-NOS group		Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Horovitz et al.	2010	220	220	AD: 27.22 months (4.74) PDD-NOS: 26.44 (4.77)	156	71	USA		To compare communication impairments of toddlers diagnosed with AD and PDD- NOS	Comparative study	The BISCUIT-Part 1	Toddlers with AD had more total communication impairments than did toddlers with PDD- NOS
Fodstad et al.	2009	161	140	26.53 months (5.02)			USA		To determine the nature and rate of verbal and non-verbal communication as well as social skills	Comparative study	The BISCUIT part 1	Deficits in communication and social skills were more obvious and pronounced in those with AD, then PDD- NOS
Matson, Dempsey & Fodstad (Developmental Neurorehabilitation)	2009	140	121	26.63 months (5.12)			USA		To determine the nature and rate of stereotypies and ritualistic behaviors in a population of infants with AD or PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The BISCUIT	Stereotypies and repetitive/ritualistic behaviors were most common in AD, then PDD-NOS
Matson, Dempsey & Fodstad (Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities)	2009	69	34	7.99 years (3.25)			USA		To distinguish between AD and PDD-NOS To evaluate specific diagnostic profiles within and across ASD is also critical	Comparative study	The Autism Spectrum Disorders-Diagnostic for Children	Severity of impairment was greatest for AD, followed by PDD- NOS. AD and PDD-NOS differed on Social Relationships and Verbal Communication but not on Insistence on Nonverbal Comm./ Socialization, Sameness/Restricted Interests

(Continued)

Authors	Year	Population		Population Age		es in -NOS oup	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Matson, Fodstad & Dempsey	2009	171	144	26.50 (4.97)			USA		To distinguish between a diagnosis of AD from PDD-NOS in a sample of infants and toddlers	Comparative study	The BISCUIT-Part 1	The study identified 11 items that distinguished young children with autism from those with PDDNOS. This items were engages in repetitive motor movements for no reason, use of language in conversations, shares enjoyment with others, interest in participating in social activities, restricted interest and activities, sticking to purposeless odd routines or rituals, abnormal preoccupation with object parts, reads non-verbal cues of others, use of non- verbal communication, abnormal of repetitive hand or arm movements and development of social relationships

(Continued)
Authors	Year	Рори	ulation			Males in PDD-NOS group		Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Chawarska et al.	2007	51	24	AD: 28.5 months (4.7) PDD-NOS: 27.8 months (5.7)			The ADI-R	Mullen visual reception DQ: 84 (16)	To examine factors that influence the timing of parental recognition of developmental problems including severity of autistic symptoms	Comparative Study	The ADI-R The Mullen Scales of Early Learning	The mean age of onset of parental concerns in the group with AD was comparable to that reported in the PDD- NOS group. Parents of children with AD were significantly more likely to report their children as having medical problems and motor delays, as well as unusual autistic-like stereotyped behaviors than parents of children with PDD- NOS. Children with PDD- NOS had more non- specific problems related to sleeping, eating, and activity level

(Continued)

Authors	Year	Рорі	ulation	Age	Male PDD- gro	NOS	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Verté et al.	2006	57	31	AD (without ID): 8.8 years (1.8) PDD-NOS: 8.8 years (1.6)	26	84	The Netherlands	Full Sclale IQ: 98.0 (14.7)	To explore whether children with AD (without ID) and PDD-NOS can be differentiated in terms of their Children's Communication Checklist profile	Comparative Study	The Children's Communication Checklist	The AD (without ID) group had more problems of coherence than the PDD-NOS groups. The AD (without ID) group had lower conversational rapport scores than the PDD- NOS Group. The PDD-NOS group had fewer restricted interests than the HFA and AS groups. The HFA group had a lower average pragmatic composite score than the PDD- NOS group
Walker et al.	2004	216	21	AD: 86.3 months (38.0) PDD-NOS: 99.0 months (71.8)	18	86	USA	Leiter IQ: 82.38 (33.40)	To describe the characteristics of children with PDD-NOS, diagnosed using a consensus best estimate	Comparative study	The ADI-R The ADOS The ABC ⁸ The Leiter International Performance Scale	Children with PDD- NOS have fewer autism symptoms than children with AD.

(Continued)

Authors	Year	Ρορι	ulation	Age		es in -NOS oup	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Buitelaar et al.	1999	205	80	Pre-school children to young adults	69	86	The Netherlands	ID in 25% of cases	To explore the boundaries of PDD- NOS vis à vis AD	Comparative study	ICD 10/DSMIV criteria of AD and PDD-NOS	The three items with the strongest differentiating power were (a) lack of varied spontaneous make- believe play, (b) preoccupation with restricted patterns of interest, and (c) impairment of play before age 3 years
Klin et al.	1999	34	34	AD: 7.37 years (2.93) PDD-NOS: 6.59 years (2.01)			USA	Non-Verbal Mental Age: 5.19 years (1.00)	To explore whether or not any deficits found in face recognition applied to AD and PDD- NOS	Comparative study	The K-ABC	Children with AD performed significantly worse on face recognition than the PDD-NOS group
Mayes et al.	1993	40	40	AD: 6.9 years (5.4) PDD-NOS: 6.6 years (4.8)	33	75	USA	Mental age: 3.74 (2.60)	The delineation, of specific clinical features that differentiate PDD- NOS from AD	Comparative study	24 items selected from the DSM III-R criteria for AD, the ICD-10 Draft Research Criteria for childhood autism, the ABC and the VABS	Items that distinguished AD with PDDNOS from those with autism related to the degree of socialization and relatedness with children with PDD- NOS showing less severe disturbances in relatedness

¹(SD). ²Developmental Quotient. ³Autism Diagnostic Interview -Revised. ⁴Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule. ⁵Child Autism Rating Scale. ⁶Baby and Infant Screen for Children with aUtIsm Traits. ⁷Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children. ⁸Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale. ⁹Autistic Behavior Checklist.

Frontiers in Psychiatry

TABLE 2 Perinatal, developmental and fu	nctional aspects in PDD-NOS in comparison of AD.
---	--

Authors	Year	Ρορι	ulation	Age	Males in PDD-NOS group		Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Carigi et al.	2014	46	71	AD: 67.78 months (39.59) ¹ PDD-NOS: 45.20 months (17.28)	56	79	Italy	DQ ¹ : 59.86 (15.42)	To identify clinical features that might prove able to differentiate AD from PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The CGI ² The Griffith's Mental Development Scale The Health Related Quality of Life Questionnaire	Absence of pointing, were more frequent in the AD group. The impact on patients and families were also greater in the AD group.
Hill et al.	2014	40	44	6 to 13 years			USA	Verbal Comprehension/ Verbal IQ and Processing Speed composite scores: 158.18 (22.408)	To examine the potential moderating effects of anxiety and cognitive functioning on the relation between local processing and social skills in children with ASD	Comparative study	The Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scale of Intelligence – Third Edition. The Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children – Fourth Edition The Anxiety and Social Skills subscale scores from the Parent Report Form of the Behavioral Assessment System for Children – Second Edition	The Block Design subtest scores did not differ between children with AD and those with PDD-NOS. Anxiety and cognitive functioning moderated the association between local processing and social skills whatever the diagnosis considered

(Continued)

_
9
Ľ.
Ð
S
₹.
P
S.
\leq
5
a
.5
\leq

Authors	Year	Рори	llation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		Ν	%						
Thurm et al.	2014	125	42	AD: 48.6 months (16.9) PDD-NOS: 48 months (15.7)	35	83	USA	DQ: 72.5 (19.9)	To provide novel data on timing information about both attainment and any loss of skills to capture onset patterns in young children	Comparative study	A detailed caregiver interview	In children with AD, pointing to express interest and show object were lesser frequently attained skills than in those with PDD-NOS. The percentage of children reported to have lost at least one skill revealed that the AD group had the largest percentage of children with caregiver report of any loss followed by PDD-NOS
Kose et a.	2013	46	38	AD: 8.6 years (3.8) PDD-NOS: 6.3 years (2.5)	32	84	Turkey		To investigate the Health Related Quality of Life of children within ASD groups.	Comparative study	The Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory 4.0 scored by mothers	Psychosocial, social, school functioning and total summary score of the AD group were lower than PDD- NOS
Peters-Scheffer et al.	2013	87	24	AD: 5.58 years (17.19) PDD-NOS: 5,92 years (19.88)			The Netherlands	IQ: 32.85 (14.42)	To compare behavioral flexibility in those with AD and those with PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The Behavior Flexibility Rating Scale – Revised The Mullen Scales of Early Learning	No differences in behavioral flexibility toward persons were found between children with PDD- NOS plus ID and children with AD plus ID

(Continued)

Authors	Year	Ρορι	Ilation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Schlooz et al.	2013	15	21	AD: 131.27 months (13.59) PDD-NOS: 130.29 (16.73)	21	100	The Netherlands	Full Scale IQ: 109.43 (12.16)	To test whether the AD group reach higher scores on the Embedded Figures Test than the PDD group	Comparative study	The Children's Embedded Figures Test The Adult Embedded Figures Test	Children and adolescents with AD and PDD-NOS did not differ on visual- perceptual tests
Visser et al.	2013	121	75	AD: 32.6 months (6.6) PDD-NOS: 34.6 months (5.8)			The Netherlands		This study compared the occurrence of pre- and perinatal risk factors between the narrowly (AD) versus broadly defined autistic phenotypes (PDD- NOS)	Comparative study	A parental questionnaires derived from the Prechtl optimality scales with addition of relevant items like paternal age, intoxications and maternal stress	Cases with PDD-NOS differed from those with AD by higher exposure to smoking during pregnancy and by a negative association of smoking with IQ. SDP appears to contribute more to broadly defined than to narrowly defined autistic phenotypes
Blijd- Hoogewys et al.	2012	35	65	11.23 years (3.35)			The Netherlands	Performance IQ: 91.98 (19.26)	To examine whether different ASD subtypes (Autistic disorder and PDDNOS) show different profiles	Comparative study	The Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Functions	The BRIEF scale scores for AD and PDDNOS do not differ significantly on executive funtions
de Bildt et al.	2012	60	95	11.90 years (3.92)			The Netherlands	ID	To examine the rates of Visual Rooting Reflex in the AD and PDD- NOS subgroups	Comparative study	The ADOS ³ The VABS ⁴	Children with AD + ID displayed a Visual Rooting Reflex more often than children with PDD-NOS+ID

(Continued)

Authors	Year	Рорг	llation	Age	Males in PDD-NOS group		Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Kjellmer et al.	2012	22	44	69 months (8.5)			Sweden	Full Scale IQ: 86.3 (11.3)	To compare language comprehension between children with AD and those with PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The Comprehension Scale of the Reynell Developmental Language Scales III	Children with AD and PDD-NOS did not differ in language comprehension
Mandy et al.	2011	97	66	AD: 9.43 years (3.50) ² PDD-NOS: 9.05 years (3.51)	52	79	UK	Verbal IQ: 87.60 (15.98)	To characterize a group of individuals diagnosed according to a clearly operationalized DSM-IV-TR definition of PDD- NOS	Comparative study	The Developmental, Dimensional and Diagnostic Interview The ADOS	For gross motor and fine motor impairment there were no group differences. By contrast, on measures of visuo- spatial impairment and auditory sensitivity the PDD- NOS group were less impaired that the AD group
O'Donnell et al.	2012	28	14	36 to 59 months			USA		To explore the sensory processing differences between two subgroups of these children (AD and PDD-NOS)	Comparative study	The Short Sensory Profile	Short Sensory Profile scores between the two subgroups of children (AD and PDD–NOS) did not significantly differed

(Continued)

Frontiers in Psychiatry

TABLE 2 (Continued)

Authors	Year	Рорг	ulation	Age	Males in PDD-NOS group		Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		Ν	%						
Beeger et al.	2010	11	20	AD: 9,33 years (1.67) PDD-NOS: years 9,17 (1.75)			The Netherlands	Full Scale IQ: 96.1 (11.1)	To test whether children with AD and PDD-NOS differ in their tendency to account for the impact of an emotionally charged initial situation in their emotional reaction to a successive situation (emotional transfer).	Comparative study	Two parallel sets of four stories	Children with AD reported equal effects of preceding positive and negative emotions and children with PDD-NOS were relatively unaffected b the preceding emotions
Huemer et al.	2010	171	119	AD: 10.41 years PDD-NOS: 10.08 years	91	76	USA		To compare decoding and comprehension in children with AD and those with PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The Woodcock reading mastery test—revised Slosson oral reading test-revised Gray oral reading test-revised, 4th edition Lindamood auditory conceptualization test The Peabody picture vocabulary test third edition Detroit tests of learning aptitude-4th edition, word opposites Detroit tests of learning aptitude-2nd edition, Oral directions	Group differences on decoding and comprehension between the AD and the PDD-NOS group were not significant

2
0
d.
P
S
₹.
_
Τ
Ś
Psy
syc
sych
sych
sychiat
sychiat

Authors	Year	Ρορι	ulation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		Ν	%						
Matson, Mahan, Fodstad et al.	2010	117	112	AD: 26.83 months (4.78) PDD-NOS 25.76 months (4.48)	80	71	USA		To analyze the differences between motor skills in infants and toddlers with various AD and PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The Battelle Developmental Inventory, 2nd Edition	Toddlers with PDDNOS did not have significantly different fine or gross motor skills than toddlers with AD
Matson, Mahan, Kozlowski et al.	2010	165	166	AD: 27.52 months (4.61) PDD-NOS: 26.64 months (4.69)	123	74	USA		To examine whether there are differences in age of onset for developmental milestones, such as saying one's first word, first phrase, onset of crawling and onset of walking, between the AD and the PDD-NOS group	Comparative study	The BISCUIT ⁵ demographic form	The children with AD began crawling significantly later than those with PDD-NOS. No other comparison was significant
Zander et al.	2010	85	94	AD: 10.22 years (2.16), PDD- NOS: 10.73 years (2.15)	51	54%	Sweden		To examine index score profiles and their characteristics in a large Swedish sample consisting of children with AD and PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The Swedish version of the Weschler Intelligence Scale for Children – third edition	There were no significant differences between children with AD and those with PDD-NOS on any index score of the Weschler Intelligence Scale for Children
Dawson et al.	2009	314	84	4 to 19 years			Australia		To investigate the association between birth defects and ASD for AD and PDD-NOS	Comparative study		Odds ratios for birth defects were similar for AD and PDD-NOS

10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1149580

(Continued)

Authors	Year	Рорг	ulation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Meilleur et al.	2009	80	44	6.3 years (4.1)			Canada		To compare regressive and non-regressive ASD children for their profile of diagnosis	Comparative study	The ADI-R	Children with AD were significantly more likely to regress in skills other than language when compared with children with PDD- NOS
Perry et al.	2009	192	66	51.70 months (12.51)			Canada		To examine whether the adaptive behavior of children with AD differ from individually matched children with PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The VABS	No differences were found between matched pairs of children with AD and PDD-NOS on adaptive behavior
Portoghese et al.	2009	21	25	AD:3.2 years (1.04) PDD-NOS: 3.3 years (0.92)	25	92	Italy		To discern differences between preschool children with AD and children with PDD- NOS as regards their developmental and behavioral levels	Comparative study	The Revised Psychoeducational Profile	All behavioral areas and almost all developmental domains (with the exception of the cognitive verbal) assessed were more severely impaired in the AD group.
de Bruin et al.	2006	13	76	AD: 8.62 years (1.81) PDD-NOS: 8.39 years (1.86)	65	86	The Netherlands	Full scale IQ: 89.58 (19.38)	To compare VIQ– PIQ and subtest patterns in children with AD from children with PDD- NOS	Comparative study	The WICS-R	No overall differences between VIQ and PIQ were found in PDD- NOS and autism.

(Continued)

0
-
4
<u> </u>
n
_
S
=.
-
_
τ
S
\leq
0
<u></u>
_ ≓
۵
<u>_</u>
5
~

Authors	Year	Рори	Ilation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Verté et al.	2006	50	25	AD: 8.7 years (1.9) PDD-NOS: 8.5 years (1.4)	20	80	The Netherlands	Full scale IQ: 98.3 (14.4)	To investigate whether children with AD (without) and PDDNOS can be differentiated from each other on their neurocognitive executive functioning (EF) profile	Comparative study	The change task The circle drawing task Test of Everyday Attention for Children, Subtest Opposite Worlds The Self-Ordered Pointing Task, Abstract Designs The tower of London The Wisconsin Card Sorting Test An adaptation of the Controlled Word Association Task	The executive function profile of the PDDNOS group was less disturbed than the profile of the AD group (higher Visual Working Memory and Planning scores).
Glason et al.	2004	314	84	4 to 19 years			Australia		To examine the association of obstetric factors with autism spectrum disorders for a cohort of children, using obstetric data contained in a statutory database collected at the time of birth	Comparative study		The PDD-NOS group had similar types of complications to the autism group, but some variables reached statistical significance. These variables were greater frequencies of threatened abortion, a labor duration of less than 1 h. Cases were more likely to have experienced cephalopelvic disproportion, been delivered by an elective or emergency cesarean section.

(Continued)

-
2
0
d.
ē
<u> </u>
Ξ.
P
S
2
4
_≓-
<u>a</u>
4
\leq

Authors	Year	Рорг	ulation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Rhea et al.	2004	20	20	AD: 6.5 years (1.8) PDD-NOS 6.2 years (1.6)	18	90	USA	IQ: 76.3 (16)	To provide a microanalysis of differences in adaptive functioning seen between well- matched groups of school-aged children with autism and those diagnosed as having PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The VABS	Findings indicate that children with PDD- NOS scored higher in expressive communication; specifically, the use of elaborations in syntax and morphology and in pragmatic use of language to convey and to seek information in discourse
Walker et al.	2004	216	21	AD: 86.3 months (38.0) PDD-NOS: 99.0 months (71.8)	18	86	USA	Leiter IQ: 82.38 (33.40)	To describe the characteristics of children with PDD-NOS, diagnosed using a consensus best estimate	Comparative study	The VABS The Leiter International Performance Scale	Children with PDD- NOS have higher functioning levels than children with AD.
Allen et al.	2001	176	18	AD without ID: 57.8 months (15.2) AD with ID: 59.6 months (16.4) PDD-NOS without ID: 56.0 months (13.3) PDD-NOS with ID: 66.0 months (15.15)	14	78	USA	ID in 90% of cases	To determine whether preschool children having AD differed in kind from those of with PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The VABS The Wing Autistic Disorder Interview Checklist The Stanford-Binet 4 th edition	PDD-NOS children did not differ significantly from the AD children in verbal and adaptive skills. The PDD-NOS did also not differ from the AD children in maladaptive behaviors.

(Continued)

Authors	Year	Рорі	ulation	Age	Males in PDD-NOS group		Country	Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Juul-Dam et al.	2001	61	16	5 years			USA		To examine various pre-, peri-, and neonatal factors	Comparative study	Risk factors assessment	The PDD-NOS group showed results similar to those of the AD group, with significantly lower increased incidence of hyperbilirubinemia
Buitelaar et al.	1999	20	20	AD: 12.5 years (3.2) PDD-NOS: 12.4 years (3.1)	17	85	The Netherlands	Full Scale IQ: 98.7 (18.3)	To explore wether autistic children without ID and autistic-like (PDD-NOS) children could be distinguished in social cognitive performance	Comparative study	First order ToM tasks Second order ToM tasks Emotion recognition	AD and PDD-NOS children could not be significantly differentiated from each other on social cognitive performance
Ghaziuddin et al.	1998	12	12	AD: 10.3 years (2.9) PDD-NOS: 10.1 years (2.7)	10	83	USA	Full IQ: 78.2 (14.5)	To assess the presence of clumsiness in patients with AD or PDDNOS	Comparative study	The Bruininks Oseretsky test	Patients with PDD- NOS were found to be less impaired on battery test scores than those with AD
Volkmar et al.	1993	199	74	AD: 13.29 years (7.64) PDD-NOS: 7.47 (6.05)	58	78	USA	IQ:70.23 (22.46)	To explore the nature of sex differences in AD and PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The ABC The VAB	The AD males were 8.8 times more likely than females to have full-scale IQ scores >70; whereas in the PDD-NOS group males were only 1.5 times more likely to have full-scale IQs>70

¹(SD). ²Clinical Global Impression Severity Scale. ³Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule. ⁴Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale. ⁵Baby and Infant Screen for Children with aUtIsm Traits.

TABLE 3 Associated mental health conditions in PDD-NOS in comparison with AD.

Authors			llation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	PDD-NOS Functioning level	Objective	Study Design	Methods and main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Chien et al.	2020	2,929	461	AD: 5.6 years (10.6) ¹ PDD-NOS: 12.7 years (16.5)	311	68	Taiwan	Absence of ID	To investigate the incidence of comorbid Schizoprenia Spectrum Disorder, Bipolar Depressive Disorder and ASD associated neurodevelopmental conditions in AD and PDD-NOS using a national insurance database	Comparative study	Claim records completed by physicians	Patients with PDD- NOS had a higher risk for developing Schizoprenia Spectrum Disorder, Bipolar Disorder, Major Depressive Disorder than AD.
Carigi et al.	2014	46	71	AD: 67.78 months (39.59) PDD-NOS: 45.20 months (17.28)	56	79	Italy	DQ ² : 59.86 (15.42)	To identify clinical features that might prove able to differentiate AD from PDD-NOS	Comparative study	Semi-structured interview to collect information about the developmental history	Pharmacotherapy were more frequent in the AD group.

(Continued)

Authors	Year	Рори	lation	Age	Male PDD- gro	NOS	Country	PDD-NOS Functioning level	Objective	Study Design	Methods and main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Joshi et al.	2014	ASD clinic: 89 Psychiatry clinic: 25	ASD clinic: 30 Psychiatry clinic: 192	3 to 17 years			USA		To investigate whether phenotypes of ASD and associated psychopathology and dysfunction varied by referral source. To this end, youth with ASD attending a specialty clinic for ASD were compared to those attending a general psychiatry clinic	Comparative study	The K-SASD ³ The DSM Global Assessment of Functioning Scale	More ASD clinic youth met criteria for AD; more youth referred to the psychiatry clinic met criteria for PDD- NOS. General psychiatry clinic youth with ASD suffered from a greater burden of psychopathologies (Oppositional defiant disorder, Major Depressive Disorder and psychosis) higher levels of dysfunction and more pharmacotherapy.
Kozlowski et al.	2012	92	114	AD: 26.57 months (4.84) PDD-NOS: 26.14 months (5.036)	57	50%	USA		To identify differences in challenging behavior endorsement rates between AD and PDD- NOS groups	Comparative study	The BISCUIT ⁴ -Part 3	Individuals with AD endorse significantly greater amounts of challenging behaviors (aggressive/disruptive behaviors, stereotypic behaviors, and self- injurious behaviors) than individuals with PDD-NOS

(Continued)

Authors Year	Рорг	ulation	Age	PDD	les in I-NOS oup	Country	PDD-NOS Functioning level	Objective	Study Design	Methods and main assessment tools	Results	
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Gjevik et al.	2011	47	12	11.8 years (3.3)			Norway		To assess the prevalence of current comorbid DSM-IV disorders in a special school population of children and adolescents with AD and PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The K-SADS	Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and Conduct Disorder was more prevalent in children with PDD NOS than in those with AD.
Horovitz et al.	2011	291	241	26.33 months (4.76)	168	70	USA		to examine the differential endorsement of challenging behaviors with respect to diagnosis subtype (AD vs. PDD- NOS)	Comparative study	The BISCUIT part	Young children with AD are endorsed for engaging in significantly more challenging behaviors than those with PD- NOS (Destructive/ aggressive behavior, stereotypic behaviors but not self-injurious behavior)
Sipes et al.	2011	247	211	AD: 27.21 months (4.84) PDD-NOS; 26.47 months (4.84)	152	72	USA		To determine if tantrum/conduct problems were rated more frequently in toddlers with AD than in those with PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The BISCUIT-Part 2	Children with AD exhibited greater symptoms of tantrum/ conduct problems
Snow et al.	2011	54	54	AD: 65.6 months (28.7) PDD-NOS: 65.4 months (29.7)			USA	Non Verbal IQ: 78.1 (19.7)	To determine if children in these different diagnostic groups differed on rates and profiles of psychopathology	Comparative study	The ADOS ⁵ The Child Behavior Checklist	Higher scores in the PDD-NOS group (school-age sample) on two items measuring Anxiety/ Depression on the Child Behavior Checklist

Coutelle et al.

(Continued)

Frontiers in Psychiatry

TABLE 3 (Continued)

Authors	Year	Рори	lation	Age	Males in PDD-NOS group	Country	PDD-NOS Functioning level	Objective	Study Design	Methods and main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N %						
Davis et al.	2011	33	33	7.46 years (2.79)		USA	91.1% without ID	To examine whether or not there are fundamental differences in the effects of communication deficits on anxiety levels in children with AD and PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The Autism Spectrum Disorders – Comorbidity for Children The Autism Spectrum Disorders – Diagnostic for Children	The AD and PDD-NOS groups interacted with communication deficits such that children with AD experienced less anxiety as communication deficits increased while children with PDD- NOS experience more anxiety as communication deficits increased
Davis et al.	2010	159	154	27.09 months (5.02)		USA		To establish if there are differences in the prevalence of anxiety and avoidance between infants and toddlers diagnosed with AD versus those with PDD- NOS	Comparative study	The BISCUIT-Part	Results indicated an overall pattern whereby toddlers with AD had more severe anxious and avoidant symptoms than toddlers with PDD-NOS
Horovitz et al.	2010	141	135	26.68 months (4.97)		USA		To examine gender differences in psychiatric symptoms in infants and toddlers with AD and PDD- NOS	Comparative study	The BISCUIT part 2	No gender differences. The AD group evinced significantly more psychiatric symptoms (tantrum/conduct behavior, inattention/ impulsivity, avoidance behavior, anxiety/ repetitive behavior, eating/sleep problems) than the PDD-NOS

frontiersin.org

Authors	Year	PDD-	lation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	PDD-NOS Functioning level	Objective	Study Design	Methods and main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Matson et al.	2009	169	140	27.30 months (4.81).			USA		To examine the frequency of various comorbid problems in infants and toddlers with an AD or PDD- NOS	Comparative study	The BISCUIT-Part 2	All five disorders (tantrum/conduct behavior, inattentive/ impulsive, avoidant behavior, anxiety/ repetitive and eating problems/sleep) were more common in the AD group. Differences in the two groups were particularly striking for the anxiety/repetitive behavior and inattention/impulsivity factors
Gurkan et al.	2008	18	11	AD: 10.61 years (3.99) PDD-NOS: 10.27 (3.50)	11	100	Turkey	Full Scale IQ: 91.00 (23.46)	To determine the pattern and frequency of psychiatric comorbidity in children and adolescents with AD and PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The K-SADS The Wechsler Intelligence Scale for children- Revised tests	Differences were significant only for tic disorders which were highest in PDD-NOS group
Pearson et al.	2006	25	25	AD: 9.5 years (3.1) PDD-NOS: 10.5 months (3.3)	19	76	USA	Full-Scale IQ: 94.0 (22.9)	To compare differences in behavioral and emotional comorbidity in children with AD and those with PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The Personality Inventory for Children – Revised	Children with PDD- NOS were at lower risk for depression, social withdrawal, atypical behaviors/psychosis, and social skills problems and higher risk for family problems

(SD). ²Development Quotient. ³Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children. ⁴Baby and Infant Screen for Children with aUtIsm Traits. ⁵Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule.

TABLE 4 Associated physical health conditions in PDD-NOS in comparison with AD.

Authors	Year	Popu	lation	Age	Males PDD-1 group		Country	PDD-NOS Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Methods and main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Gok et al.	2019	61	41	9.56 years (3.9) ¹			Turkey		To evaluate the relationship between sleep disturbances, gastrointestinal problems and eating behaviors in children who are diagnosed with AD and PDD-NOS	Comparative study	Parental reports on sleeping and gastrointestinal problems The Feeding Assessment Survey The Brief Autism Mealtime Behavior Inventory	Sleeping, gastrointestinal and eating problems are seen in those with AD more commonly than in those diagnosed with PDD-NOS
Carigi et al.	2014	46	71	AD: 67.78 months (39.59) PDD-NOS: 45.20 months (17.28)	56	79	Italy	DQ ² : 59.86 (15.42)	To identify clinical features that might prove able to differentiate AD from PDD- NOS	Comparative study	Semi-structured interview to collect information about the developmental history	Sleep disorders were more frequent in the AD group.
Kozlowski et al.	2012	506	502	AD: 26.63 months (4.69) PDD- NOS: 26.35 (4.82)	376	72	USA		To compare groups of children with AD and PDD- NOS on their Eating/Sleep Problems	Comparative study	the BISCUIT ³ -Part 2	Children with AD were found to present with significantly more feeding and sleep problems than children with PDD-NOS
Mandy et al.	2011	97	66	AD: 9.43 years (3.50) ² PDD-NOS: 9.05 years (3.51)	52	79	UK	Verbal IQ: 87.60 (15.98)	To characterize a group of individuals diagnosed according to a clearly operationalized DSM-IV-TR definition of PDD-NOS	Comparative study	The Developmental, Dimensional and Diagnostic Interview The ADOS ⁴	For sleep problems there were no group differences. By contrast, on measures of feeding difficulties the PDD-NOS group were less impaired that the AD group
Matson et al.	2009	72	40	8.21 years (3.76)			USA		To better understand the nature and specific interrelationship between feeding problems and autism and PDD-NOS should be	Comparative study	The Autism Spectrum Disorders-Diagnostic for Children The Autism Spectrum Disorders-Comorbidity for Children	Feeding problems did not differed between the AD and PDD-NOS groups

(Continued)

Authors	Year Population		ar Population Age		Males in PDD-NOS group		Country	PDD-NOS Functioning level	Objective	Study design	Methods and main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Parmeggiani et al.	2007	77	77	10 years 1 month (range: 3 years to 29 years 2 months)	48	62	Italy	ID in 92.3% of cases	To evaluate the occurrence, features, and causes of epilepsy in pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified in comparison with autistic disorder	Comparative study	The CARS ⁵	Mild mental retardation, pathological neurological examination, cerebral lesions, abnormal EEG background activity and associated genetic pathologies were more common in PDD-NOS. Epilepsy occurred in 35.1% of patients with PDD-NOS, with no statistically significant difference compared with AD. The mean age of seizure onset was earlier (2 years 8 months) in PDD-NOS. Seizure outcome was better in AD

¹(SD) ²Developmental Quotient. ³Baby and Infant Screen for Children with aUIsm Traits. ⁴Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule. ⁵Childhood Autism Rating Scale.

TABLE 5 Longitudinal studies comparing developmental trajectories in AD and PDD-NOS.

Authors	Year	Рорг	Population Age		Age Males in PDD-NOS group		Country	Objective	Study design	Methods	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Usta et al.	2019	182	210	72.3 months (45.9) ¹			Turkey	To examine predictors of outcome after 3-year clinical observation, special education and psychiatric treatment in the clinical-based group	Prospective study	The ASD symptoms were assessed at baseline (T0) and 12th (T1), 24th (T2) and 36th (T3) months. The performance of machine learning algorithms was tested on the data.	The ABC ² The Abberant Behavior Checklist The CGI ³	In the autism group, older father and mother age In the PDD-NOS group, mental retardation comorbidity, less birth weight and older age at diagnosis have a worse outcome
Hinnebusch et al.	2017	111	82	AD: 27.09 months (4.57) PDD-NOS: 25.88 months (4.04)	65	78	USA	To determine whether children retained an ASD diagnosis (AD or PDD-NOS) and to assess autism severity and degree of cognitive and adaptive progress	Prospective study	Children were initially evaluated at approximately 24 months of age and were then reevaluated about two years later.	The ADOS-G ⁴ The CARS ⁵ The VABS ⁶ The Mullen Scales of Early Learning	The AD group showed a higher rate of diagnostic stability than the PDD-NOS group. The PDD-NOS group showed significanty less improvement than the AD group; however, at both time points, they were still on average in the PDD-NOS range, with lower severity scores than the AD group. No significant differences in learning rate on cognitive or adaptive measures between the AD and the PDD-NOS groups

(Continued)

Frontiers in Psychiatry

Authors	Year	Рорі	ulation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	Objective	Study design	Methods	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Mordre et al.	2012	74	39	AD: 6.7 years (SD 2.6) PDD-NOS: 7.7 years (SD 2.3)	31	80	Norway	To compare adult outcome of individuals with PDD NOS and individuals with AD	Comparative study	Children with AD and PDD-NOS were followed up from childhood to adulthood. Outcome measures were criminality, mortality and marital status rates		The disability pension award was the only outcome measure that differed significantly between the AD and PDD-NOS group. The lower rate of disability pension award in the PDD-NOS group was predicted by better psychosocial functioning
Osada et al.	2012	67	31	AD: 8.99 years (0.39) PDD-NOS: 8.98 years (0.61)	24	77	Japan	To clarify how IQ, autistic symptoms, educational placements and job status vary between AD and PDD-NOS	Longitudinal comparative study	The participants' data were collected between their first visit to the clinic and the visit at which they applied for basic disability benefits at 20 years of age.	The Japanese version of the Stanford-Binet The CARS	Participants with AD consistently showed lower IQ and more severe autistic symptoms than those diagnosed with PDD- NOS
Malhi et al.	2011	64	13	AD: 2.49 years (SD 0.41) PDD-NOS; 2.43 years (SD 0.37)			India	To describe stability and change of early diagnosis of AD and PDD-NOS	Prospective follow up study	Diagnosis of AD and PDD-NOS was made at age 3 years or less and follow- up was done around 4 years of age.	The CARS	The diagnosis of AD was more likely to persist than the diagnosis of PDD-NOS

(Continued)

Frontiers in Psychiatry

TABLE 5 (Continued)

Authors	Year	Ρορι	Ilation	Age	PDD	es in -NOS oup	Country	Objective	Study design	Methods	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Kim et al.	2010	121	71	8 to 30 months	63	89	USA	To study longitudinal data from toddlers and pre-schoolers (from 8 to 56 months old) with AD and PDD- NOS	Longitudinal study	A hierarchical regression analysis was carried out using children's earlier RRB totals (from 8 to 30 months) as one of the predictors for the same children's later RRB totals (from 31 to 56 months)	The ADOS	The likelihood of having an restrictive and repetitive behavior was the same for both AD and PDD-NOS groups; though the rated severity of these restrictive and repetitive behaviors was higher in children over age two with AD than PDD-NOS diagnoses
Anderson et al.	2009	93	51	AD: 29.6 months (4.68) PDD-NOS: 29.45 months (5.67)			USA	To examine the development of social skills between ages 2 to 13 in a sample of children initially diagnosed with AD or PDDNOS	Prospective study	Growth curve analysis was used to examine growth in socialization age equivalents from age 3 to 13 (Assessment at 2, 3, 5, 9 and 13 years)	The ADOS The ADI-R ⁷ The VABS	The gap between children with AD and the PDD-NOS group widened with time as the social skills of the latter group improved at a higher rate
Chawarska et al.	2009	43	18	21.5 months (SD 4.9)			USA	To examine short- term stability of clinical diagnosis in the second year of life	Prospective study	Cognitive, social, and communication skills of toddlers were assessed at the average age of 21.5 (SD 4.9) months, and reassessed at 46.9 (SD 7.7) months	The ADOS The Mullen Scales of Early Learning	Diagnosis of AD was stable in 74% of cases as compared to 83% in PDD-NOS

(Continued)

Authors	Year	Population		Age	Age PDD-NOS group		Country	Objective	Study design	Methods	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
van Daalen et al.	2009	40	13	AD: 29.4 (5.6) PDD-NOS: 28.2 (5.2)	9	69	The Netherlands	To evaluate the stability of ASD diagnoses in children	Prospective study	The ASD diagnoses (AD and PDD- NOS) at 23 months and 42 months of 131 patients were compared to evaluate stability of the diagnosis of ASD		The stability was 63% for AD and 54% for PDD-NOS
Anderson et al.	2007	98	58	29 months (SD 5.17)			USA	To contrast the differences between diagnostic groups in the development of verbal skills from age 2 to 9	Prospective study	Growth curve analyses were used to analyze verbal skills trajectories over time	The ADOS The ADI-R The Infant Mullen Scales of Early Learning	The gap between children with AD and the PDD-NOS group widened with time as the verbal abilities of the latter group improved at a higher rate
Takeda et al.	2007	49	77	AD: 31.7 ± 3.3 months PDD-NOS: 34.8 ± 3.5 months	39	51	Japan	To compare the change in DQ or IQ between AD and PDDNOS in preschool years	Comparative study	AD and PDD-NOS children were evaluated at age 2 and at age 5	The Kyoto Scale of Psychological Development and the Japanese version	The PDD-NOS children were significantly higher in DQ/IQ at age 2 and at age 5 than the AD children

(Continued)

_
-
0
5
Ŧ.
<u> </u>
<u>(</u>)
6
₹.
_
Ś
9
Ó
<u></u>
_ ≓
۵
<u>_</u>
5

Authors	Authors Year Population		opulation Age		Males in PDD-NOS group		Country	Objective	Study design	Methods	Main assessment tools	Results
		AD	PDD- NOS		N	%						
Thurm et al.	2007	59	24	AD: 29.98 months (SD 4.28) PDD-NOS: 30.38 months (SD 4.69)	19	79	USA	To explore which early variables (e.g., non-verbal cognitive ability, Vineland social and communication skills) at ages 2 and 3, best predicted receptive and expressive language at age 5	Prospective study	The study analyses data obtained at age 2 and age 3, as well as between the ages of 4 and 5	The ADI-R The ADOS The DAS The Mullen Scales of Early Learning The VABS	VABS age equivalent ratio scores (ratio scores = age equivalent scores/ chronological age) and other key variables indicated that Children with AD had significantly lower ratio scores than children with PDD-NOS on non-verbal cognitive ability and on both the socialization and communication domains of the VABS at ages 2 and 3, as well as on the composite expressive and receptive language age equivalent ratio scores at age 5
Lord et al.	2006	84	46	AD:29.1 months (SD 4.7) PDD-NOS 29.1 months (SD 5.6)	35	76	USA	To address the question of diagnostic stability of AD and PDD- NOS	Prospective study	Prospective study of diagnostic classifications made at ages 2 and 9 years	The ADI-R The ADOS	Diagnostic stability at age 9 years was very high for AD at age 2 years and less strong for PDD-NOS
Stone et al.	1999	25	12	31;4 months (SD ⁻ 3;4)			USA	To examine the stability of the diagnosis over a 1-year period	Prospective study	This sample included children who received an ASD diagnosis before 3 years and returned for a 1-year follow-up	The ADI-R The ADOS	The diagnosis of AD was more stable over time than was the diagnosis of PDD-NOS

10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1149580

¹(SD). ²Autistic Behavior Checklist. ³Clinical Global Impression Severity Scale. ⁴Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule. ⁵Child Autism Rating Scale. ⁶Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale. ⁷Autism Diagnostic Interview – Revised.

restrictive and repetitive behaviors was higher in children over age 2 with AD than with children with a PDD-NOS diagnosis (106).

Regarding functional outcome, a study form Norway (107) showed that the disability pension award at adulthood was the only outcome measure differing significantly between the AD and PDD-NOS groups previously included during childhood.

Within the PDD-NOS group, worse outcome was associated with ID, lesser birth weight and older age at diagnosis (108). Moreover, a better psychosocial functioning during childhood predicted a lower rate of disability pension award in the PDD-NOS group (107).

Discussion

We conducted a systematic review of PDD-NOS in comparison with AD. Cross-sectional and longitudinal studies comparing PDD-NOS and AD showed a clear trend for lower communication and socialization impairment in children with PDD-NOS. Results on restrictive and repetitive behaviors were more contradictory. Early development was less impacted in PDD-NOS as well as the quality of life of children and families. Children with PDD-NOS showed less challenging behavior than those with AD. Schizophrenia and mood disorders appeared to be higher in PDD-NOS whereas feeding and sleep disorders tend to be less prevalent.

With regard to our results, PDD-NOS appeared as category both quantitatively and qualitatively distinct from AD. In a quantitative perspective, PDD-NOS was a lesser variant of autism with respect to the trajectory of autism symptoms, some associated mental and physical health conditions, or quality of life. This perspective is consistent with the spectrum approach of the DSM-5 (2) and a possible continuum between AD and PDD-NOS within ASD. However, in a qualitative perspective, PDD-NOS differed from AD because of higher associated schizophrenia and mood disorders. These results were unexpected with respect to a spectrum approach and suggest specific links between the margins of autism and other psychiatric dimensions. Our review coheres with Tsai and Ghaziuddin's review (109) which concluded that the literature appeared to suggest that PDDNOS can be separated from AD, and, therefore, does not seem to lie on a "continuum" with that disorder. These authors recommended systematic research to settle the issue and that PDDNOS should be regarded as a separate category to facilitate ongoing research (109). In contrast, a recent systematic review on PDD-NOS (110) concluded that in regard of the limited consistency, sensibility, and stability of this disorder, it would be more consistent to include this diagnosis within ASD. Noticeably, the authors still recommended to collect information from professionals on adults who received a PDD-NOS diagnosis in childhood.

Our search on PubMed found 510 references. On the same period, from 1987 to 2022, the term "Autistic disorder" gave 24,639 references. PDD-NOS was thus referenced 48 times less than AD, and was therefore much less studied. However, the high prevalence of the PDD-NOS category demonstrates its high clinical relevance. This clinical importance of PDD-NOS in psychiatry was also emphasized by a study comparing youth with PDDs attending a specialty clinic for autism with those attending a general psychiatry clinic (88). More autism clinic youth met criteria for AD; more of those referred to the psychiatry clinic met the criteria for PDD-NOS (88). The discrepancy between the past clinical use of the PDD-NOS category and the scarcity of research in the field (in comparison with AD) might be due to the difficulty of studying the margins of autism because of their heterogeneity and complexity - which our review aimed to underline. PDD-NOS therefore illustrated a gap between clinical and research issues and the need to address heterogeneity from a research perspective. Based on research rather than clinical consideration of the PDD-NOS, the DSM-5 missed the complexity of the margins and opted for a continuum approach and ASD.

With regard to the 4 recommendations proposed by Towbin on the use of the PDD-NOS diagnosis category (21), it appears that, firstly, although PDD-NOS is related to earlier developmental disorders, the age of parental concern does not differ between AD and PDD-NOS. The latter result suggests that the PDD-NOS is not commonly used in the case of a later age of onset of autistic symptoms. Towbin (21) and Mandy et al. (35) suggested that PDD-NOS depicted a clinical picture with early onset of symptoms, an impairment in social reciprocity and less to no restrictive and repetitive behaviors. We showed, however, the lack of clear support to the claim of lesser frequency of restrictive and repetitive behaviors in PDD-NOS. Towbin also recommended using PDD-NOS as a temporary diagnosis when data are lacking or when the child is too young (21). This recommendation concurs with less diagnostic stability in PDD-NOS in infants and pre-schoolers, as is shown by our results. Finally, our review mostly supports the recommendation referring to PDDS-NOS as a lesser variant of autism with respect to the trajectory of autism symptoms, associated mental and physical health conditions, or quality of life.

Chien et al. showed that PDD-NOS was more associated than AD with schizophrenia and mood disorder (92). This result concurs with Joshi et al.'s study comparing youth with PDDs attending a specialty clinic for autism to those attending a general psychiatry clinic (88). General psychiatry clinic youth with PDDs (with more PDD-NOS than AD) suffered from more Major Depressive Disorder and psychosis. This result echoes the results of the Sporn et al.'s retrospective study, showing that 25% of the 76 patients who reported early onset schizophrenia had a diagnosis of PDDs during their childhood, with a clear predominance of PDD-NOS (111). In a reference sample of childhood onset schizophrenia, Rapaport et al. also found a high frequency of PDD-NOS (112).

The importance of associated psychosis and mood disorder in PDDs also echoes past syndromic conceptualization such as Multiple Complex Developmental Disorder (MCDD) (113), Pathological Demand Avoidance (PDA) (114) or Multi-Dimensional Impairments (MDI) (115) which linked social impairment, emotional lability and signs of psychosis (without a diagnosis of early onset schizophrenia). These signs of psychosis referred to thought disorder (MCDD), delusions (MCDD), poor ability to distinguish fantasy from reality (MDI, PDA). It is important to stress that MCDD and PDA were initially coined to deal with heterogeneity within PDD-NOS. However, both syndromes were not limited to the PDD-NOS category (116, 117).

The results of our review highlight that PDD-NOS was of great interest because of its high prevalence and clinical relevance. This diagnosis was useful to take into account milder forms of autism. However, it was less reliable and less stable through time than AD. Moreover, a qualitative study emphasized (118) that the autistic community might not acknowledge this diagnosis. This study was a phenomenological analysis of discussion forum dialog among 76 adult participants with self-reported diagnosis of AD and AS but not PDD-NOS (118). Participants constantly agreed that PDD-NOS should be removed in the DSM-5. Several participants expressed concern that the PDD-NOS diagnosis was not specific and reliable enough. They called the diagnosis "a junk category," "a receptacle" (118).

Our review emphasized lower socio-communication impairments in PDD-NOS than in AD. In DSM-5, ASD diagnosis required three criteria out of three in this domain, namely deficits in socialemotional reciprocity, deficits in nonverbal communicative behaviors used for social interaction and deficits in developing, maintaining, and understanding relationship (2). To diagnose PDD-NOS, only two of them was required (18). It might therefore be suspected that the social and communication deficit characteristic of PDD-NOS wasn't important enough for it to remain in the autism spectrum. A review and meta-analysis (119) showed that 70% of PDD-NOS did not meet the criteria for ASD. Another hypothesis postulated that PDD-NOS might belong to the Social Communication Disorder (SCD) diagnosis category. However, this category must meet all three criteria for the social-communication domain, as in ASD (2). Thus, it appears that PDD-NOS has been excluded from ASD and SCD.

Our review challenged initial views of PDD-NOS and showed that this diagnosis mostly included milder forms of autism. PDD-NOS was very clinically relevant to deal with the margins of autism and the diversity within the spectrum. However, PDD-NOS encountered too many limitations (low reliability, instability through time, low acceptability) to be retained in the DSM-5. The fact is that many PDD-NOS did not join either ASD or SCD. Thus, in order to take into account past research on PDD-NOS and the margin of autism, we argue for the creation of a new category alongside ASD and SCD, based on three main dimensions related to socialization impairment, emotional lability and psychotic symptoms and coined on PDA, MCDD and MDI. Criteria for this new category could be selected from the most valid criteria for these three syndromes and tested against the ASD criteria, to ensure that they are truly distinct. In our view, this new category would provide an opportunity for mental health professionals, along with SCD and ASD, to better take into account the neurodevelopmental disorders that have an impact on the development of social communication and its heterogeneity. From a clinical point of view, this new category would trigger the search for associated psychotic symptoms or emotional lability that might currently be understudied by professionals. In addition, new developmental trajectories, specific interventions and treatments could be identified, which would in turn make it possible to better inform and help the people concerned and their families.

Limitations

The first limitation of our study comes from the terms selected for the database search. Few studies directly addressed differences between PDD-NOS and AD. However, when the DSM-IV-TR was in use, some studies included participants with PDDs including those with AD, PDD-NOS or another PDD subtype often compared to controls. In the latter case, PDD-NOS was only mentioned in the abstract or in the title when there was a difference within PDDs subgroups. That is why we may have over-selected references showing a difference between PDD-NOS and AD, and under-selected negative studies that did not. The second limitation is that we studied all clinical features of PDD-NOS. For example, some characteristics such as quality of life were rarely studied and were only related to two references. The third limitation is sample overlap between studies, as 25% of the studies were from Matson et al. Finally, our results cannot be extended to females with PDD-NOS, individuals with PDD-NOS and ID, or adults with PDD-NOS.

Conclusion

Our systematic review shows that PDD-NOS corresponds to milder form of autism with less impact and less associated disorder, with the exception of schizophrenia and mood disorder. Our review challenges initial views of PDD-NOS, echoes past syndromic conceptualizations such as MCDD, PDA or MDI, and argues for a quantitative and qualitative distinction between AD and PDD-NOS. The PDD-NOS diagnosis was very clinically relevant to deal with the margins of autism and the diversity within the spectrum, and therefore massively used by professionals in the field. However, PDD-NOS had many limitations (low reliability, instability through time, low acceptability) and was therefore understudied, thereby generating a discrepancy between clinical and research issues. Thus, in order to overcome this gap and to take into account past research on PDD-NOS, we suggest taxonomic changes in DSM-5, through the introduction of a new category based on three main dimensions: socialization impairment, emotional lability and psychotic symptoms. Future studies are therefore needed to test relevant criteria for this new category and possibly identify developmental trajectories, specific interventions and treatments.

Author contributions

RC and OP designed the systematic review and selected the studies following PRISMA guidelines. OP was contributed mainly in epistemological and methodological. RC wrote the first complete draft of the manuscript. OP, NC, and CS provided substantial modification to the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Ousley O, Cermak T. Autism Spectrum disorder: defining dimensions and subgroups. *Curr Dev Disord Rep.* (2014) 1:20–8. doi: 10.1007/s40474-013-0003-1

2. American Psychiatric Association. DSM-5: Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. fifth ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2013).

3. Thurm A, Farmer C, Salzman E, Lord C, Bishop S. State of the field: differentiating intellectual disability from autism Spectrum disorder. *Front Psych.* (2019) 10:526. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00526

4. Vaan G, Vervloed M, Knoors H, Verhoeven L. "Autism Spectrum disorders in people with sensory and intellectual disabilities-symptom overlap and differentiating characteristics." Intech. (2013). p. 477–498.

5. Félix J, Santos ME, Benitez-Burraco A. Specific language impairment, autism Spectrum disorders and social (pragmatic) communication disorders: is there overlap in language deficits? A review. *Rev J Autism Dev Disord*. (2022) 4:1–21. doi: 10.1007/ s40489-022-00327-5

6. Taylor LJ, Maybery MT, Grayndler L, Whitehouse AJO. Evidence for shared deficits in identifying emotions from faces and from voices in autism spectrum disorders and specific language impairment. *Int J Lang Commun Disord*. (2015) 50:452–66. doi: 10.1111/1460-6984.12146

7. Antshel KM, Russo N. Autism Spectrum disorders and ADHD: overlapping phenomenology, diagnostic issues, and treatment considerations. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2019) 21:34. doi: 10.1007/s11920-019-1020-5

8. Taurines R, Schwenck C, Westerwald E, Sachse M, Siniatchkin M, Freitag C. ADHD and autism: differential diagnosis or overlapping traits? A selective review. *Atten Defic Hyperact Disord*. (2012) 4:115–39. doi: 10.1007/s12402-012-0086-2

9. Barneveld PS, Pieterse J, de Sonneville L, van Rijn S, Lahuis B, van Engeland H, et al. Overlap of autistic and schizotypal traits in adolescents with autism Spectrum disorders. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 126:231–6. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.09.004

10. Pina-Camacho L, Parellada M, Kyriakopoulos M. Autism spectrum disorder and schizophrenia: boundaries and uncertainties. *BJPsych Advances*. (2016) 22:316–24. doi: 10.1192/apt.bp.115.014720

11. Frith U. When diagnosis hampers research. Autism Res. (2021) 14:2235-6. doi: 10.1002/aur.2578

12. Eigsti I-M, Fein D, Larson C. Editorial perspective: another look at "optimal outcome" in autism spectrum disorder. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2023) 64:332–4. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13658

13. Fein D, Barton M, Eigsti I-M, Kelley E, Naigles L, Schultz RT, et al. Optimal outcome in individuals with a history of autism. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry.* (2013) 54:195–205. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12037

14. Sutera S, Pandey J, Esser EL, Rosenthal MA, Wilson LB, Barton M, et al. Predictors of optimal outcome in toddlers diagnosed with autism spectrum disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord.* (2007) 37:98–107. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0340-6

Kanner L. Autistic disturbances of affective contact. *Nerv Child*. (1943) 2:217–50.
Mottron L, Bzdok D. Autism spectrum heterogeneity: fact or artifact? *Mol*

Psychiatry. (2020) 25:3178–85. doi: 10.1038/s41380-020-0748-y

17. Mottron L, Dawson M. The autistic spectrum. Handb Clin Neurol. (2013) 111:263–71. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-52891-9.00029-4

18. American Psychiatric Association. DSM-IV-TR. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders fourth edition (text revision). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2000).

19. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*. 3rd ed., rev. ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (1987).

20. American Psychiatric Association. DSM-IV. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. fourth ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (1994).

21. Towbin KE. Pervasive developmental disorders not otherwise specified In: Volkmar FR, Paul R, Klin A, Cohen D, editors. *Handbook of autism and pervasive developmental disorders. 2nd* ed. New York: J. Wiley (1997). 123–47.

22. Tincani M, Travers J, Boutot A. Race, culture, and autism Spectrum disorder: understanding the role of diversity in successful educational interventions. *Res Prac Persons with Severe Disab.* (2009) 34:81–90. doi: 10.2511/rpsd.34.3-4.81

23. Fombonne E. Epidemiology of autistic disorder and other pervasive developmental disorders. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2005) 66:3–8.

24. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years - autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2010. *MMWR Surveill Summ*. (2014) 63:1–21. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.ss6706a1

25. Klin A, Lang J, Cicchetti DV, Volkmar FR. Brief report: interrater reliability of clinical diagnosis and DSM-IV criteria for autistic disorder: results of the DSM-IV autism field trial. *J Autism Dev Disord.* (2000) 30:163–7. doi: 10.1023/A:1005415823867

26. Mahoney WJ, Szatmari P, MacLean JE, Bryson SE, Bartolucci G, Walter SD, et al. Reliability and accuracy of differentiating pervasive developmental disorder subtypes. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (1998) 37:278-85. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199803000-00012

27. van Daalen E, Kemner C, Dietz C, Swinkels SHN, Buitelaar JK, van Engeland H. Inter-rater reliability and stability of diagnoses of autism spectrum disorder in children identified through screening at a very young age. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2009) 18:663–74. doi: 10.1007/s00787-009-0025-8

28. Witwer AN, Lecavalier L. Examining the validity of autism Spectrum disorder subtypes. J Autism Dev Disord. (2008) 38:1611–24. doi: 10.1007/s10803-008-0541-2

29. Lord C, Petkova E, Hus V, Gan W, Lu F, Martin DM, et al. A multisite study of the clinical diagnosis of different autism spectrum disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2012) 69:306–13. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.148

30. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

31. Putois O, Golse B, Delvenne V, Keren M. The complexity of psychiatric care, from pregnancy to adolescence: beyond the endogenous-exogenous dichotomy. Frontiers Research Topic. (2022). Available at: https://www.frontiersin.org/research-topics/32433/ the-complexity-of-psychiatric-care-from-pregnancy-to-adolescence-beyond-the-endogenous-exogenous-dic

32. Jüni P, Witschi A, Bloch R, Egger M. The hazards of scoring the quality of clinical trials for meta-analysis. *JAMA*. (1999) 282:1054–60. doi: 10.1001/jama.282.11.1054

33. Carigi T, Muratori F, Termine C, Veggiotti P, Derhemi L, Di Nardo R, et al. Diagnostic boundaries of autism disorder vs pervasive developmental disorder nos comparative observational study and literature review. *Curr Clin Pharmacol.* (2014) 9:377–86. doi: 10.2174/15748847113086660068

34. Walker DR, Thompson A, Zwaigenbaum L, Goldberg J, Bryson SE, Mahoney WJ, et al. Specifying PDD-NOS: a comparison of PDD-NOS, Asperger syndrome, and autism. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2004) 43:172–80. doi: 10.1097/00004583-200402000-00012

35. Mandy W, Charman T, Gilmour J, Skuse D. Toward specifying pervasive developmental disorder-not otherwise specified. *Autism Res.* (2011) 4:121-31. doi: 10.1002/aur.178

36. Fodstad JC, Matson JL, Hess J, Neal D. Social and communication behaviours in infants and toddlers with autism and pervasive developmental disorder-not otherwise specified. *Dev Neurorehabil.* (2009) 12:152–7. doi: 10.1080/17518420902936748

37. Hattier MA, Matson JL. An examination of the relationship between communication and socialization deficits in children with autism and PDD-NOS. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2012) 6:871–80. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2011.12.001

38. Horovitz M, Matson JL. Communication deficits in babies and infants with autism and pervasive developmental disorder-not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS). *Dev Neurorehabil.* (2010) 13:390–8. doi: 10.3109/17518423.2010.501431

39. Karabekiroglu K, Akbas S. Identifying and differentiating PDD-NOS: a comparison with autism and ADHD. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2011) 20:S143–3.

40. Klin A, Sparrow SS, de Bildt A, Cicchetti DV, Cohen DJ, Volkmar FR. A normed study of face recognition in autism and related disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (1999) 29:499–508. doi: 10.1023/a:1022299920240

41. Matson JL, Dempsey T, Fodstad JC. Examination of group differences using the autism Spectrum disorders-diagnostic for children (ASD-DC). *J Dev Phys Disabil.* (2009) 21:235–43. doi: 10.1007/s10882-009-9138-8

42. Matson JL, Fodstad JC, Dempsey T. What symptoms predict the diagnosis of autism or PDD-NOS in infants and toddlers with developmental delays using the baby and infant screen for aUtIsm traits. *Dev Neurorehabil*. (2009) 12:381–8. doi: 10.3109/17518420903029501

43. Matson JL, Dempsey T, LoVullo SV, Fodstad JC, Knight C, Sevin JA, et al. The moderating effects of intellectual development on core symptoms of autism and PDD-NOS in toddlers and infants. *Res Dev Disabil.* (2013) 34:573–8. doi: 10.1016/j. ridd.2012.03.031

44. Mayes L, Volkmar F, Hooks M, Cicchetti D. Differentiating pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified from autism and language disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (1993) 23:79–90. doi: 10.1007/BF01066420

45. Sipes M, Matson JL, Horovitz M. Autism spectrum disorders and motor skills: the effect on socialization as measured by the baby and infant screen for children with aUtIsm traits (BISCUIT). *Dev Neurorehabil.* (2011) 14:290–6. doi: 10.3109/17518423.2011.587838

46. Verté S, Geurts HM, Roeyers H, Rosseel Y, Oosterlaan J, Sergeant JA. Can the Children's communication checklist differentiate autism spectrum subtypes? *Autism.* (2006) 10:266–87. doi: 10.1177/1362361306063299

47. Falck-Ytter T, Fernell E, Hedvall AL, von Hofsten C, Gillberg C. Gaze performance in children with autism spectrum disorder when observing communicative actions. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2012) 42:2236–45. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1471-6

48. Kozlowski AM, Matson JL, Belva BC. Social skills differences between the autism Spectrum disorders. *J Dev Phys Disabil.* (2012) 24:125–34. doi: 10.1007/s10882-011-9260-2

49. Mahoney EB, Breitborde NJK, Leone SL, Ghuman JK. An examination of social interaction profiles based on the factors measured by the screen for social interaction. *Res Dev Disabil.* (2014) 35:2487–94. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2014.06.008

50. Buitelaar JK, Van der Gaag R, Klin A, Volkmar F. Exploring the boundaries of pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified: analyses of data from the DSM-IV autistic disorder field trial. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (1999) 29:33–43. doi: 10.1023/A:1025966532041

51. Matson JL, Dempsey T, Fodstad JC. Stereotypies and repetitive/restrictive behaviours in infants with autism and pervasive developmental disorder. *Dev Neurorehabil.* (2009) 12:122–7. doi: 10.1080/17518420902936730

52. Joseph L, Thurm A, Farmer C, Shumway S. Repetitive behavior and restricted interests in young children with autism: comparisons with controls and stability over 2 years. *Autism Res.* (2013) 6:584–95. doi: 10.1002/aur.1316

53. Chawarska K, Paul R, Klin A, Hannigen S, Dichtel LE, Volkmar F. Parental recognition of developmental problems in toddlers with autism spectrum disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2007) 37:62–72. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0330-8

54. Glasson EJ, Bower C, Petterson B, de Klerk N, Chaney G, Hallmayer JF. Perinatal factors and the development of autism: a population study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2004) 61:618–27. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.61.6.618

55. Juul-Dam N, Townsend J, Courchesne E. Prenatal, perinatal, and neonatal factors in autism, pervasive developmental disorder-not otherwise specified, and the general population. *Pediatrics*. (2001) 107:E63. doi: 10.1542/peds.107.4.e63

56. Visser JC, Rommelse N, Vink I, Schrieken M, Oosterling IJ, van der Gaag RJ, et al. Narrowly versus broadly defined autism spectrum disorders: differences in pre- and perinatal risk factors. *J Autism Dev Disord.* (2013) 43:1505–16. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1678-6

57. Dawson S, Glasson EJ, Dixon G, Bower C. Birth defects in children with autism spectrum disorders: a population-based, nested case-control study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2009) 169:1296–303. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwp059

58. Thurm A, Manwaring SS, Luckenbaugh DA, Lord C, Swedo SE. Patterns of skill attainment and loss in young children with autism. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2014) 26:203–14. doi: 10.1017/S0954579413000874

59. Meilleur A-AS, Fombonne E. Regression of language and non-language skills in pervasive developmental disorders. *J Intellect Disabil Res.* (2009) 53:115–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2008.01134.x

60. Matson JL, Mahan S, Kozlowski AM, Shoemaker M. Developmental milestones in toddlers with autistic disorder, pervasive developmental disorder--not otherwise specified and atypical development. *Dev Neurorehabil.* (2010) 13:239–47. doi: 10.3109/17518423.2010.481299

61. Portoghese C, Buttiglione M, Pavone F, Lozito V, De Giacomo A, Martinelli D, et al. The usefulness of the revised psychoeducational profile for the assessment of preschool children with pervasive developmental disorders. *Autism.* (2009) 13:179–91. doi: 10.1177/1362361308100687

62. de Bildt A, Mulder EJ, Van Lang NDJ, de With SAJ, Minderaa RB, Stahl SS, et al. The visual rooting reflex in individuals with autism spectrum disorders and cooccurring intellectual disability. *Autism Res.* (2012) 5:67–72. doi: 10.1002/aur.225

63. Huemer SV, Mann V. A comprehensive profile of decoding and comprehension in autism Spectrum disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2010) 40:485–93. doi: 10.1007/ s10803-009-0892-3

64. Kjellmer L, Hedvall Å, Holm A, Fernell E, Gillberg C, Norrelgen F. Language comprehension in preschoolers with autism spectrum disorders without intellectual disability: use of the Reynell developmental language scales. *Res Autism Spectr Disord.* (2012) 6:1119–25. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2012.03.003

65. Matson JL, Mahan S, Fodstad JC, Hess JA, Neal D. Motor skill abilities in toddlers with autistic disorder, pervasive developmental disorder-not otherwise specified, and atypical development. *Res Autism Spectr Disord.* (2010) 4:444–9. doi: 10.1016/j. rasd.2009.10.018

66. Ghaziuddin M, Butler E. Clumsiness in autism and Asperger syndrome: a further report. *J Intellect Disabil Res.* (1998) 42:43–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2788.1998. 00065.x

67. Buitelaar JK, van der Wees M, Swaab-Barneveld H, van der Gaag RJ. Theory of mind and emotion-recognition functioning in autistic spectrum disorders and in psychiatric control and normal children. *Dev Psychopathol.* (1999) 11:39–58. doi: 10.1017/s0954579499001947

68. Begeer S, Terwogt MM, Rieffe C, Stegge H, Olthof T, Koot HM. Understanding emotional transfer in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism.* (2010) 14:629–40. doi: 10.1177/1362361310378322

69. de Bruin EI, Verheij F, Ferdinand RF. WISC-R subtest but no overall VIQ–PIQ difference in Dutch children with PDD-NOS. *J Abnorm Child Psychol.* (2006) 34:254–62. doi: 10.1007/s10802-005-9018-3

70. Zander E, Dahlgren SO. WISC-III index score profiles of 520 Swedish children with pervasive developmental disorders. *Psychol Assess.* (2010) 22:213–22. doi: 10.1037/ a0018335

71. Hill TL, Varela RE, Kamps JL, Niditch LA. Local processing and social skills in children with autism Spectrum disorders: the role of anxiety and cognitive functioning. *Res Autism Spectr Disord.* (2014) 8:1243–51. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2014.06.005

72. Schlooz WAJM, Hulstijn W. Boys with autism spectrum disorders show superior performance on the adult embedded figures test. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2014) 8:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2013.10.004

73. Blijd-Hoogewys EMA, Bezemer ML, van Geert PLC. Executive functioning in children with ASD: an analysis of the BRIEF. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2014) 44:3089–100. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2176-9

74. Verté S, Geurts HM, Roeyers H, Oosterlaan J, Sergeant JA. Executive functioning in children with an autism Spectrum disorder: can we differentiate within the spectrum? *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2006) 36:351–72. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0074-5

75. Peters-Scheffer N, Didden R, Sigafoos J, Green VA, Korzilius H. Behavioral flexibility in children with autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2013) 7:699–709. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2013.02.016

76. O'Donnell S, Deitz J, Kartin D, Nalty T, Dawson G. Sensory processing, problem behavior, adaptive behavior, and cognition in preschool children with autism spectrum disorders. *Am J Occup Ther.* (2012) 66:586–94. doi: 10.5014/ajot.2012.004168

77. Paul R, Miles S, Cicchetti D, Sparrow S, Klin A, Volkmar F, et al. Adaptive behavior in autism and pervasive developmental disorder-not otherwise specified: microanalysis of scores on the Vineland adaptive behavior scales. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2004) 34:223–8. doi: 10.1023/b:jadd.0000022612.18116.46

78. Allen DA, Steinberg M, Dunn M, Fein D, Feinstein C, Waterhouse L, et al. Autistic disorder versus other pervasive developmental disorders in young children: same or different? *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2001) 10:67–78. doi: 10.1007/s007870170049

79. Perry A, Flanagan HE, Dunn Geier J, Freeman NL. Brief report: the Vineland adaptive behavior scales in young children with autism spectrum disorders at different cognitive levels. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2009) 39:1066–78. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0704-9

80. Kose S, Erermis S, Ozturk O, Ozbaran B, Demiral N, Bildik T, et al. Health related quality of life in children with autism Spectrum disorders: the clinical and demographic related factors in Turkey. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2013) 7:213–20. doi: 10.1016/j. rasd.2012.09.009

81. Volkmar FR, Szatmari P, Sparrow SS. Sex differences in pervasive developmental disorders. J Autism Dev Disord. (1993) 23:579–91. doi: 10.1007/BF01046103

82. Horovitz M, Matson JL, Rieske RD, Kozlowski AM, Sipes M. The relationship between race and challenging behaviours in infants and toddlers with autistic disorder and pervasive developmental disorder-not otherwise specified. *Dev Neurorehabil*. (2011) 14:208–14. doi: 10.3109/17518423.2011.566596

83. Horovitz M, Matson JL, Sipes M. Gender differences in symptoms of comorbidity in toddlers with ASD using the BISCUIT-part 2. *Dev Neurorehabil*. (2011) 14:94–100. doi: 10.3109/17518423.2010.546825

84. Kozlowski AM, Matson JL. An examination of challenging behaviors in autistic disorder versus pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified: significant differences and gender effects. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2012) 6:319–25. doi: 10.1016/j. rasd.2011.06.005

85. Matson JL, Fodstad JC, Mahan S, Sevin JA. Cutoffs, norms, and patterns of comorbid difficulties in children with an ASD on the baby and infant screen for children with aUtIsm traits (BISCUIT-part 2). *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2009) 3:977–88. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2009.06.001

86. Sipes M, Matson JL, Horovitz M, Shoemaker M. The relationship between autism spectrum disorders and symptoms of conduct problems: the moderating effect of communication. *Dev Neurorehabil.* (2011) 14:54–9. doi: 10.3109/17518423.2010.532850

87. Gjevik E, Eldevik S, Fjæran-Granum T, Sponheim E. Kiddie-SADS reveals high rates of DSM-IV disorders in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord.* (2011) 41:761–9. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-1095-7

88. Joshi G, Faraone SV, Wozniak J, Petty C, Fried R, Galdo M, et al. Examining the clinical correlates of autism spectrum disorder in youth by ascertainment source. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2014) 44:2117–26. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2063-4

89. Davis TE, Fodstad JC, Jenkins WS, Hess JA, Moree BN, Dempsey T, et al. Anxiety and avoidance in infants and toddlers with autism spectrum disorders: evidence for differing symptom severity and presentation. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2010) 4:305–13. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2009.10.002

90. Snow AV, Lecavalier L. Comparing autism, PDD-NOS, and other developmental disabilities on parent-reported behavior problems: little evidence for ASD subtype validity. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2011) 41:302–10. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-1054-3

91. Davis TE, Moree BN, Dempsey T, Reuther ET, Fodstad JC, Hess JA, et al. The relationship between autism spectrum disorders and anxiety: the moderating effect of communication. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2011) 5:324–9. doi: 10.1016/j. rasd.2010.04.015

92. Chien Y-L, Wu C-S, Tsai H-J. The comorbidity of schizophrenia Spectrum and mood disorders in autism Spectrum disorder. *Autism Res.* (2021) 14:571–81. doi: 10.1002/aur.2451

93. Gok S, Ozturk SN, Karaca R, İlbars S, Nogay NH. Evaluation of sleep disturbances, gastrointestinal problems and eating behaviors in Turkish children with autistic disorder and PDD-NOS. Advan Autism. (2020) 7:101–13. doi: 10.1108/AIA-12-2019-0049

94. Kozlowski AM, Matson JL, Belva B, Rieske R. Feeding and sleep difficulties in toddlers with autism spectrum disorders. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2012) 6:385–90. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2011.06.012

95. Parmeggiani A, Posar A, Antolini C, Scaduto MC, Santucci M, Giovanardi-Rossi P. Epilepsy in patients with pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified. *J Child Neurol.* (2007) 22:1198–203. doi: 10.1177/0883073807306265

96. Hinnebusch AJ, Miller LE, Fein DA. Autism Spectrum disorders and low mental age: diagnostic stability and developmental outcomes in early childhood. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2017) 47:3967–82. doi: 10.1007/s10803-017-3278-y

97. Lord C, Risi S, DiLavore PS, Shulman C, Thurm A, Pickles A. Autism from 2 to 9 years of age. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2006) 63:694–701. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc. 63.6.694

98. Malhi P, Singhi P. Adaptive behavior functioning in children with autism. *Indian J Pediatr.* (2015) 82:677–81. doi: 10.1007/s12098-015-1692-8

99. Stone WL, Lee EB, Ashford L, Brissie J, Hepburn SL, Coonrod EE, et al. Can autism be diagnosed accurately in children under 3 years? *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (1999) 40:219–26. doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00435

100. Chawarska K, Klin A, Paul R, Macari S, Volkmar F. A prospective study of toddlers with ASD: short-term diagnostic and cognitive outcomes. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry.* (2009) 50:1235–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009. 02101.x

101. Osada H, Tachimori H, Koyama T, Kurita H. Longitudinal developmental courses in Japanese children with autism spectrum disorder. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev.* (2012) 43:895–908. doi: 10.1007/s10578-012-0301-6

102. Takeda T, Koyama T, Kurita H. Comparison of developmental/intellectual changes between autistic disorder and pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified in preschool years. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2007) 61:684–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01740.x

103. Thurm A, Lord C, Lee L-C, Newschaffer C. Predictors of language acquisition in preschool children with autism spectrum disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord.* (2007) 37:1721–34. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0300-1

104. Anderson DK, Lord C, Risi S, DiLavore PS, Shulman C, Thurm A, et al. Patterns of growth in verbal abilities among children with autism spectrum disorder. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (2007) 75:594–604. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.75.4.594

105. Anderson DK, Oti RS, Lord C, Welch K. Patterns of growth in adaptive social abilities among children with autism Spectrum disorders. *J Abnorm Child Psychol.* (2009) 37:1019–34. doi: 10.1007/s10802-009-9326-0

106. Kim SH, Lord C. Restricted and repetitive behaviors in toddlers and preschoolers with autism spectrum disorders based on the autism diagnostic observation schedule (ADOS). *Autism Res.* (2010) 3:162–73. doi: 10.1002/aur.142

107. Mordre M, Groholt B, Knudsen AK, Sponheim E, Mykletun A, Myhre AM. Is long-term prognosis for pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified different from prognosis for autistic disorder? Findings from a 30-year follow-up study. J Autism Dev Disord. (2012) 42:920–8. doi: 10.1007/s10803-011-1319-5

108. Usta MB, Karabekiroglu K, Sahin B, Aydin M, Bozkurt A, Karaosman T, et al. Use of machine learning methods in prediction of short-term outcome in autism spectrum disorders. *Psychiatry Clin Psychopharmacol.* (2019) 29:320–5. doi: 10.1080/24750573.2018.1545334

109. Tsai LY, Ghaziuddin M. DSM-5 ASD moves forward into the past. J Autism Dev Disord. (2014) 44:321–30. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1870-3

110. Carbone A, Dell'Aquila A. The diagnosis of "pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified": a systematic literature review. *Children (Basel)*. (2023) 10:844. doi: 10.3390/children10050844

111. Sporn AL, Addington AM, Gogtay N, Ordoñez AE, Gornick M, Clasen L, et al. Pervasive developmental disorder and childhood-onset schizophrenia: comorbid disorder or a phenotypic variant of a very early onset illness? *Biol Psychiatry*. (2004) 55:989–94. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.01.019

112. Rapoport J, Chavez A, Greenstein D, Addington A, Gogtay N. Autism spectrum disorders and childhood-onset schizophrenia: clinical and biological contributions to a relation revisited. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2009) 48:10–8. doi: 10.1097/CHI.0b013e31818b1c63

113. Cohen DJ, Paul R, Volkmar FR. Issues in the classification of pervasive and other developmental disorders: toward DSM-IV. J Am Acad Child Psychiatry. (1986) 25:213–20. doi: 10.1016/S0002-7138(09)60228-4

114. Newson E, Maréchal KL, David C. Pathological demand avoidance syndrome: a necessary distinction within the pervasive developmental disorders. *Arch Dis Child.* (2003) 88:595–600. doi: 10.1136/adc.88.7.595

115. McKenna K, Gordon CT, Lenane M, Kaysen D, Fahey K, Rapoport JL. Looking for childhood-onset schizophrenia: the first 71 cases screened. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (1994) 33:636–44. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199406000-00003

116. de Bruin EI, de Nijs PFA, Verheij F, Hartman CA, Ferdinand RF. Multiple complex developmental disorder delineated from PDD-NOS. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2007) 37:1181–91. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0261-4

117. Green J, Absoud M, Grahame V, Malik O, Simonoff E, Le Couteur A, et al. Pathological demand avoidance: symptoms but not a syndrome. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health*. (2018) 2:455–64. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30044-0

118. Linton KF, Krcek TE, Sensui LM, Spillers JLH. Opinions of people who selfidentify With autism and Asperger's on DSM-5 criteria. *Res Soc Work Pract.* (2014) 24:67–77. doi: 10.1177/1049731513495457

119. Kulage KM, Smaldone AM, Cohn EG. How will DSM-5 affect autism diagnosis? A systematic literature review and Meta-analysis. *J Autism Dev Disord.* (2014) 44:1918–32. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2065-2

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Veronique Delvennse, Queen Fabiola Children's University Hospital, Belgium

REVIEWED BY Yali Jiang, South China Normal University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Lisa Ouss ⊠ lisa.ouss@wanadoo.fr

RECEIVED 19 May 2023 ACCEPTED 28 November 2023 PUBLISHED 24 January 2024

CITATION

Ouss L (2024) Current psychopathology models emphasize very early intersubjectivitybased interventions in children to prevent later mental disorders. *Front. Psychol.* 14:1225108.

doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1225108

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Ouss. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Current psychopathology models emphasize very early intersubjectivity-based interventions in children to prevent later mental disorders

Lisa Ouss*

Child and Adolescent Psychiatry Department, Necker-Enfants Malades Hospital, APHP, Paris, France

Current psychopathology models have evolved toward dimensional models, in which symptoms and diseases are at the extremes of dimensions. Despite these new dimensional proposals, classifications and third-person approach have shown limitations. Their extraordinary evolution nevertheless underlines the contributions of developmental and psychodynamic frameworks. Developmental contributions have made it possible to evolve from disorders centered on a first-person perspective. Complementarily to the first-person/third-person perspectives, we advocate a second-person perspective, based on intersubjectivity. This perspective reverses the intuitive trend to focus our interventions on the most specific symptoms and syndromes, and advocates instead interventions on a "p" general factor that are both generalized and highly targeted. The implications are (1) to intervene as early as possible, (2) to base the definition of our therapeutic targets on an intersubjective perspective, (3) to identify and enhance children's and parents' strengths. These empirically informed directions are not in the current mainstream of psychopathology frameworks, and need to be developed.

KEYWORDS

psychopathology, development, interventions, classifications, P factor, phenomenology, psychodynamic, intersubjectivity

Psychopathology models have evolved toward dimensional models, in which symptoms and diseases are at the extremes of dimensions

Developmental disorders force us to revise our models of psychopathology, which have been essentially built on those of adult psychiatry. The etymological conception of psychopathology, which refers to "psyche/pathos/logy," aims at the study of pathological manifestations of the human psyche. Psychopathology remains first and foremost the study of pathological human behavior. Its object is the human psyche, i.e., a complex epistemic object whose ontological referent belongs to several fields. We have to combine two approaches: the "nomothetic" one, which aims to determine universal laws, and the "idiographic" one, which grasps the particular (Lyon et al., 2017). Different functions have been proposed for psychopathology: the descriptive function deals with the phenomenological experience of psychopathological suffering, the clinical one organizes the classification of this experience, while the theoretical one explores the

10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1225108

etiology of this experience. In the APA dictionary of psychology,¹ however, the term "Psychopathology" is defined more narrowly as (1) the scientific study of mental disorders (2) the behavioral or cognitive manifestations of such disorders. The term in this sense is sometimes considered synonymous with mental disorder itself. Yet, there are three ways to assess mental illness (Fuchs, 2010): the positivistic, or 3rd-person approach, using classifications; the phenomenological, subject-oriented or 1st-person approach; and the hermeneutic, intersubjective or 2nd-person approach. We will first develop the interest and limits of the first approach. Although alternatives to categorical diagnoses have been proposed, they do not provide access to a person's experience. We will see that the question of development has paved the way for the second approach. We will finally show how, complementarily, the first two approaches support the absolute necessity of the third one. The implications for early intersubjective interventions will be developed.

Despite new dimensional proposals, classifications, and third-person approaches have limitations

ICD and DSM classifications are unavoidable tools for scientific communication, but they have limitations. They do not reflect the continuous process of psychopathology, but rather its final categorical manifestation (Markon and Krueger, 2005). The diagnostic categories have sometimes been built top-down, and have changed according to theoretical *a priori*, or to the influence of lobbies in order to allow insurance companies to refund the cost of treatments. They do not take into account the developmental continuity between disorders nor the frequent comorbidities (Caspi et al., 2020). Subthreshold symptoms in individuals with other disorders are not taken into account. Lastly, clinicians are encouraged to diagnose several comorbidities, using the "not otherwise specified" label, in order to facilitate access to treatment (Pincus et al., 2004).

New proposals have revisited the classification into discrete disorders. The first dimensional categorization was proposed in children by Achenbach (1966) and Achenbach and Edelbrock (1978), focusing on patterns of co-occurrence among common psychopathological syndromes in childhood, distinguishing internalizing and externalizing dimensions.

The Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) framework (Insel et al., 2010) was created as an alternative to diagnosis, and is devoted to informing future classifications, and to understanding the transdiagnostic biobehavioral systems underlying psychopathology. The RDoC framework is operationalized in the RDoC matrix, built with eight columns representing units of analysis (genes, molecules, cells, circuits, physiology, behavior, paradigms, and self-reports), and six rows representing functional higher-level domains: Negative Valence Systems, Positive Valence Systems, Cognitive Systems, Systems for Social Processes, Arousal/Regulatory Systems, and Sensorimotor Systems, each domain containing 3 to 6 constructs. All these dimensions were defined "top-down," based on expert consensus from relevant fields.

The Hierarchical Taxonomy of Psychopathology (HiTOP) alternative (Kotov et al., 2017) is a dimensional classification system, based on observational clinical assessments. It offers a hierarchical organization, from general functioning, to spectra, subfactors and symptoms, which distinguishes traits and syndromes. A general factor is at the top of the system, then increasingly detailed dimensions (internalized, externalized...), conceptualized as extremes of normal psychological functions rather than as categories, represent a continuous spectrum of risk and severity. Caspi and colleagues (Caspi et al., 2014) proposed that common categorical diagnoses of adult psychopathology could be best explained and structured by a general psychopathology latent factor alongside unique internalizing and externalizing latent factors. Covariation among symptoms of psychopathology and maladaptive traits define clusters. The treatment decision-making of clinicians is more aligned with the HiTOP description than with traditional diagnoses (Hopwood et al., 2020). In view of the respective limitations of these two models, it has been proposed that RDoC and HiTOP should be complementary models: RDoC may help elucidate the underpinnings of the clinical dimensions included in HiTOP, while HiTOP may provide psychometrically robust clinical targets for RDoC-informed research (Michelini et al., 2021).

Another alternative, bottom-up built, considers that psychiatric disorders can best be viewed as sets of symptoms that are connected through a system of causal relation. "Symptoms of psychopathology are causally connected through myriads of biological, psychological and societal mechanisms [...] The network theory holds that this is a general feature of mental disorders, which can therefore be understood as alternative stable states of strongly connected symptom networks" (Borsboom, 2017). This new alternative (Borsboom and Cramer, 2013) has led to a new way of conceiving of psychopathology and of answering the question: "What kind of things are psychiatric disorders?" (Kendler et al., 2011). These models do not consider that kinds exist whether or not we recognize them; they "are defined not in terms of essences but in terms of complex, mutually reinforcing networks of causal mechanisms" (Kendler et al., 2011). These Network-based methods are becoming increasingly widespread (Barabási et al., 2011). In the end, however, while we need models to describe the biobehavioral systems underpinning psychiatric disorders, none can avoid the question of the descriptive theoretical context of the basic symptom, which is theoretically and conceptually influenced.

The evolution of adult models of psychopathology thanks to developmental contributions

Most of the models of psychopathology described above make little reference to development and developmental trajectories. Yet, the main preoccupation of clinicians is to understand when (and why) a psychopathological trajectory begins, and how we can prevent it. Development is a trajectory, and atypical development is a trajectory that results from atypical constraints over time which may have cascading effects on how other skills are acquired (Thomas and Baughman, 2014). To capture atypical profiles, we need developmental and dynamic assessments that draw "trajectories." Yet, the abovementioned models seldom refer to time-scales. Measuring trajectories

¹ https://dictionary.apa.org/psychopathology

requires the repetition of assessment points in each individual, which is time-consuming and costly. By contrast, methods such as crosssectional studies that study the differences by comparing assessments at certain points in development detect large-scale associations but do not inform on the idiographic dimension of individual trajectories.

This question concerns not only the appearance of disorders but also the organization of personality traits. Are they precursors of disorders, and if so, how does the interaction between them evolve during development? An interesting review (Durbin and Hicks, 2014) questions the theoretical background of relationships between traits or personality, and disorders. "Trait-disorder associations are dynamic in that their mechanisms differ across persons depending upon their developmental contexts, and within person, based on the idiographic histories of their traits and experience with disorder" (Durbin and Hicks, 2014). Periods of developmental tasks or transitions, such as the transition from adolescence to young adulthood, are especially at risk for these changes. These questions thus require a developmental framework such as that proposed by developmental psychopathology, which assumes that deviations from normal development are likely to signal psychopathological conditions (Cicchetti, 1993). These deviations in trajectories are particularly relevant as first manifestations of a disorder, and as targets for interventions.

Developmental considerations make it possible to evolve from a disorder-centered to a first-person perspective

How do we determine the aim of our therapeutic interventions? If we follow our two assumptions, that models are now more dimensional, and that they are developmentally informed, we need to determine the following: what is the focus of our interventions? Does the intervention concern a disorder? Or a trait, before the appearance of a disorder? An individual suffering? How can the limit between normal and pathological functioning be identified if all the dimensions assessed are continuous? A disorder arises when it causes the subject problems. Sometimes, however, the subject does not complain, or is not able to complain, for instance due to the person's developmental stage, as in infants.

All the psychopathological models we have presented are disorder-centered, ranging from normality to pathology. None of them is person-centered, even if network models make it possible to describe individual clusters. None of them refer to phenomenology, only at best to the subject's inner experience. The terms of phenomenology and experience tend to surreptitiously disappear from the field of psychopathology. The interest in phenomenology, which has progressively lost ground, was recently underlined in psychotherapy practice (Stanghellini and Cravaro, 2014). Our aim is not to develop the concept of phenomenology, but to see how developmental and diachronic frameworks have re-actualized this first-person approach.

De Ajuriaguerra (1989), introducing the developmental approach, argued that the constraint/freedom relationship changes diachronically from birth to adulthood and synchronically during the developmental stages. The constraint/freedom dualism means that the biological equipment constrains the function, but that the functioning of the function, which broadens the degree of freedom, depends more on the way the subject self-organizes the functioning of his/her biological skills. A different way to consider psychopathology would be to take into account both functions (determined by genetic, neurophysiological, and cognitive equipment, occurring in a particular environment at a particular moment), and the functioning of these functions (determined by psychological dimensions, in a social and cultural environment). This "complementarist" approach (Devereux, 1972) would make it possible to avoid opposing the various interpretations readings and interventions. While the HiTOP and RDoC models are interesting in that they distinguish these different levels, neither of them takes into account the way the subject copes with a dysfunctional function. The subject determines how he/ she makes the function operate, while the clinician's role is to determine to what extent and how the function is impaired, but also how the dysfunctioning impairs, or not, the interactive and inner world of the subject. We refer to Ey's "organodynamism" (Ey, 2006), which "substitutes for monism or dualism the idea of a living dialectic between the vital infrastructure and the psychic superstructure of the person." It dialectically combines the negativity of the psychopathological process (the pathogenic organic action) with the positivity of the symptoms (the psychic reaction to this action). Therefore, the psychopathological process can hinder being-in-theworld by affecting the synchronic field (the lived experience), as well as the diachronic field of the person (by affecting the progressive integration of these experiences). Mental illness could thus be conceptualized as the knitting together of a vulnerable self, even due to genetical or developmental reasons, and the way a person tries to cope with. Narratization, rather than semi-structured interviews, allows patients to communicate and explain their own experiences, in their own terms, in the context of their personal world and history, and to try to make sense of them, through the method of 'phenomenological dissection' (Stanghellini and Cravaro, 2014). This involves a shift away from disease-and-variable-oriented strategies, toward person oriented research and treatment strategies (Bergman and Magnusson, 1997). The person-centered perspective, along with network models, emphasizes the role of multifinality (a given factor may result in a variety of outcomes) and equifinality (there are many pathways toward one specific outcome) (Cicchetti and Rogosch, 1996). The psychodynamically based classification PDM (Lingiardi and McWilliams, 2017) aims to bridge the gap between the need for experimental and methodological validity, and clinical complexity. It attempts to "characterize an individual's full range of functioning - the depth as well as the surface of emotional, cognitive and social patterns" (Lingiardi and McWilliams, 2017). Nevertheless, this manual, despite its assessment of mental functions in the M axis, remains a categorical classification.

Towards a second person perspective in interventions, implying targeting a non-specific p factor

The extraordinary shift from a categorial conception of psychopathology toward dimensional and developmental ones completely transforms our field. We propose a hypothesis: the secondperson perspective, established through the interaction between a clinician and the patient, offers the most comprehensive understanding of psychopathological processes, the consequent effects of the primary dysfunction, and how patients cope with it. Primarily, this perspective interventions can be facilitates the development of targeted interventions. But these three youths and adults.

facilitates the development of targeted interventions. But these three perspectives are complementary: the second-person perspective is rooted in the first-person perspective (requiring access to the patient's subjective experience) and should be interconnected with the third-person perspective (to better delineate the patient's symptoms and the specific psychiatric treatments needed). The framework of psychopathology should be not monadic unity, but rather dyadic unity: child-parent, child-therapist, parent-therapist, patient-therapist interaction, environment-patient interaction.

But we must go further. We have to reappraise psychotherapy as a highly and precisely targeted intersubjective action. There is a discrepancy between the quantity of knowledge we possess about psychiatric disorders, and the interventions that are effective. A task force (Wampold and Imel, 2015) concluded that "adapting psychological treatment (or responsiveness) to transdiagnostic client characteristics contributes to successful outcomes at least as much as, and probably more than, adapting treatment to the client's diagnosis." What works are "transtheoretical common factors" of psychotherapy, that should reduce specific symptoms through their impact on the general factor of psychopathology, and not theoretical ones (Norcross and Wampold, 2018). This conclusion could seem disappointing, but is in fact very important. A very interesting proposal was made by Forbes and colleagues (Forbes et al., 2019). "If all forms of common psychopathology are connected with a general underlying factor that can be observed from the very earliest years of development, then understanding the psychological nature of that general factor [...] may provide new directions in contemplating how to reduce levels of the general factor and subsequently prevent a wide range of mental disorders from emerging later in development." In infants and children, specific psychopathological symptoms are less common: infants often express undifferentiated behaviors not yet organized as patterns. Over developmental time, attractors represent recurrent patterns that have stabilized and are increasingly predictable (Granic and Hollenstein, 2003). We have to intervene before these patterns are installed, and thus target non-specific behaviors. Intervening at the very early roots of developmental tasks in a dimensional perspective, and focusing on this general factor could prevent many later pathological traits and specific symptoms in children and adolescents. Forbes et al. (2019) go further and propose "[using] early intervention for general psychopathology as a foundational scaffold on which to introduce gradually more focused interventions later in development." This view breaks the dichotomy between prevention, which usually focuses on reducing the first signs or stages of psychopathology, and interventions, which target psychopathological patterns or symptoms. In an attempt to reach this early and non-specific p factor, Fonagy and Allison (2014) proposed that the "p factor may be a proxy for impairments in epistemic trust," that is, trust in the authenticity and personal relevance of interpersonally transmitted knowledge. For Fonagy and Campbell (2017), psychopathology might be characterized by a temporary or permanent disruption of epistemic trust and the social learning process that it enables. This may have major consequences for future interventions: the p factor could be a "reachability" factor of the patient, and the interventions should be interpersonal or intersubjective ones. The core principles of intersubjectivity, emphasizing the importance of understanding subjective experiences and interactions, are not limited by age. Thus, intersubjective-based interventions can be applicable across various age groups, including youths and adults.

When to intervene? Critical periods support early interventions

When to intervene? The early beginning of trajectories implies targeting our interventions as early as possible to prevent later psychopathology. The role of the clinician could be to identify targets and intervene at different levels simultaneously: at the higher level of general functioning, targeting the roots of multiple dysfunctions, but also at lower levels, aiming to reach a specific symptom or behavior, with a specialized intervention. These two types of intervention become complementary rather than competing.

But when does the "early" time for intervention begin? While there is a legitimate focus on determining the emerging signs of developmental disorders as soon as possible, how can a disorder be determined before the scheduled appearance of the function that is assumed to be impaired? Is it possible to determine an optimal moment to undertake interventions? The notion of sensitive/critical periods gives some insights into the early processes that underline pattern construction.

A critical period (CP) refers to a finite period in which experience provides information that is essential for normal development and alters performance permanently (Knudsen, 2004). A sensitive period refers to a period in which the effect of experience on the brain is particularly strong during a limited period in development. If experiences essential to cortical specialization do not occur during the CP, the functioning of the cortical areas allocated to the particular skill will be altered, without residual plasticity; if they do not occur during the sensitive periods, it may be difficult to redirect development along a typical trajectory; plasticity exists but to a limited degree. These two concepts refer to two mechanisms. Experience-expectant mechanisms (Greenough et al., 1987) facilitate the biological encoding of expectable environmental stimuli during constrained developmental windows, whereas experience-dependent stimuli are idiosyncratic processes that facilitate learning across the lifespan without ontogenetic constraints.

What we know better now (Reh et al., 2020) is that: (1) these windows occur for distinct domains and at different times over development; (2) the expected experience must coincide with the critical period for each circuit to occur; (3) plasticity is regulated at multiple timescales during development. The latter include different time-scaled processes: "(1) rapid, moment-by-moment shifts in circuit physiology; (2) gradual molecular events controlling the maturation of cortical circuits dictating critical period onset and closure in early life; and (3) epigenetic modifications over the life span (or across generations) that set the baseline level of plasticity" (Reh et al., 2020). Early environmental influences thus involve a complex development chronodependency of the child that opens up possibilities, if these CPs are given sufficient stimulation. Moreover, CPs are regulatory processes: they reduce future vulnerability to adversity, as experiences occurring after critical periods impact less brain circuitry (Takesian and Hensch, 2013). On the other hand, early adversity may modify CP processes, including their time of onset and closure.

This knowledge about CPs may help us to orient our intervention schedule (Nelson and Gabard-Durnam, 2020), especially in children experiencing social adversity (Nelson et al., 2019), or high-risk parenting (Feldman, 2015).

Identifying children's and parents' strengths, and not only problems

Another assumption is that when we consider the target of intervention on a continuum from normal to pathological, we identify not only problems, but also individual strengths. This view is totally underestimated and underused in psychopathology. We are trained to detect what does NOT function, and not what the strengths are that we can lean on. A recent shift has therefore appeared in interventions targeting neurodevelopmental disorders. We have shifted from purely behavioral, early, intensive interventions, in a simplified environment, which aimed to decrease deviant behavior, to naturalistic developmental behavioral interventions, community based, peer-or parent-mediated (Schreibman et al., 2015), leaning on children's and parents' skills. These new interventions aim to address all the fields of normal development (cognition, motor development, language...), in order to improve the child's engagement and reduce the vicious circle of unattuned interaction. In these interventions, the targets are normal developmental skills, and not pathological ones. Video feedback interventions with autistic children such as Preschool Autism Communication Therapy (PACT, Green et al., 2010), Video Feedback Intervention to promote Positive Parenting (VIPP, Poslawsky et al., 2014), and Interactive Guidance Therapy (IGT, Rusconi-Serpa et al., 2009) do not aim to teach new skills to the parents or to the child. They are based on the parent's identification, in a co-construction with the therapist, of the respective interactive preserved skills along with the child during successful moments of interaction in short videotaped interactive play between parent and child. The conditions and occurrence of these moments are then generalized, decreasing the vicious negative interactive circle between the two partners. We do not work FOR the patient or the parent, but WITH them. We chose IGT (Ouss et al., 2023) instead of PACT, because it does not intervene at a specific symptom level, but at the intersubjective level. We determine in the here and now the tailored focus we will work on, depending on the actual play between the infant and the parent, and the parents' responses to our questions. In PACT, the topic of each session is predetermined in advance by the method. This tenuous difference in the setting contains the core of what we consider the most important factor: the intersubjective link between the therapist and the patient or the parents. "Compared to the phenomenological approach, hermeneutic understanding is less unidirectional: it implies the co-construction of meaning and narratives in the course of the interactive process" (Fuchs, 2010). The early support of parents has recently developed as a fundamental trend in developmental psychopathology, becoming one of the four key points of interventions, together with the individualization of the intervention according to the developmental profile of the child, the expansion of learning targets, and the consideration of temporal characteristics (Wallace and Rogers, 2010).

Conclusion

The extraordinary evolution of our models of psychopathology underlines the contributions of developmental and psychodynamic frameworks. These models make it possible to relativize the intuitive trend to focus our interventions on the most specific symptoms and syndromes, to the detriment of the uniqueness of each patient. These new models offer opportunities to reduce the "endogenous/exogenous dichotomy" in the mental health field. We have reached an era of "generalist" interventions in child psychopathology, which are paradoxically based on the ultrasingular of the idiographic dimension. We must assume that the clinician's intuition is the guide of what we "feel," and that this feeling is not noise to be eliminated, but rather the core guide of our interventions. The phenomenology of the clinician, mobilized through the interaction with the patient, no doubt needs to be conceptualized: does it refer to counter transference? Access to the unspeakable? The psychodynamic framework and psychoanalytical listening are probably the best tools to identify these dimensions, as has been shown in a very interesting research (Cohen et al., 2011). Instead of demonizing psychoanalysis and second-person perspectives, the richness and the limitations of current models of psychopathology, and the contribution of developmental approaches, should force us to reconsider our theoretical frameworks (Ouss-Ryngaert and Golse, 2010). These empirically informed directions are not yet in the mainstream of psychopathology frameworks, which prioritize Evidenced Based educational or behavioral based and guidelined interventions, as they are more straightforward to train. No guideline will teach how to listen to the singularity of each patient. The question: which skills a clinician must possess and how to equip them adequately with such skills remains a crucial concern. The paradox is that therapist's non-specific skills, required for all types of psychotherapies (openness, attention to the patient's world, non-judgment, empathy...) are not consistently incorporated into training, and are often regarded as inherent to a psychotherapist's personality. We advocate that these skills should be developed during supervisions with experienced psychotherapists. Our proposals have to be developed to reach he deepest and the darkest corners of our patients, and of our own defenses.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

Achenbach, T. M. (1966). The classification of children's psychiatric symptoms: a factor-analytic study. *Psychol. Monogr. Gen. Appl.* 80, 1–37. doi: 10.1037/h0093906

Achenbach, T. M., and Edelbrock, C. S. (1978). The classification of child psychopathology: a review and analysis of empirical efforts. *Psychol. Bull.* 85, 1275–1301. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.85.6.1275

Barabási, A. L., Gulbahce, N., and Loscalzo, J. (2011). Network medicine: a networkbased approach to human disease. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 12, 56–68. doi: 10.1038/nrg2918

Bergman, L. R., and Magnusson, D. (1997). A person-oriented approach in research on developmental psychopathology. *Dev. Psychopathol.* 9, 291–319. doi: 10.1017/ S095457949700206X

Borsboom, D. (2017). A network theory of mental disorders. *World Psychiatry* 16, 5–13.

Borsboom, D., and Cramer, A. O. J. (2013). Network analysis: an integrative approach to the structure of psychopathology. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.* 9, 91–121. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-clinpsy-050212-185608

Caspi, A., Houts, R. M., Ambler, A., Danese, A., Elliott, M. L., Hariri, A., et al. (2020). Longitudinal assessment of mental health disorders and comorbidities across 4 decades among participants in the Dunedin birth cohort study. *JAMA Netw. Open* 3:e203221. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3221

Caspi, A., Houts, R. M., Belsky, D. W., Goldman-Mellor, S. J., Harrington, H., Israel, S., et al. (2014). The p factor: one general psychopathology factor in the structure of psychiatric disorders? *Clin. Psychol. Sci.* 2, 119–137. doi: 10.1177/2167702613497473

Cicchetti, D. (1993). Developmental psychopathology: reactions, reflections, projections. Dev. Rev. 13, 471-502. doi: 10.1006/drev.1993.1021

Cicchetti, D., and Rogosch, F. A. (1996). Equifinality and multifinality in developmental psychopathology. *Dev. Psychopathol.* 8, 597–600. doi: 10.1017/ S0954579400007318

Cohen, D., Milman, D., Venturyera, V., and Falissard, B. (2011). Psychodynamic experience enhances recognition of hidden childhood trauma. *PLoS One* 6:e18470. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018470

De Ajuriaguerra, J. (1989). de. Leçon inaugurale faite le vendredi 23 janvier 1976. Collège de France-Chaire de neuropsychologie du développement. *Bull. Psychol.* 42, 562–579. doi: 10.3406/bupsy.1989.13058

Devereux, G. Ethnopsychanalyse complémentariste. Paris: Flammarion (1972).

Durbin, C. E., and Hicks, B. M. (2014). Personality and psychopathology: a stagnant field in need of development. *Eur. J. Personal.* 28, 362–386. doi: 10.1002/per.1962

Ey, H. (2006). "Etudes psychiatriques" in *et 2. Nouvelle édition. (première édition 1948).* ed. I. Tomes (Perpignan: Crehey), 795.

Feldman, R. (2015). Sensitive periods in human social development: new insights from research on oxytocin, synchrony, and high-risk parenting. *Dev. Psychopathol.* 27, 369–395. doi: 10.1017/S0954579415000048

Fonagy, P., and Allison, E. (2014). The role of mentalizing and epistemic trust in the therapeutic relationship. *Psychotherapy* 51, 372–380. doi: 10.1037/a0036505

Fonagy, P., and Campbell, C. (2017). Mentalizing, attachment and epistemic trust: how psychotherapy can promote resilience. *Psychiatr. Hung.* 32, 283–287.

Forbes, M. K., Rapee, R. M., and Krueger, R. F. (2019). Opportunities for the prevention of mental disorders by reducing general psychopathology in early childhood. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 119:103411. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2019.103411

Fuchs, T. (2010). Subjectivity and intersubjectivity in psychiatric diagnosis. *Psychopathology* 43, 268–274. doi: 10.1159/000315126

Granic, I., and Hollenstein, T. (2003). Dynamic systems methods for models of developmental psychopathology. *Dev. Psychopathol.* 15, 641–669. doi: 10.1017/S0954579403000324

Green, J., Charman, T., McConachie, H., Aldred, C., Slonims, V., Howlin, P., et al. (2010). Parent-mediated communication-focused treatment in children with autism (PACT): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 375, 2152–2160. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(10)60587-9

Greenough, W. T., Black, J. E., and Wallace, C. S. (1987). Experience and brain development. *Child Dev.* 58, 539–559. doi: 10.2307/1130197

Hopwood, C. J., Bagby, R. M., Gralnick, T., Ro, E., Ruggero, C., Mullins-Sweatt, S., et al. (2020). Integrating psychotherapy with the hierarchical taxonomy of psychopathology (HiTOP). *J. Psychother. Integr.* 30, 477–497. doi: 10.1037/int0000156

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Insel, T., Cuthbert, B., Garvey, M., Heinssen, R., Pine, D. S., Quinn, K., et al. (2010). Research domain criteria (RDoC): toward a new classification framework for research on mental disorders. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 167, 748–751. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09091379

Kendler, K. S., Zachar, P., and Craver, C. (2011). What kinds of things are psychiatric disorders? *Psychol. Med.* 41, 1143–1150. doi: 10.1017/S0033291710001844

Knudsen, E. I. (2004). Sensitive periods in the development of the brain and behavior. *J. Cogn. Neurosci.* 16, 1412–1425. doi: 10.1162/0898929042304796

Kotov, R., Krueger, R. F., Watson, D., Achenbach, T. M., Althoff, R. R., Bagby, R. M., et al. (2017). The hierarchical taxonomy of psychopathology (HiTOP): a dimensional alternative to traditional nosologies. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 126, 454–477. doi: 10.1037/abn0000258

Lingiardi, V., and McWilliams, N. (2017). *Psychodynamic diagnostic manual: PDM-2* Guilford Publications.

Lyon, A. R., Connors, E., Jensen-Doss, A., Landes, S. J., Lewis, C. C., McLeod, B. D., et al. (2017). Intentional research design in implementation science: implications for the use of nomothetic and idiographic assessment. *Trans. Behav. Med.* 7, 567–580.

Markon, K. E., and Krueger, R. F. (2005). Categorical and continuous models of liability to externalizing disorders: a direct comparison in NESARC. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 62, 1352–1359. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.12.1352

Michelini, G., Palumbo, I. M., DeYoung, C. G., Latzman, R. D., and Kotov, R. (2021). Linking RDoC and HiTOP: a new interface for advancing psychiatric nosology and neuroscience. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 86:102025. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102025

Nelson, C. A., and Gabard-Durnam, L. J. (2020). Early adversity and critical periods: neurodevelopmental consequences of violating the expectable environment. *Trends Neurosci.* 43, 133–143. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2020.01.002

Nelson, C. A. III, Zeanah, C. H., and Fox, N. A. (2019). How early experience shapes human development: the case of psychosocial deprivation. *Neural Plast.* 2019, 1–12. doi: 10.1155/2019/1676285

Norcross, J. C., and Wampold, B. E. (2018). A new therapy for each patient: evidence-based relationships and responsiveness. J. Clin. Psychol. 74, 1889–1906. doi: 10.1002/jclp.22678

Ouss, L., Beauquier-Maccotta, B., Herve Marie, J., Bompard, C., Desvignes, C., Velasquez, P., et al. (2023). Early interventions in young children with autism: the place of video feedback. From behavioral interventions, to an approach focused on early interactions and parental sensitivity. *Ann. Med. Psychol.*

Ouss-Ryngaert, L., and Golse, B. (2010). Linking neuroscience and psychoanalysis from a developmental perspective: why and how? *J. Physiol. Paris* 104, 303–308. doi: 10.1016/j.jphysparis.2010.09.005

Pincus, H. A., Tew, J. D., and First, M. B. (2004). Psychiatric comorbidity: is more less? *World Psychiatry* 3:18.

Poslawsky, I. E., Naber, F. B., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., De Jonge, M. V., Van Engeland, H., and Van IJzendoorn, M. H. (2014). Development of a video-feedback intervention to promote positive parenting for children with autism (VIPP-AUTI). *Attach Hum. Dev.* 16, 343–355. doi: 10.1080/14616734.2014.912487

Reh, R. K., Dias, B. G., Nelson, C. A. III, Kaufer, D., Werker, J. F., Kolb, B., et al. (2020). Critical period regulation across multiple timescales. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 117, 23242–23251. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1820836117

Rusconi-Serpa, S., Sancho Rossignol, A., and McDonough, S. C. (2009). Video feedback in parent-infant treatments. *Child Adolesc. Psychiatr. Clin. N. Am.* 18, 735–751. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2009.02.009

Schreibman, L., Dawson, G., Stahmer, A. C., Landa, R., Rogers, S. J., McGee, G. G., et al. (2015). Naturalistic developmental behavioral interventions: empirically validated treatments for autism Spectrum disorder. *J. Autism Dev. Disord.* 45, 2411–2428. doi: 10.1007/s10803-015-2407-8

Stanghellini, G., and Cravaro, V. R. The phenomenological dissection in psychopathology. (2014). 345-350.

Takesian, A. E., and Hensch, T. K. (2013). Balancing plasticity/stability across brain development. *Prog. Brain Res.* 207, 3–34. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-63327-9.00001-1

Thomas, M. S. C., and Baughman, F. D. (2014). Neuroconstructivism: understanding typical and atypical developmental trajectories. *Enfance* 2014, 205–236. doi: 10.4074/S0013754514003036

Wallace, K. S., and Rogers, S. J. (2010). Intervening in infancy: implications for autism spectrum disorders. *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 51, 1300–1320. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02308.x

Wampold, BE, and Imel, ZE. The great psychotherapy debate: The evidence for what makes psychotherapy work. London: Routledge (2015).
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Gianluca Castelnuovo, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Italy

REVIEWED BY Saskia Damen, University of Groningen, Netherlands

*CORRESPONDENCE Marine Arcous ⊠ marine.arcous@gmail.com

RECEIVED 18 November 2022 ACCEPTED 04 March 2024 PUBLISHED 25 April 2024

CITATION

Arcous M, Potier R and Dumet N (2024) Psychological and social consequences of deafblindness for siblings: a systematic literature review. *Front. Psychol.* 15:1102206. doi: 10.3389/fpsyq.2024.1102206

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Arcous, Potier and Dumet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Psychological and social consequences of deafblindness for siblings: a systematic literature review

Marine Arcous¹*, Rémy Potier² and Nathalie Dumet²

¹Centre de Recherche Psychanalyse, Médecine et Société, Université Paris Cité, Paris, France, ²Centre de Recherche en Psychopathologie et Psychologie Clinique, Université Lumière Lyon 2, Lyon, France

The onset of deafblindness profoundly impacts both the individual with this condition and the individual's family, including siblings. While current studies have primarily focused on the impact felt by parents or spouses, the distinct experiences of siblings have received comparatively less attention. This systematic review addresses the existing research gap regarding the psychological and social consequences experienced by siblings of individuals with deafblindness. A comprehensive search was conducted across multiple electronic databases, including PsycINFO, PsycARTICLES, Dissertations & Theses (on ProQuest), ERIC (Education Resources Information Center), International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS), Sociological Abstracts, Google Scholar, PubMed, and Cairn Info. Seven studies were identified as meeting the eligibility criteria for inclusion. The review revealed that siblings of individuals with deafblindness face psychological and social challenges, including emotions such as feelings of neglect, resentment, embarrassment, jealousy, and anxiety. Siblings also grapple with communication difficulties, contributing to feelings of exclusion and insecurity. In addition, these siblings take on significant responsibilities within the family and encounter obstacles in forming relationships outside the family. These findings underscore the need of interventions to improve the well-being of siblings of individuals with deafblindness by addressing their psycho-emotional needs and promoting positive social interactions. These findings align with studies conducted on siblings of children with other disabilities. However, additional research is crucial to investigate overlooked dimensions, particularly positive factors like coping mechanisms and resilience, that may influence the mental health and social experiences of these siblings.

KEYWORDS

deafblindness, siblings, family, psychological consequences, social experiences, siblings' psychotherapeutic interventions

Introduction

According to Watters et al. (2005), deafblindness is "a condition that combines any degree of hearing loss with any degree of vision loss that interferes with communicating and acquiring information, even though individuals who are deafblind may still have varying levels of useful vision and hearing" (p. 16). Indeed, deafblindness encompasses a spectrum of manifestations (Rodgers, 2021), and most subjects exhibit residual vision and hearing. The first global report of the World Federation of the DeafBlind indicates that approximately 0.2% of the world's

population lives with severe deafblindness, whereas "milder forms" of deafblindness impact around 2% of the global population (International Disability Alliance, 2018). Moreover, individuals with deafblindness frequently exhibit additional physical and cognitive impairments (Heller et al., 1999).

Deafblindness manifests in various forms, including congenital, acquired, and aged-related deafblindness, each with distinct etiological factors and characteristics (Souriau, 2000; Dammeyer, 2010). Congenital deafblindness occurs at birth or shortly thereafter (Dammeyer, 2010) and is caused by genetic factors (e.g.: CHARGE syndrome), prenatal infections (e.g.: cytomegalovirus, rubella,), or birth complications (e.g.: as prematurity, low birth weight,). Metabolic disorders, congenital malformations, certain medications, or maternal drug use are other potential causes of congenital deafblindness (Chen, 2004; Holte et al., 2006; National Center on Deaf-Blindness, n.d.).

Acquired deafblindness occurs later in life (following a period of normal sensory functioning) (Dammeyer, 2010) and can be attributed to genetic disorders (e.g.: Usher syndrome), traumatic events (e.g.: severe head injuries), infections (e.g.: meningitis), or specific neuronal conditions (e.g.: multiple sclerosis). Additionally, prolonged use of certain medications or exposure to toxic substances like chemotherapy drugs, antibiotics, or environmental toxins can potentially lead to acquired deafblindness (Chen, 2004; Holte et al., 2006; National Center on Deaf-Blindness, n.d.).

Age-related deafblindness is characterized by a gradual decline of both hearing and vision that arises due to the natural process of aging. This condition predominantly affects older adults, typically occurring after the age of 65. The primary causes of age-related deafblindness include presbycusis (age-related hearing loss), age-related macular degeneration, cataracts, and glaucoma, in conjunction with age-related hearing loss. Furthermore, other age-related health conditions like diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and neurological disorders can also contribute to hearing loss and vision loss (Simcock, 2017).

Among syndromes associated with deafblindness, CHARGE syndrome is the most frequently encountered. However, in the context of acquired deafblindness, Usher syndrome predominates as the leading cause (Chen, 2004; Holte et al., 2006; National Center on Deaf-Blindness, n.d.). The impact of deafblindness, a distinct condition, is multiplicative (i.e., not simply the sum of vision and hearing impairments) (Fletcher and Guthrie, 2013; Ferrell et al., 2014). For example, individuals with deafblindness cannot compensate for hearing loss through lip reading. Thus, deafblindness is best understood as a precise and individual condition with disabilities distinct from those associated with only vision or hearing impairment (Arcous et al., 2019).

Deafblindness correlates with lower education, increased poverty, and higher unemployment rates (International Disability Alliance, 2018). The age at which the condition starts has a big effect on how difficult it is to cope with, especially when the condition is present from birth, leading to significant limitations (Bruce, 2005; Ronnberg and Borg, 2011). Progressive conditions, like Usher syndrome, bring multifaceted challenges, including access to information, mobility problems, workplace and educational difficulties, social isolation, feelings of insecurity, difficulties in projecting into the future and mental health issues (Arcous et al., 2019). Despite these challenges, appropriate accommodations can mitigate difficulties, which thereby enhances the quality of life for individuals with Usher syndrome (Ellis and Hodges, 2013; Arcous et al., 2019). These accommodations include alternative communication methods, assistive technologies, leisure activities, and social support (given by friends or family) (Arcous et al., 2019).

Indeed, the family plays a fundamental role in the well-being of the person with deafblindness (Spring et al., 2012). The family is the primary source of support (Ellis and Hodges, 2013; Arndt and Parker, 2016). According to Bernard (2013), "The quality of life of deafblind children and adults is greatly influenced by the connection, appropriate support, and interactions with the family" (p. 135). Family members can help with travel, administrative procedures, and daily tasks (Kyle and Barnett, 2012). Family members also play an important role in interpreting and accessing information from the outside world (Kyle and Barnett, 2012; Simcock, 2017). Moreover, the family offers the possibility of social openness (Gullacksen et al., 2011; Arndt and Parker, 2016). Sometimes family members are the only people individuals with deafblindness see during the week. The family can also support self-determination of the deafblind individual (Morgan et al., 2002).

According to Siemon (1984), "Because families are a system, distress in one member affects both the system and each member in it." (p. 294). It is necessary to acknowledge that the presence of a child with a disability in a family can lead to emotional consequences (felt among all family members), along with additional challenges like increased financial responsibilities and the need for extended caregiving. Families may also experience feelings of grief and loss, which can be amplified based on the severity of the disability (Correa-Torres, 2008). Family members may experience both social and psychological consequences due to the presence of a child with a disability.

Social consequences pertain to the effects and repercussions on individuals' social interactions, relationships, and integration within society, stemming from particular circumstances, events, or conditions. These consequences encompass strained social dynamics, social exclusion or isolation, challenges in forming and maintaining relationships, stigma or discrimination, and difficulties in engaging in social activities or fulfilling social roles (Brooks, 1980; Mormiche and Boissonnat, 2003). Psychological consequences encompass the effects and influences on individuals' emotional, cognitive, and behavioral well-being from experienced circumstances or events. These consequences encompass emotional responses such as stress, anxiety, depression, anger, sadness and cognitive changes (Jover, 2014; Ha Namkung and Carr, 2020).

Regarding the social consequences, the presence of an individual living with deafblindness poses communication challenges within the family (Souriau, 2000; Rodgers, 2021). Indeed, a study conducted by Kyle and Barnett (2012), among 39 individuals with acquired deafblindness, demonstrated that family members may encounter difficulties acquiring tactile sign language or other specific communication skills tailored to the disability. It is thus evident that effective communication within the family plays a pivotal role in managing the disability, fostering the self-esteem of the individual with a disability, and promoting family cohesion (Miner, 1995; Wahlqvist et al., 2020).

When deafblindness is acquired progressively, this process can provoke significant familial disruptions, which in many cases leads to entire role realignments assumed by family members (Gullacksen et al., 2011)— a process that is neither straightforward nor undemanding. For instance, according to Watters-Miles (2014), who conducted a study among six individuals with Usher syndrome, parents may become overprotective of their children. Hersh (2013) study on individuals with deafblindness (unspecified type) similarly observes protective behaviors demonstrated by parents. Miner (1995) study, focusing on individuals with Usher syndrome type I, emphasizes the need for adjustments in familial relationships as the syndrome progresses. Similarly, Figueiredo et al. (2013) study, involving eleven individuals with Usher syndrome (type I or II), supports Miner's study results.

The presence of a child with deafblindness can moreover present challenges in socialization beyond the immediate household for family members. A study conducted by Hersh (2013), which examined twenty-seven individuals with deafblindness (without specification of the type), revealed that families with children with deafblindness might experience feelings of stigmatization and embarrassment, ultimately leading to adverse consequences for their social participation.

Regarding the psychological consequences, Watters-Miles (2014) emphasizes that the onset of a disability can be traumatic for the individual and the entire family. Miner (1995), focusing on individuals with Usher syndrome type I, highlights that communication difficulties, hindered by the nature of the disability, can result in additional stress and can increased risk of depression among family members. Indeed, according to Correa-Torres (2008), sighted-hearing parents of children with deafblindness are at a higher risk of developing depression. Hartshorne and Schmittel (2016) who conducted a study on the social–emotional development of children with deafblindness (all types) also found that the risk of sightedhearing parents developing depression is greater. Emotional problems were also reported by partners of individuals with Usher type 1. These partners appear to have more daily responsibilities and feel tired, depressed and resentful (Miner, 1995).

In summary, the familial implications of deafblindness are both pervasive and multidimensional, extending to siblings who have been relatively overlooked in current literature. Addressing these gaps is vital for the inclusive support and well-being of all family members. Indeed, the siblings of children with deafblindness confront unique challenges due to the very nature of their brother or sister's disability. Because of visual and auditory impairment, siblings are greatly hindered in their ability to communicate and play with their disabled sibling.

Siblings also assume increasingly vital roles within the family, often enduring lifelong relationships with their disabled siblings (Cicirelli, 1995). Indeed, siblings share a deep and enduring history together. As parents age, siblings may take on greater responsibility and play a more meaningful role in their relationship with a sibling with a disability (Vert et al., 2016). Also, siblings serve as primary witnesses to the challenges faced by the disabled child and their parents (Dayan and Scelles, 2017).

Despite this, research has primarily concentrated on parents and spouses, leaving a gap in understanding the psychological and social experiences of siblings of children with deafblindness.¹ To bridge this gap in knowledge, this systematic review aims to explore the existing literature on the psychological and social consequences of deafblindness on siblings. Gaining a comprehensive understanding of their experiences is crucial for providing inclusive support and enhancing the overall well-being of the entire family.

Methodology

This systematic literature review was carried out to explore the existing literature on the psychological and social consequences of deafblindness on siblings.

Search strategy

We conducted a comprehensive literature search using various electronic databases, including PsycINFO, PsycARTICLES, Dissertations & Theses (on ProQuest), ERIC (Education Resources Information Center), International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS), Sociological Abstracts, Google Scholar, PubMed, and Cairn Info. The following combination of words was used to conduct the systematic review search: "Siblings" OR "Brother," OR "Brothers" OR "Sister" OR "Sisters" OR "Fratrie" OR "Frère" OR "frères" OR "sœurs" OR "Soeur" AND ("Sourdaveugle" OR "Sourd-aveugle" OR "Surdicécité" OR "Deaf-blind" OR "Deafblind" OR "Deafblindness" OR "Dual Sensory loss" OR "dual sensory impair" OR "Dual sensory impairment" or "Dual sensory disability" OR "Usher Syndrome" OR "Wolfram Syndrome" OR "Stickler Syndrome" OR "Charge Syndrome" OR "Alport Syndrome" OR "Bardet-Biedl Syndrome" OR "Rubella" OR "Cockayne Syndrome" OR "Cornelia de Lange Syndrome" OR "Flynn-Aird Syndrome" OR "Goldenhar Syndrome" OR "Deaf-blind Hypopigmentation Syndrome").

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Studies were included in the review if they were (1) written in English or in French languages (two languages spoken by the authors), (2) published in a peer-reviewed journal/ published dissertation/thesis studies or published reports with no date limits for the publication year (3) explored life experience and/or psychological health and/or social experience of siblings of individuals with deafblindness, and (4) articles mentioning the terms "fratrie" (siblings), "siblings," "frères" (brothers), "frère" (brother), "sœurs" (sisters), "sœur" (sister).

Studies were excluded from the review if they primarily focused on age-related deafblindness. This exclusion criterion was implemented to ensure that the included studies specifically addressed the experiences of siblings who grew up in the same household as individuals with deafblindness during childhood or adolescence.

Date selection and collection process

The articles selection process was conducted by two authors (first and second author). Here are the 6 steps that we followed for the article selection: (1) Database Retrieval; (2) Duplicate Removal; (3) Title and Abstract Screening; (4) Accessibility Check; (5) Criteria-Based Selection; and (6) Final Selection.

¹ In this context, siblings refer to each of the two or more children or offspring who share one or both parents, specifically brothers or sisters.

- 1 Number of articles obtained in each database: the number of articles collected from each database was recorded to determine the initial pool of resources available for analysis. One thousand six hundred fourteen (1614) articles were found in total in the databases.
- 2 Number of articles set discarded as duplicates: to ensure data integrity and avoid redundancy, duplicate articles across databases were identified and removed from the pool. This step helped streamline the analysis process and eliminate any repetition. Two hundred and seventeen duplicates were identified, and 1,397 articles remained after removing these duplicates.
- 3 Number of articles set aside based on titles and abstract: after obtaining the articles (1,397 after removing the duplicates), a screening process was conducted based on their titles and abstracts. Articles that did not appear relevant to the research topic or did not meet the inclusion criteria were discarded. Many articles discussed the chosen syndromes or the chosen syndromes in relation to siblings. However, most of these studies had a medical perspective, aiming to uncover the genetic factors behind disease transmission rather than exploring the personal and social experiences of the siblings. One thousand three hundred fifty-one (1351) were thus rejected at this step in our methodology. Eighteen articles remained.
- 4 Among the eighteen remaining articles, we excluded some due to accessibility issues. In cases where we could only access the title or the abstract without the full text, we left these articles out of our analysis. This was done to ensure a thorough analysis, focusing on complete articles rather than just titles or abstracts. Specifically, we excluded two articles because we could only retrieve their titles, and four more because we had access only to their abstracts.
- 5 Number of articles selected for analysis: from the remaining articles, a selection was made based on the predetermined criteria for inclusion. These criteria could include relevance to the research question or methodology problems. Twelve articles were screened for eligibility using the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Five articles were excluded.
- 6 Final number of articles selected: after screening and applying the inclusion criteria, the remaining articles constituted the final set of resources selected for analysis. The number of articles (7) at this stage represents the data used in the research study.

Data extraction

The two authors extracted the selected articles based on their relevance to the inclusion criteria. One author was responsible for categorizing the results into psychological and social consequences, utilizing the definitions provided in the introduction. The second author validated this categorization. Information about the country the research was carried out, the age of the siblings, the type of deafblindness of the siblings, the methodology used in the articles and the bias and limitations presented by the authors of each article were also gathered (Figure 1).

Results

General characteristics of the studies

In total, there were five studies conducted in the United States, 1 study in Australia, 1 study in Canada, and 1 study in the United Kingdom. Only four studies directly assessed siblings' experiences with their siblings with deafblindness. The other three studies examined siblings' experiences through the perspectives of parents or individuals living with deafblindness.

Rowan (1990) conducted a study in the United States involving 12 siblings of deafblind children from five families. The age range of the siblings in this study was between 7 and 16 years old. Another study in the United States by Laman (2006) focused on four siblings ranging in age from 19 to 22 years old, with a sibling with congenital deafblindness. Harland and Cuskelly (2000) conducted a study in Australia with four siblings from different families. The age range of the siblings in this study was between 21 and 30 years old.

The causes of deafblindness in siblings with this disability were different. We believe it is necessary to clarify this because the experiences of non-disabled siblings may vary depending on the severity of the visual and hearing impairment. Rowan (1990) discussed different conditions, such as cortical visual impairment, profound hearing loss, and associated complications. Laman (2006) focused on congenital deafblindness without specifying the cause. Harland and Cuskelly (2000) explored cases of moderate to profound vision and hearing impairments, often accompanied by intellectual and physical disabilities. Vert et al. (2016) specifically studied individuals with CHARGE syndrome. Watters et al. (2005) investigated both acquired and congenital forms of deafblindness. Ellis and Hodges (2013) examined Usher syndrome, distinguishing between type I, type II, and type III. Finally, Heller et al. (1999) study focused on children with deafblindness without specifying the various types.

Several studies have adopted qualitative methods to explore siblings' experiences in the context of deafblindness. Rowan (1990), a graduate student in education, conducted one-on-one interviews with siblings to gain insights into their perspectives. Laman (2006), a doctor in special education, employed semi-structured interviews to examine adult siblings' perceptions of their involvement in the Individualized Transition Plan (ITP) of siblings with congenital deafblindness. Harland and Cuskelly (2000), two researchers in special education, conducted semi-structured interviews on sibling responsibilities, support, personal development, advocacy, and more topics. Watters et al. (2005), researchers in disability studies, conducted focus groups with individuals with deafblindness, parents/advocates, and interviews with service providers. Ellis and Hodges (2013), researchers in education, employed semi-structured and extensive interviews.

In addition to qualitative approaches, quantitative studies have examined siblings' experiences with deafblindness. Vert et al. (2016) utilized the Sibling Evaluation Questionnaire, UCLA Loneliness Scale, Network Orientation Scale, Family Hardiness Index, and Family Member Well-Being Index to assess various sibling experiences and well-being aspects. Furthermore, Heller et al. (1999) used a questionnaire to evaluate parents' perceptions of siblings' interactions with their brothers and sisters with deafblindness (Table 1).



	TABLE 1	Characteristics	of the studies.
--	---------	-----------------	-----------------

Authors/ date	Country	Type of publication	Type of study
Rowan (1990)	USA	Master dissertation	Qualitative And
		in Education	Quantitative
Heller et al.	USA	Peer-reviewed article	Quantitative
(1999)			
Watters et al.	Canada	Report from the	Qualitative and
(2005)		Canadian Society of	Quantitative
		deaf-Blind	
Laman (2006)	USA	Dissertation in	Qualitative
		Special Education for	
		the degree of Doctor	
		of Education –	
		Faculty of Texas Tech	
		University	
Harland and	Australia	Peer-reviewed article	Qualitative
Cuskelly (2000)			
Ellis and Hodges	U.K	Research report	Qualitative and
(2013)		University of	Quantitative
		Birmingham	
Vert et al. (2016)	USA	Peer-reviewed article	Quantitative

Quality of the study

Several limitations and biases have been identified in the examined studies by the authors of each study themselves, highlighting the importance of considering these factors when interpreting the findings. As an example, an interview may lead to the unintended procurement of socially desirable responses, especially when it is based on voluntary participation (Rowan, 1990; Harland and Cuskelly, 2000; Laman, 2006). Also, as Rowan (1990) mentioned, the understanding of questions by siblings and the author's interpretation could influence results.

Small sample sizes from specific regions limit the generalizability of the findings (Rowan, 1990; Heller et al., 1999; Harland and Cuskelly, 2000; Laman, 2006; Vert et al., 2016). Additionally, three studies did not directly assess the siblings experience but investigated people with deafblindness' perspective of their siblings' experience (Watters et al., 2005; Ellis and Hodges, 2013) or parents' perspectives (Heller et al., 1999) (Table 2).

Psychological consequences

Siblings may experience certain negative emotions such as resentment towards their parents, primarily due to the parents' reduced physical and emotional availability (Watters et al., 2005). Some siblings experienced feelings of exclusion and jealousy due to the additional parental attention given to the child with deafblindness (Watters et al., 2005). For example, in the study conducted by Ellis and Hodges (2013), Bethany (17, type 2) shared her experience of being perceived as the "favorite" among her siblings because she received more attention, which created tension with her sibling. In contrast, another study by Rowan (1990) revealed that nine out of twelve siblings did not perceive their siblings with deafblindness as more fortunate due to the attention or special treatment' received by the child with deafblindness.

TABLE 2 Characteristics of the studies.

Authors/date	Participants	Methodology	Limitations/bias
Rowan (1990)	12 siblings of deafblind children from five	Qualitative: one-on-one interviews with	Voluntary participation, potentially
	families in the Utah Intervener Services	the siblings.	biased towards individuals with positive
	Program. 8 males and 4 females, ages	Quantitative: The Siblings' Perceptions of	attitudes.
	ranging from 7 to 16 years old.	the Intervener Interview (SPII) and	Small sample size from only one state,
	Deafblind children: 2 males and 3 females,	Taylor's Siblings' problems Questionnaire	limiting generalizability to other sibling
	ages ranging from 1 year 10 months to	were administered.	of deaf-blind children.
	3 years 5 months.		The assessment tools used lacked
	Deafblind children's conditions: failure to		reliability and validity information.
	thrive, cortical visual impairment, profound		Only one interview may have resulted in
	hearing loss; cortical visual impairment,		socially desirable responses.
	mild hearing loss; cortical visual		Siblings' understanding of questions and
	impairment, cortical hearing impairment;		the author's interpretation could
	severe handicaps, cortical visual		influence results.
	impairment, cortical hearing impairment;		
	profound hearing loss, retinopathy of		
	prematurity, exotropia of the right eye.		
	Additional complications: Many of the		
	deaf-blind children had complications such		
	as requiring oxygen and tube feeding, and		
	some had seizures.		
Heller et al. (1999)	36 parents of children with deafblindness.	Questionnaire to evaluate	Smal sampel size.
	Ranging age of the children 1 to 22 years old.	parents' perceptions of siblings' interactions	Only parents perception and not
	A sibling is living at least at home. Ranging	with their brothers and sisters who are	siblings's one.
	age of the siblings (1 to 22 years old).	deafblind.	
	Type of disability: Congenital deafblindess.		
	Most participants' children have additional		
	physical complications, such as orthopedic		
	impairments, health impairments, and		
	mental retardation. Most siblings were older		
	than the child with deafblindness (61.1%).		
	Siblings gender distribution: Almost an even		
	distribution by gender for both the deaf-		
	blind children and their siblings.		
	Deaf-blindness causes: Majority of children		
	had deaf-blindness due to multiple		
	congenital anomalies (Charge syndrome or		
	Rubella was the most present).		
	Additional disabilities: 92% of children with		
	deafblindness had additional disabilities,		
	including orthopedic impairments, health		
	impairments, and mental retardation.		
Nattons at al. (2005)	44 participants with deafblindness (29	Quantitative: Questionnaire to gather	The new outed annousing one pot
Watters et al. (2005)		demographics data (through telephone/	The reported experiences are not directly from siblings but from
	females and 15 males). Age ranging from 20 to 75 years old.		
	42 respondents with acquired deafblindness	emails) Qualitative: Focus groups with deatblind	individuals living with deafblindness.
	· ·	Qualitative: Focus groups with deafblind	Number of parents/advocates who
	and 2 respondents with congenital	people or parents/advocates	participated to the focus group is
	deafblindness.	Service provider interviews	unspecified.
	Focus group with parents/advocates: Date of		Number of service providers who
	the focus group is not available.		participated to the interviews is
	Interviews with service providers: Data from		unspecified
	the interviews are not available.		Limited to Canada.

(Continued)

TABLE 2 (Continued)

Authors/date	Participants	Methodology	Limitations/bias
Laman (2006)	4 siblings, age ranging from 19 to 22 years old. Who have a sibling with congenital deafblindness (cause undefined)	Semi-structured interviews	Voluntary participation, potentially biased towards individuals with positive attitudes. Small sample size from only one state, limiting generalizability to other siblings of deaf-blind children. Only one interview may have resulted in socially desirable responses. Siblings' understanding of questions and author's interpretation could influence results.
Harland and Cuskelly (2000)	4 siblings from different South East Queensland, Australia families participated in the study. Age ranging from 21 to 30 years old. Type of disability: moderate to profound vision and hearing impairments, and in some cases, additional intellectual and physical disabilities.	Semi-structured interviews covering various topics, including responsibilities, support, development, and suggestions for improving quality of life. Grounded theory was used as the research approach.	Only one sibling per family was interviewed. Voluntary participation of siblings may introduce bias. The most supportive sibling may have been selected by the parent in families Siblings' biases towards the researcher and interpreter may affect validity. Small sample size. Cultural differences may impact the transferability of disability impact studies.
Vert et al. (2016)	29 siblings of children with charge syndrome. Age ranging from 13 to 42 years old. 14 males and 15 females. Severity of CHARGE syndrome: Majority (69%) of individuals with CHARGE were rated as moderately affected, with a minority being mildly or severely affected.	Sibling Evaluation Questionnaire (SEQ) UCLA Loneliness Scale (LS) Network Orientation Scale (NOS) Family Hardiness Index Family Member Well-Being Index	CHARGE research may not apply to other syndromes. Severity of disability affects sibling adjustment. Small sample size Lack of sibling relationship measures, SEQ validation needed. Siblings may show positive bias, influencing results.

Moreover, in Harland and Cuskelly (2000) study, some siblings expressed guilt over their inability to take a more active role in caring for their disabled sibling. They recognized the burden of care placed on their parents but felt helpless in changing the situation. In this study, one sibling expressed his guilt by saying, "I wish I could do more for Mum because she does do an awful lot." (p. 300). The same authors noticed that some siblings encounter feelings of anxiety as they grapple with understanding and managing their disabled sibling's behavior. Interacting with a sibling who has disabilities can indeed present challenges, potentially leading to anxiety and frustration for siblings (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000). Communication barriers, personal insecurities, and the uncertainty surrounding their sibling's receptiveness to communication may contribute to feelings of exclusion and insecurity (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000).

Also, siblings may experience a sense of inequity and frustration because of the family's financial problems that are caused by having a child with deafblindness (Watters et al., 2005). Additionally, in Rowan study's (1990), some siblings mentioned that they felt they bore additional responsibilities which caused frustration and a sense of unfairness. In Rowan study's, some siblings (3 out of 12) stated they put pressure on themselves to succeed academically or in other areas to compensate for the limitations of their sibling with deafblindness. This self-imposed pressure could contribute to their anxiety. Social embarrassment due to friends' reactions and questions further exacerbated the emotional toll (Rowan, 1990).

Anxiety may also arise from difficulty envisioning the future. Indeed, sibling disability can significantly impact an individual's perception of their future, as they envision a lifelong role in the life of the child with deafblindness (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000; Laman, 2006). In Laman (2006) study, all the siblings expressed concerns and anxieties regarding their future roles once their parents could no longer support the person with disabilities. Those results are supported by Harland and Cuskelly (2000) results. In Harland and Cuskelly's study, some siblings also expressed anxiety and concerns for the future. The siblings recognized the importance of future financial support. They acknowledged that their roles would need to evolve as their parents could not provide primary home-based care for their siblings. Furthermore, many siblings expressed inadequacy in not being able to assume greater responsibility for supporting their siblings. This sense of inadequacy was influenced by various factors, resulting in stress and conflict among most siblings (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000). Time constraints emerged as a concern for five out of twelve of the siblings in Rowan (1990). They expressed worries about having limited time to support

their siblings with disabilities due to their numerous other commitments.

Furthermore, some siblings experienced deep distress regarding their lack of preparedness for their future responsibilities towards their sibling with deafblindness. Despite the anxiety stemming from their parents' mortality, all the siblings were willing to assume increased responsibility if necessary to support their siblings with disabilities (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000). In Harland and Cuskelly (2000) study, most siblings were expected to continue their responsibility for supporting their sibling's personal development. However, some siblings, like Phillip (a sibling interviewed by Harland and Cuskelly, 2000), doubted their ability to take on teaching responsibilities themselves.

The search for suitable accommodation for their sibling with deafblindness was identified as a significant concern for some siblings. In Harland and Cuskelly (2000) study, one sibling stated, "There is nothing for the deafblind in the area of job preparation and placement" (p. 302). Another sibling was concerned about her ability to find appropriate accommodation for her sister in the future. Some siblings also expressed anxiety about the level of care their brother or sister would receive in non-family-based supported accommodation settings (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000). Assisting with or managing their sibling's financial affairs was another responsibility that most siblings anticipated undertaking in the future (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000). Rowan (1990) stated that the worries and concerns expressed by some siblings of children with deafblindness encompassed fears, concerns, worries and anxieties about their sibling's mobility, mortality, future employment prospects, and access to education (Rowan, 1990).

Harland and Cuskelly (2000) noticed that some siblings expressed previous apprehensions about the potential of having children with disabilities themselves. One participant in their study sought genetic counseling to address this concern, and another one worried that prospective partners might mistakenly assume genetic complications associated with their relationship.

The experience of having a sibling with deafblindness can give rise to a strong need for information among siblings, leading to confusion, incomprehension, and anxiety. Understanding the specific problems faced by the child with deafblindness is another significant concern for siblings. Some siblings expressed desire to gain deeper insights into terminology, causes of the handicap, functioning abilities, caregiving techniques, preferences, and future prospects for their sibling (Rowan, 1990). They may desire to understand the nature and extent of their sibling's disability in hopes of finding a sense of clarity about what it means to be deafblind (Rowan, 1990). They questioned whether their sibling is truly deaf, blind, or both, highlighting the need for accurate information to dispel misconceptions (Rowan, 1990). In addition to seeking information, siblings recognized their responsibility as advocates for their siblings with deafblindness. They strongly desired to learn more about available services and opportunities, understanding that this knowledge is crucial for their future role. However, the lack of information leaves them uncertain about their sibling's future plans and legal matters, causing anxiety and a need for clarity (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000). Concerns about future living arrangements and the potential changes in their sibling's condition further contribute to siblings' anxiety. Some siblings believed that their sibling with deafblindness may not always live at home, while others believed their sibling's deafblindness may change over time (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000). In Heller et al. (1999) study, 67% of the parents recognized the siblings' desire to learn more about interacting and communicating with their sibling with deafblindness, emphasizing the importance of knowledge and understanding in facilitating meaningful connections.

Banta (1979) highlighted the siblings' greater distress compared to their parents as a result of ineffective coping mechanisms. As Harland and Cuskelly (2000) noticed, siblings relied heavily on their parents for help and guidance in caring for their sibling with deafblindness. They sought assistance in understanding the special attention and care required by a child with deafblindness, learning how to use specialized equipment, effectively communicate, handle emotional situations, and provide proper nourishment (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000). To cope with their worries and problems, siblings actively sought emotional support from various sources. Mothers are often their primary confidants, followed by fathers and friends (Rowan, 1990) (Table 3).

Social consequences

Siblings may experience difficulties in interaction with their deafblind brother or sister. Indeed, the presence of communication difficulties related to the nature of the disability, which affects language, makes it difficult for siblings to engage in activities with their sibling with deafblindness (Heller et al., 1999; Watters et al., 2005). Communication is an important aspect of the sibling relationship that often needs adjustments and adaptations, commonly achieved through augmentative and alternative methods of communication. In the case of siblings with a brother or sister with deafblindness, it has been observed that they mostly rely on nonsymbolic forms of communication to interact. However, there is a noticeable absence of alternative communication methods, such as tactile or visual communication boards/systems, and limited involvement from professionals in teaching siblings how to communicate with their sibling with deafblindness. Interestingly, most siblings acquired nonsymbolic communication skills independently, as reported by 62.5% of parents and 56.3% of parents of elementary school children (Heller et al., 1999). On the other hand, sign language is predominantly taught by a parent/relative or, in some instances, by a speech therapist, as seen with two older children. Among parents who reported that siblings face communication challenges consistently, those who rely on nonsymbolic forms of communication experienced the greatest difficulty. Additionally, it seems that the nature of these difficulties is influenced by the severity of the impairment and the availability of alternative communication methods (Heller et al., 1999).

In Heller et al. (1999) study, most parents (over 25%) reported that siblings have minimal interaction or deliberately try to avoid their brother or sister with deafblindness. Many parents (22.2%) and parents of elementary school children (16.7%) indicated that siblings never try to engage their brother or sister in any activity. Regarding the duration of sibling engagement, approximately 23.5% of parents and 21.7% of parents of elementary school children reported a daily involvement of 5–15 min, while 20.6% of parents and 26.1% of parents of elementary school children reported spending 30 min to an hour together. However, a notable percentage of parents (14.7%) and parents of elementary school children (21.7%) mentioned that siblings spend less than 5 min with their sibling with deeafblindness, and 17.6 and 8.7% of parents and parents of elementary school children,

TABLE 3 Results.

Authors/date	Psychological consequences	Social consequences
Rowan (1990)	Seek information on deafblindness. Feel embarrassed and perceive adverse reactions from friends. Experience frustration, anxiety, and early responsibilities with pressure to succeed. Bear additional household duties, leading to frustration and unfairness. Express guilt over limited involvement in caring for their disabled sibling. Have concerns about future roles without parental support. Recognize the importance of emotional support from parents and friends Do not perceive their sibling as fortunate or receiving special treatment.	Take on various responsibilities within the family dynamics to care for a deaf-blind individual. Caregiver and protectors. Possess knowledge and skills to assist the deaf-blind individual. Seek information on services, living arrangements, and the condition of the deafblind individual.
Heller et al. (1999)	Feel anxious about the future.	Adopt an helping role. Seek support for communication with their deafblind sibling. Limited interaction or avoidance may occur. Adjustments for participation may be lacking. Communication challenges hinder interaction. Nonsymbolic communication is common. Communication adjustments are necessary.
Watters et al. (2005)	Resentment towards parents and the deafblind child Experience negative emotions like exclusion, jealousy, and resentment. Bearing financial responsibility for their activities may cause a sense of inequity and frustration. Perceive it as unfair and straining the family's limited resources.	Face difficulties in interacting with their deafblind sibling due to communication challenges. Communication adjustments and adaptations, including augmentative and alternative communication methods.
Laman (2006)	Anxiety and uncertainty about what is expected from them in the future.	Want to be involved in their sibling's future.
Harland and Cuskelly (2000)	Interacting with a sibling with disabilities presents challenges and causes anxiety and frustration. Siblings express a need for information and understanding to support their siblings. Express guilt over their inability to take a more active role in caring Experience anxiety in managing their sibling's challenging behavior. Concerns arise about their sibling's future plans, legal matters, living arrangements, changes in condition, and employment prospects. Stress and conflict arise due to feelings of inadequacy and time constraints. Siblings feel unprepared for future responsibilities and doubt their ability to assume teaching roles. Have apprehensions about having children with disabilities themselves. Emotional support from parents and friends is recognized as essential and sought after.	Face challenges and disadvantages, Encounter attention and stares from others, limited space, and disrupted routines. Expressing dissatisfaction, they mention the interference of their deaf-blind sibling in their lives and plans. Embrace a helping role.
Ellis and Hodges (2013)	Jealousy felt by siblings towards the deafblind child. Perceive favoritism among their siblings, as they receive more attention from adults.	In need of support and advice from specialist services and networks who understood Usher syndrome better.
Vert et al. (2016)	Rate their personal well-being positively. Siblings' relationship are associated with hardiness, loneliness, and Charge knowledge.	Accept their sibling with Charge syndrome neutrally. Report less loneliness, and similar social support access. Benefit from interacting with other children with disabled siblings.

respectively, stated that no dedicated time is spent between siblings. The frequency of difficulty encountered in playing or engaging in activities together varied among respondents. The majority of parents (44.4%) and parents of elementary school children (41.7%) reported that such difficulties occurred some of the time. When questioned about the siblings' willingness to make necessary adjustments for their brother or sister with deafblindness to participate in games or activities that require visual perception, a significant percentage of parents (68.6%) and of parents of elementary school children (70.8%) indicated that siblings never made adaptations or only did so on certain occasions. Similarly, for activities requiring hearing, most

parents (70.6%) and parents of elementary school children (73.9%) reported that siblings never made accommodations or only did so sometimes.

According to Rowan (1990), siblings of individuals with deafblindness play pivotal roles in family dynamics, specifically in caring for and supporting their sibling with deafblindness. In Rowan (1990), a majority (eight out of twelve) indicated that their parents expected them to take on additional responsibilities due to the presence of a sibling with deafblindness. These responsibilities span from babysitting their deafblind sibling and other siblings, assisting younger siblings with chores, bathing, feeding, changing diapers,

dressing, providing tracheostomy care, engaging in playtime, attending to the child's needs during the night, cooking, and undertaking household to outdoor tasks. This underscores the heightened responsibility these siblings' experience, with two of the twelve respondents citing exclusive household roles arising from their deafblind sibling's needs (Rowan, 1990). Additionally, six of eleven siblings noted their caregiving role was more extensive than their peers' involvement with their own siblings. However, ten out of twelve siblings perceive their parents' rules as fair, indicating a balanced approach to managing family dynamics. Concerning knowledge and skills, six out of twelve siblings reported being adequately equipped to assist their sibling with deafblindness (Rowan, 1990).

In Heller et al. (1999) study, parents characterized the relationship between siblings and the child with deafblindness as "helping." The study revealed that while mothers were the primary caregivers, siblings played a significant albeit secondary role in supporting their brother or sister with visual and hearing impairments. Harland and Cuskelly (2000) found in their study that most siblings provided practical assistance to their brother or sister with deafblindness (e.g., in mobility, recreational activities, and respite care). In some cases, they even took on the role of being a parent for two weeks to give their parents a break (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000). Most siblings offered practical assistance by reinforcing or teaching their brother or sister with deafblindness new skills. One common responsibility shouldered by adult siblings was maintaining regular contact with their siblings with disabilities. In fact, adult siblings maintained regular contact and emotional support, reinforcing or teaching new skills regardless of geographic proximity (Harland and Cuskelly, 2000).

Siblings of children with deafblindness encounter various challenges and disadvantages in their everyday lives. Public attention when accompanying their sibling with deafblindness and crowded living conditions due to special equipment are among the drawbacks (Rowan, 1990). Frequent hospital visits further add to the siblings' inconvenience and disruption of their personal routine. Another disadvantage is the impact on their participation in family activities, as their sibling's condition may require adjustments or prevent them from fully engaging in shared experiences (Rowan, 1990). In Rowan (1990), nine out of twelve siblings expressed dissatisfaction with how their brother or sister with deafblindness interfered in their lives. This dissatisfaction was often associated with the inability to implement family plans and activities due to their sibling's needs (i.e., a parent staying home with the child with deafblindness rather than joining the rest of a family on an outing). Furthermore, four out of ten siblings shared their discontent with their sibling's impact on their personal plans and activities. These concerns range from being unable to visit friends' houses or host them at their homes, feeling obligated to be involved with the care of their sibling with deafblindness, and having their activities disrupted due to the responsibility of looking after their other siblings. To address the limited participation in activities, it is recommended, within the literature, to modify the activities to accommodate the vision and hearing loss of the child with deafblindness. This modification can enhance siblings' ability to participate in and foster meaningful interaction. However, it is worth noting that siblings may lack information on how to effectively modify or identify suitable activities for their siblings with deafblindness (Rowan, 1990).

Rowan (1990) also notes the generally positive and protective attitudes of siblings towards their sibling with deafblindness. Notably, in Rowan (1990) all siblings demonstrated a favorable attitude and actively discouraged any teasing directed towards their sibling with deafblindness. Despite the challenges they may encounter, siblings cited genuine enjoyment/happiness stemming from their relationship with their brother/sister with deafblindness and are committed to safeguarding their well-being when necessary. Among the surveyed, six out of the twelve siblings mentioned that their friends visit their home and engage in various activities, such as playing pat-a-cake, throwing a ball, holding hands, and communicating with the child with deafblindness. On the contrary, six siblings reported that their friends do not come to their homes to interact with their siblings with deafblindness. When explaining their sibling's condition to friends, five out of the twelve siblings expressed no difficulty conveying the necessary information. Feelings of rejection were minimal (eight out of twelve), with most embracing their sibling's condition openly, showing unconditional love and acceptance. Several stated they did not wish for their deafblind sibling to be absent, highlighting the depth of their emotional bond (Rowan, 1990).

However, Vert et al. (2016) study found a correlation between siblings' level of difficulty in engaging with their sibling with deafblindness and their willingness to include them in activities with friends or attend support groups. This suggests the potential benefit of interaction with peers who also have siblings with disabilities (Table 3).

Discussion

While studies have explored the experiences of siblings of individuals with disabilities, the literature on siblings of those with deafblindness remains notably sparse. The existing research does, however, illuminate the unique psychological and social challenges these siblings face.

To summarize, the psychological consequences experienced by siblings of deafblind individuals can include a range of negative emotions such as resentment, jealousy, frustration, guilt, anxiety, and feelings of inadequacy. Siblings may feel resentment towards their parents due to reduced attention and availability, as well as jealousy towards the additional parental attention given to the deafblind child. They may also feel excluded and experience a sense of inequity and frustration. Siblings often express guilt over their inability to take a more active role in caring for their disabled sibling and may experience anxiety when managing their sibling's challenging behavior. Communication barriers, personal insecurities, and uncertainty about their sibling's receptiveness to communication can contribute to feelings of exclusion and insecurity. Siblings may also experience anxiety when envisioning the future, particularly regarding their own future roles, once their parents can no longer provide support for the person with deafblindness.

Social consequences for siblings of individuals with deafblindness can include difficulties in interacting with their siblings due to communication challenges related to the disability. Siblings often rely on nonsymbolic forms of communication to interact. Still, there may be a lack of alternative communication methods and limited involvement from professionals in teaching siblings how to communicate with their siblings with deafblindness. Siblings also take on significant responsibilities within the family dynamics, such as caregiving tasks and support for their sibling with deafblindness which impact the time they have for their social activities. In the context of family activities/outings, siblings may experience disadvantages, such as attention and stares from others, routines disruptions, and limited household space. Siblings may also encounter difficulties forming and maintaining relationships outside the family due to their sibling's condition. Some siblings may actively avoid or have minimal interaction with their deafblind sibling.

Similar experiences have been observed in siblings of children with other types of disabilities. For example, some studies on individuals with undefined physical or chronic disabilities demonstrated that siblings of children with disabilities can experience distress, unhappiness and resentment (Lamarche, 1985; Fisman et al., 2000; Scelles, 2011; Giallo et al., 2012; Hallberg, 2013).

Also, siblings of children with other disabilities (undefined physical or intellectual disabilities) can feel ashamed of how others perceive them and struggle with social inclusion (Lamarche, 1985; Dayan and Scelles, 2017).

Siblings of children with other disabilities (hemiparesis and undefined physical or intellectual disabilities) may exhibit premature and hyper-protective behaviors, feel responsible for the family's wellbeing, and seek partners who understand their role (Seligman, 1983; Hannah and Midlarsky, 1985; Scelles, 2004; Gardou, 2012; Dufreche Rastello, 2020).

In addition, siblings of children with other disabilities (undefined chronic illness) tend to have higher anxiety levels stemming from uncertainty in interacting with the disabled sibling (Heiney et al., 1990; Martinez et al., 2022).

Finally, siblings of children with hemiparesis express the same lack of information about the disability (Dufreche Rastello, 2020), as for siblings of individuals with deafblindness. Research indicates that siblings of children with hemiparesis desire more information but fear the implications it may have on themselves (Dufreche Rastello, 2020). Limited contact with professionals and guilt often prevents these siblings from asking questions that might equip them with the information they desire, such as questions that address the nature of their siblings disability (Smith and Perry, 2005).

In contrast, some aspects present in the siblings of children with disabilities were not reported in those of children with deafblindness. Negative emotions such as anger are commonly experienced by siblings of children with other disabilities (undefined physical or intellectual disabilities) (Seligman, 1983; Hallberg, 2013). These emotions, however, were not reported in siblings of children with deafblindness within our research. Siblings of children with intellectual disabilities may feel threatened by the possibility of death, disability, or contamination (McHale and Gamble, 1989). Also, guilt can inhibit aggressive feelings and lead to depressive symptoms for siblings of children with hemiparesis or physical or mentaldisabilities (Meynckens-Fourez, 1995; Griot et al., 2010; Dufreche Rastello, 2020). Feelings of loneliness, lack of social support, and withdrawal are also common challenges faced by siblings of children with facial paralysis or other undefined physical disabilities (Crocker, 1981; Pogossian, 2003; Guyard, 2012). These issues were not identified in our study. Differences in rules and increased sibling rivalry can lead to aggression and behavioral problems for some siblings of children with facial paralysis or other undefined physical disabilities (Breslau et al., 1981; Crocker, 1981; Lamarche, 1985; Meynckens-Fourez, 1995). Siblings of children with hemiparesis may exhibit behavioral issues to gain attention or wish to be disabled themselves (Dufreche Rastello, 2020). However, behavioral problems for siblings of individuals with deafblindness were not identified.

It is unclear if these aspects are absent, not investigated, or not expressed by the siblings in interviews due to modesty or fear. Also, Smith and Perry (2005) noticed that limited contact with professionals and guilt often prevent siblings of children with a disability from asking questions. Additionally, the desire to appear positive to the interviewer may have led to the concealment of information, such as anger, self- or hetero-aggressive behaviors, social difficulties, and feelings of loneliness. It is also possible that these aspects are less prevalent because the research primarily focused on more well-known syndromes such as Usher and CHARGE, for which more information and support groups are available, potentially introducing a representativeness bias.

For example, in Vert et al. (2016) study, siblings of people with deafblindness reported experiencing somewhat lower levels of loneliness, which contradicts earlier research suggesting higher levels of loneliness among siblings of children with intellectual disabilities (Rossiter and Sharpe, 2001). One possible explanation for this discrepancy is that families with a child with CHARGE syndrome have easy access to support systems through the Internet and various networks. While not many participants actually reported that they attended a CHARGE conference or a support group, the availability of these networks may have helped alleviate any potential feelings of loneliness associated with having a sibling with a disability.

Other factors influencing the results including socioeconomic status, past attendance at a sibling support group, parent stress, family time and routines, family problem-solving and communication, and family hardiness. However, these factors were rarely presented in the selected studies, and thus, we could not examine their detailed impact.

The self-esteem of siblings of children with deafblindness was not explored in our study/ Considering the psychological and social challenges siblings of children with deafblindness are facing, it would be interesting to investigate the consequences on their self-esteem. Previous research suggests that self-esteem in siblings of disabled children (with pervasive developmental disorder) is similar to that of other children (Ferrari et al., 1988). Positive effects such as compassion, empathy, and resilience can develop through the sibling bond (Powell et al., 1985; Metzger, 2005; Scelles, 2008; Griot et al., 2010; Von Benedek, 2013). According to Mchale and Gamble (1989) siblings of children with autism may also acquire responsibility and develop good self-esteem (McHale and Gamble, 1989). Also, for siblings of children with a pervasive developmental disorder or hemiparesis, social behaviors, skills, and creative abilities can be enhanced (Ferrari et al., 1988; Dufreche Rastello, 2020). The lack of results on these variables may be explained by the fact that research initially focused on negative consequences, given the relatively unexplored nature of the field due to the rarity of the disability.

Limitations

Our research is predicated upon the foundation of preceding studies, which are not without their limitations (e.g., sample size, methodology, and generalizability of results). It is recognized that these limitations can limit our own research. One prominent limitation and bias observed in the antecedent studies is the use of the voluntary participation method. This method has the propensity to introduce bias in the resultant data by attracting individuals with positive attitudes or specific interests, thereby potentially impinging upon the representativeness of the sample and the generalizability of the findings.

Sample size is another limitation— posing challenges in extrapolating the findings to encompass the experience of other siblings of children with deafblindness. It is thus imperative to consider this limitation and its consequential impact when interpreting the findings.

Additionally, relying solely on a single interview with each participant is another significant limitation of the antecedent research and our subsequent use/interpretation of these studies. This approach can influence participant responses, engendering socially desirable answers that may deviate from genuine responses. Consequently, the validity of the results and the comprehension of sibling relationships may be compromised.

Cultural differences can substantially influence the results and impede the transferability of studies concerning the impact of disabilities on families across different cultures. We must recognize and account for these cultural disparities when interpreting and applying the findings.

Furthermore, the inability to access texts not available in English and French presents an additional limitation in our research. This constraint may engender incomplete information and potentially result in overlooking pertinent insights.

It is important to note that specific texts could only be partially accessed in certain cases, with only the title or abstract being available. This further curtails our access to comprehensive information and a holistic understanding of those studies. The absence of full-text access may have omitted valuable details and insights.

The limited number of selected studies and the inability to access texts in other languages underscores the necessity for future research endeavors characterized by enhanced methodologies and augmented sample sizes (that ideally encompass greater diversity). Such endeavors will surmount these limitations and engender more robust, dependable, and generalizable results within the domain of deafblindness research.

Recommendations

Practical implications

In light of the challenges some siblings face, we recommend providing psychotherapeutic spaces² to address their needs (Rowan, 1990; Ellis and Hodges, 2013). The research we examined underscores, either explicitly or implicitly, the importance of support and care for siblings in (1) understanding the condition of deafblindness better, (2) expressing their emotions, and (3) acquiring information (Rowan, 1990; Ellis and Hodges, 2013). However, such therapeutic spaces for siblings remain limited, potentially due to a lack of awareness among parents and institutions (Plumridge et al., 2011).

To meet these needs, we recommend employing the Taylor's Siblings Questionnaire to identify the concerns of siblings of children with deafblindness and tailor interventions accordingly (Rowan, 1990). Professionals like psychologists and psychometricians can facilitate sibling groups and offer a safe environment for siblings to express themselves and develop a deeper understanding of disability-related issues (Pitman and

Matthe, 2004; Dufreche Rastello, 2020). Participation in sibling groups has demonstrated numerous benefits, including reduced anxiety, enhanced self-esteem, and improved communication within the family (Heiney et al., 1990; Smith and Perry, 2005; Scelles et al., 2007; Plumridge et al., 2011; Scelles, 2011).

Professionals working with families should acknowledge the impact of disability on both siblings and parents, adopting a comprehensive approach to address their needs (Vert et al., 2016). Support programs should actively involve siblings in crucial educational and transitional meetings and provide sibling workshops to equip them with knowledge and skills (Laman, 2006).

Research implications

Future studies should incorporate diverse data sources to ensure reliable data collection (Vert et al., 2016). Further exploration of the role of interveners in supporting siblings and the implementation of larger-scale studies will contribute to a deeper understanding of their needs (Vert et al., 2016).

In the context of deafblindness, long-term studies focusing on interventions targeting psychological well-being, orientation and mobility, independence development, transition to adulthood, and sibling relationships are warranted (Rowan, 1990). Additional research is needed to delve into the positive aspects, coping resources, and resilience developed by siblings (Rowan, 1990).

To enhance the generalizability of research, it is recommended to include families from diverse geographical regions and incorporate the perspectives of siblings and children with deafblindness (Rowan, 1990). Conducting longitudinal studies on sibling relationships over time would provide valuable insights, particularly for children with deafblindness. This study highlights the importance of addressing limited interaction or avoidance between siblings and their brother/sister with deafblindness by providing tailored information and support for sibling relationships (Rowan, 1990).

Furthermore, future research should focus on larger and more diverse samples, employ improved methodologies, and directly incorporate siblings' perspectives to ensure more reliable and generalizable results in the field of deafblindness research.

Author contributions

MA did the mini-review. RP leads the research project of which this mini-review is a contribution and coordinated MA's work during the selection process and participated in the corrections. ND corrected the text and provided perspectives. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

² A therapeutic space is a specially designed environment that supports healing and therapy. It can be a physical or virtual space where individuals engage in therapeutic activities to improve their well-being. It promotes safety, comfort, and relaxation, and may include tools and materials to enhance the therapeutic experience.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

Arcous, M., Putois, O., Dalle-Nazébi, S., Kerbourch, S., Cariou, A., Ben Aissa, I., et al. (2019). Psychosocial determinants associated with quality of life in people with usher syndrome: a scoping review. *Disabil. Rehabil.* 42, 2809–2820. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2019.1571637

Arndt, K., and Parker, A. (2016). Perceptions of social networks by adults who are deafblind. *Am. Ann. Deaf* 161, 369–383. doi: 10.1353/aad.2016.0027

Banta, Elisabeth. "Siblings of deaf-blind children." *Volta Rev.* 81 (1979): 363–369. Cité par Rowan, Lori P. "The Needs and Concerns of the Siblings of the Deaf-Blind." Master's thesis, Utah State University, 1990. Available at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2079&context=gradreports (Accessed June 05, 2023).

Bernard, S. (2013). Surdicécité et citoyenneté. Vie sociale 3, 135-147. doi: 10.3917/ vsoc.133.0133

Breslau, N., Weitzman, M., and Messenger, K. (1981). Psychological functioning of siblings of disabled children. *Pediatrics* 67, 344–353. doi: 10.1542/peds.67.3.344

Brooks, N. A. (1980). The social consequences of disability: an experiential approach. *Am. Sociol. Assoc.* 7, 425–438. doi: 10.2307/1316974

Bruce, S. M. (2005). The impact of congenital Deafblindness on the struggle to symbolism. *Int. J. Disabil. Dev. Educ.* 52, 233–251. doi: 10.1080/10349120500252882

Chen, D. (2004). Young children who are deaf-blind: implications for professionals in deaf and hard of hearing services. *Volta Rev.* 104, 273–284.

Cicirelli, V. G. (1995). Sibling relationships across the life span. New York: Plenum Press.

Correa-Torres, S. (2008). The nature of the social experiences of students with deafblindness who are educated in inclusive settings. *J. Vis. Impair. Blind.* 102, 272–283. doi: 10.1177/0145482X0810200503

Crocker, A. (1981). "The involvement of siblings of children with handicaps" in *Coping with crisis and handicap*. ed. A. Milunsky (New York: Plenum)

Dammeyer, J. (2010). Deafblindness: a review of the literature. Scand. J. Public Health 38, 838-844. doi: 10.1177/1403494814544399

Dayan, C., and Scelles, R. (2017). La Fratrie Face au Handicap. Spirale 81, 70–78. doi: 10.3917/spi.081.0070

Dufreche Rastello, G. (2020). J'ai mal à mon frère: quel accompagnement psychomoteur proposer à la fratrie d'enfants en situation de handicap? Paris: Mémoire – Faculté de Médecine Pierre et Marie Curie, Sorbonne Université.

Ellis, Liz, and Hodges, Liz. "Life and Change with Usher: The Experiences of Diagnosis for People with Usher Syndrome." England, University of Birmingham, (2013).

Ferrari, P., Crochette, A., and Bouvet, M. (1988). La fratrie de l'enfant handicapé, approche clinique. *Neuro-psychiatrie de l'enfance* 36, 19–25.

Ferrell, Kay Alicyn, Bruce, Susan, and Luckner, John L. (2014). "Evidence-based practices for students with sensory impairments" (Document No. IC-4), 64. USA: Retrieved from the University of Florida, Collaboration for Effective Educator Development, Accountability, and Reform Center.

Figueiredo, M. Z., Chiari, B. M., and Goulart, B. N. G. d. (2013). Communication in deafblind adults with usher syndrome: retrospective observational study. *Codas* 25, 319–324. doi: 10.1590/S2317-17822013000400004

Fisman, S., Wolf, L., Ellison, D., and Freeman, T. (2000). A longitudinal study of siblings of children with chronic disabilities. *Can. J. Psychiatr.* 45, 369–375. doi: 10.1177/070674370004500406

Fletcher, P. C., and Guthrie, D. M. (2013). The lived experiences of individuals with acquired deafblindness: challenges and the future. *Int J. Disabil. Community Rehabil.* 1, 1–12.

Gardou, C. (2012). Frères et sœurs de personnes handicapées. Toulouse: Erès, 1997, rééd.

Giallo, R., Gavidia-Payne, S., Minett, B., and Kapoor, A. (2012). Sibling voices: the self-reported mental health of siblings of children with a disability. *Clin. Psychol.* 16, 36–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-9552.2011.00035.x

Griot, M., Poussin, M., Galiano, A.-R., and Portalier, S. (2010). La perception parentale des répercussions du handicap d'un enfant sur la fratrie. *Thérapie Familiale* 31, 167–179. doi: 10.3917/tf.102.0167

Gullacksen, Ann-Christine, Göransson, Lena, Rönnblom, Gunilla Henningsen, and Koppen, Anny, et Jørgensen, Anette Rud. (2011). "*Life adjustment and combined visual and hearing disability/deafblindness- An internal process over time*." Dronninglund (Danemark): Nordic Centre for Welfare and Social Issues. organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Guyard, A. (2012). *Retentissement du handicap de l'enfant sur la vie familiale*. France: PhD thesis, Santé publique et épidémiologie, Université de Grenoble.

Ha Namkung, E., and Carr, D. (2020). The psychological consequences of disability over the life course; assessing the mediating role of perceived interpersonal discrimination. *J. Health Soc. Behav.* 61, 190–207. doi: 10.1177/0022146520921371

Hallberg, U. (2013). Situation and psychosocial well-being of older sisters to children with disabilities or chronic illnesses--the forgotten children? *Int. J. Qual. Stud. Health Well Being* 8, 1–3. doi: 10.3402/qhw.v8i0.21755

Hannah, M. E., and Midlarsky, E. (1985). Siblings of the handicapped: a literature review for school psychologists. *Sch. Psychol. Rev.* 14, 510–520. doi: 10.1080/02796015.1985.12085198

Harland, P., and Cuskelly, M. (2000). The responsibilities of adult siblings of adults with dual sensory impairments. *Int. J. Disabil. Dev. Educ.* 47, 293–307. doi: 10.1080/713671116

Hartshorne, T. S., and Schmittel, M. C. (2016). Social-emotional development in children and youth who are deafblind. *Am. Ann. Deaf* 161, 444–453. doi: 10.1353/ aad.2016.0036

Heiney, S. P., Goon-Johnson, K., Ettinger, R. S., and Ettinger, S. (1990). The effects of group therapy on siblings of pediatric oncology patients. *J. Pediatr. Oncol. Nurs.* 7, 95–100. doi: 10.1177/104345429000700303

Heller, K. W., Gallagher, P. A., and Fredrick, L. D. (1999). Parents' perceptions of Siblings' interactions with their brothers and sisters who are deaf-blind. *J. Assoc. Pers. Severe Handicap.* 24, 33–43. doi: 10.2511/rpsd.24.1.33

Hersh, M. A. (2013). Deafblind people, stigma and the use of communication and mobility assistive devices. *Technol. Disabil.* 25, 245–261. doi: 10.3233/TAD-130394

Holte, L., Prickett, J. G., Van Dyke, D. C., Olson, R. J., Lubrica, P., Knutson, C. L., et al. (2006). Issues in the evaluation of infants and young children who are suspected of or are deaf-blind. *Infants Young Child*. 19, 213–227. doi:10.1097/00001163-200607000-00006

International Disability Alliance. (2018) "WFDB Complete Initial Global Report." Available at: https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/sites/default/files/wfdb_ complete_initial_global_report_september_2018.pdf (Accessed June 5, 2023)

Jover, M. (2014). "Concept de handicap: Définitions, classifications et utilisations" in *Psychologie et handicap*. ed. M. Jover (Aix-en-Provence: Presses universitaires de Provence)

Kyle, James, and Barnett, Sarah. "Deafblind Worlds." (2012). Available at: http:// deafstudiestrust.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Deafblind-Worlds-final.pdf (Accessed June 05, 2023).

Laman, Opal E. "Multiple case study examining perceptions of four adult siblings' participation in the individual education plan, transition meeting of a brother or sister who is congenitally deafblind." Ph.D. thesis, Texas Tech University, (2006).

Lamarche, C. (1985). Les parents d'un enfant handicapé (Revue de la littérature américaine). Sante Ment. Que. 10, 36–45.

Martinez, B., Pechlivanoglou, P., Meng, D., Traubici, B., Mahood, Q., Korczak, D., et al. (2022). Clinical health outcomes of siblings of children with chronic conditions: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. *J. Pediatr.* 250, 83–92.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2022.07.002

McHale, S. M., and Gamble, W. C. (1989). Siblings relationships of children with disabled and disabled brothers and sisters. *Dev. Psychol.* 25, 421–429. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.25.3.421

Metzger, Susan. "The effect of a support Group for School-age Siblings of children with a disability: A pilot study." Master's thesis, Fairleigh Dickinson University, (2005).

Meynckens-Fourez, M. (1995). La fratrie d'une personne handicapée. Thérapie familiale 4, 389-401.

Miner, I. D. (1995). Psychosocial implications of usher syndrome, type I, throughout the life cycle. J. Vis. Impair. Blind. 89, 287–296. doi: 10.1177/0145482X9508900317

Morgan, Susanne, Bixler, Elizabeth, and McNamara, Jamie. (2002). "Self-determination for children and young adults who are deaf-blind." Available at: https://www.nationaldb. org/media/doc/self-determination.pdf (Accessed June 05, 2023).

Mormiche, P., and Boissonnat, V. (2003). « Handicap et inégalités sociales: premiers apports de l'enquête « Handicaps, incapacités, dépendance » ». *Revue française des affaires sociales* 1–2, 267–285.

National Center on Deaf-Blindness. (n.d.) "Causes of Deaf-Blindness." Available at: https://www.nationaldb.org/info-center/overview/causes/ (Accessed June 5, 2023).

Pitman, E., and Matthe, S. (2004). The SMILES program: a group program for children with mentally ill parents or siblings. *Am. J. Orthopsychiatry* 74, 383–388. doi: 10.1037/0002-9432.74.3.383

Plumridge, G., Metcalfe, A., Coad, J., and Gill, P. (2011). Parents' communication with siblings of children affected by an inherited genetic condition. *J. Genet. Couns.* 20, 374–383. doi: 10.1007/s10897-011-9361-1

Pogossian, C. (2003). Groupe de fratrie: un groupe dans les coulisses Enfance et handicap 18, 163–172. doi: 10.1016/j.prps.2006.02.003

Powell, Thomas H., Gallagher, Peggy A., and Rhodes, Cheryl S.. "Brothers and sisters: a special part of exceptional families." Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes, (1985).

Rodgers, A. (2021). Exploring tactile art-making with deafblind students and their families: an opportunity for creative play. Cambridge: Ph.D. Thesis, Lesley University.

Ronnberg, J., and Borg, E. (2011). A review and evaluation of research on the deafblind from perceptual, communicative, social and rehabilitative perspectives. *Scand. Audiol.* 30, 67–77. doi: 10.1080/010503901300112176

Rossiter, L., and Sharpe, D. (2001). The siblings of individuals with mental retardation: a quantitative integration of the literature. *J. Child Fam. Stud.* 10, 65–84. doi: 10.1023/A:1016629500708

Rowan, L. P. (1990). "The Needs and Concerns of the Siblings of the Deaf-Blind." Master's thesis, Utah State University. Available at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/cgi/ viewcontent.cgi?article=2079&context=gradreports (Accessed June 05, 2023).

Scelles, R. (2004). La fratrie comme ressource. Cahiers critiques de thérapie familiale et de pratiques de réseaux 32, 105–123. doi: 10.3917/ctf.032.0105

Scelles, R. (2008). Dire ou ne pas dire en famille: processus de subjectivation du handicap au sein de la fratrie. *Rev. Fr. Psychanal.* 72, 485–498. doi: 10.3917/rfp.722.0485

Scelles, R. (2011). Frère ou sœur de. *L'école des parents* 592, 26–28. doi: 10.3917/ epar.592.0026

Scelles, R., Bouteyre, E., Dayan, C., and Picon, I. (2007). Groupes fratries' d'enfants ayant un frère ou une sœur handicapé: leurs indications et leurs effets. *Revue francophone de la déficience intellectuelle* 18, 31–37.

Seligman, M. (1983). The family with a handicapped child: Understanding and treatment. New York: Grune & Stratton.

Siemon, M. (1984). Siblings of the chronically ill or disabled child: meeting their needs. *Nurs. Clin. North Am.* 19, 295–307. doi: 10.1016/S0029-6465(22)01832-1

Simcock, P. (2017). Ageing with a unique impairment: a systematically conducted review of older deafblind people's experiences. *Ageing Soc.* 37, 1703–1742. doi: 10.1017/S0144686X16000520

Smith, T., and Perry, A. (2005). A sibling support group for brothers and sisters of children with autism. J. Dev. Disabil. 11, 77–87.

Souriau, J. (2000). Surdicécité et développement de la communication: problèmes et stratégies adaptatives. *Enfance* 53, 3–18. doi: 10.3406/enfan.2000.3165

Spring, S., Adler, J., and Wohlgensinger, C. "Deafblindness in Switzerland: facing up to the facts." A publication on the study "the living circumstances of deafblind people at different stages of their lives in Switzerland." Zurich: Swiss National Association of and for the Blind, (2012). Available at: https://www.hfn.ch/fileadmin/files/documents/Dokumente_FE/C.4_e_Deafblindness—Facing-up-to-thefacts—SNAB-Switzerland-Print.pdf.

Vert, R., Olson, T. A., Kim, S. Y., Stratton, K. K., Hoesch, H. M., and Hartshorne, T. S. (2016). The experience of siblings of individuals with CHARGE syndrome. *J. Intellect. Develop. Disabil.* 42, 240–248. doi: 10.3109/13668250.2016.1234594

Von Benedek, L., Frères et sœurs pour la vie. Eyrolles: Paris, (2013).

Wahlqvist, M., Björk, M., Anderzén-Carlsson, A., and Huus, K. (2020). Health-related quality of life, family climate and sense of coherence of families in which a parent has Deafblindness. *Front. Educ.* 5:143. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2020.00143

Watters, Colleen, Owen, Michelle, and Stan, Munroe. A study of deafblind demographics and services in Canada. Canada: Canadian Centre on Disability Studies, (2005).

Watters-Miles, Constance. "Factors associated with the successful vocational rehabilitation of individuals with usher syndrome: a qualitative study." Master's thesis, University of Arizona, (2014). Available at: https://repository.arizona.edu/bitstream/handle/10150/338960/azu_etd_13676_sip1_m.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (Accessed June 05, 2023).

Frontiers in **Psychiatry**

Explores and communicates innovation in the field of psychiatry to improve patient outcomes

The third most-cited journal in its field, using translational approaches to improve therapeutic options for mental illness, communicate progress to clinicians and researchers, and consequently to improve patient treatment outcomes.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



